A grammar of Wadu Pumi

Henriëtte Daudey



A grammar of Wadu Pumi

Submitted by

Gerdine Henriëtte Daudey, M.A. Leiden University

A thesis submitted in total fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Centre for Research on Language Diversity

La Trobe University Bundoora, Victoria 3086 Australia

April 2014



Statement of authorship

Except where reference is made in the text of the thesis, this thesis contains no material published elsewhere or extracted in whole or in part from a thesis submitted for the award of any other degree or diploma. No other person's work has been used without due acknowledgement in the main text of the thesis. This thesis has not been submitted for the award of any degree or diploma in any other tertiary institution.

Gerdine Henriëtte Daudey 7 April 2014

Summary of the thesis

This thesis is a descriptive grammar of the Wǎdū speech variety of Pǔmǐ, a Tibeto-Burman language of the Qiangic branch spoken on the border of Yúnnán and Sìchuān provinces in Southwest China. It is based on a large corpus of primary data collected during two fieldwork trips in 2010-2011 and 2011-2012 by the author, who is also a member of SIL East Asia Group. The thesis presents a phonological and grammatical description of the language, and includes three fully analysed interlinear texts in the appendix.

Acknowledgements

Without the depth of knowledge and the wealth of experience of my three supervisors, this thesis would have been far less interesting and useful. Many thanks to my main supervisor David Bradley, whose door was always open and whose help and encouragement made a big difference; my co-supervisor Stephen Morey, who made time to read and comment on the whole draft between his own field trips; and my external co-supervisor Randy LaPolla, who even after he left La Trobe University stayed involved, and time and again challenged my thinking. And thank you to the examiners Harold Koch and Guillaume Jacques for their helpful comments and suggestions.

A sincere thank you to the people at Běijīng Normal University Zhūhǎi for their invitation to come and lecture, their help with obtaining a research visa and their provision of a letter of introduction that paved the way for the permission to live in a village. I am in particular grateful to the following people: the vice-principal of the school, Professor Fù Àilán; the dean of the School of Chinese, Professor Zhāng Míngyuán; and the director of the Office of International Affairs, Dr. Gān Chūnyán. Additional thanks to Zhōu Fāchéng for organizing access to the language area.

The community at the CRLD (former RCLT) makes it a great place to explore the depth and breadth of linguistics through seminars, interaction with visiting scholars and informal discussions with colleagues. Many thanks to the staff and students at the centre and special thanks to Tonya Stebbins for her support; Siew-Peng Condon for her help with the logistics of getting settled in Australia and getting ready for fieldwork; Paul Hastie for sharing art, an office, Firth birthday cakes and life; Birgit Hellwig for wine, cheese, great conversations and her never-failing willingness to listen and give advice; Pavel Ozerov for many lunches featuring interesting conversations and for Russian jokes; Pandora Petrovska for great stories and praznik; Adam Schembri for carrying the load; and David Sangdong, Melanie Viljoen, Ian Tupper, Anna Stoyanoff and Daniel and Tamami Arisawa for our regular lunch meetings. Additional thanks to visiting scholars Victor Friedman, Felix Ameka and Nicholas Tournadre for good discussions and inspiring talks.

Several other linguists need to be acknowledged: Picus Dīng for kindly providing me with a draft of his forthcoming grammar; Katia Chirkova for passing on her Shuǐluò Pǔmǐ wordlist and data, and for approaching linguistic research from a teamwork perspective; Jonathan Evans for his comments on the tone chapter; Guillaume Jacques for his Mùdǐqīng Pǔmǐ wordlist and Guillaume Jacques and Alexis Michaud for making it possible for my main consultant to present at the 3rd Workshop on Sino-Tibetan languages of Sichuan in Paris; Mariëlle Prins for her wisdom and advice and for being a lifeline on the field; and Maarten Mous for Leids Blond aan de Singel.

I would also like to thank my colleagues at SIL East Asia Group for their continued support of this Ph.D. and for their help in obtaining an additional research visa during my first fieldtrip. It is a joy to work with you. Many thanks to Jo Chan for her careful reading of the draft, to Linda Jekel for the practical help extended on many occasions, to Peter Lester for his wise counsel and to Martha Lester for her listening ear.

Australia has been a wonderful home these four years, not in the least because of the many friends and the great community at Bundy. I'd especially like to thank the Aussie families who extended their hospitality to me: the Maskells, the Watson-Joneses, the Castles and the Mays. The Davidsons for great camping trips and the Creeks for evaporative cooling during hot days.

Finally a huge thank you to my family in The Netherlands, especially to my parents for their continuous support. My dad for his reading of the draft and great comments. My mom for her Sinterklaas packages. My sister for traveling the distance and coming out to Australia to visit. My brothers, sisters-in-law and nephew for planning to do so as well. I'm grateful to be part of such an amazing group of people.

Table of contents

Statement of authorshipi
Summary of the thesisi
Acknowledgementsii
Table of contents iv
List of tablesxv
List of figures xvii
Abbreviations xviii
Symbolsxix
Chapter 1.Introduction2
1.1 Language and ethnicity
1.2 Sociolinguistic situation
1.3 Previous research
1.4 Genetic affiliation
1.5 Typological profile10
1.6 The people and their culture11
1.7 Fieldwork and language documentation13
1.8 Presentation of the grammar:15
1.8.1 Orthography15
1.8.2 Examples and numbering16
Chapter 2.Segmental phonology 18
2.1 Consonants
2.1.1 Stops
2.1.2 Affricates

2.1.3	Fricatives	
2.1.4	Nasals	
2.1.5	Liquids	
2.1.6	Glides	
2.1.7	Consonant grouping	
2.2 V	owels	47
2.2.1	Oral vowels	48
2.2.2	Nasal vowels	
2.3 Sy	vllable structure	55
2.4 Pł	nonological processes	
2.4.1	Vowel harmony	
2.4.2	Consonant lenition	
2.4.3	Voicing and aspiration change	
2.4.4	Vowel reduction	60
2.4.5	Retroflex – alveopalatal alternation	60
2.4.6	Nasalization	61
2.4.7	Glide alternation	62
2.5 C	onclusion	62
Chapter 3	B.Tone and intonation	64
3.1 In	tro and definitions	64
3.2 To	one groups	66
3.3 Ba	asic tonal patterns and tonal spreading in Wădū Pǔmǐ	68
3.3.1	Toneless morphemes	69
3.3.2	Tone on monosyllables	70
3.3.3	Tones on disyllables	76

3.3.	4 Tones on polysyllables77
3.3.	5 Exceptional tone patterns
3.3.	6 Tone in expressives
3.3.	7 Tone in pronouns
3.3.	8 Alternating tone pairs
3.4	Tone sandhi
3.4.	1 Nominal compounds, noun-adjective and noun-verb constituents
3.4.	2 Numeral-classifier compounds
3.4.	3 Verb-modifier constituents
3.4.	4 Tone of relator nouns
3.4.	5 Directional prefixes and alternating verbs
3.4.	6 Negation and interrogative clitics and tone
3.4.	7 Tone in reduplicated verbs
3.5	Discourse function of tone
3.5.	1 Tone groups and broad versus narrow focus
3.6	Intonation
3.6.	1 Extra high pitch intonation
3.6.	2 Narrative rising pitch intonation
3.7	Conclusion
Chapte	r 4.Form classes 127
4.1	Open form classes
4.2	Pronouns128
4.2.	1 Reflexive and logophoric pronoun130
4.2.	2 Abstract use of pronouns
4.2.	3 Interrogative and indefinite pronouns

4.	3	Nu	merals	.139
4.4	4	Nu	meral classifiers	.142
	4.4.	.1	Modifiers of classifier constructions	.147
	4.4.	.2	Reduplication of numeral classifiers	.148
4.:	5	Qua	antifiers	.150
4.0	6	Dei	monstratives and locationals: time and place	.151
	4.6.	.1	Nominal demonstrative and manner demonstrative	.152
	4.6.	.2	Bound demonstratives and directional prefixes	.154
	4.6.	.3	Locational postpositions	.160
	4.6.	.4	The morpheme -n ^j a and shortening effect	.165
	4.6.	.5	Temporal nominals	.166
4.′	7	Adv	verbs	.169
4.8	8	Cla	use linkers	.171
4.9	9	Gra	ammaticalisation	.172
4.	10	C	Conclusion	.174
Cha	pte	r 5.'	The noun phrase	175
5.	1	No	minal morphology	.175
	5.1.	.1	Compounding	.176
	5.1.	.2	Reduplication	.181
	5.1.	.3	Affixation	.182
5.2	2	No	minalization	.187
	5.2.	.1	The location/instrumental nominalizer -toŋ	.187
	5.2.	.2	The purposive nominalizer -ji	.188
	5.2.	.3	The agentive/general nominalizer -mə	.188
	5.2.	.4	Definite marker as nominalizer	.190

5.3	Noi	ninal modificatory constructions 190
5.3	.1	Genitive constructions
5.3	.2	Relative clause constructions
5.3	.3	NP limiter
5.4	Nui	nber
5.5	Def	initeness
5.6	Stru	acture of the noun phrase
5.7	Nou	In phrase coordination
5.7	.1	Associative constructions
5.8	Cor	nclusion
Chapte	er 6.	Noun phrase marking 214
6.1	Rel	ative order of markers
6.2	Sen	nantic role markers
6.2	.1	Agentive
6.2	2	Patient
6.2	.3	Dative (recipient, benefactive, goal)
6.2	.4	Instrumental
6.2	.5	Source
6.2	6	Comitative
6.2	.7	Adversive
6.2	8	Allative
6.2	9	Ablative
6.3	Sen	nantic role marking and transitivity240
6.4	Sen	nantic role marking and causation242
6.5	Dis	course markers

6.5.1	The intensifier =la 'also'	246
6.5.2	The intensifier = fia 'even'	248
6.5.3	The intensifier =noŋ 'only'	249
6.5.4	The intensifier $=n^{j} \hat{a}$ 'just, already, at once, right'	250
6.5.5	Value markers = $d\mathfrak{p}$ and $q^{h}\mathfrak{a}$	251
6.5.6	General topic marker = bu	253
6.5.7	Disjunctive topic marker = di	255
6.5.8	Contrastive topic marker =sə	257
6.5.9	Additional focus marker =ni	258
6.5.10	Additional topic markers =gədi and tcəmə	
6.5.11	Limiting topic marker =ci	
6.6 Co	nclusion	
Chapter 7.	The predicate	266
Chapter 7. 7.1 Dir	The predicate	266 266
Chapter 7. 7.1 Din 7.1.1	The predicate rectional prefixes Directional prefixes and the interplay with verbal semantics	266 266 268
Chapter 7. 7.1 Din 7.1.1 7.1.2	The predicate rectional prefixes Directional prefixes and the interplay with verbal semantics Stative verbs and directional prefixes	266 266 268 272
Chapter 7. 7.1 Din 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3	The predicate rectional prefixes Directional prefixes and the interplay with verbal semantics Stative verbs and directional prefixes Directional prefixes and telicity	266 266 268 272 273
Chapter 7. 7.1 Din 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4	The predicate rectional prefixes Directional prefixes and the interplay with verbal semantics Stative verbs and directional prefixes Directional prefixes and telicity Multiple prefix construction	266 266 268 272 273 276
Chapter 7. 7.1 Din 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.2 Ne	The predicate rectional prefixes Directional prefixes and the interplay with verbal semantics Stative verbs and directional prefixes Directional prefixes and telicity Multiple prefix construction gation	266
Chapter 7. 7.1 Din 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.2 Ne 7.2.1	The predicate rectional prefixes Directional prefixes and the interplay with verbal semantics Stative verbs and directional prefixes Directional prefixes and telicity Multiple prefix construction gation General negation	266 266 268 272 273 276 277 278
Chapter 7. 7.1 Din 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.2 Ne 7.2.1 7.2.2	The predicate rectional prefixes Directional prefixes and the interplay with verbal semantics Stative verbs and directional prefixes Directional prefixes and telicity Multiple prefix construction gation General negation Perfective negation	266 268 272 273 276 277 278 280
Chapter 7. 7.1 Din 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.2 Ne 7.2.1 7.2.2 7.2.3	The predicate rectional prefixes Directional prefixes and the interplay with verbal semantics Stative verbs and directional prefixes Directional prefixes and telicity Multiple prefix construction gation General negation Perfective negation	266 266 268 272 273 276 277 278 280 280
Chapter 7. 7.1 Din 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.2 Ne 7.2.1 7.2.2 7.2.3 7.2.4	The predicate rectional prefixes Directional prefixes and the interplay with verbal semantics Stative verbs and directional prefixes Directional prefixes and telicity Multiple prefix construction gation General negation Perfective negation Prohibitive negation	266 268 272 273 273 276 277 278 280 280 282
Chapter 7. 7.1 Din 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 7.1.4 7.2 Ne 7.2.1 7.2.2 7.2.3 7.2.4 7.3 Interview 1990	The predicate rectional prefixes Directional prefixes and the interplay with verbal semantics Stative verbs and directional prefixes Directional prefixes and telicity Multiple prefix construction gation General negation Perfective negation Prohibitive negation Emphatic negation	266

7.	4.1	Reduplication and aspect	. 287
7.	4.2	Iterative -qa	. 293
7.	4.3	Verb pairs with voicing alternation	. 294
7.5	Equ	ational copula	. 296
7.6	Exi	stential verbs	. 298
7.7	The	e light verb and denominal verbs	. 302
7.8	Ver	rsatile verbs	. 305
7.	8.1	Motion verbs 'come' and 'go'	. 307
7.	8.2	Durative aspect 'sit'	. 309
7.	8.3	Benefactive 'give'	. 310
7.	8.4	Terminative/controllative 'put'	. 311
7.	8.5	Emphatic construction 'let go'	. 311
7.	8.6	Completive 'complete' and terminative 'be finished'	. 313
7.	8.7	Experiential t ^j u	. 314
7.	8.8	Simultaneous action zon	. 315
7.9	Mo	dal auxiliaries	. 316
7.	9.1	Physical ability 'thờŋ'	. 318
7.	9.2	Learned ability wêŋ	. 320
7.	9.3	Unlimited qá and zǐŋ	. 320
7.	9.4	Solution Jáci	. 322
7.	9.5	Desiderative រួêŋរួeŋ and zάw	. 324
7.	9.6	ʻdare' ŋά	. 325
7.	9.7	Permissive/suggestive tâ	. 325
7.	9.8	Permissive/causative kéj	. 327
7.	9.9	Obligation and politeness q ^h ŭ	. 328

7.9.10	Moral obligation hâ	
7.9.11	Deontic modality constructions	
7.10 P	Predicate modification	
7.10.1	Pre-verbal adverbial construction	
7.10.2	Post-verbal intensive adverbial construction zu pú	
7.10.3	Post-verbal delimitative construction	
7.11 C	Conclusion	
Chapter 8.	Evidentiality and speaker attitude	335
8.1 Cor	ntrol and inflection	
8.1.1	'Control' as basic notion in verbs	
8.1.2	Egophoricity as notion in existentials and auxiliaries	
8.1.3	Imperatives and control	
8.2 'Ot	oservability' as basic notions in stative verbs	
8.3 Evi	dentiality and egophoricity	
8.3.1	Perfective and inferential evidential markers	
8.3.2	Imperfective (non-)egophoric markers	
8.3.3	Modal (non-)egophoric markers	
8.3.4	Auditory evidential =tiŋ	
8.3.5	Quotative and reported evidential (hearsay)	
8.3.6	Reported thought marker ci	
8.3.7	Co-occurrence of evidentials	
8.3.8	Evidentiality and text genres	
8.3.9	Evidentiality and new media	
8.4 Epi	stemic modality	
8.4.1	Epistemic certainty vla	

8.4	4.2	Speculative marker bă	. 397
8.4	1.3	Epistemic uncertainty si daw	. 397
8.4	1.4	Epistemic uncertainty sə ti	. 400
8.4	4.5	Epistemic uncertainty jæ nəni and çæ ta ~çæjæ ta	.401
8.4	1.6	Epistemic uncertainty mə dzə qεj	. 402
8.5	Mo	dal verbs and discourse	. 403
8.6	No	minalization and discourse	. 407
8.6	5.1	V mə dzə	. 408
8.6	5.2	V mə V fia	.413
8.6	5.3	V mə dzi	.416
8.6	5.4	V mə dza	.418
8.6	5.5	V mə ta	. 420
8.6	5.6	The question of embedding	. 423
8.6	5.7	Double nominalizations	. 425
8.7	Co-	-occurrence of post-verbal marking	. 425
8.8	Cla	use-final (attitude) markers	.431
8.8	3.1	Declarative attitude markers	. 433
8.8	3.2	Interrogative attitude markers	. 445
8.8	3.3	Other undefined markers	.451
8.9	Co	nclusion	.453
Chapte	er 9.	Ideophones and interjections	454
9.1	On	omatopoeic ideophones	.455
9.2	Ide	ophones proper	. 458
9.3	Exp	pressives	.461
9.4	Inte	erjections and expletives	. 466

9.5 Co	nclusion4	70
Chapter 10	Complex constructions4	71
10.1 C	Coordination and disjunction4	71
10.2 V	Verb concatenation and clause chaining4	73
10.2.1	Verb concatenation4	75
10.2.2	Non-finite clause chains4	78
10.2.3	Finite clause chain4	82
10.3 C	Complementation and complementation strategies4	.85
10.3.1	Complementation4	85
10.3.2	Complementation strategies4	.96
10.4 S	Subordinate clauses4	.97
10.4.1	Conditional clauses4	.97
10.4.2	Temporal and concessive clauses5	01
10.4.3	Causal clauses5	05
10.5 I	nsubordination5	11
10.5.1	Temporal clauses5	12
10.5.2	Causal clauses5	17
10.5.3	Coordinated clauses	19
10.6 C	Comparison and equation5	21
10.7 C	Continuous action constructions5	24
10.8 F	Predicate-focus construction5	26
10.9 I	Discourse features	35
10.9.1	Clause chaining5	35
10.9.2	Tail-head linking5	36
10.9.3	The marker dəbŭ and its functions in discourse5	37

10.9.4	Reported speech	9
10.9.5	The discourse use of the hearsay marker	9
10.9.6	Participant reference	0
10.9.7	Afterthoughts	.4
10.9.8	Discourse functions of demonstratives	5
10.10 C	Conclusion	8
Appendix A	A. Heart phrases 550	0
Appendix l	B. List of Tibetan loanwords 55	1
Appendix (C. Text corpus index 553	3
Appendix l	D. Texts	0
TC04: 'Ha	are as baby-sitter' (folktale)56	0
YJ01: 'Mu	ushroom-poisoning' (personal experience monologue)	4
CV09: 'M	Iushroom-poisoning' (conversation)59	8
References	60	9

List of tables

Table 2.1 Wǎdū Pǔmǐ consonant phonemes 19
Table 2.2 Dàyáng and Wǎdū reflexes for PTB velar-plus-liquid clusters21
Table 2.3 Niúwōzĭ clusters and Wǎdū retroflex correspondences22
Table 2.4. Dàyáng retroflexes and post-alveolars versus Wǎdū alveopalatals27
Table 2.5. Palatalised consonants and consonant clusters
Table 2.6 The palatal group consonants
Table 2.7 Dàyáng retroflexes and post-alveolars versus Wǎdū alveopalatals42
Table 2.8 Possible occurrences of vowel retraction in Dàyáng42
Table 2.9 Composite chart of vowels 47
Table 2.10 Oral vowels48
Table 2.11 Vowels /o, e/ versus /u, i/48
Table 2.12 Vowels /o, e/ versus /αw, εj/49
Table 2.13 PTB final nasals and Wǎdū Pǔmǐ nasalised vowels53
Table 2.14 Nasal vowels 53
Table 2.15 Wǎdū Pǔmǐ /õ/ versus other varieties54
Table 2.16 Wadu Pumi syllable structure55
Table 2.17 Examples Wǎdū Pǔmǐ syllable structure56
Table 3.1 Representation of tone 66
Table 3.2 Some toneless particles and clitics
Table 3.3 Tone on monosyllabic words 71
Table 3.4 Tonal spread of alternating verbs 74
Table 3.5 Tonal spread in monosyllabic verbs
Table 3.6 Tone on disyllabic words76
Table 3.7 Tones on trisyllabic words 78
Table 3.8 Tones on quadrisyllabic and quinquesyllabic words
Table 3.9 Exceptional tone patterns
Table 3.10 Tonal spread with pronouns 85
Table 3.11 Regular tone patterns 88
Table 3.12 Exceptions 89
Table 3.13 Exceptions (tone based on second part) 89
Table 3.14 Set phrases 90
Table 3.15 Tonal sandhi patterns91
Table 3.16 Numeral-classifier compounds
Table 3.17 Tone of relator nouns 103
Table 3.18 Directional verb prefixes 105
Table 3.19 Tonal spread of prefixed alternating verbs 108
Table 3.20 Comparison of alternating verbs in different speech varieties 109

Table 3.21 Non-correspondences of alternating verbs	111
Table 3.22 Disyllabic 'fourth tone' verbs	112
Table 3.23 'come' and 'go' tonal alternation	113
Table 3.24 Random reduplication	116
Table 3.25 Reciprocal reduplication	116
Table 4.1 Wǎdū Pǔmǐ constructions	128
Table 4.2 Personal pronouns	129
Table 4.3 Numerals	139
Table 4.4 Hundred, thousand, ten thousand	141
Table 4.5 Bound demonstratives and directional prefixes	156
Table 4.6 Directional prefixes in other Půmí speech varieties	157
Table 4.7 Grammaticalisation of relator nouns	162
Table 4.8 Temporal nominals	
Table 4.9 Grammaticalisation processes in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ	173
Table 5.1. List of words with genitive clitic merger	191
Table 6.1 Semantic role and discourse markers	215
Table 6.2 Co-occurrence of markers	216
Table 7.1 Directional prefixes	
Table 7.2 Interrogative directional prefixes	
Table 7.3 Reduplication templates	
Table 7.4 Derived reduplication	
Table 7.5 Verb pairs showing voicing alternation	
Table 7.6 Corresponding verb pairs in Japhug rGyalrong	
Table 7.7 The equational copula	
Table 7.8 Existential verbs	
Table 7.9 Additional functions of pu	
Table 7.10 Versatile verbs	305
Table 7.11 Degree of grammaticalisation	
Table 7.12 Modal auxiliaries	
Table 7.13 The paradigm of 'can'	
Table 8.1 (Non-)egophoric forms of copula, existential, auxiliary	
Table 8.2 Imperative forms	350
Table 8.3 Endoceptive and exoceptive verbs	354
Table 8.4 Stative verbs with endoceptive and exoceptive reading	357
Table 8.5 Involvement and evidential markers	359
Table 8.6 Imperfective (non-)egophoric markers	
Table 8.7 Modal (non-)egophoric markers	
Table 8.8 Co-occurrence of evidentials	
Table 8.9 Epistemic modality constructions	
Table 8.10 Postverbal marking	427

Table 8.11 Attitude markers	.432
Table 9.1 Ideophones	.458
Table 9.2 Ideophone reduplication	.460
Table 9.3 Interjections	.467
Table 9.4 Interjections for handling animals	.469
Table 9.5 Animal curses	.469
Table 10.1. Concatenation and clause chains	.475
Table 10.2. Predicate-focus templates	.527

List of figures

Figure 1.1. Map of the Půmí language area	4
Figure 1.2. Tibeto-Burman (adapted from Bradley 2002:75)	8
Figure 1.3. The Qiangic subgroup (adapted from Sūn 2001:160)	9
Figure 1.4. The Na-Qiangic group (from Jacques and Michaud 2011:6)	9
Figure 2.1. Prevoicing of stops	19
Figure 2.2. Vowel retraction of /i/ in /tsǐ/	40
Figure 2.3. Vowel retraction of /i/ in /qîpu/	41
Figure 5.1. Definite and indefinite	207
Figure 5.2. The noun phrase structure	208

Abbreviations

1	first person	EMPH	emphatic
2	second person	EPIST	epistemic
3	third person	ESC	escaped information marker
ADD.FOC	additional focus	EXALT	exaltation
AGR	agreement marker	EXCL	exclusive
AGT	agentive	EXIST.AB	existential (abstract)
ALERT	alertive	EXIST.AN	existential (animate)
ATTENT	attention marker	EXIST.AT	existential (attached)
AUD	auditory	EXIST.H	existential (horizontal)
CASU	casual	EXIST.IN	existential (contained)
CERT	epistemic certainty	EXIST.POSS	existential (possessive)
Ch	Chinese loanword	EXP	experiential
CLF	classifier	EXPT	expectational
CMX	climax	FB	father's brother
CNT	continuous	FZ	father's sister
COLL	collective	FR.SP	from speaker
COM	comitative	GEN	genitive
CON	confirmative	GNOMIC	gnomic
CONF	confirmative marker	HSY	hearsay
CONFIRM	confirmation marker	IDEO	onomatopoeic ideophone
CONSTR	construction	IMP	imperative
CONTR	negative contrastive marker	IN	inwards
CONTR.TOP	contrastive topic	INCL	inclusive
COORD	coordinator	INDF	indefinite
CORR	correct knowledge marker	INF	inferential
CUST.EXCL	exclusive customary	INFO	informative marker
CUST.INCL	inclusive customary	INS	instrumental
DAT	dative	INTJ	interjection
DEF	definite	IPFV	imperfective
DIM	diminutive	ITT	itterative
DIS	disdain	LA	in-law
DISJ.TOP	disjunctive topic	LIM.TOP	limiting topic
DISS	dissatisfaction marker	LINK	linker
DOWN	downwards	LOG	logophoric
DU	dual	MB	mother's brother
EGO	egophoric	N.CONTR	non-controllable

N.EGO	non-egophoric	REP	repetition marker
N.SG	non-singular	RHET	rhetorical question marker
NEG	negation	SG	singular
NMLZ	nominalizer	SIM	simultaneous action
OUT	outwards	SITU	situation marker
PART	partitive	SPEC	speculative
PFV	perfective	SVM	stative verb marker
PL	plural	Т	Tibetan loanword
POL	polite	ТВ	Tibeto-Burman
POS	positive attitude marker	ТОР	topic
POS PROH	positive attitude marker prohibitive	TOP TO.SP	to speaker
POS PROH PROS	positive attitude marker prohibitive prospective	TOP TO.SP TRAIL	topic to speaker trailing knowledge marker
POS PROH PROS PTB	positive attitude marker prohibitive prospective proto-Tibeto-Burman	TOP TO.SP TRAIL UND	topic to speaker trailing knowledge marker undefined marker
POS PROH PROS PTB PUZ	positive attitude marker prohibitive prospective proto-Tibeto-Burman puzzlement marker	TOP TO.SP TRAIL UND UP	topic to speaker trailing knowledge marker undefined marker upwards
POS PROH PROS PTB PUZ Q	positive attitude marker prohibitive prospective proto-Tibeto-Burman puzzlement marker question marker	TOP TO.SP TRAIL UND UP URG	topic to speaker trailing knowledge marker undefined marker upwards urging marker
POS PROH PROS PTB PUZ Q QUEST	positive attitude marker prohibitive prospective proto-Tibeto-Burman puzzlement marker question marker question attitude marker	TOP TO.SP TRAIL UND UP URG VOL	topic to speaker trailing knowledge marker undefined marker upwards urging marker volitive
POS PROH PROS PTB PUZ Q QUEST RECP	positive attitude marker prohibitive prospective proto-Tibeto-Burman puzzlement marker question marker question attitude marker reciprocal	TOP TO.SP TRAIL UND UP URG VOL WARN	topic to speaker trailing knowledge marker undefined marker upwards urging marker volitive warning marker

Symbols

<	derived	from
	uenveu	nom

- > shows direction of development
- separates syllables within polymorphemic polysyllabic word
- . separated syllables within polymorphemic monosyllabic word
- * proto-form
- # indicates tone group boundary
- ? indicates a morpheme whose meaning is unclear or, when attached to a word, signals that the gloss of that word is tentative

Chapter 1. Introduction

This thesis aims at describing the Wǎdū speech variety of Pǔmǐ 普米, a minority language spoken in the People's Republic of China. In this introductory chapter I will give an overview of the language and ethnic situation (§1.1), the sociolinguistic situation (§1.2), previous research (§1.3), genetic affiliation (§1.4), typological profile (§1.5), some cultural background (§1.6), fieldwork (§1.7) and the presentation of the grammar (§1.8).

1.1 Language and ethnicity

The current grammar is based on the *wétu*¹ speech variety of Pǔmǐ, spoken in Middle Wǎdū Village (中瓦都村), Yǒngníng Township (永宁乡), Nínglàng Yí Autonomous County (宁蒗彝族自治县), Northwestern Yúnnán Province. Middle Wǎdū Village is one of the four Pǔmǐ villages in the Wēnquán area.² The Pǔmǐ of this speech variety call themselves $t^{h} \acute{o} \eta m i$ 'white people'. The designation $t^{h} \acute{o} \eta$ 'white' sets the Pǔmǐ apart from some surrounding ethnic groups whom they designate as $n^{j} \check{x}$ 'black': the $gogn^{j} \check{x}$ 'Nuòsū (Yí) 彝' ('black skin') and the $n^{j} \varkappa m \check{o}$ 'Na (Mósuō) 摩梭' ('black person'). Three other ethnic groups that the Pǔmǐ in Wǎdū have a designation for are $n \varkappa \eta \imath n$ 'Nàxī 纳西', $q \hat{v} m \hat{o}$ 'Tibetan 藏'³ and $c \check{v}$ 'Hàn Chinese 汉'.⁴ $m \hat{o}$ is the common Tibeto-Burman word for 'person'. Exonyms include Ba in Tibetan, Na and Nàxī; Xīfān (西番) in Chinese historic writings⁵; and Ozzu⁶ in Nuòsū (Harrell 2001:195).

¹ For the notation of Půmǐ used in this grammar, see §1.8.1.

² There are three neighbouring villages that are referred to as Wǎdū, i.e. Upper Wǎdū, Middle Wǎdū and Lower Wǎdū. Only Middle Wǎdū is a Pǔmǐ village; the other two villages are predominantly Hàn Chinese. Thus in this grammar I will refer to the Pǔmǐ village and the variety spoken there simply as Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. The other three villages are *patçǎ* (Bājiā 八家), *pîts^hi* (Bǐqí 比奇) and *t^hûts^hi* (Tuōqī 拖七).

³ Originally probably referring to the Kham Tibetans in the area (Mùlǐ, Zhōngdiàn), but now referring to all groups officially designated as Tibetan.

⁴ All other outsiders that do not fit these groups are referred to as $\varphi \check{e}$ 'Hàn Chinese'.

⁵ But note that this term also denoted other Qiangic groups.

⁶ [?o³³dzu³³] (Bradley, p.c.).

The name 'Pǔmǐ' (普米) is the Chinese form of the autonym. This form has been used since the 1960s when Pǔmǐ were officially recognised as one of China's 56 ethnic groups in the nationalities classification project by the communist government. In this grammar I use the name 'Pǔmǐ' to denote the people and language in general, and the name 'Wǎdū Pǔmǐ' to denote the particular speech variety this grammar is based on. Through the work of linguist Picus Sīzhì Dīng, the linguistic world has also become familiar with the name Prinmi. This spelling is based on the autonym $[p^{hin^{55}mi^{55}}]$ in the Niúwōzǐ speech variety (Dīng 1998:1).

Pǔmǐ speakers are scattered throughout Northwestern Yúnnán and Southwestern Sìchuān provinces. According to the 6th national population census conducted in 2010, the Pǔmǐ ethnic group counts 42,861 people. This figure only includes the Pǔmǐ living in Yúnnán Province. Due to historical reasons⁷, Pǔmǐ living in Sìchuān Province are all included in the Tibetan ethnic group, and thus in official censuses their number is included in the Tibetan ethnicity. It is therefore difficult to establish a precise figure and several estimates have been made: Stevan Harrell (2001) mentions 31,000; Lù Shàozūn (2001:1) mentions around 50,000 Pǔmǐ-speaking Tibetans, of which around 34,000 live in Mùlǐ Tibetan Autonomous County.

Figure 1.1 shows a map of the language area, with the towns and villages that are Půmĭ or have a considerable Půmĭ-speaking population in blue non-italics. The map does not show all the Půmĭ villages and hamlets, but only the ones that are mentioned in this grammar. Even so, this gives a rough indication of the extent of the area in which Půmĭ is spoken. The enlarged red square shows the research area with the villages that I visited during my fieldwork. Maps are drawn based on Google maps.

⁷ Most of the Pǔmǐ-speaking Tibetans in Sìchuān are part of what used to be the kingdom of Mùlǐ. It is said that during the time of the ethnic identification in the fifties, the Great Lama, ruler of the Mùlǐ kingdom, requested of the communists that Mùlǐ be made into a Tibetan autonomous county. Thus his subjects, and later all the Pǔmǐ speakers living in Sìchuān, were classified as Tibetans. The Pǔmǐ speakers on the Yúnnán side preferred their self-designation and were accordingly classified as Pǔmǐ (Harrell 2001:209-211).



Figure 1.1. Map of the Půmí language area

Based on research done by Lù Shàozūn, Pǔmǐ is said to have two dialects: Northern Pǔmǐ and Southern Pǔmǐ. Northern Pǔmǐ is spoken in parts of Nínglàng County and Sìchuān and is internally less diverse than Southern Pǔmǐ. According to this dialectal division Wǎdū Pǔmǐ belongs to the Northern dialect group. More recently, Dīng (2012; 2014) has argued for three dialect groups: Northern, Central and Western, based on shared phonological innovations and retention of salient features. According to Dīng's grouping, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ belongs to the Northern dialect and the Niúwōzǐ speech variety to the Central dialect. The speech varieties of Lánpíng belong to the Western dialect. In this grammar I will use the word *dialect* in the sense of the established dialects and the terms *speech variety* or *variety* for Pǔmǐ spoken in particular places.

1.2 Sociolinguistic situation

The sociolinguistic situation of Yǒngníng Township is typical of much of Southwest China, with several ethnic groups inhabiting the area: Na (Mósuō), Pǔmǐ, Hàn Chinese, Nuòsū (Yí), Nàxī⁸, Tibetan⁹, and some occasional Bái or Huí traders that set up business in Yǒngníng.

The Na (Mósuō) and the Pǔmǐ are the dominant groups in Yǒngníng Township. They frequently intermarry and so a fair amount of Pǔmǐ speak or understand Yǒngníng Na to some degree. The reverse is not necessarily true. In Pǔmǐ villages closer to Lake Lúgū, Yǒngníng Na is spoken as the predominant language, but in the four Pǔmǐ villages in the Wēnquán area, Pǔmǐ is still the predominant language.

Relations with the more marginalised Nuòsū are not always friendly. Nuòsū villages tend to be located higher up the mountains, but recently many Nuòsū have bought land and settled in the valleys among the Pǔmǐ. This causes quite a bit of friction between the groups. Linguistically this means that more interaction takes place in local Chinese¹⁰. Some Pǔmǐ also speak Nuòsū, the main reason being the contact with Nuòsū classmates in primary or secondary school.

Contact with local Hàn Chinese is usually friendly. Wǎdū is sandwiched between two Hàn Chinese villages, and frequent contact with the Hàn has resulted in all people in Wǎdū being bilingual to some extent in the local dialect of Chinese. In general, of the four Pǔmǐ villages in the valley, the people in Wǎdū have greater proficiency in local Chinese, whereas the people in the other three villages have greater proficiency in Na. More and more people are able to understand standard Chinese through the influence of TV and jobs in other parts of China. It can be observed that children who are attending school are starting to use Chinese among themselves when they play.

Chinese loanwords are prevalent, especially in the area of politics, technology and education, and code-switching into local Chinese can be observed frequently. This is

⁸ Leatherworkers who moved from Lijiāng to Yǒngníng to set up business.

⁹ One village about half an hour from Yǒngníng whose inhabitants moved from Zhōngdiàn.

¹⁰ In this grammar I refer to the Chinese language in general as *Chinese*, to the official language (Pǔtōnghuà 普通话, the standard form of Mandarin Chinese) as *standard Chinese* and to the local dialect of Chinese as *local Chinese*.

much more the case in Wǎdū than in Yǔchū and Jísū, where I did some research as well. In my database of around 4000 words, around 450 words are of Chinese origin.¹¹

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has also been deeply influenced by Tibetan, especially in the realm of religion. Given the prevalence of Tibetan vocabulary in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, a systematic study of the layers of borrowing from Tibetan into Pǔmǐ would be extremely valuable, not only for historical linguistics, but also for the synchronic study of the language. This however, lies outside of the scope of the present thesis. An initial comparative list is given in Appendix B.

Apart from interaction with other ethnic groups, Pǔmǐ in Wǎdū have frequent interactions with Pǔmǐ speakers in Yījí Township (依吉乡, Mùlǐ Tibetan Autonomous County, Sìchuān). Local oral history tells us that the Pǔmǐ in Wǎdū came down from Mùlǐ and blood relationships with the people that remained there go back a few centuries.

Not all Pǔmǐ speak their language now. Lù (1994) mentions that an average of 36% of the Pǔmǐ people in Yúnnán do not use Pǔmǐ, but have switched to Chinese or other minority languages (such as Lìsù and Bái). Of the ethnically Pǔmǐ Tibetans in Sìchuān almost all still speak Pǔmǐ. In Lù 2002, Lù Shàozūn gives a number of 9,460 people that still speak the Southern dialect and 32,300 people that still speak the Northern dialect (of which 26,700 are ethnically Tibetan). Harrell (2001:195) mentions that the language is widely spoken in Mùlǐ County, and also in a few pockets in Yányuán County. People in the Yǒngníng area often tell me that Pǔmǐ is a difficult language to learn and that whereas Pǔmǐ speakers are able to speak other languages, not many people from other ethnic groups speak Pǔmǐ. This, however, is not the case in Mùlǐ. Anecdotal evidence suggests that in many places in Mùlǐ, Pǔmǐ is the dominant language and is spoken by people of other ethnic groups, including local Hàn, Kham Tibetan and Xùmǐ.

1.3 Previous research

The first linguistic work on the Půmǐ language was conducted as part of the ethnic classification project in the 1950s and 1960s by Sūn Hóngkāi and Lù Shàozūn. Additional research was done in the 1980s. The results were published in Lù's 1983 *A brief description of the Půmǐ language* and his 2001 *A study of Půmǐ dialects*. Additional Půmǐ basic vocabulary and segmental phonology from these early investigations can

¹¹ Note that this figure does not say anything about the frequency of use. It would be interesting to conduct a text count in which the total number of words is plotted against the total number of Chinese loanwords, which would give a much better indication of use. One thing that can be noted is that in conversations and personal experiences relating to politics and education, the frequency of loanwords is much higher than in traditional stories or personal experiences.

be found in several works: Sūn Hóngkāi et al. (1991) *Tibeto-Burman phonology and lexicon*; Huáng Bùfán (1991), and Dài Qìngxià and Huáng Bùfán (1992) *A Tibeto-Burman lexicon*.

The years 1997 and 1998 saw the appearance of several important studies on Půmi: James A. Matisoff, who had the chance to work on Dàyáng Půmi in Kunming with Hé Shùkāi,¹² published a detailed study on the phonology of that speech variety (Matisoff 1997).¹³ Fù Àilán finished her in-depth Ph.D. description on the verbal system of Dàyáng Půmi. She published several other articles (Fù 1996, 1999, 2000) and worked (among others) with Hé Xiàngdōng, a Pǔmǐ scholar. And last but not least, Picus Dīng wrote a descriptive grammar of Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ, to date the most comprehensive study on any Pǔmǐ speech variety (Dīng 1998).

The main scholar currently working on Půmǐ among Chinese-speaking academics is Jiǎng Yǐng. She recently published articles on classifiers (2008), verb suffixes (2009), semantic role particles (2010), a controllable auxiliary (2012a) and double consonants (2012b).

The main scholar working on Pǔmǐ among the English speaking academic community is Picus Sīzhì Dīng. Starting with his Ph.D. thesis on the Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ speech variety, he has continued working and publishing on Pǔmǐ. The reader is referred to his work on the grammar (1998), topic-comment constructions (2000), pitch-accent (2001), a sketch (2003), language modernization (2005), tonal comparison with Japanese (2006), language modernization (2007a), the use of perception tests (2007b), and rhoticization (2010). His grammar of Prinmi based on the Central dialect has just been published (2014). Using Dīng's data, Marcus Greif (2010) published an article on the tones and intonation of Prinmi.

As part of the research project 'What defines Qiāng-ness: Towards a phylogenetic assessment of the Southern Qiangic languages of Mùlĭ', Guillaume Jacques' (2011a, 2011c) published two articles on Shuĭluò Pǔmĭ aspirated fricatives and tonal alternation. These are two of the few studies published on a Pǔmĭ speech variety spoken in Sìchuān.

The existence of descriptions of different Půmǐ speech varieties is extremely valuable, especially in an area where many languages are underdescribed. My hope is that the current study will contribute to further understanding of the language and dialectal comparison and lead to a deepening insight into Půmǐ as a whole and its relationship to other languages in the area.

¹² A relative of Hé Xiàngdōng.

¹³ Followed by an article on tonal systems in the Tibeto-Burman area (Matisoff 1999) in which the tonal system of Dàyáng Pǔmǐ is compared to other tone systems.

1.4 Genetic affiliation

It has generally been assumed that Pǔmǐ is a language of the Qiangic group of the Tibeto-Burman language family (Sūn 1983; Matisoff 1991; Bradley 1997, 2002; Thurgood 2003; LaPolla 2003a, 2005). Bradley (1997, 2002) includes Qiangic in the Northeastern branch of Tibeto-Burman, see Figure 1.2. His 'core Qiangic' includes Báimǎ, Qiāng, rGyalrong (Jiāróng), Guìqióng, Zhābā, Quèyù, Ěrgōng, Mùyǎ, Ěrsū, Xùmǐ (Shǐxīng), Nàmùyī, and the extinct Tangut. Other languages in the branch are Nàxī, Na, Tǔjiā and Bái. More recently, Bradley (p.c.) distinguishes a Naish group: Nàxī, Na, Nàmùyī, Xùmǐ (see Michaud, Hé and Zhōng forthcoming¹⁴), a rGyalrong group (including Tangut and Lavrung), and a residual group (Pǔmǐ, Ěrsū, Guìqióng, Quèyù, Mùyǎ, Ěrgōng, Qiāng, Zhābā). Báimǎ is considered a Tibetan dialect.





The exact makeup of the Qiangic group is still unclear, the main reason being the sparsity of description of many of the languages. Note that while Bradley (2002) and Sūn (2001) include the rGyalrongic languages as part of Qiangic, several other linguists such as LaPolla (2003a:30) and Thurgood (Thurgood 2003:14) view the rGyalrongic languages (i.e. rGyalrong proper, Lavrung, Ěrgōng) as part of the Rung branch including Kiranti, Kham, Western Himalayan, Dulong, Anong, Rawang). rGyalrongic was established as a subgroup by Jackson Sūn (2000a, 2000b).

Sūn Hóngkāi (2001) divides the Qiangic languages into Southern Qiangic and Northern Qiangic. According to this classification, Pǔmǐ belongs to Northern Qiangic. It is most

¹⁴ "Preliminary comparative work suggests that the Naish languages are related, in decreasing order of closeness, to: Shǐxīng and Nàmùyī; Ěrsū, Lizu, and Tosu; Pǔmǐ, rGyalrongic, Tangut and other languages currently labeled "Qiangic"; and Lolo-Burmese (Jacques and Michaud 2011)." (Michaud, Hé and Zhōng forthcoming).

closely related to Qiāng (LaPolla, p.c.). The subclassification of Qiangic proposed by Sūn is displayed in Figure 1.3. Another subclassification is that of Jacques and Michaud who propose a Na-Qiangic branch as shown in Figure 1.4.



Figure 1.3. The Qiangic subgroup (adapted from Sūn 2001:160)





Since its naming by Sūn Hóngkāi in 1983, the genetic relationship between the members of the Qiangic group has been controversial. Grouping has mostly been based

on typological features, such as the presence of word-tone and directional prefixes, rather than shared innovations (although Matisoff (2004) has proposed 'brightening', i.e. *a > i, as a shared innovation for the Qiangic group).¹⁵ A recent discussion of the Qiangic theory is Chirkova 2010. Her conclusion is that Qiangic should be seen as a linguistic area, rather than a genetic subgroup, since many of the typological similarities that are considered 'Qiangic' are also shared with non-Qiangic languages in the area. Also, massive language restructuring can be observed in the non-Qiangic language convergence. Much more research needs to be done to clarify the exact genetic relationships.

1.5 Typological profile

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ straddles somewhere between agglutinating and analytical, with a few affixes and multiple clitics. Consonants can be divided into two classes based on their ability to occur with palatalization. Several phonological processes happen with the palatal-group consonants (see §2.1.7).

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ shows certain features that are said to be indicative for membership in the Qiangic group (see Sūn 2001). It has a large consonant and vowel inventory which includes a set of phonemic uvular stops. Uvular phonemes have not been attested for any of the other northern Pǔmǐ speech varieties. It has no consonantal codas. It is tonal. A three-way distinction of singular, dual and plural can be observed in nouns. Pronouns show inclusive and exclusive dual and plural forms. Reduplication is an important means for word formation, and is also used to form reciprocal verb forms. Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has numeral classifiers, several existential (locative) verbs, and directional verbal prefixes.

Some of the features reported for the Qiangic group are not present. No extensive vowel harmony has been attested, and most of the consonant clusters have disappeared. No contrast between prenasalised and plain initials has been observed. Wǎdū Pǔmǐ does not show person and number agreement in verbs as some of the other Pǔmǐ speech varieties do (see Daudey 2014), but rather an egophoric/non-egophoric system.

Typological features¹⁶ that are also found in other languages in the linguistic area include a separate perfective verb stem for controllable verbs, evidential marking, several nominalizers, a semantic role marking system that is pragmatically conditioned,

¹⁵ But note Katia Chirkova's evaluation of that innovation in her article refuting the Qiangic subgroup hypothesis (2010:5, note 5).

¹⁶ For a treatment of some of the features, see Chirkova 2010.
and a template word-tone system: a system of culminative tone in which one lexical tone is assigned to a prosodic word.

1.6 The people and their culture

Wǎdū is located in a high-altitude basin at an altitude of 2700m. The climate is wet in summer and dry and cold with intense sun in winter. The Pǔmǐ in Wǎdū are mainly subsistence farmers. Staples include Himalayan red rice,¹⁷ oats, maize, potatoes and some wheat, (highland) barley and buckwheat. Other things that are grown include cabbage, radish, turnip, squash, beans, apples, pears, peaches, walnuts, sunflower seeds and prickly ash (Sìchuān pepper).

Animal husbandry includes goats, cows, an ox for plowing, a few horses or mules, pigs (including the pigs that are fattened for slaughter and are usually kept in their pens) and chickens. In recent years, water buffaloes have been introduced for plowing.

A big part of the produce is fed to the pigs who perform an important role in Půmĭ society. Fattened pigs are slaughtered around Půmĭ New Year every year and turned into the traditional cured pork back. When cured well, pork backs can be kept for years and their size and quantity is a sign of the relative wealth of a household. Pork provides an important source of nutrition, and different parts of the pig ($tc^hwæ-k^hwe-tc^hw\hat{e}-l^{j}e$ 'pork-heart-and-tongue', $tc^hwe-t^h\check{a}$ 'stuffed pork leg', $ts\acute{a}-ki$ s $\hat{s}\hat{o}-dzi$ 'pork-back-slice-and-limbs') are eaten as traditional food during festivals or served as delicacies to guests. Pork backs (or slices of pork back) form part of the traditional wedding and funeral gifts.

Grains (barley, highland barley, millet, maize, buckwheat) are used to brew $t^h w \hat{i}$, a type of home-brewed alcohol. Oats are ground into flour that is traditionally eaten with salty black tea in summer and butter tea in winter. Brick tea from Dàlĭ forms the basis for butter tea.

Many young Pǔmǐ have left the village to look for work in towns and big cities. Young women often end up in shops and cafes in Lìjiāng; young men often end up on building sites or factories in many parts of China. Before opportunities to work outside were available, trade played an important part in the area. Local mule caravans would travel between areas in Mùlǐ and towns such as Yǒngníng, Lìjiāng and Zhōngdiàn. Nowadays, mule caravans are used to a lesser extent for trading walnuts, prickly ash (Sìchuān pepper) and pig bristles among other things. Another source of income in the recent past was taking trips to the mountains in search of mushrooms and medicinal plants that would then be sold. With the growing opportunity to make money in the cities, this has become infrequent.

¹⁷ A special type of rice that can grow at high altitudes and is cultivated dry.

Traditional crafts include weaving baskets and weaving fabric. The weaving of garments would be done with a mixture of hemp and the soft fibers taken from the leaves of pi, a type of plant that grows at high altitudes.¹⁸ The hemp was used for its strength; pi was used for its softness and warmth. Wool was also woven into blankets. Nowadays weaving is mostly done for a Na middleman to supply hand-woven 'Mósuō' shawls for the tourist shops around Lake Lúgū and in Lìjiāng.

The household is the basic economic unit. Households consist of a couple with their children and the husband's parents in case of marriage, and of a brother, his sisters and his sister's children in the case of 'walking marriage' (*zǒuhūn* 走婚 in Chinese). The latter marriage custom in which both the woman and the man stay in their respective households and the husband visits his wife only for a night or several days at a time, is also practised by the Na. Among the Pǔmǐ, this occurs only in the Lake Lúgū area. Children from those marriages are raised in the mother's household. In Yǔchū (and several other villages in Mùlǐ Tibetan Autonomous County) polyandry and polygyny is practised in addition to monogamy, but the multiple wives or husbands need to be siblings. As a result of the various types of marriage, extended households are quite common.

Just like the Půmǐ-speaking Tibetans in Mùlǐ Tibetan Autonomous County, the Půmǐ in Wǎdū adhere to Tibetan Buddhism. Religious rituals, like funerals, that were conducted by shamans in the past¹⁹ are now conducted by Buddhist monks. Many families choose to send one of their sons to a monastery to become a monk. This is considered to be an honor for the family. Every household in the village has a shrine on the local mountain where incense is burned every morning and protection of the household and animals is prayed for. At Půmǐ New Year, the whole village burns incense to the mountain god (*zətsêŋ zədá* < Tibetan ? *gzhi.bdag* 'protector of the place') and liquor. Based on the twelve-year zodiac calendar, auspicious days are calculated for traveling, planting and harvesting, building houses, weddings and funerals. Several bird omens are observed, such as the arrival of the cuckoo at the beginning of the planting season.

In Wǎdū, houses are traditionally built with logs, but in recent years people have started building houses with packed earthern walls, similar to the Tibetan houses in Zhōngdiàn. Houses are built around a central courtyard and consist of separate buildings. The main building contains the hearth room and a side room, and is located up the valley (upriver) from the courtyard. The other buildings contain a shrine-room,

¹⁸ I have not been able to identify this plant yet. It grows close to the ground and has leaves of around 10cm with soft white fibers on the back.

¹⁹ The village $dz\hat{s}su$ (Jísū 吉苏), together with some other villages in Southwest Mùlǐ, is known as a center of traditional shamanism, and there are still several practising shamans (called *hæŋgû* in Wǎdū and *hæŋdzî* in *dzôsu*).

bedrooms, storage space and animal pens. The shrine-room is located uphill from the courtyard.

The hearth room is the central room of the house and its special features include the $k \acute{e}_{l} it \And g$ (a central pillar, also referred to as the $ts \acute{g} g \And k^h \And \hat{v}$ 'heart of the house'), the $c \acute{i} g t \And \hat{v}$ (a cooking tripod with the main altar beside it), the $d \And g$ (a raised platform with an additional cooking tripod and a smaller altar), and the $ts^h ub \nleftrightarrow l \check{i}$ (a wooden shielding device attached to the raised platform on the side of the door that was used in the past for shielding the people in the house from enemy's arrows). The hearth room is the site of daily rituals, such as libation that is poured out to the ancestors on the cooking tripod at every meal.

At the beginning of the twentieth century, Joseph Rock traveled extensively through the area and published his experiences with the Pǔmǐ and other ethnic groups in several National Geographic articles (see for example Rock 1925). Apart from Chinese sources on Pǔmǐ culture (for example Hú 2002), two anthropologists that have published on Pǔmǐ are Koen Wellens (1998, 2010) and to a lesser extent Stevan Harrell (2001).

1.7 Fieldwork and language documentation

My initial fieldwork was conducted between the end of July 2010 and mid-February 2011, partly in *jîts#* (Yǔchū 雨初, Mùlǐ Tibetan Autonomous County, Sìchuān) and partly in Wǎdū. The miraculous permission to live in a Pǔmǐ-speaking Tibetan village was a great opportunity to collect data from one of the lesser known Pǔmǐ varieties of Mùlǐ. Halfway through the first fieldwork trip, however, I decided to switch to the Wǎdū speech variety. This is the variety spoken by my co-researcher and main consultant Gerong Pincuo (Pǔmǐ *kéjzoŋ* $p^hiŋts^hu$ < Tibetan *skal.bzang phun.tshogs*)²⁰, whose knowledge of his language and previous training in IPA helped us to process much more language data in a shorter amount of time. During the first fieldwork trip I spent close to two months in Yǔchū and almost three months in Wǎdū. At the invitation of a shaman from $dz\hat{s}su$ (Jísū 吉苏, Mùlǐ Tibetan Autonomous County, Sìchuān) whom I met on the road to Yǔchū, I also visited that village for a few days on two different occasions (see Figure 1.1 for the exact locations of these villages).

The second fieldwork was conducted between the end of November 2011 and mid-June 2012, and was spent mainly in Wǎdū till the end of February (with a few days in Jísū and Yǔchū in December); and from the end of February till mid-June in Lìjiāng.

In Wǎdū we recorded and analysed a total of 25 conversations amounting to three and a quarter hours; 24 narrative texts (personal experiences, procedural texts, folktales) by six different speakers (three women and three men) amounting to close to two hours;

²⁰ His preference is to transliterate his name as Gerong Pincuo.

riddles, and several ritual texts (a blessing, a genealogy, two libation chants, and a ritual of expelling ghosts). Additionally my co-researcher wrote five short texts. All texts (except for some of the ritual texts) were transcribed, translated into Chinese and English, analysed and entered into FieldWorks Language Explorer (FLEx). The thesis is based on these texts and conversations. A list is given in Appendix C. Some example texts are given in Appendix D. The data will be properly archived following the submission of this thesis.

During the time in Yǔchū we recorded a wordlist, several conversations of varying length, riddles, 33 texts (traditional, procedural, historical and exhortational) by four different men and a woman, and a ritual chant by a shaman. The texts add up to over five hours of recording. The wordlist and ten of the stories have been transcribed so far, and my co-researcher Gerong Pincuo is in the process of transcribing the rest of the data for future research. In Jísū we recorded four traditional songs sung by a woman, and a story and a ritual chant told and performed by the shaman we visited.

During the first fieldwork trip we used Olympus LS-10 and Edirol R-09 recorders and a Røde NT3 condenser microphone; during the second fieldwork trip we used Zoom H4n and Edirol R-09 recorders and a Røde M3 condenser microphone.

In addition to the linguistic data we collected, we also filmed several cultural events, such as the corn harvest, the making of pork backs, the celebration of New Year, and the feeding of mules in winter. During the first fieldwork trip a Canon FS11 was used to film; during the second a Panasonic HDC-TM700 was used. The footage of the corn harvest was made into a 20-min long documentary with Pǔmǐ narration and Pǔmǐ traditional songs by Gerong Pincuo. We gave a copy to every household in Wǎdū and on request to some Pǔmǐ households in other areas. The effect of the film was immediate: during the New Year celebrations following the distribution of the film, the two songs featured on the documentary were sung everywhere. Since my return to the university Gerong Pincuo has continued to film cultural events.

My history as a researcher has been recorded in this data. The topics of conversation weave through life, and with as much ease my life is woven in. References to my family, my trip back to the university, and my attempts to speak Půmǐ are all documented for history.

One conversation gives an unexpected insight into language documentation and what my host family understands of it. Following is an excerpt of this conversation. It was recorded by a group of old ladies when I was not present. Speaker Y is a member of my host family and N a member of my extended host family. Speaker L is a member of their clan.

- L: $n\dot{\vartheta} = m\dot{\vartheta} = d\dot{\varrho} = s\dot{\vartheta}$ $q^{h}\check{u}$ $m\dot{u} = q\acute{e}j$ $b\check{u}$. thus = NMLZ = insignificant = CONTR.TOP need NEG = EXPT SPEC '(...) an insignificant one like this is maybe not needed.' (CV21.455)
- Y: $q^h \dot{u} = q \dot{\epsilon} j$ nǐŋ, $\dot{n} = t \dot{e}$ nŏŋ $t^h \dot{o}$ ŋmá- $\dot{l} \dot{l} = g \dot{e}$ míŋ $dz \dot{o} = g \dot{o}$ need = EXPT INTJ 1:INCL = PL:GEN so Pǔmǐ-language = GEN what be = DEF $q^h \dot{u} = d \check{a} w$. need = IPFV:N.EGO

'It will be needed, mind you, whatever of our Pumi language (material) will all be needed.' (CV21.456)

N: $t^{h} \acute{o} \eta m \acute{o} = g \grave{a} m \acute{o} t^{j} \acute{a} \acute{c} \acute{i} q^{h} \grave{u} = d \check{a} w.$ P $\check{u}m\check{i} = GEN$ every need = IPFV:N.EGO

'Everything of Pumi is needed.' (CV21.457)

1.8 Presentation of the grammar:

1.8.1 Orthography

In this grammar I have chosen to use a practical phonemic representation of the language generally following the IPA guidelines. An exception to this is the use of a syllable-final η , which represents a nasalised vowel (§2.2.2) rather than a real nasal consonant ending, to prevent confusion with diacritic tone marking.

The use of a phonemic representation instead of an orthography is done for several reasons. In the language area where I conducted my fieldwork, no official orthography has been implemented yet. Often the tendency for linguists has been to analyse the phonology of the language, devise an orthography and present it to the speakers of the language, in the hope that they will start to use it. That speakers do not automatically start to use an orthography is clear from an honest account by Dīng in his paper on promoting Pǔmǐ language development (2005:24). My conviction is that the development of an orthography needs to be a community-based project rather than the job of a single linguist, and I hope that the community efforts that are already happening in the area can be expanded in the future. In addition, the script that is preferred by the Pǔmǐ speakers I have talked to is Tibetan script, which is not conducive for readers not familiar with it. Since this grammar is written mainly for an international linguistic audience, ²¹ I felt it would be most appropriate to use a phonemic IPA representation.

²¹ Presenting a grammar in English by definition rules out the possibility that most speakers of this language community will read it.

Tone is represented by diacritics over the vowel: high tone with an acute accent (á), low tone with a grave accent (à), rising tone with a háček (ǎ) and falling tone with a circumflex (â) (see also Chapter 3, Table 3.1). The Wǎdū Pǔmǐ lexemes listed in the glossary, quoted in the prose of the thesis (in italics), or given as phonemic (in slashes), are all marked for underlying (phonemic) tone; IPA forms quoted in square brackets are marked for surface tone. For the benefit of the reader who would like to read out the example sentences, or would like to see the actual surface realization of tone, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ example sentences are all marked for surface tone. In the texts at the end of the grammar, both surface tone as well as underlying tone will be shown.

In this grammar, Pǔmǐ place names are given in Chinese pinyin. The presentation of other linguists' transcriptions is given in IPA. In most cases, I have converted the tone transcription to my way of marking tone, in order to enable easy comparison. For Fù, Lù, Matisoff and Gerong Pincuo the tone transcription represents the surface tone. In Dīng's data the tone transcription generally represents phonemic tone.

Loanwords are given in their IPA transcription²² and indicated as loanwords in the glosses by Ch:, YN:, NS: and T: before the gloss (for Chinese, Yǒngníng Na (Mósuō), Nuòsū or Tibetan loanwords respectively). Where possible, the Tibetan source of a loan is also presented using Wylie's (1959) system of transcription.

1.8.2 Examples and numbering

Most of the examples used in this grammar are taken from the sizeable corpus of natural data described in §1.7. Some elicited examples are used as well. Much of the elicitation was done while analysing the corpus, and thus relates directly to the background of the text. The abbreviations following the various examples throughout the thesis correspond to the numbering of the interlinear texts. For example, '(CV21.512.3)' indicates that it was taken from the 21st conversation (CV) in the corpus and the 512th line of the conversation. The last digit '3' indicates that it is the third utterance in the turn of the current speaker. Numbering is done according to the FLEx database. For monologues, other initial capitals refer to particular narrators. When the example is taken from a written text or a text that has been edited by my corresearcher,²³ this is indicated by a lower case 'w' or 'ed' after the text reference number, for example '(PC06w.3)' and '(TC01ed.1)'. 'EL' indicates that the example was elicited out of context and 'EL' following an abbreviation indicates that the example was either proffered by my main consultant or elicited in the context of analysis of the text line

²² Rather than in official pinyin transcription for Chinese loanwords, since loans from Chinese are normally from the local dialect of Chinese, rather than from standard Chinese.

²³ Only four texts have been extensively edited, since they were texts of speakers who had not told stories in a long time and had never narrated in front of a microphone.

indicated by the abbreviation, for example '(CV21.512.3EL)'. Abbreviations that start with 'EL' and are followed by another abbreviation refer to elicited examples taken from my fieldnotes; abbreviations without the addition 'EL' that are not found in the interlinear texts correspond to speech that occurred naturally as recorded in my fieldnotes.

Sometimes examples have been edited by me for brevity or clarity. When only part of the utterance is given, this will be shown in the English translation by '(...)', as in example (515). When something has been edited out in the middle of the Pǔmǐ utterance in order to make the example better processable for the reader, this will be shown in the Pǔmǐ line of the interlinear by '(...)', as in example (512).

Content in single brackets '()' in the Půmǐ line of interlinear examples indicates what my main consultant proposed to delete, for example (45); content in double brackets '(())' indicates what my main consultant proposed to insert, for example '($(k^{h}i)$)' in (709).

Content shown in single brackets in the English translation is not present in the Půmǐ, but added for clarity.

Chapter 2. Segmental phonology

This chapter deals with Wǎdū Pǔmǐ segmental phonology. Consonants include stops ($\S2.1.1$), affricates ($\S2.1.2$), fricatives ($\S2.1.3$), nasals ($\S2.1.4$), liquids ($\S2.1.5$) and approximants ($\S2.1.6$). Consonant grouping based on palatalization is discussed in $\S2.1.7$. Vowels include oral ($\S2.2.1$) and nasal vowels ($\S2.2.2$). Syllable structure is treated in $\S2.3$. Phonological processes include vowel harmony ($\S2.4.1$), consonant lenition ($\S2.4.2$), voicing and aspiration change ($\S2.4.3$), vowel reduction ($\S2.4.4$), retroflex and alveopalatal alternation ($\S2.4.5$), nasalization ($\S2.4.6$) and glide alternation ($\S2.4.7$).

2.1 Consonants

The Wǎdū Pǔmǐ consonants are presented in Table 2.1. Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has 42 consonants, and distinguishes seven places of articulation: bilabial, alveolar, retroflex, alveopalatal, velar, uvular and cavity. Based on their manner of articulation, the different consonants can be divided into stops, affricates, fricatives, nasals, liquids and approximants. All consonants can occur as the onset of a syllable. Wǎdū Pǔmǐ also has 31 consonant clusters and 9 palatalised consonants that will be treated in §2.1.6.

The stops are discussed in §2.1.1, the affricates in §2.1.2, the fricatives in §2.1.3, the nasals in §2.1.4, the liquids in §2.1.5 and the approximants in §2.1.6. In §2.1.7 the issue of consonant grouping is discussed.

2.1.1 Stops

In terms of voicing, stops present a three-way contrast: voiceless unaspirated, voiceless aspirated and voiced. The only exception is the uvular stop series that present a two-way distinction, i.e. voiceless unaspirated and aspirated. Stops distinguish five different places of articulation: bilabial, alveolar, retroflex, velar and uvular. A glottal stop is automatic in syllable-initial position when there is no other consonant (§2.3). Prevoicing of voiced stops and affricates is the main auditory clue to distinguish them from voiceless stops and affricates. The duration of the prevoicing can vary from around 100ms to over 200ms, as is shown in Figure 2.1 for the words, $g\breve{\mu}$ 'to exchange', $dz\!{\mu}$ 'to grind' and $d\breve{\mu}$ 'to write'.





	Bilabial	Alveolar	Retroflex	Alveopalatal	Velar	Uvular	Cavity
	р	t	t		k	q	
Stops	p^{h}	t^{h}	ť		$\mathbf{k}^{\mathbf{h}}$	$\mathbf{q}^{\mathbf{h}}$	
	Ъ	d	đ		g		
		ts	tş	tç			
Affricates		ts ^h	tş ^h	t¢ ^h			
		dz	dz	dz			
		S	ş	Ç			h
Fricatives		Z	Z	Z			ĥ
Nacala	m	n			ŋ		
Nasais	ŵ	ņ					
Liquids		1	ł				
		ļ	ŗ				
Approximants	W			j			

Near minimal pairs for all the stops are given below.

/pě/	' <i>tsampa</i> flour'
/p'ně/	'to vomit'
/bě/	'(high altitude) leech'
/te-/	'one' (in numeral classifier compound)
/t ^h ě-/	'from speaker' (directional verbal prefix)
/dé/	'to cling'
/té/	'falsehood'
/ťʰě/	'to push'
/dě/	'to be capable'
/kě/	'to be tough'
/k ^h ek ^h í/	'to separate'
/gêdzoŋ/	'grotto'
/qě/	'strength'
	<pre>/pě/ /p^hě/ /bě/ /te-/ /t^hě-/ /dé/ /té/ /té/ /dě/ /kě/ /kě/ /kě/ /k^hek^hí/ /gêdzoŋ/</pre>

The retroflex stops and their development from older consonant clusters are discussed in §2.1.1.1. The uvular stop phonemes are discussed in §2.1.1.2.

2.1.1.1 Retroflex stops and consonant clusters

'emperor'

/q^hě/

The southern Půmǐ speech varieties spoken in Qìnghuā, Lǔdiàn, Xīnyíngpán and Dàyáng have extensive consonant clusters (see Lù 1983:8; 2001:15-17, 28-29, 36-37 and Matisoff 1997:175-176), that can be divided into two types: a stop or nasal followed by a fricative, or a fricative followed by a stop or affricate. The first type of cluster seems to be more resistant to change, whereas the second type has mostly lost its initial fricative. Qinghuā seems to be the most conservative variety in terms of its consonant clusters. Both the first and the second type of clusters are still present (Lù 2001:15-17). In Lǔdiàn, the first type of cluster is still used (bilabials or velars followed by a retroflex fricative), while the second type of cluster is almost lost. According to Lù (2001:28-29) there are only a few people left who use a homorganic nasal plus stop or affricate cluster, and there are still some old people who use fricative plus stop clusters, but younger speakers have lost the first segment. In Xīnyíngpán, the first type of cluster is still present (bilabials or velars followed by a retroflex fricative), although Lù notes that the pronunciation is closer to a simple retroflex fricative (Lù 2001:37). The second type of cluster is only used by older people. In the speech of younger people, the first fricative segment is lost.

The northern speech varieties of Niúwōzǐ (Dīng 1998:17) and Shuǐluò (Jacques 2011c:362) have six and three consonant clusters respectively. Dīng (1998) mentions

[pɪ], [pʰɪ], [bɪ] and [kɪ], [kʰɪ], [gɪ] (note however that Ding (2010) makes the case that these are not really consonant clusters, but rather stops with secondary articulation); Jacques (2011) mentions [pr], [pʰr] and [br] for Shuǐluò, but in Shuǐluò these clusters are in free alternation with [dʒw] in some words (Jacques 2011:362). These are all clusters belonging to the first type (a stop or nasal followed by a fricative). So far, there have been no attested clusters of the second type (a fricative followed by a stop or affricate) in the northern speech varieties, although Chan, working on the Xiǎngshuǐhé speech variety in Yányuán, reports three morphemes that are still used by some old people: [skæ̃⁵¹] 'neck', [zdə³¹-] (directional verb prefix) and [stʰə³¹-] (directional verb prefix) (MS:20).

In contrast, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has not retained any consonant clusters.²⁴ Instead, all stopplus-liquid consonant clusters have developed into retroflex stops. This is similar to what Matisoff notes for Dàyáng Pǔmǐ (1997:175,176), where the original proto-Tibeto-Burman (PTB) *velar-plus-liquid clusters developed into retroflex stops. Note the correspondences in Table 2.2 (adapted from the table in Matisoff 1997:176).²⁵

PTB	Dàyáng	Wădū	Meaning
*krwəy	/tʰ¥/	/ťʰð/	'daughter-in-law (wife)'26
*krəy	/tʰí/	/ťʰə́/	'foot' ²⁷
*m-kris	/tí/	/ťá/	ʻgall'
*glaŋ	/ťĎ/	/ţǎ/	'hawk/eagle'
*krəw	/[ʰú́/	/ťʰú́/	'horn'
*d-krok	∕t ^ʰ ŭ∕	/tʰŭ/	'six'
*?grəy	/dľ/	/dǎ/	'star'
*kriŋ	/dŭ/	/dû/	'thread'

Table 2.2 Dàyáng and Wǎdū reflexes for PTB velar-plus-liquid clusters

²⁴ Not including the stop-plus-glide consonant clusters. The glides will be covered in §2.1.6.

²⁵ But note also that there is no consistent correspondence between voicing and aspiration in the correspondences. I have no explanation for this.

²⁶ Note the semantic change between the dialects. The meaning in parentheses is the meaning of the word in Wǎdū. This might be due to Chinese cultural influence (LaPolla, p.c.).

²⁷ Because of the high vowel, the consonants in the words for 'foot', 'star' and 'wife' often carry some frication and at times I mistakenly transcribed them with an affricate instead of a stop. But they differ from real affricates in the amount of friction.

In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, even the *labial-plus-liquid clusters have developed into retroflex stops. ²⁸ Table 2.3 shows some correspondences between the bilabial and velar consonant clusters in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ and the retroflex stops in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ.²⁹ Note that in the case of the bilabial consonant clusters in Niúwōzǐ the labiality gets carried over to the retroflex in Wǎdū, either in the form of a [w] glide following the retroflex or in the rounding of the vowel.³⁰

Niúwōzĭ	Wǎdū	Meaning
/p¹íwu/	/twíwu/	'year of the Monkey' ³¹
/p ^{1h} í/	/t ^h wî/	'ale'
/bºõbºố/	/dõdố́/ ³²	'roasted barley flour'
/k [⊥] â/	/tá/	'gall'
/k ^{1h} ə́/	/ťʰá/	'foot'
∕g¹ǎ∕	/dǎ/	'star'
/k ^{1h} ǎ/	/tʰǎ/	'to shoot'

Table 2.3 Niúwōzĭ clusters and Wǎdū retroflex correspondences

Occasionally one can still hear a rhoticization effect before the vowel, as in (6), or even the original labial plus liquid cluster, as in (7). But the cluster disappears upon careful repetition.

 $^{^{28}}$ In most known speech varieties of Půmǐ they have developed into bilabial-plus-fricative clusters that are often pronounced as bilabials followed by a half-vowel [1], see Lù (2001:15,28,37,47,64,73,81).

²⁹ The Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ data are taken from Dīng 1998:17. Tones have been adjusted for easy comparison. Dīng uses the superscript small caps ^{H L R F} for high, low, rising and falling tones.

³⁰ When the vowel is rounded already, no extra roundedness can be noted.

³¹ From Tibetan *spre'u*. Almost all zodiac animals are borrowed from Tibetan.

³² In Jísū, just across the border in Sìchuān, the word is still pronounced as [bıõbıõ] (personal fieldnotes). In both Wǎdū and Jísū, this word denotes a delicacy made out of roast flour (either barley, oats or other types of grain) mixed with lard. In Jísū heavy cakes are made of lard and flour, a ball is formed from a little piece and put around a stick to be roasted in the fire like a marshmallow. In Wǎdū this used to be done in the past, but not anymore, and so this word has become almost obsolete (the older generation still know it, but the younger generation, especially people born after 1980, do not).

(6)	/twíwu/ ~ [t』wíwú]	'year of the Monkey' (<tibetan <i="">spre'u 'monkey')</tibetan>		
	/dútejwu/ ~ [dzútéjwù]	'year of dragon' (<tibetan <i="">'brug 'dragon')</tibetan>		
(7)	/tʰwætʰə̂/ ~[pʰɟ̀ætʰjá]	'youth'		
	/dʉ́dawu/ ~ [bɹʉ́dáwù]	'year of snake' (<tibetan <i="">sbrul 'snake')</tibetan>		

Dīng (2010) notes in his paper on rhoticization that the Pǔmǐ consonant clusters in Xīnyíngpán are not really clusters but rather stops with secondary articulation.

One case where this development of the *labial-plus-liquid cluster becomes quite apparent is the pronunciation of the group autonym. In Wǎdū the autonym is not the wider known "Prinmi" [p^{1h}ímí] but /t^hốmə/.³³

2.1.1.2 Uvular stops

The occurrence of uvular stop phonemes in this speech variety of Půmǐ is interesting, because a uvular phoneme series has not yet been attested for any of the northern speech varieties. Uvular phonemes are attested for the Southern dialect, in the speech varieties spoken in Qìnghuā (Lù 2001:10) and Dàyáng (Matisoff 1997:173). But Guillaume Jacques (p.c.) noted that he did not know of any speech varieties in the Northern dialect of Půmǐ that had uvular phonemes, and Dīng (2005:21) did not include symbols for the uvular stops in his pan-dialectal orthography for the northern speech varieties. Uvulars are normally taken to occur as allophones of velars before back vowels in the Northern dialect (Lù 2001:43,63,72,80; Chirkova 2010:9).

Uvulars can precede most vowels, as in (8), and the minimal pairs in example (9) clearly show that /q/ and $/q^h/$ are phonemes in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ.

(8)	/qîpu/	'cuckoo' (variant of /qûpu/)		
	/qěj/	'oily'		
	∕q ^h ǎ⁄	'bitter'		
	∕q ^h ð-∕	'out-' (directional verb prefix, §4.6.2, §7.1)		
	$/q^{h}$ ě/	'head'		
	/q ^h ŭ/	'needle'		
	/q ^h ě/	'emperor'		
	/q ^h ǎ/	'to pick'		
	$/q^{h} \check{\tilde{O}} /$	ʻlife'		
	/qÂ/	'neck'		
(9)	/kŭ/	'to carry on back'	/qŭ/	'to be blind'
	/kʉ̆/	'penis'	/qě/	'to bend'
	/kêj/	'let'	/qĉj/	'faeces'

 $^{^{33}}$ For the change from /ı̃/ to /õ/ see §2.2.2.

∕kʰâ∕	'prison'	/qʰâ⁄	'irrigation channel'
∕k ^h ỗ∕	'give:IMP:SG'	$/q^{h} \check{\tilde{O}} /$	'life'

Based on my fieldwork in Yǔch \bar{u}^{34} and an unpublished collection of wordlists (Gerong Pincuo, MS),³⁵ I suspect that there might be more speech varieties in the Northern dialect that have uvular stop phonemes.³⁶

2.1.2 Affricates

Affricates distinguish three different places of articulation: alveolar, retroflex and alveopalatal.³⁷ All affricates in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ show a three-way distinction in voicing: voiceless unaspirated, voiceless aspirated and voiced. Examples for the three affricate series are presented in (10), (11) and (12):

- (10) /tsé/ 'gluttonous' /ts^hě/ 'to mug' /môdzæ/ 'every'
- (11) /tsð/ 'dirty'
 /tsbð/ 'generation'
 /dzð/ 'inherited traits'

³⁴ *Jîts*# (雨初) is a village located in Yījí (依吉) Township, Mùlǐ Tibetan Autonomous County, just across the border from Wǎdū in Sìchuān province.

³⁵ This is a collection of different unpublished wordlists collected in 2009-2010 by my coresearcher Gerong Pincuo in Tuōzhī (拖支) and Pāntiāngé (攀天阁) in Wéixī Lìsù Autonomous County; Sānjiè (三界) in Lánpíng Bái and Pǔmǐ Autonomous County; Gélǔdiàn (格鲁甸) and Wǎdū (瓦都) in Nínglàng Yí Autonomous County; Dōngzi (东子), Xiàmàidì (下麦地), Bókē (博 科), Gùzēng (固增) and Kāngwū (康乌牧场) in Mùlǐ Tibetan Autonomous County. Whenever Tuōzhī, Pāntiāngé, Sānjiè, Gélǔdiàn, Dōngzi, Xiàmàidì, Bókē, Gùzēng and Kāngwū are mentioned in this chapter, data are taken from these wordlists, unless noted otherwise. Whenever Yǔchū is mentioned, data are taken from my own fieldnotes, unless otherwise noted. ³⁶ The following places all have uvular stops appearing before front vowels: Bókē, Gùzēng,

Yǔchū and Jísū in Mùlǐ, and Gélǔdiàn in Nínglàng, but further research is needed to establish whether they are phonemes.

³⁷ Other Půmǐ speech varieties distinguish other or more places of articulation. In Niúwōzǐ Půmǐ (Dīng 1998:13) the three places of articulation for affricates are dental, post-alveolar and retroflex. Matisoff describes a four-way distinction for Dàyáng Půmǐ, giving examples for dental, retroflex, post-alveolar ('laminopalatal or grooved type') and alveopalatal ('or slit type') series. He notes, however, that most of the time there is a very shaky contrast between post-alveolar [tʃ], [tʃ^h], [dʒ] and alveopalatal [t¢], [t¢^h], [dʒ] series (Matisoff 1997:183).

(12) /tçž/ 'to weave'
 /tç^hž/ 'bashful'
 /dzž/ 'to add'

Both Dīng (1998:17) and Lù (2001:62) note that when the retroflex affricates precede the high front vowel /i/, they are pronounced as retroflex stops instead.³⁸ I have no instances of retroflex affricates or fricatives followed by /i/ so it might well be the case that the same process is happening in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. One example that would support this analysis, is the verb pair 'to cut/tear (intr./tr.)' that has retroflex stops and a high vowel /i/ in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ ([dî] and [t^hî]) and retroflex affricates and a different vowel in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ (Dīng 1998:126 [dzê] and [ts^hê]).

2.1.3 Fricatives

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has four fricative series that all contrast voice and voicelessness. The different places of articulation are alveolar, retroflex, alveopalatal and cavity.³⁹ In example (13) near minimal pairs are presented for the different series.

(13)	/sǎ/	'to give to pass on'
	/zǽ/	'crooked'
	/şǎ/	'to bind sheaves'
	/zǎ/	'saliva'
	/çǎ/	'to taste'
	/zǎ/	'hand'
	/hægû/	ʻshaman'
	/ĥâ/	'mountain pass'

The status of labiodental fricatives will be discussed in §2.1.3.1, alveopalatal fricatives will be discussed in §2.1.3.2 and cavity fricatives in §2.1.3.3. For examples of fricatives that are the result of consonant lenition, see §2.4.2.

2.1.3.1 Note on labiodental fricatives

In his Pǔmǐ dialect comparison, Lù Shàozūn (2001:6) states that all speech varieties of Pǔmǐ have a voiceless labio-dental fricative /f/ in their phonological inventory, which only occurs in loanwords from Chinese. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ this only partly the case: the older speakers borrow the Chinese /f/ as [hw], so the word *fēijī* 飞机 'airplane' is

³⁸ Although Matisoff has a few examples of [i] following a retroflex affricate (1997:186): *qhú tşì tă* 'pillow'; *dzǐ* 'waist'; *dz∂dzĭ* 'book'.

³⁹ See footnote 44.

pronounced [hwéjtçí] or [hwítçí]⁴⁰ and *fāmíng* 发明 'invent' as [hwàmť]⁴¹. For the word 'house' *fángzi* 房子, especially older women will say [hồtsớ] or [hwằtsớ]. Note that the labiality carries over, either in the roundness of the vowel or the labial glide. Younger speakers who have received an education are more likely to incorporate the whole word into their Půmǐ, and so over time, the [f] might become a part of the phonological system in Wǎdū too.⁴² In one of the conversations recorded for this study, the distinction in pronunciation between a child (14) who is going to school and so knows Chinese phonology, and his grandmother (15) who has not received any education is clear:

- (14) fítçí k^hèj yèŋyèŋ = tà Ch:airplane Ch:drive like = SVM
 '(I) would like to fly an airplane.' (CV11.29)
- (15) hwítçí k^hèj=là jăw dz>dzí swéŋ qétç^h> q^hù fiăw
 Ch:airplane Ch:drive=also again letter study put.in.effort need WARN
 'In order to fly an airplane (you) need to study hard as well!!' (CV11.31)

Another example of a Chinese loanword taken from a personal narrative is given in (16):

2.1.3.2 Alveopalatal fricatives

Alveopalatals are extremely frequent, especially followed by the high front vowel /i/. This seems to be the result of ongoing palatalization in the language. Examples from Gerong Pincuo's wordlist (MS) show that several speech varieties in Wéixī and Lánpíng still have retroflex or post-alveolar consonants where Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has alveopalatal consonants (this is not limited to the fricatives, but is also the case for the affricates).

⁴⁰ In the local dialect of Chinese *fēijī* is pronounced with two high tones; *fāmíng* is pronounced with two low tones and *fángzi* with a low and a falling tone.

 $^{^{\}rm 41}$ I have heard that pronunciation in Yǔchū as well.

⁴² Interestingly, the standard Chinese /f/ gets borrowed as [xw] in an area where the local dialect of Chinese replaces the /x/ of standard Chinese with an [f] before the vowel /u/, so instead of saying [laoxu] 'tiger', people will pronounce it [laofu] in Yúnnán. (The tone is different from standard Chinese as well; the word is pronounced with a high falling tone).

A few examples from Dàyáng Půmľ (Matisoff 1997) compared with Wǎdū Půmľ are provided in Table 2.4. Some areas in Mùlǐ show even stronger palatalization (cf. $\S2.4.5$).⁴³

Dàyáng	Wădū	Meaning
/∫Ď/	/çǎ/	'to spend the night'
/zįí/	/zə́/	'many /much'
/tsźzĭ/	/tsêzi/	'monkey'
/pt∫hĎ/	/t¢ ^h wǎ/	ʻpig'
/tşĎ/	/t¢ě/	'weaves'
/dzóN/	/dzô/	'hole'

Table 2.4. Dàyáng retroflexes and post-alveolars versus Wǎdū alveopalatals

2.1.3.3 Cavity fricatives⁴⁴

The cavity fricatives occupy a large space and can have a wide range of realizations. These fricatives have been analysed in several ways for different speech varieties. Lù Shàozūn reports a velar series /x/ and / γ / in all but one of the Pǔmǐ speech varieties he discusses.⁴⁵ Dīng analyses Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ as having a velar and a glottal fricative / γ / and /h/ (1998:13), and Chan analyses a glottal series /h/ and /fi/ for Xiǎngshuǐhé Pǔmǐ (MS:50). Lǐ Huī, an anthropologist who published a paper on orthography, posed a velar /x/ and a glottal /fi/ for Lánpíng Pǔmǐ (2008:39). But both Matisoff (1997b:173) and Jacques (2011c:363) posit a velar as well as a glottal series of fricatives for Dàyáng and Shuǐluò Pǔmǐ respectively.⁴⁶ The examples that Matisoff gives (1997:195-196) do not show any minimal pairs between [x] and [h] or [γ] and [fi] though. Several times he notes that [γ] varies with [fi]. He only gives one example for [h] and indicates that it is fronted to [c] (before the high front vowel /i/; this is similar to what happens in

⁴³ Note that Matisoff uses the term 'laminopalatal' instead of 'post-alveolar'.

⁴⁴ 'Cavity' refers to the place of articulation of these fricatives, namely palatal, velar, uvular and glottal places of articulation depending on the vowel that follows.

⁴⁵ The only exception is Xīnyíngpán, for which he posits a glottal series /h/ and /f/ (2001:34). For the other speech varieties, cf. Lù's Pǔmǐ Dialectal Research 普米语方言研究: Qìnghuā (2001:11), Lǔdiàn (2001:26), Táobā (2001:42), Tuōqī (2001:61), Zuǒsuǒ (2001:70) and Sānyánlóng (2001:79).

⁴⁶ Jacques (p.c) found a few minimal pairs in Shuǐluò: /hiǔ/ 帐篷 'tent' vs. /xiǔ/ 烟 'smoke', /fǎ/ 厚 'thick' vs. /yâ/ (phonetically [ʁâ]) 掉下来 'to fall down'. These compare to Wǎdū /kǎw/ 'tent' and /kʰǎw/ 'smoke', /fǎ/ 'thick' and /fià/ 'to fall down'.

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ). There are no minimal pairs between velar, uvular and glottal fricatives in Wǎdū, so I have analysed them as a single set of cavity fricatives represented by /h/ and /fi/.

/h/ is sometimes realized with local friction as [x] or [χ], especially when followed by a high back vowel.⁴⁷ But even with low back vowels and low front vowels, the same speaker will sometimes pronounce the words with audible friction and sometimes without.

(17)	/hût¢ ^h wi/	[χút¢ʰųì]	'south'
	/hôbʉ/	[xố́b ù]	'owl'
	/hômĩ/	[xốmĩ]	'colour, dye'
	/mêhaw/	[méxàw]	'wind'
	/nĨnæ̃haw/	[ní̈nǽxàw]	'cloth bag'
	/quhú/	[qùχú]	'bamboo butter basket'
	/pʰíhaw/	[pʰíxáw]	'woven bamboo sieve to wash vegetables'
	/jehă/	[jèhǎ]~ [jèxǎ]	ʻall, everybody'
	/hæbě/	[hàbǎ]~ [xàbǎ]	'plate'
	/hæŋgû/	[hàŋgû]~ [xàŋgû]	'shaman'

When /h/ precedes the high front vowels /i/ or / \tilde{i} / or is palatalised, it is fronted to [ç] as in examples (18) and (19).⁴⁸

(18)	/hí/	[çí]	ʻgod'
	/hî̂/	[çî]	'who'
(19)	∕h ^j ŭ∕	[çəŭ]	'to want to eat'
	/h ^j êj/	[çêj]	'to release'
	/h ^j õh ^j ə́/	[çồçá]	'to randomly beat'

Like its voiceless counterpart, the voiced cavity fricative /fi/ is sometimes pronounced with local friction as well, as in (20). There seems to be more friction when the tone is rising or low. When followed by the nasalised vowel $/\tilde{a}/$ or the low back vowel /a/ there is variation with a velar nasal stop in a few cases (cf. §2.1.4.2). This could be a case of rhinoglottophilia, similar to what was described by Matisoff (1975). He discovered that glottal consonants often occur with nasalization as a result of a lowered uvula which allows airflow through the nose resulting in nasalization of the vowel. Examples are given in (21).

⁴⁷ Jaqcues notes that in Shuǐluò Pǔmǐ the velar fricatives are realized as uvulars before back vowels and as palatal fricatives before /i/ (Jacques 2011a:364).

⁴⁸ Historically these probably come from **s*-. Compare Mawo Qiang *qhsə* 'god', Ronghong Qiang $\chi s \partial$ 'god', $s \partial$ 'who', φi 'to release' probably palatalized from **si* (LaPolla, p.c.).

(20)	/ĥěj/ ~ [yěj]	'to be unbalanced'	
	/hồ/ $\sim [\gamma \hat{0}]$	'to sip (liquid)'	
	$/ { m h}\check{ m \ddot{o}} / \sim [\gamma \check{ m \ddot{o}}]$	'to eat <i>tsampa</i> with t	he hand'
(21)	/fiǎ/ ~ [yǎ] ~ [ŋǎ] (or [ĥǎ])	'thick'
	/hằ̈́qûqû/ \sim [ŋằ̈́	éqûqû] (or [ĥằqûqû])	'yellow'
	/hằjǐ cǐ/ \sim [ŋằj	ǐ ¢ǐ] (or [ĥੈੈੱijǐ ¢ǐ])	'to know
	/nàhằ/~[nàyằ	2]	'twenty'

In the present analysis, there are no cavity fricatives followed by the back vowel /u/. No minimal pairs between [wu], [fiu] and [μ u] have been found and the same word is often pronounced with and without local (or cavity) friction by the same speaker. There seems to be a link between rising tone and local friction, with local friction occurring when the tone of the syllable is low or rising. I also have the impression that [μ] tends to occur between vowels, and [μ] occurs word-initially. There are three ways of analysing the sequence [wu], [fiu] or [μ u]:

1. All underlyingly /wu/, but sometimes realized with more friction and uvularization as [µu]. This is consistent with my main consultant's intuition that these words all have /w/, but he can hear the friction sometimes as well.

2. All underlyingly /fiu/, but because of the rounding of the vowel often perceived as [wu] and sometimes pronounced with slightly more friction as [wu]. This would be consistent with Matisoff's statement for Dàyáng Půmǐ that the glide /w/ is not followed by back rounded vowels, apart from a few words that he mentions like *wŏ* 'tiger', *wó* 'mouse' and *wò-mí* 'guest' (1997:174). These have a corresponding vowel /u/ in Wǎdū.⁴⁹

3. Some words underlyingly /wu/ (pronounced [wu]) and some underlyingly /fu/ (pronounced [ʁu]). This would fit with the example words that Matisoff provides, but it would go against the intuition of my main consultant. Additionally, this analysis fails to explain the lack of contrastive pairs and the fact that the same word can sometimes be perceived without friction and sometimes with friction.

For the present purpose, the words in question are analysed as having underlyingly /w/ synchronically. The main reason for this is the lack of contrastive pairs between [fiu], [μ u] and [μ u] and the intuition of my main consultant that all are underlyingly /wu/. Some words clearly have an underlying /w/, like the word $w\hat{u}z\partial$ 'plowing ox' which has a female form $w\hat{v}mi$ 'female cow'. Additionally, there are some words that show that /w/ can be followed by a rounded vowel in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, and when that happens, /w/ is sometimes pronounced with more friction. The 'random reduplication'

⁴⁹ The only exception is $w \partial - mi$ 'guest' which corresponds to $w e m \partial$ in Wădū.

(§7.4.1.3) of verbs with a /w/ in their basic stem, such as $w \check{e}$ 'to prepare food', $w \check{e} j$ 'to curse' and $w \acute{e}$ 'to pile up' is /wõwé/, /wõwéj/ and /wõwê/ respectively. The first syllable /wõ/ is sometimes realized with more friction as [fiõ] or [fiwõ].

Diachronically, however, the initial /w/ in forms that are synchronically /wu/ have possibly more than one source and some /w/ initials might have developed from velar or uvular consonants. The main argument for this is cross-dialectal. Both $w\check{u}$ 'tiger' and $w\acute{u}$ 'rat' correspond with / γ o/ in Lánpíng, Qìnghuā and Táobā⁵⁰, / γ u/ in Niúwōzĭ and /wo/ in Dàyáng;⁵¹ $w\hat{u}$ 'mountain' corresponds with / γ Go/ in Lánpíng⁵² and /gu/ in Tuōzhī; $w\hat{u}$ 'dry' corresponds with / γ u/ in Jiǔlońg and Táobā, and /Gu/ in Lánpíng and Qìnghuā.⁵³ $n \Rightarrow w\acute{u}$ 'twenty' corresponds with / $n \Rightarrow$ Go/ in Lánpíng and Qìnghuā, / $n \circ \gamma$ o/in Jiǔlońg and / $n \Rightarrow \gamma$ a/ in Táobā.⁵⁴ These cross-dialectal comparisons point to a process of consonant lenition that is going on in the language, where uvular or velar stops change to velar, uvular or cavity fricatives, and have lenited to such an extent in Wǎdū Pǔmĭ that in combination with a rounded back vowel they are indistinguishable from a bilabial approximant.

2.1.4 Nasals

The nasals can be divided into three series based on their place of articulation: bilabial, alveolar and velar. The bilabial and alveolar series have a voiced and a voiceless counterpart; the velar nasal lacks a voiceless counterpart. A sequence of minimal pairs for the set is shown in (22).

(22) /mǔ/ 'corpse' /m̥ǔ/ 'oily'

⁵⁰ Most corresponding forms are taken from Sūn Hóngkāi et al. (1991) Tibeto-Burman Phonology and Lexicon, henceforth 'TBPL', and Dài and Huáng et al. (1992) A Tibeto-Burman Lexicon, henceforth 'TBL'. Compare also: Ronghong Qiang χu 'tiger', *zexu* 'mouse', *Bu* 'mountain', *juku* 'dry', *jusu* 'twenty' (LaPolla, p.c.); Japhug rGyalrong *khu* 'tiger', $\beta zuu < *pju$ 'rat', *zgo* 'mountain' (< Tibetan *sgang* 'mountain'), *spuu* 'dry'; Situ rGyalrong *khuŋ* 'tiger', *pəju* 'rat' (Jacques, p.c.).

⁵¹ For 'tiger' yo^{13} in Lánpíng (TBL 0304.09) and Qìnghuā (TBPL 124.11), yo^{35} in Táobā (TBPL 124.10), $y\check{u}$ in Niúwōzǐ (Dīng 1998:323), $w\check{o}$ in Dàyáng (Matisoff 1997:197). For 'rat' yo^{55} in Qìnghuā (TBPL 134.11) and yo^{53} in Táobā (TBPL 134.10).

⁵² *yGo*¹³(TBL 0023.09).

⁵³ (*tur*⁵⁵) yu^{55} 'be dry' and $yu^{11}yu^{55}$ 'dry' in Jiŭlońg (TBL 1333.10 and 1028.10), Gu^{55} 'dry, be dry' in Lánpíng (TBL 1028.09 and 1333.09), Gu^{55} 'dry' in Qìnghuā (TBPL 864.11) and $yu^{55}(m\sigma^{53})$ 'dry' in Táobā (TBPL 864.10).

⁵⁴ $n \partial^{13} Go^{55}$ in Lánpíng and Qìnghuā (TBL 0816.09 and TBPL 930.11), $no^{55} \gamma o^{55}$ in Jiǔlońg (TBL 0816.10) and $n\partial^{35} \gamma a^{53}$ in Táobā (TBPL 930.10).

/nŭ/	'to know'
/ņŭ/	'to pad'
/ŋŭ/	'to reach'

Several sources mention a palatal nasal phoneme (Matisoff 1997:197, Lù 2001:7). Even though one could argue that there is a palatal nasal phoneme in Wǎdū, I have chosen to analyse these forms as palatalised alveolars. Palatalization is an important feature of the language and most often co-occurs with coronal consonants. Further discussion of palatalization is given in §2.1.6 and §2.1.7. An interesting development of a voiceless bilabial nasal is discussed in §2.1.4.1, and the velar nasal is discussed in §2.1.4.2.

2.1.4.1 Bilabial nasal

In the word $m\hat{\sigma}$ or $m\hat{\sigma}$ for 'person' the voiced bilabial nasal is in free variation with its voiceless counterpart. It is strange that the clearly PTB reflex **mi* should have a voiceless nasal in Půmǐ. My main consultant considers that the voiceless nasal in that word is a later development in the Wēnquán area, and the other speech varieties do not have it; they have either $m\hat{i}$ or $m\hat{\sigma}$ as reflexes (Gerong Pincuo, MS).⁵⁵

It is interesting though that many compound words denoting human beings also show a voiceless nasal. This includes the words for 'male' $m \partial t c^h \partial \eta$ and 'female' $m \partial d \check{e}$, 'old man' $m \partial g i \eta$, 'mortal, human being' $m \partial d \check{e} \eta m \partial$, which might point to a less recent date for the development of $m \partial$ to $m \partial$.

Some voiceless bilabial nasals reflect earlier proto-forms.⁵⁶ The voiceless nasal in $m\hat{\partial}$ 'daughter' could be the result of a prefix in the proto-form.⁵⁷ Most other Pǔmǐ speech

⁵⁵ But Jacques (p.c.) pointed out that the Japhug rGyalrung cognate has a cluster in (*tur-*)*rme* 'man' and although the Tibetan script has no cluster in *mi* 'man', in some dialects (like Cone) it has a high tone, which points to an ancient cluster. Thus a variant with a voiceless nasal in this speech variety of Pǔmǐ is not really surprising.

⁵⁶ As are some voiceless alveolar nasals. Compare $n^{j} \check{\sigma}$ 'seven' from PTB **s*-*ni*-*s* versus $n \check{\sigma} / n \check{\sigma} \eta$ 'two' ($n \check{t}$ in some other Pumi speech varieties) from PTB **g*-*ni*-*s*.

⁵⁷ Cf. Bradley 1979:213, who gives *C-mi² for Proto-Ngwi/Proto-Loloish (*C = *bdgrl prefixes elsewhere), and Matisoff 2003:28, who gives the reconstructed Proto-Lolo-Burmese form $*za^2 - mi^{2/3}$ for 'daughter' and the form *səmî* for Written Burmese. In Rawang (LaPolla, p.c.), the word for 'daughter' is *səmare*, another form *àngcèmè* is derived from a noun-forming prefix *ang-*, *ce* 'child' from PTB $*za \sim *tsa$ 'child' and a female marker derived from PTB *ma 'mother'; *sə* and *ce* are possibly reflexes of Matisoff's reconstructed $*za \sim *tsa$ 'child', with reduction of the unstressed syllable in the former. In Japhug rGyalrong (Jacques, p.c.), the word for 'daughter' is tui-me with the indefinite possessor prefix tui-. It is possible that the voiceless nasal in Pǔmĭ

varieties also show a voiceless nasal in the word for 'daughter'.⁵⁸ And the word for 'medicine' min seems to be a reflex of the PTB form **s-man.*⁵⁹ The word $m\hat{x}$ 'hair' has a voiceless nasal only in the Wǎdū and Yǔchū speech varieties (Gerong Pincuo, MS). However, this seems to reflect the PTB form **s-mul* (see note 62).

2.1.4.2 Velar nasal

The velar nasal is relatively infrequent,⁶⁰ but it does occur before different vowels. Unlike the other nasals, it does not have a voiceless counterpart. Interestingly, Lù's data from the 50's and 80's document the presence of a voiceless velar nasal in all the northern speech varieties, including Tuōqī Pǔmǐ (Lù 2001:61), spoken in the same valley as Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. The southern speech varieties do not have a voiceless velar nasal (Lù 2001) and Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ does not have velar nasals at all (Dīng 1998:13). It could be that Wǎdū Pǔmǐ only recently lost the voiceless velar nasal.

(23)	/ŋɛź/ \sim /ŋǽ/ \sim /ŋǽ/ 61	ʻgold'
	/níŋĉjŋĉj/	'glowing (of embers)'
	/dzeŋćj/	'wasp'
	/ŋá/	'dare'
	/ŋwê/	'five'
	$/ \eta \acute{ extsf{o}} / \sim / n^{ extsf{j}} \acute{ extsf{o}} /$	'silver, money'62

⁽and Lolo-Burmese) reflects a proto-form where an indefinite possessor prefix was reinterpreted as part of the root when the system collapsed.

⁵⁸ mõ³⁵ba³⁵ (Táobā) and mi¹³by⁵⁵ba¹³ (Qìnghuā) (Matisoff 2003:187); mî (Sānjiè, Gélǔdiàn, Kāngwū); málì (Dōngzi, Bókē, Gùzēng) (Gerong Pincuo, MS).

⁵⁹ Or more likely a borrowing from Tibetan *sman*, cf. Japhug *smyn* (Jaqcues, p.c.).

⁶⁰ Cf. also Matisoff 1997:197 who only provides two examples for Dàyáng Pǔmǐ: *ŋóuN* 'silver, money' which corresponds to Wǎdū /ŋṓ/ (where there is also a variation with /nⁱṓ/) and *ŋĎN*, *thə-ŋóN* 'stand idle'. Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ lacks a velar nasal altogether (Dīng 1998:13).

⁶¹ It is sometimes difficult to establish which form is the basic form, but in this instance a case can be made for $\eta \dot{e} j$, as this form appears in the morphologically more complex forms $n i \eta \dot{e} j \eta \dot{e} j$ and $dz e \eta \dot{e} j$, also listed in (23). There appears to be a vowel split, with speech varieties located to the south of Wǎdū often showing reflexes with [æ] and speech varieties to the north in Mùlĭ showing reflexes with [ɛj] (Gerong Pincuo, MS). A similar split of southern and northern varieties can be observed with the word for 'silver' that has the reflex [ŋõ] to the south and [n^jõ] to the north of Wǎdū. In Wǎdū, both words for 'silver' are used.

⁶² The PTB form for 'silver' is **d-ŋul*. The PTB form **ul* gives a nasalized vowel reflex in several other forms as well: **s-mul* > $m\hat{x}g$ 'hair'; **bul* > $b\delta g$ 'tree'. However, this is not the same nasalized vowel in the three forms.

The velar nasal also occurs as a free variation of the cavity fricative /fi/ in the following words (see the discussion in §2.1.3.3):

(24) /ĥǎ/~ [ŋǎ] 'thick'
 /ĥǎŋqûqû/~ [ŋǎŋqûqû] 'yellow'
 /ĥæŋjǐ çǐ/~ [ŋàŋjǐ çǐ] 'to know'

2.1.5 Liquids

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has two liquid series: an alveolar lateral series and a retroflex approximant rhotic series. Both distinguish voicing. Minimal pairs are given in (25) and (26). One could also analyse the voiceless lateral as a lateral fricative, since sometimes more frication can be observed (this is the approach Dīng (1998:15) takes). But from a structural point of view it can be argued that the pair is based on a voicing distinction, like the rhotic series and the nasal series.

(25)	/lŭ/	'to hang (sth on sth)
	∕ļŭ∕	'forehead'
(26)	/Jû/	'chicken'
	/ıî/	'pine torch'

In his transcription my main consultant sometimes showed inconsistencies between [4] and [z], but when asked, he was able to distinguish very clearly between the two. Some speech varieties actually have a corresponding [z].⁶³

The voiceless retroflex approximant rhotic in Wǎdū / $_{4}$ / corresponds to the voiceless retroflex fricative / $_{5}$ / in some speech varieties.⁶⁴

2.1.6 Glides

In Chinese descriptive tradition the approximants /w/ and /j/ are usually analysed together with the vowels as part of the rhyme. This is the approach that Dīng (1998) takes. Dīng's reasons for analysing the glides as part of the rhyme are economic (1998:19) and in order to simplify the description of the vowel change in verb inflection that involves glides as well (1998:20).

Matisoff (1997b:173-174) discusses the issue of analysing glides as part of the initial or as part of the rhyme for /w/ in Dàyáng Pǔmǐ and talks about three different phonemic scenarios: if a glide only occurs after certain consonants, it might be analysed

⁶³ Pāntiāngé and Sānjiè (Gerong Pincuo, MS). Most speech varieties in Mùlǐ have a tap [r] (Dōngzi, Xiàmàidì, Bókē, Gùzēng) or a trill [r] (Kāngwū and Xiǎngshuǐhé) (data all taken from Gerong Pincuo's wordlist, except for Xiǎngshuǐhé which is taken from personal notes).

⁶⁴ Yǔchū, Dōngzi, Xiàmàidì, Bókē, Gùzēng, Kāngwū (all in Mùlǐ), and Tuōzhī and Sānjiè. It has a corresponding [h] in Pāntiāngé.

as part of the initial; if it only occurs before certain vowels, it can be analysed as part of the rhyme; if it occurs in relatively unrestricted positions, it can be analysed as a structurally separate part of the syllable. Matisoff applies the arguments only to the /w/ glide and notes that its occurrence in Dàyáng Pǔmǐ is relatively unrestricted: /w/ occurs after all consonants except for labials and before all vowels except the back rounded vowels /u, o, ou/. At the beginning of a word /w/ occurs freely before all vowels as the initial consonant (1997:174). He analyses both /j/ and /w/ glides as part of an initial consonant cluster.

In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ both /w/ and /j/ can occur as the onset of a syllable, and also appear as off-glides in the diphthongs / α w/ and / ϵ j/, as in (27) and (28).

(27)	/wěj/	'to curse'
	/wě/	'to prepare food'
	/wâ/	'to sprout'
	/wê/	'to have learned'
(28)	/jæ/	'tobacco'
	/jô/	'to pick up'
	/jěj/	'to get'
	/jĭ/	'conch'
	/jǎw/	'Ch:again'

In addition, the glide /w/ (and its allophone [q], see §2.1.7.3) is relatively unrestricted: it occurs with all consonants except bilabials and the cavity fricative /fi/ and all vowels except the rounded vowels /u/, and /õ/.⁶⁵ It could therefore be analysed as a medial consonant that forms a consonant cluster with an initial consonant. Consonant clusters are given in Table 2.5.

The glide /j/ is severely restricted in its occurrence with consonants: it can only occur with roughly half of the consonants, the consonants of the 'palatal group' (as described below in §2.1.7.1). It appears with all vowels (/ɛj, æ, ə, ɐ, u, õ, ɑw, ɑ/) except the high vowel /i/ and the nasalised front vowels /ī/, /ẽ/ and /æ̃/. I will therefore analyse it as palatalization of the initial. A list of palatalised consonants is given in Table 2.5.

There are multiple examples with a palatalised initial combined with the labial-velar medial /w/. Phonetically this sounds like the presence of a labial-palatal glide [μ].⁶⁶ Some examples are given in (29). When these words are pronounced, the lips are clearly rounded and the tongue moves towards the hard palate during the production of the initial.

⁶⁵ Bilabials and rounded vowels are inherently labialized.

 $^{^{66}}$ Both Dīng (1998:19) and Chan (MS:21) analyse a separate /q/ phoneme.

(29) /dⁱwé/ [dųé] 'to become thin' /lⁱwě/ [lųě] 'ashes'
/lⁱwě/ [lųě] 'to smear'
/n^jən^jwæ/ [n^jənųæ] 'to smell'
/h^jwæ/ [çųæ] 'to flaunt'

This is opposed to the near-minimal pair examples in (30) with only palatalization, where the lips are clearly unrounded during production, and the near-minimal pair examples in (31) that have only labialization: the lips are rounded, but the tongue does not move towards the hard palate.

(30)	/d ^j ě/	'boat'
	/l ^j ěmătà/	'no use'
	/n ^j â/	'eye'
	/h ^j ǎ-/	'IN:Q-' (directional verb prefix)
(31)	/dâdwe/	'to ask'
	/ļwě/	'gaze:PFV:N.EGO'
	/gwǎ/	'to sing'

Even though phonetically the combination of palatalization and the labial-velar glide sounds like a labial-palatal glide [q], I do not posit a separate phoneme /q/ for the words in (29). My main argument for this is morpho-phonological. Many controllable verbs have an alternate non-egophoric stem form with an infix <w> (§8.1.1), as in (32). When the basic form of a verb has a palatalised initial, the non-egophoric form displays a combination of palatalization and labialization as a result of the labial-velar infix <w>. This phonetically appears as [q].

(32)	/lwěj/ [lwěj]	'sow:PFV:N.EGO' (
	/h ^j wéj/ [çųéj]	'take along:PFV:N.EGO' (
	/d ^j wê/ [dyê]	'have.intercourse:PFV:N.EGO' ($ 'to have intercourse')$
	/n̥ ^j wê/ [n̥ųê]	'pour:PFV:N.EGO' (ຫ<sup jê/ 'to pour')

Table 2.5 lists the palatalised consonants and the consonant clusters with the labialvelar /w/. In the next section more will be discussed about palatalization, labialization and consonant grouping.

Bilabial	Alveolar	Retroflex	Alveopalatal	Velar	Uvular
p ^j	t ^j /tw/t ^j w	tw		kw	
\mathbf{p}^{hj}	t^{hj}/t^hw	t ^h w		$\mathbf{k}^{\mathrm{h}}\mathbf{w}$	
\mathbf{b}^{i}	d ^j /dw/d ^j w	dw		gw	
	tsw	tşw	tçw		
	ts ^h w	tş ^h w	t¢ ^h w		
	dzw	dzw	dzw		
	SW	şw	¢W		h ^j /hw/h ^j w
	ZW	zw	ZW		
m ^j	n ^j /nw/n ^j w			ŋw	
	n ^j /nw/n ^j w				
	l ^j /lw/l ^j w	JW			
	ļ ^j /ļw	ĴM			
			jw		

 Table 2.5. Palatalised consonants and consonant clusters

2.1.7 Consonant grouping

I would like to posit a distinction in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ consonants similar to that described by Dīng for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ. Dīng (1998:13) groups consonants into two sets, based on whether or not they can co-occur with the palatal glide. In his analysis, this is an important distinction to make, since it helps explain the behaviour of the vowels.

In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ the division of consonants into two groups, a palatal and a non-palatal group, is based on four phenomena.⁶⁷ The first is the ability of certain consonants to be palatalised: this group of consonants I will call the 'palatal group'. The second is that when the consonants of the 'non-palatal group' are followed by the high front vowel /i/, the vowel is slightly lowered and centralized. This does not happen with the consonants in the 'palatal group': the /i/ will be pronounced as a normal high front vowel. The third phenomenon is the allophonic variation shown by the glide /w/: when it follows a consonant of the 'palatal group' and is followed by the high front vowel /i/, /w/ is pronounced as a rounded palatal glide [η]. The fourth phenomenon is the

⁶⁷ Note that these groups do not form a natural class and thus there must have been something else that caused the grouping. It would be interesting to conduct more indepth research and compare this to the uvularization phenomenon in Mawo Qiang (Qiang is considered the closest relative of Pumi), where two groups of vowels are distinguished based on the presence or absence of uvularization (Sūn and Evans 2013). The phenomenon of vowel retraction in Wadu Pumi is especially interesting in this light (§2.1.7.2).

fronting of the directional prefix $q^h \check{\sigma}$ - 'outwards' to $k^h \check{\sigma}$ - before verbs that start with a consonant of the 'palatal group' and are followed by a high front vowel. In this section I will treat each phenomenon in more detail and discuss a possible explanation for this consonant grouping. The two groups of consonants are shown in Table 2.6.

The consonants belonging to the *palatal group* are shaded. The other consonants, the *non-palatal group*, have not been shaded. The velars occupy an in-between position as can be seen from the discussion below and indicated by lighter shading, but I have analysed them as belonging to the 'palatal group'.

	Bilabial	Alveolar	Retroflex	Alveopalatal	Velar	Uvular	Cavity
	р	t	t		k	q	
Stops	p^{h}	t ^h	ť		k ^h	$\mathbf{q}^{\mathbf{h}}$	
	b	d	đ		g		
		ts	tş	tç			
Affricates		ts ^h	t۶ ^h	t¢ ^h			
		dz	dz	dz			
Fricatives		S	ş	Ç			h
		Z	Z	Z			ĥ
Nasals	m	n			ŋ		
	ŵ	ņ					
Liquids		1	ન				
1		ļ	ત્ર				
Approximants	w			j			

Table 2.6 The palatal group consonants

2.1.7.1 The first phenomenon: co-occurrence with the palatal glide

The palatal glide only occurs with consonants belonging to the 'palatal group'. In my data, I have no examples of the palatal glide occurring after any other consonants.⁶⁸ The alveopalatals are inherently palatal. Some examples of the occurrence of the glide are shown in (33).

(33)	$/p^{hj}\hat{u}/$	'push.over:IMP:SG'
	∕b ⁱ ŏ̃∕	'fly:IMP:SG'
	/t ⁱ ú/	'stomach (non-cud chewers)'
	/t ^{hj} ǎw/	'steep (downhil)'
	/êd ^j æ/	'grandmother'
	/n ^j ố́/	'money'
	/ņ ⁱ ě/	'to pour'
	∕l ^j ě∕	'lot, fate' (<i><</i> Tibetan <i>las</i>)
	/meļ ^j ú/	'tail'
	∕h ^j ŭ∕ [çðu]	'to want to eat'

There is no example of a palatalised velar nasal in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, but there are some occurrences of palatalised velar stops, as shown in (34).

(34)	/kælí/ ~ [k ^j ælí]	'small alcohol jar'	
	$/k^{h}\check{a}/\sim [k^{hj}\check{a}]$	'basket'	
	/g⁄a/ ~ [g ^j ǽ]	'happy, beautiful'	

However, I analyse palatalization in combination with velar stops as phonetic rather than phonemic, since palatalization only happens in combination with the vowel /æ/; palatalization of velar stops does not occur with any other vowel. Additionally, palatalization and non-palatalization of the consonant when followed by /æ/ seems to be in free variation: there are no minimal pairs and the same speaker will sometimes pronounce a word with a clearly audible palatalization of the consonant and sometimes without it. My main consultant's intuition is that these words are underlyingly not palatalised. This agrees with Matisoff who notes that there are no 'velar-plus-y clusters' in Dàyáng Pǔmǐ (1997:174).

⁶⁸ But compare Dàyáng Půmǐ, where dental affricates /ts, ts^h, dz/ and fricatives /s/ can be palatalized (Matisoff 1997:185,191; his [y] indicates a palatalized consonant, [^j] in my transcription). In the words that I have correspondences for, the Wǎdū consonant is either a plain non-palatalized alveolar or an alveopalatal: [tsyòuN gwí] versus [tçồgú] 'clothing', [tshyóuN] versus [ts^hô] 'short', [tshyòuN dzù mí] versus [ts^hồpæ̂] 'trader', [má qà tsyě] versus [má q^hétsèj] 'mother's younger sister', [syú] versus [çú] 'paddy' and [yé syě] versus [jésǝ̀] 'arrow'.

Palatalization with velar stops seems to be the result of influence from the following front vowel /æ/: the tongue-body movement between the release of the velar stop and the formation of the front vowel creates a transition effect that is perceived as palatalization of the velar stop. Thus I will not propose a separate series of palatalised velar stops for Wǎdū Pǔmǐ.

In my data there is only one example of a palatalised bilabial nasal: the interjection $\hat{e}mi$ that is sometimes pronounced as $\hat{e}m^j \hat{e}$. The palatalised bilabial series seems to have collapsed with the palatalised alveolar series in Wǎdū. Both Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ and Dàyáng Pǔmǐ have words with palatalised bilabials, but for some of those examples I have words with a corresponding palatalised alveolar nasal in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. One example is the word for 'eye', as shown in (35). Added to the Niúwōzǐ and Dàyáng data are data from Gerong Pincuo's wordlist.

(35)	/mjé/	Niúwōzǐ (Dīng 1998:112)
	/myóN/	Dàyáng (Matisoff 1997:196)
	[m ^j êo]	Tuōzhī
	[m ^j â]	Pāntiāngé, Sānjiè
	[njê]	Gélŭdiàn
	[n ^j æ]	Wǎdū, Dōngzi, Gùzēng, Kāngwū
	[njuâ]	Xiàmàidì
	[njuæ̂]	Bókē

2.1.7.2 The second phenomenon: vowel retraction

When the high front vowel /i/ is preceded by consonants belonging to the non-palatal group, it is slightly lowered and centralized at the onset of the vowel to [9i].⁶⁹ This retraction does not happen when the vowel is preceded by consonants belonging to the palatal group. Speakers do not make a phonemic distinction between the retracted and non-retracted forms, but perceive it as one type of sound. The retraction is clearly shown in Figure 2.2. The first sound is the word /tsĭ/ [ts9i] 'to erect', the second sound is the clear vowel [i] pronounced without initial consonant.

⁶⁹ The close-mid central vowel [9] is a little bit higher and more fronted than the shwa [ə].





An initial look at the vowel formants F1 and F2 of 40 retracted and 15 non-retracted tokens using Praat software (Boersma and Weenink 2009) shows that the range of F1 values for the retracted [9i] is 276-426Hz (with a mean of 306 Hz), as opposed to 271-322Hz (with a mean of 272Hz) for the non-retracted [i]. The range of F2 values for [9i] is 1543-2230Hz (with a mean of 2089Hz) as opposed to 1992-2327Hz (with a mean of 2153Hz) for [i]. This means that the retracted /i/ that occurs with the consonants of the non-palatal group is slightly lower and slightly more central than the non-retracted /i/ that occurs with consonants of the palatal group. The contour of the lowered, centralized /i/ shows a rising pattern in its F2: the start of the vowel is 452Hz lower than the end, which means that the vowel starts more centralized and becomes more front.

In relation to this phenomenon, the velars and the cavity fricatives clearly belong to the 'palatal group', and the uvulars to the 'non-palatal group'. Figure 2.3 is an example of a velar stop, a cavity fricative and a uvular stop followed by /i/ in the words /k^hĭ/ 'to grab', /hí/ [çí] 'god' and /qîpu/ [qəípù] 'cuckoo' respectively. As can be seen, the F2 formant in the initial syllable of /qîpu/ is clearly lowered compared to that of the other example words. I have no examples of a velar nasal followed by /i/.



Figure 2.3. Vowel retraction of /i/ in /qîpu/

The retraction is especially clear with the alveolar affricates and fricatives, and seems to be influenced by tone as well: the retraction is the most apparent with a low or rising tone.

(36)	/tsǐ/ [tsəǐ]	`to cut, chop'		
	/tsʰǐ/ [tsʰəǐ]	`salt'		
	[ĭezb] \ĭzb/	`to splash'		
	/šǐ/ [səǐ]	'Sichuan pepper		
	/zǐ/ [zəǐ]	'to brocade'		
	[ĭej] \ĭj\	'mule'		
	/tʰî/ [tʰэî]	'to tear'		
	[ĭeb] \ĭþ\	'to sew'		
	[ĭeɟ] \ĭɟ\	'drying rack'		
	[îe̪រ] \î̯ı	'to sweat'		
	[úqìep] \úqìp\	'cuckoo'		

Matisoff also mentions something similar in his Dàyáng phonology: 'the vowel /i/ is pronounced further back after palatal fricative or affricate initials, almost like a fronted barred-i $[i^{<}]$ ' (1997:200). As examples he gives three words:

(37)	/zĺ/	'month'
	/∫í/	'hundred'
	/kó t∫í/	'speech'

The examples he gives all have post-alveolar or retroflex fricatives and affricate initials (1997:200). Even though many of the examples have alveopalatal counterparts in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ (compare the examples in Table 2.7), it is still interesting that the sounds Matisoff mentions are the sounds considered as part of the 'non-palatal group' in Wǎdū, the group that shows the retraction.

Dàyáng	Wǎdū	Meaning
/pt∫hí/	/t¢ ^h wí/	'good'
/bdʒǐN/	/dzwǐŋ/	'to become light'
/dzĭ/	/dzĭ/	'waist'
/∫t∫ĭ/	/çî/	'village'
/ʃí/	/çí/	'hundred'
/șíșĭ/	/cícì ~ cĭ/	'new'
/zįí/	/zí/	'month'

Table 2.7 Dàyáng retroflexes and post-alveolars versus Wǎdū alveopalatals

Another detail that could possibly point to vowel retraction is Matisoff's transcription of a set of words with the dipthong [ei] (1997:200). This diphthong is not part of his vowel chart. Apart from one example, the words that he transcribes all start with a consonant of what I analyse as the 'non-palatal group' in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, and the corresponding words in Wǎdū have the retracted /i/. Compare the words in Table 2.8.

Dàyáng	Wădū	Meaning
/tʰéi/	/[îe ⁴] \î	'to cut (e.g. meat)'
/děi/	[ĭeb] \ĭþ\	'to sew'
/rěi/	[ĭeɟ] \ĭɟ\	'to be burned'
/pşʰéi/	/tʰwî/ [tʰwəî]	'ale'
∕pzéi wú∕	/twíwu/ [twəíwú]	'Year of the Monkey'

Table 2.8 Possible occurrences of vowel retraction in Dàyáng

On the other hand, Matisoff transcribes several words with a fricative or affricate followed by /i/ without mentioning anything about a centralization of the vowel, like the word for 'salt', (/ts^hĭ/ [ts^h9ĭ] in Wǎdū) which he transcribes as ts^h ĭ as well, but without mentioning anything about a vowel centralization (1997:200).

2.1.7.3 The third phenomenon: the palatalization of the labial-velar glide /w/

The labial-velar glide /w/ shows allophonic variation with the rounded palatal glide [μ]. In his phonology of Dàyáng Půmǐ, Matisoff notes in passing that /w/ is realized as [μ] 'in some words with a high front vowel' and he gives four example words (1997:174). Jacques, working on Shuǐluò Půmǐ, is a little bit more precise in his formulation and states that 'the glide -w- is realized [- μ -] after a coronal consonant and before a front vowel' (2011:363). In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, the [μ] realization does occur with front vowels and coronal sounds, but not with all front vowels and not with all coronal sounds. A better way to describe what is happening is to say that the glide /w/ is realized [μ] after a 'palatal group' consonant and before a high front vowel.⁷⁰ In combination with an alveopalatal or a palatalised consonant, the allophone occurs before all front vowels:

(38)	/zwi/ [zųi]	'rob:pfv:n.ego'
	/çwî/ [çyî]	'lunch'
	/tçʰwǎ/ [tçʰųǎ]	ʻpig'
	/jwěj/ [jųěj]	'bring:PFV:N.EGO'
	/n̥ ^j ən̯ ^j wǽ/ [n̯ ^j ə̀n̪ႃuǽ]	'to smell'

The allophone [q] occurs after the alveolar series when followed by the front vowels /i/ and /ī/, as in (39), but not with other front vowels, as in (40).

(39)	/twĭ/ [tųĭ]	'put down:PFV:N.EGO'
	/dwľ̃/ [dųľ̃]	'swallow:pfv:n.ego'
	/ņwī̈́/ [ņųī́]	'sister (used by males)'
	/lwî/ [lųî]	'roll:pfv:n.ego'
(40)	/twéj/ [twěj]	'wind:PFV:N.EGO'
	/lwěj/ [lwěj]	'sow:PFV:N.EGO'

Of the 'palatal group' consonants, the velar stops follow one of two patterns: followed by the glide /w/ and the high vowels /i/ or /i/, the glide can either become palatalised to [q] as the result of the following high vowel, or remain unchanged. In the latter case the vowel /i/ will be lowered to [si] under the influence of /w/. Followed by any other vowel the glide is unchanged.

(41)	/gwľ́/ [gųľ̃] ~ [gwੈ́i]	'horse'
	/kwĭ/ [kųĭ] ~ [kwši]	'give to drink:PFV:N.EGO'

⁷⁰ Note that this analysis does not deal with the fact that three of the four example words that Matisoff (1997b:174) gives actually start with a consonant from the 'non-palatal' group. Nevertheless, the corresponding words for 'liver' and 'pull' in Wǎdū are pronounced with an alveolar consonant and a lowered /i/: [tswêⁱ] and [tswéⁱ] and not [ui] and the word for 'shoe' is /púqa/.

/kwǎ/ [kwǎ]	'bit (of horse bridle)
/kwêj/ [kwêj]	'let:PFV:N.EGO'

Sometimes [μ i] is pronounced as a simple vowel [y], but upon careful repetition the onglide [μ] and a clear [i] are audible. This analysis is in contrast with that of Ding (1998:21) who analyses /y/ as a phoneme and notes that it sometimes is pronounced with an offglide as [y^i]. In the majority of cases where [μ i] appears, it is in the non-egophoric forms of verbs that have a vowel [i] in their basic stem. [μ] is an infix marking non-egophoricity and an allophone of [w] that phonologically appears in the environments specified above. In example (42) the first verb shows the allophonic form of the infix; the second verb shows the unchanged form.

(42) /tǐ/ 'to put' > /twǐ/ [tuǐ] 'put:PFV:N.EGO'
/tǎ/ 'to hammer' > /twǎ/ 'hammer:PFV:N.EGO'

2.1.7.4 The fourth phenomenon: the fronting of the directional prefix

In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, classifying the consonants into two groups not only accounts for aspects of the phonology, but also the morphophonology.

The directional verb prefix 'outwards' has two forms that differ only in their first consonant: a default form $/q^h$ ð-/ and a fronted form $/k^h$ ð-/. The fronted form only co-occurs with verb roots that start with the consonants found in the 'palatal group'. If the verb starts with an alveopalatal, it always takes the fronted prefix, independent of the vowel of the verb.

 $\begin{array}{cccc} (43) & /k^{h} \overline{\partial} - t c^{h} \check{a} w / & `to rub' \\ & /k^{h} \overline{\partial} - d z \hat{o} \eta / & `to be pierced' \\ & /k^{h} \overline{\partial} - c i / & `to ooze' \\ & /k^{h} \overline{\partial} - j \check{z} j / & `to get' \end{array}$

When the prefix occurs with the bilabial and alveolar consonants of the 'palatal group', the fronted prefix only occurs if the initial consonant of the verb is palatalised or the vowel of the verb is /i/. This can be clearly seen from the near-minimal pairs in the two sets of verbs in (44) and from the two occurrences of the same verb found in a single line of text in (45): the basic form of the verb 'to flee' $/p^{h}i/$ with the vowel /i/ takes the prefix /k^hð-/; the inflected form $/p^{h}a/$ with the vowel /a/ takes the prefix /q^hð-/.

(44)	∕kʰə-bîŋ∕	'to fly'	∕q ^h ə-b ú ∕	'to heap up'
	∕k ^h ə-dĭ∕	'to throw'	/q ^h ə-děj/	'to stick'
	/k ^h ə-nĭ/	'to sprout'	∕q ^h ə-nằ̃∕	'to press'
	∕k ^h ə-ņ ^j ĕ∕	'to pour'	∕q ^h ə-ņੈ́ǽ∕	'to become slow'

	/kʰə-l̥ʲõl̥í/ /(kʰə-)ຫຼĭŋ/	'to c 'to l	casually twine be cooked, be	e rope' e ripe' ⁷¹	∕q ^h ə ∕q ^h ə	-ļố/ -m̥ð/	'to uj 'to bl	proot' low'	
(45)	(nǒŋ two:CLF:thing	dəl the	oŭ tçəmá-kó en central.ro	ŋ=wù oom-door∶	k =in c	^h ù-dzì out-locatio	on	k ^h ð-p ^h íŋ OUT-flee	
	q ^h ə̀-şɛ́j OUT-go:PFV:N.I	EGO	k ^h ì=là), time=also	swǽŋ father	dəbŭ then	k ^h ù-dzì out-loc	ation		
	q ^h ə́-p ^h ǽŋ OUT-flee:PFV:N	.EGO	k ^h ì = là time = also						
	'When [two (d	of the	em) fled outw	ards to th	ne door	of the ce	entral	room] wł	hen

the father fled outwards, (...)' (TC04.36)

The velars are again a special case. Verbs that start with a velar consonant always take $/k^{h}\tilde{e}$ -/ form of the prefix, no matter what the vowel of the verb is. This could be ascribed to place assimilation.

(46) /k^hə-gwě/ 'to weed'
 /k^hə-ŋǔ/ 'to reach'

For the cavity fricatives no minimal pairs have been attested in the corpus, but my main consultant indicated his preference for $/k^h$ ð-/ for verbs starting with /h/ and with a high front vowel or palatalization, and $/q^h$ ð-/ for the other verbs.

(47) /k^hə-h^jð/ [k^hà-çð] 'to hit with something'
/q^hə-fiðŋ/ 'to eat *tsampa* with the hand'

It is interesting that when a verb that would normally be prefixed with the form $q^h \check{\partial}$ is negated using the negation marker mi, the prefix often changes to $k^h \check{\partial}$ -. But it is not always the case as can be seen from example (48).

(48) gweng = gecenter for a gamma given for a gamma gamma

'(...) the horse's saddle had not even been taken off (...)' (YJ01.25)

2.1.7.5 Discussion of consonant grouping

As described above, a distinction can be made with the Půmǐ consonantal system depending on four different phenomena. The main motivation that can be given for

⁷¹ Actually, this verb does not take the 'outwards' prefix, but if my main consultant could choose between the two forms of the prefix, he would choose $/k^h$ ð-/. This shows that there is clearly some rule, judging from the ability of the main consultant to predict the prefix for forms that would not actually co-occur with the 'outwards' prefix.

this distinction seems to be physiological: the position of the tongue body and assimilation effects.

Flemming, in his 2003 article on the relationship between coronal place and vowel backness, discusses vowel fronting and vowel retraction as a result of assimilation to the position of the tongue body and gives examples of the influence of vowels on consonants and vice versa from a number of different languages. He especially focuses on coronals. Dentals, alveolars and palato-alveolars are produced with a fronted tongue body, whereas retroflex sounds are produced with a retracted tongue body (2003:337). The movement of the tongue body facilitates the production of the coronal (2003:337).

Ladefoged (2007:163) talks about gestural targets that need to be reached. If the tongue shape is such that the transition from one gestural target to another takes extra effort, acoustic side effects are to be expected. A language can develop constraints on the co-occurrence of sounds through the implementation of harmonization rules.

Alveolar fricatives and affricates are formed with a grooved tongue shape; retroflex sounds are formed with an apical, rather than laminal, tongue shape and a retracted tongue body; and uvulars are formed with a retracted tongue body. This could then explain why their co-occurrence with the high front vowel /i/ or palatalization would prove difficult.

As in the case of the palatalised velars, where palatalization can be described as a transition effect (§2.1.7.1), vowel lowering with grooved or apical consonants might also be interpreted as a transition effect.

The basic division then is between laminal coronal consonants with fronted tongue body, and the apical and grooved consonants with retracted tongue body. This division plays out in other areas, for example the fronting of the directional prefix. Tonguebody movement during release of the consonant creates a transition effect that is perceived as palatalization of the non-retroflex coronal consonant.

The velars have been included in the palatal group, even though their behaviour is transitional, since they do not occur palatalised (apart from when they are followed by /æ/), they show variation in the realization of the bilabial glide and its allophone [q], and they occur with the fronted prefix $k^h \check{\partial}$ - regardless of which vowel the verb has. This behaviour is different from most of the other palatal group consonants (except for the alveopalatals) and could also be explained in terms of place harmony: the uvular consonant of the prefix assimilating to the velar initial of the verb. But Ding (1998:13) includes them in his J-group (my palatalizing group) and since this seems to be a feature of Pǔmǐ in general I have also included them here.
2.2 Vowels

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has six single oral vowels, four nasal vowels and three diphthongs. Since I am treating the glides /j/and /w/ as palatalization and labialization features of the initial and syllable respectively (§2.1.6), the number of finals is substantially lower than that given for other speech varieties (cf. Dīng 1998:20 who treats the glides as part of the rhyme and lists 31 monophthongs, diphthongs and triphthongs). Below is the composite chart of the oral and nasal vowels and diphthongs.

	Table 2.9 Composite chart of vowers						
		Front		Central		Back	
		-round	+ round	-round	+ round	-round	+ round
High	Oral	i			u		u
	Nasal	ĩ					
Mid	Oral	εj [e] / (ej)		ə			aw [o]
	Nasal	ẽ					õ
Low	Oral	æ		в		а	
	Nasal	æ					

Table 2.9 Composite chart of vowels

(Near)-mininal pairs with the different vowels and diphthongs are given in (49). Oral vowels are discussed §2.2.1 and nasal vowels in §2.2.2.

(49)	/pĭ/	'belly'
	/pž̃/	'grove'
	/pěj/	ʻolder sibling'
	/tə́/	'this'
	/pʰêj/	'Ugh!' (interjection of disgust)
	/bê̂/	'pile.up:IMP:PL'
	/pě/	'brightly coloured'
	/pằ/	'to pass through'
	/pě/	'flour'
	/pǎ/	'leaf'
	/pú/	'wild dog'
	/pâw/	'do:IMP:SG'
	/pố/	'official, king' (< Tibetan <i>dpon</i> 'minister, official')

2.2.1 Oral vowels

The oral vowels and diphthongs are shown in Table 2.10. In connected speech, the diphthongs ϵ_j and α_w are often realized as single vowels [e] and [o] respectively, but when they are repeated slowly a clear diphthong is audible.

Table 2.10 Oral vowels							
	Fron	Front		Central		Back	
	-round	+ round	-round	+ round	-round	+ round	
High	i			ŧ		u	
Mid	εj [e] / (ej)			ə	aw	[0]	
Low	æ			в	a 72		

When comparing the Wǎdū speech variety with other Pǔmǐ speech varieties, it seems that a split occurred in the vowel system that involved the vowels *e and *o: the *e and *o of proto-Wǎdū Pǔmǐ split, merged with /i/ and /u/ in some words and changed to diphthongs /ɛj/ and /ɑw/ in other words. Many words with /o/ or /e/ in other speech varieties have a corresponding /u/ or /i/ in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. Some comparisons with Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ (data from Dīng 1998) are shown in Table 2.11.⁷³

Niúwōzĭ	Wădū	Meaning
/to/	/tû/	'top, on' (1998:113,156)
/bo/	/bu/	'TOP' (1998:158ea)
/po/	/pu/	'below' (1998:110)
/bô/	/bû/	'trough' (1998:23)
/rô/	/Jû/	'chicken' (1998:158)
/pále/	/páli/	'clothes' (1998:158)
/be/	/bi/	'side, on' (1998:149ea)

Table 2.11 Vowels /o, e/ versus /u, i/

 72 The vowel /a/ is pronounced less back when appearing after other then uvular stops.

⁷³ In the examples here, as well as in other examples taken from Ding 1998, I have used phonological transcription rather than the orthography used by Ding, in order to make comparison easier. Some morphemes are analysed as underlyingly toneless. This is indicated by the absence of diacritics.

Niúwōzĭ	Wădū	Meaning
/k ^h e/	/k ^h i/	'time' (1998:155ea)
/t∫ ^h ě/	$/tc^{h}i/^{74}$	'food' (1998:235)
/dʒe/	/dzi/	'vicinity' (1998:99)
/ʒê/	/zî/	'to exist' (1998:239)

Additionally, diphthongization of *e and *o seems to have taken place. The Tu $\bar{o}q\bar{i}$ speech variety, a very similar variety spoken in the same valley as the Wǎdū speech variety, is reported to have an /e/ and an /o/ phoneme (Lù 2001:65).⁷⁵ My main consultant confirms that speakers of the other Pǔmǐ villages in the same valley often use the single vowels /o/ and /e/ where Wǎdū uses the diphthongs /aw/ and /ej/.⁷⁶ Some comparisons with Tu $\bar{o}q\bar{i}$ Pǔmǐ (data from Lù 2001) are given in Table 2.12.

	Table 2.12 vowels /0, e/ versus /uw, ej/				
Tuōqī	Wădū	Meaning			
[kio ¹³]	/k ^h ǎw/	'smoke' (2001:367)			
[ko ¹³ kəu ⁵³]	/kawkǎw/	'father(-in-law), uncle (FB,LA)' (2001:393)			
[be ¹³ 4A ⁵³]	/bɛjļá/	'chaff' (2001:399)			
[be ⁵³]	/bêj/	'food, fodder' (2001:399)			

Table 2.12 Vowels /o, e/ versus /αw, εj/

It might be possible that diphthongization occurred under influence of Chinese. In Wǎdǔ Pǔmǐ, as well as in Tuōqī (Lù 2001:67) both / α w/ and / ϵ j/ are often used in Chinese loanwords. However, because of the presence of the Hàn Chinese villages Upper and Lower Wǎdū, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has been influenced by Chinese to a greater extent than the other three Pǔmǐ villages in the valley.

Both $/\epsilon j/$ and $/\alpha w/$ occur in numerous native words as well as in loanwords from Chinese. Some examples of native words:

(50) /zǎw/ 'handle (of axe, knife)'
 /k^hǎw/ 'smoke'

 $^{^{74}}$ Note the change from post-alveolar to alveopalatal consonants in the last three words. The vowel change to /i/ may be one of the reasons for palatalization of these consonants in Wǎdū.

 $^{^{75}}$ Note that the Tuōqī material, even though published in 2001, dates from the fifties.

⁷⁶ But note also that some Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ words show similar diphthongs. For example, [ʃɛw] 'to raise' (1998:158), [pǎj] 'older sibling' (1998:158) and [tâj] 'to exist on' (1998:239) have similar diphthongs in Wǎdū: /¢áw/, /pěj/ and /tɛ̂j/ respectively.

/mêhaw/	'wind'
/péj/	'to bubble, simmer
/zźj/	'loose'
/téj/	'to be big'

The diphthong /ej/ only appears in a handful of Chinese loans and three interjections.

(51)	/féjt¢i/	'Ch:airplane' (<飞机)
	/pejlála/	'Ch:without rhyme or reason' (<白拉拉)
	/têj/	'Wow!' (interjection of surprise and admiration)
	∕p ^h êj∕	'Ugh!' (interjection of disgust)
	/êj/	'Ai!' (interjection of shock)

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has three central vowels /ʉ/, /ə/ and /ɐ/ that differ from each other in height. The latter two can be the target vowel of vowel reduction, with the most common reduction to [ɐ], especially in the first syllable of nominal compounds and verb reduplications (§5.1.1, §7.4.1). According to my main consultant, the vowel I analyse as the central vowel /ɐ/ is actually pronounced further back, and he transcribes it as / Λ /. There are instances of a back pronunciation of the vowel, especially when preceded by a uvular, but often it is clearly a central vowel that is slightly lower and a little further back than /ə/. Analysing /ɐ/ as a central vowel [ɐ] instead of a back vowel [Λ] makes more sense for the numerous cases of vowel reduction where a vowel becomes centralized. It also provides an explanation for transcription mistakes by my main consultant where he interchanged [ɐ] and [ə]. If the vowels were further apart, one would not expect this to happen so frequently. (Near-)minimal pairs for the three central vowels are given in (52).

(52)	/dð-/	'TO.SP.'	/dé/	'leprosy'	/dú/	ʻgoblin'77
	/kə́/	'garlic'	/ké/	'melody'	/k ě /	'penis'
	∕t¢ ^h ậ∕	'to stand'	/t¢ ^h é/	'to be cut off'	∕t¢ ^h û∕	'to fit in container'
	/tsə́/	'to syphon, milk'	/tsé/	'deer'	/ts ů /	'son'
	∕t ^h ð∕	'wife'	/tʰě/	'to push'	/t̥ʰʉ̌∕	'to cough'
	/sð/	'to die'	/sě/	'to beat, kill'	/sǚ/	'fruit'

The mid central vowel /ə/ has several allophones: it is realized as a syllabic fricative [η] after alveolar fricatives and affricates, as a syllabic fricative [η] after retroflex consonants, and as a high central vowel [i] after alveopalatals, as in (53). /ə/ occurs elsewhere, as in (54).

(53)	/tsʰə̂/ [tsʰĵ]	'goat'
	/zə̂/ [zĵ]	'to suppress (anger)'
	/dĵ/ [dĵ]	'to divide'

⁷⁷ Possibly from Tibetan *bdud*.

	/ţşʰə̆/ [ţşʰǐ]	'dog'
	/Įâ/ [Jĵ]	'skin'
	/t¢á/ [t¢í]	'water'
	/zð/ [zť]	'trousers'
(54)	/mâ/	'sky'
	/dǎ-/	'towards speaker' (directional verb prefix)
	/kə́/	'garlic'
/gâ/ 'nine' /q ^h ð-/ 'outward		'nine'
		'outwards' (directional verb prefix)
	/fiəhð/	'I don't want it' (interjection)

No minimal pairs between /a/ and [i] have been found in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, ⁷⁸ but in combination with alveolar consonants, whether palatalised, as in (55), or not palatalised, as in (56), /a/ is often in free variation with the unrounded high central vowel [i].

(55)	/çɐnʲǎ/	[¢èn ^j ǎ] ~ [¢èn¥]	'oats'
	/ņ ^j ð/	$[n^j \check{e}] \sim [n \check{i}]$	'seven'
	/ten ^j ð/	[tèn ^j ð] ~ [tènť]	'other'
	/d ^j âpà/	[d ^j ə́pà] ~ [dɨ́pà]	'sin'
	/d ^j ád ^j àw/	$[d^{j}\dot{\partial}d^{j}\dot{\alpha}w]\sim [d\dot{\imath}d^{j}\dot{\alpha}w]$	'be tired:RECP'
(56)	/dəbŭ/	[də̀bŭ] ~ [dɨ̀bŭ]	'then'
	/tâ/	[tâ] ~ [tî]	'this'
	/təçá/	[tàç $lpha$] \sim [tìç $lpha$]	'now'
	/tá-/	[tá-] ~ [tí-]	'upwards' (directional verb prefix)
	/ņəgố/	[ņàgố́] ~ [ņìgố́]	'nose'

The rounded high central vowel $/ \frac{1}{4}$ is often realized with a lot of friction, as a rounded syllabic fricative [γ] after alveolar fricatives and affricates, as a rounded syllabic fricative [γ] after retroflex consonants, and as a high rounded central vowel [$\frac{1}{4}$] after

⁷⁸ Both Dīng and Matisoff analyse two separate phonemes /ə/ and /i/ for Niúwōzǐ and Dàyáng Pǔmǐ respectively. Dīng (1998:22) considers fricative vowels to be allophones of /i/ after alveolar and retroflex fricatives and affricates. Matisoff (1997b:203) notes that the high central vowel /i/ has the allophones [1] and [1] after sibilants. He has minimal pairs between /ə/ and /i/, but notes that /ə/ is produced rather high and close to /i/ (1997:203-204). On the other hand, Lù (2001:8) considers [1] and [1] to be allophones of /ə/occurring with alveolars and retroflex sounds. But on the same page he also states that /i/ has the allophone [1] when it occurs with /ts/, /ts^h/, /dz/, /s/, /z/ and [1] when it occurs with /ts/, /ts^h/, /dz/, /s/, /z/. So he seems to analyse the syllabic fricatives as stemming from two different underlying phonemes.

other consonants, as in (57).⁷⁹ It must also be noted that $/\mu$ / does not always have a great deal of roundedness and can be pronounced more spread. Ding (1998:22) also mentions the low degree of roundedness that sometimes occurs with the vowel $/\mu$ / in Niuwozi Pumi.

(57) /ts^hŭ/ [ts^hŭ] 'lung'
/dŭ/ [dŭ] 'to write'
/şŭ/ [sŭ] 'to be warm'
/dzŭ/ [dzŭ] 'soul'
/n^jú/ [n^jú] 'to tan leather'
/q^hŭ/ [q^hŭ] 'head'

Sometimes [\mathbf{u}] is the result of a rounding of [\mathbf{i}], [\mathbf{j}] or [\mathbf{j}], as in the non-egophoric form of verbs (which is marked by the rounded < w > infix, see §8.1.1) that contain a vowel $/\partial/$:

(58)	/dzwá/ [dzý]	'eat:PFV:N.EGO' (<i>< dzá</i> 'to eat')
	/t¢wð/ [t¢ <mark>ŭ</mark>]	'say:PFV:N.EGO' (<i>< t¢ð</i> 'to say')
	∕h ⁱ wð∕ [ç <mark>ů</mark>]	'beat: PFV:N.EGO' ($< h^{j} \check{\sigma}$ 'to beat')

2.2.2 Nasal vowels

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has four nasal vowels: /i/, /e/, /æ/ and /o/.⁸⁰ These seem to have developed from final nasal consonants and in connected speech one occasionally hears a homorganic nasal. In Table 2.13 a few examples are given of Proto-Tibeto-Burman forms and their corresponding Wǎdū Pǔmǐ reflexes.

⁷⁹ When my co-researcher discussed some of these words with him, Alexis Michaud (p.c.) noted that the vowel in these words sounds similar to what he analyses as a fricative vowel /y/ (with a less fricative semi-vowel [u] allophone) in Na. Chan (MS:40) also notes a syllabic fricative /v/ that has an allophone [u] in Xiǎngshuǐhé Pǔmǐ. [v] occurs after /t, t^h, d; k, k^h, g; f, v; s, z; ts, ts^h, dz; r, r/ and [\mathfrak{u}] occurs after /p, p^h, b; s, z; ts, ts^h, dz; l, l; m, m; n, n/. Both Ding (1998:22) and Matisoff (1997b:204) analyse a phoneme /u/ for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ and Dàyáng Pǔmǐ respectively, and list numerous example words that correspond to forms with $/\mu$ in Wǎdū Půmǐ. Jacques (2011:363) analyses /wə/ which is realised [#] for Shuǐluò Půmǐ, something I have considered for Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, especially when taking into account the forms in example (58) and the reduplication of 'fruit' in example (367) below. Lù (2001:65) notes that the high vowel /u/ is realized as $[\eta]$ or $[\eta]$ after alveolar and retroflex affricates and fricatives in Tuoqī. But most of his examples correspond to Wǎdū Pǔmǐ /u/. Only one example, the verb 'to write' /d̪zǔ/ $[dz\check{t}]$ in Tuōqī, corresponds to /u/ in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ: /d¥/ [dť] (but note the different consonant). ⁸⁰ In the successive chapters of the grammar, nasal vowels will be represented with a velar nasal after the vowel, instead of a diacritic over the vowel. This is done to prevent confusion with diacritic tone marking.

PTB form	Wǎdū Pǔmǐ	Meaning
*byam	/bľ́/	'to fly'
*syam	/¢Ĩ/	'iron'
*na-ŋ	/nľ̃/	'2sg'
*siŋ	/sě̃/	'firewood'
*g-sum	/sð̆/	'three'

Table 2.13 PTB final nasals and Wǎdū Pǔmǐ nasalised vowels

The nasal vowels are shown in Table 2.14; minimal pairs are given in (59).

		Table 2.14 Nasal vowels		
	_		Front	Back
	-	High	ĩ	
		Mid	ẽ	õ
		Low	æ	
/bî̂/	'urine'	I		
/bê̂/	'pile.up:	IMP:PL'		
/bô/	'thick'			
/bâ̂/	'fly:PFV:M	N.EGO'		

The distinction between $/\tilde{0}/$ and $/\tilde{a}/$ or between $/\tilde{u}/$ and $/\tilde{0}/$ that exists in some other Půmǐ speech varieties seems to be lost in the Wǎdū speech variety.⁸¹ There is only one back nasal vowel, analysed as $/\tilde{0}/$. But sometimes words transcribed with $/\tilde{0}/$ are pronounced closer to $/\tilde{a}/.^{82}$ Additionally, $/\tilde{0}/$ in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ corresponds to /i/, $/\tilde{a}/$, $/\tilde{1}/$ or $/\tilde{a}/$ in other speech varieties. A few examples are shown in Table 2.15. That there is a change going on can be seen even in the Wǎdū speech variety itself, where the words /tɐ[^hĭ/ and /tɐ[^hŏŋ/ ʿafter a while' are in free variation.

(59)

⁸¹ Matisoff (1997b:202) reports for Dàyáng Půmǐ that "there is no contrast between uN and oN." But he does list a few examples with /bN/ (1997b:203). These mostly compare to /æ/ or /æ/ in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, cf. /n,ĎN/ versus /nʲǽ/ 'black'; /qò l̥bN/ versus /qæ̃n̥ǽ/ 'phlegm'; /mybN/ versus /nʲæ̂/ 'eye'; /l̥bN/ versus /n̥æ̃/ 'snot'; and /tʃhò mbN/ versus /t̥sʰɐmǎ/ 'mud'.

⁸² This is impressionistic. I have not done any systematic investigation to find out which words this concerns and how they compare to cognates in other speech varieties. My main consultant's intuition is that $[\tilde{0}]$ and $[\tilde{a}]$ are one phoneme.

	Tuble 2.10 Wada Fallin / 0/ Verbas other varieties					
Wădū	Other varieties	Reference	Meaning			
/ņô/	[ņí, ņ á, ņ â]	Lù 2001:370-371	'day'			
/ņô̈́/	[ņî]	Sānjiè (Gerong Pincuo, MS)	'hemp'			
/ţşố/	[tʃə͡] / [tɕî̂]	Lù 2001:394-395/ Gélŭdiàn, Kāngwū (Gerong Pincuo, MS)	'house'			
/dô̂/	[dî]	Bājiā (personal fieldnotes)	'to link hands, follow leader'			
/dố/	[dí]	Bājiā (personal fieldnotes)	'common bracken (Pteridium aquilinum)'			
/tố/	[stī́, tī́, tī̂]	Lù 2001:452-453	'thousand'			
∕t ^h ố́∕	[phzí]	Lù 2001:444-445	'white'			

Table 2.15 Wǎdū Pǔmǐ /õ/ versus other varieties

The distinction between nasal $/\tilde{a}/$ and oral /a/ is not well maintained in some cases. It is very minimal in the pair in (60), even to such extent that in my initial phonological chart I actually recorded 'fingernail' as both [$z\check{a}$] and [$z\check{a}$].

(60) /zǎz/ 'saliva' /zǎz/ 'fingernail'

Following a nasal initial the contrast between nasal $/\tilde{\alpha}/$ and oral $/\alpha/$ is neutralized (see also §2.4.6), and my main consultant showed considerable variation in his transcription. The contrast between oral /i/ and nasal /i/ is maintained following nasal initials, as can be seen from the (near-)minimal pairs in (61).

(61) /mǐ/ 'edible fungus'
/mî/ 'what'
/mǐ/ 'to beg'
/mǚ/ 'to be cooked'

The contrast can be seen in the vowel quality: the nasal vowel $/\tilde{i}/$ often sounds like a nasalised diphthong [i \tilde{i}], as in (62).

(62) /mî/ [miậ] 'what'
/nĩpá/ [niềpá] 'flat bamboo basket'

The vowels $/\tilde{i}/$ and $/\tilde{e}/$ almost always appear in complementary distribution. The vowel $/\tilde{e}/$ occurs with consonants of the 'non-palatal group', and the vowel $/\tilde{i}/$ occurs with consonants of the 'palatal group'. Examples with 'palatal group' consonants are given in (63) and examples with 'non-palatal group' consonants are given in (64).

(63)	/m̥ĩ/	'medicine'
	/tî̂/	'to take care of'
	/lī́/	'sturdy'
	/nľ̈́/	'2sg'
	/çî́/	'iron'
	/jı̈́/	'land'
$((\Lambda))$	/J_2 /	
(64)	/dze/	eat:IMP:PL
(64)	/dze/ /sê/	firewood'
(64)	/dze/ /sê/ /tê/	éat:mp:pl 'firewood' 'miss (people)'
(64)	/dze/ /sê/ /tê/ /tş ^h ế/	<pre>'firewood' 'miss (people)' 'slaughter:IMP:PL'</pre>
(64)	/dze/ /sê/ /tê/ /ţş ^h ế/ /Įě/	 'firewood' 'miss (people)' 'slaughter:IMP:PL' 'to bake'
(64)	/dze/ /sê/ /tê/ /tsʰế/ /yě/ /wê/	 'firewood' 'miss (people)' 'slaughter:IMP:PL' 'to bake' 'be able'

But there is only one minimal pair and one near-minimal pair, as listed in (65).

(65) /bı̃/ 'to fly, lurch forward'
/bě̃/ 'steam:IMP:PL'
/bə̃/ 'pile.up:IMP:PL'

Speakers are able to differentiate between the two vowels. It might be that diachronically, due to nasalization which lowers the second formant of front vowels, $/\tilde{e}/$ developed as a lowered, centralized allophone of $/\tilde{i}/$. This development would be parallel to the lowering and centralization of /i/ after 'non-palatal group' consonants described in §2.1.7.2, and would have resulted in two synchronically contrastive vowels. The formants of $/\tilde{e}/$ often display a glide from a lower, more central vowel to a higher, more front vowel (from [\tilde{e}] to [\tilde{e}] or from [\tilde{e}] to [\tilde{i}].

Even though there is the appearance of allophony, there is a clear contrast, so I analyse $/\tilde{i}/$ and $/\tilde{e}/$ as different phonemes.

2.3 Syllable structure

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ syllable structure can be represented as in Table 2.16.

Table 2.16 Wadu Pumi syllable structure

```
+/- tone
```

+/- palatalization		+/- nasalization	
(C ₁)	(G)	V	(G)
all consonants	/w/	all vowels	/w/ or /j/

This is much simpler than the syllable structure in Southern Půmǐ, which still retains many consonant clusters. The initial consonant (C_1) can be any of the 42 consonants,

some of which can be palatalised (Table 2.5, §2.1.7.1). Palatalization is considered a feature associated with the initial. The relatively unrestricted /w/ can function as a medial consonant (G) (§2.1.6). Vowels (V) are the only obligatory part of a syllable and can be oral or nasalised. Nasalization is considered a feature associated with the vowel. The two glides /j/ and /w/ can function as independent consonants (C_1) and off-glides in diphthongs (G) (§2.1.6). Pǔmǐ does not have any final consonants.

Tone is associated with the sonorant peak of the syllable, the vowel, and can be present or absent. This will be discussed in Chapter 3.

There are several vowel-only syllables. Acoustically they are preceded by a glottal stop, but this is not phonemic. Note, however, that Lù (2001:42,61,70,78) gives glottal phonemes for all of the northern speech varieties and remarks that they are very frequent and very clear. The glottal stop only appears in word-initial position, as in example (66), but does not often appear in connected speech, as in in (67), where the glottal stop only appears with the first inclusive pronoun ig-, but not with $\check{\partial}$ - 'this' and the question marker $\hat{v} =$.

(66)	/é=/ [?é]	'Q'
	/ĭŋ-/ [?ĭŋ]	'1INCL'
	/ǎ-/ [?ǎ]	'here'
	/òŋmə́d ^j æ̀/ [?òŋmə́d ^j æ̀]	'self'
	/ùd ^j úwâ/ [?ùd ^j úwâ]	'self'

(67) [zèmíbù ?ìŋdzáŋìdzí nèçǎ:gì]
zemî = bu ǐŋ = dzæŋ ð-dzi ně-çǎ ê = gi
tonight = TOP 1:INCL = DU this-location DOWN-spend.night Q = VOL:INCL
'(...) shall we sleep here tonight? (...)' (KZ03.31)

The majority of syllables have the form CV. In Table 2.17 an example of every combination is given.

Form	Meaning	Structure
/ê/	'1sg'	V
/qě/	'strength'	CV
/qwé/	'cow'	CGV
/aw/	'Oh!' (interjection) ⁸³	VG
/wěj/	'to curse'	GVG

Table 2.17 Examples Wǎdū Pǔmǐ syllable structure

⁸³ An interjection is the only example of this structure.

Form	Meaning	Structure
/¢áw/	ʻritual'	CVG
/kwéj/	'let:pfv:n.ego'	CGVG

2.4 Phonological processes

Several phonological processes have already been discussed above. These include the palatalization of velar stops followed by the vowel /a/ in §2.1.7.1, and the lowering and centralization of the high front vowel /i/ in §2.1.7.2. The morphophonological process of the fronting of the uvular stop in the directional verb prefix was discussed in §2.1.7.4.

In this section I will discuss a number of other phonological processes: vowel harmony (§2.4.1), consonant lenition (§2.4.2), voicing and aspiration change (§2.4.3), vowel reduction (§2.4.4), alternation between retroflexes and alveopalatals (§2.4.5), nasalization (§2.4.6) and glide alternation (§2.4.7). Unlike in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ (Dīng 1998:44) and Xiǎngshuǐhé Pǔmǐ (personal notes), no bilabial trill substitution can be observed in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. This is probably due to the fact that the Pǔmǐ in Wǎdū are less influenced by the Nuòsū language.

2.4.1 Vowel harmony

Like Qiāng (LaPolla with Huáng 2003:35), Japhug rGyalrong (Jacques 2004:350) and Xùmǐ (Chirkova 2009:14), Wǎdū Pǔmǐ shows regressive vowel harmony. The main instances of harmonization I have observed are given in (68). Examples that show variation either with or without vowel harmony are given in (69). These examples all show regressive harmonization. Rounding and place harmony are the most common patterns observed.

(68)	/temǎ/ [tàmǎ]		'thumb'	
	/pelă/ [pà]	lă]	'goiter'	
	/tʰwî-bʉ/ [[[^h úbù]	'ale jar' ⁸⁴	
(69)	/wewă/	[wèwč	i] ~ [wàwă]	'to discuss' ⁸⁵
	/ņəbʉlá/	[ņə̀bʉ̀l	á] ~ [ņùb ù lá]	'lips'
	/sə́tu/	[sə́tû]	~ [s ú tû]	'wooden paneling'

⁸⁴ This might partly be a case of vowel centralization due to compounding, but there is still harmonization going on. If not, one would expect the form $[t^hw\acute{e}b\grave{u}]$.

⁸⁵ Reciprocal verb forms usually have the central vowel [ν] in their first syllable. Another form that appears in texts is [$w\hat{+}w\check{\alpha}$]. This is not vowel harmony, but rounding through influence of the consonant.

/ţşʰəlú/	[[sʰə̀lú] ~ [[sʰʉ̀lú]	'serving tray'
/qîpu/	[qípù]~ [qúpù]	'cuckoo'

There are a few cases of progressive harmonization:

(70)	/bʉsə̆/	[bʉ̀sð] ~ [bʉ̀sʉ́]	'peach'
	/næ̃p ^h úq ^h ě/	$[n \ddot{lpha} p^{ m h} { m \acute{u}} q^{ m h} { m \acute{e}}] \sim [n \ddot{lpha} p^{ m h} { m \acute{u}} q^{ m h} { m \acute{a}}]$	'emperor'86

Harmonization happens within morphemes as well as across morpheme borders, as in the case of the compound /t^hwî-bʉ/ above. Another example is /qæ-máŋ/ 'lower down' which consists of the morphemes /qǎ-/ 'downwards' and /mâŋ/ 'tail-end'. Sometimes this can lead to confusing situations as in (71) where $[n^jæ]$ seems to be the contraction of the personal pronoun /nǐŋ/ and the genitive marker /=æ/. Since this is followed by another genitive marker, the result might be interpreted as a double genitive, whereas, in fact, it is just regressive harmonization. The same is true for /kədzæ=gæ/, but in this case the expected /kâdzi=gæ/ is not normally used.

(71)
$$/n^{j}\check{a} = ga/ \sim /n\check{n}g = ga/$$
 '2sg = GEN'
/kôdzæ = gæ/ 'which.one = GEN'

2.4.2 Consonant lenition

There is often free variation between an affricate and its fricative counterpart. This can be considered a form of consonant lenition. Matisoff (1997b:189,192) also notes variation between prefixed palatal affricates and fricatives ([[ftʃ]~ [ʃ], [[ftʃh]~[sʃ], [[ftʃhw] ~ [sʃw], [[ftʃ] ~ [c], [ʒdʒ] ~ [z]) in Dàyáng Pǔmǐ. Examples for Wǎdū Pǔmǐ are given in (72).

Sometimes the difference is between different villages, for example 'to pinch' is $tc\hat{a}w_{i}wa$ in Tuōqī and $c\hat{a}w_{i}wa$ in Wǎdū. Sometimes the difference is across speech varieties, for example 'to build, make' is $dz\check{u}$ in Wǎdū, Wéixī, Lánpíng, Nínglàng, and Kāngwū and Xiàmàidì in Mùlĭ, but $z\check{u}$ in Dōngzi, Bókē and Gùzēng in Mùlĭ (Gerong Pincuo, MS).

There are a few examples of consonant lenition between a palatalised consonant and a plain palatal glide, as in (73).

⁸⁶ This is probably a loanword from Yǒngníng Na.

(73) $/d^{j}\check{a}w/ \sim /j\check{a}w/$ 'again' $/d^{j}\check{a}v/ \sim /j\check{a}v/$ 'let me'

Another instance of consonant lenition is that the voiced retroflex stop [d] is often reduced to a tap [r] or retroflex flap [r] in fast speech. Interestingly, this does not seem to happen with every occurrence of the voiced retroflex stop, but only in the frequently used = daw current evidential marker.⁸⁷ This marker is often used in combination with the quotative tca (< the verb 'to say') and in many instances it fuses with the quotative to form a hearsay particle tcaw. In that case the initial is totally lost.

One example of strengthening instead of weakening is an example from a story told by a 50 + male from Wǎdū. He used [tsǔ] instead of zǎ 'very'. My main consultant noted that this is a variant people are starting to use, especially young females from Tuōqī village.

2.4.3 Voicing and aspiration change

Voiceless nasals and rhotics sometimes show a voicing alternation.

(74) [¢áwųwâ] ~ [¢áwųwâ] 'to pinch'
[dzèmǐ] ~ [dzèmǐ] 'beggar' (<mǐ 'beg')⁸⁸
[ųúmì] ~ [ųúmì] 'evening of day before yesterday' (<mǐ 'night')

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ is interesting in that it also sporadically devoices nasals. The examples in (75) all have a voiced nasal in other speech varieties.⁸⁹

(75)	[mâ] ~ [ᡎâ]	'person'	
	[wèmâ] ~ [wèmâ]	'guest'	
	$[m ext{d}t ext{c}^{ ext{h}} ilde{ ext{d}}] \sim [ext{m} ext{d}t ext{c}^{ ext{h}} ilde{ ext{d}}]$	'male'	
	$[m \hat{p} n \hat{\tilde{l}}] \sim [m \hat{p} n \hat{\tilde{l}}]^{90}$	'child'	

⁸⁷ Note that in other speech varieties of Půmǐ this same marker = daw has the form [rə] (Shuǐluò [Jacques 2011a] and Yǔchū [personal fieldnotes]) or [ɹju] (Niúwōzǐ [Dīng 1998]), so it does not even have a stop, but rather a liquid.

⁸⁸ In Gerong Pincuo's wordlist (MS) some speech varietes have a voiceless nasal and some a voiced. All varieties that Lù (2001:478) mentions have a voiceless nasal.

⁸⁹ One exception being the word 'male' where Kāngwū has a voiceless nasal as well (Gerong Pincuo, MS). For the examples 'person' and 'guest' cf. Lù 2001:386,388.

⁹⁰ My main consultant says that the last two examples in (75) are usually pronounced voiceless in his village. But some of the text transcriptions indicate that people do pronounce them voiced as well, which might be a result of running speech.

In my data there is one example of an alternation between aspiration and nonaspiration.

(76) $[cup^{h}t] \sim [cupt]$ 'mosquito'

2.4.4 Vowel reduction

In nominal compounds and reduplicated verbs the vowel of the first syllable is often, but not always, centralized to [v] or [a].⁹¹ Nasalization of the original vowel is lost.

(77) $[n^{j}\acute{e}n\hat{i}] \sim [n^{j}\acute{e}n\hat{i}]$ 'drive.animals:CNT' (< $ni\eta$ 'to drive animals')

The direction of centralization is from full vowel > [v] > [a]. Most centralizations have [v] as target, but when the original vowel is [v], this vowel might be centralized to [a].

(78) /gəgwě/ 'be drunk:RECP' (< gwě 'to be drunk') /zəzě/ 'stretch out:RECP' (< zě 'to stretch out')

Some centralizations are to [ə], without [v] as an alternative.

(79) / $t\hat{e}t\tilde{o}$ / 'stay at home:RECP' (< $t \circ g$ 'to stay at home') / $k\hat{e}tsu$ / 'door latch' (< $k \circ g$ 'door' + $ts\hat{u}$ 'thorn')

Some examples of nominal compounds with and without vowel centralization are shown in (80):

(80)	/sɐqwěj/	'stick' ($< s \check{e} \eta$ 'wood' + $q w \check{e} j$ 'peg')
	/seŋtwă/	'tree branch' ($< s \check{e} \eta$ 'wood' + $t w \check{a}$ 'branch')
	/t¢ ^h weq ^h ť	'pig head' (< $tc^h w \check{x}$ 'pig' + $q^h \check{t}$ 'head')
	/t¢ ^h wæl̥ʲĕ/	'pig tongue' (< $tc^h w \check{x}$ 'pig' + $\int \check{v} \check{v}$ 'tongue')

2.4.5 Retroflex – alveopalatal alternation

There are a few examples that show alternation between retroflex and alveopalatal consonants. This could be a reflection of the fact that some of these forms are loanwords from Tibetan.

(81) [[téşê] ~ [[téçê] '(person's name)' (Tibetan < bKra.shis)
[kúdzû] ~ [kúdzû] 'reincarnation' (Tibetan < sku.sprul or sku.zhabs/gzhogs)
[dzètîŋ] ~ [dzètîŋ] 'world' (Tibetan < 'jig.rten)⁹²

⁹¹ Some vowel reduction is morphological rather than phonological, cf. footnote 192. See also Jacques 2012a:2014-2015 for vowel reduction in Japhug rGyalrong.

⁹² The variant with the retroflex initial occurred in one text by an older Wǎdū male, but my main consultant insists that in Wǎdū people normally pronounce the word with an alveopalatal consonant.

In general, in Půmǐ, there is a tendency to palatalise post-alveolar and retroflex consonants which is most visible in the northern speech varieties. Some of the alternations between these sounds in the Wǎdū speech variety might point to the intermediate position that Wǎdū has between speech varieties spoken further south and speech varieties spoken further north, with the southern varieties showing more retroflex or post-alveolar reflexes and the northern varieties showing more alveopalatal reflexes. Compare for example the following words:⁹³

ţſá	'water' (southern varieties; Lù 2001:362)
tçî	'water' (northern varieties; Lù 2001:363)
tçə́	'water' (Wǎdū)
t∫á⁄tşá	'dirt' (southern varieties; Lù 2001:364)
tçâ	'dirt' (northern varieties; Lù 2001:365)
ţsæ	'dirt' (Wǎdū)
	tſə́ tçi tçə́ tʃá/tşá tçâ tçâ

2.4.6 Nasalization

Nasal consonants can cause nasalization of vowels, especially front vowels, as in (84). This is in line with what Dīng noted for the Niúwōzǐ speech variety (1998:40) and it has recently been discussed for the neigbouring Naish languages and Japhug rGyalrong in Michaud, Jaqcues and Rankin (2012).

/míni/ ~ [mĺnî]	'grass shoes'
/ŋǿ/ ~ [ŋấ̈́]	'gold'
/ $m\hat{a}$ / $\sim [m\hat{a}]$	'hair' (Japhug rGyalrong <i>ty-rme</i>)
$/m\check{a}/ \sim [m\check{\check{a}}]$	'ten thousand'
	/míni/ ~ [mĺnî] /ŋǽ/ ~ [ŋæ̃] /ᡎæ̂/ ~ [ᡎæ̂] /mæ̆/ ~ [mæ̃]

Some words that are synchronically attested with a nasalised vowel, can be shown diachronically to have resulted from nasal spreading:⁹⁴

(85)	/n ^j ŏ̃/	'breast' (Tibetan <i>nu.ma</i> , Japhug rGyalrong <i>tuu-mui</i>)
	∕n ^j ố̂-t¢ ^h wi∕	'west' (Tibetan <i>nub.phyogs</i>)
	/mấ̂/	'tail-end' (Japhug rGyalrong <i>tr-jme</i>)
	/tanằ/	'crossbow' (Naish <i>tana</i>) ⁹⁵
	/ņằ/	'snot' (Tibetan <i>snabs</i> , Japhug rGyalrong <i>tur-çnaβ</i>)

⁹³ Reflexes of original dental consonants: *ti(y) 'water' (Matisoff 2003:193) and *sa 'earth/ ground/soil/sand' (Matisoff 2003:176). Cf. Qiang *zə* (LaPolla, p.c).

⁹⁴ The Japhug rGyalgrong, Tibetan and Naish correspondences were pointed out to me by Guillaume Jaqcues (p.c.).

⁹⁵ For a possible origin of this word see Jacques and Michaud (2011:477).

As stated in §2.2.2, alternation of nasalization is common with the front vowel $/\alpha/$, even when there is no nasal present.

Nasalization can also result from harmonization to a nasalised vowel. Note that both consonants are sonorants, but it is not clear whether this is crucial.

2.4.7 Glide alternation

There are a few cases of glide alternation, both of /w/ and $/^{i}/$. The latter is actually an alternation of palatalisation, since the palatal is a secondary feature of the consonant, rather than an independent segment. The insertion of /w/ sometimes involves a difference in vowel colouring. Note that /w/ alternation seems to occur mainly with 'non-palatal group' consonants and palatalisation alternation only occurs with 'palatal group' consonants.

(88)	[tsềtố] \sim [tswềtố]	'chest'
	[tswềdă] ~ [tswềdwž̃]	'tissue' (inside pig)
	[qùjǐ] ~ [qwèjǐ]	'crow'
	$[n\acute{e}l^{j}\hat{a}w]\sim [n^{j}\acute{e}l^{j}\hat{a}w]$	'eye'
	[làwlǎw] ~ [l ^j àwl ^j ǎw]	'move'
	[mə ta] ~ [mə t ^j a]	'NMLZ.ALERT' (§8.6.5)

2.5 Conclusion

This chapter described the segmental phonology of the Wǎdū speech variety of Pǔmǐ. The overall consonant and vowel inventory is largely similar to that of other Pǔmǐ speech varieties (Matisoff 1997, Fù 1998, Dīng 1998, Lù 2001, Jacques 2011a,c), but the existence of a uvular stop phoneme series that was not previously attested for the northern speech varieties of the language is worth mentioning.

The current study analyses glides as part of the initial rather than the rhyme, which results in multiple consonant clusters and palatalised consonants instead of multiple complex rhymes. All the older consonant clusters attested for the southern and some of the northern speech varieties have been lost in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. The stop-plus-fricative clusters changed to retroflex stops, and the fricative-stop or fricative-affricate clusters lost the fricative part without fricativizing the stop of affricate (as happens in some northern speech varieties).

Palatalisation plays an important role in Pǔmǐ. Based on co-occurrence with palatalisation, consonants can be divided into two groups: a palatal group and a non-

palatal group. Dīng (1998:13) proposed a similar division in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ. This division is relevant to several phonological and morphophonological phenomena, such as vowel retraction of the high front vowel /i/, palatalization of the labial-velar glide, and fronting of the directional prefix. To what extent other Pǔmǐ speech varieties show this (non)-palatal division and how that influences their phonology is a topic for further research.

Chapter 3. Tone and intonation

This chapter is concerned with the tonal system of Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. This variety of Pǔmǐ displays a tonal system similar to that described for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ (Dīng 1998, 2001). Monosyllables show high, falling and rising tones. Tones can spread rightwards as the tonal domain is extended by toneless clitics or when two tonal domains merge, and tonal spreading is relatively straightforward. Tonal behaviour in compounding is often based on the tone of the first element, but is not always predictable. Rising tone verbs form two groups based on their tonal spreading behaviour: one of the groups shows interesting tonal alternations and tonal spreading patterns. The concept of tone groups is introduced as an important means for organising discourse, especially in relation to focus.

The current chapter is organised as follows. Some definitions of concepts used in this chapter will be given in §3.1. An initial illustration of tone groups will be given in §3.2. Their implication for discourse structure and relation to focus will be discussed in §3.5. Sandwiched in between these two sections are two other sections. The first, §3.3, discusses the basic tonal patterns that can be observed in words in isolation as well as in connected speech, and analyses their underlying tones by comparing their surface tone patterns in both environments. It will also deal with tonal spread that can be observed from tone-bearing lexical elements to toneless grammatical elements. The second section, §3.4, deals with several major combinations of tone-bearing elements that can be found in tone groups, and will illustrate their resulting tonal patterns. Alternating verbs are treated in §3.4.5. The chapter ends with a few notes on intonation (§3.6).

3.1 Intro and definitions

Půmǐ tone has been described to an extent for several Půmǐ speech varieties by various linguists. Most of the descriptions show that the Půmǐ tonal system is intricate and difficult to describe. Chinese linguists note that a massive amount of tone sandhi takes place: forms appear with different surface tones depending on the environment (Lù 1983, 2001; Fù 1998).

Most research on Půmǐ tone done so far (Lù 1983, 2001; Fù 1998; Matisoff 1997, 1998; Dīng 1998, 2001, 2006, 2007; Jacques 2011c) has focused on tonal behaviour of the smaller units of language, such as tone in monosyllabic and polysyllabic words, compounds, and reduplicated forms, and the interaction between directional prefixes

and verbs, lexical forms and clitics, and in phrases (noun + adjective; noun + verb). An exception is Greif (2010) who conducted a first survey on the interaction between tone and information structure in Pǔmǐ, based on Dīng's Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ data.

The large conversational and narrative corpus obtained during my fieldwork allows for a slightly different approach to tone: instead of focusing on the smaller building blocks, this thesis will also look at the way discourse constituents are ordered through tone. However, due to the scope of the thesis, it will only touch briefly on some issues. For the purpose of the present study, the current chapter will not discuss the work of the above-mentioned linguists in-depth, but while building on their work, rather focus on describing tone and intonation in the Wǎdū Pǔmǐ speech variety. In doing so, it will refer to certain aspects of their work where relevant.

Before moving on to the data, let me first introduce some terminology I will be using in the subsequent analysis.

'Intonation unit' is an observable stretch of speech that is continuous and preceded and followed by a pause. It is generally marked by downdrift.⁹⁶ The pitch will be reset at the start of a new intonation unit.

'Surface tone' denotes the observable pitch (phonetic realization of tone) of the various syllables in a stretch of speech.

'Underlying tone' (or 'lexical tone') is a conceptual term that denotes the various analysed phonemic tones in the language. In my analysis I take most lexical items to be carriers of phonemic tone ('tone-bearing elements') and most grammatical items to be underlyingly toneless ('toneless elements') (see §3.3.1).

'Tone group' is a conceptual term which is based on the analysis of tonal behaviour in larger stretches of text. The term denotes a group of morphemes within an intonation unit that shares a single underlying tone.⁹⁷ A tone group is observed to have at least one contour tone or high surface tone and not more than one contour tone or two (adjacent) high surface tones. Tone spreads (mostly) rightwards within a tone group.

⁹⁶ The phenomenon of the dropping of pitch towards the end of a unit of speech, due to the lowering of pressure in the vocal tract.

⁹⁷ The presence of one lexical tone per tone group is referred to as 'culminative tone' or 'wordtone', and has been described for other languages in the area (Chirkova 2006, Evans 2008, 2009a, 2009b, Michaud 2013). Although similar tone systems (for example Tokyo Japanese) have been described in terms of 'pitch-accent', Hyman (2011:235) strongly argues against an accentual analysis. Dīng (2014) changed to using the term 'melody-tone' instead of 'pitchaccent' in his description of Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ.

'Tone group boundary' refers to the boundary between two tone groups, and is marked in some of the examples by '#'.

In the Půmí data, tone is represented by diacritics written over the vowels; in prose, tones are referred to in abbreviated form with capital letters, as shown in Table 3.1. The relative pitch of the different tones is given in the final column.⁹⁸ There is also a group of morphemes that is analysed to be toneless. These will be written without any tone marks in their underlying representation, and with tone marks to represent surface tone in their phonetic representation. When forms are presented phonemically (in slashes //), the underlying tone will be marked; when forms are presented phonetically (in square brackets []), the surface tone will be marked (see also §1.8.1 on the orthography used in this grammar).

Table 3.1 Representation of tone					
Description of tone Diacritics In prose Relative pitch					
High level	á	H(igh)	44		
High falling	â	HL/F(alling)	54		
Low level	à	L(ow)	22		
Low rising	ă	LH/R(ising)	24		

3.2 Tone groups

In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, tone plays an important role in the structuring of discourse. There are various examples in the corpus where a particular combination of morphemes appears with a particular surface tone pattern, but where a different surface tone pattern is possible as well. The various surface tone patterns express various types of focus (narrow/argument-focus versus broad/sentence-focus), and are caused by the different underlyings grouping of constituents into tone groups. Tone groups are the most important conceptual unit used by speakers to structure discourse. Within a tone group, the underlying tone of one lexical element (usually the left-most element) spreads (usually rightwards) to the adjacent morphemes in the same tone group (tone spreading patterns are discussed in §3.3). The remaining toneless or tone-bearing elements in a tone group are assigned default low surface tone. Tone does not spread across tone group boundaries. It can be generally observed that within a tone group at least one surface high tone is present, that is, there are no tone groups with only low

⁹⁸ The relative pitch is given in the Chao Yuen Ren notation commonly used in China, with tones marked on a scale of 1 (lowest) to 5 (highest). This allows easier comparison with Chinese sources, especially Lù (1983, 2001) and Fù (1998). I have chosen to represent Pǔmǐ tone with diacritics as used by Matisoff (1997b, 1999) and Jacques (2011).

surface tone (as will be discussed in relation to underlying low-toned monosyllables, §3.3.2); additionally, not more than two adjacent high surface tones are present.

Example (89) is shown to indicate what I analyse as tone groups in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. This example illustrates how constituents are combined into tone groups and how these affect the surface tone. In the examples in this chapter, the initial line shows the surface tone and the interlinear line the underlying tone. '|' represents an intonation unit boundary: the speaker pauses briefly; '#' represents a tone group boundary.

(89) z en d = b u, # j w | t e - q e = b u #zenž zenð $k^{h}i = bu$ jåw $t\check{e}-q\hat{e}=bu$ in.the.past in.the.past time = TOP again one-CLF:household = TOP $m\dot{a} = n\dot{o}\eta \# m\dot{a} = t\dot{i} z\dot{i} = s\dot{i} tc\dot{a}w.$ $m\hat{a} = no\eta$ $m\hat{a} = ti$ $z\hat{i} = s\hat{i}$ tçaw. mother = COORDdaughter = INDF EXIST.AN = INF HSY

'Long, long ago there was a household that consisted of a mother and a daughter.' (TC08.1)

The utterance in (89) consists of two intonation units: both the first and the second intonation unit consist of three tone groups. Intonation units can be the same size as or bigger than tone groups, and their boundaries normally coincide with a tone group boundary.

No tonal spreading occurs in the first tone group: the group consists of only one word, $zen\delta$ 'in the past', that keeps its underlying tone.⁹⁹ In the second tone group, the underlying rising tone of $zen\delta$ spreads to the toneless $k^{h}i$ and =bu, which, as a result, are pronounced with high surface tones; $zen\delta$ appears with low surface tone on both syllables. The third tone group is similar to the first: it consists of only one word, $j\delta w$ 'again', which, like some other clause linkers (see below) never forms a tone group with any other element. Thus it keeps its underlying rising tone. The fourth tone group is interesting in that it consists of a numeral-classifier compound [té-qè] combined with a toneless topic marker =bu. As shown in §3.4.2, numeral-classifier compounds involving the number 'one' show leftward tonal spread, where the numeral takes on the tone of the classifier. The resulting high-low tone of the compound then spreads rightwards onto the clitic. The fifth tone group shows the noun $m\hat{a}$ 'mother' with a falling tone spreading to the toneless clitic =nop. As a result, $m\hat{a}$ is pronounced with

⁹⁹ However, it is influenced by intonation and shows an extra high contour on its drawn-out second syllable. This emphasizes the great length of time that has passed between the time of the story and the current time. The extra high contour is illustrated in §3.6.

a high level surface tone and $= no\eta$ with a low surface tone. The sixth tone group is similar to the fifth in that the noun $m\hat{\sigma}$ 'daughter' has a falling underlying tone that spreads to the toneless clitic = ti. The rest of the tone group receives default low surface tone, even though $z\hat{i}$ 'to exist' has an underlying falling tone.¹⁰⁰

Looking at the corpus, some elements always combine with others into a single tone group, some elements always form a tone group by themselves, and for some elements, speakers can decided to combine or not combine them into tone groups. The latter elements are the most interesting, in that they allow the speaker to express pragmatic differences through the choice of combining them or not. How this ties in with focus in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ will be discussed in §3.5.

There are only a few elements that do not usually combine into tone groups with other elements. These are the clause linkers *ha* 'and then' (§10.2), *jăw* 'again', *nŏŋ* 'so, in that case' (§4.8) and *dəbă* 'then' (§10.9.3)¹⁰¹ that have an important function in structuring discourse. Interestingly, similar markers were also mentioned for Yŏngníng Na (Michaud 2013).

The nominal demonstrative $t \neq ($ §4.6.1) never forms a single tone group with the following noun. However, when it is followed by a clitic, its tone spreads to the clitic. Numeral-classifier compounds never form a single tone group with the preceding noun.

Speakers have the choice to combine or not combine nouns and their modifying adjectives; adjacent objects and verbs; verbs and auxiliaries. Illustrations of speaker choice will be given in §3.5.

Toneless elements usually combine with others into tone groups (there seem to be some cases of clitic groups that form a tone group, in which case there is no tone present in the tone group; this needs further research).

3.3 Basic tonal patterns and tonal spreading in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ

This section describes the basic tonal patterns found on tone-bearing lexical elements and their patterns of spread in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. It starts with a subsection on toneless morphemes (§3.3.1) and then moves on to tonal patterns on monosyllables (§3.3.2), disyllables (§3.3.3), and polysyllables (§3.3.4). Through comparing the tonal surface patterns found in isolation with the tonal patterns found in connected speech, the

¹⁰⁰ This is reminiscent of Shànghǎi tone where the tones of compounds and tightly bound constructions are dependent on the tone of the initial syllable (Zee and Maddieson 1979, Duanmu 1999).

¹⁰¹ Except for a few instances where $d \partial b \check{u}$ is followed by the morpheme $-n^{j}\partial$, in which case its tone spreads to $-n^{j}\partial$ (§4.6.4). The marker $n \check{o} \eta$ can be followed by a discourse marker, but does not spread its tone.

underlying tones will be established. Some exceptional tone patterns are discussed in (§3.3.5), tone in expressives is treated in (§3.3.6), tone and tonal spread with pronouns is dealt with in (§3.3.7), and the section ends in a note on alternating tone pairs (§3.3.8). The tonal patterns found correspond to what Dīng described for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ: a four-syllable tonal template to which tones are attached and spread mostly rightwards.

3.3.1 Toneless morphemes

There is a group of grammatical words and clitics in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ that I have analysed as underlyingly toneless. The reason for that is that they never appear independently, and so their tone in isolation cannot be established. Additionally, a study by Greif based on Dīng's Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ data shows that unlike lexical morphemes that show high or low tonal targets, discourse particles have no clear tonal target and should be considered toneless (2010:233). Their behaviour in connected speech also warrants the analysis that they are toneless: most grammatical words and clitics form one tone group with a lexical tone-bearing element and are subject to straightforward tonal spreading rules (as described in §3.3.2-§3.3.4).

In Table 3.2 a partial list is given of clitics, affixes and grammatical words that have been analysed as toneless. These toneless morphemes will be written without tone marks in their underlying representation (but with surface tone marks in the example sentences in the rest of the grammar).

Table 5.2 Some toneless particles and chucs				
Marker	Function	Reference		
çiçi	'a little bit'	§4.7		
mədzæ	'every'	§4.4.1		
k ^h i	'time' (temporal subordinator)	§4.6.5		
-li	'diminutive'	§5.1.3.4		
-toŋ	'instrument/location nominalizer'	§5.2.1		
=mə	'agentive/general nominalizer'	§5.2.3		
=(g)x	'genitive'	§5.3.1		
€J.=	ʻplural '	§5.4		
=gə	'definite '	§5.5		
=noŋ	'coordinator'	§5.7;10.1		
=(g)oŋ(ni)	'instrumental/agentive'	§6.2.1; 6.2.4		
= <i>la</i>	ʻalso '	§6.5.1		

Table 3.2 Some toneless	particles and clitics
-------------------------	-----------------------

Marker	Function	Reference
=bu	'general topic '	§6.5.6
=si	'inferential evidential'	§8.3.1

Some examples of this are the customary markers *weŋ* and $q^h u$ that derive from tonebearing verbs/modal auxiliaries (§8.5), the hearsay evidential marker *tçaw* (§8.3.5) that derives from the lexical tone-bearing verb $tc\check{\sigma}$ 'to say' and the toneless nonegophoric imperfective marker = daw (§8.3.2).

A partial exception are the postpositions that derive from originally tone-bearing nouns and that are on different parts of the grammaticalisation cline, which is also reflected in their tonal behaviour: they sometimes take on the tone of the preceding noun, but sometimes block tonal spread and surface in a low tone. Their behaviour will be described in §3.4.4.

Some grammatical markers are exceptions in that they display lexical tone. Directional verb prefixes (§7.1) are grammatical morphemes with certain lexical meaning. They are formally and semantically related to bound demonstratives (§4.6.2), and their underlying rising tone only shows up in conditional clauses (§10.4.1) and in combination with low-tone verbs. This will be described in §3.4.5. The general and perfective negation clitics and the interrogative clitic all seem to have lexical tone. Their tonal behavior will be described in §3.4.6.

3.3.2 Tone on monosyllables

Tone found on monosyllables is schematized in Table 3.3. Examples are given with both nouns and verbs. Columns #1 and #2 of the table show the surface tonal pattern in isolation, Columns #4 and #5 the surface tonal pattern in connected speech (followed by the disyllabic toneless instrumental/agentive clitic = gonni(§6.2.1, §6.2.4) in the case of nouns; followed by the toneless particle k^{h_i} 'time' (§10.4.2) and toneless general topic marker = bu (§6.5.6) in the case of verbs, which renders the meaning 'when V-ing'), and Column #6 shows the analysed underlying tone.

Table 3.3 Tone on monosyllabic words						
#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	
Isolation	Pattern	Meaning	Running speech	Pattern	Tone	
[pî]	F	'(type of plant)' ¹⁰²	[pí=gòŋnì]	H = L.L	Falling	
[kî]		'to cut'	[kí k ^h ì=bù]	H L=L		
[pí]/[pî]	H/F	'truth'	[pí=góŋnì]	H = H.L	High	
[kí]/[kî]		'to chase'	[kí k ^h í=bù]	H H=L		
[pǐ]	R	'belly'	[pì=góŋní]	L = H.H	Rising	
[kǐ]		'to put in'	[kì k^{h} í=bú]	LH = H		
[wǔ]		'tiger'	[wù=gòŋní]	L = L.H	Low	
			[wù=góŋní]	L = H.H		
[dzěj]		'to ride'	[dzèj k ^h ì=bú]	LL = H		
			[dzèj k ^h í=bú]	LH = H		

 $[dz \dot{z} \dot{z} \dot{k}^{h} \dot{1} = b \dot{u}]$ L H=H Similar to the Niúwōzĭ, Táobā and Shuĭluò varieties of Pǔmĭ (Dīng 1998:48; Lù 2001:59; Jacques 2011c:364), Wǎdū Pǔmĭ shows a three-way distinction in surface tone on monosyllables in isolation (Columns #1 and #2). The high level and high falling tones, however, are not always easily distinguishable in isolation or at the end of an intonation unit: in those environments the high level tone is often realized with a fall at the end.¹⁰³ Dīng (1998:52) noted this for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ as well, but he showed that there is a slight difference in their tonal contour (1998:53; 2001:65-67). Their dissimilar tonal behaviour in running speech (Columns #4 and #5) also indicates clearly that they are two different underlying tones.

Words that show rising surface tone in isolation can be divided into two groups based on their tonal behaviour in running speech. The dissimilar tonal behaviour of the two groups (Columns #4 and #5) suggests that at least one extra tonal category should be recognised. I have analysed the group that includes the words 'tiger' and 'to ride' as having an underlying Low tone. (The reasons for this will be discussed shortly).

The spreading rules for underlying Falling, High and Rising tone on monosyllables are fairly straightforward. When toneless markers or clitics are attached, this extends the tone group and the underlying tone of the tone-bearing element spreads rightwards, as

¹⁰² So far I have been unable to identify it. The plant grows at high altitudes and has soft white fibres on the back of its leaves, which was traditionally spun into thread and woven together with hemp into garments. Hemp is used for strength and $p\hat{i}$ for warmth.

¹⁰³ Greif (2010:236) ascribes this to the presence of a low boundary tone in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ.

is shown in Column #4 of Table 3.3. This can be conceptualised as follows (using the nouns from Table 3.3):



Figure 3.1. Tonal spread in monosyllables

The black line shows to which syllable the tone is attached. The dotted lines show the way the tone spreads. The falling (HL) underlying tone on the word $/p\hat{1}/$ '(type of plant)' splits into H and L; the H stays on the original tone-bearing syllable and the L spreads rightwards to the adjacent syllable, resulting in a high surface tone on the original tone-bearing syllable and a low surface tone on the syllable to the right. The other syllable receives a default low surface tone. (Note that it is also possible to analyse it as the L spreading rightwards to all the syllables of the tone group. For consistency I chose the former and not the latter analysis). The high (H) underlying tone on the word $/p\hat{1}/$ 'truth' spreads rightwards to the adjacent syllable, resulting in high surface tones on the original tone-bearing syllable and on the syllable next to it. All the other syllables receive default low surface tones. The rising (LH) underlying tone on the word $/p\tilde{1}/$ 'belly' splits into L and H; the L stays on the original tone-bearing syllable and the H spreads rightwards to up to two adjacent syllables, ¹⁰⁴ resulting in a low surface tone on the original tone-bearing syllable and high surface tones on the two adjacent syllables, ¹⁰⁴ resulting in a low surface tone on the original tone-bearing syllable and high surface tones on the two adjacent syllables to the right.

The tonal patterns for monosyllabic nouns and verbs that have an underlying low tone are not so straightforward. There are only a few forms that show a L=L.H as well as a L=H.H spreading pattern, as shown in Table 3.3 for [wǔ] 'tiger' and examples (90) and (91). Apart from 'tiger', only the numeral *sòŋ* 'three' has been attested with L=L.H and L=H.H spread, as in (92) and (93).

¹⁰⁴ It is reported for Shuǐluò Půmǐ, however, that spreading of H can take place to three toneless syllables (Jacques 2011a:366). Spreading is allowed across only one morpheme boundary, and the trisyllabic morpheme *mədərə* in his examples is not used in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ.

- ((wù = gòŋní)) #qà-bⁱá# sèŋbóŋ = bì# dàbǔ# (90) $w\dot{u} = qonni q \check{a} - b^{i} \check{a}$ senbón = bidəbů tiger = AGT DOWN-side:GEN tree = DAT then tè-cú t^hé-pù# fià tçèbù tǐ-çú t^hě-pú ĥa tcəbu one-CLF:armful FR.SP-do LINK because '((Tiger)) grabbing an armful of tree down there, (said,) (...)' (KZ03.36) (91) wù=góŋní# dàbǔ,# wù=góŋní# dàbǔ dəbŭ wù = goŋni wù=goŋni dəbŭ tiger = AGT then tiger = AGT then 'The tiger (said,) (...)' (KZ03.9)
- (92) zép^jæ sòŋ = g∂ = bú, # nŏŋ # èl^jǎtì....
 zêp^jæ sòŋ = g∂ = bu nŏŋ el^jǎti last.year:GEN three = DEF = TOP so a.little
 'But last year's three.... a little....' (CV21.152)
- (93) $s \circ \eta = g \circ \eta \# t^{j} \circ \eta t a \# t c = d w \circ \eta m \partial d z \partial m a.$ $s \circ \eta = g \circ \eta = t^{j} \circ \eta = t a = t c = d w \circ \eta = m a d z \partial m a$ three = AGT one:CLF:thing only calculate = IPFV:EGO:N.SG GNOMIC INFO

'(...) (we) consider the three to be just one thing.' (CV21.594.3)

The L=H.H and L=L.H tonal patterns seem to be able to be used interchangeably with $w\dot{u}$ and $s\dot{o}g$, and there seem to be pragmatic reasons that trigger one versus the other.¹⁰⁵ More research is needed. Since it concerns only two nominal forms, it might be an option to treat them as an exception. However, there is a whole group of verbs that shows a similar tonal spread.

Monosyllabic surface rising tone verbs can be divided into two groups as seen from their tonal pattern in Table 3.3. The first pattern, L H = H is shared by both groups (and as seen above by all surface rising tone nouns as well). In addition to the L H = H pattern, one group of verbs also shows a L L = H tonal spreading pattern. This group of verbs is special in that their tonal pattern is different in their basic form and in their prefixed form as shown in Table 3.4, i.e. when prefixed, these verb act like falling tone verbs (further discussion will follow in §3.4.5). In this grammar I refer to the verbs in Table 3.4 as alternating verbs, and to verbs that show a normal L H = H spreading pattern when prefixes are attached, as non-alternating verbs.

¹⁰⁵ My main consultant also offered the suggestion that the L.L.HH spreading pattern might be influenced from another speech variety on the Wǎdū speech variety.

Tuble 5.4 Tohai spread of alternating verbs						
Basic form	L H = H pattern	L L=H pattern	L-H L = L pattern	Meaning		
[bǐŋ]	[bìŋ kʰí=bú]	[bìŋ kʰì=bú]	[k ^h à-bíŋ k ^h ì=bù]	'to fly'		
[zǎ]	[zà $k^{h}i = bi$]	$[za k^{h}i=bu]$	[dà-zá khì=bù]	'to carry'		

Table 3.4 Tonal spread of alternating verbs

In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, the group of alternating verbs displays two tonal patterns in their basic (non-prefixed) forms,¹⁰⁶ either L L = H or L H = H as shown in Table 3.4. These patterns seem to be used interchangeably and it is not clear yet what triggers each pattern. It possibly ties in with the pragmatics of the utterance or with stress, but further research is needed. In their prefixed forms, however, these verbs show a L-H L = L tonal pattern, and behave in that way exactly like falling tone verbs.

For the present purposes, I analyse the group of alternating verbs as having a low tone underlyingly. Since all tone groups need to have at least one H tone attached to them (see §3.2), one could analyse the presence of a H tone that is added post-lexically, which results in a rising surface tone in isolation (see the first image in Figure 3.2). This also happens when toneless markers follow in the same tone group. However, there are two tonal surface patterns that appear (L L=H and L H=H), which could be analysed as the H post-lexical tone attaching to the final syllable of the tone group (the second or third image in Figure 3.2). Image two and three differ in the origin of the low surface tone on $k^h i$. One could either analyse it as a default low tone that is assigned to the syllable, or as the spreading of the low underlying tone of the verb.

Figure 3.2. Low tone (alternating) verbs

L H biŋ	$ \begin{array}{c} L \\ L \\ H \\ \vdots \\ bin k^{h}i = bu \end{array} $	$ \begin{matrix} L \\ & & H \\ & \ddots & \vdots \\ bin k^{h}i = bu \end{matrix} $	$\begin{matrix} L \\ H \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ bin k^{h}i = bu \end{matrix}$
----------------	---	--	---

The tonal pattern that can be observed in the prefixed form can be conceptualised as in Figure 3.3. This tonal pattern will be discussed in relation to the underlying tone of directional prefixes in §3.4.5.

¹⁰⁶ This was not mentioned in Jacques (2011) for Shuǐluò Pǔmǐ alternating verbs, so further research is needed to clarify whether the same phenomenon happens there.

Figure 3.3. Tonal alternating verbs



In (94) both tonal patterns can be seen with the alternating verb \underline{i} 'to burn', and in (95) with the alternating verbs $d\underline{e}y$ 'to run' and $\underline{b}\underline{i}y$ 'to fly'.

 $\mathbf{j}\mathbf{i} = \mathbf{b}\mathbf{\check{u}}, \# p\acute{p}p\dot{u}\# \mathbf{J}\mathbf{i} = \mathbf{d}\mathbf{\acute{a}w} \mathbf{m}\mathbf{\acute{o}} \mathbf{d}\mathbf{z}\mathbf{\acute{o}}.$ (94)ji = bumə dzə pêpu jì=daw burn = IPFV:N.EGO GNOMIC burn = TOPbottom (Cypress incense) is also burned at the bottom.' (CV21.573) (95) tèně# nǐn# tsétsàw = nòn# té = Jé# né pú# něn# tenð nǐŋ tsêtsaw = non t \dot{a} = $J\bar{a}$ nź рú nǒŋ otherwise fight = COORDthis = PLthus do INTJ SO gwèn = nón# tá = Já# ná pú# **dæn-m**à = tí# $gwenny = no\eta$ tá = Jə ná pú $d a \eta - m \vartheta = t i$ do horse = COORDthis = PLthus run-NMLZ = INDF $m\dot{a} = q^{h}\dot{u}\# d\dot{a}\eta = n\dot{o}\eta\# b\dot{\eta}-m\dot{a} = t\dot{i} = b\dot{u}\# k\dot{i}\ c\dot{i} = q\dot{c}\dot{j}?$ dàn = non ci = qcj $m\hat{a} = q^{h}u$ $bi\eta - m = ti = bu$ kî sky = onrun = COORDfly = NMLZ = INDF = TOPwhere EXIST.AB = EXPT'(...) how could there be ones running like this on horses and such, ones running and flying (on horses) in the sky?' (CV13.95.2)

Thus, although the evidence to establish a separate tone group for nominals is rather sparse, and $w\dot{u}$ and $s\dot{o}g$ could be treated as exceptions, there is a whole group of verbs that warrant the analysis of a separate tone. In §3.4.5 it will be seen that this group of verbs is also present in other Pǔmǐ speech varieties.

In summary, Table 3.5 illustrates the tonal patterns that have been described in this section for the different monosyllabic verbs (=sep is the toneless egophoric perfective clitic described in §8.3.1). The high tone verb 'to chase' shows a straightforward spread of the high tone to the adjacent syllable in both prefixed and non-prefixed forms. The falling tone verb 'to cut' shows a straightforward split of the tone into H and L in both prefixed and non-prefixed forms, with the high tone remaining on the verb stem and the low tone spreading to the clitic =sep. The alternating tone verb 'to sell' displays the tonal alternation pattern described above for alternating verbs, namely, the L=LH and L=HH patterns for its non-prefixed form. The rising tone verb 'to give drink' shows

a straightforward split of the rising tone into L and H in both prefixed and non-prefixed forms, with the low tone remaining on the verb stem and the high tone spreading to the clitic = *seŋ*.

	Tuble oto Tohar spread in monosynapic verbs					
Meaning	Verb stem	Tonal spread without prefix	Tonal spread with prefix			
'chase'	/kí/	[kí=séŋ]	[t ^h è-kí=séŋ]			
'cut'	/kî/	[kí=sèŋ]	[tʰɒ̀-kí=sèn]			
'sell'	/kì/	[ki = sen]				
'give drink'	/kĭ/	[[t ^h è-kì=séŋ]			

Table 3.5 Tonal spread in monosyllabic verbs

3.3.3 Tones on disyllables

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ shows five possible tonal patterns on disyllables. These are shown in Table 3.6. Examples are given with both nouns and verbs.

	Isolation	Pattern	Meaning	Running speech	Pattern
1	[b ú tsə̀] [də́dwɐ̀]	H.L	'cremation site' 'to ask'	[b ú tsà=gòŋnì] [dádwè k ^h ì=bù]	H.L=L.L H.L L=L
2	[píháw] [¢áw _y wá]	H.H	'bamboo basket' 'to wring'	[píháw=gòŋnì] [çáwკwá k ^h ì=bù]	H.H = L.L H.H L = L
3	[q ^h òŋdzî] [tsæ̀ıæ̂]	L.F	'spoon' 'to prepare'	[q ^h òŋdzí=gòŋnì] [[ʂ̀æ̀រॖǽ k ^h ì=bù]	L.H = L.L L.H L = L
4	[bʉ̀Įɛ́j] [kàwtá]	L.H	'snake' 'to collect'	[bʉ̀tɛ́j=góŋnì] [kàwtá kʰí=bù]	L.H = H.L L.H H = L
5	[dɐ̀.Įčj] [b ^j àl ^j ǒŋ]	L.R	'speech' 'to roll (tr.)'	[dè.tɛ̀j=góŋní] [bʲæ̀lʲòŋ kʰí=bú]	L.L = H.H $L.L H = H$

Table 3.6 Tone on disyllabic words

The patterns can be analysed as the placement of three different underlying tones (Falling, High and Rising) on either the first or the second syllable of the word. Pattern 1 has a Falling tone placed on the first syllable, thus in underlying representation /bûtsə/ and /dôdwe/. Pattern 2 has a High tone placed on the first syllable, thus in underlying representation /píhaw/ and /çáwuwa/. Pattern 3 has a Falling tone placed on the second syllable, thus in underlying representation /qhondzî/ and /tsætæ/. Pattern 4 has a High tone placed on the second syllable, thus in underlying

representation $/bull \epsilon j/$ and /kawt a/. Pattern 5 has a Rising tone placed on the second syllable, thus in underlying representation $/del \epsilon j/and /b^j a l^j \delta n/$.

Note that patterns 3 and 4 are often not distinguishable in isolation: both seem to end in a falling tone in isolation. Only when clitics are added, the distinction becomes clear: this is also noted for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ (Ding 2006:14) and Shuǐluò Pǔmǐ (Jacques 2011c:364) and is very similar to Japanese (McCawley 1978, Dīng 2006).

The spreading rules for tone on disyllables are fairly straightforward. When toneless markers or clitics are attached, this extends the tone group and the underlying tone of the tone-bearing lexical element spreads rightwards, as is shown in the 'Running speech' column of the table. This can be conceptualised as follows (using the nouns from Table 3.6):





The black line shows to which syllable of the word the tone is attached. The dotted lines show the way it spreads. The falling (HL) underlying tone splits into H and L; the H stays on the original tone-bearing syllable and the L spreads rightwards to the adjacent syllable, resulting in a high surface tone on the original tone-bearing syllable and a low surface tone on the syllable to the right. All other syllables receive default low surface tones. The high (H) underlying tone spreads rightwards to the adjacent syllable, resulting in high surface tones on the original tone-bearing syllable and on the syllable next to it. All the other syllables receive default low surface tones. The rising (LH) underlying tone splits into L and H; the L stays on the original tone-bearing syllable and the H spreads rightwards to up to two adjacent syllables, resulting in a low surface tone on the original tone-bearing syllable and high surface tones on the two adjacent syllables to the right. All other syllables receive default low surface tones.

3.3.4 Tones on polysyllables

Polysyllabic words are often generated through compounding (tonal patterns in compounding are discussed in §3.4.1). But simplex polysyllabic words do occur. They are often geographical names or names of flora and fauna. Trisyllabic words show seven tonal surface patterns. Examples of tones on trisyllables are shown in Table 3.7. '-' indicates a morpheme break.

	Isolation	Pattern	Meaning	Running speech	Pattern		
1	[níŋţşwàdì]	H.L.L	'rainbow'	[níŋţşwàdì=gòŋnì]	H.L.L = L.L		
2	[ļáts ^h úts ^h ù]	H.H.L	'(person's name)'	[ļátsʰútsʰù=gòŋnì]	H.H.L=L.L		
3	[tçʰwà-tçʰékù]	L.H.L	'pig present'	[t¢ʰwà-t¢ʰékù=gòŋnì]	L-H.L=L.L		
4	[t¢ʰẁæsə́pʉ́]	L.H.H	'hawthorn?'	[t¢ʰwàsə́pʉ́=gòŋnì]	L.H.H = L.L		
5	[tşʰèmàqwêj]	L.L.F	'(place name)'	[[sʰèmàqwéj=gòŋnì]	L.L.H = L.L		
6	[t¢ ^h ù¢ìdzə́]	L.L.H	'festival of firstfruits'	[t¢ʰù¢ìdzə́=góŋnì]	L.L.H=H.L		
7	[t¢ ^h ờťʰə̀lǐ]	L.L.R	'Cordyceps'	[t¢ ^h èt ^h àlì=góŋní]	L.L.L = H.H		

Table 3.7 Tones on trisyllabic words

The patterns can be analysed as the placement of three different underlying tones (Falling, High and Rising) on the first, the second, or the third syllable of the word. Pattern 1 has a Falling tone placed on the first syllable, thus in underlying representation /nîŋt̥swɑdi/. Pattern 2 has a High tone placed on the first syllable, thus in underlying representation /låts^huts^hu/. Pattern 3 has a Falling tone placed on the second syllable, thus in underlying representation /t¢^hwæ-t¢^hêku/. Pattern 4 has a High tone placed on the second syllable, thus in underlying representation /t¢^hwæsópʉ/. Pattern 5 has a Falling tone placed on the third syllable, thus in underlying representation /t§^hemɑqwêj/. Pattern 6 has a High tone placed on the third syllable, thus in underlying representation /t¢^huçidzó/. Pattern 7 has a Rising tone placed on the third syllable, thus in underlying representation /t¢^het^het^het^h.

Note that patterns 5 and 6 are often not distinguishable in isolation: both seem to end in a falling tone. Only when clitics are added, the distinction becomes clear. All tones spread regularly in the manner described for disyllables (§3.3.3 and Figure 3.4), as can be seen in the column 'Running speech' in the table.

Quadrisyllabic and quinquesyllabic words show six possible tonal surface patterns. Examples are shown in Table 3.8. For reasons of space, 'X' in the 'In speech' (= Running speech) column stands for the citation form as listed in the 'Citation' column.

	Citation	Pattern	Meaning	In speech	Pattern
1	[qúpù-dzèj-gwèŋ]	H.L-L-L	'common hoopoe'	[X=gòŋnì]	H.L-L-L=L.L
2	[n ^j óŋĮə́bàlà]	H.H.L.L	'bat'	[X=gòŋnì]	H.H.L.L = L.L
3	["Įwėsź-bʉ̀l ^j æ]	L.H-L.L	'(type of fungus)'	[X=gòŋnì]	L.H-L.L = L.L
	[q ^h ùn ^j ǽ-pùdìmà]	L.H-L.L.L	'deceased old woman'	[X=gòŋnì]	L.H-L.L.L = L.L
4	[də̀má-şwá-mə̀] [bʉ̀ᠽɛ́j-ᠽə́-næ̀ŋhàw]	L.H-H-L L.H-H-L.L	'(type of bird)' 'snake skin bag'	[X=gòŋnì] [X=gòŋnì]	L.H-H-L = L.L L.H-H-L.L = L.L
5	[q ^ʰ ùgæ̀-wúdù]	L.L-H.L	'hazelnut'	[X=gòŋnì]	L.L-H.L = L.L
6	[tòŋt¢ə̀páwl ^j áw]	L.L.H.H	'wild buckwheat'	[X=gòŋnì]	L.L.H.H=L.L
	[pʉdìmá-qʰúnʲæ]	L.L.H-H.L	'deceased old woman'	[X=gòŋnì]	L.L.H-H.L=L.L

Table 3.8 Tones on quadrisyllabic and quinquesyllabic words

The patterns can be analysed as the placement of two different underlying tones (Falling and High) on either the first, the second, the third, or the fourth syllable of the word. Pattern 1 has a Falling tone placed on the first syllable, thus in underlying representation /qûpu-dzɛj-gweŋ/. Pattern 2 has a High tone placed on the first syllable, thus in underlying representation /n^jóŋ<code>z</code>əbal<code>a/</code>. Pattern 3 has a Falling tone placed on the second syllable, thus in underlying representation /<code>ques</code>-bul<code>j</code>æ/ and /<code>qhun</code>^jæ-pudima/. Pattern 4 has a High tone placed on the second syllable, thus in underlying representation /<code>but</code>źj-<code>z</code>-næŋhaw/. Pattern 5 has a Falling tone placed on the third syllable, thus in underlying representation /<code>qhugæ-wûdu/</code>. Pattern 6 has a High tone placed on the third syllable, thus in underlying representation /<code>qhugæ-wûdu/</code>. Pattern 6 has a High tone placed on the third syllable, thus in underlying representation /<code>qhugæ-wûdu/</code>. Pattern 6 has a High tone placed on the third syllable, thus in underlying representation /<code>qhugæ-wûdu/</code>.

Note that again patterns 5 and 6 are often not distinguishable in isolation: both seem to end in a falling tone. Only when clitics are added, the distinction becomes clear. All tones spread regularly in the manner described for disyllables (§3.3.3) as can be seen in the column 'Running speech' in the table.

3.3.5 Exceptional tone patterns

The tonal patterns described in §3.3.2-§3.3.4 can be said to be regular tonal patterns: they only show (rising or falling) contour tones on their final syllable. In general,

contour tones in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ are restricted to the final syllable of a tone group (cf. Jacques 2011c:364 for a similar observation in Shuǐluò Pǔmǐ).

Apart from the regular tonal patterns, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ shows several words with diverging tonal patterns. The most well attested pattern has a rising contour tone in its first syllable: R.L. The R.L pattern is also marginally attested in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ (Dīng 2001:68).¹⁰⁷ Examples of the pattern are given in (96).

[tsǐjà]	'(name of household)' ¹⁰⁸
[zǎzà]	'(name of household)'
[mǎn ^j à]	'every'
[n ^j ětj]	'very early'
[nǒŋjà]	'later'
[nǒŋnòŋ]	'and only then'
[pǎzʉ̀]	'carpet' ¹⁰⁹
[kǒŋpù]	'doorway, gate' (< <i>kŏŋ</i> 'door' and <i>pu</i> 'under')
[t ^j ǎsèŋ]	'recent mornings' ($< t^{j} \check{x}$ 'recent' and $s \hat{e} \eta$ 'morning')
[hǎwk ^h ì]	'that time' ($< h \check{a} w$ - 'that' and - $k^h i$ 'time')
	[tsǐjà] [zǎzà] [mǎn ^j à] [n ^j ǎ.Jà] [nǒŋjà] [nǒŋnòŋ] [pǎzʉ] [kǎŋpù] [t ^j ǎsèŋ] [fiǎwk ^h ì]

Note that there are no verbs with a R.L pattern. Diachronically, the examples in (96) might have arisen from the combination of multiple morphemes, but synchronically they all function as a single word. This can be most clearly seen in the word $k \delta g p \dot{u}$ 'doorway, gate', which arose from the noun $k \delta g$ 'door' and the postposition pu 'under'. In Niúwōzǐ, most of the R.L patterns occur in words with the morpheme $p \delta$ 'lower (part)', like $p \check{p} p \delta$ 'abdomen' (Dīng 2001:68). It might be that the original nounpostposition construction became fused in certain words, but the tone of the construction was kept intact. Compare §3.4.4, where is shown that tone from nominals does not usually spread to postpositions. Thus the noun-postposition construction $k \check{o} g p u$ 'under the door' seems to have fused to a single noun $k \check{o} g p u$ 'doorway, gate'. A similar noun-postposition fusion seems to have occurred in [pépù] 'bottom', from $p \acute{v}$ 'bottom' and p u 'under'. The two other examples in my data with R.L tone are clearly contractions.

(97)	[dǎwmà]	< [dàwzí dàmà]	'rDorje Drema (Dauma)'
	[zǎļà]	< [zǎzæ̀] and [l̥àmə́]	'Lhame of the Zjaezjae household'

¹⁰⁷ Jonathan Evans (2001:68,72; 2008:466) mentions a rare mid-rising tone in Mianchi Qiang that is the result of tonal conflation.

¹⁰⁸ Only used as the name of a particular household. If it is used as a personal name, the tone is H.F instead.

¹⁰⁹ My main consultant suggested that the word for 'carpet' seems to be a combination of two Chinese loanwords, pá扒 'to spread' and rù褥 'mattress'.

The examples in Table 3.9 also do not fit the regular tonal patterns described in §3.3.2-§3.3.4. As stated above, a tone group (and thus by default, a single lexical item) has only one underlying tone attached to it, either Falling, High, or Rising (and Low in monosyllables) which results in up to two high surface tones in adjacent syllables. The examples in Table 3.9 are exceptional in that they either show a rising surface tone on a non-final syllable (1-7) and/or show more than two high surface tones for which multiple lexical tones need to be posited in the underlying tonal template (2-20). The examples might be mergers of earlier independent morphemes that kept their original tonal templates¹¹⁰ or loanwords from other languages. One could argue that some of these forms (especially the 'elaborate expressions'-four-syllabic, compound-like structures with a repeated syllable and ABAC or ABCB patterns, 15-19; and maybe also 7 and 20) are non-compounded independent words that form a set phrase. The problem is that none of their parts can be used independently. However, one supporting argument for this is that there is a whole set of forms, listed in Table 3.14 that are foursyllabic set phrases that do not form one phonological unit. In those words, the two parts can still be used as independent words. Since the exceptions in Table 3.9 and examples (96) and (97) form a relatively small group of words, I will treat them here as exceptions, rather than try to fit them into the overall tonal system.

		-	-	
	Tonal pattern	Example word	Meaning	Note
1	L.R + L ¹¹¹	[ɐlʲǎtì]	'a little'	The form [iel^{j} æ̃] 'a little', and [tǐ] 'one' can both appear independently, but not [tì] with low tone.
2	L.R + R	[ŋæjǐ¢ǐ]	'to know'	This verb is split up by negation and might consist of a nominal part plus the existential verb [¢ĭ].
3	R+R	[lǎlǎ]	'certainly'	Probably reduplication ¹¹²

Table 3.9 Exceptional tone patterns

¹¹⁰ Dīng (2001:70) talks about 'dual domain' prosodic structure in complex compounds, which explains the occurrence of multiple H tones in compounds. Most of the examples in Table 3.9 are not compounds, but a 'dual domain' prosodic structure seems to be a good explanation for what happens.

¹¹¹ $t \partial = g \delta g n \lambda$ (3sg = Agt) is another example of a L.R.L pattern: the demonstrative/third person singular pronoun shows this pattern of spread. This will be discussed in §3.3.7.

¹¹² Regular reduplication (§5.1.2 and §7.4.1) does not, however, involve contour tones.

	Tonal pattern	Example word	Meaning	Note
4	R+F	[¢ŏŋdôŋ]	'(person's name)'	A contraction from [çǒŋ jóŋdôŋ], with the Chinese surname [çǒŋ] (熊 Xiōng) and the Pǔmǐ name [jóŋdôŋ] <tibetan gyung.drung.</tibetan
5	R + R + L	[l ^j ěmătà]	'useless'	<pre>[l^jě] does not occur by itself, but probably means 'use'; [mă] is the general negator; the origin of [tà] is not clear.</pre>
6	R+H.H (?)	[jǒŋmə́zə́] ~ [jǒŋmə́tá]	'totally the same'	Opaque origin
7	R+L.H.H (?)	[tçǔp ù tçə́dóŋ]	'(archaic name)'	Only used in genealogies.
8	H + R	[Įə́¢Ĭ]	'can'	This auxiliary is split up by negation and might consist of a nominal part plus the existential verb <i>çĭ</i> .
9		[qét¢ ^h ð]	'put in effort'	From <i>qě</i> 'strength' and <i>tç^hð</i> 'to put in'?
10	L.H+R (?)	[nàŋpʰúqʰǎ]	'emperor'	A Yǒngníng Na loanword?
	H.H+F (?)	[lóŋmə́zî]	(person's	A Nuòsū name
11			name)	
		[mət'æç1]	every	
12	H.L+H (?)	[¢óŋkòŋҳí]	'(name of place)'	Only used in libations, is said to be located in Tibet.
13		[mə́dìdzə́]	'every'	
14		[sédàsə́] ¹¹³	'water spirit'	Ritual term

¹¹³ Compare to [sèdásá] 'angry person'. The two seem to be related, but the tone is different.
	Tonal pattern	Example word	Meaning	Note
15	H.L+H.L	[.Įwéq ^h ù .Įwémàŋ]	'from beginning to end of road'	From [¿wê] 'road', [q ^h ǚ] 'head' and [mâŋ] 'tail-end'. Interestingly [¿wéq ^h ǚ] and [¿wémâŋ] are never used by themselves.
16	H.L+L.F	[mátèj sətêj]	'moon tree'	A mythical tree in the Deluge story
17	H.L+H.H	[p ^h éşə̀ p ^h éıú]	'waste'	From [p ^h ě] 'to throw out'?
18	H.H + L.F	[níwá nìsôŋ]	'hell'	Ritual term
19	H.H+L.H	[pʰálá dæ̀lá]	'god of war'	Ritual term (<tibetan ? <i>dgra.lha</i>)</tibetan
20	L.H + L.H	[tʰæ̀jǽ dʑòŋtsʰú]	ʻgreat ocean'	Ritual term, (< Tibetan ? <i>rgya.mtsho</i>)

3.3.6 Tone in expressives

Expressives (described in §9.2) show a special tonal template that is not found in other lexical words. The characteristic feature of the (trisyllabic) expressives is two falling tones in the (ideophonic) reduplicated second and third syllable. This tonal template may accentuate the special nature of expressives as words that are extremely colourful and intense (such as /tc^hwǎşwûşwû/ 'dirty as a pig sty'), and help them stand out in discourse.

There is some amount of interplay between the tones of the first syllable (usually the semantically meaningful part) and the reduplicated second and third syllable (usually the ideophone part) of an expressive.

When the first syllable has an underlying falling tone, it tends to downstep the falling tone of the second syllable, resulting in a lower starting pitch of the second syllable, as in the expressive $/p\hat{u}l^j\hat{z}l^j\hat{z}/[p\hat{u}^+l^j\hat{z}^+l^j\hat{z}]$ 'very soft' ($</p\hat{u}/$ 'soft'). The falling tone of the ideophonic second syllable causes a downstep for the third syllable, resulting in an even lower starting pitch of the third syllable. In rapid speech the effect is often high-mid-low (or low-high-mid for the other two expressives described below). This is illustrated in Figure 3.5: first the original tone of the first syllable is shown, then the tone of the expressive when pronounced slowly, and finally the tone of the expressive when pronounced quickly.

Figure 3.5. Falling tone in expressives



When the first syllable has an underlying high tone, it tends to upstep the falling tone of the second syllable, resulting in an even higher starting level of the falling tone of the second syllable, as in the expressive $/t^{h} \circ \eta l^{j} \hat{a} l^{j} \hat{a} / [t^{h} \circ \eta^{\dagger} l^{j} \hat{a}^{\dagger} l^{j} \hat{a}]$ 'very white' ($</t^{h} \circ \eta /$ 'white'). When pronounced quickly, the auditory result is high-high-low or mid-high-low. This is illustrated in Figure 3.6 in the same way as Figure 3.5.



Figure 3.6. High tone in expressives

When the first syllable has an underlying rising tone, it also tends to upstep the falling tone of the second syllable, resulting in an even higher starting level of the falling tone of the second syllable, as in the expressive $/\$\check{u}^{j}\hat{x}^{$





3.3.7 Tone in pronouns

Tonal spread with pronouns is not totally straightforward. Table 3.10 presents the tonal patterns of pronouns in combination with agentive, genitive, dual and plural clitics and with collective plural marker. Although the clitics are taken to be underlyingly toneless, not all tonal patterns shown in Table 3.10 can be explained by simple rightward spreading of the tone of the pronoun. Apart from the logophoric pronoun, whose tonal spread is totally straightforward, the other patterns all show irregularities. The patterns of first inclusive and second person (which are completely similar to each other) show a few irregularities: a surface high tone appears sometimes on one and sometimes on two syllables.

The tonal patterns of first exclusive and third person (which apart from the forms in bold font are completely similar to each other) show the most interesting surface tones, especially a rising contour on a non-final syllable followed by a low surface tone on the final syllable in several forms. At present, these patterns cannot be explained. Further (cross-dialectal) research might shed some light on this puzzle.

	SG	DU	PL	COLL
1.EXCL	[é]	[è=dzěŋ]	[é=.J9]	[é-b ù]
1:EXCL (AGT)	[è=ní(nî)]	[è=dzàŋ=góŋ(nî)]	[è=ưǒŋ(nì)]	[è-bŏ(nì)]
1:EXCL (GEN)	[é=gâ]	[è=dzàŋ=gá]	[ắj=g]	[è-bǎ]
1:EXCL (PART)				[ɐ̀-bʉ̀-sěŋ]
1.INCL 1:INCL (AGT)	-	$[i\eta = dz \hat{e} \eta]$ $[i\eta = dz \hat{e} \eta = g \delta \eta(ni)]$	[ìŋ = "ə́] [ìŋ = "óŋ(nî)]	[ìŋ-bʉ̂] [ìŋ-bó(nî)]
		$[i\eta = dz \acute{e} \eta = g \grave{e}]$	[ìŋ=4ǽ]	-

	SG	DU	PL	COLL
1:INCL (GEN)				[ìŋ-bâ] [ìn bú sàn]
1.INCL (PART)				[11]-0#-361]]
2	[nǐŋ]	[nìŋ=dzŵŋ]	[nìŋ=Jə́]	[nìŋ-b û]
2 (AGT)	[nìŋ=góŋ(nî)]	[nìŋ=dzớŋ=gòŋ(nì)]	[nìŋ=ɹóŋ(nî)]	[nìŋ-bóŋ(nî)]
2 (GEN)	[nìŋ=g쑕]	[nìŋ=dzớŋ=gờa]	[nìŋ=រǽ]	[nìŋ-bâ]
2 (PART)				[nìŋ-b ú -sèŋ]
3	[tə́]	[tə̀=dzǎŋ]	[tá=_Įâ]	[tə́-bʉ̀]
3 (AGT)	[tə̀=gǒŋ(nì)]	[təˈ=dzæ̀ŋ=góŋ(nî)]	[tə̀=ɹŏŋ(nì)]	[tə̀-bǒŋ(nì)]
3 (GEN)	[tə̀=gǎ]	[təˈ=dzæŋ=gæ]	[tà=ıǎ]	[tə̀-bǎ]
3 (PART)				[tə̀-bʉ̀-sěŋ]
LOG	[nî]	[ní=dzàŋ]	[ní=Jý]	[ní-bʉ̀]
log (Agt)	[ní=gòŋ(nì)]	[ní=dzàŋ=gòŋ(nì)]	[ní=Jòŋ(nì)]	[ní-bòŋ(nì)]
log (gen)	[ní=gà]	[ní=dzàŋ=gà]	[ní=Jæ]	[ní-bà]
LOG (PART)				[ní-b ù -sèŋ]

3.3.8 Alternating tone pairs

There are certain semantically related pairs of nouns and verbs that are distinguished by tone, as in examples (98-103). There does not seem to be a consistent pattern. They do not usually appear together in the noun and verb slots of a single clause.

(98)	/t¢uĮwá/ /t¢úĮwa/	[tçùĮwá] [tçúĮwá]	'to make a circle (of people)''earthen wall encircling the yard'
(99)	/lŭ/	[lŭ]	'to hang'
	/lû/	[lû]	'pole for hanging meat'
(100)	/kwì/	[kwǐ]	'to cover'
	/kwî/	[kwî]	'cover'
(101)	/t ^ʰ ǒŋ∕	[[ʰŏŋ]	'to block'
	∕t ^ʰ óŋ∕	[[ʰóŋ]	'hedge'
(102)	/p ^h â/	[pʰâ]	'to cut in half; CLF:single'
	/p ^h ǎ/	[pʰǎ]	'half'
(103)	/sâwd ^j aw/	[sáwd ^j àw]	'to think'
	/sawd ^j ăw/	[sàwd ^j ǎw]	'worrying thought'

One nominal pair that shows similar meanings is only distinguished by tone:

(104)	/tôŋloŋ/	[tóŋlòŋ]	'roundish' (name of a small round cow without horns)
	/toŋlǒŋ/	[tòŋlǒŋ]	'knot'

In examples (105) and (106) it almost looks like the L.R tonal pattern is a construction.

(105)	/zênə/	[zénà]	'yesterday'
	/zenð/	[zènð]	'in the past'
(106)	/zêpʉ/	[zép ù]	'last year'
	/zepě/	[zèp <mark>ů</mark>]	'in the past'

The word $[tcinmin] \sim [tcinmin]$ 'home' shows alternating tone patterns. There is no difference in meaning, but further research needs to be done in order to see whether there is any difference in use.

3.4 Tone sandhi

As noted in §3.2, tone only spreads within tone groups. A few important lexical tonebearing elements that often combine in tone groups were mentioned there. When lexical tone-bearing elements combine, the resulting tone sandhi patterns are not always straightforward, but show a certain amount of idiosyncrasy. This is different from the more straightforward tonal spread described in §3.3. This section will discuss the most important tone-bearing elements that appear in tone groups: nominal compounds, noun-verb constituents and noun-attribute (adjective) constituents (§3.4.1), numeral-classifier compounds (§3.4.2), verb-modifier constituents (§3.4.3), noun-postposition constituents (§3.4.4), and directional verbal prefixes and verbs (§3.4.5). The section will end with tone patterns in verbal reduplication (§3.4.7).

3.4.1 Nominal compounds, noun-adjective and noun-verb constituents

This sections lists the tonal patterns found in nominal compounds, noun-adjective constituents, and noun-verb constituents. The examples listed in this section are all drawn from the natural corpus.

It can be roughly stated that when the first lexical element of a nominal compound or a noun-verb constituent is polysyllabic, the resulting tone of the constituent will be a regular spread of the tone of the first item, independent of the tone of the second item (when the first element is monosyllabic, things are less straightforward).¹¹⁴ I do not have any data on polysyllabic noun-adjective or verb-modifier constituents in my dataset. Examples of nominal compounds and noun-verb constituents are given in Table 3.11.

¹¹⁴ Based on a small scale study, Dīng (1998:74-77; 2001:80) found that 82% of Niúwōzǐ compounds show a regular tone pattern, that is, the tone of the first item is extended to the whole compound.

1st	2nd	Resulting pattern	Meaning		
[tòŋt¢ǎ]	[pě]	[tòŋtçàpé]	'buckwheat flour'		
/toŋt¢ð/	/pě/	/toŋ tçə -pĕ/	('buckwheat' + 'flour')		
[dzə̀dzĭ]	[dŭ]	[dzə̀dzì dʉ́]	`to write'		
/dzədzĭ/	/dŭ/	/dzə dzĭ dʉ́/	('letter' + 'to write')		
[t¢ ^h èd ^j ǎw]	[Jędzą]	[tç ^h èd ^j àw.Įédzə̂]	'libation liquor'		
/t¢ ^h ed ^j ăw/	/Jsqry/	/t¢ ^h e d^jǎw -Įedzð/	('libation' + 'liquor')		
[gʉ̀dóŋ]	[tsóŋ]	[gʉ̀dóŋt̥sôŋ]	'stone house'		
/gʉdóŋ/	/tsóŋ/	/gʉ dóŋ- tʂóŋ/	('stone' + 'house')		
[Jèqá]	[¢â]	[Jèqá çâ]	'to cut bones'		
\jsdq\	/çâ/	/æ qá çâ/	('bone' + 'to cut')		
[tèsú]	[qèlá]	[tèsúqélà]	'load of pine needles'		
/tesú/	/qɐlá/	/te sú -qelá/	('pine needle' + 'load')		
[pʉ̀dìmá]	[q ^h ùn ^j æ̂]	[pùdìmáq ^h ún ^j æ]	'deceased old woman'		
/pʉdimá/	/q ^h un ^j æ/	/pʉdi má -qʰʉnʲâ⁄/	('old woman' + 'deceased')		
[Játsə]	[Jŧ]	[Jə́tsə̀lı́#]	'blade of knife'		
/Jậtsə/	/jû/	/ .ąə̂ tsə-y̥ʉ̂/	('knife' + 'tooth')		
[l̥íɕwèŋ]	[qû]	[l̥íɕwèŋ qù]	'to cook shepherd's lunch'		
/l̥î¢weŋ /	/qû/	/ ļî ¢weŋ qû/	('shepherd's lunch' + 'to cook')		
[dzéqê]	[b û]	[dzéqéb ù]	'honey'		
/dzęds/	/bû/	/ dุzé qe-b û /	('bee' + 'sugar')		
[p ú qâ]	[t¢wǐ]	[p ú qá t¢wì]	`to wear shoes'		
/p ú qa/	/t¢ ^h wĭ/	/ pú qa t¢ ^h wĭ/	('shoe' + 'to wear')		
[mínî]	[p ú qâ]	[mínípʉqà]	'straw sandal'		
/míni/	/púqa/	/ mí ni-p ú qa/	('straw sandal' + 'shoe')		
[q ^h ùn ^j æ]	[pʉ̀dìmá]	[q ^h ʉ̀n ^j ǽpʉ̀dìmà]	'deceased old woman'		
/q ^h ʉn ^j æ/	/pʉdimá/	/q ^h u n^jæ- pudimá/	('deceased' + 'old woman')		
[mèqû]	[kǐ]	[mèqú kì]	'to feed oil'		
/meqû/	/kĭ/	/me qû kĭ/	('oil + 'to feed')		

Table 3.11 Regular tone patterns

Some exceptions may be noted. Examples are given in Table 3.12.

Table 3.12 Exceptions					
1st	2nd	Resulting pattern	Meaning		
[çèně]	[lěj]	[çènə̀lɛ̂j]	'oat seeds'		
/çɐnǎ/	/lěj/	/çenð-lěj/	('oats' + 'seed')		
[Įędzį]	[q ^h wǎ]	[Jydzə q ^h wâ]	'liquor bowl'		
/jędzy/	/q ^h wǎ/	∕ııvdzə̃-q ^h wǎ∕	('liquor' + 'bowl')		
[t ^h ùlǐ]	[pèjkwêŋ]	[t ^h ùlìpéjkwèŋ]	'hare brothers'		
/t ^h ulĭ/	/pɛjkwêŋ/	∕t ^h ulĭ-pεjkwêŋ∕	('hare' + 'brothers')		
[q ^h ùgǎ]	[wùdú]	[q ^h ùgàwúdù]	'hazelnut'		
/q ^h ugǎ/	/wudú/	/q ^h ugž-wudú/	('hazel' + 'walnut')		
[¿ɛ̀d͡ʑð]	[bŭ]	[Jędzə p u]	'to distill liquor'		
/jedzj/	/bʉ̈́/	/Jedžý p ű /	('liquor' + 'to distill')		
[twèjîŋ]	[bóŋ]	[twèjíŋbôŋ]	'(type of plant)'		
/twejîŋ/	/bóŋ/	/twejíŋ-bóŋ/	('[type of plant]' +'tree')		
[t̀æpá]	[dzæts ^h éŋ]	[tàpá dzàtshèŋ]	'(person's name)'		
/tæpá/	/dzæts ^h éŋ/	/tæpâ-dzæts ^h éŋ/			

For some exceptions the resulting tone seems to be based on the underlying tone of the second element instead of the first, assigning default L tones to the first part, as can be seen in Table 3.13.

1st	2nd	Resulting pattern	Meaning
[tòŋt¢ð]	[dzî]	[tòŋtçə̀-dzî]	<pre>`buckwheat porridge' (`buckwheat' + `boiled substance')</pre>
/toŋt¢ð/	/dzî/	/toŋtçə-dzî/	
[Jèmâ]	[n ^j ě]	[.tèmà-n ^j &]	ʻblack hen' ¹¹⁵
/Jemâ/	/n ^j ě/	/.tema-n ^j &/	(ʻchicken' + ʻblack')
[zégì]	[ņôŋ]	[zਏgə̀-ņôŋ]	'the day after'
/zêgi/	/ņôŋ/	/zੲgə-ņôŋ/	('after' + 'day')
[zénà]	[sêŋ]	[zờnà-sêŋ]	`yesterday morning'
/zênə/	/sêŋ/	/zɐnə-sêŋ/	('yesterday' + 'morning')

 Table 3.13 Exceptions (tone based on second part)

¹¹⁵ This word is only used in sayings. The normal way of referring to a black hen would be *.\mu m \dot{a}* with two phonological constituents.

The constituents in Table 3.14 do not show any tone sandhi, but keep their respective underlying tones. Most of them are set phrases and should be regarded as separate tone groups. They differ from the quadrisyllabic words with exceptional tone patterns listed in Table 3.9 in that the two parts of the set phrases in Table 3.14 can also be used independently. The words in Table 3.9 only occur in their quadrisyllabic form.

Table 3 14 Set nhrases

1st	2nd	Resulting pattern	Meaning		
[[^h óŋmá]	[l̥ʲæd̥ú]	[tʰóŋmə́ l̥ʲǽdú]	'Pǔmǐ friend'		
/tʰóŋmə/	/l̥ʲ́ǽdu/	∕tʰómə# l̥ʲædu∕	('Pumi' + 'friend')		
[dwìlóŋ]	[l ^j àká]	[dwìlóŋ l ^j àká]	'customs'		
/dwilóŋ/	/l ^j ækǽ/	/dwilóŋ# l ^j ækæ⁄/	('custom' + 'things')		
[q ^h óŋmá]	[t¢ʰáwt¢æ]	[qʰóŋmə́ tɕʰáwtɕæ̀]	'relatives'		
/qʰóŋmə/	/t¢ ^h âwt¢æ/	/q ^h ómə# tç ^h âwtçæ/	('relative' + 'relative')		
[tsákî]	[şə́dzì]	[tsákí sádzì]	'pork back slice and limbs'		
/tsáki/	/şə̂dzi/	/tsáki# şə̂dzi/	('meat cut' + 'limbs')		
[tsézì]	[d ^j úd ^j ú]	[tsézì d ^j úd ^j ú]	'monkey'		
/tsêzi/	/d ^j úd ^j u/	/tsêzi# d ^j úd ^j u/	('monkey' + 'monkey')		
[sét¢ ^h à]	[dìŋbá]	[sét¢ ^h à dìŋbá]	'place'		
/sêt¢ ^h æ/	/diŋbá/	/sêt¢ ^h æ# diŋbá/	('place' + 'place')		

When the first lexical item of a compound is monosyllabic, things are not so straightforward.¹¹⁶ In Table 3.15 the tonal patterns for nominal compounds (N+N), noun-verb constituents (N+V) and noun-adjective constituents (N+A) with two monosyllabic parts are given (Column #1 shows their structure). Columns #2 and #3 display the original tone of the first and second part respectively; Column #4 lists the resulting tone of the two parts combined in one phonological unit; and Column #5 lists examples for each pattern.

As can be seen, most identical combinations result in multiple tonal patterns. The tonal patterns of nominal compounds, noun-verb constituents and noun-adjective constituents roughly correspond, and it is plausible that additional data will bring more corresponding patterns to light.

¹¹⁶ Wǎdū Pǔmǐ seems to be different in this respect from Shuǐluò Pǔmǐ. Jacques is quoted in Michaud (2010:18): "Compositions des tons dans les composés nominaux: dépendents uniquement du 1er élément. H>HH, LH ou HL>LH." (Compounding of tones in nominal compounds depends entirely on the first element. H>H-H; LH or HL>LH).

#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6
	1^{st}	2^{nd}	Result	Example	Meaning
N+N	Н	Н	H-H	$/cu/+/tc^{h}wi/ > [cutc^{h}wi]$	ʻrice sausages' (ʻpaddy
			H-L	$/ \mathrm{J}w\acute{e}/ + / \mathrm{I}^{h}\acute{e}/ > [\mathrm{J}w\acute{e}\mathrm{I}^{h}\acute{e}]$	rice' + 'instestine') 'yak horn'
			L-H	/hí/+/[şóŋ/ >[hìtsóŋ]	('yak' + 'horn') 'shrine room' ('god' + 'house')
O + V	Н	Η	Н-Н	/çú/+/tsáw/ >[çú tsáw]	`to pound rice' ('paddy rice' + `to pound')
N+A	Н	Н	H-H	$/ts^{h}i/+/t\epsilon j/ > [ts^{h}it\epsilon j]$	ʻalpine meadow' (ʻmeadow' + ʻbig')
			H-L	/t¢ə́/+/tɛ́j/>[t¢ə́tɛ̀j]	ʻbig river' (ʻwater'+ʻbig')
			L-H	/t¢ə́/+/kóŋ/ >[t¢ə̀kóŋ]	'cold water' ('water'+'cold')
N+N	Н	LH	H-H	/¢ú/+/jǐŋ/ >[¢újîŋ]	ʻpaddy rice field' (ʻpaddy rice'+ʻfield')
			L-H	/qwé/+/něj/ >[qwènéj]	'cow's milk' ('cow'+'milk')
			L-LH	$/k^{h}w\acute{e}/+/k^{h}ĭ/ > [k^{h}w\acute{e}k^{h}ĭ]$	'lake edge' ('lake'+'edge')
O+V	Н	LH	H-H	/tsá/+/,tě/ >[tsá ,té]	`to cut meat' ('meat'+'to cut')
			L-H	/Įw¢/+/l̥ǐ/ >[l̥wɣ l̥í]	'to herd yaks' ('yak'+'to herd')
			L-LH	/t¢ə́/+/zwěj/>[t¢ə̀zwěj]	`to swim' ('water'+'to rinse')
N+A	Н	LH	H-H	/tsá/+/¢ĭ/ >[tsé¢í]	'fresh pork back' ('meat'+'new')
			L-H	/t¢ə́/+/şʉ̀/>[t¢ə̀şʉ́]	'warm water' ('water'+'warm')

Table 3.15 Tonal sandhi patterns

#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6
	1^{st}	2^{nd}	Result	Example	Meaning
N + N	Η	HL	Н-Н	/çú/+/dzî/ >[çúdzí]	'cooked rice' ('paddy rice'+ 'boiled substance')
			H-L	/t¢ə́/+/qôŋ/ >[t¢ə́qòŋ]	ʻriver' ('water'+'gully')
			L-LH	/t¢ə́/+/sǚ/>[t¢ə̀sǚ]	'mist' ('water'+'air')
			L-H	/Įwé/+/tçôŋ/ >[Įwètçóŋ]	'yak wool' ('yak'+'wool')
O + V	Н	HL	Н-Н	$/tc^{h}wi/+/ts\hat{\epsilon}j/ > [tc^{h}wi ts\hat{\epsilon}j]$	`to wash intestines' ('intestine'+'to wash')
			H-L	/t¢ə́/+/tsə̂/>[t¢ə́ tsə̀]	`to divert water' ('water'+'to divert')
N+A	н	HL	-	-	-
N+N	HL	LH	L-LH	$/ts^{h}\partial/+/q^{h}\check{u}/>[ts^{h}\partial q^{h}\check{u}]$	`goat head' ('goat'+'head')
			H-H	/ılů/+/dwěŋ/ >[ılɨdwéŋ]	`pine torch trunk' ('pine torch'+'trunk')
			H-L	/çê/+/pě/ >[çépè]	`wheat flour' ('wheat'+'flour')
			L-H	/qâŋ/+/ņǎŋ/ >[qàŋņáŋ]	'phlegm' ('neck'+'snot')
O+V	HL	LH	L-LH	$/t\varsigma^{h}\hat{u}/+/l\check{e}j/>[t\varsigma^{h}\hat{u}\ l\check{e}j]$	`to sow crops' ('crops'+'to sow')
			H-L	$/z\hat{\partial}/+/t^{h}\check{a}/>[z\acute{\partial}t^{h}\grave{a}]$	`to shoot a bow' ('bow'+'to shoot')
			L-H	$/c\hat{i}/+/dz\check{u}/>[c\hat{i}dz\acute{u}]$	`to saddle a horse' ('saddle'+'to make')
N+A	HL	LH	L-LH	/pû/+/dĕ/ >[pèdě]	ʻbroken axe' ('axe'+'bad')
			Н-Н	$/n^{i}\hat{x}/+/d\check{a}/>[n^{i}\acute{e}d\acute{a}]$	'big eyed' ('eye'+'wide')

#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6
	1^{st}	2^{nd}	Result	Example	Meaning
N + N	HL	Η	H-L L-H	$/ts^{h}\hat{\partial}/+/t^{h}\hat{u}/>[ts^{h}\hat{\partial}t^{h}\hat{u}]$ $/l\hat{v}/+/t\acute{\eta}/>[l\dot{v}t\acute{\eta}]$	`goat horn' ('goat' + 'horn') `wolf lair' ('wolf' + 'pen')
O + V	HL	Н	H-L L-H	$/q^{h}\hat{x}/+/t\check{u}/>[q^{h}\acute{x}tin)$ $/t\varsigma^{h}\hat{u}/+/s\acute{u}/>[t\varsigma^{h}\hat{u}s\acute{u}]$	`to dig gullies' ('gully' + `to dig') `to harvest crops' ('crops' + `to harvest')
N+A	HL	Н	H-L L-H	/[^h wî/+/sóŋ/ >[[^h wísòŋ] /pʉ̂/+/tɛ́j/ >[pɐ̀tɛ́j]	'clean ale' ('ale' + 'clean') 'big axe' ('axe' + 'big')
N + N	HL	HL	H-L L-H L-HL	/ts ^h ə̂/+/.tə̂/>[ts ^h ə́.tə̀] /.tû/+/dôŋ/>[.tùdóŋ] /.tû/+/mâ/>[.tèmâ]	'goat skin' ('goat' + 'skin') 'chicken wing' (chicken' + 'wing') 'hen'
O + V	HL	HL	H-L L-H	ر برû/+/gî/ >[.tuði] /tû/+/t٤ʰə̂/ >[.tu t٤ʰə]	('chicken' + 'mother') 'to collect pine torches' ('pine torch' + 'to collect') 'to slaughter chickens' ('chicken' + 'to
N+A	HL	HL	H-L	/l ^j wê/+/tsê/ >[l ^j wétsè]	slaughter') 'hot ashes' ('ash'+ 'hot')
N + N	LH	LH	L-LH L-H L-HL	/tç ^h wǎ/+/tç ^h ǐ/>[tç ^h wàtç ^h ǐ] /sěŋ/+/pǎ/>[sèŋpá] /dzǐ/+/q ^h wǎ/>[dzìq ^h wâ]	<pre>`pig fodder' (pig'+'food') `tree leaf' ('wood'+'leaf') `tea bowl'</pre>
			H-L	/sěŋ/+/,tǔ/ >[sé,tù]	('tea' + 'bowl') 'tree trunk' ('tree' + 'stalk')

#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6
	1^{st}	2^{nd}	Result	Example	Meaning
O + V	LH	LH	L-LH	/gǐ/+/l̥ǐ/ >[gì l̥ǐ]	`to herd livestock' ('livestock'+'to herd')
			L-H	/gwěŋ/+/dzěj/>[gwèŋ dzéj]	`to ride a horse' ('horse'+'to ride')
			L-HL	$/n^{j}\dot{\partial}/+/f\dot{\partial}\eta/>[n^{j}\dot{\partial} f\hat{\partial}\eta]$	`to eat roasted grain' ('roasted grain'+'to eat')
N+A	LH	LH	L-LH	/sěŋ/+/dzwĭŋ/ >[sèdzwĭŋ]	'rotten firewood' ('wood' + 'rotten')
			H-L	/dzǐ/+/q ^h ǎ/>[dzéq ^h à]	'bitter tea' ('tea'+ 'bitter')
N+N	LH	Н	L-H	$/gwěn/+/l^jú/ > [gwèn]^jú]$	`horse feed' ('horse'+ 'grain feed')
			L-HL	/pě/+/d ⁱ óŋ/ >[pèd ⁱ ôŋ]	` <i>tsampa</i> container' ('flour'+'container')
			H-L	$/q^{h}$ ť/ + /tsóŋ/ > [q^{h}ťtsòŋ]	ʻpillow' ('head' + 'house')
			L-LH	$/tc^hw\check{a}/+/t^h\acute{a}/>[tc^hw\acute{e}t^h\check{a}]$	`pork leg' ('pig'+`leg')
			H-HL	/tsŭ/+/qwá/ >[tsúqwâ]	'side room stove' ('side room' + 'fire place, stove')
O + V	LH	Η	L-H	/sěŋ/+/រជ៍/ >[sèŋ រជ៍]	`to buy firewood' ('firewood' + 'to buy')
			L-HL	/tǐ/+/káw/ >[tì kâw]	'to steal mules' ('mule' + 'to steal')
N+A	LH	Η	L-H	$/p^{h}t/ + /t \ell j/ > [p^{h}t\ell \ell j]$	`expensive' ('price' + `big')
			L-HL	/dzǐ/+/sóŋ/ >[dzìsôŋ]	`clean tea' ('tea'+`clean')

#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6
	1^{st}	2^{nd}	Result	Example	Meaning
N+N	LH	HL	L-H	/gwěŋ/+/bû/ >[gwèŋbú]	'horse trough'
			L-HL	/sěj/+/tî/ >[sèjtî]	'vein'
			L-LH	/mě/+/lʲê/ >[mèlʲě]	('blood' + 'vein') 'tongue of fire'
				,, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	('fire' + 'tongue')
			H-L	$/q^{h}$ ů/+/ m æ/>[q^{h} ú m æ]	`hair' ('head'+`hair')
O+V	LH	HL	L-H	/sěŋ/+/çâŋ/ >[sèŋ çá]	`to cut firewood' ('firewood'+ `to cut')
			L-HL	$/q^{h}$ ť t/ + / η / > [q^{h} t η]	'to shave one's head' ('head' + 'to shave')
N+A	LH	HL	L-LH	/sěŋ/+/wû/ >[sèwŭ]	`dry firewood' ('firewood'+`dry')

There is even a minimal pair where the tone of the compound of two identical constituents seems to be lexically determined, as in (107). Both forms are compounded from /sěŋ/ 'wood' and /q^hť/ 'head'. Note that vowel reduction takes place in the second, but not in the first instance. At this point it is not totally clear when vowel reduction happens in compounds. It might be lexically determined. More research is needed. Another example is (108), deriving from /kǒŋ/ 'door' and /tâ/ 'obstruction', but in this case both have the same meaning.

(107)	/seŋqʰʉ́/	[sèŋqʰʉ́]	'shoot of tree (in spring)'
	/sêq ^h ʉ/	[séq ^h ʉ̀]	'tree top (after tree has been cut and trunk is taken)'
(108)	/koŋtâ/	[kòŋtâ]	'threshold'
	/kâta/	[kə́tà]	'threshold'

When a monosyllabic lexical item compounds with a disyllabic lexical item, multiple resulting tone patterns may be noted. When the initial monosyllable has a high lexical tone, the high tone spreads one syllable. This is a regular pattern.

(109) /pú/ + /letcð/ > /pú-letc∂/ [púlétcð] 'frost falcon'

When the initial monosyllable has a rising tone, most of my examples show a split with a low surface tone on the first syllable and a high surface tone on the second syllable, as in (110). But for some compounds the second item keeps its own lexical tone and the tone of the first item becomes low, as in (111). One compound displays a sort of tone flip, as shown in (112).

(110)	/ts ^h ĭ/	+	/l̥il̥í/	> /tshǐ-lilůi/	[tsʰìl̥íl̥ì]	`salt bag'
(111)	/q ^h wě/ /p ^h ĭ /	+	/petsə́/	> /q ^h we-petsə́/	[q ^h wèpètsá] [p ^h ìpálî]	'rhododendron'
	/p l/ /t¢ ^h ĭ/	+	/bʉl ^j ǒŋ/	> /tc ^h i-bʉl ^j ǒŋ/	[p ipaii] [t¢ ^h èbʉl ^j ǒŋ]	'food lump'
(112)	/zǎ/	+	/qwɛjlí/	> /zé-qwejli/	[zéqwéjlì]	'armpit'

When the initial monosyllable has a falling tone, the tone of the initial element splits: the high tone stays on the initial word and the low tone spreads, as in (113). There are three exceptions: the second constituent keeps its original tone and the tone of the first constituent becomes low, as in (114); the initial constituent spreads as if it had a lexical high tone, as in (115); the tones are flipped, as in (116).

(113)	/nîŋ/	+	/tʰwadí/	> /nîŋ-tʰwadi/	[níŋtʰwàdì]	'rainbow'
(114)	/wû/	+	/séŋtçi/	> /wu-séŋtçi/	[wùséŋtçî]	'wild animal'
(115)	/şâ/	+	/púįu/	> /s̥ə́-pʉĮu/	[şə́pʉ́lu]	'roast meat'
(116)	/êJ/	+	/p ú qa/	> /រə-pʉqá/	[àpʉqá]	'leather shoe'

In complex compounds that have multiple constituents, the tones show a left-to-right combination pattern, as in (117).

(117)
$$(/ts^{h}\hat{\partial}/ + /t\hat{\partial}/) + /gut\dot{\alpha}/ > [ts^{h}\dot{\partial}t\hat{\partial}-gut\dot{\alpha}]$$
 'goat skin vest'
 $(/tc^{h}w\check{a}/ + /ts^{h}\hat{\partial}/) + /wuc\check{\partial}/ > [tc^{h}w\check{a}ts^{h}\dot{\partial}wuc\hat{\partial}]$ 'New Year Pig Slaughter'

3.4.2 Numeral-classifier compounds

Numeral-classifier compounds form their own tone group (unless followed by toneless markers). No tonal perturbation can be observed between noun and numeral-classifier when a numeral-classifier compound modifies a noun. Instead, both noun and numeral-classifier compound keep their own tone. This is illustrated in (118) (the nouns and numeral-classifier compounds are presented in square brackets; the first line of the interlinear shows the surface tone; the second line shows the underlying tone; '#' shows the tone group boundaries):

(118) $tc^hwartc^heku = bu\# so\# te-ton\#$, tontco-tcwi# te-qon,# $tc^{h}w \check{a} - tc^{h}v k \check{u} = bu [s\hat{a}]$ [tǐ-tôŋ], [tontcð-tcwí] [tǐ-qóŋ] pig-gift = TOPlean.meat one-CLF:piece buckwheat.sausage one-CLF:ring cú-tcwí# tè-qóŋ,# ts^hŭ# té-tòŋ,# tswéŋ# té-tòŋ,# [¢ú-t¢wí] [tǐ-qóŋ], [ts^hť] [tswéŋ] [tǐ-tôŋ], [tǐ-tôŋ], rice.sausage one-CLF:ring one-CLF:piece liver one-CLF:piece lung jèdzǎ# tè-qùbǔ,# tʰwí# tè-qùbǔ,# tɕʰáwtɕæ# [Jedzð] [tí-qùbʉ], [t^hwî] [tc^hâwtcæ] [tǐ-qùbʉ], liquor one-CLF:bottle ale one-CLF:bottle relatives té-qè = bì màdz \dot{a} # ná = tí# zà q^hú wén. $[ti-q\hat{e}] = bi$ m a dz a # n a = ti #ză q^hŭ weŋ. one-CLF:household = DAT every thus = INDF carry need CUST.EXCL

'As for the pig gift, one needs to carry a share like this to every household of relatives: one piece of lean meat, one ring of buckwheat sausages, one ring of rice sausages, one piece of lung, one piece of liver, one bottle of liquor, and one bottle of barley alcohol.' (CL01ed.25)

Based on his research of Shuǐluò Pǔmǐ, Jacques states that most numeral classifier constituents in that speech variety are not regular in the sense that they do not follow the tonal rules observed in nouns (Michaud 2010:18).¹¹⁷ In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, however, numeral-classifier compounds behave like normal nominal compounds in that the resulting tonal patterns are also attested for nominal compounds (as can be seen when comparing Table 3.15 and Table 3.16).

The difference between numeral-classifier compounds and nominal compounds is that nominal compounds show more variation in their resulting tonal patterns. Numeral-classifier compounds also behave like normal nominal compounds in their tonal spread: when followed by toneless clitics or particles, they act exactly like other disyllabic nouns (§3.3.3).

The numbers /tĭ/ '1' and /nŏŋ/ '2' undergo phonological reduction to [tɐ] and [nə] respectively. The only instance of any other numeral undergoing phonological reduction is in the case of the number /sŏŋ/ '3' when it is followed by /-Įεj/ ¹¹⁸ 'hundred': instead of the expected form /sóŋĮεj/, the form is actually /sáĮεj/. Vowel

¹¹⁷ Jacques is quoted in a presentation by Michaud (2010:18): "La majorité des formes de NUM + CL sont irrégulières, au sens où elle ne suivent pas les règles observées dans les noms." (The majority of NUM + CL forms are irregular in the sense that they do not follow the rules observed in nouns).

¹¹⁸ Since it never appears without a preceding numeral, it is not possible to establish the original tone for the classifier 'hundred'.

reduction is an additional argument to analyse numeral-classifier constituents as compounds.

	Table 3.16 Nume	ral-classifier com	pounds
#1	#2	#3	#4
Numeral	Tone numeral	Tone classifier	Resulting tone
		HL	H-L
1.2	LH	Н	L-H
		LH	L-LH
4,5,9	HL	L.H	L-L.H
		L.LH	L-L.LH
6,7,8	LH	N/A	L-HL / L-H.L
		HL	L-HL
		Н	L-H
3	LH	LH	L-LH
		L.H	L-L.H
		L.LH	L-L.LH
10	H.L	N/A	H.L-L / H.L-L.L

The tonal structure of the numeral-classifier compounds is listed in Table 3.16.

The numbers 1, 2, 4, 5 and 9 behave in a parallel tonal fashion: they show a set of patterns that changes according to the underlying tone of the classifier. Thus, this seems to be a case of leftward tonal spreading. Even though the numbers 1 and 2 have a lexical rising tone and the numbers 4, 5 and 9 have a lexical falling tone, the patterns are the same for all the numerals in this group. Table 3.16 shows the underlying tone of the classifier in the third column and the resulting tonal pattern in the fourth column. If the classifier has a surface rising or high level tone, the tone of the numeral is suppressed and realized as low, and the classifier keeps its original tone, as symbolised in Figure 3.8. Examples are given in (119).

Figure 3.8. Numeral-classifier compounds 1,2,4,5,9

	н		R
≠		¥	
Num +	CL	Num +	CL

(119)	[tè-pǎ]	'one sheet' (< /pǎ/ 'sheet')
	[tè-bóŋ]	'one tree' (< /bóŋ/ 'tree')

If the classifier has a lexical falling tone, the tone splits: the H attaches to the numeral and the L stays on the classifier, as shown in Figure 3.9. An example is given in (120).

 $\begin{array}{c} H \\ \neq \\ \\ Num + \\ CL \end{array}$

Figure 3.9. Numeral-classifier compounds 1,2,4,5,9

(120) [té-j (120) [té-j (120) [té-j) (120

A combination of the numbers 6, 7 and 8 (all surface rising tone) and a classifier shows an invariable pattern of L-F (or L-H.L with a disyllabic classifier). This can be analysed as the numeral imposing its surface rising tone on the whole constituent: the tone splits, H attaches to the classifier and the tone of the classifier is neutralized, as shown in Figure 3.10 and examplified in (121).

Figure 3.10. Numeral-classifier compounds 6,7,8



(121)	[[^h ù-¢î]	'six villages' (< /çî/ 'village')
	[ņ ^j à-t̥ʂâ]	`seven pounds' (< /ʈʂə̃/ `pound')
	[¢wè-jîŋ]	'eight fathoms' (< $/jin/$ 'fathom') ¹¹⁹
	[tʰù-qúbʉ̀]	`six bottles' (< ∕qùbʉ́/ `bottle')

The numeral 3 usually patterns with the numerals 1, 2, 4, 5 and 9 apart from one exception: when a classifier has a lexical falling tone, the number 3 patterns with the numbers 6, 7, and 8, resulting in a L-F pattern and not as expected H-L, as shown in example (122).

¹¹⁹ A measure of length measured from the tip of one outspread arm to the other.

(122)	[sòŋ-tsǔ]	'three rooms' (< /tsǔ/ 'side room')
	[sòŋ-b ú]	'three heaps' (< /bʉဴ/ 'heap')
	[sòŋ-kû]	`three years' (< /kû/ `year')

The number 10 (with a H.L pattern) shows a different invariable pattern when combined with classifiers: H.L-L (or H.L-L.L with a disyllabic classifier).¹²⁰ Similar to the numbers 6, 7, and 8, the number 10 imposes its original tone on the whole numeral-classifier constituent.

(123) [qétìŋ-kù] 'ten years' (< /kû/ 'year')

Some exceptions to the patterns in Table 3.16 can be noted. The classifier $/-4\epsilon j/$ 'hundred' shows an exceptional H-F tonal pattern when following the numbers 1-5 and 9. As can be seen in Table 3.16, a H-F tonal pattern is not attested with these numbers.

(124) [zé-jɛĵ] 'four hundred'

Verbal classifiers combined with the numeral 'one' show an invariably H-L tone pattern, independent of the tone of the classifier.

(125)	/bĭ/	>	[té-bì]	'a pummel'
	∕t ^h ěj∕	>	[té-t ^h èj]	'a punch'
	/t́æ/	>	[té-tà]	'a grab'
	/dzóŋ/	>	[té-dzòŋ]	`a sit'
	/qwéjêj/	>	[té-qwè _l èj]	'a shout'

The numbers 11-19 (all with a H-F tone) show an invariable pattern of H.H-L or H.H-L.L when they combine with classifiers.

(126)	[qútí-pà]	'eleven sheets' (< /pǎ/ 'sheet')
	[qésóŋ-çì]	'thirteen villages' (< /çî/ 'village')
	[qéçwé-lòŋ]	'eighteen drying racks' (< /Įóŋ/ 'drying rack')
	[qégá-ļìļì]	'nineteen bags' (< /l̥îl̥i/ 'bag')

In the decimals, two tonal patterns emerge, with 20, 30, 40, 50 and 90 (all L.H tone) patterning together, and 60, 70 and 80 (all L.F tone) forming another group. The tonal pattern of the second group does not depend on the classifier, but is invariably L.H-L or L.H-L.L. This is similar to the tonal patterns of the numbers 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 9, and the numbers 6, 7 and 8 that pattern in two different ways (see above).

¹²⁰ On an interesting note, the tones of the numeral '10' are flipped in Shuǐluò (Michaud 2010) and in Yǔchū (personal fieldnotes) (L.H instead of H.L) and thus the resulting numeral-classifier pattern is L.H-H.

(127) $[t^{h}\dot{u}q\acute{e}-ts\dot{u}]$ 'sixty rooms' (< /tsŭ/ 'side room')

The tonal pattern of the first group shows a L.L-F pattern in combination with a surface rising or lexical falling tone classifier and a L.L-H pattern in combination with a lexical high tone classifier. The only exception in my data is the lexical high tone $/t \notin / to$ grab' which patterns as a falling tone.

(128)	[sə̀qɐ̀-tsû]	'forty rooms' (< /tsǔ/ `side room')
	[sə̀qè-Įóŋ]	ʻforty drying racks' (< /ɹ̥óŋ/ ˈdrying rack')
	[sàqè-tæ]	'forty handfuls' (< /t̥ʑ/ 'grab')

With disyllabic classifiers the tonal pattern is L.L-H.F, but in combination with the number 20 the pattern is L.L-H.L instead.

(129) [sə̀qè-lílĵ] 'forty bags' (< /lìlĺí/ 'bag') [nə̀wù-lílĵ] 'twenty bags' (< /lìlĺí/ 'bag')</p>

The number /ci/ '100' behaves like a numeral and renders an invariable H-F or H-H.L pattern, as in (130). The other form for 'hundred' /-zi/zi/ is a classifier and is always preceded by a numeral, as in (130).

(130) [çí-tsû] 'a hundred rooms' (< /tsǔ/ 'side room')
[ŋwé-ıźj] 'five hundred'

The numbers in between the decimals (20+1, 20+2 etc.) all behave like the singular numbers (1, 2 etc.):

(131) [sàqú nóŋ tè-pǎ] 'forty-one sheets' (< /pǎ/ 'sheet')

Combined with the interrogative $/tc^{h}\check{\partial}/$ 'how many, how much', the tonal pattern of the numeral-classifier combination is invariably L-HL, as in $[tc^{h}\grave{\partial}-j\hat{o}\eta]$ 'how many items?' and $[tc^{h}\grave{\partial}-ts\hat{o}]$ 'how many people?'.

3.4.3 Verb-modifier constituents

When a verb is modified by an auxiliary, the verb and the auxiliary often form one tone group, and in that case the tone of the verb spreads to the auxiliary. This spreading is straighforward (and similar to the tonal spreading patterns described in §3.3): a lexical high-tone verb will spread its high tone to the auxiliary, as in (132); a lexical rising-tone (LH) verb will spread its H tone to the auxiliary, as in (133), and a lexical falling-tone (HL) verb will spread its L tone to the auxiliary, as in (134). All examples are given with the rising-tone auxiliary /t^hŏŋ/ 'can, be able'.

(132) $m\dot{\partial} \# t^{i}\dot{\partial}\eta = n^{j}\dot{a}n^{j}\dot{a} = b\dot{u} \# dz_{i}\dot{u} t^{h}\dot{\partial}\eta \# m\dot{a} = d\dot{a}w b\hat{a}w.$

 $m\hat{\vartheta}$ $t^{j}\hat{\vartheta}\eta = n^{j}\alpha n^{j}\alpha = bu$ dz_{4} $t^{h}\check{\vartheta}\eta$ $m\check{a} = daw$ baw person one:CLF:thing = only = TOP grind can NEG = IPFV:N.EGO CONTR '(...) one person alone cannot grind it.' (CV21.244.2) (133) zù t^hóŋ# mă = #wèŋ
zŭ t^hŏŋ mă = weŋ
lift can NEG = CUST.EXCL
'(...) not be able to lift (...)' (CL01ed.18)

(134) t^hà-t^hwé t^hòŋ# mà = dáw.
t^hà-t^hwê t^hǒŋ# mǎ = daw
wife-find can NEG = IPFV:N.EGO

'(...) (he) is not able to find a wife.' (YJ02.6:EL)

When a verb and an auxiliary do not form one tone group, the tone of the verb will not spread to the auxiliary, as in (135). There the tone of the verb /hwǎ/ 'to paint' does not spread. The underlying rising tone of /t^hǒŋ/ can be seen: it spreads to the toneless $/=q\epsilon j/.$

(135) hwă# t^hờŋ = qéj k^hì. hwă t^hờŋ = qej k^hi Ch:paint can = EXPT TRAIL

'(They) will be able to paint.' (CV14.2.1)

The pragmatics of one versus two tone groups will be discussed in §3.5.1.

3.4.4 Tone of relator nouns

Relator nouns (discussed in §4.6.3) are forms that function both as nouns (as heads of genitive constructions) and as postpositions, and that have lost some of their nominal properties (DeLancey 1997, 2003:264). Some postpositions have grammaticalised further to markers of grammatical relations (§6.2). For the sake of clarity, a list of relator nouns is given in (136).

(136)	/nû/	'exterior, outside'
	/tû/	'top, on'
	/pú/	'bottom, under'
	$/q^{h}u/$	'top, on top'
	/wu/	'interior, inside'
	/bi/	'side, on'
	/dzi/	'location, at'
	/t¢ ^h wi/	'direction, in the direction

Relator nouns show different stages of grammaticalisation, which can also be seen in their tonal behaviour: they range from full lexical nouns with their own lexical tone, to postpositions that do not take on the tone of the preceding noun, but also do not display their own tone (and thus surface with low tone), to grammatical markers that take on the tone of the preceding lexical element. In Table 3.17 tone of the relator

of

nouns in different constructions is given. The different symbols indicate: 'x' possible; '-' not possible; 'T' lexical tone; 'L' low tonal target; '0' takes on the tone of a preceding constituent.

	/nû/	/tû/	/pú/	/q ^h u/	/wu/	/bi/	/dzi/	/t¢ ^h wi/
Occurs as noun with a lexical tone	x	X	x	-	-	-	-	-
Tone when head of genitive construction	Т	Т	Τ/0	0	0	0	0	-
Tone in compound with demonstrative	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Tone when functioning as postposition	-	L	L	L	L/0	L/0 121	-	-
Tone when functioning as semantic role marker	-	0	? ¹²²	-	0	0	-	-

Table 3.17 Tone of relator nouns

It can be seen that only three of the relator nouns have retained their own lexical tone. $/n\hat{u}/$ 'outside' and $/t\hat{u}/$ 'top' only retain their tones when functioning as an independent noun or as the head of a genitive construction, as in (137) and (138). $p\hat{u}$ only sporadically retains its tone in the genitive construction, as in (139),¹²³ and occurs as an independent noun only in riddles (see (313) in §4.6.3). The other relator nouns all take on the tone of the preceding lexical constituent in the genitive construction.

¹²¹ Shows a low tonal target only half of the time.

 $^{^{122}}$ The comitative has the form /pu/, but does not seem to be related to the relator noun /pú/ (§6.2.6).

¹²³ This is the only example in the corpus where it displays its own tone; in all the other instances it takes on the tone of the preceding lexical item.

(137) nú ç $i k^{h} i = b i$ nû ç $i k^{h} i = b i$ outside go time = TOP '(...) when going outside, (...)' (CV15.34)

(138) dén = gè# tú
 dên = ge tú
 raised.platform = GEN top

'On top of the raised platform (...)' (PC03.8)

(139) tsé=gè# pú
tsê=gæ pú
dirt=GEN bottom

'(...) under the ground (...)' (PC06w.3)

When relator nouns occur with one of the demonstratives described in §4.6.2, they will form a compound with them, and the tone of the demonstrative will spread to the relator noun. A few examples are given in (140).

(140)	∕t ^h ĭ-nû∕	[tʰìŋú]	'at the other side of the mountain'
	/ð-pú/	[àpú]	'under here'
	/hǒŋ-qʰu/	[hòŋqʰú]	'up there (up the valley)'
	/tí-wu/	[tíwú]	'over there (mountain-wards and inwards)'
	/qă-dzi/	[qàdzí]	'there (valley-wards)'

Dīng (1998:83) mentions that in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ the tone of a noun does not normally spread to a following postposition. Instead, postpositions block the tone of the preceding noun from spreading and are realized with a low tone. This is also the case in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, as is shown in (141). There are exceptions to the rule. Some exceptions for the postposition /wu/ 'inside' are given in (142). Usually, after a numeral-classifier compound, /wu/ takes on the tone of the compound.

(141)	/tíŋ tû/	[tíŋ# tù]	'on the mat'
	/t ^h ǒŋ pu/	[t ^h ǒŋ# pù]	'below the water reservoir'
	∕zǎ wu∕	[zǎ# wù]	'in the hand'
	∕t ^h <mark>ú</mark> wu∕	[t ^h ú# wù]	'in the horn'
(142)	/gəzú wu/	[gàzú wú]	'in the middle'
	/te-tsěj wu/	[tè-tsèj wú]	'in one section'

The case of /bi/ is not totally straightforward. /bi/ is a noun meaning 'side', which functions as a postposition 'on', and has grammaticalised to a dative marker (§6.2.3). As a postposition it shows either a low tonal target, as in (142), or takes on the tone of the preceding constituent, as in (144).

(143) /t¢í bi/ [t¢í# bì] 'in summer'

(144) /gets^huk^hí bi/ [gèts^hùk^hí bí] 'on an overhanging cliff'

As a case marker, /bi/ often takes on the tone of the preceding constituent, as in (145), but there are also instances where the tone of the noun does not spread onto the case marker /bi/, as in (146). Ding notes that after pronouns postpositions behave like clitics (taking on the tone of the pronoun), whereas following nouns their tone is more usually low in the data (1998:84).

(145) púqá# nìŋ-bá# èpú = bí# té-t^hù#

púqa nǐŋ-ba epú = bi tǐ-†^hû shoe 2sg-household:GEN grandfather = DAT one-CLF:pair q^{h} à-tòŋ kéj = gî# q^hð-tðŋ $k \epsilon j = q i$ OUT-weave let = VOL:INCL 'Let's have your grandfather weave (you) a pair (of straw shoes), (...)' (CV01.24) (146) púnà zènà = sà# t c^h wǎ# = bì = fìà# má = gà tù# $tc^hw a = bi = ha$ pûnə zênə = sə má=gà tû

today yesterday = CONTR.TOP pig = DAT = even person = GENtop há# pú# tc^hì-jí dòŋ = dàw,# ásèŋ? hâ pú t¢^hĭ-ji $d\delta\eta = daw$, **ôseŋ**? feed-NMLZ become = IPFV:N.EGO AGR do be.excessive

'(...) in recent days, however, one needs to feed the pigs more than people (were fed in the past), right?' (CV03.10.3)

3.4.5 Directional prefixes and alternating verbs

Directional verb prefixes are shown in Table 3.18.

Table 5.16 Directional verb prelixes					
Demonstrative	Verb prefix	Meaning			
tí-	tó-	ʻup'			
qă-/nĭ-	ně-	'down'			
k ^h ŭ−	q^h ð-/ k^h ð-	'out'			
hŏŋ-	(h)ě-	ʻin'			
kě-	dð-	'towards speaker'			
t ^h ĭ-	t ^h ě-	'from speaker'			

Table 3.18 Directional	verb	prefixes
------------------------	------	----------

Most directional verb prefixes (§7.1) are formally and semantically related to bound demonstratives (§4.6.2) and have a rising underlying tone; only the prefix /tá-/ and the bound demonstrative /tí-/ have a high underlying tone. In other descriptions of Půmǐ (Lù 1983:45, 2001:157; Fù 1998:27,28; Dīng 1998:68,118; Jacques 2011c:369) the high tone of /tá-/ has been recognised as a lexical tone; all other directional prefixes are analysed to be toneless (or low tone).¹²⁴ This is understandable, since only the high-toned /tá-/ clearly influences the verb it attaches to; the other prefixes usually appear as low tone on the surface. But, based on their clear relationship with the rising-tone bound demonstratives, based on the clear tonal interaction with low-toned verbs, as will be shown below, I argue for an analysis of underlying lexical rising tone on directional prefixes in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ.

First I will illustrate the tonal influence of the lexical high tone of /tə-/ on the verb stem. This influence has been described for several Pumi speech varieties (Fu 1998:28,29; Jacques 2011c:369). In Wădū Pumi, the tone of this prefix normally spreads to the first syllable of the verb stem and the original tone of the verb stem is disassociated. If a verb stem is disyllabic, the remaining syllable is assigned default low tone. Examples are given in (147).

(147)	/zà/	[zǎ]	[tá-zá]	'to carry'
	/qá/	[qá]	[tá-qá]	'to split open'
	/រូî/	[₄ î]	[tə́-ؠí]	'to sweat'
	/Jənǽŋ/	[Jànǽŋ]	[tá- _l ánàŋ]	'to become smelly'

Some exceptions have been found with high and falling tone verbs, where the tone of the verb stem actually becomes low, as in (148). It is not clear what triggers this.

(148)	/¢áw/	[¢áw]	[tá-¢àw]	'to raise (children)'
	/ţşâ/	[[şâ]	[tá-tsð]	'to jump'
	/t¢ʰáʑæ/	[t¢ʰázá]	[tá-t¢ ^h àzà]	'to estimate'

As mentioned above, other directional verb prefixes mostly show up in low surface tone. But there are a few constructions, like negative conditional clauses and other constructions involving a negator (§7.2, §10.4.1), in which the directional prefixes clearly show their original lexical tone, as in (149), (150) and (151).

¹²⁴ Actually, only Dīng and Jacques analyse them as toneless morphemes. Lù (1983:45) states that the prefixes are low-rising (¹³) tone, Fù (1998:27,28) states that the prefixes are low-falling (³¹) tone. In the latter two descriptions there is no concept of toneless syllables.

(149) nǒŋ# pùdìmá# ně-#mǎ = #dzòŋ = bù#
nǒŋ pudimá ně-mǎ = dzóŋ = bu
so old.woman DOWN-NEG = sit = TOP
'But if an old woman (like me) does not sit down, (...)' (CV09.94.2)

(150) $d\hat{a}-z\hat{a}-m\hat{a}\# t^{h}\check{e}-\#t^{j}\acute{e}=h^{j}\acute{e}j\# fi\grave{a}?$

dð-z \acute{a} -mə t^h \check{e} -t^j \check{a} = h^j \acute{e} j fia? TO.SP-catch-NMLZ FR.SP-NEG = release LINK

'Why would you not release the one you caught?' (CV16.17)

(151) $\dot{e}l^{j}\dot{o}\eta l^{j}\dot{e}t\dot{i}\#$ $\mathbf{n}\check{e}$ -#mí = $\mathbf{n}^{j}\acute{e}$ = sì, # híŋ = gòŋ # t^hìŋ tộcí wéŋ # $el^{j}\dot{o}\eta l^{j}\dot{e}ti$ $\mathbf{n}\check{e}$ -mí = $\mathbf{n}^{j}\check{e}$ = si, $hî\eta$ = goŋ t^hìŋ tộcí weŋ a.little DOWN-NEG.PFV = pour = INF who = AGT drink can CUST.EXCL \dot{o} -ts^h \dot{e} = tì? \dot{o} -ts^he = ti? that-much = INDF

'You did not pour me just a little bit; who could drink that much?' (CV21.199)

The negator comes between the directional prefix and the verb and blocks the tonal spread of the prefix: except for t é- which appears in its original high tone, the directional prefixes all appear in a rising surface tone. These constructions are the only constructions in which a directional prefix has a rising surface tone. Since the constructions with the three different negators are completely different in their semantics, and the negators all have a different lexical tone,¹²⁵ the only way to explain the rising surface tone on the directional verb prefix is to analyse it as the original tone of the prefix that only appears in these environments.

An additional argument for analysing the directional prefixes as underlyingly rising tone can be seen from the predicate-focus construction (§10.8) in which a topic marker is inserted between the directional prefix and the verb. As can be seen in (152), the toneless topic marker = bu receives a high surface pitch, the result of tonal spread from the rising-tone directional prefix $n\check{e}$ -.

¹²⁵ As can be seen in (149), (150) and (151), the general negator $m\check{a}$ keeps its rising surface tone and the rest of the predicate is assigned low tone (this happens in negative conditional clauses (§10.4.1). The lexical high tone of the perfective negator mi spreads to the verb. The lexical tone of the prohibitive negator $t^{j}x$ is not completely clear at this point: in some situations it seems to have lexical falling tone, in other situations it seems to be toneless (§7.2.3). When it is inserted between the prefix and the verb, however, it always appears in a high surface tone and the rest of the predicate following the negator is assigned low surface tone.

(152) nè-bú# mí = só sì dàw#
ně-bu mí = só si daw
DOWN-TOP NEG = die EPIST:probably
'(...) (he) probably has not died yet. (...)' (CV09.67)

This analysis could possibly address a problem that was raised in Jacques' 2011 paper on tone in Shuǐluò alternating verbs, a group of verbs that show a rising surface tone in their basic form, but a falling tone when prefixed by a directional prefix; their tonal spread is that of a falling lexical tone verb, as shown in Table 3.19. This alternation happens in isolation as well as in running speech, which implies that it is not a pragmatic effect (this group of verbs was described in §3.3.2, Table 3.3, as having two tonal spreading patterns in their basic (non-prefixed form) (L H = H and L L = H).

Table 3.19 Tonal spread of prefixed alternating verbs						
Basic form	Meaning	Prefixed form	In running speech			
[bǐŋ]	'to fly'	[kʰə̀-bîŋ]	[k ^h à-bíŋ k ^h ì=bù]			
[zǎ]	'to carry'	[nè-zâ]	[nè-zá k ^h ì=bù]			

Having analysed the directional verb prefixes as underlyingly rising tone morphemes, I propose that the tonal alternation found in alternating verbs is caused by the influence of the lexical tone of the directional prefix on the verb.¹²⁶ This is shown conceptually in Figure 3.11 with the verb /bìŋ/ 'to fly'. The first image shows the verb stem with its low lexical tone attached and a post-lexical H which causes the rising surface tone. The second image shows the tone when a rising-tone directional prefix is attached. The H of the prefix spreads to the verb stem.

Figure 3.11. Tonal alternating verbs



Why this is the case with this particular group of verbs and not with other verbs is a question for further research. Sun (2008:265) shows that the placement of accent in rGyalrong is sensitive to the syllable structure of the input morphemes, in particular whether a root is checked or smooth. A similar distinction cannot be made in Wǎdū

¹²⁶ My main consultant suggested that the rising surface tone of the verb spreads leftwards, assigning the low tone to the prefix and the H tone to the verb stem. This was discussed as an option in Jacques (2011), but rejected, since most of the tonal system of Pǔmǐ is rightwards spreading.

Půmĭ, since there are no checked syllables. One occasionally hears a final glottal stop when rising tone syllables are pronounced abruptly, but this does not seem to relate to the group of alternating verbs: non-alternating verbs and rising tone nouns also display this. And the presence or absence of a syllable-final glottal can be found with the same form.

Interestingly, this tonal alternation applies to roughly the same verbs in Shuǐluò and Mùdǐqīng (Jacques 2011c:375), Dàyáng (Matisoff 1997:204,209; Fù 1998:29) and Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. The Wǎdū Pǔmǐ forms that have been attested in other speech varieties are given in Table 3.20. A few verbs that were listed in other speech varieties with a falling tone instead of a rising tone, are presented in the table in bold font.

Meaning	Wădū	Mùdǐqīng	Shuĭluò	Dàyáng	Dàyáng
'to fly'	bìŋ	biě			
'to ride'	dzèj	dzěi	dzěi		
'to do'	dzù	dzŭ			
'to rot'	dzwì			bdʒĭ	bzĭ
'to run'	dæŋ	dzĚ			bzin
'to drop'	<i>d</i> ∂			<i>d</i> ť	
'to wear (clothes)'	gù	gŭ	gĭ	gwĭ	
(to change'	~~~~				- 1
to change	9 u				3030
'to fall out'	hà				gă
'to sell'	kì	kĭ	ÇÎ		ſţſĭ
'to carry on back'	kù	kŭ		t <i></i> H ¹²⁷	
'to plant'	lèj	lěi	lěi		
'to mislay, lose'	mì			mĭ	

Table 3.20 Comparison of alternating verbs in different speech varieties

¹²⁷ It is not sure whether this is the same verb. Matisoff gives the meaning 'to carry on the shoulder' and his example is with a $t\delta$ - prefix, which does not show anything for the present purpose.

Meaning	Wǎdū	Mùdǐqīng	Shuĭluò	Dàyáng	Dàyáng
'to make a mistake' ¹²⁸	nòŋ	nð		nŏN	nŏŋ
'to flee'	p ^h ìŋ	$p^h \check{ ilde e}$	$ts^{h}\tilde{i}^{129}$		
'to pick'	q ^h à				qhǎ
'to obtain'	·lì	rĭ			
'to hang'	.Į Ù			ŞŬ	
'to hide'	şù	tşŭ	şû		
'to wear (hat)'	tèj	těi	těi	twă	
'to drink'	t ^h ìŋ	t ^h iě	$t^{h\check{i}}$		<i>thĭn</i> ¹³⁰
'to be fat'	ts ^h ờ	ts ^h ớ	ts ^h Wð		
'to return (food, money)'	ts ^h wì				tshuĕ
'to scoop'	t¢ ^h òŋ	tş ^h ằ	$arphi^h \!$		
'to pour'	tçì		t¢ľ		
'to remember, miss'	ţèŋ		ţşĨ		
'to extinguish'	wù				gŏ
'to be satiated, satisfied'	zòŋ			kwĭ	
'to carry' ¹³¹	Zà	<i>z</i> ă	zəzá	Z3Ď	.Įuă
'to leak'	Zờ	dzð	Zð		

¹²⁸ It is by no means certain that these verbs are related, since the semantics are very different: the Mùdǐqīng verb means 'to understand'; the Dàyáng verbs mean 'to hide' (Matisoff) and 'to hear' (Fù). However, all are alternating verbs and their phonological shape is mostly the same. There is another non-alternating rising tone verb /nǔ/ 'to know, understand' in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, that could be related to the Mùdǐqīng alternating verb /nǚ/ 'to understand' listed here.

¹²⁹ Same meaning, but not clearly related.

¹³⁰ Fù gives the meaning 'to smoke'. I suspect that this verb is probably also used for 'to drink' in Dàyáng Pǔmǐ, since in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ 'to smoke' is expressed as 'to drink tobacco'.

¹³¹ The Dàyáng verbs are listed with the meaning 'to take with one' (Matisoff) and 'to take' (Fù).

Verbs that have been attested in other Pǔmǐ varieties as alternating verbs but have a different tone or are non-alternating verbs in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ are compared in Table 3.21. Non-alternating verbs and verbs with a different tone are given in bold font.

Meaning	Wădū	Mùdĭqīng	Shuĭluò	Dàyáng	Dàyáng
'to break'	đéŋ ¹³²	dzê	dzį̇̃		dăn
'to collapse'	bî			phyě	biě
'to cause to collapse'	p ^h ĩ				p ^h iĕ
'to be excessive'	hâ				хă
'to tear' (intr.)	đĩ			<i>d</i> ð	
'to tear'	t ^h î			$t^h\!$	ţhĕ
'to throw'	bâ				vbă
'to be light (weight)'	<i>zĭŋ</i>	dzĚ	ΖĨ		
'to give'	k ^h ĭŋ	tçyě			∫t∫ўn
'to dry'	wû			<i>вүй</i> ¹³³	
'to sew'	đĭ		<i>děi</i>	<i>děi</i>	
'to be dislocated of a joint'					# 脱臼

Table 3.21 Non-correspondences of alternating verbs

¹³² Interestingly, this is a correspondence between a high lexical tone verb in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ and alternating verbs in other Pǔmǐ speech varieties. Jacques (2011:376) mentioned that such a correspondence should not be expected, since it cannot be explained by leveling, i.e. the original alternating verb taking on the properties of a normal non-alternating surface rising tone or falling tone verb. Note that the other correspondences are all between alternating verbs and a surface rising or falling tone verb in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ.

¹³³ But as Jacques (2011:373-374) points out, Matisoff's data does not show whether this verb really exhibits tonal alternation: the example Matisoff (1997b:209) gives has the high-toned prefix $t\acute{\sigma}$ - which always influences the tone of the verb root (§3.4.5). The same is the case for the verb $d\check{e}i$ 'to sew'. Another verb (Matisoff 1999:209) $_3d_3i$ 'to grab, meet' is clearly not alternating, since the tone of the verb root only changes when $t\acute{\sigma}$ - is prefixed.

Meaning	Wădū	Mùdǐqīng	Shuĭluò	Dàyáng	Dàyáng
'to link'					<i>ʃtʃhuǎ</i> 连接
'to be overcast'					dðuŋ

The remaining Wǎdū Pǔmǐ alternating verbs this research has identified have not been attested in any of the other speech varieties. They are listed in (153):

(153) *cwin* 'to send', *cwin* 'to take out some', *dà* 'to move', *dzàw* 'to have authority', dzi 'to splash', don 'to become well', dzu 'to bear fruit', jin 'to plow', $k^{h}i$ 'to grab, hold', k^hin 'to get up (from bed)', kin 'to take', kwi 'to cover', lon 'to fall out; *lòŋ* 'to pull out, uproot',¹³⁴ *lù* 'to disappear behind ridge, set (of sun)', *lì* 'to relieve oneself', li 'to succeed in escaping', $m\partial$ 'to hear, forget', $n^{j}\partial \eta$ 'to nurse', $p^{h}\dot{u}$ 'to divide the household', $p^{h}\dot{u}$ 'to search and confiscate', $p^{h}\dot{u}$ 'to mediate', Jàw'to ferment', Jàŋ'to get stuck', Jàŋ'to bake', Jàŋ'to drive animals', *Jèŋ* 'to leave behind', *Jì* 'to burn', *Jù* 'to sweep', *sà* 'to uncover, make pork back', $s\hat{u}$ 'to be warm', $tc^{h}\partial g$ 'to appear', $tc^{h}\partial g$ 'to complete', tcwi 'to wear (shoes)', $t^{hj} \partial \eta$ 'to set up weaving', $t \partial \eta$ 'to burn incense, conduct ritual', $ts^{h}a$ 'to strain', $ts^{h}a$ 'to collect (water, rice)', tsi 'to erect, take', $t^{h}a$ 'to make sth fall down', tà 'to wear (belt, shawl)', zì 'to receive, rob', zì 'to give birth', zwin 'to block', *zù* 'to lift'.

In Wădū Pǔmǐ a few disyllabic verbs seem to behave like alternating verbs (Jacques [2011c:370] mentions this also for Shuǐluò Pǔmǐ).¹³⁵ To date, three verbs have been attested:

Table 3.	Table 3.22 Disyllable Tourth tone verbs				
Basic form	Prefixed form Meaning				
[q ^h ètsêj]	[nè-q ^h étsêj]	'to be small'			
[dþdæŋ]	[t ^h è-dádæŋ]	'to walk'			
[qòŋɹóŋ pʉ]	[è-qóŋĮóŋ pʉ̀]	'to crawl, stoop'			

Table 9.00 Dissellabie (forweth town? -----

¹³⁴ Also mentioned by Matisoff (1997b:209 and 1999:22) as a verb ($4w\delta$) that shows tone sandhi, but looking at his data it is clear that it is no alternating verb: the tonal change only happens with the tź- prefix, which, as shown for Wǎdū Pǔmǐ in §3.4.5, always influences the tone of the following verb. Tonal change does not happen with the other prefix $t^h \partial$ -.

¹³⁵ Jacques mentions only one alternating disyllabic verb: the verb [kètsěi] 'to be small'. The verb corresponds to the Wădū Pǔmǐ alternating verb $q^{h} vts \hat{e}j$, but shows a different tonal alternation in Shuǐluò Pǔmǐ: [n3-kètséi-çì] (Jacques 2011a:370).

Interestingly, the stative verb $/q^{h}ets\hat{\epsilon}j/$ 'to be small' has an alternative form $/q^{h}ets\check{\epsilon}j/$ shown in examples (154) and (155).

(154) q^hètséj-mà# púųú# lúhwá# zù = dáw q^hetsêj-ma púųu lúhwa zǔ = daw small-NMLZ roast difficult very = IPFV:N.EGO
'The small ones are really hard to roast (...)' (CV18.13)
(155) é-bù = bù,# dàbǔ# q^hètsèj-má# jèhǎ# lázù t^hè-dzù# fià

ê-bu = bu, dəbù q^hetsěj-mə jehå lâzu t^hě-dzù fia
 1-household = TOP then small-NMLZ all Ch:cured.meat FR.SP-make LINK

'Our household made cured meat of all the small ones, and (...)' (CV21.146)

The verbs 'to come' and 'to go' also show tonal alternation when a directional prefix is attached, but this is not related to the phenomenon of alternating verbs described above. The two verbs are irregular and show suppletive inflected forms (§8.1.1), so rather than trying to explain what happens tonally, I take their tone as another indication of their irregularity. Two examples with the verb /¢=/'to go' are shown in (156) and (157).

Table 3.23 'come' and 'go' tonal alternation

Basic form	Prefixed form	Meaning
[zð]	[DIR-zə́]	'to come'
[¢ə́]	[DIR-¢ð]	'to go'

(156) $c\dot{a}$ mà = q $\hat{e}j$.

¢ź mă=qej.

go NEG = EXPT

'(He) won't go (there).' (CV04.11)

(157) nè-çà $k^{h}i = bu #$ ượndíŋ-mà = từ qừngi ně-çà ně-çà $k^{h}i = bu$ ượndiŋ-ma = từ qừngi DOWN-go DOWN-go time = TOP lowland-person = PL:GEN above né-tà tçà = dàw. ně-tà tçà = daw. DOWN-arrive say = IPFV:N.EGO

'When (he) went down for a long time he arrived at (a place) above (a village of) lowland people [he himself told me].' (PC07w.8)

3.4.6 Negation and interrogative clitics and tone

A case for further research are the general and perfective negation clitics $m\check{a} = (\S7.2.1)$ and $mi = (\S7.2.2)$, and the interrogative clitic $\hat{v} = (\S7.3)$, which all seem to have lexical tone. Four situations can be observed with $m\check{a} = .1$. $m\check{a} =$ keeps its own rising tone and the following tone-bearing element has a low surface tone, as in (158). This happens especially with the copula $dz\hat{\sigma}$ 'to be' and the verb/auxiliary/customary marker $w\hat{e}g$ 'to have learned/can'. 2. $m\check{a} =$ has a low surface tone and the following tone-bearing element has its original tone (which can spread rightwards), as in (159). 3. The tone of $m\check{a} =$ spreads rightwards onto a toneless element. 4. Both $m\check{a} =$ and the following element keep their own tone. Situations 3 and 4 are shown in (160), with spreading of tone onto = qej and the original tone on $z\check{\sigma}$ 'to come'.

(158) tèn^jà=bú# mă=wèŋ bàw,# há...!
ten^jà=bu mă=wêŋ baw ha
other=TOP NEG=have.learned CONTR INTJ

'(...) the other I have not learned, hahaha!' (CV13.102.5)

(159) $tc^{h}i-we'-ji=ga^{\#} tc^{\#} ma = ci$ $tc^{h}i-we'-ji=ga^{\#} tc^{\#} ma = ci$ food-prepare-NMLZ = GEN water NEG = EXIST.AB

'(...) there was no water to prepare food (...)' (CV05.02)

(160) mă = #ză# dŏŋ# mà = qźj t¢áw# fià.
mă = ză dŏŋ mă = qɛj t¢aw fia
NEG = come be.okay NEG = EXPT say:IPFV:N.EGO LINK
'(She) said, "(...) It won't be good to not come." ' (CV14. 287.1)

The high tone of the perfective negation clitic mi = usually spreads rightwards onto the following element, as in (161) where it precedes the rising tone verb $tc^{h}i$ to feed'.

The other elements in the tone group appear in low surface tone. The only exception is when it appears in a conditional clause: then mi = keeps its high tone and the following elements are low, as in (162).

(161) $tc^h watc^h l = l d \# m i = tc^h i m a dz a.$

t c^h w \check{a} -t $c^h\check{1}$ = la m $\acute{1}$ = t $c^h\check{1}$ m ∂ dz ∂ pig-food = also NEG:PFV = feed GNOMIC '(I) haven't even fed the pigs.' (CV03.1.2) (162) dèbů# něn# t^hè-ité sètcà,# q^hě = tà# tì-tén# ts^há = nèn# né-mé#

mi = Ju = si = bu $q^{h} \check{u} = t a$ dàbǔ nǒŋ t^hě-_Jú sətçæ, tǐ-toŋ $ts^{h}\hat{a} = no\eta$ then SO FR.SP-buy if head = on:GENput-NMLZ bead = COORDná-mə $mi = J \hat{u} = si = bu$ NEG:PFV = buy = INF = TOPthus-NMLZ

'(...) if (you had already) bought (a Tibetan outfit), but had not bought beads and similar things to cover the head with (...)' (CV15.17.2)

Three situations can be observed with the interrogative $\hat{v} = .1$. When the tone of the following element is high, falling or toneless, the tone of $\hat{v} =$ spreads rightwards, which results in a low surface tone on the following element, as in (163). 2. When the tone of the following element is rising, the tone change to high, as in (164). The only exception is conditional clauses: in that case $\hat{v} =$ keeps its tone and the following elements have low surface tones, as in (165).

(163) " \acute{e} # z \acute{u} t \acute{a} # \acute{e} = tc^hwi?" tcw \grave{a} = sì tcaw.

 \acute{e} \not{z} Htâ \hat{e} = t c^h wí tcwð = si tcaw 1SG features Q = good say:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY

(The trader) said, "Are my features good-looking?" it is said. (KZ02.4)

```
(164) ts^{h} \check{t} # \acute{e} = q^{h} \acute{u} dz in^{j} \grave{e}, # h\acute{a}...
```

ts^hǐ $\hat{e} = q^{h}$ ǔ dzín^jæ ha salt Q = need really INTJ

'Do you need salt? (You said that correctly) Hahaha!' (CV14.197)

(165) n^{j} óŋ χ éŋdì# $\acute{e} = tçæ = sə$

 n^{j} óŋ Jəŋdí ê = tçǎ = sə

money seek Q = be.able:EGO:1 = CONTR.TOP

'If there is (meat) at grandfather's over there, (...)' (CV18.30.2)

3.4.7 Tone in reduplicated verbs

Verbs show different reduplication patterns. The morphology and semantics will be dealt with in §7.4.1. Here it suffices to mention the tonal patterns that occur. In random reduplication, the tone of the original verb splits and spreads leftwards onto the reduplicated syllable, as is shown in Table 3.24. The reduplicated form of lexical low-tone verbs is influenced by the preceding prefix, resulting in a L.H surface tone on the non-prefixed form and a H.L surface tone on the prefixed form.

				-	•
	Tone		Tone of redup	lication	Meaning
Н	/tʰáw/	Н.Н	/tʰoŋtʰáw/	[[ʰóŋ[ʰáw]	'to boil randomly'
F	/gwâ/	H.L	/goŋgwâ/	[góŋgwà]	'to touch randomly'
R	/ļĭ/	L.H	/l̥ʲoŋl̥ĭ/	[l̥ʲòŋl̥í]	'to roll randomly'
L	/ļì/	L.H -HL	/l̥ʲoŋl̥ì/ /-l̥ʲoŋl̥ì/	[lʲòŋl̥í] [-lʲóŋl̥ì]	'to relieve oneself randomly'

Table 3.24 Random reduplication

In reciprocal reduplication, the tonal patterns are not so straightforward. When the verb has a high lexical tone, the most common reduplicated pattern shows a H.L tone. There are however some other patterns that have been attested. When the verb has a falling lexical tone, the tone splits in a similar way to the random reduplication pattern described above: the high surface tone moves to the reduplicated part and the low surface tone stays on the verb stem. When a non-alternating verb shows a surface rising tone, the original tone stays on the verb stem and the reduplicated part receives a low tone. An alternating verb with rising surface tone shows three different patterns. These patterns need more research.

	Tone of	Example		Meaning
	reduplication			weating
/lú/	H.L	/lêlu/	[lélù]	'to put arms around each other'
/kí/	L.H (some H.H)	/kekí/	[kèkí]	'to chase each other'
/gwâ/	H.L	/gwêgwæ/	[gwégwà]	'to touch each other'
/t¢ ^h ĭ/	L.R	/t¢ ^h ɐt¢ ^h ľ/	[tç ^h ètç ^h ǐ]	'to feed each other'
/d̀æ̀ŋ/ /រl̀/ /gʉ̀/	L.R H.L H.H	/dɐd̥ǎŋ/ /ʒɐ̂ʒi/ /gwégʉ/	[dɐ̀dǎŋ] [ɹɐ́ɹ̯ì] [gwégʉ́]	'to visit each other' 'to all find sth. together' 'to exchange'
	/lú/ /kí/ /gwâ/ /tç ^h ǐ/ /dàŋ/ /tì/ /gʉ/	/lú/ H.L /kí/ L.H (some H.H) /gwâ/ H.L /tçʰǐ/ L.R /dàŋ/ L.R /ŋù/ H.L /ŋù/ H.H	reduplication/lú/H.L/lêlu//kí/L.H (some H.H)/kekí/ (some H.H)/gwê/H.L/gwêgwæ//tcʰǐ/L.R/tcʰetcʰǐ//dèŋ/L.R/dedǎŋ//ilH.L/guégu//gi/H.L/gwégu/	/lú/H.L/lêlu/[lélù]/kí/L.H (some H.H)/kekí/[kèkí]/gwê/H.L/gwêgwæ/[gwégwà]/tcʰǐ/L.R/tcʰetcʰǐ/[tcʰètcʰǐ]/dèŋ/L.R/dedǎŋ/[dèdǎŋ]/iH.L/gwéguł[gwéguł/gàn/H.L/geij[gwéguł

Table 3.25 Reciprocal reduplication

Some verbs show a derived meaning when they are reduplicated with a H.L pattern. It seems that the H.L tone pattern in this case is a derivational tonal pattern linked to this particular reduplication. Not all verbs show this H.L reduplication with derived

meaning, but the verbs that do have a different tonal pattern in their reciprocal reduplication, as is shown in the examples (166-169).¹³⁶

(166)	/kí/	[kí]	'to chase'
	/kekí/	[kèkí]	'to chase each other' (reciprocal)
	/kêki/	[kékì]	'to chase away' (derived)
(167)	/tŭ/	[t ŭ]	'to pull'
	/tɐt̪ŭ/	[tètŭ]	'to pull back and forth' (reciprocal)
	/têţu/	[tétù]	'to fight over' (derived)
(168)	/sě/	[sě]	'to hit, kill'
	/sesě/	[sèsě]	'to hit each other' (reciprocal)
	/sêse/	[sésè]	'to fight' (derived)
(169)	/tsŏŋ/	[tsǒŋ]	'to kick'
	/tsetsŏŋ/	[tsètsǒŋ]	'to kick each other' (reciprocal)

3.5 Discourse function of tone

In this section I will show various examples that illustrate the organisation of discourse through alternate tone groupings, and discuss how this ties in with focus. In the examples, constituents in focus are marked in bold in the underlying representation.

For the present discussion I adopt Lambrecht's definition of focus. Focus is 'the semantic component of a pragmatically structured proposition whereby the assertion differs from the presupposition.' (Lambrecht 1994:213). Pragmatic assertion is defined as 'The proposition expressed by a sentence which the hearer is expected to know or take for granted as a result of hearing the sentence uttered.' (Lambrecht 1994:52). Pragmatic presupposition is defined as 'The set of propositions lexico-grammatically evoked in a sentence which the speaker assumes the hearer already knows or is ready to take for granted at the time the sentence is uttered.' (Lambrecht 1994:52). Thus, focus is the relationship between already known (old) information and new information. It is what makes an utterance informative.

Lambrecht distinguishes between three different types of focus (1994:222): argumentfocus (narrow focus, i.e. when the focus is a single constituent), predicate-focus and sentence-focus (both broad focus, i.e. the focus includes more than one constituent). For sentence-focus the focus is the entire sentence; for predicate-focus the focus is the comment, and does not include the topic.

¹³⁶ Dīng (1998:59) also gives two similar examples, although he does not discuss them, but rather lists them as minimal pairs.

In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ the unmarked focus type is predicate-focus, where a sentence has a topic-comment structure. Topics can be marked or unmarked (§6.5) and the focus is the comment.

Argument-focus and sentence-focus are expressed by the organisation of constituents into tone groups. Argument-focus relates to an identificational pragmatic structure, where there is a focus-presupposition relation between the argument and the proposition. With argument-focus in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, the constituent that is in focus forms its own tone group. However, if the focus does not include the predicate, but the predicate is part of the presupposition rather than the focus, it is defocalised and incorporated into the tone group of the preceding constituent. This happens when the information expressed by the predicate is already known, and the focus of the utterance is on the constituent preceding the predicate.

Sentence-focus relates to a presentational or event-reporting pragmatic structure. With sentence-focus in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, the constituents that express the event that is presented form one single tone group. Lambrecht (2000) shows that with sentence-focus, arguments that would be interpreted as topics are detopicalized and treated as part of the focus. This happens in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ through the incorporation of the argument into the tone group of the predicate. I will refer to argument-focus and sentence-focus as 'narrow focus' and 'broad focus', especially since the term 'sentence-focus' is a bit misleading in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. Even though it is possible for a whole sentence to form a single tone group (for example in [170]), the distinction in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ is really made between a single-constituent tone group (with identificational pragmatic structure) and a multiple-constituent tone group (with presentational or event-reporting pragmatic structure). This will be discussed in §3.5.1.

3.5.1 Tone groups and broad versus narrow focus

The way constituents group together allows or blocks tonal spread. This is especially visible with predicates and their adjacent (usually O) arguments, henceforth 'nounverb constituents'. Not all object-verb constituents form a tone group in discourse. When an object-verb constituent is presented as a single situation, i.e. 'broad focus', object and verb form a tone group and tone sandhi happens. When the focus is on one of the constituents, i.e. 'narrow focus', both parts keep their own tone. Something similar is also noted by Chirkova (2006:5) on tone in the neighbouring language Xùmǐ.

Example (170) exhibits broad focus; a general situation is presented and the whole sentence is in focus. There is no topic present in this sentence. The verb and its preceding object form one constituent and the tone of /gwi/ spreads rightwards onto the low-toned verb. This sentence is uttered as an isolated statement, not in answer to a question.
(170) $gwi tc^h \acute{o}\eta = si$. $gwi tc^h \acute{o}\eta = si$ rain appear = INF 'It rained.' (EL)

Example (171) is an instance of narrow focus, said in answer to the question whether or not it rained. Rain is the topic of the conversation, and the fact that it did is the focus. Therefore, object and verb do not form a single tone group, but both surface in their underlying tones.

(171) $gwi\# tc^h \delta \eta = si$. $gwi tc^h \delta \eta = si$ rain appear = INF '(Yes,) it rained.' (EL)

Tone sandhi between a verb and its object is especially clear when the verb has a (rising-tone) directional prefix, and the preceding object has a rising tone: the tone of the object spreads to the verb and the prefix (as well as the verb) receives a high surface tone. This can be seen in example (173).

Compare the constituents /deJěj/ 'speech' and / q^h ð-tóŋ/ 'to narrate' in examples (172) and (173). In (172) verb and object form one tone group and what is in focus here is the fact that the toad, who was mentioned before, spoke. The whole fact that it spoke is unexpected, since toads do not normally speak. In (173) where object and verb form separate tone groups, the assumption is that god can speak, but today he actually said something.

- (172) d\u00f6b\u00ed # t\u00ed # p\u00e9di = g\u00f6ŋ # d\u00e9.t\u00e9j q^\u00e9-t\u00f6ŋ d\u00e9.t\u00e9g q^\u00e9-t\u00e6ŋ d\u00e9.t\u00e9g q^\u00e9-t\u00e6ŋ then this toad = AGT speech OUT-speak
 'Then this toad spoke (...)' (TC09.16)
- (173) $p \hat{u} n^{i} \hat{\vartheta} = b \hat{u} \# h \hat{i} = g \hat{o} \eta \# d \hat{e}_{i} \hat{e}_{j} \# q^{h} \hat{\vartheta} t \hat{o} \eta$ $p \hat{u} n^{i} \hat{\vartheta} = b u \quad h \hat{i} = g \hat{o} \eta \quad d \hat{e}_{i} \hat{e}_{j} \qquad q^{h} \hat{\vartheta} - t \hat{o} \eta$ $t o d a y = T O P \quad g o d = A G T \quad s p e e c h \quad O U T - s p e a k$

'(...) Today god spoke.' (TC08.15)

The pair in (174-175) are further examples in which the different structuring of tone groups clearly influences the meaning. (174) is presented as a general situation indicating that the referents will have the ability to speak Nuòsū without without having made a conscious effort to learn it. It is structured as a single tone group, and thus the tone of the object /goŋn^jælıí/ 'Nuòsū language' spreads to the verb /ě·wêŋ/ 'to have learned'. In (175) the focus is on /ě·wêŋ/, which implies that the referents made

a conscious effort to learn the Nuòsū language. $/go\eta n^{j}al_{i}(/ Nuòsū language' and /ě-wê\eta/ 'to have learned' do not form a single tone group.$

(174) gòŋn^jàlí é-wèŋ = qèj

goŋnⁱæļí ě-wêŋ = qεj Nuòsū.language IN-have.learned = ΕΧΡΤ

'(...) (everybody) will have learned the Nuòsū language (...)' (CV04.2)

(175) gòŋn^j \hat{a} ļí# \hat{e} -wéŋ = q \hat{e} j

goŋn^jælí ě-wêŋ = qɛj Nuòsū.language IN-have.learned = EXPT

'(Everybody) will have learned the Nuòsū language.' (CV04.2EL)

Another example is given in (176) and (177). (176) is presented as a general situation with the connotation that the referent, the implied topic, did not really want to drink liquor. The comment is presented as a single tone group, i.e. predicate focus or broad focus, and thus the tone of the noun-verb constituent /qedzð t^h(η / 'to drink liquor' in (176) spreads to the verb / \check{e} -wê η / 'to have learned'. In (177) the focus is on / \check{e} -wê η /, i.e. narrow focus, which implies that the referent had a purpose for learning to drink liquor. Since the focus of (177) is on the learning, the verb / \check{e} -wê η / forms a separate tone group, and thus does not receive the tone of the preceding element.

(176) $j e dz = t^h j e wen = q e j$

 t^{h} in ě-wên = qej liquor drink IN-have.learned = EXPT

'He will have learned to drink liquor.' (CV04.2EL)

(177) $j dz dz t^{h} i \eta \# \dot{e} - w \dot{e} \eta = q \dot{e} j$

- Įvdzð t^hǐŋ ě-wêŋ = qεj liquor drink IN-have.learned = EXPT

'He will have learned to drink liquor.' (CV04.2EL)

The undesirability of the situations in (174) and (176) is partly the result of the lack of control expressed by not focusing the verb /w $\partial\eta$ / 'to have learned', and thus down-playing the volition and control of the referents; the referents did not make an effort to learn the language or drink liquor, but it just happened because of the socio-linguistic or socio-cultural situation they found themselves in.

The above examples have shown narrow focus on the predicate, but it is also possible for the object to be in focus and the predicate to be part of the presupposition. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ this kind of narrow focus is often contrastive. It is expressed through defocalising the predicate, by incorporating it into the same tone group as the object. In (178) the two constituents /zətchwîb^jæ/ 'right' and /wɛjtchwîb^jæ/ 'left' are in contrastive focus. The predicate (which is clearly known information from the context of the story) appears in low surface tone.

(178) $\hat{a}w...\# \acute{e}\# z \rightarrow tc^h w i - b^j a = g \rightarrow t \dot{u} - j \dot{l} dz \rightarrow k^h \dot{l} = b \dot{u}, \#$ $z \tilde{\partial} - t c^h w i - b^j a = q \partial$ âw... é $k^{h}i = bu$ tù-ji dzâ 1sg right-direction-side:GEN = DEF dig-NMLZ be INTJ time = TOP $w\dot{\epsilon}j-tc^{h}w\dot{i}-b^{j}\dot{a}=g\dot{a}q^{h}\dot{a}-t\dot{u}ts\dot{e}\eta=s\dot{i}$ wěj-t c^h wi- b^j æ = gə q^hð-fù $tse\eta = si$ left-direction-side:GEN = DEF OUT-dig N.CONTR = INF '(...) Oh...I should have dug out the right one, but I unfortunately dug out the left one (...)' (TC06.28)

In example (179) the expected tone of $/z \ddot{\diamond}/$ 'to come' would be high,¹³⁷ but it is low instead. It is not possible in the discourse context to have a high tone. In this example the speaker is aware of the fact that the two addressees have arrived, since she is talking to them, but she is making a guess as to in which manner they arrived: /mut^hǔ q^hu/ 'on a motor cycle'. Since that piece of information, and not the predicate, is in focus, the predicate is incorporated into the same tone group as the constituent in focus, and thus pronounced with low surface tones.

(179) $nig = dz lpha g \# cwip^h a = bu \# db u \# mut^h u = q^h u b - zb mb dz dz qb j$

nǐŋ = dzæŋ çwíp^ha = bu dəbǔ mut^h ǔ = q^hu ě-zð mə dzə qɛj 2 = DU evening = TOP then motorcycle = on IN-come EPIST bàw? baw CONTR

'So you probably came by motorcycle (yesterday) evening, right?' (CV02.33)

If (179) was said out of context, as in (180) and (181), either the underlying tone can be used on $/z \check{a}/$, as in (180), or the low surface tone, as in (181). Example (180) implies that the people on the motorcycle have not arrived yet and the speaker is making a guess as to whether or not they have arrived. This is a normal predicate-focus utterance. In (181) the speaker knows the people have arrived, but is making a guess as to whether they will have arrived by motorcycle (or some other means of transport). Since the predicate is within the presupposition, it cannot be in focus, and thus has to be defocalised by incorporating it into the tone group of the preceding element /mut^hǔ q^hu/ which is in focus. Since in (179) the context makes it clear that the people have

¹³⁷ This rising tone verb changes to high level tone when a directional prefix is attached (see §3.4.5).

arrived (the speaker is addressing them), defocalising the predicate is the only option, and therefore it is not possible for the verb /z3/ to appear with its lexical tone.

(180)	dəbů# mùt ^h ǔ=q ^h ù# è-zə́ mə́ dzə̀ qɛ̀j bàw ?							
	dəbŭ	$mut^h\check{u}{=}q^hu$	ě-zð	mə dzə qɛj	baw			
	then	motorcycle=on	IN-come	EPIST	CONTR			
'(They) probably came by motorcycle, right?' (CV02.33)								
(181)	də̀bŭ#	mùt ^h ǔ = q ^h ù è-zà	ð mð dzð q	èj bàw?				
	dəbŭ#	$mut^{h}\check{u} = q^{h}u$	ě-zð	mə dzə qej	baw			
	then	motorcycle=on	IN-come	EPIST	CONTR			
	'(They) probably came by motorcycle, right?' (CV02.33EL)							

Another example of narrow focus on an argument is given in (182). The speaker, who is inside a house, utters this remark out of the blue in the middle of a conversation. Some time before that utterance, Tshering Lhame had received a phone call and had left the room to talk in the courtyard. The utterance is presented as the answer to the speaker's own non-expressed question 'Who is Tshering Lhame talking to?'. Since the predicate is within the presupposition, the topic, Tshering Lhame, is implied, and everything else (except for the clause-final attitude particle) falls under one tone group and receives the tone of the initial element $/m\hat{a}/$ 'mother' or default low tone.

(182) $\mathbf{m}\dot{\mathbf{a}} = \mathbf{p}\dot{\mathbf{u}} \, d\dot{\mathbf{e}}_{z}\dot{\mathbf{e}}_{j} \, t\dot{\mathbf{o}}_{\eta} = d\dot{\mathbf{a}}_{w} \, \mathbf{m}_{\theta} \, dz_{\theta} \, q\dot{\mathbf{e}}_{j} \# \, b\dot{\mathbf{a}}$

mâ=pu	deųčj	tóŋ=daw	mə dzə qɛj	bǎ
mother = COM	speech	speak = IPFV:N.EGO	EPIST	SPEC
'(Tshering Lhan	ne) will b	e talking with <i>(her) 1</i>	nother, ()' (CV13.60)

Apart from broad and narrow focus in the sense used by Lambrecht, tone grouping can also be used for emphasis, as in (183) and (184). When $/p\check{a}\check{z}\check{u}/$ 'carpet', /tsí/ 'to get' and / $\varsigma\hat{n}$ / 'go:IMP:PL' form one tone group, the imperative force is weakened, as in (183). But when they form separate tone groups, as in (184), the imperative force is stronger.

(183) "(...) păz \dot{u} tsì cìŋ," tcw \dot{a} = sì tcàw.

"()	păz ù	tsí	çîŋ,"	t¢wð=si	tçaw.
	carpet	take	go:IMP:PL	say:PFV:N.EGO = INF	HSY

'(...) (the father) said, "(You all go) get the carpets (today, that your fiancees (that you found) wove), it is said." ' (TC09.20)

(184) "păz \dot{u} # tsí cíŋ," tcw \dot{a} = sì tcàw.

"păz \dot{H} tsí çîŋ," t¢w $\ddot{\bullet}$ = si t¢aw. carpet take go:IMP:PL say:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY '(He) said, "Go get the carpets!", it is said.' (TC09.21)

3.6 Intonation

How does intonation influence lexical pitch? Hari (1971:47) notes that in Thakali intonation appears most clearly on the last syllable of a phonological constituent; if this syllable is neutral in respect to tone, the intonational pitch is realized most clearly. This agrees with what Greif (2010:246) states about the Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ discourse clitics that appear as the last syllable of a phonological constituent. Because of their toneless nature discourse clitics that follow a focused constituent (especially an initial NP) show an upstepped H tone, which makes them more prominent than the preceding noun, and he suspects that this is due to the influence of intonation. This section will only make a few general remarks on intonation in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ and show two emphatic intonation (§3.6.2). I have not looked into normal intonation patterns (e.g. questions versus statements).

As is common in languages across the world, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ intonation displays a general declination phonemenon: the overall pitch tends to be lower towards the end of an intonation unit. Downdrift also happens, where low pitch in between high pitch lowers the general pitch of the utterance.¹³⁸ The presence of a boundary tone can be seen in a falling tone on the end of a clause or phrase, usually just before a pause (as mentioned in §3.3.2). This is also mentioned by Greif (2010) for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ.

3.6.1 Extra high pitch intonation

Words bearing lexical tone can be influenced by intonation. Hari (1971:47) states that in Thakali, if a syllable has a distinctive pitch (lexical tone?), then the pitch interacts with the intonation, but the underlying contrasts are not neutralized (1971:47). This can be seen in (185) and (186) where an extra high contour combined with lengthening of the syllable renders an intensive meaning.¹³⁹

(185) ní = nòŋ# dắdpprox = gpprox# lⁱwm e = gpprox# tⁱm oŋ# t^hm e-dzm u,

nî = noŋ	dædæ=gæ	l ^j wê=gæ	t ^j ôŋ	t ^h ě-dzù
LOG = COORD	same = GEN	ash = GEN	one:CLF:thing	FR.SP-make

'(She) made one thing exactly the same as herself from ashes, (...)' (TC02.76)

Example (185) is shown in Figure 3.12. As can be clearly seen, the pitch of the first $d\hat{x}$ starts extremely high and its syllable length is 1.06s as compared to 0.21s for the second $d\hat{x}$.

¹³⁸ Greif (2010:242) mentions both declination and downdrift for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ.

¹³⁹ Also reported for Lahu (Matisoff 1994:117). Rawang speakers often change from a mid to a high tone for emphasis on words for 'all' and 'there (far away)' (LaPolla, p.c.).



In (186) the speaker indicates that the household was extremely far away. The reduplication of $k^h \check{u}$ 'outwards (down the valley)' also involves extensive lengthening of the syllable: the first mention has a duration of 0.52s, the second has a duration of only 0.17s.

(186) wéjzáw# k^h ú- k^h ù-pû,# hòŋl^jà péj-mó# té-qè#

'(...) **way, way outwards** down the valley in Qiansuo there was a family who processed goldthread root(...)' (SN02.9)

3.6.2 Narrative rising pitch intonation

A special narrative intonation is used by storytellers to make a story more expressive. It consists of a sharp rise in pitch and lengthening of the syllable just before the end of an intonation break. The pitch drops sharply and a few morphemes might follow in a low pitch. When a quotation is involved, the narrative intonation will appear on the last syllable of the quotation and the pitch will drop again sharply on the quotation marker and stay low on whatever follows the quotation marker. The same phenomenon appears in Yǔchū Pǔmǐ as well (personal fieldnotes).

Figure 3.13 shows the pitch contour of example (187). The narrative intonation can be seen in the length of the syllable [ciŋ] and its sharp rise in pitch.



(187) " $t^{h} \ddot{\partial} \# t^{h} \dot{e}$ - $j \dot{e} \eta d (\eta - m \dot{\partial} = j \dot{a} \# d \dot{\partial} b \check{u} \# p \dot{u} \eta \dot{\partial} = b \dot{u}, \# p \dot{a} z \dot{u}$ tsì ¢ìŋ, "thě thě-jendín-mə = jæ dəbù $p\hat{u}n\partial = bu$, păzù tsí ¢îŋ, wife FR.SP-seek-NMLZ = PL:GEN then today = TOP carpet take go:IMP:PL $tcw \hat{a} = s\hat{i}$ tcàw. tcwð = si tcaw. say:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY

'(... the father said, "You all) get the carpet today, that your fiancees that you found (wove), it is said." ' (TC09.20)

3.7 Conclusion

This chapter described the tonal system of Wǎdū Pǔmǐ and found that its tonal inventory and tonal spreading patterns are similar to that described for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ. However, four tones should be recognised in monosyllables, based on different tonal spreading patterns in rising tone alternating verbs. Alternating verbs were mentioned in several descriptions of Pǔmǐ (Matisoff 1997, Fù 1998) and Jacques (2011c) devoted an article to the topic. The present study clearly shows that tonal alternation happens with a substantial group of verbs, and corroborates Jacques' study in showing that the group is roughly similar across various Pǔmǐ speech varieties. Further research needs to show what diachronic reason, such as the presence of checked syllables (which have been reported in other languages in the area [Matisoff 1970, Sūn 2008]), can be given.

In this chapter it was also argued that all directional prefixes have lexical tone. This differs from earlier descriptions of Pǔmǐ, in which most directional prefixes were described as toneless morphemes. The recognition of lexical tone is based on their relationship with bound demonstratives, their behaviour in conditional clauses and their tonal spreading patterns in predicate-focus constructions. The presence of lexical tone might also explain the tonal alternation in alternating verbs.

Finally, this study noted the importance of tone groups as building blocks for discourse in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. The organization of constituents into tone groups is used by speakers of Wǎdū Pǔmǐ to express broad versus narrow focus. Tonal incorporation happens by integrating a constituent into an adjacent tone group. This is used for detopicalization of an argument or defocalisation of a predicate. Tone groups and their function in discourse have been described for the neighbouring languages Xùmǐ (Chirkova 2006) and Na (Michaud 2013). Due to the scope of this thesis, only initial observations were made and further corpus-based research will certainly bring more to light.

Chapter 4. Form classes

This chapter discusses the major form classes in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. The chapter starts with a short discussion on the open form classes: noun, verbs and adjectives (§4.1). Adjectives are for the most part a subset of verbs and will be dealt with under the verbs (§8.2). In the rest of the chapter several closed form classes will be described in more detail: pronouns (§4.2); numerals (§4.3); numeral classifiers (§4.4); quantifiers (§4.5); demonstratives and locationals (§4.6). (Section §4.6 on demonstratives and locationals strictly speaking does not deal with a structural form class, but is rather grouped around the semantics of time and location. Treating them together allows for a clearer presentation of the data.) Semantic role markers are briefly mentioned in §4.6, but will be treated more fully in Chapter 6 together with discourse markers. Adverbs are described in §4.7 and clause linkers in §4.8. The function of clause linkers is described more fully in Chapter 10. The chapter ends with a section on grammaticalisation (§Error! Reference source not found.). Some other form classes will not be dealt with in this chapter, but are described in other chapters. Auxilaries are described in §7.8.5. Attitude markers are described in §8.8. Onomatopoeic ideophones, ideophones proper, expressives, interjections and expletives are dealt with in Chapter 9.

4.1 Open form classes

As Dīng (1998) clearly showed in his work on Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ, there is a lot of overlap in form classes and many words can be used as noun, verb, adjective or classifier. One example sentence from Wǎdū Pǔmǐ is a clear example how a single form can be used in multiple ways. In this example, the form *Jóŋ* is used as a noun 'drying rack', a verb 'to dry on a drying rack', and a classifier 'a drying-rackful':

'(...) and put to dry on a drying rack one drying-rackful by one drying-rackful (...)' (CL03ed.22)

I therefore do not want to spend much time in defining nouns versus versus versus adjectives, but will rather give the reader a table with several language-specific

constructions that indicate when a certain morpheme is used as a noun, when as a verb, and when as an adjective.

	Noun	Verb	Stative verb	Adjective
Head of noun phrase	Х			
Modified by demonstrative	х			
Marked for number and definiteness	X			
Complement of copular clause	Х			
Can take semantic role marking	х			
Can be modified by other nouns and numeral-classifier compounds	х			
Can be the head of a genitive phrase	х			
Can take directional prefixes		х	Х	
Can be modified by preceding adverbial expressions		x		
Can be modified by following auxiliaries		x		
Can form a complete clause		x	х	
Can take egophoric and evidential marking		x	X	
Can be preceded by negation or the interrogative		x	х	
Can be nominalized		x	х	
Can take stative verb markers			x	
Can modify nouns post-nominally			х	х
Can be followed by discourse markers	х	x	X	X

Table 4.1 Wǎdū Pǔmǐ constructions

4.2 Pronouns

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ personal pronouns are free forms that are not cliticized to the verb. The forms are shown in Table 4.2. The pronouns distinguish person and number: first, second and third person, and singular, dual and plural number. In the first person pronoun form, a distinction is made between inclusive and exclusive. Number is expressed by the dual and plural clitics = dzen and = to, and the collective plural suffix

 $-b\mu$ (§5.4). In reality, only speech act participants have a distinct pronoun form. The form that is used to refer to the third person is the proximal demonstrative tá 'this'.¹⁴⁰ However, Půmí is a zero anaphora language and often nominal arguments are not overtly expressed and can be understood from the discourse context.

	Table 4.2 Personal pronouns						
	SG	DU	PL	COL			
1.EXCL	é	edzěŋ	Ê.JƏ	êb u			
1.INCL		iŋdzŵŋ	iŋĮź	iŋb ú			
2	nĭŋ	niŋdzŵŋ	niŋ.Įś	niŋb ú			
3	tớ	tədzěŋ	tə́.lə	tâb u			

The first inclusive pronoun in- has another form δn -, that only appears once in the data and according to my main consultant seems to be used more by young people:¹⁴¹

(189) nél^jáw=bù $\partial \eta = dz \hat{\alpha} \eta$ $J \hat{\gamma} t s \hat{\gamma} m \hat{\alpha} = c \hat{\imath} = b \hat{\imath}$ nǐŋ 1:INCL = DU knife NEG = EXIST.AB = TOP eve = TOP INTJ

'Mind you, if we two don't have a knife, (...)' (CV18.133.1)

Pronouns are often not present in discourse when they are retrievable from the context. When referring to self, speakers might also use a term of reference, usually a kin term, instead of a pronoun:

¹⁴⁰ Dīng therefore does not include the third person form in his pronoun chart, but marks a zero anaphor instead (1998:101). He notes that when overt marking is necessary, Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ has a choice between three options *táge*, $n\hat{i}$ and $ts\hat{o}$, and speakers will choose the one they prefer, based on their clan. Ding (2014:90) notes that $n\hat{i}$ is used when a referent is visible, whereas $ts\hat{o}$ is used when a referent is not visible during a conversation. In Ding's examples, $n\hat{i}$ is mostly used for third person; in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ tớ is most commonly used for third person reference and nî is used as the logophoric pronoun (§4.2.1). nî and tsố might be reflexes of the PTB *r-mi 'man/person' (with assimilation of the initial) and *tsan 'person/human being' (Matisoff 2003:449,265). The form $ts\tilde{o}$ or a similar form is not present in Wădū Půmǐ, but is used in Xiǎngshuǐhé Pǔmǐ (personal notes) and in Shuǐluò Pǔmǐ (Katia Chirkova, unpublished 2006 wordlist).

¹⁴¹ This might be another indication of the phonological change from $[\tilde{1}]$ to $[\tilde{0}]$ that can be observed in parts of the Půmí area (see §2.2.2). Another explanation might be that it is a loan from Yǒngníng Na: there the inclusive first person pronoun is formed by attaching a suffix to a reflexive pronoun $o\eta^{33}$ (Lidz 2010:191).

(190) $\grave{v}m\acute{a} = \grave{l}\grave{a}$ $\large{c}\acute{a} = s\acute{e}\eta$ aunt = also go = PFV:EGO'(...) aunt (=I) went too.' (YJ01.36)

Sometimes a full noun phrase and an ordinary pronoun are combined into an inclusory construction. In this construction the noun is always followed by the pronoun:

(191) d\u00f6b\u00ed [p\u00ec]p\u00ecj\u00ecj\u00ec t\u00ed d\u00eq n\u00ed n kiz\u00ed] [n\u00eq dz\u00ecd n] t\u00ecd d\u00ed n, then older.sibling Tadi=COORD T:sKal.bzang LOG=DU one-CLF:place
[p\u00ed t\u00ec\u00eq] [\u00ec]=dz\u00ecdn] t\u00ec\u00ed d\u00eq.
[p\u00ed t\u00eq\u00eq] t\u00ec\u00eq d\u00eq\u00eq.
[p\u00ed t\u00eq\u00eq] t\u00eq d\u00eq\u00eq.
[p\u00eq\u00eq\u00eq] t\u00eq d\u00eq\u00eq.
[p\u00eq\u00eq\u00eq] t\u00eq d\u00eq\u00eq.
[p\u00eq\u00eq\u00eq\u00eq] t\u00eq d\u00eq\u00eq.
[p\u00eq\u00eq\u00eq\u00eq] t\u00eq\u00eq\u00eq\u00eq.
[p\u00eq\u00eq\u00eq\u00eq] t\u00eq\u

'Then (...) older brother Tadi and Kizu, the two of them (went to) one place, and Bajin (and I), the two of us (went to) one place.' (YJ02.12)

A similar construction includes the coordinator = nog 'and', as in (192). It is interesting that $X = nog \ t a dz \ddot{a} g$ does not mean 'X and the two of them', but 'X and ..., the two of them' (see also §5.7.1 on associative constructions).

(192)	[pèjpéj	píŋmá =	nòŋ	Ø]	[tà=dzǎŋ]	t ⁱ óŋ	nè-dzéj
	older.sibling	Pingma	= COORD	Ø	3 = DU	one:CLF:thing	DOWN-ride
	è-șćj = sì		ĥà				
	IN-go:PFV:N.EGO = INF		LINK				

'(...) older brother Pingma, the two of them, went riding one motorcycle (...)' (CV02.34)

Some other forms that can be used like pronouns are given in (193).

(193)	mô=dzæŋ/.Įə	[person = DU/PL]	'other (two) people'142
	tĭ(=dzæŋ)	[one(=DU)]	'other(s)'
	tenð(=.jə)	[other = PL]	'other(s)'
	te-dzé	[one-CLF:several]	'several'

4.2.1 Reflexive and logophoric pronoun

The logophoric pronoun $n\hat{i}$ (s)he himself/herself' is used for third person reflexive or emphatic reference. When used as a reflexive, as in (194), the pronoun is used twice, unlike in some other languages where the normal pronoun can be used with the reflexive (e.g. He hit himself). Emphatic reference is shown in (195).

¹⁴² There seems to be a strong tendency to talk about self versus other. This form is dealt with in the genitive construction in §5.3.1.

- (194) $ni = g \partial \eta$ ni $ts \partial w = d \partial w$. LOG = AGT LOG beat = IPFV:N.EGO 'He is hitting himself.' (EL)
- (195) ní = gòŋ è-şéj tì tçà = dàw â?
 LOG = AGT IN-g0:PFV:N.EGO say:IMP:SG say = IPFV:N.EGO CONF
 'He himself told (you) to tell (Pali Tshering) that (he) went (to the new house)?' (CV04.23)

Peterson (2011:88) notes a relationship between the reflexive morpheme and agentive/foregrounding marker in Khumi, where the reflexive morpheme grammaticalised from the foregrounding marker. Something similar might have happened in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ: the reflexive $n\hat{i}$ is almost homophonous with the agentive =ni which also has an emphatic use (§6.2.1). However, the reflexive has a falling tone, whereas the agentive is toneless. If there is a relationship between the two, the empathic sense probably preceded the agentive function. LaPolla (p.c.) also reports a Rawang particle ni which emphasizes the agent and has a reflexive use.

 $n\hat{i}$ can refer to the agent of a clause, as in (194) and (195), to the goal, as in (196), or to the possessor in a possessive relation, as in (197). The dual and plural clitics can cliticize to this pronoun, as in (198).

(196) ní=bì è-dédwè tì sò pú=gî LOG=DAT IN-ask one first do=VOL:INCL '(...) let's first ask him a bit.' (TC02.12)
(197) jèmá=bù dèbǔ ní=gà t¢òŋgú... gwágù= jà é-wà

(197) femid = bu dəbu m = gæ tçojgu... gwæga = 10 = 0-wu monk = TOP then LOG = GEN clothes change.of.clothes = PL that-in:GEN tç = wu $t^{h} e^{-ts \hat{e}j}$ water = in FR.SP-wash

'(...) the monk washed his own clothes ... change of clothes in the water there (...)' (TC07.4)

(198) $ni = J \partial = b \dot{u}$ $n \dot{v} - dz \partial \eta$ LOG = PL = TOP DOWN-sit

'(...) they themselves would sit down (...)' (TC10.15)

 $n\hat{i}$ is used to indicate co-reference in reported indirect speech, as in (199) (this will be discussed further in §8.1.1 and §8.3.5). The existence of a logophoric pronoun and its use to indicate co-reference has also been reported for Nuòsū (Gerner 2013).

(199)	ní	p ù séŋ	nòŋ	zězè-bà	wù	
	LOG	today.morning	only	Zjaezjae-household:GEN	interior	
	k ^h à-zà = sèŋ		tçə = dàw			
	OUT-	come = PFV:EGO	say = IPFV:N.EGO			

'(He $_i$) said that he $_i$ himself had come from the Zjaezjae household only that morning.' (CV07.73.4)

Preliminary research has shown that the logophoric pronoun $n\hat{i}$ is used extensively for referent tracking in discourse and often marks the referent in current discourse focus. (200) is from the last line of a trickster story. No pronominal reference to the main protagonist has been used in the previous five lines, and in this concluding line, the logophoric pronoun is used.

(200) ní té-t; $\hat{s} = c$ i kŏ $\eta = w$ u $q^h \hat{e}$ -s \hat{s} j = si t¢ $\hat{a}w$ LOG one-CLF:jump = LIM.TOP door = in OUT-go:N.EGO PFV = INF HSY '(...) and he himself went in just one jump through the door, it is said. (TC04.37)

There is one reflexive pronoun $p\hat{u}$ 'self', which only seldomly occurs by itself, as in (201), but is usually followed by the agentive =(g)og(ni), as in (202), the definite =ga, as in (203), or the genitive =(g)a, as in (204). Of the 42 times attested in the corpus, pu = ga occurs 31 times, as opposed to $p\hat{u}$, $p\hat{u} = gog(ni)$ and $p\hat{u} = ga$ that all occur twice. $p\hat{u}$ -dzaw- $p\hat{u}$ -lu occurs five times. It also occurs in the phrase $p\hat{u}$ -dzaw- $p\hat{u}$ -lu 'total freedom' (< dza'authority' and lu'work'). The form pu = ga, which is by far the most frequent, seems to have lost its genitive meaning in most cases and come to denote 'self'.

- (201) tàçá = bú dàbů, pú t^hòŋ sátçà now = TOP then self can if
 'Nowadays, if one can (do things) oneself, (...)' (TC10.56)
- (202) tàcá $p\hat{\mathbf{u}} = g\check{o}\eta$ $p\hat{\mathbf{u}}$. $t\check{o}c\check{\mathbf{x}}$ sàtcà now self = AGT do can if

'Nowadays, if one can do (things) oneself, (...)' (TC01ed.10)

(203) jăw pú=gò t^hè-nén tçò k^hwédzú pù q^hù, again self=DEF FR.SP-be.slow say angry do CUST.INCL
'Again when we thought that we ourselves were slow, we would be angry (...)' (CV21.309.2) (204) pù=gǎ cí=wà tcháwtcà=tà=bì=là tchìtchwí=tì tchì self=GEN village=in:GEN relative=PL=DAT=also meal=INDF feed qhù wèŋ need CUST.EXCL
'(...) one also needs to feed the relatives from one's own village a meal.' (CL01ed.23)

Whereas $n\hat{i}$ is only used for third person, $p\hat{u}$ can be used for all persons and can follow another pronoun, as in (205). Note that the genitive form of the reflexive pronoun is used. This form often appears in situations where there is no obvious genitive sense. In this example it is also possible to use $p\mu = g\check{x} p\check{u}$ or $ni\eta = g\acute{x} n\check{\eta}$ instead of $p\mu = g\check{x}$. The construction $p\mu = g\check{x} p\check{u}$ or $p\mu = g\check{x}$ is possible with all pronouns. Constructions that can be used with other persons in combination with the respective pronouns are $\acute{v} = g\check{x} \acute{v}$ (first person); $ni\eta = g\acute{x} n\check{\eta}$ (second person); and $n\hat{i} = g\check{x} n\hat{i}$ (third person). None of these constructions except for $p\mu = g\check{x}$ have been attested in the corpus, and further research is needed to clarify any semantic or pragmatic differences. It might be that $p\mu = g\check{x}$ derives from $p\mu = g\check{x} p\check{u}$ and has kept the genitive. The use of $ni\eta = g\acute{x}$ is not possible here without change in meaning: 'Did you hit your own (thing)?'

(205) nǐŋ p $\dot{\mathbf{u}} = \mathbf{g} \check{\mathbf{z}}$ $\dot{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{b} \dot{\mathbf{a}} = \mathbf{s} \dot{\mathbf{a}}$? 2SG self = GEN IN-hit = INF CONF 'Did you hit it yourself?' (CV11.66)

There are two other words for 'self', $ogm\hat{d}^{i}a$ and $ud^{i}uwa$, that function similarly to $p\hat{u}$, but are used less frequently and could be replaced by $pu = g\check{a}$ or $pu = g\check{o}g$ in either example. It is possible that these are loanwords from Yǒngníng Na.

- (206) òŋmɨdⁱæ tç^hènɨ pɨ tà dzê self how do only be
 'It is only how we do it ourselves (...)' (CV21.568)
- (207) d^{j} úwá míŋ tçà tà mǎ = dzà â? self:GEN what say only NEG = be CONF

'Is it not only what one oneself says (that is right)? (CV23.18.2)

4.2.2 Abstract use of pronouns

A few pronouns are used more abstractly. The second person pronoun *niŋ* can be used in the sense of 'mind you!', not referring to a particular person, but addressing the listener. The speaker wants to draw attention to what they are saying. The implication is that the addressee does not know the piece of information the speaker is sharing, and thus this abstract use of *niŋ* can sometimes be slightly condescending. When used in the abstract sense, nig functions similarly to an interjection in that it can occur in any position in the clause and not just clause-initially or clause-finally. In (208) an example of nig inside a genitive construction.

(208) èmá cé = gà nǐŋ tsá cé zǔ aunt big = GEN INTJ meat be.big very
'First aunt's -mind you- meat is very big (...)' (CV21.168)

Another pronoun that has acquired a more abstract use is the dual inclusive first person pronoun $ig = dz \acute{e}g$. When it is used in its abstract sense, it can address multiple people, and indicates that neither the speaker nor the addressee(s) have any idea of the situation, let alone a solution to change the situation: 'What do we know about the situation?' Since it includes the speaker in the group of addressees, it is slightly more polite than nig. In example (209) from a conversation between several people, multiple people are addressed by the speaker who is talking about his son who does not have many skills.

jàjíŋ-má		tà	dòŋ = qèj	mə́ dzî,
land.p	low-NMLZ	only	become = EXPT	NMLZ.CON
míŋ	dòŋ=qèj,		ìŋ=dzŵŋ	
what become = I		EXPT	1:INCL = DU	
	jàjíŋ-n land.p míŋ what	jàjíŋ-má land.plow-NMLZ míŋ dòŋ = qèj, what become = 1	j \dot{a} j \dot{n} -m \dot{a} tà land.plow-NMLZ only mín d \dot{o} n = q \dot{e} j, what become = EXPT	$j \partial j (n - m \partial)$ tà $d \partial n = q \partial j$ $land.plow-NMLZ$ only $become = EXPT$ $m (n)$ $d \partial n = q \partial j$ $n = d z \partial n$ $what$ $become = EXPT$ $1:INCL = DU$

'(He) will only be a land-plower! What else will (he) be?! We (have no solution) (...)' (CV11.12)

Example (210) is an illustration of both pronouns used abstractly in the same utterance. The speaker, who is addressing her sister, redresses the condescending tone of nin by following it with in = dzin. In the corpus in = dzin has only been attested utterance-finally, but like nin it can also occur non-utterance-finally.

(210) má= Jà tç^hà-zán = wù zì mà = dzà fiàw, nǐn, ìŋ = dzâŋ.
people = PL how.many-far = in EXIST.AN GNOMIC WARN INTJ 1:INCL = DU
'How far those people live, mind you, what do we know about it?!!' (CV14.11)

4.2.3 Interrogative and indefinite pronouns

A list of interrogative pronouns is given in (211).

(211)	hîŋ	'who'
	mîŋ	'what'
	mîŋ.loŋ (tçə)	'how, why'
	kî/ kôdzi	'where'
	tç ^h ð	'how much'
	ts ^h əts ^h ě	'how much' (<i>< -ts^hv</i> 'much')

 $t \varphi^{h} \partial n i \sim t \varphi^{h} \partial n \partial n i$ 'how' $t \varphi^{h} \partial k^{h} i$ 'when' (< $k^{h} i$ 'time')

The interrogative pronoun min_lon consists of min 'what', $d\delta n$ 'to become' and optionally $t\phi\delta$ 'to say'. The form min_lon is more general 'how, why, what's the matter'; $min_lon t\phi\delta$ is more specific 'why' and asks for a more specific answer, as in (212).

(212) dèbǔ míŋ,tòŋ t¢è dzènóŋk^hứ t¢^hwí t¢ê l^jừ? then why society be.good say RHET

'Why am (I) saying that (such a) society is good?' (TC01ed.9)

When followed by a postposition the vowel $k\hat{i}$ 'where' is reduced to [ə]. The form $dz\hat{i}$ is a spatial noun/postposition denoting location (§4.6.3).

The general interrogative morpheme $tc^{h}\check{\sigma}$ 'how much' is used as basis for a few other interrogative forms. Note the initial consonant in the form $ts^{h} \partial ts^{h}\check{\sigma}$ 'how much'. This might be a case of regressive assimilation. The syllable -ni in $tc^{h}\partial ni$ 'how' might be derived from the agentive marker =ni (§6.2.1) or the additional focus marker =ni(§6.5.9). $tc^{h}\check{\sigma}$ is not a bound form and can appear by itself, as in (213). It can also be followed by classifiers ($tc^{h}\partial -tsi$ 'how many people') and (mainly dimensional) stative verbs ($tc^{h}\partial -t\acute{sj}$ 'how big'). In combination with stative verbs it has an exclamatory rather than an interrogative meaning, as in (210) and (216).

(213) kèdzí tç^hð t^hé-dzù = sèŋ?
this.period.of.time how.many FR.SP-make = PFV:EGO
'How many did (you [pl]) make this time?' (CV14.40)

Both $m\hat{n}g$ 'what' and $h\hat{n}g$ 'who' can be reduplicated to indicate multiple referents, as in (214) and (215). In using the reduplication, the speaker wants to know the identity of each member of the selected set. Normal plurality can be expressed by the addition of the plural clitic *=.j*.

(214) híŋ hîŋ? who who

'Who and who?' (CV11.52)

(215) $tc^h w \check{a} q^h \grave{\partial} - ts^h \acute{\partial} = m \grave{\partial} = g \grave{a} \dots$ so $n \grave{e} - tc w \grave{i}$, $j \check{a} w m \acute{n} m \acute{n} m \acute{n} m$ pig OUT-slaugther = NMLZ = GEN meat DOWN-feed again what what tà $dz \grave{u} = d \grave{o} n$ $tc \acute{\partial} = d \grave{a} w$ only make = IPFV:EGO:1SG say = IPFV:N.EGO

'(...) (she) gave (me) lean pork from the slaughtered pig (to eat), and what all (she) made; (...)' (CV21.105)

All interrogatives except for minlon (tco) 'how, why' also may appear in contexts that are not real questions. They rather have a rhetorical and exclamatory function, as in (216) and (217), and in (210) above. In this context a reduplication of the stative verb can be used as a free alternation which seems to be more emphatic, as in (218), (see also §4.6.2). In (216) $tc^h \partial t \partial t \hat{c}^j$ could also have been used. Similarly in (218) $tc^h \partial l \hat{c}j$ could have been used.

- (216) tc^h∂-téj nè-dòŋ=sì fiǎw
 how.many-be.big DOWN-become=INF WARN
 'How big (you) have grown!!' (CV04.5.2)
- (217) $q^hwa = wu$ té-tòŋ-lì = tì tç^hà-k^hí = là kwî. bowl = in one-CLF:piece-DIM = INDF how.many-time = also EXIST.IN

'(...) for such a long time there was a small piece in the bowl.' (CV18.101)

(218) $i j \delta m \hat{a}, m \delta = 4 \hat{a} \hat{c}^h \delta - 1 \delta \hat{c} \hat{c}^h \hat{$

'Ojoma, it's that heavy!' (CV21.386)

Cross-linguistically, indefinite pronouns are often similar to or derived from question words. This is the case in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. The interrogative pronouns ki' where', min' what' and hin' who' can be used in combination with a bound morpheme $-tc^{h}ontc^{h}ontc^{h}ont$ to form the indefinite pronouns 'wherever', 'whatever' and 'whoever' respectively. The origin of $-tc^{h}ontc^{h}ontc^{h}ont$ is not clear at this point.

(219) kítc^hòŋtc^hǒŋ m= t \Rightarrow p^he = daw m \Rightarrow dz \Rightarrow . wherever person = PL pour = IPFV:N.EGO GNOMIC

'(...) people wherever/everywhere (in all the Pǔmǐ areas) pour out libation (to the mountain god).' (CV23.10)

- (220) míŋtchòŋtchòŋ = lá bóŋ = dàw
 whatever = also EXIST.POSS = IPFV:N.EGO
 '(He) has whatever/everything.' (CV23.9EL)

'(He) sleeps with whoever/everyone.' (CV23.9EL)

Interrogative pronouns can be used as a pair in a correlative construction (Keenan 1985) with the structure *interrogative-X*=(ga), *interrogative-X* and an indefinite sense. Some examples are given in (222) and (225), (see also §5.2.4).

- (222) té-qè t¢^hà-tsá má zì = gà one-CLF:household person how.many-CLF:person EXIST.AN = DEFdàbǔ tchà-tsá dà-khǐŋ. pù how.many-CLF:person do TO.SP-give then '(...) however many people a household had, that amount of land (they) would get.' (TC10.50)
- (223) $tc^h \partial -k^h i$ $tc \hat{a} = d \hat{a}$ tchà-khí dà-jí jǎw how.many-time TO.SP-come say = DEFhow.many-time again dà-jí q^hú mà dzà mà. TO.SP-come need GNOMIC INFO

'(...) whenever (he) told (you) to come back, (you) needed to come back then.' (TC10.40)

- (224) nǐŋ míŋ p $\dot{\mathbf{u}} = g\dot{\partial}$ $\dot{\mathbf{v}} = l\dot{a}$ míŋ p $\dot{\mathbf{u}} = s\hat{\mathbf{u}}$ 2SG what do = DEF 1SG = also what do = VOL:SG 'Whatever you do, I will do as well.' (CV09.94EL)
- (225) tshàtshě thè-pú tshàtshě pú dà-thwé=dáw mà dzà how.much FR.SP-do how.much do TO.SP-gain=IPFV:N.EGO GNOMIC
 '(...) the amount that (one) puts in, (one) will obtain the same amount.' (TC01ed.10)

A correlative structure with only one interrogative is also possible, as in (226-228).

(226) $t \hat{\vartheta} = dz \check{e} \eta$ hîn $t \varphi^{h} w i = q \check{e} j = g \hat{\vartheta}$ $t \hat{\vartheta} = dz \check{e} \eta$ $t^{i} \acute{o} \eta$ tín 3 = DU who good = EXPT = DEF 3 = DU one:CLF:thing take.care.of $k \check{e} j = g \hat{\imath}$ let = VOL:INCL

'(...) whoever of the two will take good care, let's let that one baby-sit (...)' (TC04.3)

'(...) whenever the two of you go, let's go together.' (CV02.92)

(228) híŋ-bù t^hè-t^hóŋ=g

tíŋdwí=bù tc^hwí zù
who-household FR.SP-be.fast=DEF luck=TOP good very
tcá wêŋ.
consider CUST.EXCL
'(...) the household that is the fastest, (their) luck is considered to be very good.' (CL02ed.16)

A separate indefinite pronoun $t\check{u}$ 'anything' only occurs in negative clauses, as in (229). $t\check{u}$ is always followed by = la 'also, even'. It might be related to the verb $t\check{u}$ 'to be of any use', as in (230).

- (229) tù = lá dzá mà = şû anything = also eat NEG = VOL:SG
 '(...) (I) don't want to eat anything (...)' (CV14.163)
 (230) nìŋ-bú tçóŋ tú = bù lú mă =
- (230) nìŋ-bú tçóŋ tứ = bù lú mǎ = tù 2-household uncultivated.land dig = TOP work NEG = be.of.use 'As for your household digging uncultivated land, that is of no use (...)' (TC02.13)

 $q^{h}vti$ 'something, a certain thing' is used as indefinite pronoun in both positive and negative clauses.

(231) $q^{h} \grave{e}ti$ $t_{c}\grave{o} = tin$ $k^{h}\grave{i}$. something say = AUD TRAIL 'I heard (somebody) say something...' (CV19.74.2) (232) \acute{e} $q^{h}\grave{e}ti = l\grave{a}$ $m\check{a} = b\grave{o}n$ 1sg something = also NEG = EXIST.POSS 'I don't have anything.' (EL)

 $t \varphi \hat{\iota} l \varphi$ 'some people' is a plural indefinite pronoun that is only used for people. There is no singular form.

(233) tçítà nú gù tèndí cô, tçítà tçínmín tchủ lěj some.people outside money seek go some.people home crops sow
'(...) some (people) go out to seek work, some (people) grow crops at home (...)' (TC01ed.12)

4.3 Numerals

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ numerals show a strictly decimal system¹⁴³ and native terms can be used for all numerals into the ten thousands. But in daily life, Chinese numerals are used often, especially when referring to time (hours, historical years), grades in school, shoe size, and amounts of money used in trade (especially in combination with Chinese monetary units). Native numerals are used more often to refer to people and daily objects, even when the numeral classifier is a Chinese loanword. Some numerals are listed in Table 4.3.

	Table 4.3 Numerals									
Form	Meaning	Form	Meaning	Form	Meaning	Form	Meaning			
tĭ	'one' ¹⁴⁴	qúti	'11'							
nŏŋ	'two'	qún̥ʲə/qúnʲə	'12'	nəwú	'20'	nəwú tǐ	ʻ21 '			
sŏŋ	'three'	qésoŋ	'13'	səqú	'30'	səqú nŏŋ	'32'			
<i>Z</i> ₽̂	'four'	qéze	'14'	zeqú	'40'	zeqú sŏŋ	'43'			
ŋwê	'five'	qéŋwe	'15'	ŋweqú	ʻ50'	ŋweqú zê	' 54'			
[^ħ ŭ	'six'	qét ^h u	'16'	[^h uqû	'60'	t ^h uqû ŋwê	'65'			
ņ ^j ð/ņð	'seven' ¹⁴⁵	qéņ ^j ə/qéņə	'17'	₽ ^j əqû	'70'	ņ ^j əqû (^h ŭ	' 76'			
ÇWĚ	'eight'	qéçwe	'18'	¢weqû	'80'	cweqû ņ ^j ð	'87'			
gô	'nine'	qégə	'19'	gəqú	ʻ90'	gəqú gə̂	ʻ99'			
qêtiŋ	'ten'			ÇÍ	ʻ100'					

¹⁴³ But note the distinct form $-w\dot{u}$ for 'twenty' (alternatively pronounced as [nə̈̀ʁú]: the [w] probably derived from an originally uvular or velar stop or fricative, see §2.1.3.3).

¹⁴⁴ Matisoff (1997a:21) proposes that this derives from the Proto-Tibeto-Burman word family *day / *bay.

¹⁴⁵ The voiceless nasal seems to derive from an **s*- prefix in PTB. Matisoff (1997a:84,98) gives **s*-*nis* as protoform. Compare this with the form for 'two' that goes back to **g*-*ni*-*s*/*k* (Matisoff 1997:84) and that shows a voiced nasal.

The numerals 1-9 are all monosyllabic. 'two' is pronounced $n \check{o} g$, which seems to be a contraction of * $n\check{x}$, the original cardinal numeral 'two', and $-j\hat{o}g$, the most generally used nominal classifier, that became re-analysed as the normal word for 'two'. It is not possible to say * $n \grave{o} g$ - $j \grave{o} g$ 'two things' and when the numeral 'two' is used with any other classifier other than $-j \hat{o} g$, the form used is [nə] or [nɐ], as in $n \partial -t \mathring{s} \check{s}$ 'two pound'. In some other speech varieties¹⁴⁶ the more regular form $n\check{t}$ or $n\check{\sigma}$ is used.

'Ten' is a disyllabic word, but its composition is opaque.¹⁴⁷ The first syllable seems to derive from qu- with a vowel reduction to qv-. This qu- functions as the decimal marker '-teen' and '-ty': in 11-19 as the first part of the numeral; in decades (other than '20') as the second part.

Numerals eleven and onward are composite. The numerals 'eleven' and 'twelve' are interesting in that the syllable 'ten' is not [qe] as would be expected but rather [qu], the morpheme used for forming decades. This helps distinguishing them from 'ten' and 'seventeen' respectively.

Numerals 'twenty' to 'twenty-nine' are built on a morpheme -wu whereas the decades from twenty upwards are formed by the morpheme -qu for 'ten':¹⁴⁸ they are probably derived from separate etymons.

The word $s \Rightarrow q \hat{u}$ 'thirty' has a reduced vowel in the initial syllable. There are two alternate forms $\eta w \hat{v}_l w v$ and $\eta w v q \check{v}$ for 'fifty' and one alternate form $t^h u q \hat{v}$ for 'sixty'.

The numbers between decades are formed by adding the respective numeral to the decade. These are not compounds. Both parts keep their original tones and the coordinator = nog can be inserted in between the two parts. This only happens when a numeral classifier follows.

Like Qiāng (LaPolla with Huáng 2003:64), Wǎdū Pǔmǐ does not have ordinal numbers. Periphrastic constructions, such as $togp\hat{a}$ $t^{j}\hat{o}g = g\hat{a}$ 'first' (beginning:GEN

¹⁴⁶ Xiǎngshuǐhé, personal notes; Niúwōzǐ, Dīng 1998:102; Lù 2001:450-451. Note that the form $n \delta \eta$ could also be the result of a regular sound change in line with what is described in §2.2.2.

¹⁴⁷ Michaud and Jacques (2010:17): "Bonin gives two forms for 'ten', *casse-ti* and *ca-ti*. This numeral has a fricative preinitial in Lánpíng Půmǐ: /qa¹sti $\tilde{\epsilon}^1$ /, but it belongs to the set of words that do not undergo obstruent lenition in Shuǐluò Půmǐ: /kśtī́ /."

¹⁴⁸ In the neighbouring language Shǐxīng a similar phenomenon happens: the –ty in twenty has the form [𝔅a] whereas the –ty in other decimals has the form [qa]. Chirkova (2009:33) remarks: "The form [^Lna-^H𝔅a] 'twenty' ... is tentatively a loan from Shuǐluò Prinmi [^Lna-^H𝔅a], cf. Táobā Prinmi [nə³⁵-fiA⁵³] (Lù 2001: 453)."

one:CLF:thing = DEF) or $t \partial g \check{a} \ z \hat{v} g \mathscr{a} = g \partial$ 'the second' (this:GEN after:GEN = DEF) are used instead.

The word for 'hundred' has two forms, a numeral ci^{149} and a classifier $(t\acute{e})$ - $l\acute{e}j$.¹⁵⁰ ci seems to be the original word for 'hundred'. Multiples of hundred are only formed with *-lej*. The words $tôn^{151}$ 'thousand' and $m\check{e}n$ 'ten thousand' are used as numerals as well as classifiers.

	'hundred'	'thousand'	'ten thousand'
'one'	té.jej	tetóŋ	teměŋ
'two'	nálej	nətóŋ	nəměŋ
'three'	sálej	soŋtóŋ	soŋmằŋ
'four'	ZÉ.JEJ	zetóŋ	zeměŋ
'five'	ŋwé.jej	ŋwetóŋ	ŋwemžŋ
'six'	[^h u.lêj	[^h utôŋ	t ^h umâŋ
'seven'	ņ ^j ə.Įĉj	ņ ⁱ ətôŋ	n ^j əmâŋ
'eight'	ÇWE.LÊj	çwetôŋ	çwemêŋ
'nine'	gólej	gətóŋ	gəměŋ

 Table 4.4 Hundred, thousand, ten thousand

Numbers between hundreds, thousands and ten thousands are formed with the coordinator $= no\eta$ 'and', starting from the highest round number.

(234)) gà-màn = nón nine-ten.thousand = COORD gà-qú gâ nine-ty nine		gà-tóŋ = nóŋ	gá-₄źj=nòŋ		
			nine-thousand = COORD	nine-hundred = COORD		
	'99,999' ((EL)				

¹⁴⁹ Matisoff (1997:61 and 2004:22) considers it a reflex of PTB **r-gya* with the brightening phenomenon evident in the vowel, but Jacques (p.c.) notes that the Tibetan word on which this form is based is an example of Li Fang-kuei's second Law (as described in Hill 2011:447) and originates from **prja* with fortition of the *j*, rGyalrongic languages preserve the form without stop: Situ *pərja* and Japhug *yurz*a < **wərja* 'hundred'.

¹⁵⁰ – *Jej* might be related to Japhug rGyalrong –*ri* 'hundred', also a classifier (Jacques, p.c.).

¹⁵¹ This seems a pretty straightforward derivation from PTB **s-toŋ* (Matisoff 1997:61).

When the interrogative pronoun $t\varphi^h\check{\sigma}$ 'how many' follows a decade, it has the sense 'more than':

(235)	á-q ^h ù	nàwú-t¢ ^h à-¢ǽ	dzòŋ=sêŋ.
	that-on	twenty-more.than-CLF:night	sit=pfv:ego
	'(We) spe	nt more than twenty nights up	there.' (YJ01.12)

4.4 Numeral classifiers

Půmǐ classifiers only occur in counting expressions. This is different from some other classifier systems in the area in which classifiers also occur in non-counting expressions (like Chinese *zhè běn shū* 'this CLF book') or languages that allow a classifier and a noun alone, usually with an indefinite or specific sense (like Cantonese ka³³ t¢hɛ⁵⁵ 'the car'). In Půmǐ, demonstrative pronouns do not require a classifier and a classifier and a noun do not occur alone. Dīng (1998:103) therefore refers to classifiers as 'counters'. I will refer to them as numeral classifiers (Aikhenvald 2003[2000]:2).

Numeral classifiers form a compound with a numeral. The numerals $t\check{i}$ 'one' and $n\check{o}g$ 'two' show vowel reduction to tv- and $n\partial$ - respectively, which is an indication that they are compounds, not phrases. Other numerals do not show any reduction. Additionally, tonal behaviour points to their status as compounds: they show the same tonal compounding patterns that nominal compounds display (§3.4.2).

Numeral classifiers are also used as second part in a nominal compound. This is illustrated in (236) for the numeral classifiers $-l^{i}\hat{a}w$ 'grain' and $-b\mu l^{i}\check{o}\eta$ 'ball' and in (237) for $-l^{h}\hat{\mu}$ 'pair' and $-q\hat{v}$ 'household' (see also §5.1.1).

(236)	è-bá			pèj = Ją	dèbǔ,	şé-l	^j àw		
	1 = household:GEN		GEN	older.sibling = PL then g		gra	rains-CLF:grain		
	t ^j ôŋ=	= bì		t¢ ^h è-bʉ̀l ^j ŏŋ gà	-bùl ^j òŋ		dzú	t ^h òŋ=mà	
	one:C	LF:thing =	on	food-clf:ball ni	ne-CLF:1	oall	make	can=NMLZ	
	nǐŋ	t ⁱ à-gwě,	é	şé-l ^j àw	té-l ^j à	w=	bì	t¢ ^h è-b ù l ^j ŏŋ	
	2sg	PROH-tie	1sg	grains-CLF:grain	one-0	CLF:g	rain=0	on food-clf:ball	
	sǒŋ	tà	dzù	tçǽ = mə́ = bù	nĭ	ŋì	è-zwîŋ		
	three	only	mak	e $can = NMLZ = TC$	op 2s	G I	N-block	ζ	

'Our household's older siblings, who can make nine lumps of food from one kernel of grain, you would not grab, but me, who can only make three lumps of food from one kernel of grain, you blocked!!' (TC02.65)

(237) $p\dot{u}qa t\hat{v}-t^{h}u$ 'one pair of shoes' $p\dot{u}qa-t^{h}u$ 'shoe pair'

 $t\hat{v}$ -qv'one household' $m\acute{e}qv$ 'family' ($< m\hat{\sigma}$ 'person')

In terms of structure, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has two main types of numeral classifiers: nominal classifiers and verbal action classifiers. Nominal classifiers modify a noun post-nominally (*N* [*Num-CLF*]) whereas verbal action classifiers precede the verb they modify ([*Num-CLF*] V). Semantically, nominal classifiers count or measure objects, verbal classifiers count actions.

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ nominal classifiers can be divided semantically into two classes: mensural classifier and sortal classifiers. There is no morphosyntactic difference between the two. Sortal classifiers categorize nouns in terms of their inherent properties (animacy, shape, arrangement). These are often bound morphemes that are uniquely used as classifiers. Mensural classifiers categorize nouns in terms of their temporal properties (measure). These classifiers often derive from free forms. A partial list of sortal classifiers is given in (238).

(238)	tê-joŋ ~ t ⁱ ôŋ	'one item' (most generally used measure word, (in)animates)
	te-t ^h ă	'one thing' (for inanimates, often for cooking utensils)
	tê-tsə	'one person' (for people)
	tæ-bóŋ	'one stem' (for trees, bushes)
	te-wé	'one plant' (for single stalks)
	tv-dwếi	'one pole' (for bamboo poles)
	te-kú	'one stick' (for pipes, cigarettes)
	te-tĭ	'one strip' (for pegs, wooden poles, tree trunks, shawls, ropes)
	te-tǐŋ	'one layer' (for skin) ($< t \check{n} g$ 'to build by piling up, layering')
	tê-t ^h i	'one piece' (for fat meat) ($< t^{h_{T}}$ 'to cut')
	tê-țoŋ	'one piece' (for small pieces of meat, bread, sugar, salt, butter)
	$t r p^h \check{x}$	'one piece' (for big pieces of paper, cloth, land)
	te-pă	'one sheet' (for skins, leaves of tree) ($< p\check{a}$ 'leaf')
	te-tsŭ	'one room' (for rooms) (<i>< tsŭ</i> 'side room')
	tê-gu	'one sentence' (for speech)
	tv-tsěj	'one section, joint' (for time, roads, stories, wrists, fingers)
	tê-tsa	'one section, chunk' (for bamboo) ¹⁵²
	tê-l ⁱ aw	'one grain'

Mensural classifiers can be divided into group classifiers, that refer to collectives, as in (239), and measure classifiers, that quantify mass entities, as in (240).

¹⁵² $ts\hat{a}$ 'section' and $ts\check{e}j$ 'section', both bound forms, can combine to form the free lexical noun $tsats\hat{e}j$ 'joint'.

(239)	tɐ-b ú	'one pile' (for inanimates) ($< b\acute{H}$ 'pile, to pile up')
	tv-xěj	'one group' (for people)
	tê-gu	'one heap' (for people)
	tê-qe	'one household'
	te-kú	'one clan'
	te-pě	'one birth, brood' (for piglets, chicks) ($ 'to hatch')$
	te-dzð	'one set' (for clothes)
	tê-t ^h #	'one pair' (for shoes, eyes)
	$t\hat{v}$ - p^ha	'one single one' (one of a pair) ($< p^h \hat{a}$ 'to cut in half')
	tê-qæŋ	'one handful'
	te-çú	'one armful'
	tv-sž	'one sheave' (for grains) (< sǎ 'sheave, to bind sheaves')
	tê-ţæ	'one scratch' (for mushrooms) ($< t \acute{x}$ 'to scratch')
(240)	tê-hoŋ	'one mouthful, sip' (for liquids) (<i>< hôŋ</i> 'to take a sip')
	tê-ku	'one mouthful' (for solids) ($< k\hat{u}$ 'mouth cavity')
	tɐ-qʰwǎ	'one bowlful' ($< q^h w \check{a}$ 'bowl')
	tê[Ej	'one potful' ($< l\hat{e}j$ 'cooking pot')
	te-tsæpú	'one claypotful' (<i><tsæpú< i=""> 'claypot')</tsæpú<></i>
	te-twĭ	'one capful' (for gunpowder) ($< twi$ 'cap of gunpowder bottle')
	te-dwěŋ	'one cup' (for grain) (<i>< dwěŋ</i> 'dry measure')
	te-çĭ	'one cup' (for grain) ($< c \check{i}$ 'dry measure')
	tv-ţsð	'one pound' (<i>< t̥sǎ</i> 'scales')
	te-jú	'one ounce, tael'
	tɐ-sǎ	'one tenth of a tael'
	te-dwă	'one stadium/step' (<i>< dwǎ</i> 'step')
	têjaw	'one cubit' ¹⁵³ (<i><.jâw</i> 'to measure with the forearm')
	te-jíŋ	'one fathom' ¹⁵⁴ ($< jin$ 'to spread the arms')
	tɐ-t¢ʰú	'one hand-span' ¹⁵⁵ ($< t c^h \acute{u}$ 'to measure with outstretched hand')

Autoclassifiers, forms that are both nouns and numeral classifiers at the same time, are often locational or temporal words, as in (241). Some can be used as repeaters (Aikhenvald 2003[2000]:361-362), as in (242) or (188) above.

(241)	tê-noŋ	'one day' (<i>< nôŋ</i> 'daytime, day')
	tê-seŋ	'one morning' (<i>< sêŋ</i> 'morning')

¹⁵³ The distance from the elbow to the tip of the middle finger.

¹⁵⁴ The distance measured by outstretched arms.

¹⁵⁵ The distance from the tip of the thumb to the tip of the little finger on an outstretched hand. Possibly a reflex of PTB **m-twa*.

te-mĭ	'one night' (<i>< m̧ĭ</i> 'night')
te-zí	'one month' (<i>< zí</i> 'month')
tê-ku	'one year' ($< k\hat{u}$ 'year')
te-ts ^h ž	'one generation' ($< t_S^h \check{x}$ 'generation')
tê-çi	'one village' ($< c\hat{i}$ 'village')
te-dǐŋ	'one place' (<i>< dĭŋ</i> 'place')

(242) á-mì từ-mì that-night one-CLF:night

'(...) that one night (...)' (YJ01.67)

Autoclassifiers are more often than not used anaphorically, without an overt head. Other numeral-classifier compounds can also be used anaphorically, as in (243).

(243) $z\not(e+ts\dot{\vartheta} = g\dot{\vartheta}, tc\dot{\eta} s\dot{\eta}-ts\dot{\vartheta} = g\dot{\vartheta}, m\hat{a},$ four-CLF:person = DEF child three-CLF:person = DEF mother $z\not(e+ts\dot{\vartheta} = g\dot{\vartheta} s\hat{\epsilon}j$ four-CLF:person = DEF go:PFV:N.EGO 'The four of them, the three children, mother, the four of them went.' (CV02.78.1)

In counting, numerals are obligatorily followed by a numeral classifier, but there seem to be a few exceptions: animal terms can be modified by a bare numeral, as in (244).¹⁵⁶ The numeral 'one' is not always followed by a numeral classifier, since it is also used as an indefinite marker, as in (245), where both readings are possible. The particular reading depends on the discourse context.

(244) nǐŋ ,µú=tì, mètsó=tî, ts^hèləlí=tí sŏŋ də-zû
2sG chicken=one cat=one little.dog=one three TO.SP-carry:IMP:SG
' (...) You should take one chicken, one cat and one little dog, three in all (...)' (TC02.18)

(245) n^{j} ú-lèj k^{h} ì = bù jìŋ-jíŋ = má = tì lèj-dí = má = tì bean-sow time = TOP land-plow = NMLZ = one seed-throw = NMLZ = one tà q^{h} ù wěŋ only need CUST.EXCL

'(...) when the beans are planted, we need only one/a (person) plowing the land and one/a sowing the seeds' (CL03ed.11)

¹⁵⁶ This agrees with Dīng's observation in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ (1998:104). My main consultant said that for knives and axes also no numeral classifiers need to be used.

Some numeral classifiers are borrowed from Chinese. Usually the Půmǐ numeral is used, but the head noun can be either native Půmǐ or Chinese, as in (246). A Chinese noun can also be used with a native numeral-classifier compound, as in (247).

(246)	dzàdzĭ	tè-péŋ	tà	k ^h ěŋ,			
	letter	one-CLF:Ch:volume	only	give			
	sŭçù	tè-péŋ = gá = bù			swéŋ	kéj	wèŋ
	Ch:math	one-CLF:Ch:volume=	= DEF $=$	ТОР	study	let	CUST.EXCL
	'(They) only gave (us) one book, (we) were made to study the one math book,						
	()' (TC10.8)						
(247)	jæjŭ	tè-qwàl ^j áw	è-p ú ,	jú=sè	ŋ		
	Ch:potato	one-CLF:fireplace	IN-ro	ast = P	FV:EGO		

'(I) roasted a fireplaceful of potatoes.' (CL02ed.17EL)

When both the numeral and classifier (and sometimes also the noun) are borrowed from Chinese, this is more like code-switching: even the order of Chinese is borrowed, as in (248). This happens especially when talking about money, time, weights and grades in school.

(248)	tçí-k ^h wêj,	tçí-tçù	t¢ ^h àŋ	tà	dzá		
	Ch:some-Ch:CLF:dollar	Ch:some-Ch:CLF:cent	Ch:money	only	be		
	'() it was only (a few kuai), a few cents ()' (CV12.67.2)						

Verbal action classifiers (or event classifiers) indicate how many times an action is conducted. Example (249) gives a partial list of verbal action classifiers.¹⁵⁷ They are generally derived from verbs and precede the verb they modify, as in (250).

(249)	tê-p ^h ɛj	'one shot, hit, punch' ($< p^h \check{\epsilon} j$ 'to punch')
	tê-ţsə	'one jump' ($< ts\hat{\partial}$ 'to jump')
	tê-t ^h ɛj	'one punch' (horizontal movement) ($< t^{h} \check{\epsilon} j$ 'to punch')
	tê-bi	'one pummel' (vertical movement) ($< bi$ 'to pummel')
	tê-ļa	'one slap' (cf. <i>ˌlɐ́ˌlà,</i> 'to hit each other', §4.4.2)
	tê[v	'one cut' (<i>< ĮĚ</i> 'to saw, cut')
	tê-çu	'one suck, kiss' (< $c\hat{u}$ 'to suck, kiss')

¹⁵⁷ Note that the tone is always H-L, no matter what the tone of the underlying verb is (§3.4.2).

(250)	tsáw = sớ	tsàw	zìŋ	wèŋ	$k^{h}i =$	=bù,	
	pound = CONTR.TOP	pound	can	CUST.EXCL	time	e = TOP	
	sòŋ-bí = nòŋ = bù			sòŋ-ļá	tçà	q ^h ù	mà dzà
	three-CLF:pummel = COORD = TOP			three-CLF:slap	do	need	GNOMIC

'(...) You can pound, but you will have to thump three times and slap three times (...)' (TC06.10)

The structure of the adverbs $t\hat{v}gu$ 'together (in the same place)' and $t\hat{v}_{\ell}ej$ 'together (going on the same road)', and the quantifier $tedz\hat{v}$ 'some, several' points to an original numeral-classifier compound.

4.4.1 Modifiers of classifier constructions

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has a few modifying words and particles that follow a numeral-classifier compound. The limiting topic marker = ci that often follows a verbal action classifier is discussed in §6.5.11.

When the modifier $s \partial$ 'about' follows a numeral-classifier compound, it renders the meaning 'about':

(251)	té-ņòŋ	ná-ť ^h ù	sà	tçwì=dàw	má dzá
	one-CLF:day	two-CLF:pair	about	wear = IPFV:N.EGO	GNOMIC

'(...) on one day (one) wears about two pairs.' (CV01.4)

Another modifier $t^{hj} \check{x}$ 'about' that usually modifies stative verbs, can also modify numeral-classifier compounds. It precedes the compound:

(252) é t^{hj} \mathring{e} $n \stackrel{}{\partial} w \mathring{u}$ $t \stackrel{}{\partial} -n \stackrel{}{\partial} -k \mathring{u}$ k^{h} $t \stackrel{}{\partial} = I \stackrel{}{\partial} = b \mathring{u}$ 1sg about twenty one-two-CLF:year time this = PL:GEN = TOP

'When I was about twenty-one, twenty-two years old, (...)' (TC01ed.6)

The two modifiers can also co-occur, $t^{hj}\check{a}$ preceding and $s\partial$ following the numeralclassifier compound:

(253) $t^{hj}\check{a}$ từ-nìŋgà sá kwí = qèj about one-CLF:basketful about EXIST.IN = EXPT

'There will be about one basketful (...)' (CV13.39.4)

The bound morpheme $-m\check{a}n\dot{a}$ 'every' can follow a temporal classifier. My main consultant's intuition is that it forms one word with the numeral-classifier compound, but judging from the tone, it forms two phonological units.

(254) tê-non-măn^jæ 'every day' tê-ku-măn^jæ 'every year' A similar form *mədzæ* 'every' can follow other classifiers, but not temporal ones:

(255) té-qè mòdzà
one-CLF:household every
'(...) every household (...)' (PC02.4)
(256) té-tsò mòdzà qèlá nè-dá

one-CLF:jump every bundle DOWN-scatter '(...) with every jump the things (he) carried on his back scattered (...)' (KZ01.7)

 $m \partial dz \hat{x}$ can also function as a noun, as in (257) where it is the head of a genitive construction.

(257) từ-dìŋ=wá màdzà one-CLF:land=in:GEN every '(...) every area (...)' (PC03.1)

The construction ma ti 'at least' (possibly deriving from the general negator ma and the numeral ti 'one') can also follow a numeral-classifier compound:

(258) é tç^hǐ tè-q^hwă mà tí dzá=dòŋ
1sG food one-CLF:bowl at.least eat=IPFV:EGO:1SG
'I eat at least one bowl of rice (if not more).' (CV17.4EL)

4.4.2 Reduplication of numeral classifiers

There are sporadic examples of numeral classifiers that function as a verb in their reduplicated form. That is, the non-reduplicated form of the verb is only used as a classifier:

(259)	ļâ	'CLF :hi t'
	ļêļa	'to hit each other'
	tsâ	'CLF:section'
	tsâtsa	'to cut in sections'

Numeral-classifier compounds can be reduplicated as a whole. When a nominal classifier compound is reduplicated and is used as a referential phrase, the meaning is 'some', as in (260).

(260) qà-pú má = Jý tè-dǐŋ tè-dǐŋ tà= ıà down-under this = PL:GEN person = PLone-CLF:place one-CLF:place $zi = m \hat{a}$ k^hì. zí wen = dawEXIST.AN = NMLZ EXIST.AN CUST.EXCL = IPFV:N.EGO TRAIL 'Down there, there will be people in some places.' (CV07.57)

When a nominal classifier compound is reduplicated and is used in an adverbial construction modifying a verb, the meaning is 'one by one, one in turn', as in (261) or (188).

(261) gì-lǐ mà = ¢ɔ́-mɔ́ = Jð = bù ¢í = wù té-qਏ livestock-herd NEG = go-NMLZ = PL = TOP village = in one-CLF:household té-qè pʉ Jźj q^hð-dzô one-CLF:household do invite.guest OUT-eat

'(...) the ones who do not herd animals will eat as guests in the village one house at a time (...)' (CL02ed.22)

When a verbal action classifier compound is reduplicated and used in a referential sense, the resulting meaning 'some' is the same as a reduplicated nominal classifier compound that is used in a referential sense (cf. (260) above). When a verbal action classifier compound is reduplicated and used in a construction with the argument focus marker = ci (§6.5.11), the meaning expresses 'continuous action that results in something'. Both meanings are illustrated in (262) with the verb $d\check{e}$ 'to cut', and an example of the latter meaning is also given in (263).

- (262) $t\hat{v} \cdot lv t\hat{v} \cdot lv = bu$ 'some cuts' (are not good) $t\hat{v} \cdot lv t\hat{v} \cdot lv = ci$ 'continuously cutting' (makes one very tired)
- (263) té-swèŋté-swèŋ=çisóŋ-kùtàone-CLF:studyone-CLF:study=LIM.TOPthree-CLF:yeararrive

'(...) (we) continuously studied until third grade (...)' (TC10.9)

There is one occurrence in the corpus where the construction with the focus marker does not involve reduplication, but is a simple Num-CLF = ci construction with the same continuous meaning:

(264) d\u00f6b\u00fc, n\u00f3 p\u00fc t\u00e9clacking=c\u00e3=b\u00fc q\u00e9yw\u00e9=t\u00e8 m\u00e3l
(264) d\u00e6b\u00e3, n\u00e3 p\u00e4 t\u00e9clacking=c\u00e3=b\u00e3 q\u00e9yw\u00e9=t\u00e8 m\u00e3l
(264) d\u00e3b\u00e3, n\u00e3 p\u00e4 t\u00e9clacking=c\u00e3=b\u00e3 m\u00e3l
(264) d\u00e3b\u00e3, n\u00e3 p\u00e4 m\u00e3 t\u00e3 t\u00e3 e\u00e3 = b\u00e3 m\u00e3 m\u00e3 f\u00e3 t\u00e3 e\u00e3 m\u00e3 m\u00e3 f\u00e3 t\u00e3 t\u00e3 t\u00e3 e\u00e3 m\u00e3 t\u00e3 t\u00

(...)' (CL02ed.23).

4.5 Quantifiers

Quantifiers can follow a noun and also occur by themselves in an NP. Some quantifiers are listed in (265).

(265)	eľ ^j ě(ti)	'a little'
	el ⁱ ôŋl ⁱ æ(ti)	'(not just) a little' (only in negative clauses)
	tek ^h ð	'(not even) a little' (only in negative clauses)
	tedzé	'some, several'
	jehă	ʻall'
	şûşu ~ çûçu	'all' ¹⁵⁸
	b u lá	'many, a lot'
	l ⁱ oŋl ⁱ óŋ	'whole, total'
	mâdidzâ	'every' ¹⁵⁹
	mật ⁱ æ	'each person'
	mə́t ^j æçî	'everything, every kind'

 $vl^{j}\check{x}$ can be used in the sense 'a little' (quantity), but is more frequently used as an adverb, modifying stative verbs, as in 'a little heavy'. $vl^{j}\check{x}ti$ on the other hand, is sometimes used as an adverb, but more often in the sense of 'a little' (quantity). A partial reduplication $vl^{j}\check{x}$ $vl^{j}\check{x}ti$ can be used in this last sense. It follows the noun it modifies, but usually appears on its own.

(266) èl^jětì dzâw! a.little eat:IMP:SG

'Eat a little bit!' (CV21.87)

Both $vl^{j} \delta gl^{j} x(ti)$ and $tvk^{h} \delta$ only appear in combination with negation, and la 'also' often appears in combination with the latter:

(267) èlⁱóŋlⁱàtì ně-mí=ņⁱé=sì, híŋ=gòŋ t^hìŋ Jòçí wéŋ
a.little DOWN-NEG:PFV=pour=INF who=AGT drink can CUST.EXCL
ó-ts^hè=tì?
that-much=INDF
'(You) did not pour (me) just a little bit; who could drink that much?'
(CV21.199)

 $^{^{158}}$ Another sign of the palatalization tendency in the area (§2.4.5)

¹⁵⁹ Note that this word has two tones attached, which implies that it is a contraction of two items. There is a word *môdi*, which also means something like 'every', but there is only one example in the corpus, and it is not totally clear how it is used and how it is different from *môdidzó*.

(268) tits - li = lia $l^{j}u$ tikh = dz ma = daw. mule-DIM = also grain.feed a.little eat NEG = IPFV:N.EGO

'The small mule is not even eating a little bit of grain feed.' (CV14.249)

tedzé 'several' looks structurally like a numeral-classifier compound and appears in the same slot:

(269) bú-b^jæ̀l^jòŋ từdzé dò-zá sweet-round several TO.SP-carry

'(...) carrying several sweets (...)' (TC06.21)

jehá and *sûşu* ~ $c\hat{u}cu$ both mean 'all'. The latter might be a loanword from Yŏngníng Na. They are occasionally used together:

(270) tá= lá= bù jèhă hí cúcù dzà mà dzà fià.
3=PL=TOP all god all be NMLZ.CONSTR
'These (stories) are all talking about gods.' (CV13.110.2)

bulá 'a lot, many' can also mean 'too much':

(271) bùlá tçð mé = hà
a.lot say NEG.EMPH = ought
'You shouldn't say too much.' (CV21.537.2)

The group of quantifiers $m\partial didz\partial$ 'every(thing)', $m\partial t^{j} \alpha c\hat{i}$ 'everything, every kind', $m\partial t^{j} \alpha$ 'every person', have a similar meaning. The first two are used for inanimates; the last one for animates:

(272) médìdzé bóŋ=mè=tì dzè everything EXIST.POSS=NMLZ=one be '(...) (he) is one who has everything (...)' (TC08.14)
(273) t^hóŋmé=gè mét^jécí q^hù=dăw. pumi=GEN everything need=IPFV:N.EGO

'Everything of Půmǐ is needed.' (CV21.457)

(274) nìŋ-bú-sèŋ mát^jà t^jóŋ q^hà-dzá tà.
2-household-PART every.person one:CLF:thing OUT-eat can
'(...) the several of you, every person can eat one.' (CV17.27)

4.6 Demonstratives and locationals: time and place

Cross-linguistically, time and place are often treated in similar ways. This is true for Wǎdū Pǔmǐ as well, so in this section I will discuss the ways Pǔmǐ expresses temporal and locational concepts. The nominal demonstrative is discussed in §4.6.1, bound

demonstratives and their corresponding verbal prefixes in §4.6.2, spatial nouns and postpositions in §4.6.3, a morpheme $-n\partial$ that is used in locational and temporal combinations in §4.6.4, and temporal nominals in §4.6.5. Discourse functions of demonstratives and locationals will be discussed in §10.9.8.

4.6.1 Nominal demonstrative and manner demonstrative

As opposed to some other Půmí speech varieties, the Wǎdū Půmǐ variety has only one nominal demonstrative, the proximal $t \neq i$ 'this'. It can be preceded by the emphatic bound demonstrative $h \neq i$ (§4.6.2) which seems to function as a sort of distal, as in (275). When a proximal-distal distinction needs to be made, $t \neq i$ 'this' is modified by a genitive construction with the bound demonstratives, such as $\partial dz \neq t \neq i$ 'this over here' in (276) or $\partial dz \neq t \neq i$ 'this over there' in (277).

- (275) fiǎw-tá dàbǔ nỳ-kú ỳ-jěj that-this then DOWN-carry.on.back IN-get '(...) and carried that on (her) back (...)' (CV14.268)
 (276) dàbǔ à-dzá tá=gá ljà?
- then this-location:GEN this = DEF RHET 'So what about this one here?' (CV16.44)
- (277) $\dot{\vartheta}$ -dz \dot{a} t $\dot{\vartheta}$ = g $\dot{\vartheta}$ n $\dot{\vartheta}$ -k^h \dot{a} k^h $\dot{\vartheta}$ k^h \dot{i} = n $\dot{\delta}$ n $\dot{\eta}$ that-location:GEN this = DEF DOWN-pack:CNT time = only

'After having packed that one (...)' (CV16.64)

The demonstrative $t \circ directly$ precedes the noun in an NP, as in (278). It is also used as a third person pronoun (§4.2). When the head noun is not overtly expressed, definiteness and plurality can be marked on the demonstrative itself, as in (279) and (280). The demonstrative can make up an NP by itself, as in (281).

- (278) d\u00f6b\u00e0 t\u00e0 m\u00e0q\u00e0 g\u00ed= b\u00f0 t\u00e1 = q^h\u00f0 n\u00e0-dz\u00e9j fi\u00e0 t\u00e4 n\u00e0 dz\u00e9j fi\u00e0 t\u00e4 n\u00e0 dz\u00e9j fi\u00e0 t\u00e4 n\u00e0 dz\u00e9j fi\u00e0 t\u00e4 n\u00e0 dz\u00e9j fi\u00e0 t\u00e4 n\u00e0 dz\u00e0 t\u00e3 n\u00e0 dz\u00e0 t\u00e0 n\u00e0 n\u00e0 dz\u00e0 t\u00e0 n\u00e0 t\u00e0 t\u00e0 n\u00e0 n
- (279) $t \hat{\Rightarrow} = g \hat{\Rightarrow} = l \hat{a}$ $n \hat{i} = g \hat{a}$ $ts \hat{u}$ $dz \hat{\Rightarrow} = d \hat{a} w$ $n \hat{o} \eta$? this = DEF = also LOG = GEN son be = IPFV:N.EGO QUEST 'This one is his son as well?' (CV07.27)
- (280) $t \neq = t \neq j \neq h a$ nè-m $\neq g \neq j = s = k^{h}$. this = PL all DOWN-forget g0:PFV:N.EGO = INF TRAIL '(...) but (I) forgot these all.' (CV08.13.2)

(281) tá q^hà-dzá k^hí=bù, t^hè-dóŋ wèŋ this OUT-eat time=TOP FR.SP-be.okay CUST.EXCL
'When (you) eat this, (you'll) get well. (...)' (CV09.106)

In addition to the nominal demonstrative, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has a manner demonstrative $n \acute{a}$ 'like this, thus'. It appears as a nominal constituent as in (282) and (283), but in (284) it is nominalized. Both are possible, but the addition of the nominalizer is more natural according to my main consultant.

- (282) $dzin^{j}\acute{a} m\acute{a} = t\dot{a}$ $n\acute{a} = ti$ $c\dot{i}$ wén tçàw. really person = PL thus = INDF EXIST.AB CUST.EXCL HSY 'Really, it is said that there is something like this.' (CV14.123.2)
- (283) ájù ná=gá zàtsà nà kù má dzâ INTJ thus=GEN Ch:days thus Ch:live.through GNOMIC
 '(...) ojo! that (we) lived through days like this (...)' (CV03.12.4)
- (284) $n \hat{\Rightarrow} = m \hat{\Rightarrow} = g \hat{a}$ $z \hat{\Rightarrow} ts \hat{\Rightarrow}$ $m \hat{i} = k \hat{u}$ $m \hat{\Rightarrow} dz \hat{\Rightarrow} q \hat{z} \hat{j}$ thus = NMLZ = GEN Ch:days NEG = Ch:live.through EPIST

'(They) will probably not have lived through days like that (...)' (CV03.16.1)

 $n\delta$ is related to $n\delta ni$ 'like this' or $X n\delta ni$ 'like X' and which can be negated $X n\delta = m\delta = ni$ 'not like X'. $n\delta$ also occurs in an associative construction (§5.7.1). It also has adverbial functions in that it directly modifies the verbs $tc\delta$ 'to say', $p\ell$ 'to do', $dz\check{u}$ 'to make' and $d\delta n$ 'to become', as in (285), and stative verbs (§8.2), as in (286). When modifying other verbs (than the ones mentioned here), a pre-verbal adverbial construction (§7.10.1) with the light verb $p\ell$ 'to do' is used, as in (287).

(285) $n\dot{\Rightarrow}$ $tc\dot{\Rightarrow} = d\dot{a}w$ thus say = IPFV:N.EGO

'(...) he said that (...)' (CV15.37)

- (286) púpù-zèpù = bù tú ná tç^hwí k^hî
 this.year-last.year = TOP lard thus good time
 'In recent years when the lard was this good, (...)' (CV20.119)
- (287) n \Rightarrow p \pm q^h \Rightarrow -dz \Rightarrow = s \pm n thus do OUT-eat = PFV:EGO '(...) (we) ate like this (...)' (CV03.15)

4.6.2 Bound demonstratives and directional prefixes

Půmǐ has an elaborate system of bound demonstratives. In Wǎdū Půmǐ there are two general demonstratives that only differ in tone: the proximal $\check{\partial}$ - 'this' and a distal $\hat{\partial}$ - 'that', and an emphatic $h\check{a}w$ - 'that'. These demonstratives are deictic primitives: bound roots that cannot occur in isolation, but have to be specified by spatial or temporal nouns, as in (288). The proximal $\check{\partial}$ - is only used in combination with locational nouns or postpositions, as in (289). The distal $\hat{\partial}$ - modifies temporal nouns as well as locational nouns and postpositions, as in (290).

- (288) $\partial -dzi$ 'here (this location)' $\partial -dzi$ 'there (that location)' $\partial -sen$ 'that morning' $h \check{a} w - k^{h}i$ 'then (that time)'
- (289) nǐŋ à-dzí míŋ lù cì?
 2sG this-location what work EXIST.AB
 '(...) What are you doing here?' (TC02.38)

(290)	á-mì	wù¢ì=Jǽ	mí = bù		
	that-night	New.Year = PL:GEN	night = TOP		
	'That night, the night of New Year, ()' (CL02ed.11)				

The distal $\hat{\sigma}$ - can also co-occur with stative verbs, and expresses more abstract deixis: the spatial or temporal extent of the concept expressed by the verb, as in (291). It is often accompanied by hand movements to illustrate the extent, as is illustrated in (292). In this example, Tiger, who is holding on to a tree to prevent himself from falling off a cliff, is tricked by Hare into illustrating the size of the piece of meat that he will give Hare for rescuing him. In order to illustrate the size, he releases his grip and dies. In instances like these, a more emphatic form with a reduplication of the stative verb can be used, as in (293), (see also §4.2.3). Forms as in (291-293) are often used in equative constructions (§10.6).
jèhǎ t^hè-h^jéj $tc^{h}i = su,$ " (292) dèbů zě " \hat{a} -t \hat{c} j = t \hat{i} hà, then hand all FR.SP-release LINK that-be.big = INDF feed = VOL:SG tcà $k^{h}i = bu$, t^hútù $g \check{a} = p \check{u}$ nè-jóŋjíŋ immediately cliff = under DOWN-roll sav time = TOP nè-séj ĥà DOWN-go:PFV:N.EGO LINK 'Then when (Tiger) opened (his) hands and said, "I will feed (you) one that big," (he) immediately rolled down the cliff and (...)' (KZ03.39) (293) tàcá cwál^jù \dot{a} -t \dot{a} t $\dot{\epsilon}$ j = m \dot{a} ćwż cwè d^jóŋ wèŋ small.bell that-be.big = NMLZ eight eight EXIST.AT CUST.EXCL now mà dzà mà

GNOMIC INFO

'Again there are eight and eight bells (attached to each side) (...) that are as big as the 'small bell' (that we use); (...)' (CV13.9)

The emphatic $h\check{a}w$ - 'that' occurs with locational and temporal nouns and postpositions, and has a distal function similar to \hat{o} - 'that', as in (294). But unlike \check{o} - or \hat{o} -, it also occurs with the nominal demonstrative $t\check{o}$ 'this' and the manner demonstrative $n\check{o}$ 'thus' (§4.6.1), as in (295). In those cases it seems to add more emphasis to the uttlerance. More research is needed.

(294) fiðu-dzì $dz \hat{a} = q \hat{c} j$. that-location be = EXPT'It will be over there.' (CV12.60)

(295) hău-nɨ mə́ dzə́ qèj. that-thus EPIST

'It would have been like this.' (CV12.50)

Apart from the general bound demonstratives, there are six other bound demonstratives that can be grouped into three pairs. Two pairs specify location and direction-deixis, and one pair specifies speaker-deixis. Directional verb prefixes are formally and semantically related to these bound demonstratives, as can be seen in Table 4.5. The basic forms in the first column are deictic primitives: bound forms that need to be followed by postpositions. The forms are given to allow easy comparison with the verb prefixes in column four. The bound demonstratives appear in two sets that are mostly distinguished by tone: for demonstratives denoting location, the underlying lexical tone of the demonstrative spreads to a following noun/postposition;

directional demonstratives show a fixed L.R tone pattern.¹⁶⁰ In Table 4.5, forms with the locational noun/postposition dzi are given. Bound demonstratives also occur with the other locational postpositions (§4.6.3).

Basic form	Location	Direction	Verb prefix	Meaning
tí-	tídzi	tidzĭ	tó-	'mountain-wards, upwards'
qă-/nĭ-	qadzĭ	nidzĭ	ně-	'valley-wards, downwards'
k ^h ŭ-	k ^h udzî	k ^h udzĭ	q^h ð-/ k^h ð-	'out from center, down the valley'
hờŋ-	hoŋdzî	hoŋdzĭ	(h)ě-	'in to center, up the valley'
kě-/dĭ-	kedzî	didzĭ	dð-	'towards speaker, across boundary'
t ^h ĭ-	t ^h idzî	t ^h idzĭ	$t^h \check{e}$ -	'from speaker, across boundary'

Table 4.5 Bound demonstratives and directional prefixes

Formwise, the directional prefixes correspond to the demonstratives indicating direction. This is especially clear in the cases of $n\breve{e}$ - and $d\breve{e}$ -. Tonewise, the prefixes correspond to the demonstratives denoting location. This is clear in the case of the prefix $t\acute{e}$ - that has the same tone as the corresponding high-toned bound demonstrative $t\acute{r}$ -. The prefix $t\acute{e}$ - is the only form that has widespread cognate forms in many Qiangic languages (Evans 2004:207). Evans notes the PTB **l-tak* 'ascend, above' as source (from Benedict 1972:52,110,123). The prefix is found with high tone in all attested Pǔmǐ speech varieties (Lù 1983:45; 2000:157; Matisoff 1997:209; Dīng 1998:68; Fù 1998:28; Jacques 2011c:369). It is argued in §3.4.5 that tonal correspondence to the bound demonstratives is also seen in the other prefixes.

Directional prefixes show vowel reduction compared to bound demonstratives, with some prefixes being reduced to [ə] and some to [ɐ]. It is not clear what conditions the respective vowels. Note that the prefixes in Shuǐluò (from Jacques' data shown in Table 4.6) also display similar vowel alternation.¹⁶¹

The most common form of the inwards prefix in Wǎdū is \check{e} - [?e], but it is clear that there used to be an initial [h] that has been lost. Three pieces of evidence can be given. Firstly, the form of the corresponding demonstrative is $h\check{o}g$ - (occasionally $h\check{x}g$ -) (Table 4.5) with an initial consonant. Secondly, inter-dialectal comparison as shown in Table 4.6 points to an initial consonant. The forms from Mùlǐ (Xiàmàidì, Bókē, Gùzēng,

¹⁶⁰ In the second and third column the toneless noun/postposition dzi is added to show the tonal difference. The adverbials can be followed by several other nouns/postpositions (§4.6.3).

¹⁶¹ Dīng's data display a similar alternation, but with two dissimilarities: $t \dot{a}$ - and d a-.

Kāngwū and Dōngzi [Gerong Pincuo, MS]) all have [h]/[x]. Consonant lenition is noted in other Pǔmǐ varieties as well. Fù (1998:32) notes an alternation between *xa*- and *a*in Dàyáng Pǔmǐ, and explains it as a difference in tone of voice: *xa*- is more emphatic. It could be that the initial consonant is about to be lost, but when pronounced carefully ('emphatic use'), it is still audible. Dīng (1998:119) notes lenition of the consonant in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ from $[k] > [x] > \emptyset$. Thirdly, in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ the forms used in the interrogative and negation show an initial consonant, as in (296) and (297):

(296) $t \dot{e} n \dot{a} = b \dot{u}$ $dz \dot{a} dz \dot{i} = n \dot{o} \eta$ $n \dot{a} = t \dot{i}$ $h^{j} \dot{e} \cdot sw \dot{e} \eta = b \dot{u}$ otherwise = TOP letter = COORD thus = INDF IN:Q-study = TOP

' (...) otherwise, if (she) had gone to school a bit (...)' (CV12.48)

(297) $\dot{v}m\dot{a}-l\dot{l}$ $h\dot{v}-m\dot{n}=z\dot{a}$ $k^{h}\dot{l}$ aunt-DIM IN-NEG.PFV = come time

'(...) when young aunt has not returned (yet) (...)' (CV13.137.2)

Qìnghuā	Dàyáng	Niúwōzĭ	Shuĭluò	Meaning
tá-	tá-	tś-	tá-	'up(ward), upstream'
nð-	nà-	<i>113</i> -	<i>113</i> -	'down(ward), downstream'
k ^h ð-	k ^h ∂-	g ə-/ k^h ə-	k ^h ∂-	'out(ward); left to right, from center'
XŽ-	xà-/à-	з-/ һз-	һз-	'in(ward); right to left, to center'
dð-	dà-	<i>dз-/ dә-</i>	də-	'to(ward) speaker, to center, cis-locative'
t ^h ð-	t ^h ∂-	t ^h 3-	<i>t^h3</i> -	'from speaker, from center, trans-locative'

Table 4.6 Directiona	l prefixes in	other Půmí spee	ch varieties ¹⁶²
----------------------	---------------	-----------------	-----------------------------

The semantics of the different demonstratives reflect to a certain extent the geography of the area, with the traditional Půmǐ house as the focal point: ti- is the direction towards the mountain, which implies higher altitude, and $q\check{a}$ - is the direction towards the valley, which implies lower altitude;¹⁶³ ti- and $q\check{a}$ - thus also denote vertically upwards and downwards. At the same time there is a cultural value attached to the

¹⁶² Data for Qìnghuā Pǔmǐ, Dàyáng Pǔmǐ, Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ, and Shuǐluò Pǔmǐ are respectively taken from Lù 2001:157, Fù 1998:34-41, Dīng 1998:118, and Jacques 2011a:369. For sake of comparison, I present all the data with similar diacritics for tone (Lù uses] for high level and 4 for low-rising tone; Fù uses ⁵⁵ for high level and ³¹ for low-falling tone); I also present Dīng's examples in IPA, instead of in his orthography.

¹⁶³ Since main rivers flow from mountains into valleys, this would also explain Fu's analysis in Table 4.6 of *tá*- as 'upstream' and *nà*- as 'downstream'.

two directions. Půmǐ houses are generally built in relation to the mountain of the local mountain deity and the main altar of the house is located at the mountain side ('the head') of the house. Thus seats of honour (closer to the altar) are located 'higher up'. $t\check{t}$ - and $n\check{t}$ - are also used in a metaphorical sense of going up and down a hierarchical structure, like a genealogy or levels of leadership.

 $h \check{o} \eta$ - and $k^h \check{u}$ - can be analysed as 'inward to center' and 'outward from center' respectively. The focal point is the main room of the house with the central pillar that is referred to as $t c \circ m \acute{a} g \approx k^h w \acute{e}$ 'the heart of the main room'. This is the center of Pǔmĭ cosmology. Wellens (2010:124) writes that the central pillar of the house connects the house with the earth, heaven and the deities and is a representation of the center of

the universe. The scope then extends to the valley in which the house is located: the direction into the house and up the valley can be analysed as 'inwards' and the direction out of the house and down the valley can be analysed as 'outwards'. My main consultant, however, views the $h \check{o} g$ - $/k^h \check{u}$ - axis as a solar axis, and it is possible that this is a more current interpretation that is influenced by the use of Chinese. Since in Wǎdū the door of the main house faces east, the extension of the 'outward' meaning to denote 'east' and the 'inward' meaning to denote 'west' is relatively easy to envision. But none of the previous descriptions of Pǔmǐ mention anything about a solar system.¹⁶⁴ And there is a complication



to the solar axis analysis. In Tuōqī, a Pǔmǐ village in the far northern end of the valley, $h \check{o} p$ - and $k^h \check{u}$ - are flipped compared to the other three villages in the valley. As can be seen in in the illustration, Tuōqī is actually located in a different valley which runs in roughly the opposite direction. The inward/outward analysis takes care of the problem, whereas the solar axis analysis does not explain why the two are flipped.

An alternative analysis for $h \check{o} g$ - and $k^h \check{u}$ - as 'riverwards' and 'away from river' respectively would tie in with the central role of rivers in the directional system of many Qiangic languages (see Shirai 2009:9 for nDrapa and Evans 2004:207 for Qiāng).¹⁶⁵ But this river option is confusing for the Wǎdū situation, since there is

¹⁶⁴ For a language in the area that has been analysed as being based on a solar system, see Lin (2000) on a variety of rGyalrong.

¹⁶⁵ This ties in with what is reported for two Pǔmǐ villages in Yījí, where both villages face the river: the doors in the village on one side of the of the river face east (riverwards) and the doors on the opposite side of the valley face west (also riverwards) (Wellens 2010:124).

another river running through the valley as well. It might work better in steeper valleys, where houses do tend to face the rivers.

The use of $h \check{o} g$ - and $k^h \check{u}$ - also extends to holes and caves that have a horizontal layout: the inward movement is marked with $h \check{o} g$ - and the outward movement with $k^h \check{u}$ -, no matter the direction the hole faces.

The directional prefix corresponding to $k^h \check{u}$ - shows two variants: $q^h \check{\sigma}$ - and $k^h \check{\sigma}$ -. Even though on phonological grounds I have taken the form $q^h \check{\sigma}$ - to be the default form and $k^h \check{\sigma}$ - the fronted form (§2.1.7.4), on comparative grounds it seems that in general in Pǔmǐ the form $k^h \check{\sigma}$ - should be taken as the default form synchronically: the corresponding bound demonstrative in Table 4.5 has a velar consonant and the corresponding Dàyáng Pǔmǐ variant also shows a velar consonant (Fù 1998:41), even though Dàyáng Pǔmǐ has uvular stop phonemes. The form of the prefix shows consonant alternation in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ as well ($g \sigma$ - versus $k^h \sigma$ -), but Dīng does not specify any environments (Dīng 1998:119).

 $t^{h}\check{t}$ - and $k\check{v}$ - relate to natural boundaries, usually rivers or mountains: $k\check{v}$ - denotes this side of a boundary, and $t^{h}\check{t}$ - denotes the far side of a boundary. The corresponding directional prefixes show a slight extension of the meaning: $d\check{o}$ - denotes 'towards speaker/across a boundary' and $t^{h}\check{v}$ - denotes 'from speaker/across a boundary'. $t^{h}\check{t}$ - is often used in combination with $n\hat{u}$ 'outside' to denote the back side of a mountain, as in (298).

(298)	∂-b ⁱ ǽ	wú	nà=tì	t ^h è-ļčj	jǎw
	this-side:GEN	interior	thus = INDF	FR.SP-cross	again
	t ^h ì-nú		çwíŋ	dà-zá	çə q ^h ú=dàw
	across.boundar	y-outside	lunch	TO.SP-carry	go need = IPFV:N.EGO
	'() (one) need	ls to cros	s one mount	tain on this si	de like this, and go carrying

lunch on the other side.' (YJ02.11)

There are two other bound demonstratives that are often used: $m\acute{v}$ - 'down the slope' and $h\check{a}m$ - 'up the slope'.

In addition there is a set of four cardinal points, shown in (299). As in many languages in the area, the terms are borrowed from Tibetan.

(299) $c\hat{v}$ - $tc^{h}wi(bi)$ 'east' (<Tibetan *shar.phyogs*) $h\hat{u}$ - $tc^{h}wi(bi)$ 'south' (<Tibetan *lho.phyogs*) $n^{j}\hat{o}\eta$ - $tc^{h}wi(bi)$ 'west' (<Tibetan *nub.phyogs*) $tc^{h}\hat{o}\eta$ - $tc^{h}wi(bi)$ 'north' (<Tibetan *byang.phyogs*) The set is mainly used for religious purposes: in libation¹⁶⁶ and for calculating auspicious dates.¹⁶⁷

4.6.3 Locational postpositions

Like in many Tibeto-Burman languages, most if not all postpositions derive from nouns. They often appear in so-called 'relator noun constructions' (DeLancey 1997; 2003:264) as head of a genitive construction, while at the same time appearing as postpositions. Some postpositions have grammaticalised even further into markers of grammatical relations (§6.2). In (300) the relator noun $p\acute{u}$ 'under' is shown in a compound with a demonstrative and as a nominal head of a genitive construction. In (301) $p\acute{u}$ is shown as a postposition. Postpositions function as clitics in many ways: as postpositions they do not have their own tone and they merge with the genetic clitic =(g)æ, as in (302). But they still keep some of their independence by not taking on the tone of the preceding noun, by appearing in a low surface tone, as in (301) and (302).

(300)	á-pà	t¢ə̀Ji = gǽ	pû	
	that-in:GEN	spring = GEN	bottom	
	(5.11			

'Below the spring under there (...)' (CV04.60)

- (301) *hǒŋ pù* 'under the animal pen'
- (302) $z\check{a} = q^h w\dot{a}$ $t\acute{a} = g\hat{a}$? hand = on:GEN this = DEF

'The one in (your) hand?' (CV19.94.2)

A list of relator nouns/postpositions is given in (303).¹⁶⁸

(303)	nû	'exterior, outside'
	tû	'top, on'
	pú	'lower part, under'
	$q^h u$	'top, on top'
	WU	'interior, inside, in'
	bi	'side, on'

¹⁶⁶ At important occasions such as New Year, a libation chant (in which these cardinal points are mentioned) will be performed and liquor will be poured out on the hearth.

¹⁶⁷ The twelve zodiac animals related to a person's birth are calculated against the four cardinal points to render auspicious and inauspicious times for conducting certain actions. Whether or not they are cardinal points rather than different spirits (as in Qiāng, LaPolla, p.c.), needs further anthropological research.

¹⁶⁸ Interestingly these all end in [u] or [i].

dzi 'location, at'

 $tc^h Wi$ 'direction, in the direction of'

Relator nouns can all form a compound with the bound demonstratives described in §4.6.2. A few examples are given in (304).

(304)	qa-pú	'under there (valley-wards)'
	tí-q ^h u	'up there (mountain-wards)'
	xoŋ-wú	'in there (up the valley)'
	k ^h u-nú	'out there (down the valley)'
	<i>â-tu</i>	'on there'

Relator nouns are different from other nouns in certain aspects. The first is that they cannot be preceded by the demonstrative $t\hat{a}$. Another aspect is that the genitive marker =(g)x can fuse with them. Normally when the genitive marker follows a noun, it has the form [gæ]; it only fuses when following other clitics (§5.3.1).

Relator nouns show different stages of grammaticalisation. This can in particular be seen in their tonal behaviour, i.e. whether they still retain their individual tone, show a low tonal target, or take on the tone of the preceding constituent. Tonal behaviour of relator nouns is discussed in §3.4.4, and will not be discussed here.

Other indications of grammaticalisation include whether relator nouns can function as an independent noun outside a genitive construction, whether they can be the head of a genitive construction, whether they can form a compound with the bound demonstratives described in §4.6.2, whether they can function as a postposition, and whether they can function as a marker of grammatical relations.

Looking at Table 4.7 the cline of grammaticalisation can be clearly seen from the most noun-like $n\hat{u}$, which has its own tone and mostly functions as a noun to the least noun-like tc^hwi , which does not have its own tone and only occurs in compounds with demonstratives. It can also be followed by *bi*, as in *qatc*^{*h*}*wîbi* 'down there'.

	nû	tû	pú	$q^h u$	WU	bi	dzi	t¢ ^h wi
Occurs outside of genitive construction	х	X	X ¹⁶⁹	-	-	-	-	_ 170
Occurs as head of genitive construction	X	x	х	х	x	x	x	-
Forms compound with demonstrative	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	X
Functions as postposition	- ¹⁷¹	x	x	x	x	x	- ¹⁷²	_ 173

Table 4.7 Grammaticalisation of relator nouns

Semantically, both $q^h u$ and $t\hat{u}$ denote a location on top of something. The semantic difference between these two lies in their scope. The scope of $t\hat{u}$ is limited to the narrow top of an object, and is used with things such as horses, fireplaces, trees, hands, ladders, spikes, cliffs, and even the base of a lightbulb. The scope of $q^h u$ is bigger, including every horizontal area on top of an object, and also general areas of land (ground, hills, plains), the sky, and the upper area of smaller objects, such as horses, fireplaces, trees, hands, ladders, houses, bridges. Thus, $q^h u$ is more widely used in the dataset, and it refers mainly to location. $t\hat{u}$, on the other hand, is used in all kinds of derived senses.

Both can occur in a genitival construction as a head noun or immediately after a noun as a postposition:

(305)	$w\hat{u} = gx q^h u$	'the top and sides of the mountain'
	$W\hat{u} = q^h u$	'on the mountain'
	$w\hat{u} = g\hat{x} t\hat{u}$	'the top (peak) of the mountain'
	$w\hat{u} = tu$	'on top of the mountain (the peak)'

It seems that even though $q^h u$ is still used as the head noun of a genitive construction, it behaves less independently than $t\hat{u}$ in that it has lost its tone and always appears with low tone. In addition, it cannot appear in some environments where $t\hat{u}$ can appear, as shown in (306) and (307).

¹⁶⁹ Only in riddles.

¹⁷⁰ It occurs as a numeral classifier.

¹⁷¹ Apart from forming a compound with the noun *gŏŋ* 'body'*: goŋnŭ* 'outside'.

¹⁷² Only appears as a postposition after the locational noun $k^{h}i'$ edge' with a low tonal target.

¹⁷³ Only occurs as a postposition with a subset of nouns: after the locational nouns mentioned in (323) below.

(306) tú tèj / tú dⁱòŋ on EXIST.H on EXIST.AT '(It's) on top.' (EL)

(307) $*q^{h}$ ú tèj / $*q^{h}$ ú d^jòŋ

In (308) a non-literal use of $q^h u$ is given.

(308) é=só má=nòŋ swéŋ=bù, n^já=q^hù Jwâ, Jwâ.
1sG=CONTR.TOP mother=COORD father=TOP eye=on IDEO IDEO
'I still remember (her) mother and father, (they)'re continuously present in my mind's eye.' (CV21.38)

This is similar to the following two examples where $t\hat{u}$ is used:

(309) $n^{j} \acute{a} = t \grave{a}$ $t c \acute{i} \eta = m \acute{a}$ eye = on:GEN see = NMLZ

'What our eyes have seen (lit. on our eyes be seen) (...)' (CV23.29)

(310) swéŋ $k^{h}i = bù$ $l^{j}e = t\hat{u} = b\hat{u}$ $d^{j}e\xi^{h}wd\xi^{h}w\hat{u}$ swà $l^{j}e\hat{l}$ study time = TOP tongue = on = TOP fluent read can $k^{h}i = b\hat{u}$ time = TOP

'When (I) was studying, (I) could read fluently, (...)' (lit. it was fluent on my tongue) (TC10.12)

The relator noun $t\hat{u}$ has several derived functions. One will be discussed here; some others are discussed elsewhere: $t\hat{u}$ marks the standard of comparison in a comparative construction (§10.6). The marker is also used for adversive situations (§6.2.7) where the argument marked by the locative postposition is negatively affected (similar to English 'he died on me'). And $t\hat{u}$ is used where the action expressed by the verb is not directed towards the NP, but is about 'concerning' the NP (§6.2.7). $t\hat{u}$ can also be used in a temporal sense, indicating 'right at that time, something happened':

```
(311) tà=gǎ tçà=má=tù=bù tátá tçàdóŋmádòŋ
3sG=GEN say=NMLZ=top=TOP just.then flood
k<sup>h</sup>à-tç<sup>h</sup>ôŋ
OUT-appear:PFV:N.EGO
'Right then, at his saying (that), the flood arrived.' (TC02.19)
```

The relator noun *pu* 'bottom, under' denotes a location under things.

(312) $t \varphi \partial_t \tilde{i} = g \varphi p \tilde{u}$ 'under the spring' $t^h \delta \eta = p u$ 'under the water reservoir' It forms an antonym pair with $t\hat{u}$ 'top, on'. This is shown in the following riddle:

(313) sə́pusəlàdzə́dzə́dzə́dzə́, tú dzə́ k^hí=bù, guess.this.riddle top eat time=TOP
pú q^hə-p^hè=dáw, míŋ dzə?
bottom OUT-spit=IPFV:N.EGO what be

'Guess this riddle, what is eating at the top and spitting out at the bottom?'¹⁷⁴ (PC05w.13.1)

A slightly derived use of *pu* appears in the phrase $k^h w \acute{e} p \grave{u} k w \hat{i}$ 'to remember' (lit. heart under exist).¹⁷⁵

The relator noun *wu* 'interior, in' denotes a location inside something else. When it follows personal names or pronouns, it has to appear in a genitive construction, and generally denotes somebody's place; *wu* can also mark temporal constituents, as in (315). Additionally, *wu* can sometimes be used in an allative sense (§6.2.8).

(314)	pǐŋ=gæ wu	'in the grove'
	pĭŋ = wù	'in the grove'
	p ^h élî=gæ wu	`at Phali's place'

(315) $t \neq dz \neq w \hat{u}$ 'during this era'

The relator noun dzi denotes a location on a horizontal plane that is the same altitude of the speaker; $-tc^{h}wi$ denotes a general direction; *bi* denotes a location on a slope or a vertical plane. $-tc^{h}wi$ is a bound form that can only occur with bound demonstratives or combine with *bi*, as in $tv-tc^{h}wibi$ one side'. The differences between the three can be clearly illustrated with the interrogative pronoun ki 'where' that can be followed by all three:

(316)	kâdzi	'where (on the horizontal plane)'
	kâbi	'where (on the vertical plane)'
	kôt¢ ^h wi	'where (which direction)'

dzi can function as a noun as well as a postposition, as in (317) and (318).

¹⁷⁴ The answer to this riddle is $logt^h \check{a}$ 'mill stone'.

¹⁷⁵ Like many Tibeto-Burman languages, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has a whole set of 'psycho-collocations' (Matisoff 1986): phrases that are formed with organs like heart and express emotions. They function as internal state verbs, like $k^h w \acute{e} t^h \acute{o} g$ 'to be sincere, transparent' (lit. white heart). No psycho-collocations with 'lung' or 'liver' have been found in the corpus. A to-date comprehensive list of 'heart phrases' is given in Appendix A.

- (317) $nin = dz \hat{e}n = g \hat{e}$ dzi $2 = DU = G \hat{e} N$ location
 - 'at your location' (CV02.52.1)
- (318) t¢^hwètóŋk^hí = dzi
 pig.pen.edge = location
 `at the pig pen edge' (CV14.268)

It can also be used in a temporal, rather than locational sense, as in (319).

(319) $z \partial k^{h} dw$ $t c^{h} w \partial z dz i = dz i = b u$ next.year pig slaughter = time = also = TOP

'Next year at the time of slaughtering pigs, (...)' (CV20.101)

The relator noun *bi* has grammaticalised from a noun meaning 'side', to a locative postposition to a dative marker. Example (320) illustrates its nominal use; examples (321) and (322) illustrate its (locative and temporal) postpositional use. Its use as semantic role marker will be discussed in §6.2.3.

- (320) wù = gé bí
 tiger = GEN side
 '(...) the side of (those people's) Tiger (...)' (KZ03.34)
- (321) p di = bi $t c^h dw = s u$ \hat{a} , $t^h \hat{e}$, $m \hat{a}$? jacket = on rub = VOL:SG CONF all the time what

'Do you still want to rub it on (your uncle's) jacket?' (CV20.141)

(322) tsóŋ=bì q^hà-tă k^hì=bù, tç^hwà tş^há tş^házà wèŋ.
winter=on OUT-arrive time=TOP pig slaughter prepare CUST.EXCL
'When winter arrives, pig slaughter is prepared.' (CL01ed.8)

There are several other locational nouns that often co-occur with postpositions.

(323) $k^{h}\check{i}$ 'edge' $z\hat{a}$ 'side, corner' $z\check{j}$ 'right' $w\check{e}\check{j}$ 'left' $m\hat{x}\eta$ 'tail-end'

4.6.4 The morpheme $-n^{i}$ and shortening effect

Sometimes when bound demonstratives and spatial postpositions combine, a bound morpheme $-n^{j} \sim -n \vartheta$ is inserted between the two parts. This morpheme expresses that a location is at a relatively short distance from the speaker. The form is possibly related

to Wǎdū Pǔmǐ $\mathcal{I}w\hat{v}n'$ ² 'near' that derives from $\mathcal{I}w\hat{v}$ 'road' and $-n'^{2}$ 'near' (but note the difference in voicing of the nasal), and a reflex of PTB **s*-na:y x **s*-ney.

An example of the morpheme is given in (324). The topic of the conversation is the location of teeth in the speaker's mouth and the morpheme $-n^{j}\sigma$ is used. If it was left out, one would get the impression that the teeth were really far apart.

(324) t^jóŋ k^hù-n^jó-dzí t^jóŋ hòŋ-nó-dzí d^jòŋ one:CLF:thing out-near-location one:CLF:thing in-near-location EXIST.AT
'(...) there is one out here (and) one in here (...)' (CV02.57)

The morpheme also occurs at the end of temporal and locational words or clauses, as in (325-327). In (327) it seems to be the head noun of a genitive construction. It is not clear what its exact function is in these examples and whether it is the same morpheme.

- (325) $m \partial t c^{h} \dot{o} \eta = t \dot{\partial} k^{h} \partial c \partial = l \dot{a} = b \dot{u} n^{j} \partial$ man = PL OUT-go = also = TOP-near 'When the men go out, (...)' (CV21.51.1)
- (326) d\u00f6b\u00fc-n^j\u00f3 p\u00ecjp\u00ecj j t\u00ecd d|= \u00cc\u00ed i then-near older.sibling Tadi = LIM.TOP
 'Then older brother Tadi (...)' (YJ02.6)
- (327) é tó... qà-dzé-n^jó éd^jè=Jò çúçó q^hù tçò
 1SG this down-location:GEN-near grandmother=PL dress.up need say
 'They told us grandmothers to dress up, (...)' (CV21.210)

4.6.5 Temporal nominals

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ temporal nominals (or time ordinals) are given in Table 4.8. It can be seen that the structure of previous years and days is parallel, but the addition of $zek^h \hat{a}w$ 'next year' creates a disharmony between the otherwise parallel structure of future days and years. Like most Tibeto-Burman languages (Bradley 2013), Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has lexicalised forms for days and years, but not weeks and months. There are two terms that are used for 'year': the free form p# for previous years and the bound form $-k^haw$ for future years. The normal word for 'year' is p#. The form $-k^haw$ might be related to the older word for 'year' $k\hat{u}$, that is now often used as a classifier for 'years of age', but one would have to find an explanation between the difference in aspiration. The morpheme for 'day' has in most cases been reduced to $p^j 2.176$ Within a day, there is only

¹⁷⁶ That is actually a reflection of the older form for 'day' $n\hat{i}$, which in the Wǎdū area has changed to $n\hat{o}\eta$ (§2.2.2).

a two-way distinction between morning and night. Note that the voiceless nasal in $n \hat{o} \eta$ 'day' and $m \check{i}$ 'night' becomes voiced in the terms that are used most frequently.¹⁷⁷ The word for 'tomorrow' *senbu* is probably a combination of the morpheme $s \hat{e} \eta$ 'morning' and the topic marker *bu*, but synchronically seen as one word.¹⁷⁸ A more periphrastic way of referring to 'yesterday' and 'tomorrow' is $J \hat{o} n \hat{o} \eta$ (lit. 'the preceding day') and *zegonôŋ* (lit. 'the following day').

Table 4.8 Temporal nominals							
	<i>p</i> # 'year'	<i>ņôŋ</i> `day'	<i>sêŋ</i> 'morning'	<i>mĭ</i> 'night'			
-4	.Ţ û lap u	.Į û laņ ^j ə	-	-			
-3	.Įʉgípʉ	.Įʉgíņ ^j ə	-	-			
-2	.Į û p u	.Į û n ⁱ ə	.į u sěŋ	.Į û mi			
-1	Zêp u	zên ^j ə	zen ⁱ əsêŋ	pîçi			
0	р й р и	p û n ^j ə	p u sêŋ	zemî			
+1	zek ^h âw	seŋbŭ	seŋbŭ nusêŋ	sêŋmi ~ sêŋmi			
+2	sêŋk ^h aw	q ^h #seŋņ ^j ə⁄'nôŋ	q ^h useŋsêŋ	q ^h useŋmî			
+3	q ^h useŋk ^h âw	q ^h ʉdín̥ʲə/n̥oŋ	-	-			
+4	q ^h udík ^h aw	q ^h ʉlan̥ ^j ə/n̥oŋ	-	-			

Temporal nominals are also used in a non-deictic sense. This is illustrated in (328) where 'today', 'tomorrow' and 'the day after tomorrow' refer to relative time in the story rather than specific time.

¹⁷⁷ Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ shows voicing alternating in the same forms for 'day' (Dīng 1998:42).

¹⁷⁸ Note that Fù (1998:128) has the word $sian^{24}$ for 'morning' in Dàyáng Půmǐ. The word for 'tomorrow' in Niúwōzǐ Půmǐ is $sj\tilde{e}ní$ (Dīng 1998:42).

(328) púnà tá-tú t¢^hwèníŋ=gòŋnì jǎw l^jèwǔ nè-púl^jâ. today UP-dig wild.boar = AGT again again DOWN-turn.over sèŋbǔ jăw tá-tú, q^hùsèŋnź t¢^hwèníŋ = gòŋ jǎw day.after.tomorrow tomorrow again UP-dig wild.boar = AGT again nè-púl^jæ DOWN-turn.over 'What they dug today (=the first day), the wild boar would overturn again. What they dug tomorrow (= the second day), the wild boar would overturn

again the day after tomorrow (= the third day), (...)' (TC02.4,5)

Other temporal nominals that refer to specific time are:

n ^j ǽ.ĮƏ	'very early morning'
çêt ^h u	'early morning'
nusêŋ	'morning'
meŋǎŋ	'afternoon'
¢wíp ^h a	ʻnight'
kə́t ⁱ əl ⁱ u	'in depths of night'
	n ⁱ ǽlə çît ^h u nusêŋ meŋằŋ çwíp ^h a kə́t ⁱ əl ⁱ u

Other temporal forms that express relative time, related to the time of speaking, are:

(330)	tă	'now'
	təçæ ~ təçǽ	'now' (point in time or current time period) ¹⁷⁹
	tədzí	'this period of time'
	kedzí	'this period of time, this time' (also locational use)
	.ĮĴ	'before' (also locational use)
	zêgi	'after' (also locational use)
	SƏ	'first'
	nŏŋjæ	'later'
	tenóŋ	'just now'
	tâtçə	'just then' ¹⁸⁰
	$t^{j}\check{x}$	'recently' (is often followed by temporal words like $n \hat{o} \eta$ 'day')
	t ⁱ un ⁱ ǽ	'so early' ¹⁸¹

¹⁷⁹ This is different from tă 'now', which is used as the result of a process leading up to that point (*təç bu* can also be used in that way). It is possible that *tă* derives from the verb *tă* 'to arrive'.

¹⁸⁰ This word can also be used as a predicate 'to be just right', as in 'these shoes are just right for me'.

¹⁸¹ Indicates that right now is not the right time according to the speaker.

t ^h ûtu	'immediately, the whole time'
t ^h é ∼ t ^h émiŋ	'all the time, always, often'
teť ^h ľ ~ teť ^h ŏŋ	'after a while'
teq ^h êj teq ^h êj	'sometimes' ¹⁸² ($< q^h \acute{e} j$ 'times')

The corpus has a few examples of partial reduplication of temporal forms:

(331)	¢wíp ^h a-¢wíĮæ	'the whole night' ($< cwíp^ha$ '(mid)night')
	¢WÍ¢Ə-¢WÍĮæ	'the whole night' (<i>< çwí</i> 'evening')
	ņôŋ¢ə-ņôŋ.Įæ	'the whole day' (< <i>nôŋ</i> 'day')
	çêmæ-çêt ^h u	'very early morning' ($< c \hat{v} t^h u$ 'early morning')

When the construction *X tv*-*dĭŋ* 'one place, somewhere' is used with a temporal word, the implication is a general time. I have only one example in my database.

(332) nǒŋ séŋmì từ-dìŋ qà-dzí màtc^hí=tì
so tomorrow.night one-CLF:place down-location dinner=INDF
t^hừ-dzú fià tá kéj=gì
FR.SP-make LINK this let=VOL:INCL
'So tomorrow night (or sometime) let's have (them) cook some dinne

'So, tomorrow night (or sometime) let's have (them) cook some dinner downstairs and have them eat (...)' (CV02.76)

4.7 Adverbs

Adverbs are defined as words that modify a predicate. They include adverbs of manner, adverbs of intensity or degree, and epistemic adverbs. Adverbs show no morphology apart from some inherent reduplication.

Apart from adverbs that modify a predicate, there are several adverbial predicate modifying constructions. These will be discussed in §7.10.1, §7.10.2 and §7.10.3.

Other manner adverbs are given in (333) and (334). The manner adverbs in (333) immediately precede the verb, the ones in (334) need the verb $p\acute{t}$ 'to do', as in an adverbial construction. An exception is *tití*, which usually appears in an adverbial construction, as in (335), but can immediately modify the verb in often-used collocations like *tití côŋ* 'go slowly' or *tití dzôŋ* 'sit slowly'.

(333)	tun ⁱ ớ	'purposely'
	n ^j æpú	'secretly' (possibly from $n^{j} \check{x}$ 'eye' and pu 'under')
	háməzə	'casually, randomly'
	dædæ	'horizontally' (usually used with 'to put', 'to throw', 'to cut')
	tç ^h ípæ	'very well, nicely'

¹⁸² Reduplicated numeral-classifier compound.

	dŏŋ	'to	gether (in ac	tion)'
	têgu	'to	gether (in th	e same place)'
(334)	tê.jej	'to	gether (on th	e same road)'
	qaqă	'to	gether, comn	nunal' (also occurs as noun 'group')
	tití	'sl	owly'	
	dâda	'sl	owly' (loanw	ord from Yŏngníng Na?)
	dú.ji	ʻle	isurely'	
(335)	tìtí	pù	t ^h è-dədæŋ	tá-t¢ ^h ôŋ.
	slowly	do	FR.SP-walk	UP-come:PFV:N.EGO

'(...) (the old man) came up walking slowly.' (YJ01.63)

There are a few adverbs of degree or intensity, listed in (336). According to my main consultant, two of them, $m \partial t^h \check{a}$ and $m \partial n \check{e} \eta$, might be loanwords from Yǒngníng Na. $m \partial t^h \check{a}$ is only used in combination with negation, as in (337). $m \partial n \check{e} \eta$ only appears in the corpus once in combination with $t^{hj}\check{e}$, as in (338).

(336)	qêtç ^h i	<i>c^hi</i> 'not very'				
	mət ^h ă	'not very'				
	tç ^h ədzú	'too much' (usually in combination with negation 'not much			on 'not much')	
	$t^{hj}\!\check{x}$	 'about, pretty much' 'so-so, not very good or bad' 'really' (but also used as interjection) 'almost' 'only' 				
	mənứŋ					
	dzín ^j æ					
	ts ^h ŭ					
	ta					
	jăw	'again'				
(337)	tá = bù	nǐŋ mə́= jæ̀	hí	tóŋ	mà=dzà	tçə = dàw
	3SG = TOP	INTJ person = PL:GEN	god	speak	NMLZ = be	$sav = IPFV:N_EGO$

 $3SG = TOP \quad INTJ \quad person = PL:GEN \quad god \quad speak \quad NMLZ = be \quad say = IPFV:N.EGO$ $m \dot{\partial} dz \dot{\partial}, \quad m \dot{\partial} t^{h} \dot{\alpha} \quad t \dot{\alpha} \quad m \dot{v} = h \dot{\alpha} \quad t \dot{c} \dot{\partial} = d \dot{\alpha} \quad m \dot{\partial} dz \dot{\partial}.$ $GNOMIC \quad not.very \quad speak \quad NEG:EMPH = ought \quad say = IPFV:N.EGO \quad GNOMIC$

'He said, mind you, that this (story) was one that talked about god, and so one should not casually narrate it.' (CV13.114.2)

(338) dèbǔ, pěj t¢é = gà tàn $\hat{a}\eta = g \delta \eta n i$ d $\hat{b} \dot{u}$, ťión crossbow = INS then older.sibling big = DEF then one:CLF:thing q^hà-t^hằ k^hà-cà kwéj $k^{h}i = bu$, î. t^{hj}ž mànứŋ OUT-shoot OUT-go let:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP INTJ about so.so té-gè-bà $k \delta \eta = p \hat{u}$ \dot{v} -ts \dot{v} = s \dot{i} tcàw. door-under one-CLF:household-household IN-hit = INFHSY 'So when the big brother shot one (arrow) with his crossbow, it hit the door of a relatively good household, it is said.' (TC09.5)

There are two post-verbal adverbs, which is interesting, since most adverbs modify a verb pre-verbally: $\varphi i \varphi i$ 'a little bit' usually follows stative verbs and expressives, as in (339), but can also modify other verbs pre-verbally in an adverbial construction (§7.10.1); $z_i \check{u}$ 'very' only modifies stative verbs post-verbally, as in (340), and might be related to the verb $z_i \check{u}$ 'to be excessive, to be capable', as in (341), see also (§8.2).

- ((jòŋtçíŋ)) kéŋpâpá çìçì=tà, dǎwmà
 T:dByangs.cin Ch:very.thin a.little.bit=SVM T:rDo.rje.Dre.ma
 bádôŋdóŋ çìçì=tà, ósèŋ?
 short.and.stocky a.little.bit=SVM AGR
 '((Yongjin)) is very thin, Dauma is short and stocky, right?' (CV01.54)
- (341) qéj t^hè-zù=sî
 grease FR.SP-be.excessive=INF
 'It's very greasy.' (EL:B903)

4.8 Clause linkers

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has two groups of clause linkers. Apart from $d \partial b \check{u}$, (§10.2, §10.9.3) the clause linkers in (342) appear only clause-initially, and I will not treat them further in this grammar. The clause linkers in (343) appear clause-finally and are subordinators, coordinators and clause linkers that have grammaticalised from nominals or noun phrase markers (the only exception is *sətçæ* which is only used as a clausal subordinator). They will be treated in §10.1 and §10.4.

(342)	tenð	'otherwise'
	nŏŋ	'so, in that case' ¹⁸³
	noŋtçǽ	'as a matter of fact'
	noŋtçû	'in that case'
	nŏŋnoŋ	'only then' (at beginning of clause)
	dəbŭ	'then'
	jăw	'again'
(343)	sətçæ	ʻif
	<i>k</i> ^h i	'while'
	(q ^h u) goŋni	'since'
	ћа (лођпі)	'and, because'
	ha (tçəbu)	'and, because'
	noŋ	'and, or'

4.9 Grammaticalisation

Grammaticalisation is a diachronic process by which lexical forms take on grammatical functions. In languages like Půmǐ that have not been documented historically, it is sometimes difficult to show how grammaticalisation paths have developed and whether semantic bleaching or extension has taken place. Two factors that allow drawing some conclusions about grammaticalisation in Půmǐ are that different stages of the grammaticalisation path are still present synchronically: many forms in Wǎdū Půmǐ are used lexically as well as performing grammatical functions. The other factor is taking into account cross-linguistic grammaticalisation tendencies. Many of the grammaticalisation paths in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ are well-attested cross-linguistically (Heine and Kuteva 2002), such as the path from noun to postposition to semantic role marker. Some grammaticalisations are more interesting from a typological perspective: especially the development of inclusive and exclusive knowledge markers from verbs (§8.5).

Grammaticalisation processes will be mentioned in several parts of the grammar, and are listed with their references in Table 4.9.

¹⁸³ Also in combination with discourse markers *di* (§6.5.7) and *sə* (§6.5.8), thus *nŏŋ sə* and *nŏŋ di*.

Iu	bie in Grammaticanbation processes in Wada ra	
	Grammaticalisation process	Reference
bi	noun 'side' > postposition 'on' > semantic role marker (dative and source)	§4.6.3; §6.2.3; §6.2.5
tú	noun 'top' > <i>tu</i> postposition 'on top' > adversive > comparative marker	§4.6.3; §6.2.7; §10.6
WU	noun 'interior' > postposition 'in' > allative	§4.6.3; §6.2.8
mâ	noun 'mother' > - <i>ma</i> derogatory marking, augmentative marking	§5.1.3.3
ts û	noun 'son' > - <i>tsə</i> diminutive marking	§5.1.3.4
dĭ	'to be old' > geriatric suffix	§5.1.3.5
tóŋ	noun 'animal pen' > $= toy$ locational, instrumental nominalizer	§5.2.1
mô ~ mô	'person' > - <i>mə</i> agentive nominalizer > general nominalizer, relative clause marker	§5.2.3; §5.3.2
sŏŋ	numeral 'three' $> = seg$ partitive paucal marker	§5.4
tĭ	'one' > indefinite marker	§5.5
=ha (Jonni)	ablative > discourse marker causal subordination marker general clause linker	§6.2.9; §10.2; §10.4.3
=goŋ(ni)	agentive marker instrumental marker > clausal subordination marker	§6.2.1; §6.2.4; §10.4.3
$q^h \check{u}$	verb 'to need' > $q^h u$ auxiliary 'need to' > politeness marker 'please' customary marker, inclusive information 'will'	§7.9.9; §8.5
wêŋ	verb 'to have learned' > <i>weŋ</i> auxiliary 'be able' > customary marker, exclusive information 'will'	§7.9.2; §8.5
dzóŋ	verb 'to sit' > durative verbal aspect	§7.8.2
k ^h ĭŋ	verb 'to give' > benefactive verbal aspect	§7.8.3
tĭ	verb 'to put' > terminative verbal aspect	§7.8.4
ts ^h á	verb 'to be exhausted, be finished' > completive verbal aspect	§7.8.5

Table 4.9 Grammaticalisation processes in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ

	Grammaticalisation process	Reference
р й	verb 'to do' > adverbial clause marker control adding particle	§7.10.1; §8.1.1
tçð	verb 'to say' > $tc \partial$ quotative marker	§8.3.5
=si	perfective $> = si$ inferential evidential	§8.3.1

4.10 Conclusion

This chapter described various form classes in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. The open form classes show considerable overlap and are better described in construction-specific terms. Pronouns distinguish dual and plural number; the first person inclusive and second person singular pronouns have taken on more abstract functions and are used as interjectives that express speaker attitude. Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has a logophoric pronoun which is used for co-reference. Numerals show a strictly decimal system; the numerals 'six', 'seven' and 'eight' show distinctive tonal behaviour. Numerals and numeral-classifiers occur together in compounds. Demonstratives are mostly bound roots that compound with locational and temporal nouns. Directional verb prefixes are semantically and formally related to the bound demonstratives and reflect the layout of the geographical landscape. Locational nouns are the source for the semantic role markers. Adverbs can be divided into two functional classes: those that directly modify a verb and those that need the verb $p\acute{a}$ 'to do' in order to modify a verb. Several grammaticalisation processes can be observed synchronically through the co-existence of lexical and grammaticalised forms.

Chapter 5. The noun phrase

This chapter discusses the internal structure of the noun phrase. It will start with the noun stem and discuss different nominal morphology in §5.1: the processes of compounding, reduplication, and affixation. Nominalization as a process of forming nominals will be discussed in §5.2; nominal modification constructions will be discussed in §5.3, and number and definiteness in §5.4 and §5.5. The structure of the noun phrase is discussed in §5.6 and a section on noun phrase coordination in §5.7 will end the chapter.

5.1 Nominal morphology

The noun stem shows several formation processes that will be dealt with in this section, namely compounding (§5.1.1), reduplication (§5.1.2) and affixation (§5.1.3). Disyllabic nouns form the majority of nouns in the corpus.¹⁸⁴ Some examples of monosyllabic nouns are given in (344), and examples of disyllabic and polysyllabic unanalyzable nouns are given in (345).

(344)	zž	'hand'
	.ĮÛ	'chicken'
	ļí	'moon'
	t¢ ^h ĭ	'food'
(345)	b u Įéj	'snake'
	q ^h oŋdzí	'spoon'
	háməzə	'messy'
	baqajú	'pine cone
	n ^j óŋ.jəbala	'bat' ¹⁸⁵

¹⁸⁴ Roughly one tenth of the nouns are polysyllabic; roughly two thirds of the other nouns are disyllabic and one third is monosyllabic.

¹⁸⁵ Although this word is not analyzable, the part *-bala* seems to have an ideophonic meaning that conveys an image of something hanging down.

5.1.1 Compounding

Compounding is a highly productive process in Pǔmǐ. The tonal pattern of compounds is often different from the combination of the tones of the different free lexical forms (§3.4.1). This forms an important criterion in distinguishing phrases from compounds.

There are several coordinate compounds, where both nouns have equal status. Coordinate compounding only occurs with two monosyllabic or disyllabic elements that show parallel semantics.

(346)	pejkwêŋ	'siblings' ($ 'older sibling' + k w \check{e} \eta 'younger sibling')$
	swâŋma	'parents' ($< sw \hat{x} \eta$ 'father' + $m \hat{a}$ 'mother')
	níŋtse	'sickness' ($< nin$ 'disease' + $ts\hat{v}$ 'hot, fever')
	hoŋtóŋ	'animal pen' (<i>< hŏŋ</i> 'enclosure' + <i>tóŋ</i> 'animal pen')
	ts ^h idzí	'salt-and-tea' ¹⁸⁶ ($< ts^{h}t$ 'salt' + dzt 'tea')
	ts ^h û tsweŋ	'lung-and-liver' ($< ts^{h} \check{t}$ 'lung' + $tsw \hat{e} \eta$ 'liver')
	t¢ ^h wæk ^h wet¢ ^h wâļ ^j e	'pig heart-and-tongue' ($< tc^h w \check{x}$ 'pig' + $k^h w \acute{v}$ 'heart' +
		<i>ļ'ě</i> 'tongue')

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has certain other coordinate compounds, of which the second (probably archaic) noun never appears independently, but only as part of the compound or in certain constructions: $N = no\eta N$ with the coordinator $= no\eta$, as in (347), or $N V_1 N V_2$, as in (348) and (349).

(347)	dzʉĮź	dz ŭ =noŋ .Įź	'soul' ($ < dz \check{u}$ 'soul' + $J \check{x}$?)
	dzək ^h ź	$dz\check{\partial} = no\eta \; k^h \hat{x}$	'society' ($< dz \check{a}$ 'society, era' + $k^h \hat{x}$?)
	z u hwă	z₩=noŋ hwă	'facial features' ($< z \check{u}$ 'facial features' + $h w \check{a}$?)
	píjoŋ	pí=noŋ jŏŋ	'values and principles' ($< pi$ 'truth' + $j \delta g^{187}$)
	t¢ ^h âwt¢ ^h æ	$t c^h \hat{a} w = non t c^h \hat{x}$	'relatives' ($< tc^h \hat{a} w$ 'blood line' + $-tc \hat{x}$ 'breed')
		g ŭ =noŋ q ú	'money' ($ < g\check{t}$ 'money' + $q\check{t}$?)
		dấ=noŋ d û	$(< d\hat{x} (< d\hat{x} (vil) + d\hat{t}))$

¹⁸⁶ The last three compounds are cultural notions: salt and tea are the basic ingredients for Pǔmǐ cooking. 'lung-and-liver' and 'pig heart-and-tongue' are conceptual units connected with the culture around pork preparation: the lung and the liver are prepared similarly by filling them with a mixture of water, flour and spices, and then boiling them. Slices are roasted and served as a delicacy. The heart and the tongue are stuffed with lean meat, tied together and presented as a pair during a special occasion.

¹⁸⁷ Dīng (1998:239) translates $pi \ zi \ j\ddot{o} \ dj\ddot{o}$ as 'there are adages' (< pi 'maxim' + $j\check{o}\eta$ 'knowledge').

(348) zù tç^hwí hwà tç^hwì facial.features good ? good 'very handsome' (CV07.16.2)
(349) gù tç^hòŋl^jóŋ qú tç^hóŋl^jòŋ

to wait for money' (CV21.361.4)

Půmǐ also has some set phrases that consist of two disyllabic nouns that are roughly similar in meaning. These are not really compounds, since they consist of two tone groups. '#' in (350) indicates the tone group boundary.

(350)	dwilóŋ# l ⁱ æk≹	'customs' ($< dwilón$ 'customs' + $l^j x k \check{x}$ 'things')
	jílu# l ^j ækž	'behaviour' (<i>< jílu</i> 'behaviour' + <i>l^jækě</i> 'things')
	q ^h óŋmə# tç ^h âwtçæ	'relatives' ($< q^{h} \acute{o} \eta m \partial$ 'relatives' + $t c^{h} \hat{a} w t c x$ 'relatives')
	tsêzi# d ⁱ úd ⁱ u	'monkey' ($ < ts\hat{v}zi$ 'monkey' + $d^{j}ud^{j}u$ 'monkey')
	sétç¹æ# diŋbá	'place' ($< s\acute{e}tc^h a$ 'place' + $digb\acute{a}$ 'place')
	tsáki# şə̂dzi	'pork-back-slice-limbs' (<i>< tsáki</i> 'meat cut' + <i>sôdzi</i> 'limbs')

Endocentric compounds are compounds where the whole denotes a subclass of one of the elements. When the second element is the head, the compound consists of two nouns, as in (351), or (stative) verb + noun, as in (352).

(351)	.[WÊ[^h ʉ	'yak horn' ($< lwe'$ 'yak' + l^{h} #'horn')
	qwêt ^h u	'cow horn' ($< qw \acute{e}$ 'cow' + $t^{h} \acute{t}$ 'horn')
	xiţsóŋ	'shrine-room' (< xí 'god' + tsóŋ 'house')
	tçəsŭ	'mist' ($< t c \delta$ 'water' + $s \hat{u}$ 'gas')
(352)	ţşúĮæŋ	'buttermilk' (<i>< tsú</i> 'to be sour' + <i>.t̥ǽŋ</i> 'liquid')
	téjmə	'leader' (< $t \acute{e} j$ 'to be big' + $m \hat{\sigma}$ 'person')
	tíŋbu	'small cockroach' ¹⁸⁸ (< tig 'to be rich' + $b\hat{u}$ 'bug')
	dzæŋpě	'uncooked flour' ($< dz \hat{e} \eta$ 'to be wet' + $p \check{e}$ 'flour')
	çegwéŋ	'pack horse' ($< c e'$ 'to pack a load' + $gweg$ 'horse')
	tətsú	'hungry ghost' ($< t \check{>}$ 'to die away from home' + $ts \check{u}$ 'ghost') ¹⁸⁹

Endocentric compounds where the first element is the head usually consist of a noun followed by a stative verb. Examples are given in (353).

¹⁸⁸ This is a tiny bug, similar in shape to a small cockroach, that lives around the fireplace and is said to bring wealth, hence its name 'affluent bug'. It is the enemy of the poisonous centipede. ¹⁸⁹ People that die when they are away from home are said to become hungry ghosts.

(353)	tsêg u	'aged pork back' (< $ts\dot{a}$ 'meat' + $g\dot{\mu}$ 'to be old')
	nejşôŋ	'clean milk' (< $n\check{\epsilon}j$ 'milk' + $\varsigma \acute{o}\eta$ 'to be clean')
	tç ^h ekóŋ	'left-over rice' ($< tc^{h}$ 'rice' + $k \acute{o} \eta$ 'to be cold')190
	dzets ^h ŏŋ	'waist' ($ < dz i$ 'waist' + $ts^{h} \check{o} g$ 'to be thin')
	pedě	'broken axe' ($< p\hat{H}$ 'axe' + $d\check{p}$ 'to be bad')
	mətéj	'oldest daughter' ($< m\hat{\partial}$ 'daughter' + $t \acute{e} j$ 'to be big')

Examples of exocentric compounds, where the compound denotes something different from the elements, are given in (354). Exocentric compounds are less frequent than endocentric compounds.

(354)	q ^h ûtsoŋ	'pillow' ($< q^{h} \check{H}$ 'head' + $t s \acute{o} \eta$ 'house')
	ť ^h óŋmə	'Půmi' ($< t^{h} \acute{o} g$ 'to be white' + $m \hat{\sigma}$ 'person')
	q ^h oŋ.Įwě	'aorta' ($< q^{h} \check{o} \eta$ 'life' + $U \hat{w} \hat{v}$ 'thread')

Multimorphemic, multipsyllabic compounds are also attested. A few examples are given in (355). Compounds with up to five syllables can form a single tone group; when compounds are bigger than five syllables, they form multiple tone groups, as in (356).

(355)	míŋnipʉqa	'straw sandal' (< <i>míŋni</i> 'sandal' + <i>púqa</i> 'shoe')
	b u .į έj.įənæŋhaw	'snake skin bag' ($< b$ # $l \not\in j$ 'snake' + $l \hat{\sigma}$ 'skin' + $n x n h \acute{a} w$
	ʻbag')	
	q ^h ʉn ^j âpʉdima	'deceased old lady'($< q^{h} \breve{t}$ 'head' + $n^{j} \hat{x}$ 'black' + $p \breve{t} dim \acute{a}$
	'old lady')	
(2EC)	talle sile arity along	Shazal aathin namidaa' (< tabaxibáxi bazal aathin' + aíau

(356) *tsⁿə.iibá.ii*# *çípu* 'hazel catkin porridge' (*< tsⁿə.iibá.ii* hazel catkin' + *çípu* porridge')

One culturally interesting compound is the word for 'common hoopoe'. This is a bird that arrives in spring and that is called *qûpudzejgweŋ*, which means 'cuckoo's riding horse' (from *qûpu* 'cuckoo', *dzěj* 'to ride a horse' and *gwěŋ* 'horse'). The common hoopoe is said to announce the coming of the cuckoo, a very significant bird in Pǔmǐ culture.

Půmǐ shows a certain amount of taxonomic compounding, where either the first or the second constituent of the compound is used as a categorizing device, indicating the kind of noun class of the noun. This categorizing device can be called 'class term' (DeLancey 1998:109). Class terms that are the second constituent of a compound

¹⁹⁰ Note the vowel reduction in this and the following two compounds. All vowels except for $/\nu/and /a/can$ undergo reduction to $[\nu]$ and sometimes to [a] or [t]. I have not been able to find a clear-cut rule. It seems that frequent words like sěŋ 'firewood', zž 'hand', tc^hĭ 'rice, food', tc^hwž 'pig' are often reduced, but they are not always reduced. There is at least one contrastive pair that is formed of the same constituents, but has different tones and one of them shows vowel reduction whereas the other does not: seng^hwá 'shoots (in spring)' versus s $\hat{\nu}$ g^ht 'tree top'.

cannot usually occur in isolation, but often occur as a numeral classifier in a numeralclassifier compound (§4.4). When they occur in nominal compounds the class term denotes the general category of which the whole compound is the subordinate category. Some examples are given in (357-359). Semantically these compounds often denote flora, fauna, food or body parts.

The class term *-boŋ* can be used to denote trees as well as plants. Nowadays *-boŋ* does not occur by itself; the general word for 'tree' *seŋbóŋ* is made up of *sěŋ* 'wood' and *- boŋ* 'tree'. *-boŋ* is also used as a classifier (§4.4).

(357)	seŋbóŋ	'tree'
	lóŋboŋ	'oak'
	q ^h ugæbóŋ	'hazelnut bush'
	n ^j ûboŋ	'bean plant'

 $-\dot{Paw}$ is a bound form that expresses a small round object like a kernel of wheat. It can occur as a classifier, see §4.4. example (236), and also as a class term:

(358)	şêl ^j aw	'grain kernel' (<i>sé</i> 'grains')
	n ^j él ^j aw	'eye' ($< n^{j}\hat{x}$ 'eye')
	qwal ^j áw	'fireplace' ($< qwa$ 'fireplace')

 $-P\hat{a}w$ can also occur in a reduplicated form as $P\hat{a}wP\hat{a}w$, which can be used as a noun, but also as a class term. This renders a plural reading.

(359)	şél ⁱ awl ⁱ aw	'grain kernels' (<i>sé</i> 'grains')
	toŋtçəl ^j âwl ^j aw	'buckwheat kernels' (<i>toŋtçð</i> 'buckwheat')
	n ^j ûl ^j awl ^j aw	'beans' ($n^{j}\hat{u}$ 'bean')

-tcin 'sort' is a bound form that only appears in compounds that denote generic types of animals.¹⁹¹ It cannot be used as a classifier and is probably a bound noun root.

(360) <i>zætçîŋ</i> 'claw-type animal' (bears, wolves, cat		'claw-type animal' (bears, wolves, cats) ($< z \check{a}$ 'claw')
	doŋtçíŋ	'winged animal' (<i>< dôŋ</i> 'wing')
	pátçiŋ	'non-cloven-footed animal' (horses) (< pá 'undivided hoof')
	qwátçiŋ	'cloven-footed animal' (pigs, sheep, goats) (< $qw\dot{a}$ 'divided hoof')
	t ⁱ útçiŋ	'non-cud-chewing animal' (pigs, horses) ($< t^{\dot{l}}\hat{u}$ 'stomach')
	gwetçîŋ	'cud-chewing animal' (sheep, cows) ($< gw\check{e}$ 'third stomach')

There is one instance where the bound root can also derive a non-animal term. This is in the compound $\epsilon i \eta q^h t c i \eta$ 'iron head sort, blockhead' ($< \epsilon i \eta$ 'iron' and $q^h t$ 'head'),

¹⁹¹ The words *séŋtçiŋ* 'animal', *nisêŋtçiŋ* 'wild animal', and *wuséŋtçiŋ* 'wild animal' ($< w\hat{u}$ 'mountain') even though ending in *-tçiŋ*, are not related to these according to my main consultant. *séŋtçiŋ* is derived from Tibetan *sems.can* 'sentient being'.

denoting the sort of people who never listen to others, but only do what they think is best.

Class terms that are the first syllable of a compound can usually, but not always, occur as free nouns. But vowel reduction occurs when they appear in taxonomic compounds.¹⁹² Compounds with class terms as the first part often show a whole-part relationship. Some examples are given in (361-363).

(361)	$n^{j}\hat{x}$	'eye'
	n ^j edwěj	'tears' ($< dw \check{e} j$ 'tears')
	n ^j és u	'eyeball' (<i>< s</i> ŧ̆ 'fruit')
	n ^j êtsəmæŋ	'eyebrow' ($< ts\hat{H}$ 'son'? + $m\hat{x}n$ 'hair')
(362)	ZĚ	'hand, arm'
	zeqóŋ	'elbow' ($< q \hat{o} g$ 'gully')
	zéqwejli	'armpit' (<i><qwɛjlí< i=""> 'hollow')</qwɛjlí<></i>
	ze.jŭ	'forearm' (<i><.ųŭ</i> 'bone')
	zetsěj	'wrist' (<i><-tsěj</i> 'joint')
(363)	sěŋ	'wood'
	sê.ju	'trunk' (<i>< .ųŭ</i> 'bone')
	se.Jð	'bark' ($< .l\hat{\partial}$ 'skin')
	sɐtwă	'branch' (<i>< twǎ</i> 'branch')
	seqwěj	'stick' (<i>< qwěj</i> 'peg')
	setă	'cutting block' (<i>< tă</i> 'cutting board')

The numeral classifier $-q\hat{v}$ 'household' is a bound morpheme. It can function as a numeral classifier, but also form the first or second part of a compound. This might point to a nominal origin.

(364)	méqe	'family' ($< m\hat{\partial}$ 'person'?)
	qɐtéj	'big household' (<i>< téj</i> 'to be big')

Many nouns that denote people have the word for $m\hat{\partial} \sim m\hat{\partial}$ 'person' as their first syllable, but the second syllable is not analyzable:

(365) $m\hat{\partial}dxm\partial \sim m\hat{\partial}dxm\partial$ 'mortal' $m\partial dx$ 'female' $m\partial tc^{h}\delta\eta$ 'male' $m\partial gí\eta$ 'old man'

¹⁹² This vowel reduction is a morphological rather than a phonological process, similar to the status constructus alternation described for Japhug (Jacques 2012a:1214-1215).

məņíŋ	'child'
məzî	'young woman'

5.1.2 Reduplication

Nouns may show several kinds of reduplication. Examples of the most straightforward reduplication pattern are given in (366). This usually occurs with kinship terms used in address.

(366)	kawkăw	'father(-in-law), uncle (FB,LA)' (< $k\hat{a}w$ 'uncle (MB)')
	pejpêj	'older sibling' ($ 'older sibling')$

Other reduplication patterns are partial reduplications with several semantic implications. The first partial reduplication occurs with monosyllabic nouns and indicates a generic term. The structure is $C_1 \mathscr{C}_2 V$.¹⁹³

(367)	tçætçð	'alcoholic beverages' (<i>< tçð</i> 'water')
	tç ^h ætç ^h ú	'all kinds of crops' ($< tc^{h}\check{u}$ 'crops')
	bâbu	'all kinds of insects' ($< b\hat{u}$ 'insect')
	swæs ú	'all kinds of fruit' (<i>< s</i> ŧ̆ 'fruit') ¹⁹⁴
	dzædzi	'all four limbs of animals' (<i>sôdzi</i> is one of the four limbs)

A nominal reduplication process with a 'random' meaning has the structure $C_1 o \eta C_2 o \eta C_1 V C_2 V$. This looks exactly like the 'random' verbal reduplication process described in §7.4.1.3. Only one example is attested in the corpus.

(368) *soŋĮóŋsæŋJæŋ* 'random vegetables' (*< sæŋJǽŋ* 'vegetable')

Other 'random' reduplication constructions include a construction with a morpheme $-n^{j}x$ -,¹⁹⁵ which replaces part of the root, $C_{1}V_{1}C_{2}V_{2}$ - $n^{j}x$ - $C_{2}V_{2}$, as in (369), reduplication where the whole word is reduplicated and the first syllable is changed to [oŋ], $C_{1}o\eta C_{2}V_{2}C_{1}V_{1}C_{2}V_{2}$, as in (370), and reduplication where the whole word is reduplicated and the second syllable is changed to [oŋ], $C_{1}V_{1}C_{2}o\eta C_{1}V_{1}C_{2}V_{2}$, as in (371).¹⁹⁶ Note that in these three constructions the original noun is a compound.

¹⁹³ A similar reduplication but with a slightly different vowel is *laléj* 'every kind of seed' ($< l\check{e}j$ 'seed').

¹⁹⁴ For the presence of a [w] in the reduplicated form, see the discussion in footnote 79.

¹⁹⁵ The etymology of this morpheme is not clear at present.

¹⁹⁶ More research needs to be done into the semantic differences between the various constructions, and whether the change of the first versus the second syllable to [oŋ] is governed by phonological constraints or other reasons.

(369) $tsát^h in^j x t^h i$		'random meat cuts' (<i>< tsáť</i> ^h í 'cut of meat')	
	tç ^h ekóŋn ^j ækoŋ	'random left-over rice' ($ < tc^h v k \delta \eta$ 'left-over rice')	
(370)	ĮóŋdejĮæŋdej	'random soup residue' (<i>< .Įæŋdɛ́j</i> 'soup residue')	
(371)	dzeqóŋdzeqe	'random tea dregs' (<i>< dzvqá</i> 'tea dregs')	
	sedzoŋsédzæŋ	'random wet firewood' (< <i>svdzǎŋ</i> 'wet firewood')	

Although in the above examples the different ways of reduplication all render a 'random' meaning, for some nouns the meaning changes slightly depending on the reduplication construction used. An example is given in (372) with $tc^{h}\hat{v}dcj$ 'rice residue' where both the $C_1V_1C_2o_{1}C_1V_1C_2V_2$ construction and the $C_1V_1C_2V_2$ - n^jx - C_2V_2 construction are used.¹⁹⁷ Further research needs to be done into the semantics of these different reduplication patterns.

(372) $t \varphi^{h} \hat{v} do g t \varphi^{h} v d \varepsilon j$ 'random rice residue' $t \varphi^{h} \hat{v} d \varepsilon j n^{j} x d \varepsilon j$ 'all the rice residue'

5.1.3 Affixation

There is a certain amount of nominal affixation in Půmǐ, which is all derivational. This section will discuss two prefixes and four suffixes which mark kinship terms (§5.1.3.1), disability (§5.1.3.2), female gender and derogatory terms (§5.1.3.3), diminutives (§5.1.3.4), and geriatric animal terms (§5.1.3.5).

5.1.3.1 Kinship prefix

Both in vocative and sometimes in referential usage of kinship terms, a prefix v- is attached to the noun. This prefix occurs throughout Tibeto-Burman languages in combination with kinship terms (Matisoff 2003:105). Examples in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ are:

(373) *vswâŋ* 'father'

втâ	'mother, aunt' (women of mother's generation)
<i>ekâw</i>	'uncle (MB)'
êpoŋ	'father(-in-law), uncle (FB)'
enóŋ	'aunt (FZ)'
ер ú	'grandfather'
êd ⁱ æ	'grandmother'

The prefix is not totally fossilized and several terms can still be used in their nonprefixed forms.

¹⁹⁷ This strongly resembles the different verbal reduplication constructions described in §7.4.1, especially the 'random' reduplication and the 'continuous' reduplication construction.

(374) $m\dot{a} = n\dot{\partial}\eta \ sw\acute{e}\eta$ 'father and mother' (CV07.1.2) $\dot{e}m\dot{a} = n\dot{\partial}\eta \ \dot{e}sw\acute{e}\eta$ 'father and mother' (CV02.5.2) $\dot{e}k\hat{a}w \sim k\hat{a}w$ 'uncle (MB)'

Sometimes it is difficult to distinguish whether [v] is the kinship prefix or the first singular pronoun \dot{v} , as in (375). However, Dīng (1998:116) notes that in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ the use of the kinship prefix is not possible with sibling terms. Thus example (375) should be analysed as a genitive apposition relation (§5.3.1) instead.

(375) è pěj, è pěj nňŋ kí tà?
1SG older.sibling 1SG older.sibling 2SG where arrive
'My brother, my brother, where has (the water) come up to?' (TC02.20)

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has a few other nouns that show an initial syllable [v], but these do not seem to be related to the kinship prefix. Dīng (1998:116) states that the kinship prefix is not used with other types of nouns and does not occur with polysyllabic nouns.

(376) $vjæq\dot{a}$ 'dumb person' (a senile person) $vts^h wæŋts^h wǎŋ$ 'magpie'¹⁹⁸ $vl^j \dot{u}$ 'squirrel'

5.1.3.2 Disability prefix

The words for people with a physical disability all involve the prefix dv-. The origin of dv- is not clear, but it has a negative connotation.¹⁹⁹

(377)	debŏŋ	'deaf person' (<i>dvbŏŋ</i> 'to be deaf')
	depěj	'lame person' (<i>depěj</i> 'to be lame')
	deqŭ	'blind person' ($< q\check{u}$ 'to be blind') ²⁰⁰
	degŏŋ	'mute person; dumb, stupid person' ($ < g \delta g$ 'to be mute, dumb') ²⁰¹

¹⁹⁸ Cf. Matisoff (1997b:192) who gives the form [¢b¢ǿ] without an initial vowel for Dàyáng Půmľ. The magpie is often anthropomorphly portrayed and is know for its ability to practise divination.

¹⁹⁹ In Yǔchū, the word deqôn was used by an older lady to scold some boys that behaved badly. This word is not used in Wǎdū, but it might be related to Wǎdū Pǔmǐ qón 'to be crazy'.

²⁰⁰ Related to Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ [kʉ] 'blind' (Dīng 1998:145, ex5.60c).

²⁰¹ Also used in the following words: *tswágoŋ* 'mute male' and *mágoŋ* 'mute female', with the nominal roots *ts* $\hat{\mu}$ 'son, man' and *mâ* 'daughter'.

5.1.3.3 Female gender and derogatory suffix

There is some marking of natural gender in animal terms. The suffix $-mi^{202}$ is used to mark female gender in big animals. No corresponding male gender suffix has been attested.²⁰³

(378)	zóŋmi	'ewe' (<i>< zóŋ</i> 'sheep')
	.Įwêmi	'mare' ($<_{l}W\hat{p}$ 'horse') ²⁰⁴
	.Įwemí	'female yak' (<i>< Įwé</i> 'yak')
	wêmi	'female cow' ($< W\hat{v} - \sim W\hat{u}$ - 'bovine') ²⁰⁵
	tsemí	'female deer' (<i>< tsé</i> 'red deer')

A different suffix *-ma*, derived from $m\hat{a}$ 'mother', is used to mark female gender in small animals, as in (379).

(379)	.jemâ	'hen' (<يû 'chicken')
	mêma	'female cat' (<mɐtsə́ 'cat')<="" td=""></mɐtsə́>
	k ^h êtima	'bitch' (<i><</i> ?) ²⁰⁶

It is possible that the suffix is used as an augmentative in the words in (380), but this is difficult to ascertain, since the other syllables are non-analyzable. It could also just be a case of homophony.

(380) *poŋmá* 'Tibetan mastiff' *sóŋboŋma* 'goblin'

²⁰² Similar to Qiāng (LaPolla with Huáng 2003:48), Shǐxīng (Chirkova 2009:20) and Yǒngníng Na (Lidz 2010:177), but not used for female kinship terms as in Yǒngníng Na.

²⁰³ Chirkova (2009:20) mentions a male gender suffix $[-p^h3]$ in Shǐxīng, and Lidz (2010:179) mentions wu^{33} , p^hu^{33} and bu^{31} . Compare this to Wǎdū Pǔmǐ $-p\mu$ in $pp\mu$ 'rooster' versus $pm\hat{a}$ 'female chicken' ($< l\hat{u}$ 'chicken' and $m\hat{a}$ 'mother'). This is the only occurrence of $-p\mu$ I have encountered in animal terms.

²⁰⁴ This seems to be an archaic term for 'horse' that only occurs in compounds like *Jwesó* 'stallion' and *Jwet^hóŋ* 'white horse' (see also ex. [387]). It might be a reflex of PTB **s/m-ra-ŋ* and similar to Nàxī $^{2}zhwua$ (Matisoff 2003:82).

²⁰⁵ Archaic form that only occurs in compounds: $w\hat{u}z\partial$ 'ox for plowing' and *wemidi* 'old cow' in example (387) below. Might be a reflex of PTB * ηwa 'cattle' (Matisoff 2003:167), but compare Matisoff 2003:170 who relates Dàyáng Pǔmǐ $qw\acute{v}$ 'cow' (Wǎdū Pǔmǐ $qw\acute{v}$) to this proto-form instead.

²⁰⁶ The normal word for 'dog' is $ts^h \check{a}$. It is possible that $k^h v$ - reflects an older reflex of PTB **d*- $k^w ey$ -*n*. See also example (387).

tçəmá'central room of the house' (not clearly related to tsóŋ 'house')temă'thumb' (not related to zǎ 'hand')

The suffix *-ma* is also used to mark derogatory terms, often used for scolding or cursing people or animals: $p\acute{u}ma$ 'cursed sow' (possibly derived from $p\acute{u}$ 'wild dog') is used to scold a fierce sow who does not let her piglets drink, but keeps running back and forth; $cip\acute{a}ma$ 'witch' (derived from the word $cip\check{a}$ 'a female witch that eats people') is used for scolding kids, when they do something that frightens you.

-ma also derives agentive nouns from stative verbs: *tsǽma* 'glutton' (derived from *tsǽ* 'to be glutonous') is used in fights to curse people, not only women but also men; *detçǽma* 'self-important person' is derived from *detçǽ* 'to be proud'; *pitêjma* denotes a person with a big belly (from *pĭ* 'belly' and *téj* 'to be big'); *qóŋma* 'crazy person' is derived from *qóŋ* 'to be crazy'.

5.1.3.4 Diminutive suffix

There are two diminutive suffixes. The first is *-tsə*, based on the word $ts\hat{\theta}$ 'son' (also used in the sense of small, as in $ts\theta^{j}\check{x}$ 'small', and the expressive $ts\hat{\theta}l^{j}\hat{x}l^{j}\hat{x}$ 'small').²⁰⁷

(381)	Jutsə́	'chick' ($< l\hat{u}$ 'chicken')
	zətsð	'lamb' ($< z \circ \eta$ sheep) ²⁰⁸
	dॄ û tsə ∼b û tsə	ʻpiglet ^{'209}
	pitsə̂	'tummy' (<i><pĭ< i=""> 'belly')</pĭ<></i>
	.Įĉjtsờ	'frying pan' (<i>< .Įĉj</i> 'cooking pot')
	Įậtsə	knife' (<i>حيۆ</i> 'sickle'; <i>~ بېدا î</i> 'small sickle'; <i>~ بېدنو (د برخ</i> 'sickle'; 'د برو 'sickle')

Some other nouns consist of a syllable [tsə], but either the diminutive meaning is semantically bleached, or it does not bear a relationship with the diminutive suffix: *metsó* 'cat', *tsətsð* 'fly', *læŋtsð* 'gecko', *latsð* 'finger', *lⁱutsð* 'bladder', *petsó* 'flower', *tçitsô* 'niece, nephew', *tetsó* 'sieve'. The initial syllable of these words is not analysable by itself, possibly except for *pě* 'to bloom' in *petsó* 'flower'.

²⁰⁷ The part $-l^{j}x$ might be related to the diminutive suffix -li (cf. example [384]).

²⁰⁸ But note that the compound $z \acute{o} \eta t s \mu$ is also often used; as are $p \acute{o} \eta t s \mu$ 'prince' ($'king'), <math>ts^{h} \partial ts \check{\mu}$ 'kid' ($< ts^{h} \partial$ 'goat'), $sw \hat{i} ts \mu$ 'leopard cub' ($< sw \hat{i}$ 'leopard').

 $^{^{209}}$ The origin of the first syllable [du] \sim [bu] is not clear.

The second diminutive suffix is a bound morpheme *-li*. It usually (but not always) takes on the tone of the preceding lexical word. *-li* is usually suffixed to nouns (even Chinese loanwords), as in (382), or proper names, as in (383).

(382)	mədælí	'(little) girl' (<i>< m̥əd̥ǎ</i> 'female')
	emâli	'auntie' (<i>< ɛmâ</i> 'aunt')
	b ú li	'small alcohol jar' ($< b\hat{H}$ 'alcohol jar')
	.ləlî	'small sickle' (.Įð 'sickle')
	pelí	'small axe' (<i><p< i="">\hat{H} 'axe')</p<></i>
	jæŋdzəlí	'little courtyard' (< <i>jæŋdzð</i> 'Ch:courtyard 院子')
(383)	jóŋdoŋli	'little Yongzhong' (<i>< jóŋdoŋ</i> 'T:Gyung.drung')
	dəmáli	'little Drema' (<i>< dəmá</i> 'T:Dre.ma')

-li can also be suffixed to other words, like stative verbs/adjectives, numeral classifiers, numeral-classifier compounds, or be part of expressives, as in (384).

(384)	q ^h ètsèjlí	'very small' ($< q^h \dot{v} ts \hat{c}j$ 'to be small'; $\sim q \dot{v} ts \hat{\partial} l \hat{i};^{210} \sim q v ts \dot{c}j l^j \dot{x}$)
	tòŋlĭ	'small piece' (<i><-toŋ</i> 'CLF:piece')
	tètsàlí	'a small section' ($< t\check{t}$ 'one' + $-ts\check{a}$ 'CLF:section')
	qétôŋlî	'very short' (~ <i>qétôŋtôŋ</i> 'very short')

The diminutive suffix can also be reduplicated and suffixed to a reduplicated numeral classifier as an ideophone with AABB structure (§10.1).

(385) *toŋtoŋlíli* 'in crumbs' (*<-toŋ* 'CLF:piece') *tsatsalíli* 'a lot of small sections' (*<-tsă* 'CLF:section')

There are other words that end in the syllable [li], but it is difficult to establish whether they contain the diminutive suffix. None of them appears without [li] and the other syllables are non-analyzable: ts^hubuli 'shielding device', wvquli 'heifer', t^huli 'hare', guli 'wooden floor', kæli 'alcohol jar', kwéli 'thief', páli 'jacket', tçuli 'clay pot'. Occasionally, both diminutive suffixes are suffixed to the same stem only in the order *-tsə-li*.

(386) *țitsəli* 'small mule' (*< ți* 'mule' *<* Tibetan *drel*)

5.1.3.5 Geriatric suffix

The suffix $d\check{i}$ (presumably derived from the verb $d\check{i}$ 'to become old') marks old age for animal terms:²¹¹

²¹⁰ An alternative form: it looks like a combination of both diminutive suffixes and has the tonal pattern of an expressive (§3.3.6). Note the change in aspiration of the first syllable.

²¹¹ It might be that the term *pudimá* 'old woman' also has this morpheme, but this is not certain.

(387)	k ^h èdìmǔ	'old dog' ()<sup 212
	.jèmàdĭ	'old hen' (< $lim d$ 'hen' < $lim d$ 'chicken')
	.jèp ù dĭ	'old rooster' ($< \underline{l} \hat{e} p \hat{u}$ 'rooster' $< \underline{l} \hat{u}$ 'chicken')
	.Įwèdĭ	'old horse' (<i>< Įwê</i> 'horse')
	ts ^h ìmìdĭ	'old female goat' (<i>< ts ʰɔ́mì</i> 'female goat')
	wèmìdĭ	'old female cow' ($< w\hat{v} - w\hat{u}$ - 'bovine')

5.2 Nominalization

As discussed in §4.1, many morphemes can be used as nouns as well as verbs, without any derivational marking. Sometimes tone is used as a derivational tool (see §3.3.8), but this is not very common. There are, however, a few derivational morphemes that are used for nominalization. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ these are the nominalizers =ma, -ton and -ji. All nominalizers are used for lexical nominalization. In addition =ma is used in clausal nominalization (§5.2.3) and in several other nominalization constructions (§8.6). -ji is used in several constructions that mark deontic modality (§7.9.11).

Apart from the nominalizers dealt with in this section, the derivational suffix *-ma* (§5.1.3.3) and the definite marker can sometimes have a nominalizing function.

5.2.1 The location/instrumental nominalizer -toŋ

The nominalizer suffix -*toŋ*²¹³ derives instrumental or locational nouns from verbs:

(388)	dzóŋtoŋ	'seat' (<i>< dzóŋ</i> 'to sit')
	zətôŋ	'sleeping place' (< zð 'to sleep')
	hæp u tóŋ	'toy' (<i>< hæpŧ</i> ť 'to play')
	seŋçætoŋ	'firewood cutter' (<i>< seŋ-ç</i> ǽ 'to cut firewood')

The nominalizer *-toŋ* can be analysed as a secondary nominalization (Yap et al. 2011:11) of which the lexical source still co-exists and which has a more restricted use than older nominalizers. The lexical source of *-toŋ* is a bound noun meaning 'house, nest, lair, pen', which forms the second part of the compounds in (389), and which also functions as a numeral classifier in a numeral-classifier compounds, as in (390).

(389)	letóŋ	'wolf lair' (<i>< lě</i> 'wolf')
	qwêtoŋ	'cow pen' ($< qw\acute{e}$ 'cow')
	hoŋtóŋ	'pen' (<i>< hŏŋ</i> 'enclosure')
(390)	.jú te-tóŋ	'a coop of chickens'
	qwé te-tóŋ	'a pen of cows'

²¹² See Footnote 206.

²¹³ - *din* in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ (Dīng 1998:123).

The nominalizer *-toŋ* also acts as a clausal nominalizer for instruments and location:

- (391) $t \hat{\Rightarrow} = g \hat{\Rightarrow}$ mín pù-tòn dz $\hat{\Rightarrow}$? this = DEF what do-NMLZ be 'What is this one used for?' (CV16.31.2)
- (392) pèjlá = nóŋ ná tí-tòŋ = là t^jóŋ d^jóŋ wèŋ chaff = COORD thus put-NMLZ = also one:CLF:thing EXIST.AT CUST.EXCL
 '(...) there is also (...) a place to put chaff and other things (...)' (PC03.17)

5.2.2 The purposive nominalizer -ji

The nominalizer suffix -*ji* is is a purposive nominalizer, that can derive nouns such as $dz \delta ji$ 'food' and $t^h inji$ 'drink, beverage' (literally 'things for eating, things for drinking) in (393), but also purposive clauses, as in (394).

(393) $\acute{e} = g\acute{e}$ dz \acute{e} -jí t^hìŋ-jǐ nǐŋ nè-dz \acute{e} j míŋ p $\grave{u} = d\grave{u}$ 1SG = GEN eat-NMLZ drink-NMLZ 2SG DOWN-ride what do = IPFV:EGO:2SG

'(...) what are you doing riding my food and drink?' (TC03.19)

(394) lí¢wèŋ qù-jì=gà t¢ź shepherd.lunch cook-NMLZ=GEN water

Purposive nominalized constituents often occur in a copular clause with the abstract existential verb $c\check{i}$ (§7.6):

- (395) képá tì tóŋ-jí çì = qéj bàw nǐŋ long.time one speak-NMLZ EXIST.AB = EXPT CONTR INTJ
 'It will be a very long time to narrate (this story), mind you, (...)' (CV13.109)
- (396) d ∂ -tswéŋ-m ∂ = g ∂ = bu d ∂ bu tçíŋ-jí md = ciTO.SP-pull-NMLZ = DEF = TOP then see-NMLZ NEG = EXIST.AB 'The one who pulled had not seen that (...)' (KZ03.10) (Lit. There was no seeing (by) the one who pulled (...)

The nominalizer *-ji* is used in two deontic modality constructions that involve a nominalized complement described in §7.9.11 and §10.3.1.3.

5.2.3 The agentive/general nominalizer -ma

The nominalizer -*mo*, grammaticalizated from the form for 'person' $m\hat{\sigma}$, is the most frequently used nominalizer. As a derivational suffix, it is used for agentive nominalization (Comrie and Thompson 2007).

- (397) jà-jíŋ-má pù é=şù?
 land-plow-NMLZ do Q=VOL:SG
 'Do (you) want to be a land-plower?' (CV11.7)
 (398) Jwè-lí-mâ
 - yak-herd-NMLZ 'yak herder' (YJ01.13)

The nominalizer *-mə* can also be used as a general nominalizer: $t\varphi^h w \check{x} t\hat{u} \cdot m \vartheta$ in (399) and $m\check{n} \check{v} \cdot d\check{u} \cdot m\vartheta$ in (400) both denote events and not persons.

- (399) t^{h} óŋmá-bà tsú e = de mà = de = baPůmí-household:GEN son Q = capable NEG = capable = TOP $tc^{h}wa-tu-ma = ba$ tù wen. pig-slaughter-NMLZ = DAT look be.able 'Whether or not the sons of the Půmí are capable one can see from the pig slaughter.' (CL01ed.13)
- (400) mì nứ-dù-mà = gà mà = $\acute{e} = dz$ à = bù edible.fungus DOWN-poison-NMLZ = DEF NEG = Q = be = TOP '(...) if not for the mushroom poisoning, (...)' (CV09.147)

The general nominalizer is used for clausal nominalization and is the major means of forming relative clauses in Půmǐ, as is illustrated in (401) and (402). Relative clause constructions will be discussed in §5.3.2. As such, it functions as a clitic rather than a suffix, since it follows the predicate complex and not just the main verb, as in (401), and in (402) the coordinated constituents are only marked once on the second verb.

 $m\check{a} = dz \grave{a}$ (401) ná $p\dot{\mathbf{u}} = q\dot{\mathbf{e}}\mathbf{j} = m\dot{\mathbf{e}} = g\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ má thus do = EXPT = NMLZ = GENperson NEG = be'(...) (he) is not a person who would do (things) like this.' (CV07.16.2) (402) $m\dot{a} = q^{h}\dot{u}$ $bi\eta = m\dot{a} = ti = bu$ $d \hat{a} \eta = n \delta \eta$ kí ci = qi? sky = onrun = COORD fly = NMLZ = INDF = TOPwhere EXIST.AB = EXPT '(...) how could there be (...) ones that ran and flew (on horses) in the sky?'

(CV13.95.2)

The nominalizer $=m\vartheta$ is also used for predicate nominalization and functions in different nominalization constructions. This will be discussed in §8.6. One example is given in (403).

(403) pějpéj píŋmá $y_{\pm} n^{j} a q^{h} \partial - sej m^{j} dz \partial$ older.sibling Pingma day.before.yesterday = just OUT-go:PFV:N.EGO GNOMIC 'Older brother Pingma went the day before yesterday, (...)' (CV02.35.2)

The three functions of nominalization (modifying a noun within a noun phrase, allowing a constituent to function as a noun phrase within a clause, and [non-embedded] clausal nominalization) have been noted for many other languages in the area and have been referred to as 'Standard Sino-Tibetan Nominalization' (Bickel 1999b).

5.2.4 Definite marker as nominalizer

The use of definite markers in nominalization constructions is attested for Tibeto-Burman languages (Yap et al. 2011:16). As mentioned in Yap et al. (2011:17), Genetti (2009) mentions an individuating morpheme that encodes definiteness and functions as a nominalizer in Dzala. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ the definite marker $= g_{\mathcal{P}}$ (§5.5) appears as a nominalizer in two contexts: after adjectives/stative verbs,²¹⁴ as in (404) (but note that in (405) a similar phrase occurs after the general nominalizer $= m_{\mathcal{P}}$), and in correlative constructions (discussed in §4.2.3), as in (406).

- (404) $g = g \Rightarrow ki d^{i} \circ \eta m \Rightarrow dz \Rightarrow$ be.old = DEF where EXIST.AT GNOMIC 'Where is the old (school)?' (CV12.53)
- (405) $g \hat{u} m \hat{\sigma} = g \hat{\sigma}$ $\hat{v} l^j \check{w}$ $ts \acute{o}n = b \acute{u}$ $ts \acute{o}n = d \acute{a} w$ old = NMLZ = DEF a.little have.flavour = TOP have.flavour = IPFV:N.EGO sì dàw. EPIST:probably

'In terms of flavour, old (meat) maybe has a bit more flavour.' (CV21.179)

(406) $i\eta = dz \acute{e} \eta$ hín $t^h \acute{e} \cdot t^h \acute{o} \eta = g \acute{e}$ hín $dz \acute{e} = g \acute{e} \eta$ 1.INCL = DU who FR.SP-be.fast = DEF who eat = VOL:INCL

'Whoever of us two is the fastest, he can eat (the porridge).' (KZ01.3)

5.3 Nominal modificatory constructions

Genitive constructions, relativization and nominalization are interrelated in many Tibeto-Burman languages (Matisoff 1972; DeLancey 1999, 2002; LaPolla 2008a, 2008b; Genetti 2011). In Wădū Pǔmǐ, nominalized clauses can modify nouns pre-nominally in a genitive construction and post-nominally in an appositive relationship. In this section

²¹⁴ In Qiāng the indefinite marker /-ke/ (not the definite marker) can nominalize state verbs, and sometimes existential verbs and other verbs (LaPolla with Huáng 2003:59).
I will first discuss genitive constructions (§5.3.1) and then pre-nominal and postnominal relative clauses (§5.3.2).

5.3.1 Genitive constructions

In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, there are two constructions that mark possession: the first construction marks the possessor noun phrase with a genitive clitic $=(g)\alpha$; the second construction simply adjoins two nouns with the possessor preceding the possessed.

The genitive clitic =(g)x has three different realizations: [x], [a] or [gx]. The first two realizations happen when merged with the vowel of a preceding word or clitic: [x] when the preceding form ends in the central vowel /ə/ or the high front vowels /i/ and /ī/ (with the latter two the consonant is palatalised as well); [a] when the preceding form ends in the high central and back vowels /u/ and /u/ (the (non-labial) consonant of the preceding form is often labialized). Merger always happens with the locational postpositions (§4.6.3), the plural clitic =.la and the collective plural marker -bu (§5.4), as in (407), and with the forms listed in Table 5.1 (note that most of the forms are locational and temporal nouns). In all other environments the genitive clitic is realized as [gx], as in (408). With the second person pronoun *niŋ* and the indefinite clitic =ti, both [x] and [gx] are possible.

(407)	$q^{h}wa$	'on top of' ($< q^h u$ 'top')
	ĬŊĮæ	'our' ($< i \eta = I \partial$ '1:INCL = PL')
	tə-bă	'their household's' (<- <i>b</i> # 'household')

Basic form	Genitive form	Meaning and reference
p û n ^j ə	p û n ^j æ	'today' (CV21.162)
zên ⁱ ə	zên ^j æ	'yesterday' (CV22.40)
zêp u	zêp ⁱ æ	'last year' (CV21.140)
nusêŋ	nusê	'morning' (CV24.15.2)
zêgi	zêgæ	'behind, later' (CV21.150.2)
.[ʉt¢ʰí	.Įʉt¢ ^h ứ	'front, earlier' (PC07w.5)
k ^h i	k ^h æ	'time'
tv-mĭ	te-m ^j ž	'one night' (CV18.89)
tê-ku	tê-kwa	'one year' (CV14.49)
líŋwu	líŋwa	'Yǒngníng' (CV19.10)
wétu	wéta	'Wadu' (PC02.1)

 Table 5.1. List of words with genitive clitic merger

Basic form	Genitive form	Meaning and reference
tçíŋmiŋ	tçíŋm ⁱ æ	'home' (CV21.307)
goŋdîŋ	goŋd ^j ŵ	'highland, Mùdǐqīng' (SN02.19)
môl ⁱ ə	môl ^j æ	'Muli' (PC07w.1)
ud ⁱ úwu	ud ⁱ úwa	'self' (CV09.146)

(408) $\acute{v} = g \varkappa n^{i} \acute{v} l^{j} a u$ 'my eye' (KZ03.24) $g w e \eta = g \varkappa n^{j} \check{u}$ 'the horse's mouth' (PC02.13)

Dīng (1998:171) analyses a similar clitic in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ as a contraction of the internal topic marker =ge (corresponding to the Wǎdū Pǔmǐ definite marker =ge) and the genitive clitic. This analysis is not adopted for Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, since there are many instances where the use of the definite marker =ge (§5.5) is not possible, but where =gæ can be used. For example, the use of =ge with a first person singular pronoun is not possible, but $\acute{e}=gæ$ 'my' is possible, as in (408). Also, the indefinite clitic =ti and the definite =ge do not co-occur, but there is an example $p\acute{e}di=ti=gæ$. gætch'i 'the toad's front' (TC09.19), where the indefinite clitic is followed by the genitive clitic.

The apposition construction is much less frequent; it implies a closer relationship between possessor and possessed and marks inalienable nouns. It mostly occurs with first person singular pronouns in combination with kinship terms or body parts. There is, however, no hard distinction in Pǔmǐ between alienable and inalienable possession and in most cases both constructions can be used, as shown in (409) to (412). The tendency is that apposition is used when addressing or referring to²¹⁵ relatives or friends.

(409) é èmá tçà=fià...
1SG aunt say=LINK
'He said, "My aunt..." ' (CV21.361.3)

(410)	é	çF = çů	jèhǎ	á-q ^h ù	tá-zá	kèj = şù
	1sg	daughter = PL	all	that-top	UP-come	let = VOL:SG
	• · · ·	(-) 111 1 11				

'(...) (I) will let all my daughters come up there.' (TC02.54)

²¹⁵ However, when referring to relatives usually the genitive form of the collective plural marker will be used after the pronoun (cf. footnote 220 below).

(411) $\acute{e} = g\acute{e}$ $q^{h}\acute{e}n^{j}\grave{e}$ 1sg = GEN mouth '(...) my mouth.' (CV18.93) (412) $n\acute{n} = g\grave{e}$ $m\grave{e}$ LOG = GEN daughter

'(...) her own daughter.' (CV02.91)

Apart from this rule of thumb, the presence or absence of the genitive clitic seems to be driven by pragmatic factors and it is sometimes left out when the relationship is clear from the context, as in (413) and (414).²¹⁶

 $q^h w \check{a} = w \check{u} \quad l \check{a} t s \check{a} = t \check{i}$ k^há-t¢^hòŋ (413) é 1SG bowl = in finger = INDF **OUT-appear** '(...) a finger turned up in my bowl (...)' (TC04.15) (414) é ts^hájí tí-pá nè-qá 1sg T:Tshe.ring up-under:GEN water.place = under DOWN-fall.down mà dzà ĺ^jčj GNOMIC DISS '(...) my (brother) Tshering fell down under the water place up there.'

(CV21.304.2)

Appositive genitive constructions also occur in so-called "psycho-collocations" (Matisoff 1986), constructions with a body part as the head of the NP, and the argument that fills the semantic role of experiencer in the clause as its possessor.

- (415) é n^já tswà mà = qéj
 1sG eye able.to.see NEG = EXPT
 '(...) my eyes will not be able to see (...)' (KZ03.27)
- (416) tá pľ $t^{h}\dot{e}$ -bí = q $\dot{e}j$ bàw 3sg belly FR.SP-explode = EXPT CONTR

'(If he eats six pieces,) unfortunately his belly will explode.' (CV17.17)

Both possessive and attributive genitives are expressed by the same construction:

²¹⁶ When transcribing a text from Jísū, my main consultant noted that the storyteller tends to use much less overt genitive marking. Further research needs to be conducted at a later point to see how structural this is, and whether any tendencies can be seen in the whole Pǔmǐ area.

(417) gwen = gæ uuuhorse = GEN tooth '(...) the horse's teeth (...)' (PC02.9)

(418) tswán=gá tsón Ch:brick=GEN house

'(...) brick house (...)' (PC03.4)²¹⁷

Multiple genitive constructions can appear in a row,²¹⁸ as in (419), even modifying a single noun, as in (420). Note the zero anaphor. Multiple constructions seem to happen frequently when a speaker is explaining an unknown entity, like in (420), where the topic is a type of food that was eaten in the past and that the addressee would not necessarily know.

(419) $h_{1} = q_{2} \epsilon$ qònnà dzùbù = gǽ nè-dzôŋ. nú god = GEN back: GEN wall = GEN outside DOWN-sit '(He) sat down outside of the wall behind the god.' (TC08.9) (420) ìŋ= Já á-dzà hòŋ-b^jǽ $l \dot{v} p \dot{o} \eta = q \dot{x}$ there-location:GEN in-on:GEN hazel.catkins = GEN 1:INCL = PL:GENtá ts^hàjìbájí çípú = wù è-t^hǔ

this cluster.of.hazel.catkins steamed.substance = in IN-mix

'The flowers of our hazel bush up the valley would be mixed in with this hazel flower steamed food, (...)' (CV03.12.2)

Headless genitive constructions are extremely common, especially when the head is obvious from the context. In (421) a headless genitive construction occurs as an afterthought; the head $z\tilde{z}$ 'hand' appears in the preceding clause. In (422), the head noun 'eye' is clear from the context of the story.

(421) zà = lá nè-cá kwèj = sì tçàw mà, hand = also DOWN-cut let:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY INFO má = Jà wù = gá person = PL:GEN tiger = GEN '(Hare) caused (his) hand be cut off, it is said, those people's tiger's (hand)' (KZ03.17)

Ø

Ø

²¹⁷ Brick houses are a recent development in the area and interestingly, this concept is expressed by a genitive construction and not a compound as with more traditional buildings such as Putsón'log house', qudóntson 'stone house' or tcubutsón 'dirt-wall house'.

²¹⁸ Dīng (1998:172) notes that this is avoided in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ.

(422) $\acute{e} = g\acute{e} = l\grave{a}$ $q^h \grave{e} - t\grave{u}$ $k\acute{e}j$ $dz\grave{e}$ $b\check{a}$ 1sg = gen = also OUT-dig let be SPEC

'(I) will let (you) dig out mine as well, okay?' (KZ03.23)

It is possible for a genitive phrase to follow the head noun it refers to, as in (423), but the more basic way is for the head noun to follow the genitive phrase, as described above.

(423) é = Jà hàtc^hǐ [zé-nòŋ ŋwé-nòŋ = gà] nè-kú tá-cà
1:EXCL = PL provision four-CLF:day five-CLF:day = GEN DOWN-carry UP-go
'(...) we went carrying provisions for four or five days (...)' (YJ01.2)

When a noun is modified by a proper name referring to an ethnic group, the two cannot simply appear in a genitive construction. Instead, the collective plural marker $-b\mu$ (§5.4) is used to which the genitive clitic is attached, as in (424). If $=g\alpha$ is used, it implies that the modified noun is in the possession of a certain person of that ethnic group. Thus $c\check{e} = g\alpha$ $m \partial t c^h \partial \eta$ in example (425) cannot mean 'Hàn Chinese man', but in the context it has to mean 'the husband of the Hàn (lady, who is known from the context)'. $c\check{e}$ -ba $m \partial t c^h \partial \eta$ would be a correct way to refer to a 'Hàn man'.²¹⁹

(424) [^hóŋmэ́-bà wùçə̃ Pǔmǐ-household:GEN New.Year

'(...) Půmǐ New Year (...)' (CL02ed.1)

- (425) tá $c\dot{e} = g\dot{a}$ $m\dot{\partial}tc^{h}\dot{o}\eta = g\dot{a} = b\dot{u}$ this H $\dot{a}n = GEN$ male = DEF = TOP
 - '(...) this Hàn Chinese (lady's) husband (...)' (CV07.16.1)

The collective plural marker -bu is also used in a genitive construction with a kinship term.²²⁰

(426) tà-bă swæn=nòn mâ 3-household:GEN father=COORD mother

'(...) her parents (...)' (CV14.5)

A special genitive construction is found with the word $m\hat{a}_{l}$ that precedes the noun it modifies, and which literally means 'those people's/other people's' (this is similar to

²¹⁹ This is a rather polite way of referring to somebody. A more neutral way is using a compound $cem\hat{\delta}tc^{h}og$.

²²⁰ This is not individual possession. Compare this to Qiāng (LaPolla with Huáng 2003:51) where a plural pronoun is used before kinship terms. This also reflects the concept of the household as a basic unit in Pǔmǐ society (Wellens 2010:94).

the Chinese $\sqrt{3}$ *rénjiā* 'someone, other person'). It is the genitive form of the word *mâţa* 'those people, other people' (from *mâ* 'person' plus the plural clitic *=.ţa*), which is often used to emphasize the difference between self and others, as in (427). The other people are referred to as *mâţa* or *mâdzæ* 'other (two) people' (see §5.4) and *mâţæ* when used as a modifier.

(427) $m \hat{\Rightarrow} = l \hat{\Rightarrow} = b \hat{u}$ $l \hat{\psi} c \hat{v}$ $\hat{v} \cdot l^{j} \acute{o} \eta = q \hat{\epsilon} j$, $m \hat{\Rightarrow} = l \hat{e}$ $t \hat{\Rightarrow} = dz \check{e} \eta$ person = PL = TOP packload IN-be.enough = EXPT person = PL:GEN 3 = DU $c \hat{e}$ $k \hat{\epsilon} j$, $\hat{\eta} = dz \acute{e} \eta$ $q^h \hat{a} = b \hat{u}$ $m \hat{\Rightarrow} = dz \grave{e} \eta$ $n \hat{v} \cdot d^j \acute{a} w$ $z \hat{u} = q \hat{\epsilon} j$ cut let 1:INCL = DU pick = TOP person = DU DOWN-tired very = EXPT 'The other people will have enough luggage; let the two of them cut (trees) and the two of us pick, those two people will be very tired.' (YJ02.25)

 $m\partial_{\ell}w$ seems to function as a polite demonstrative, as in (428-430). The expression $m\partial_{\ell}w$ $m\partial'$ that person' in (428) is a set expression, and even though at this point in the story it is actually referring to 'daughter' (which is also pronounced $m\partial$), in this clause it can only be interpreted as 'person'. $m\partial_{\ell}w$ often occurs as a headless relative clause, as in (429).

- (428) d\u00ebb\u00eb m\u00ed = \u00eb\u00eb \u00eb m\u00ed = \u00ebb\u00eb m\u00eb = \u00ebb\u00eb m\u00eb = \u00ebb\u00ebb m\u00ebb = \u00ebb\u00ebb m\u00ebb = \u00ebb = \u00ebb m\u00ebb m\u00ebb m\u00ebbb m\u00
- (429) $t^{j} \not{a} = p \dot{a} w$ $m \not{a} = J \dot{a}$ $n^{j} \dot{a} d \dot{e} \eta ...$ PROH-do:IMP:SG person = PL:GEN DOWN:Q-break

'Don't do it, if that (=other people's) (thing) breaks (...)' (CV04.45)

In (430) the speaker is referring to her own thigh, but modifying it with $m \partial \mu$ makes it more objective and thus more polite.

(430) $\dot{e}j\ddot{a}$, $m\dot{a}=J\dot{e}$ [wédz $\dot{a}=w\dot{u}$ [^h \dot{a} \dot{e} -tsǒŋ INTJ person=PL:GEN thigh=in foot IN-kick

'Ow! Kicking other people's thigh, (...)' (CV01.57.2)

When a head noun is temporal, the modifier is always linked by the form $=.l^{x}$, which looks like a fusion of the plural clitic with the genitive marker, as in (431).²²¹

²²¹ But note that Dīng (1998:171) analyses this as the fusion of the non-involvemental clitic =.ju and the modificatory clitic in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ. My data do not support this analysis for Wǎdū Pǔmǐ: the form of the current evidential clitic (that corresponds to Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ =.ju) is =daw, which would not occur in (431), and the change from [d] to [J] would have to be explained. Also, =.jw only occurs with temporal head nouns. I have no explanation for what is happening here, though.

Interestingly, when the modifier is a verbal constituent, as in (432) and (433), $=_{l} x$ directly follows the modifier without an intervening nominalizer. The use of a nominalizer is not possible in this construction. Normally, the nominalizer = m a is used with a verbal modifier, as in (434-435). Note that in (432) to (433) no clear plurality is involved, whereas in (434) and (435) a plural meaning is present.

(431) wùç $\hat{a} = \mathbf{j}\hat{a}$ mí New.Year = PL:GEN night '(...) the night of New Year (...)' (CL02ed.11) (432) $tc^hwa-ts^h = ja$ <u>n</u>òη²²² pig-slaughter = PL:GEN dav 'On the day of the pig slaughter (...)' (CL01ed.23) (433) é-bù $k^{h} \hat{\partial} - t^{h} \hat{\eta} = \jmath \hat{a}$ té-nóŋ = bù nú 1-household salt.water OUT-drink = PL:GEN one-CLF:day = TOP '(...) on the day that our household has drunk salt water (...)' (TC03.7) jwé yak-herd-NMLZ = PL:GEN yak

'(...) yak herders' yak (...)' (YJ01.13)

(435) $m\dot{\vartheta} = J\dot{a}$ person = PL:GEN look = NMLZ = PL:GEN face = on

'(...) on the faces of those watching (...)' (TC09.57)

There are some examples in which the genitive marker directly follows a verbal modifier without a nominalizer, as in (436-439). (436) is an example of a stative verb as modifier. In constructions like this a nominalizer can be used or left out. In (437) no nominalizer can be used; it seems that with the abstract head noun *dwilóŋ* 'custom' a nominalizer is never used. The same is true for the abstract head noun *tíŋdwi* 'luck, blessing' (<Tibetan *rten. 'brel*) in (438). This example comes from a ritual blessing. Example (439) was judged bad phrasing by my main consultant, and he rephrased it by inserting the nominalizer = $m\rho$ after = daw and before the genitive marker. (438) and (439) are the only two examples where the genitive marker links a finite clause (i.e. a clause with post-verbal evidential marking) to a head noun. Note that both structures are possible in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ (Dīng 1998).

²²² The form $n \partial \eta$ is an autoclassifier. In this example it is used as a noun; in (431) it is used as a classifier. I have chosen to gloss the form according to its function.

(436) dzwá=gé bì comfortable=GEN side

'(...) the comfortable side (...)' (KZ03.23)

- (437) [tç^hwà-tş^hó-mó= tò só è-pútú dzó] = gá dwìlóŋ cî.
 pig-slaughter-NMLZ = PL meat IN-roast eat = GEN custom EXIST.AB
 '(...) there is a custom that the ones who slaughtered the pigs can eat roasted meat.' (CL01ed.21)
- (438) t^{h} ànjándzönts^hú tó-péj=sì=gà tíndwí k^{h} ò-tç^hön kèj T:ocean UP-bubble=INF=GEN T:luck OUT-appear let

'May you be blessed with a blessing like the foaming ocean waves.' (TC12.9.1)

(439) zèmí má dèzêj tóŋ mà=dáw=gá ná "wû wû" tonight person speech speak NEG=IPFV:N.EGO=GEN thus INTJ INTJ tçà=dàw say=IPFV:N.EGO

'(...) this person who does not speak tonight, but called out 'Wu!' (...)' (YJ01.28)

5.3.2 Relative clause constructions

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ relative clauses are formed with a nominalized verb, and all or part of the relative clause can be placed either before or after the head noun. The part of the relative clause that is placed before the head noun is marked by the genitive =ga. The resulting structures then are: all prenominal and marked by genitive, (440) and (441); all postnominal and apposed, (442), (443) and (444); split into prenominal and postnominal components with the prenominal part marked by genitive, (444), (445) and (446).²²³ Prenominal relative clauses seem to be restrictive; postnominal relative clauses can be either restrictive or non-restrictive.²²⁴

(440) ná $p \neq q \geq j = m \geq g \geq m \Rightarrow$ thus do = EXPT = NMLZ = GEN person

'(He is not) a person who would do (things) like this (...)' (CV07.16.2)

²²³ The latter two structures have not been reported for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ (Dīng 1998).

²²⁴ In Tibetan (DeLancey 1999:244), Mongsen Ao (Coupe 2007:221), Chinese and Rawang (LaPolla, p.c.), prenominal relatives express a restrictive meaning whereas post-nominal relatives express an unrestrictive meaning.

- (441) tç^hé, jáşà tçà = mà = gà hwă = wù
 Qiaresha say = NMLZ = GEN shack = in
 '(...) in a shack in a place called Qiaresha (...)' (YJ02.24)
- (442) tòŋtsəpáwl^jáw [((q^hén^jæ)) = wù q^hə-téŋ] = mə = gə = bù
 (type.of.plant) mouth = in OUT-left = NMLZ = DEF = TOP
 'The tontsipauljau that was left in our mouths (...)' (CV03.12.4)
- (443) èmá [néŋ gù] = mà = tì = là k^hà-tç^hóŋ aunt skirt wear = NMLZ = INDF = also OUT-come:PFV:N.EGO
 '(...) an aunt wearing a skirt also came over, (...)' (CV09.54.1)
- (444) $[\iota \hat{e} m \hat{n} = k^{h} \hat{e}]$ sóŋdz $\hat{e}n = n \hat{o}n,$ $t^{h}w \hat{i} s \hat{o}n = n \hat{o}n,$ front-night = time:GEN fragrant.flour = COORD ale-clean = COORD $n \hat{e}_{j} - s \hat{o}n = n \hat{o}n$ $[t^{h} \hat{e} - dz \hat{u} = m \hat{e}]$ $d \hat{e}_{-} z \hat{a},$ milk-clean = COORD FR.SP-make = NMLZ TO.SP-carry lícwen $[\hat{e} - q \hat{u} = m \hat{e}]$ $d \hat{e}_{-} z \hat{a}.$

shepherd.lunch IN-cook = NMLZ TO.SP-carry

'(...) one carries the fragrant flour, the clean barley alcohol and the clean milk, that were prepared the night before, and one carries the shepherd's lunch that was cooked (...)' (CL02ed.21)

(445) $[h\check{o}\eta = p\check{a}]$ wúz $\grave{}$ $[\grave{}t\check{e}t\grave{e}\eta = m\acute{a}] = g\acute{o}\eta$ pen = under:GEN ox IN-imprison = NMLZ = AGT

'(...) the ox for plowing that was shut up in the animal pen (...)' (PC04.1.2)

(446)	[té-kù	qúņ ^j ə̀-zì=gæ̀]	t¢ ^h ú	[è-léj=mà]	tçíŋmíŋ
	one-CLF:year	twelve-CLF:month = GEN	crops	IN-SOW = NMLZ	home
	dà-tà	wêŋ			
	TO.SP-arrive	CUST.EXCL			

'(...) the crops, which have been sown during the twelve months of the year, will all be at home, (...)' (CL02ed.3)

Example (447) is slightly more complicated with the doubly modified head noun $n\check{e}j$ 'milk'²²⁵ functioning as a modifier to the doubly modified head noun $m\hat{u}$ 'butter'.

²²⁵ This form has an alternate form $n \breve{e} \eta$ which is used more by older people. It is doubtful that $n \breve{e} j$ (probably a reflex of PTB **s*-*n* $\Rightarrow w$ 'breast, milk, suck') is a loan from Chinese, since other Půmĭ speech varieties have similar forms with different vowel quality that show regular

 $q \circ \eta = q^h w \circ q$ (447) [[ìŋ=រǽ tá Jwé=gé] dàbǔ něj 1 = PL:GENhighland = on:GEN this vak = GENthen milk $[d\hat{a}-ts\hat{a}=m\hat{a}]=g\hat{a}]$ tá $[t^{h}\dot{e}-dz\dot{u}=m\dot{e}]$ mú TO.SP-syphon = NMLZ = GEN this butter FR.SP-make = NMLZdàbǔ á-wù nè-dî that-in IN-throw then

'Then put in butter that has been made from our highland yak's milk, that has been milked.' (PC01.5)

Headless relative clauses are very common, especially when they refer to animate referents, as in (448), or when the head noun is identifiable from the discourse context, as in (449) and (450).

(448) [Ju gí cð=mð] cǐ é=qèj? pine.torch collect go=NMLZ EXIST.AB Q=EXPT
'Will there be people that go pine torch collecting?' (CV14.241)
(449) nè-bí=mô, nè-sósð=mð. DOWN-fall.down=NMLZ DOWN-scatter=NMLZ

'Ones that have fallen down, ones that have scattered.' (CV13.39.5)

(450) $b\dot{u} = m\dot{a} = g\dot{a}$ kí $t^{h}\dot{e}$ -dì sèj? bright = NMLZ = DEF where FR.SP-throw go:PFV:N.EGO 'Where did you throw the bright one?' (CV11.82)

A functional equivalent of a relative clause is the correlative structure. This structure is shown in §4.2.3.

5.3.3 NP limiter

When an NP is modified by the morpheme $=n^{j}\alpha n^{j}\alpha$, it limits the scope to 'NP only'. Two examples are given in (451) and (452).

(451) $m\dot{\Rightarrow}$ $t^{i}\dot{\circ}\eta = n^{j}\dot{\approx}n^{j}\dot{\approx} = b\dot{u}$ $dz\dot{u}$ $t^{h}\dot{\circ}\eta$ person one:CLF:thing = only = TOP grind can:N.EGO $m\dot{a} = d\dot{a}w$ $b\hat{a}w$. NEG = IPFV:N.EGO CONTR

'One person only cannot grind it.' (CV21.244.2)

correspondences (Gerong Pincuo, MS). Additionally, milk and butter play a central role in Půmĭ culture and therefore one would not expect that the term is borrowed from Chinese.

(452) $m\dot{a} = n\dot{o}\eta$ $m\dot{a} = g\dot{a} = b\dot{u}$ $t^{h}\dot{e}$ $n\dot{i} = dz\dot{e}\eta = n^{j}\dot{e}n^{j}\dot{e}$ mother = COORD daughter = DEF = TOP all the time LOG = DU = only tà dzâ. only be

'All along, it was only the mother and daughter, the two of them.' (TC08.2)

5.4 Number

Number can be expressed by the dual and plural clitics = dz a g and = g that attach to the end of a noun phrase. Pronouns are obligatorily marked for number, both dual and plural (§4.2). Inanimate nouns are not always marked for number, as in (453), and when not marked, the natural reading depends on the semantics of the noun. The quantifier *jèhă* 'all', the question word $m\hat{n}g$ 'what', and *tènǎ* 'other' can be marked for plural.

(453) $gwen = g \notin$ $y \notin$ horse = GEN tooth '(...) the horse's teeth (...)' (PC02.9)

The dual clitic = dz a g is much more limited in its occurrence than the plural clitic = .Q and only occurs with animate referents, usually human referents, as in (454), but also other animates, as in (455).²²⁶ The dual clitic = dz a g follows a nominalized phrase in (456).

- (454) tá tçìŋ = dzâŋ
 this child = DU
 '(...) these two children (...)' (CV21.217)
- (455) wáwjéj şû, q^hénéŋ tç^hwà = dzàŋ, wáwjéj şû
 INTJ unlucky pig = DU INTJ
 'Oh shoo! Unlucky pigs! Oh shoo! (...)' (CV18.83)
- (456)tà-bătìkáwcà-mà=dzæŋ3-household:GENmulestealgo-NMLZ=DU

'(...) the two who went to steal that household's mule (...)' (KZ03.7)

²²⁶ This is the only non-human animate referent in my data. It might be that it is the vocative use that influences this.

The plural clitic $= \sqrt{2^{27}}$ has a much wider distribution. Apart from its occurrence with animate referents, as in (457), (458) and (459), it also occurs with inanimates.

(457)
$$k\dot{a}w = t\dot{a}$$
 $t\dot{a}$ $n\dot{e}$ - $dz\hat{o}\eta$
uncle(MB) = PL first DOWN-sit
'The uncles sit down first (...)' (CV21.43)
(458) $ts\dot{a}z\dot{a} = t\dot{a}$ $fi\check{o}\eta = p\dot{u}$ $k^{h\dot{a}}-h^{j}\hat{e}j$
fattened.pig = PL pen = under OUT-release
'(...) they release the fattened pigs from the pen (...)' (CL01ed.12)
(459) $d\dot{a}p\dot{u}$ -bóŋnì $[tc^{h}w\dot{a} ts^{h\dot{a}} - q\dot{u} z\dot{a} = m\dot{a}] = t\dot{a} = b\dot{i}$
host-household:AGT pig slaughter help come = NMLZ = PL = DAT
 $t^{h}w\dot{n} = n\dot{o}\eta$ $t\dot{a} = t\dot{a} = b\dot{u}$ $t^{h}\dot{\eta}\eta$ $k\dot{e}j$ wèŋ
ale = COORD liquor = COORD this = PL = TOP drink let CUST.EXCL
'(...) the host family will let the people who come to help pig-slaughtering

drink ale, liquor and such, (...)' (CL01ed.11)

When marking inanimates, the plural clitic expresses the meaning that a lot of people are involved in conducting an action, as in (460) and (461), or that it is a whole range of things, as in (462) and (463).

(CL01ed.24)

²²⁷ Reminiscent of the Japhug rGyalrong plural suffix *–ra*. It is possible that they are actually cognate, as Japhug rGyalrong *–a* in most cases corresponds to Půmǐ *-o*, for instance $ndza - dz\dot{o}$ 'eat' (Jacques, p.c.).

(463) dzź-jí mźtⁱácí zóŋ-mź=.tà tź-tc^hź q^hà-dzâ eat-NMLZ every delicious-NMLZ=PL UP-take OUT-eat
'(...) everything that is delicious to eat will be taken out and eaten, (...)' (CL02ed.10)

The plural clitic also appears in several constructions described in §10.7.

Pǔmǐ also has a collective plural marker: the bound noun or suffix *-b#* 'household'.²²⁸ The status of this marker lies between that of a noun and a suffix. Its noun-like characteristics are seen in (464) and (465) where its original meaning 'household' is still present. In (464) it could be analysed as the second part of a nominal compound (of which the first part usually denotes households, villages or countries²²⁹). In (465) however, one could argue either for noun or suffix status. Pronouns do not normally form compounds with other nouns. As described in §5.3.1, it is possible for a pronoun and a noun to appear in a appositive genitive construction without a genitive marker, especially with kinship and body terms, but usually the genitive marker can still be inserted (as examples (409) to (412) above show). This is not possible in the examples in (465).

(464)	t ^h óŋmə-bʉ	'the Pǔmǐ'
	ekâw-b u	'uncle's household'
	zězæ-b u	'the Zjaezjae household'
(465)	ê-b u	'our household'
	niŋ-b ú	'your household'
	tô-b u	'their household'
	hîŋ-b u	'whose household?'

Arguments for analysing $-b\mu$ as a suffix rather than a regular noun are that the morpheme is toneless and clitics like the genitive =(g)x and the agentive $=(g)o\eta(ni)$ always fuse with it, as in (466) and (467); it occurs in the same slot as the plural marker $= I_2$, as in (468)²³⁰ and (469); the inclusive pronoun *in*- which never occurs by itself, but is always followed by either the dual or the plural clitic, can be followed by $-b\mu$ as well, as in (470).

²²⁸ Chirkova (2009:31) also mentions a 'collective plural' for personal pronouns in Shǐxīng that is formed with the root [H wu]. She does not mention whether that can co-occur with other nouns.

²²⁹ Interestingly, the Chinese $\exists \overline{x} gu \acute{o} ji \overline{a}$ 'country' is borrowed as $\langle k w \acute{e} j \rangle$ -bu.

²³⁰ Also, if -*bH* had been a head noun modified by a pre-nominal relative clause, the genitive marker = gx would have been present (see §5.3.2).

(466)	t ^h óŋı	ná-bà	dwílóŋ			
	Pum	i-household:GE	N custom			
	'()	Půmĭ househol	ld's custom ()' (CL03ed.19)			
(467)	dàpť	i-bóŋnì				
	host-	household:AGT				
	'()	the host family	y ()' (CL01ed.11)			
(468)	t ^h è-ņ	ӕ́ŋ-mә̀-bʉ̀				
	FR.SP	FR.SP-slow-NMLZ-household				
	'()	the household	that was slow ()' (SN02.22)			
(469)	tá	gùdóŋ-tşóŋ	dzù-mà=Jà			
	this	stone-house	make-NMLZ = PL			
	'()	the people who	o build stone houses ()' (PC03.18)			
(470)	ìŋ-b í	, 1	t ^h óŋmá-b ù			
	1:INC	L-household	Pumi-household			
	'we I	Půmi' (TC04.16	6)			

An interesting occurrence is given in example (471) where $-b\mu$ follows the numeralclassifier compound tv- $q\hat{v}$ 'one household'. If $-b\mu$ had been a regular noun, it would have preceded the numeral-classifier compound (as the word $p\delta \eta$ in the second phrase). $-b\mu$ does not occur after any other numeral-classifier compound.

(471)	té-qè-b ù =bù,			póŋ	té-qè=bù,
	one-CLF:household-household = TOP		T:official	one-CLF:household = TOP	
	ts ú	sòŋ-pèjkwéŋ	bòŋ.		
	son	three-CLF:brother	EXIST.POSS		
	۲ <u>(</u>)	there was a househ	old there w	as an offici	al's household who had thr

'(...) there was a household, there was an official's household who had three sons.' (TC09.1)

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ also has a partitive paucal suffix *-seŋ* that only occurs after the collective plural marker *-bu*. It expresses a smaller subgroup of the household. In (472) the absence of *-seŋ* means that the whole household went; the presence of *-seŋ* in (473) means that only several of the people belonging to the household went. The number of people included in the subset can be specified by adding a numeral-classifier compound in apposition, as in (474).

(472) é-bù nú k^hà- çà
1-household outside OUT-go
'(...) our household went outside (...)' (TC02.39)

- (473) è-bù-sěŋ k^hà-çà
 1-household-PART OUT-go
 '(...) several of our household went (...)' (YJ01.40)
- (474) $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ - $b\dot{\mathbf{u}}$ -sěn nwé-tsà k^{h} à- çà = sén 1-household-PART five-CLF:people OUT-go = PFV:EGO

'Of our household five people went.' (YJ01.38)

It is possible that *-seŋ* derives from $s \check{o} g$ 'three'. In one occurrence in a conversation, a speaker (a woman in her fifties) actually uses the form $nig-b\hat{u}$ -sog instead of $nig-bu-s\check{e} g$.²³¹

A morpheme that denotes a related idea of village group or clan, is the toneless bound noun -pi 'clan'. It follows proper names (of clans or villages) and denotes a group of people from that village or clan, as in (475).²³² The bound noun *-pi* can be followed by the plural marker, as in (476), but not by other number clitics.

(475)	tá	zé-qè=gà=bù,	qwǽŋjíŋ-pì	dzà
	this	four-CLF:household = DEF = TOP	Qwaenjin-clan	be
	'The	se four households belong to the Q	waenjin clan.' (C	V21.49.1)

(476) t^húts^hì-pì=.jæ̀ m̥ə̀d́ǽ Tuoqi-clan=PL:GEN girl

'(...) a girl from Tuōqī (...)' (PC04w.1.4)

5.5 Definiteness

Definiteness is marked by the definite clitic $=g\partial$ and indefiniteness by the indefinite clitic =ti which derives from the numeral ti one'. The markers cannot co-occur. $=g\partial$ and =ti mark animate as well as inanimate referents and can mark multiple referents at the same time with scope over all.

²³¹ Note, however, that the tonal pattern is different. According to my main consultant, in other areas such as Ladigu, *-soŋ* is used instead of *-seŋ*.

²³² On an anthropological note, *-pi* can be used with Půmǐ and Yǒngníng Na villages in the direct Yǒngníng area, and, since a kinship relationship is present with the people from Mùdǐqìng, one can also say *goŋdîŋ-pi=tə* 'people from Mùdǐqìng'. When referring to people from other villages, the village name is followed by $m\partial_t \partial$ 'people', as in *tóŋdiŋ mə=tə* 'people from Mùlǐ'. When talking about certain Nuòsū villages, the marker *-bʉ* 'household' is used instead, as in *lⁱutçáts^hweŋ-bʉ* 'the people from Six Household village'.

The marker $=g\partial$ marks the referent as an identifiable entity. In addition, it has a singulative meaning, and can be used with multiple referents, presenting them as a single identifiable unit, as in (477). In (478) the whole village is acting as one body.

(477) $ci = n \partial \eta$ $|cj = g \partial$ louse = COORD flea = DEF '(...) the louse and the flea (...)' (KZ01.2) (478) $z \partial ts e \eta = q^h \dot{u}$ $t e c \dot{c} = g \partial$ so $\eta = c \partial \eta$ we η

holy.mountain = on one-CLF:village = DEF incense-burn go CUST.EXCL

'(...) the village goes to burn incense on the holy mountain (...)' (CL02ed.21)

The clitic = ti marks a referent that is not identifiable. When = ti follows a count noun it marks the noun as indefinite. It can mark multiple referents, as in (479). When it follows a mass noun, it has the meaning of 'some, a little bit', as in (480). Indefinite marking cannot co-occur with numeral-classifier constructions.

(479) $c\acute{e}tsh\acute{e}ts\acute{e}j = n\grave{o}\eta$ $c\acute{e}b\acute{o}\eta = n\acute{o}\eta$ $p^h\imath\eta k\acute{u} = tí$ Hàn.Chinese.plum = COORD peach = COORD Ch:apple = INDF

'(...) some Han Chinese plums, peaches and apples.' (CV09.106)

(480) $ts^{h} p \epsilon j = ti$ $k^{h} \partial - t^{hj} \partial \eta$ boiling.water = INDF OUT-drink:IMP:SG

'(...) drink some hot water (...)' (PC04w.2.2)

The contrast between = ti and = ga can be clearly seen from the following two examples:

- (481) $tc^{h}i$ $ze^{h}wa = ti$ dz = ku ma = qeifood four-CLF:bowl = INDF eat can:EGO:2SG NEG = EXPT 'You won't be able to eat four bowls of rice.' (CV11.27EL)
- (482) $tc^{h}i$ $ze^{h}wa = ga$ dza ku ma = qe' jfood four-CLF:bowl = DEF eat can:EGO:2SG NEG = EXPT

'You won't be able to eat those four bowls of rice (listener knows which bowls are meant).' (CV11.27EL)

Because of its singulative meaning, $=g\partial$ cannot co-occur with the plural marker $=.t\partial$. $=.t\partial$ however, is not specified for definiteness, but can occur with both definite and indefinite plural entities. As stated above, $=g\partial$ and =ti cannot co-occur. The marker =ti marks something as indefinite, but is not specified for number. Thus $=.t\partial$ and =tican be used for the same referents, depending on whether the focus is on the number or on the indefiniteness of the referent. This can be schematized as in Figure 5.1.





Semantic role markers and discourse markers follow definite marking, as in (483).

(483) $\[mathbb{m}]_{abd} \stackrel{a}{=} g \stackrel{a}{=} b \stackrel{a}{=} b$

'(...) to the little girl (...)' (YJ01.60)

The definite marker $=g\partial$ can act as a nominalizer for stative verbs and in correlative constructions, as discussed in §5.2.4.

In discourse, the indefinite and definite markers have the following function: = ti is used to introduce new referents; $= g\partial$ is used when a referent is identifiable. Thus in many stories, the first time a referent is mentioned it will be marked with the indefinite = ti; after that it will be marked with the definite $= g\partial$. Example (484) shows the first and second line of the story of the louse and the flea.

(484) zèpú zèpù $k^{h}i = bu$, dàbù $[ci = n \delta \eta]$ $l\epsilon_j = t$ in.the.past in.the.past time = TOP louse = COORD flea = INDF then té-qé $dz \partial \eta = s \hat{i}$ tcàw $k^{h}i = b\hat{u}$. pú one-CLF:household do sit = INFHSY time = TOP 'A long, long time ago, a louse and a flea became a family, it is said. And

when (that happened) (...)' (KZ01.1)

dàbů, $[ci = n \partial \eta$ $[cj = g \partial = b ù$ d $\partial b \check{u}$ then louse = COORD flea = DEF = TOP then

'the louse and the flea (...)' (KZ01.2)

In the rest of the story, all occurrences of the louse and the flea are marked as identifiable.

5.6 Structure of the noun phrase

The structure of the noun phrase can be summarized as in Figure 5.2. A relative clause, a genitive phrase and a demonstrative can all precede the head noun; all other elements follow the head noun (SRM stands for semantic role marker; DCM stands for discourse marker).

Figure 5.2. The noun phrase structure

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} \text{Rel. clause} \\ \text{GEN phrase} \end{array} \right\} + \text{ DEM } + \text{ Noun } + \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \text{Rel. clause} \\ \text{Adjective} \end{array} \right\} + \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \text{NUM + CLF} \\ = \text{DU/PL} \end{array} \right\} = \text{DEF/INDF} = \text{SRM} = \text{DCM}$$

Apart from the clitics, each of the elements can constitute a noun phrase by itself, although an adjectivally-used stative verb needs to be nominalized by the definite marker before it can constitute a noun phrase (see §5.2.4).

All combinations are possible, provided they follow the order set out in Figure 5.2, apart from the following exceptions: the indefinite marker cannot co-occur with a demonstrative or a numeral-classifier construction, and the number and definite clitics do not co-occur.

It is very common for a head noun to be left out when it is clear from the context. In example (485), two nouns are left out.

(485) jǎw zégè $\emptyset = t$ è \emptyset tì-dzǐ tó-tc^hí again behind:GEN $\emptyset = PL:GEN \emptyset$ up-direction UP-feed nè-ts^há k^hí = nòŋ = bù DOWN-be.finished time = only = TOP 'But only after (the libation) to the later (people) upwards is finished (...)'

(CV24.39.5)

The following examples illustrate the different constituents in a noun phrase.

Relative clause + Noun:

(486) $n\dot{\Rightarrow}$ $p\dot{\texttt{u}} = q\dot{\epsilon}j = m\dot{\Rightarrow} = g\dot{\texttt{e}}$ $m\dot{\Rightarrow}$ thus do = EXPT = NMLZ = GEN person

'(...) a person who would do (things) like this (...)' (CV07.16.2)

Demonstrative + Noun + Adjective + DEF:

(487) tớ bù tếj n^{j} à = gớ this snake black = DEF

'(...) this black snake (...)' (TC02.47)

Genitive phrase + Noun + NUM-CLF:

Genitive phrase + Demonstrative + Noun:

(489) $\acute{e} = g\acute{e}$ tá dzǒŋ 1SG = GEN this bridge '(...) this bridge of mine (...)' (TC06.18)

NUM-CLF + INDF:

(490) tá-ņòŋ = tì one-CLF:day = INDF

'One day (...)' (CV02.46)

Genitive phrase + Noun + NUM-CLF + DEF:

(491) wútçí=gà tçúkwá-t^hù té-tà=gà Ch:Wujin=GEN melon-seed one-CLF:handful=DEF

'Wujin's handful of melon seeds (...)' (CV02.85)

Example (492) has two NPs: the first consisting of a [Demonstrative + Genitive] phrase + Noun + DEF, and the second consisting of an Adjective + NUM-CLF:

(492) [tá çè=gá màtçhóŋ=gá=bù] [kě t^jóŋ] dzà tçàu.
this Han=GEN male=DEF=TOP tough one:CLF:thing be HSY
'(...) this Han Chinese (lady's) husband is a handsome one, it is said.'
(CV07.16.1)

The demonstrative normally precedes the noun. Example (493) seems to show an exception with the demonstrative following the noun, but this should be analysed as an apposition, 'the little girl, this tiny one'. Apposition of different elements to a noun is quite common in Wădū Pǔmǐ, and is also reported for Qiāng (LaPolla with Huáng 2003:42) and Kham (Watters 2002:196). In (494) a numeral classifier phrase is in apposition with another noun phrase; in (495) a pronoun is in apposition with a coordinate NP.

(493) $m = data = b\dot{u}$ girl-DIM this tiny = DEF = TOP

'(...) this tiny little girl (...)' (YJ01.45)

(494) [tá tsàŋlù] [tá tỳ-bá=gá] tì=dàw
this Ch:Tibetan.stove this one-CLF:kind=DEF put=IPFV:N.EGO
'(...) (they all) put in (...) this kind of Tibetan stove.' (PC03.20)

The order of the demonstrative does show some variation. (496) shows the regular order of a demonstrative following a genitive phrase. But (497) in the next line of the story shows the demonstrative preceding the genitive phrase. It does not seem to make any difference in meaning, but my main consultant's intuition is that the order in (496) is more natural. See also examples (489) and (492) above.

(496) m = q a tə (mətc^hoŋ...) məda = q = buperson = PL:GEN this (man) woman = DEF = TOP '(...) this (man...) woman of those people, (...)' (TC02.70) (497) tə mə = q məda = bu

this person = PL:GEN woman = TOP

'(...) this people's woman, (...)' (TC02.71)

5.7 Noun phrase coordination

Noun phrases in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ are conjoined through the use of the coordinator $= no\eta$, as in (498). This coordinator can also be used for conjoining verb phrases and clauses (§10.1). Conjunctive or disjunctive readings are obtained from the discourse. An example of disjunction is given in (499).

(498) $t^{h} \hat{\vartheta} = n \hat{\delta} \eta$ $z \check{e}$ $t\hat{i} \cdot j\hat{i}$ $m \check{a} = c \check{i}$ foot = COORD hand put-NMLZ NEG = EXIST.AB

'(One's) foot and hand have no (time) to rest.' (CV21.285.2)

(499) nǐŋ ¢wè=nóŋ g $\hat{\Rightarrow}$ = g $\hat{\Rightarrow}$ jǎw zóŋ mà = zóŋ t¢ $\hat{\Rightarrow}$ INTJ eight = COORD nine = DEF again delicious NEG = delicious say 'Mind you, (having killed) eight or nine (fattened pigs) you still talk about whether or not it is tasty.' (CV21.273.1)

The coordinator =nog is an enclitic. This is very clear from the fact that the coordinator can follow an NP and forms a phonological unit with the preceding constituent. Speakers will often pause after =nog. Thus, A = nog, B and not A, nog = B. In addition, the slightly less frequent structure A = nog B = nog 'A and B' which is also attested in the corpus, as in (495) above, has two coordinators following and not preceding both constituents. The structure A B = nog has not been attested.

Conjoined constituents usually function as one argument in that they only take one set of number, definiteness, semantic role or discourse clitics, as in (500), and (499) above.

(500) $[p\acute{u}z\grave{u}w = n\grave{v}n \qquad q^h\grave{v}tí] = g\grave{v}n \qquad n^j\grave{w}-h^j\grave{v} = b\acute{u} \qquad tc^hwí$ axe.handle = COORD certain.thing = INS DOWN:Q-beat = TOP be.good $z\grave{u} = d\acute{a}w \qquad m\grave{u}.$ very = IPFV:N.EGO INFO 'If one beats (it) with an axe handle or something else, it is very good.'

(CV13.34.1)

5.7.1 Associative constructions

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has multiple associative constructions that link some unexpressed concepts or referents to an overtly expressed salient referent. The expressed and unexpressed referents form a conceptual group that is contextually or culturally linked. These associative strategies encode vagueness or non-specificity. By using these strategies, a speaker does not have to specify every individual referent.²³³

The construction X = non t = 1 expresses the idea of 'X and company', 'X et al.' or 'X etcetera', and is formed by the coordinator = non 'and', the proximal demonstrative t = 1 'this' and the plural clitic = 12. X is a (proper) noun denoting animate (501), inanimate (502) or even abstract (503) referents. The construction denotes a group of referents that is linked conceptually to a salient referent.²³⁴ What is linked depends on the context, and can often be a culturally defined conceptual space.

(501) $k\dot{a}w = n\dot{o}\eta$ $t\dot{a} = t\dot{a}$ uncle(MB) = COORD this = PL

'(...) uncle and the others (...)' (YJ02.24)

(502) $\dot{s}\dot{e}ji\eta m\dot{u} = n\dot{o}\eta$ $ji\eta m\dot{u} = n\dot{o}\eta$ $t\dot{a} = .t\dot{a}$ firewood = COORD tree.trunk = COORD this = PL

'(...) (we collected) firewood, tree trunks etcetera (...)' (YJ01.49)

²³³ Compare these constructions with English '...and stuff' or 'when we were about to leave and everything...'.

²³⁴ Chirkova (2009:22) mentions a similar phenomenon in the nearby Qiangic language Shǐxīng. There the plural marker [^Lm9.^Hzi] adds the meaning 'and the like' to the noun it modifies. If the noun refers to a non-human entity, the use of [^Lm9.^Hzi] denotes a group of people associated with the noun. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ the group of referents associated with a noun is not necessarily animate.

(503) dzàdzì swéŋ=nóŋ tá=zá=bù, dàbǔ tèk^hà=lá tá pù letter study=COORD this=PL=TOP then a.little.bit=also one do mí=tséŋ=sì PFV:NEG=N.CONTR=INF
'(...) (we) didn't even (attach) a little bit (of importance to) studying knowledge.' (CV12.40.1)

The whole construction can also appear with the genitive clitic attached to it modifying a head, as in (504), where the horse has been bought by Bajin and some others to use for trade.

(504) tá gwèŋ=gá pàt¢í=nóŋ tà=ųă dzà this horse=DEF Ch:Bajin=COORD 3=PL:GEN be
'This horse is Bajin and co's.' (EL:S11.8.19)

Another construction $X = non n\delta$, 'X and such', 'X and something similar' with = non 'and' and the manner demonstrative $n\delta$ 'like this' (§4.6.1), denotes actions conceptually linked to a salient action, as in (505).

(505)	jæjù	tséj = nòŋ	ná	k ^h í = bù,
	Ch:potato	wash = COORD	thus	time=TOP
	'() when w	vashing potatoes	and su	ch, ()' (CV02.46)

It can also refer to entities, especially when followed by the indefinite marker = ti. The construction X = non n = ti 'X or one like this' differs from X = non t = ti in that the latter needs to include X and maybe some other similar things, but X = non n = ti does not need to include X; it can also be just something similar to X. Note in (506) that the agentive marker = (g)on cliticizes to the end of the construction.

(506) $p\dot{+}z\dot{a}w = n\dot{o}\eta$ $n\dot{=} ti = g\dot{o}\eta$ $n^{j}\dot{e}h^{j}\dot{=}b\hat{u}$ axe.handle=COORD thus=INDF=INS DOWN:Q-beat=TOP

'If you beat it with an axe handle or something similar, (...)' (CV13.36)

The construction can also be shortened to $X = no\eta$, as in (507):

(507)	t¢ ^h ì	wé = nóŋ	qú	q ^h ú=dàw	mà dzà	ĥà
	food	prepare = COORD	help	need = IPFV:N.EGO	GNOMIC	LINK

'(...) (she) needs to help preparing food and such (...)' (CV15.54)

With nouns or noun phrases denoting location or time (including locational postpositions), a construction $X t = \mathcal{X}$ 'those places, those times' is used. Note that in this construction the plural-marked demonstrative $t \neq i$ s in the genitive form:

- (509) $\dot{\diamond}$ -k^hì t $\dot{\diamond}$ = J \dot{a} that-time this = PL:GEN 'In those times (...)' (PC03.13)

5.8 Conclusion

This chapter discussed the internal structure of the noun and the noun phrase. Nominal morphology in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ includes compounding, reduplication, and affixation. As in many languages in the area, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has several nominalizers, which are used for forming several types of nominals and play important functions in relative clauses, complementation and predicate nominalization constructions. Number and definiteness are expressed in the noun phrase, which has a relatively fixed order apart from the demonstrative that shows some positional variation. Associative constructions, by means of noun phrase coordination, are frequently used by speakers to avoid being too specific in talking about referents: these constructions link a group of unexpressed referents to a salient overtly-mentioned referent.

Chapter 6. Noun phrase marking

This chapter discusses the marking of noun phrases by various semantic role markers, intensifiers and discourse markers. Their relative order is illustrated in §6.1. Semantic role markers are discussed in §6.2. The question of transitivity is dealt with in §6.3 and the marking of semantic role and causation is treated in §6.4. Discourse markers and intensifiers are discussed in §6.5.

6.1 Relative order of markers

Noun phrases are marked by different clitics. Three position classes can be established: the first is semantic role marking clitics (§6.2). These markers can generally be followed by the forms in the second and third position classes. The second position class consists mostly of intensifiers (§6.5.1-§6.5.5). These can generally be followed by the topic marker = bu.²³⁵ Additionally, = la can be followed by = tcama, and = dv has been attested followed by the contrastive topic marker = sa. The third position class consists of the topic and focus markers (§6.5.6-§6.5.11): they are generally not followed by anything. Exceptions are the limiting topic marker = sa (§6.5.11) which can be followed by several topic markers, and the topic marker = bu itself, which is occasionally followed by = tcama in the idiolect of two speakers (§6.5.10).

Table 6.1 shows a list of the noun phrase markers, their positions and the functions they have. The genitive marker, and the locative uses of several postpositions will not be discussed in this chapter; they have been discussed in §5.3.1 and §4.6.3 respectively.

Sequences of markers are fairly infrequent, and not all possible combinations are attested in the corpus. The most common occurrence is an agentive marker followed by an intensifier or a discourse marker. Sequences of up to three markers have been attested in the corpus. Two examples with markers from each position class are given in (510) and (511) to illustrate their order.

(510) d\u00f6b\u00ed g\u00edz\u00ed = g\u00f6ŋ = l\u00ed = b\u00ed t^h\u00ed ("n\u00ed -s\u00ed = g\u00ed.")
(Then middle = AGT = also = TOP all.the.time DOWN-hit = VOL:INCL
(Then the middle (brother) also (supported him, saying): "Let's kill (it)." '(TC02.11)

 $^{^{235} =} ha$ 'even' has not been attested followed by = bu.

(511)	tçiŋ = t \dot{a} = bi = d \dot{e} = bù,	t ^h è-tǔ	dà-tù	pú	fià
	child = PL = DAT = DIS = TOP	FR.SP-pull	TO.SP-pull	do	LINK

'(She) would pull a bit (of firewood) here and a bit there (...) for the children.' (CV09.6.2)

1 st position		2 ^{na} pos	ition	3 rd position				
= ni/ $= (g)og(ni)$	instrumental; agentive	=1a	ʻalso'	= <i>bu</i>	general topic			
=bi	locative (spatial, temporal); dative (source, goal, recipient, beneficiary, causee); allative	$=n^{j}x$	ʻalready, at once, right'	=tçəmə	additional topic			
=(g)x	genitive; attributive	=noŋ	'only'	=di	disjunctive topic			
=ha(.loŋni)	ablative	=ha	'even'	= \$9	contrastive topic			
= wu	locative (spatial, temporal); allative	=dv	disdain	=ni	additional focus			
	with regard to, concerning; beneficiary/goal??			=gədi	additional topic			
<i>=tu</i>	locative (spatial); adversive patient; 'concerning'; comparative			=¢i	limiting topic			
=pu	comitative							

Table 6.1 Semantic role and discourse markers

Apart from what was mentioned above, the co-occurrence of first position clitics with second and third position clitics attested in the corpus is given in Table 6.2. The first position clitics are given in the horizontal row; the second and third position clitics are given in the vertical column.

Table 6.2 Co-occurrence of markers									
	=(g)oŋ(ni)	=bi	=wu	=tu	=pu				
=la	х	х	Х	Х	Х				
$=n^{j}x$	х		X		х				
=noŋ	х	х							
=ha	х	х		x					
=de		х							
=bu	х	х	X	x	х				
=tçəmə	х				х				
=di	х								
=sə	х	х	X						
=ni									
=gədi									
=¢i									

Several of the semantic role markers have grammaticalised from locational postpositions (§4.6.3). This is typical for Tibeto-Burman languages (LaPolla 1995a, Chelliah 2009). In the process, they have lost their lexical tones and when marking semantic roles they always assume the tone of the preceding lexical tone-bearing unit. All the other markers are analysed to be toneless.

The agentive and ablative markers and most of the second and third position markers are used as clausal subordinators, which will be discussed in §10.4. The use of nominal marking for clausal subordination was noted in Haiman 1987 and has been attested for various Tibeto-Burman languages (Genetti 1991, LaPolla 1995a).

6.2 Semantic role markers

Similar to many languages in the area, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ arguments of the verb are marked for their semantic roles, not for their grammatical relations (LaPolla 1995b; Coupe 2011a:494). Semantic role marking is often pragmatically motivated. Agentive marking is not obligatory and occurs for pragmatic reasons, especially to disambiguate possible agents, but also to encode deliberate activity and deviation from a social norm, mark switch in actor, and introduce speech quotations. Dative marking, on the other hand, is obligatory. Patients are unmarked. Grammatical relations like 'subject' and 'object' are difficult to define in Půmǐ (LaPolla (2006) shows that these notions are language-specific and construction-specific). There are three ways that languages use to encode grammatical relations: constituent order, case marking and agreement (Andrews 1985:71). Půmǐ is a dependent-marking language (Nichols 1986), which means that it does not make use of agreement to signal grammatical relations. Constituent order in Wădū Pǔmǐ can also not be taken as an indication of grammatical relations. Půmǐ has a default SV/AOV word order, but since constituent order is determined by (the primarily topic-comment) information structure with the most topical argument appearing first, constituents also often show an OAV order. Even though Půmǐ is a verb-final language, speakers make frequent use of afterthoughts, either to repair or add information. Afterthoughts (§10.9.7) are usually, but not always, set off from the rest of the clause by an intonation break, and can be S, A, O, E or oblique arguments. In addition, ellipsis of arguments is very common in naturally occurring speech, especially when their referents are established as given information. In the corpus, ellipsis seems to be the norm rather than the exception. Since in Wådū Půmǐ all arguments of a verb (except afterthought NPs) occur pre-verbally, structural ambiguity of arguments may easily occur with non-basic word order or ellipsis.

Ellipsis of noun phrase arguments can also not be taken as pointing to subject, since all kinds of arguments can be left out, as the S, E, A and O argument²³⁶ in (512), and coreferentiality does not show a pivot. Elided arguments are not necessarily coreferential; even when none of the elided arguments are coreferential, they can be left out, as in (512). In (513) there is coreferentiality between the A argument (he_i) of the embedded speech clause and the A argument (he_i) of the main clause. In (514) however there is co-reference between the E argument (her_j) of the temporal subordinate clause and the A argument (she_j) of the main clause. All three examples appear in conversations where the referents have already been established, and the arguments are recoverable from context. In (512) three women are talking about the husband of one of them who went to the market in order to buy their daughter clothes for her coming-of-age ritual. In (513) from the same conversation, the wife of the husband relates a phone conversation she had with him, in which he told that he asked people whether two specific people were at the market. In (514) the speaker is talking to her clan members about one of the children of their household who had just come

²³⁶ The elided arguments in the example sentences are marked ϕ_s for single argument of an intransitive clause, ϕ_a for the agent of a transitive clause, ϕ_0 for the patient of a transitive clause, ϕ_E for the dative-marked argument of a ditransitive clause, and are also marked with lower case 'i, j, k, m' to facilitate the tracking of coreference.

back from town with her friends. Her mother had given her a phone call earlier that day to ask how they would get home.

(512) dèbů $Ø_{Si}$ $Ø_{Ej}$ [nǒŋ $Ø_{Ak}$ $Ø_{Om}$ $t^h e - t u$ sàtcæ] (...) tcà=sèŋ. FR.SP-buy if sav = PFV:EGOthen SO '(I_i) told (him_i) that if (you_k had already) bought (a Tibetan outfit_m), (...)' (CV15.17.2) (513) \mathcal{O}_{A_i} [\mathcal{O}_{A_i} [\mathcal{O}_{S_i} kí zì] tçà $k^{h}i = b\dot{u}$], where EXIST.AN say time = TOP $[Ø_{Ak} [Ø_{Si} h o_{J} dzi]$ tè-dìŋ zi = qit¢à=dàw] tcàw. in-location one-CLF:place EXIST.AN = EXPT say = IPFV:N.EGO HSY '(He_i) said that when (he_i) asked where (they_i) were, (people_k) said that (they_i) would be somewhere up the valley. (CV15.1) $tsútshéj = wù \dot{e}-z\dot{a}$ (514) $Ø_{Ai} \quad Ø_{Ei} \quad [Ø_{Sk} \quad \acute{a}-dz\grave{a}]$ tá é=çìŋ] that-location:GEN this Ch:taxi=in IN-come Q = VOL:PLtçà $k^{h}i = la,$ time = also say $Ø_{A_i}$ $[Ø_{S_k} \dot{e}-z\dot{a}=ci\eta]=l\dot{a}$ mí = tçwá sì dàw IN-come = VOL:PL = also NEG = say:PFV:N.EGO EPIST:probably mà tà. NMLZ:ALERT

'When (she_i) asked (her_j) whether (they_k) would come back in a taxi, (she_j) probably did not say that (they_k) would come back.' (CV21.134.2)

Based on lack of agreement marking, on frequent use of alternative constituent order for pragmatic reasons, on optional agentive marking governed by semantic and pragmatic factors, and on lack of a pivot, it can be argued that Wǎdū Pǔmǐ lacks a grammatical 'subject' and 'object'. This is also the conclusion of Haller (2009:47) for Tibetan, and of Coupe (2007:169) for Ao.

Semantic role marking clitics can be divided functionally into optional and obligatory semantic role markers. Agents are optionally marked, patients are always unmarked, and datives and all other semantic role markers are obligatorily marked. The rest of this section will discuss agentive (§6.2.1), patient (§6.2.2), dative (§6.2.3), instrumental (§6.2.4), source (§6.2.5), comitative (§6.2.6), adversive (§6.2.7), allative (§6.2.8), and ablative (§6.2.9) semantic role marking, the question of transitivity (§6.3) and causation (§6.4).

6.2.1 Agentive

Similar to many Tibeto-Burman languages, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ shows a type of agentive marking that is controlled by semantic and pragmatic factors rather than syntactic factors. This type of agentive marking was first noted by LaPolla (1995) and has recently received a lot of attention in Tibeto-Burman studies (Chelliah 2009, several articles in LTBA 34.2 (2011) issue). Following LaPolla (1994) the term 'agentive' rather than 'ergative' will be used, since the latter points to more systematic grammatical systems that are based on syntactic factors. Wǎdū Pǔmǐ agentive marking will be shown to be mostly optional except for in certain constructions like the causative construction. The optionality of the agentive has led to its acquiring several other pragmatically motivated functions, such as a general foregrounding marker (see also Peterson (2011) on Khumi agentive marking). The agentive marker can also be used for clausal subordination (§10.5.2). Agentive and instrumental marking are accomplished by the same marker (see §6.2.4). This is a common pattern (LaPolla 1995a). The agentive marker might partly derive from an ablative (§6.2.1.1).

Agentive marking is not limited to arguments denoting people, as in (515), but also occurs with other animates, as in (516), and with inanimates, as in (517).

- (515) $m \hat{\Rightarrow} = J \hat{\Rightarrow}$ tçìŋ = góŋ t^hề-ts^hwí mà dzà qÈj person = PL child = AGT FR.SP-return EPIST 'The child has probably paid back (the loan) (...)' (CV07.64)
- (516) $b \hat{H} ts \hat{\partial} = n \hat{\partial} \eta$. $i \hat{U} ts \hat{\partial} = g \hat{\partial} \eta$ $i \hat{\eta} = I \hat{\partial}$ dz $\hat{\partial} \eta$ k $\hat{e} j$ m $\hat{u} = d \hat{u} w$. piglet = COORD chick = AGT 1:INCL = PL sit let NEG = IPFV:N.EGO

'(...) the piglets and chicks don't let us sit down (to rest).' (CV21.283)

(517) nǐŋ tá t^hèsú-qélà = gòŋ t^hè-pú mà dzà qèj. 2SG this pine.needle-load = AGT FR.SP-do EPIST

'It will be this pine needle load that did that to you.' (CV21.249)

Agentive marking appears with natural forces, as in (518). In this example it directly subordinates a noun phrase to a clause of which it is not an argument. The argument of $d\delta \eta \ ma = d\delta w$ is meat that is stored and will not keep well in hot weather. The subordinating function of the agentive is discussed in §10.4.3.

(518) $tc^{h}ih^{j}\dot{u} = g\dot{o}\eta = n^{j}\dot{a}$ dǒn mà = dâw Ch:weather = AGT = just okay NEG = IPFV:N.EGO

'Because of the weather, (it)'s not good (...)' (CV14.52.1)

Agentive marking can be followed by different topic and focus markers. Attested in the corpus are co-occurrence with the general topic marker =bu, the disjunctive topic

marker = di, the alternative topic marker = tcomo and the contrastive topic marker = so. In (519) is an example with = bu.

(519) súgú-bòŋnì = bù Shugu-household:AGT = TOP

'The Shugu household (...)' (CV20.109)

6.2.1.1 Form and diachronic development of the agentive

The agentive marker appears in three forms, =(g)og, =(g)ogni, and =ni. The latter, =ni, is only used with first person singular pronouns and Huáng Bùfán (Dài et al., 1991:350) suggests that this may be a loan from Tibetan (see also LaPolla 1995 for a discussion on ergative marking in Tibeto-Burman). The former two forms, =(g)og and =(g)ogni, are in free variation;²³⁷ =(g)ogni is probably a combination of the first and third forms, which could point to a merger of multiple systems, but further research (especially comparative dialectal research) needs to be done.

The link between agentive and ablative that is common in Tibeto-Burman languages (LaPolla 1995) is not totally straightforward in Půmǐ. The Wǎdū Půmǐ ablative marker has the form = faa or = faajonni (§6.2.9). Like the agentive = gonni, both forms are also used for clausal subordination (§10.4.3). The part [onni] in the agentive and ablative form looks suspiciously similar, but further (cross-dialectal) research needs to be conducted in order to make any definite statement about the link between the two in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ.²³⁸

The three agentive forms are enclitics that appear at the end of an NP and form a phonological constituent with the last tone-bearing morpheme in the NP, as in (520). When following the plural clitic = \mathcal{J} (§5.4), = gog(ni) fuses with it, as in (521), and the initial consonant is dropped.

(520) èmá=gòŋ aunt=AGT 'the aunt'
(521) èmá=Jòŋ aunt=PL:AGT 'the aunts'

²³⁷ When the topic marker = bu follows the agentive marker, usually the form = (g)ogni is used, but when asked, my main consultant said that both forms are possible. Ding (1998:188) analyses a similar clitic [ne] in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ as a discourse clitic with a largely obscure function.

²³⁸ On another diachronic note, Jiǎng (2010:67) notes that the Lánpíng Pǔmǐ agentive marker has grammaticalised from the verb 'to use'.

When following a second person singular pronoun, the agentive marker occasionally fuses with the pronoun, as in (522). Fusion is not frequent in the corpus.

(522) nin = gonni $nin + tson k^ni, n^jonni.$ 2sg = AGT DOWN-pour time 2sG:AGT 'It was poured by you, by you.' (CV09.140)

The form =gog was analysed by Dīng (1998:150) as a fusion of the definite clitic²³⁹ $=g\partial$ and the agentive clitic =og in Niúwōzǐ Půmǐ. There are a few arguments against adopting this analysis for Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. The first argument is that the second person singular pronoun *nǐg* cannot be followed by the definite $=g\partial$, but it can be followed by the form =gog(ni), as in nĭg=gog(ni). In addition, the dual marker =dzæg cannot be followed by the definite clitic $=g\partial$, but can be followed by =gog(ni), as in m∂dæ = dzæg = gogni 'the two girls'.

The other argument against analysing =gon(ni) as a merger of the definite marker and the agentive marker is the instances where a head noun is followed by the indefinite marker =ti and the agentive marker, as in (523). It is not possible for the definite marker =ga and the indefinite marker =ti to co-occur, thus analysing =gonni as consisting of a definite marker and an agentive marker is not consistent with the facts.

'(...) (they were) blocked on the road by a leopard (...)' $(TC03.6)^{240}$

The analysis adopted for Wǎdū Pǔmǐ agrees with the intuition of my main consultant in that =gog is the original form and [g] is dropped when it cliticizes to the plural marker =.p. Also, when it marks causal subordinate clauses (§10.4.3), the form is always [goŋ] or [goŋni] and never [oŋ] or [oŋni].

The first person pronoun is normally marked with =ni, as in (596), but a few alternative agentive forms appear in the corpus as well: $=n\partial ni$, as in (525), which looks like a reduplication of =ni. The difference in the use of =ni versus $=n\partial ni$ needs

²³⁹ Internal topic in his analysis (Dīng 1998:164). This analysis is similar to his analysis of the genitive clitic =(g)æ (see §5.3.1).

²⁴⁰ The reason for a passive translation is that the patient, which is not overtly expressed here, is the topic of the utterance.

further research. Additionally, the dialectal equivalent $=n^{i}og(ni)$, as in (526) and (527), that appears four times in the corpus, is rarely used in Wădū.²⁴¹

(524)
$$\dot{v} = ni$$
 $tc^{h}w\tilde{a} = bi$ $t^{h}\dot{v} + tc^{h}i = s\dot{u}$
 $1SG = AGT$ $pig = DAT$ FR.SP-feed = VOL:SG
'(...) I will feed (you) to the pigs (...)' (CV18.107)
(525) $\dot{v} = n\dot{n}ni$ $p\dot{v}ts\dot{\sigma}$ $p^{h}\dot{\alpha} = g\dot{\sigma}$ $t^{h}\dot{v} + h\dot{\alpha}$ $k\dot{e}j = s\dot{e}\eta$
 $1SG = AGT$ flower half = DEF FR.SP-be.excessive let = PFV.EGO
'(...) I kept half of the flowers (...)' (TC07.26)
(526) $\dot{v} = n^{j}\dot{\sigma}\eta$ $l\dot{u} = s\hat{u}$
 $1SG = AGT$ Ch:record = VOL:SG
'(...) I want to record (...)' (CV21.512.3)
(527) $\dot{v} = n^{j}\dot{\sigma}\eta ni$, "wù $c\check{\sigma} = l\dot{\alpha}$ tà $m\dot{\alpha} = q\acute{e}j = d\hat{\alpha}w$, ...," $tc\dot{\sigma}$
 $1SG = AGT$ New.Year = also arrive NEG = EXPT = IPFV:N.EGO say
 $n\dot{v} - m\acute{e}\eta d\dot{s}j = s\dot{e}\eta$
DOWN-scold = PFV.EGO
'I scolded (him), "Even at New Year (you) won't arrive (at home), (...)"'

(CV21.361.4)

The limiting topic marker = ci (discussed in §6.5.11) can sometimes be used interchangeably with the agentive marker. An example is given in (528). There is no clear difference in meaning.

(528)	èmá	láts ^h	ú=¢ì,		"nǐŋ	n ^j ǽ	mă=kwì	â,
	aunt	T:lHa	a.mtsho=LIM.T	OP	2sg	eye	NEG = have	CONF
	á-pù that-u	nder	tá-ťwáw UP-dig:IMP:SG	m IN	i à," IFO	tçàw. say:IPI	V:N.EGO	
	'Aunt there!	Lhats	hu said (to him	ı), "	'Don't	t you h	ave eyes? Yo	u should dig under

The agentive forms laid out in this section point to a merger of three different agentive sources: $=(q)o\eta$, = ni and = ci, that are combined in several ways in different speech

²⁴¹ My main consultant associates this with the Tuōqī speech variety. This might be another indication of the /i, ∂_i , \tilde{i} , $\tilde{e}/ > /\tilde{o}/$ sound change that is taking place in the area (§2.2.2). The fact that only the first syllable changes to [\tilde{o}] might point to different origins of [$n\partial_i$] ~ [$n\tilde{o}$] and [ni], and not to reduplication. Not all morphemes with /i/ change to / $\tilde{o}/$. Another analysis is that $= n^i op(ni)$ is a contraction of = ni = (g)op(ni).

varieties. According to my main consultant, =ci is used as the main agentive marker in the Ladigu speech variety. In Jísū and Yǔchū speech varieties (and possibly some other parts of Mùlǐ county), $=n^{j}x$ is the main agentive marker (personal notes).²⁴² And in Xiǎngshuǐhé Pǔmǐ, =ni is used for singular pronouns, $=\tilde{a}(ni)$ is used for plural pronouns and =cini is used for dual pronoun forms (personal notes). Future crossdialectal research will hopefully shed a clearer light on the synchronic use and diachronic development of agentive marking systems in Pǔmǐ, and its connection with other Tibeto-Burman languages in the area.

6.2.1.2 Use of agentive

As mentioned above, agentive marking in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ is semantically and pragmatically motivated. In this section, I will show its use for disambiguation, contrast and emphasis, agentivity and purpose of the actor, switch in actor, speech quotations, negative and other undefined use.

Agentive marking is often used for disambiguating possible agents. This occurs especially with cases of ellipsis and non-canonical argument order. Since Pǔmǐ is a verb-final language, all arguments usually appear before the verb. The normal order is for the agent to precede patient, and without any over marking the first constituent will be interpreted as the agent and the second as the patient, as in (529).

(529) $\grave{k}\dot{a}w$ -lì tớ cì $\grave{s}\acute{t}j=s$ ì mà tà. uncle(MB)-DIM 3SG lead go:PFV.N.EGO=INF NMLZ.ALERT

'Young uncle went to pick her up.' (CV21.115)

Půmǐ is a zero anaphor language. The norm is for arguments to be left out when they are clear from the discourse. When ellipsis of either the agent or the patient occurs, word order does not provide any clues for interpreting arguments as agents or patients, so agentive marking is used to disambiguate a possible agent from a patient. Especially in highly agentive situations, it is critical to mark an agent: when other clues (for example constituent order) are absent, a lack of agentive marking on the argument automatically implies a patient reading. The argument in (530) is not marked, and can only be interpreted as the patient. In (531) the argument is marked and can only be interpreted as an agent. Agentive marking is thus used as a disambiguating device. In (532) there is an unmarked argument, but in this case the form of the auxiliary $k \check{u}$ indicates that $n\check{n}\eta$ is the agent²⁴³ and not the patient, and thus agentive marking is not needed for disambiguation.

²⁴² Cognate to = ni with a regular sound change from $[i] > [j_{a}]$.

²⁴³ This points to the presence of some head-markedness.

(530)	má=Jæ		má=gà)	dàbǔ	nè-swè=sí			
	person = PL:GEN		person	= DEF	then	DOWN-hit:PFV:N.EGO = INF			
	'() and killed those people's person (=the trader) (
(531)	1) $c\dot{e} = d\dot{o}\eta$ $s\dot{e} = d\hat{e}j$ H $\dot{a}n = PL:AGT$ $hit = EXPT$								
	'(He) w	vill b	e beate	n by the	Chine	se ()'	(CV14.223)		
(532)	nǐŋ	sě	kŭ		sàtçæ̀				
	2 sg 1	hit	can:EG	0:2sg	if				
	ʻIf you	are a	able to l	kill (it) ()' (T	CO2.51))		

Two other examples with disambiguation and elided arguments are given in (533) and (534). In (533), the agent of the first clause functions as the unmentioned undergoer of the second. If =gog was left out, it could mean that the girl saw somebody else.

(533) tá $m \partial d \hat{a} - l \hat{i} = g \partial$ $t\acute{e}$ -sè η = bù tcź tsí this female-DIM = DEF one-CLF:morning = TOP water take $k^{h}i = bu$. nè-tc^hòn $\hat{h}aw-ta = g\delta\eta$ t^hè-tcín DOWN-come:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP that-3SG = AGTFR.SP-see pâ. do:pfv.n.ego

'(...) when this girl came to get water one morning, (she) was seen by him.' (TC07.18)

That the agentive marked argument in the second clause is not the girl mentioned in the first clause is clear from the immediate discourse context, where the active topic of the lines immediately preceding this example is the male referent.

In (534), the topic of the first clause, 'straw sandals', functions as the patient of the second clause, but is not overtly mentioned in the second clause. The agent of the second clause, 'a horse', is marked as agentive. Since the speaker has just commented on the fact that straw sandals are dangerous, one could expect them to be some kind of agent in the second clause. Even though sandals do not normally eat horses, the fact that the speaker just said that they are dangerous might leave the option that they are the actors in the second clause, and thus = gog is used to mark that the horse is the actor in the second clause.

(534)	nìŋ= Jǽ	tá	ts ^h áw¢ì	wèiçǽı	ŋ		má dzà,	tèt ^h ǒŋ
	2 = PL:GEN	this	Ch:straw.sandal	Ch:be.	dangero	ous	GNOMIC	after.a.while
	gwèŋ=góŋ	k ^{hj}	æ-dzwá=bú		p ú qá	tçv	vì-jì	¢ì
	horse = AGT	OU	T:Q-eat:PFV:N.EGO	= TOP	shoe	we	ar-NMLZ	EXIST.AB
	$m\dot{a} = q\hat{\epsilon}j.$							
	NEG = EXPT							
	'Your straw	sand	als are dangerous	, if they	are eat	ten l	oy a horse	e after a while,

there won't be any shoes to wear.' (CV01.10)

With non-canonical word order, the agentive marker is also often used for disambiguation. This happens when the patient is the topic of the clause and occurs before the agent. This is illustrated in (535). An old man is planning to go out to the field to keep an eye on people who are trying to steal water. The speaker comments that he will be beaten by others. If there was no agentive marking, the word order would imply the reading 'the old man will beat the other people'. This is quite possible in this situation, since the particular old man is easily provoked. But the agentive marking on 'the other people' rules out this interpretation.

(535)	tá	mý = Jòn		sè = qźj	l ^j čj,	dzín ^j æ,	tá	màgéŋ
	3sg	person = PL	:AGT	hit=EXPT	DISS	really	this	old.man
	má = Jòŋ person = PL:AGT		sè=q hit=1	lêj. EXPT				
	1							

'He will be hit by other people, really, this old man will be beaten by other people!' (CV14.221)

It should be noted that these constructions (with ellipsis of the patient and agentive marking, or with non-canonical word order) are the functional equivalent to a Chinese ' \dot{w} bei' construction or an English passive construction.²⁴⁴

There are many cases where agentive marking is used when it is not needed for disambiguation. In (536) there is no ellipsis of arguments and no non-canonical word order. In addition, there is an obligatorily marked recipient argument (see §6.2.3) and thus agentive marking of the argument $n^{j} \acute{x} \acute{v} m \acute{a}$ is not needed for disambiguation.

²⁴⁴ My main consultant consistently translated it with a '被 bei' construction in Chinese.

swíkú = nòŋ (536) n^j*á* èmá = gòŋnì $ni\eta = dz \neq \eta = bi$ $n\hat{\partial} = t\hat{i}$ mother = AGT 2 = DU = DATCh:fruit = COORD 2SG:GEN thus = INDFk^hà-jwěj ĥðŋ OUT-bring:PFV:N.EGO ATTENT 'Your mother has brought some fruit and such for the two of you (...)' (CV02.50)

There are different pragmatic reasons for agentive marking, including contrast, switch in actor, speech quotations and parallel constructions. These will now be discussed.

Agentive marking does not only occur with controllable, transitive verbs, but also with controllable or non-controllable intransitive verbs. In those contexts the use of the agentive conveys additional pragmatic information.

In (538) and (537) agentive marking is used to highlight the referent and mark some kind of contrast with other known referents. $p^{h}ig$ 'to flee' is an intransitive verb that does not normally occur with agentive marking. Agentive marking might mark more emphatic volitionality in this case, as in Tibetan. In (538), m = dexi' girl' is actually the undergoer of the poisoning and not the agent. Agentive marking is used for contrasting her with other possible referents.

(537) $k^{h}\partial -c\partial = sen$ $k^{h}i = bu$, ema = gon $e^{-p^{h}in} = sen$ m ∂ sen fia. OUT-go = PFV.EGO time = TOP aunt = AGT IN-flee = PFV.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR 'When (we) went outside to look, aunt fled inside (again).' (CV09.35)

(538)	hăwhăw,	màdà-lí=góŋnì	έĻ	nè-d ù	pá
	INTJ	female-DIM = AGT	first	DOWN-be.poisoned	do:pfv.n.ego

'It was the girl who was poisoned first.' (CV09.160)

This contrastive use is dissimilar to the use of the contrastive topic marker $=s\vartheta$ (§6.5.8), in that $=s\vartheta$ marks a specific referent that is contrasted with another specific referent: the two referents clearly show an opposition. The use of the agentive, however, marks a referent that is highlighted and thus set apart from a body of other possible referents that are not necessarily specifically mentioned. Thus in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, the agentive marker does not have the particularizing function that has been reported for agentive markers in some other Tibeto-Burman languages (Coupe 2007, 2011a; Chelliah 2009; Lidz 2011, Teo 2012). The agentive marker and the contrastive topic marker can both mark the same argument, as in (539):
(539) è-bă técômà = gòŋnì = sò t^hé cé
1-household:GEN T:bKra.shis.ma = AGT = CONTR.TOP all.the.time be.big
kèj q^hù tcò fià.
let POL say LINK
'(...) our Zhacima always says, "Let them be bigger please." ' (CV18.13)

In (540) the agentive has an emphatic function, and three different referents are all marked with the agentive. Normally the agentive argument of the verb $k^{h} \not \epsilon j$ 'to drive' would not be marked, as in (541).

- (540) dbů n^jónní = là $ts^{h} \dot{\epsilon} j ts \dot{\epsilon} (p \dot{u}) ((k^{h} \dot{\epsilon} j)),$ $\dot{v}k\dot{a}w = J\dot{o}\eta = l\dot{a}$ then 2:AGT = also Ch:car do Ch:drive uncle(MB) = PL:AGT = alsots^héjtsə k^hèj, sòn-tsź $s \partial \eta - t s \partial = q \partial \eta n \hat{i},$ tέj têj! Ch:car Ch:drive three-CLF:person three-CLF:person = AGT INTJ INTJ 'When you also drive a car, and your uncles also drive cars, (then there are) three people, wow, wow!' (CV11.25)
- (541) é ts^héjtsá k^hèj teŋtên = tà tcà k^hì. 1sg Ch:car Ch:drive feel.like = svm say time

'(I) already said that I would like to drive a car.' (CV11.18)

The same emphatic or contrastive function is used in parallel constructions to highlight two different referents. There is no counter-supposition involved, as is the case with the contrastive topic marker =so (§6.5.8):

(542) nwá gù-tỳndí-má = tòn gù dà-jêj, outside:GEN money-seek-NMLZ = PL:AGT money TO.SP-bring tçínm^jé tç^hù-lèj-má = tón tç^hú è-lèj home:GEN crop-sow-NMLZ = PL:AGT crop IN-sow

'The people who go outside to work bring back money, the people who grow crops at home, grow crops.' (TC01ed.15)

Sometimes the agentive marks contrastive focus, as in (543).

(543) $\acute{v} = b\acute{u}$ lóŋmźzí-bà tsú dzờ tçờ = sèŋ mà. 1SG = TOP Longmeri-household:GEN son be say = PFV:EGO INFO Y: But I said it was the son of the Longmeri household. (CV09.89) $m\check{a} = dz\check{a}, níŋzi-bà$ $ts\acute{u} = g\grave{o}\eta$ \grave{e} -t¢é \grave{e} -çìNEG = beNinzi-household:GENson = AGTIN-pack.loadIN-leadséj = símá sì fiàgo:PFV:N.EGO = INFNMLZ.CONSTR

G: 'That's not so, it was the son of the Ninzi household who went to bring them over.' (CV09.90)

The agentive marker is also used when the volition of the actor is highlighted, for example when an actor instigates a deliberate and purposeful action. In (544) Zhacima, who is going to a local fair with her mother, is purposely trying to be faster. This is indicated by the use of the agentive marker.

(544) $t \notin c \neq d \neq w k^{h}$ T:bKra.shis.ma=AGT one-CLF:section be.fast do go = IPFV:N.EGO TRAIL

'(...) Zhacima was going one section faster.' (CV02.89)

Compare also the following two examples. (545) is the default sentence, but the implication in (546) is that the speaker went on purpose, possibly against the wishes of others. Thus agentive marking might sometimes indicate that the referent is displaying socially marked behaviour (for similar use of agentive marking in Mongsen Ao, see Coupe 2007:159).

(546)
$$\dot{v} = ni$$
 $c\dot{a} = s\hat{e}\eta$
 $1sG = AGT$ $go = PFV:EGO$
'I went (on purpose).' (EL)

In contexts implying a high degree of volitionality or purpose on the part of the agent, the use of the agentive marker is highly preferable. This includes several constructions with a high level of agentivity, like the causative construction (§6.4, §7.9.5), as in (547), the emphatic causative construction (§7.8.5), as in (548), and the controllative construction with k^{h} tř (§7.8.4), as in (549).

(547) èmá láts^hú = gòŋnì káw pàtçí = bí séŋlìŋts^héj = bí aunt T:lHa.mtsho = AGT uncle(MB) Ch:Bajin = DAT Ch:tricycle = DAT tìŋhwá k^hờ-dì kwéj = sí tçàw Ch:phone OUT-throw let:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY

'(...) Aunt Lhatshu let Uncle Bajin call the tricycle (driver).' (CV02.84.1)

- (548) t^{h} ùlì = góŋní = bù, n^jél^jáw q^hà-t¥ q^hén^jà = wù wù=qǽ hare = AGT = TOPOUT-dig mouth = in tiger = GEN eye k^hà-dĭ k^hà-cà $k^{h}i = b\hat{u}$ kwéj OUT-go let:PFV:N.EGO OUT-throw time = TOP '(...) when (...) Hare had dug out the Tiger's eye and dumped it into (his) mouth, (...)' (KZ03.24)
- (549) $\dot{\mathbf{e}} = \mathbf{n}\mathbf{i}$ $\mathbf{p}\dot{\mathbf{u}}\mathbf{n}\dot{\mathbf{o}}$ té- $\mathbf{p}^{h}\dot{\mathbf{e}}\mathbf{j} = c\mathbf{i}$ $\mathbf{n}\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ -s $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ $\mathbf{k}^{h}\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ -t \mathbf{i} fià 1SG = AGT today one-CLF:shot = LIM.TOP DOWN-hit OUT-put LINK '(...) so today I finished (him) off in just one shot and (...)' (TC04.16)

The agentive is not completely obligatory in such constructions, however, and (550) is an example where the agent of a causative construction is not marked with agentive:²⁴⁵

t¢é = gà (550) pěj tànàn = qonnìdàbů. t^jón older.sibling big = DEF arrow = INS then one:CLF:thing $k^{h}i = bu$ q^hà-t^hě k^hà-cà kwći OUT-shoot OUT-go let:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP

'So when the big brother shot one (arrow) with his crossbow, (...)' (TC09.5)

Agentive marking is also used to mark a switch of actor in stories. This usually takes place when an important actor is introduced and a new development in the story is initiated. Example (551) comes from the beginning of a story where a mother is praying to find a good husband for her daughter. In (551) the antagonist who will be in charge for most of the rest of the story appears on the scene. The verb 'to hear' is a non-controllable verb, and one would normally not expect agentive marking. Note however that this is a case of ellipsis as well, and the presence of the agentive marker is possibly also used for disambiguation.

²⁴⁵ Note that the instrument is marked with the same marker as the agent. This does not exclude marking of the agent: it is possible to find both agent and instrument marked in the same clause, as in example (573) below.

(551)	ťŀé	ná	pú	t¢ ^h wǽ	pà		k ^h ì=bù,	də̀bù	tènð
	all.the.time	thus	do	kowtow	do:pfv	':N.EGO	time = TOP	then	other
	té-çì		t ^j à	wà		má=tì	=gòŋnì	t ^h è-m	á
	one-CLF:villa	ige	one:GE	N interic	or:GEN	person	= INDF = AGT	FR.SP-	hear
	pà. do:PFV:N.EGC)							

'As (the mother) was bowing like this all the time, (she) was heard by a person from another village.' (TC08.6)

Example (552) marks an unexpected switch in actors at the end of the same story. The main antagonist, who has been in charge most of the story, finally gets home with his wife in a chest. When he opens the chest, the roles are reversed, and a leopard cub and a tiger cub that have been put in the chest instead of his wife jump out and take over the scene. They are marked with the agentive to mark the switch in actor. The verb $t_s\hat{\sigma}$ 'to jump' is a controllable intransitive verb, and agent arguments of this verb are not usually marked with the agentive marker.

(552)	dàbǔ	tá	çáŋçáŋ	=gà	nè-tá	k ^h éj	nỳ-çà	kwéj	
	then	this	Ch:ches	t = DEF	DOWN	I-Ch:open	DOWN-g	o let:PFV:N.EGO	
	$k^{h}i = l$	où,	swí-ts ù :	=nòŋ		wù-ts ù =	góŋ	q ^h à-tsá	
	time=	= TOP	leopard	-son = c	COORD	tiger-son	AGT	OUT-jump	
	k ^h à-t¢	^h ôŋ,		tá	má=ga	ý ý	-tóŋtwǽ		
	OUT-come:PFV:N.EGO			this person = DEF			IN-scratch:CASU		
	è-tóŋt	wá	((k	ⁿ à- twǐ))).				
IN-scratch:CASU OUT-put:PFV:N.EGO									

'When (he) opened the chest, the leopard cub and the tiger cub jumped out and randomly and continuously scratched this person.' (TC08.45)

In (553) the actor changes from a monk to a deer. The action of the deer (drinking water) is pivotal to the development of the whole story, and therefore she is marked with agentive, even though the verbs $p^{h}ig$ 'to flee' and $t^{h}ig$ 'to drink' do not normally need agentive marking.

(553)	tsè-mí	də̀bù	kék	ì	$k^{h}i = la = bu$,		,	tsè-mí = góŋ	
	deer-female	then	cha	se	tim	e = also =	= TOP	deer-female = AGT	
	$m\!i\!=\!p^{\mathrm{h}}\!$			ĥč	à	tçə́	k ^h à-t ^h v	vêŋ.	
	NEG:PFV=flee:PFV:N.EGO			LI	NK water		OUT-drink:PFV:N.EGO		

'Even though (he) was chasing away the female deer, she did not flee, but drank the water.' (TC07.6)

The agentive marker is also used to introduce speech quotations in combination with the quotation marker. This has also been noted for Yŏngníng Na (Lidz 2012:62). The marker can introduce both direct and indirect speech.²⁴⁶ Agentive marking with indirect speech does not happen in Yŏngníng Na (Lidz 2012:62). An example with indirect speech is given in (554). The presence of the logophoric pronoun is the main indication that this is indirect speech (see §8.3.5). In direct speech $v = dz \check{e} \eta$ (1 = EXCL:DU) whould have been used instead.

(554) d\u00ebb\u00eb\$ c\u00eb-m\u00ebd\u00eb\$ d\u00ebm\$ = dz\u00ebm\$ = g\u00ebm\$ n\u00ebm\$ = dz\u00ebm\$ = l\u00ebm\$ q\u00ebm\$ m\u00eb\$ d\u00ebm\$ n\u00ebm\$ = dz\u00ebm\$ = l\u00ebm\$ LOG = DU = also Tibetan be:EGO:1
tc\u00eb = s\u00ebm\$ n\u00ebm\$ tc\u00eb = d\u00ebm\$ w
say = PFV:EGO say = IPFV:N.EGO
'(...) so the two Chinese girls said that they were Tibetan as well (...)'

(PC08w.9)

Usually the quote is followed by the quotation marker $t\varphi \partial$ (derived from the verb $t\varphi \dot{\partial}$ 'to say'), but the quotation marker is sometimes left out when a quotation consists of several parts, as in (555) where it appears only after the third part of the quotation (in its non-egophoric form $t\varphi w\partial$), or has parallel speech lines, as in (556) where the speech of three brothers forms a triplet and the speech complementizer $t\varphi \partial$ only appears after the final speech of the three brothers in the triplet.

(555) dèbů té $h \approx \eta g u = g \delta \eta n \lambda$ "mésámàn, mésámàn," then this shaman = AGTwait.a.bit wait.a.bit "é $h \approx \eta g u = g \delta \eta$, dàbů (dzàdzĭ sà...) $dz \partial dz i = ti$ sá then shaman = AGTfirst letter = INDF first 1sg letter kéj." nè-swà DOWN-read: PFV:N.EGO let qún^já, wù-_Jð qún^j \dot{a} ," t¢w \dot{a} = sì dàbů, "swí-jà tcàw. leopard-skin twelve tiger-skin twelve say:PFV:N.EGO = INF then HSY 'Then that shaman (said), "Wait a bit, wait a bit." Then the shaman (said), "Let me first read a book." (He) said, "Twelve leopard skins, twelve tiger skins." ' (TC03.17-18)

²⁴⁶ Note that there is no strong distinction between direct and indirect speech in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ: speakers will often switch back and forth in the middle of a quotation (§8.3.5).

```
dàbǔ nè-sè = gî,
(556) p \dot{e} j = g \dot{o} \eta n \dot{i} = b \dot{u},
                                      "púnà=bù
        older.sibling = AGT = TOP
                                      today = TOP
                                                             DOWN-hit = VOL:INCL
                                                     then
        ìŋ-bá
                                                          tá-tú-mà
                                                                           jèhǎ
                                   tçóŋ
        1:INCL-household:GEN
                                   uncultivated.land
                                                          UP-dig-NMLZ
                                                                           all
        nè-pùl<sup>j</sup>à."
        DOWN-turn.over
        "...the oldest brother (said), "Today, let's kill (it), (it) overturned all our
        household's dug up uncultivated land." ' (TC02.10)
        dàbǔ qàzú = qó\eta = là = bù
                                              t<sup>h</sup>é
                                                             "nè-sè = qí."
        then middle = AGT = also = TOP
                                              all.the.time DOWN-hit = VOL:INCL
        'Then the middle (brother) also supported (him, saying): "Let's kill (it)." '
        (TC02.11)
                      q^{h}ètséj = gòŋnì = bù dàbǔ, kwěŋ
                                                                         q^{h}ètséj = gòŋnì = bù
        dàbů, ts<del>ú</del>
        then
                son small = AGT = TOP
                                              then younger.sibling
                                                                         small = AGT = TOP
                "mà = q^{h}ŭ
        dàbů,
                              m\dot{a} = q^{h}\check{u}
                                             ni = bi
                                                         è-dádwè tì
                                                                          sà
                                                                                 p\dot{u} = g\hat{i}"
        then
                NEG = need NEG = need LOG = DAT IN-ask
                                                                     one first do = VOL:INCL
        t¢wà.
        say:PFV:N.EGO
```

'Then...the youngest son..the youngest brother said, "Don't, don't, let's first ask him a bit." ' (TC02.12)

Because the quotation marker is sometimes left out in Yǒngníng Na, Lidz (2012:62) analyses the agentive marker as an "utterance predicate" that takes the speech as a complement. I will not propose such an analysis for Wǎdū Pǔmǐ for the following reasons. Apart from the two contexts laid out in (555) and (556), the quotation marker is present in most cases. In addition, speech clauses are not always introduced by the agentive marker, but can occur with other discourse particles, as in (557). Sometimes speech clauses appear without any overt marking, as in (558), and frequently they are introduced by the quotation marker alone, as in (559).

```
(557) tá màgén = tçàmà, "…" tçà = dàw
this old.man = TOP say = IPFV:N.EGO
'This old man said, "…" ' (CV22.23)
```

 $k^{h}i = bi$ dàbů, "tá t c^h wèní $\eta = gaar = bu$ dàbů t c^h o η tsì (558) nè-wàwà DOWN-discuss time = TOP then this boar = DEF = TOPthen trap put $c\hat{a} = q\hat{i},$ $tc^{h} \check{o} \eta \quad m \check{a} = ts \check{i}$ ìŋ-bá tçóŋ NEG = put 1:INCL-household:GEN uncultivated.land go = VOL:INCL trap dàbǔ tá t¢^hwèníŋ = gòŋ tá-tú-mà jèhǎ UP-dig-NMLZ all this boar = AGT then nè-púl^jǽ = dàw." DOWN-turn.over = IPFV:N.EGO 'When (they) discussed, (they said), "This wild boar, let's go put up a trap, (if we) do not put up a trap, our household's dug up cultivated land, this wild

boar overturns it all." ' (TC02.7)

(559) d $\dot{}$ b $\check{}$ "ní=bì $tc^{h}i = su,$ " míŋ tçà $k^{h}i = b\dot{u};$ "nì $\eta = bi$ tsá then 2SG = DATwhat feed = VOL:SG say time = TOP 2SG = DATmeat $tc^{h}i = su,$ " $tcw \hat{a} = s\hat{i}$ tcàw. feed = VOL:SG say:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY

'When (Hare) asked what (he) would feed him, (Tiger) said, "I will give you meat," it is said.' (KZ03.37)

Interestingly, agentive marking also occurs with negation. Agents of negative clauses are technically not real agents, and this suggests that another analysis of the agentive marker might be needed in these situations. Whereas (560) implies control and purpose on the part of the agent, (561) implies that they looked, but did not control the outcome. In these examples the agentive might have a more general foregrounding function (for a similar analysis in Khumi, see Peterson 2011:74). My main consultant remarked, however, that in (561) the use of the agentive marker was not very appropriate.

(560) ci = wa $m\dot{a} = j\dot{a}n$ tú tⁱà-zà né-pá village = in:GEN person = PL:AGT look proh-come down-do:pfv:n.ego ĥà LINK '(...), the people in the village would not come to look.' (TC08.46) 1 L X • • 11. hr

(561)	jåw	è-bà		t"úts	s"ì-bà	láts"ú=nòŋ	tə = toù
	again	1-hou	sehold:GEN	Tuō	qī-household:GEN	T:lHa.mtsho = COORD	3 = PL:AGT
	zà-tóŋ		$m i = t^h w e$		şə fià		
	sleep-	NMLZ	NEG:PFV = fi	nd	because		

'Our household's Lhatshu from Tuōqī village and companions did not find a sleeping place, so (...)' (CV21.311.2)

In (562), where no negation is present in the third clause, the agentive seems to have a more general foregrounding function.

(562) $ts^{h} \epsilon jts \delta = g \delta \eta t t t \delta \eta$ $m\dot{a} = q\hat{\epsilon}j$, nìŋ-bá kǒŋpù ÇÌ Ch:car = AGT put-NMLZ EXIST.AB NEG = EXPT2-household:GEN gate $fs^{h} \epsilon jts \delta = t i$ t^{hj} à-tù = bù. $t\hat{a} = J\hat{a}$, nin = gónjǎw this = PL:GEN 2 = AGTCh:car = INDFFR.SP:Q-buy = TOPagain

'There won't be any place to put the car around your household's gate, if you buy a car.' (CV11.20)

6.2.2 Patient

Patient arguments, both animate and inanimate, are formally unmarked in Půmǐ. This is shown in (563) with a human argument.

(563) tá màgén má = tòn sè = q $\hat{e}j$. this old.man person = PL:AGT hit = EXPT

'(...) this old man will be beaten by other people!' (CV14.221)

6.2.3 Dative (recipient, benefactive, goal)

Apart from optionally marked agents and unmarked patients, Půmǐ has a dative marker = bi that obligatorily marks goals, recipients, or benefactives in ditransitive clauses. Even when an overt agent argument is present, the dative is marked, as in (564). The marker = bi also marks causees in causative constructions (§6.4), and is generally a locative marker (§4.6.3).

(564) n^{j} á èmá = gòŋnì nìŋ = dzáŋ = bì şwíkú = nòŋ ná = tí 2SG:GEN mother = AGT 2 = DU = DAT Ch:fruit = COORD thus = INDF k^{h} à-jwěj fiǒŋ OUT-bring:PFV:N.EGO ATTENT 'Your mother has brought some fruit and such for the two of you (...)' (CV02.50)

The marker developed from a relator noun meaning 'side' to a locational or temporal postposition 'on' to a semantic role marker (§4.6.3). Examples of recipient, benefactive and goal marking are given in (565), (566) and (567).

(565) jǎw hòŋ-q^hwá sénóŋ-b $\dot{\mathbf{u}} = b\hat{\mathbf{l}} = l\hat{\mathbf{a}}$ k $\dot{\mathbf{u}}$ t^hóŋ t^jóŋ again in-on:GEN Sanong-household = DAT = also thangka one:CLF:thing t^h $\dot{\mathbf{v}}$ -k^hw $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ ŋ = sí fià, FR.SP-give:PFV:N.EGO = INF LINK

'(They) also gave the Sanong household up the valley one *thangka* (...)' (CV21.549.2)

(566) $dzin^{j}\hat{x}$, $\dot{z}j\partial\eta$, $n\eta = bi$ $tc^{h}wi = q\hat{z}j$. really INTJ 2SG = DAT good = EXPT

'Really, oh! (It) will be good for you.' (CV21.107.2)

(567) \acute{v} n $\check{n}\check{\eta} = b\check{i}$ t $\acute{u} = s\grave{e}\eta$ 1sG 2sG = DAT look = PFV:EGO

'I looked at you.' (CV22.26.1EL)

With animate arguments = bi often has a disambiguating function, marking that the argument is not the agent. Examples (568) and (569) illustrate this. If = bi is left out, $vts^h wxyts^h wxyts^h wxyts^h wxyts^h mxyts^h mxyts^$

'Then (they) went to the magpie for divination.' (TC04.22)

(569) ni = dz a = bi $n e p^{h}$ séj fia 2 = DU = DAT DOWN-throw go:PFV:N.EGO LINK

```
'(...) (they) went and left (the child) at their (=the grandparents) own (place).' (CV07.1.1)
```

The disambiguating function of =bi is also very clear in (570). If =bi is left out, the clause has the meaning 'Her mother's father is saying 'waigong' ', indicating 'her mother's father' as the agent who does the talking.

(570) $m\dot{a} = g\dot{a}$ $sw\dot{e}\eta = b\dot{i} = b\dot{u}$ $w\dot{e}jk\dot{e}\eta$ tçàw. mother = GEN father = DAT = TOP Ch:grandfather say:IPFV:N.EGO

'(She) calls her mother's father 'waigong'.' (CV21.37)

Example (571) is a slightly poetic parallel set of lines from a traditional story. Here =bi is used in the parallel construction as a stylistic device. In the second clause of each parallel line one would expect the agentive marker =ni (§6.2.1) but instead the dative =bi is used to keep it parallel in structure with the first clause. The storyteller clearly memorized these lines. However, his mistake '($\dot{v} = n\dot{...}$)' in the second clause of

the first line, where he uses the agentive =ni instead of the dative =bi, shows that from a grammatical point of view the use of =bi is not totally natural.

(571)	mú-tóŋ	pùpì	1	t¢ìŋ = bí	t¢ ^h î,			
	butter-piece	chev	ved.piece	child = I	DAT feed			
	ts ^h ì-tóŋ	pùpù	(È	e=nì)	è=bí	dzə̂.		
	salt-piece	chewe	d.piece 1	SG = AGT	1SG $=$ DAT	eat		
	zóŋ-Já	tsèpà	t¢ìŋ=bí	ņû,	ts ^h ə́- _J ə̀	tsèpà	è=bí	ņû.
	sheep-skin	soft?	$child = DA^{\prime}$	т pad	goat-skin	soft?	1 sg = dat	pad
	'() A chew	ved piec	e of butter	to the c	hild (I) will	feed, a	chewed piec	e of salt
	I will eat. W	ith soft	sheep skin	the chil	d (I) will pa	d, with	soft goat sk	in I
	myself will	oad.' (T	CO4.6)					

The marking of causees in causative constructions is discussed in §6.4.

6.2.4 Instrumental

The same morpheme that is also used for the agentive is used to mark the role of instrument. Cross-linguistically this is a very common phenomenon (LaPolla 1995) and agentive marking has probably developed from instrumental marking. In example (572) the instrumental use of = gog(ni) is shown. Agentive marking and instrumental marking can occur in the same clause, as in (573).

(572) $p\acute{t}z\grave{d}w = n\grave{o}n$ $q^h\grave{e}ti = g\grave{o}n$ $n^j\grave{e}-h^j\grave{e} = b\acute{u}$ $t\varsigma^hwi$ axe.handle = COORD something = AGT DOWN:Q-beat = TOP good $z\grave{u} = d\acute{a}w$ mà. very = IPFV:N.EGO INFO 'If one uses an axe handle or something else to beat, it is very good.'

(CV13.34.1)

(573) $|\acute{\epsilon}j = b\grave{u}$ d $\grave{e}b\grave{u}$ $\acute{\epsilon}i = g\grave{o}\eta n\grave{n}$ tsheap $\acute{e}g\acute{o}\eta$ n \grave{e} -t^j \acute{u} t^j \acute{u} t^j \acute{w} \acute{e} ... flea = TOP then louse = AGT clay.pot = INS DOWN-rub:CNT

'As for the flea, the louse rubbed him with the clay pot (...)' (KZ01.11)

6.2.5 Source

The marker =bi (§6.2.3) can also mark the semantic role of source, as in (574). Its use can be compared with the marking of Instrument using $=go\eta$ as in (575) and (576). The two mean roughly the same, but (575) implies that the object is taken from a bigger piece of wood (its source), whereas (576) implies that the object is made using wood (its instrument).

(574) é şé-l^jàw té-l^jàw = bì, tç^hè-b \hat{u} l^jŏŋ sŏŋ tà dzù 1SG grain-kernel one-CLF:kernel = DAT food-lump three only make tç \hat{a} = m \hat{a} = bù nĭŋ è-zwîŋ can:EGO:1 = NMLZ-TOP 2SG IN-block:PFV:N.EGO

'(...) me, who can only make three lumps of food from one kernel of grain, you blocked!!' (TC02.65)

- (575) sen = bi $t^{h}e dzu$ m a dzawood = DAT FR.SP-make GNOMIC 'It is made from wood.' (TC02.65:EL)
- (576) $s \dot{e} g \dot{g} = g \dot{g} g \dot{g}$ $t^{h} \dot{e} dz \dot{u}$ $m \dot{e} dz \dot{e}$ wood = AGT FR.SP-make GNOMIC

'It is made with wood (using wood).' (TC02.65:EL)

6.2.6 Comitative

The marker =pu 'with' marks comitative, as in (577). It only marks animate arguments. Although homophonous with the locational postposition =pu 'under' (§4.6.3), speaker intuition does not point to a clear relationship with the comitative marker.

(577)	má=pù	dèjêj	tòŋ=dàw	mà dzà qèj	bă
	mother = COM	speech	speak = IPFV:N.EGO	EPIST	SPEC
	'(Tshering Lham	e) will be	e talking with her m	other, ()'	(CV13.60)

With the verb $t^h w \acute{e}$ 'to encounter', comitative marking is optionally used on a human argument to show a higher level of agency.²⁴⁷ Example (578) implies a chance meeting, but example (579) can both imply a chance meeting or a meeting that was set up in advance.

nè-t^hwé k^hî (578) *á*-wù té-tsà one-CLF:person DOWN-encounter that-in time '(...) and there encountered a person, (...)' (CV25.47) (579) gà-pú $d\hat{u} = J\hat{a} = p\hat{u}$ nè-t^hwè mà dzà gèj. down-under friend = PL = COM DOWN-encounter-NMLZ EPIST '(She) will have run into friends down there.' (CV20.136)

With the verb $q\hat{u}$ 'to help' the beneficiary is obligatorily marked with =pu to disambiguate it from the agent. The agent is not marked. Examples are shown with an overt agent (580), an overt beneficiary (581), and two overt arguments (582). Note

²⁴⁷ Similar to English: 'to meet somebody' or 'to meet with somebody'.

that the order of arguments in (582) is non-canonical: the agent follows the beneficiary. From a logical perspective, however, there is no true ambiguity.

(580)	káw	wàlá		qù	¢à	k ¹	ì		
	uncle(MB)	YN:thre	sh.grain	help	go	ti	me		
	'() when u	incle wer	nt to help th	nresh gi	rain, (())' (CV21.246)		
(581)	èmá = pù	qú	¢ə́ = şù	â?					
	aunt=COM	help	go = VOL:SO	G CONI	7				
	'You want to go help aunt?' (CV21.18)								
(582)	dàbǔ [gwǎ	e mí=t	s ^h á-mà = Jà	=pù]=	=là				
	then weed $NEG:PFV = be.finished-NMLZ = PL = COM = also$								
	[gwǎ t ^h è-	t ^ʰ óŋ-mə́∶	€L=	è-qú	Ģ	á	wèŋ		
	weed FR.S	sp-be.fast	-NMLZ = PL	IN-he	lp g	0	CUST.EXCL		
	'Then the ones that weed fast go to help the ones that have not finished								

weeding yet (...)' (CL03ed.19)

It is also possible to mark the beneficiary with the relator noun wu 'interior' instead, which turns the beneficiary into a locational role, as in (583), since in this case the helping is envisioned as something that takes place inside a household. The locational =bi cannot be used. Note that wu in these constructions always occurs as the head of a genitive construction and not as a postposition.

(583) dèbů $p\hat{u} = g\check{a}$ $q^{h}\acute{o}m\acute{a} t\varsigma^{h}\acute{a}wt\varsigma\grave{a} = t\grave{a}$ wù $q\acute{u}$ $\varsigma\acute{a}$ wèŋ. then self = GEN relative = PL:GEN interior help go CUST.EXCL

'(...) (the Pǔmǐ of the other villages) will go to help at their own relatives'.' (CL03ed.29)

6.2.7 Adversive

The postposition $=t\hat{u}$ 'on' (§4.6.3) is used for adversive situations where the referent is negatively affected (similar to English 'he died on me'), as in (584).²⁴⁸

(584) $\dot{\mathbf{e}} = t\dot{\mathbf{u}}$ k^hùd $\dot{\mathbf{u}}$ p $\dot{\mathbf{u}}$ -m $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ nǐŋ $\dot{\mathbf{e}} = d^{j}\dot{\mathbf{a}}w$? 1sg=on torment do-NMLZ 2sg Q=be:Ego2sg

'(...) Are you the one who plays pranks on me? (...)' (TC06.22)

²⁴⁸ It occurs with verbs like 'to aim/ shoot at sb.', 'to scold sb.', 'to say (sth. bad) on sb.', 'to crack down on sb.', 'to lie/cheat on sb.', 'to recite against goblin.'s, 'to play pranks on sb.', 'to put evil on sb.', 'to look down on sb.'

The postposition is also used where the action expressed by the verb is not directed towards the NP, but is 'concerning' the NP, as in (585).

(585) á-pù tà= Jà t¢á=tù sèsà p[£]
that-under this=PL:GEN water=on fight do
'(...) (we) fought about the water there (...)' (SN02.24)

In comparative constructions $=t\hat{u}$ is used to mark the standard of comparison (§10.6).

6.2.8 Allative

The postposition = wu 'in' (§4.6.3) can occasionally be used as an allative marker, as in (586) and (587).

 $k^{h}i = l\dot{a}...$ (586) tsù-kó η = wù è-p^hìŋ è-séj side.room-door = in IN-flee IN-go:PFV:N.EGO time = also '(...) when (the mother) fled towards the side room door (...)' (TC04.36) (587) ŋóŋ dàbǔ qàqà=wú dàbů, t^hè-k^hìn tè-měŋ, zâ. money one-CLF:yuan then group = inthen FR.SP-give come '(...) you had to give one yuan to the group every day.' (TC10.42)

In (587), qaqa = bi 'to the group' could also be said, marking the recipient of the action; example (587) is talking about a commune and the use of = wu gives it a slightly different feel: 'in the group, contributing to the group'.

6.2.9 Ablative

Ablative is marked by = ha as is shown in (588). An alternative form of the marker is = halogni. This form has not been attested in the corpus when marking ablative,²⁴⁹ but my main consultant noted that it was always possible to replace = ha by = halogni. Interestingly, the longer form ends in *-ogni*, which points to a possible relationship with the agentive marker = (g)ogni. This is however not very clear and needs more research.

²⁴⁹ It has been attested as a causal subordination marker, but only in the speech of one person, a seventy-seven year old man. In the neighbouring village Bǐqí, the form = falonni is attested as both ablative marker and clausal subordinator (personal notes). In Xiǎngshuǐhé Pǔmǐ the form of the ablative is [fiarã] (personal notes).

(588) zèmí=sà pàlí-bá wù=fià t^hútù ś-q^hù tonight=CONTR.TOP Pali-household interior=ABL immediately that-on è-çà=qèj bă.
IN-go=EXPT SPEC
'(...) tonight, however, (he) will probably directly go up there from the Pali household.' (CV04.16)

The ablative can also be used in a temporal sense, as in (589):

(589) $m \grave{e}m \grave{a} = t \grave{c} \grave{a}m \grave{b}$ kúdzú $t^{h} \grave{e}$ $m \grave{a} = z \grave{i} = t \grave{a}$ T:butter.lamp = TOP T:reincarnated.lama all.the.time NEG = EXIST.AN = PL:GEN $t \acute{e} \cdot n \grave{o}n = f \grave{a}$ $t \acute{e} \cdot m \grave{a}$ $t \acute{e} \cdot m \grave{a} = c \grave{i} = b \grave{u}$, $\grave{o} \cdot dz i$ $t \grave{a}$ one-CLF:day = ABL one-light one-light = LIM.TOP = TOP this-location arrive 'From the day that the reincarnated lama passed away up till now (I) continuously burn a butter lamp.' (CV21.280)

= *ha* has several other functions, like causal subordination (§10.4.3) and more general clause linking (§10.2).

6.3 Semantic role marking and transitivity

Transitivity plays a minor role in Pǔmǐ.²⁵⁰ In the verb complex there are no grammatical expressions of transitive marking, and semantic role marking patterns are based on pragmatic, rather than syntactic choices. Thus semantic role marking is often optional and can vary independent of the valency of the clause. Transitivity in the traditional sense is therefore hard to establish and does not bear a heavy functional load. This is in line with a recent study on transitivity (LaPolla, Kratochvíl and Coupe 2011) that shows that in many (Tibeto-Burman) languages transitivity is a language-specific and even construction-specific phenomenon.

There is no syntactic requirement for all arguments of a verb to appear in naturally occurring speech (also noted for Mongsen Ao [Coupe 2011b:496,497]).²⁵¹ Thus valency of verbs can only be established by the upper limit of possible arguments. Monovalent verbs (such as $z\ddot{z}$ 'to sleep', $s\ddot{z}$ 'to die') cannot take multiple arguments (unless appearing in the causative construction, §7.9.8), but bivalent and trivalent verbs may

²⁵⁰ Note that Dīng (1998) does not deal with transitivity as a notion in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ. There are other languages in the area where this notion does not play a role. See Matisoff (1976:419) who states "The transitive/intransitive and active/passive distinctions are basically alien to Lahu grammar."

²⁵¹ This lack of obligatoriness makes it difficult to establish what are arguments of a verb and what are not, and thus hard to talk about valency as a property of verbs.

occur with two and three arguments respectively. However, they can lack overt mention of arguments, and thus appear with only one or even no overt arguments. (590) is an example of a bivalent verb with only one overt argument. The overt argument is added as an afterthought. (591) shows a trivalent verb with no overt argument. The unexpressed arguments are retrieveable from the context of the conversation.

(590) sè=şú bàw, ènźnî hit=vol:sg contr 1sg=Agt

'(I)'ll beat (you), I (will).' (CV20.11)

(591) k^hìŋ=dáw mà dzà.
give=IPFV:N.EGO GNOMIC
'(They) give (meat) (to him).' (CV16.25)

Arguments of bivalent verbs (like $s\check{e}$ 'to hit, kill', $dz\acute{a}$ 'to eat') are not obligatorily marked for semantic role, although in possibly confusing situations (for example with two overtly expressed animate arguments) agentive marking might be employed to distinguish possible agents (LaPolla 1992). Patients/undergoers are always unmarked.

In (592) agentive marking is especially important, since the patient precedes the agent. Without agentive marking the default interpretation would be 'I often beat them'. Coupe (2011b:500) notes such a construction as a functional equivalent to passive derivation in many Tibeto-Burman languages.

(592) \acute{e} t \grave{a} = \imath \check{o} η s \grave{e} = \imath \acute{o} n \grave{e} -dw \grave{i} 1SG 3 = PL:AGT hit = PL DOWN-throw:PFV:N.EGO '(...) I was often beaten by them (...)' (CV22.18)

Another functional equivalent of a passive construction in other languages is when a patient is the topic of the clause, and there is overlap between affectedness and topicality, as in (593). The patient is established as topic from the previous context and not mentioned. That this is no real passive can be seen in that the number of arguments is not reduced.

(593) $c\dot{e} = i d\eta$ $s\dot{e} = q\hat{e}j$ Hàn = pl:AGT hit = EXPT

'(He) will be beaten by the Chinese (...)' (CV14.223)

Trivalent verbs (like $k^{h}i\eta$ 'to give', ki 'to give drink', $s\check{a}$ 'to give to pass on', li 'to narrate', $m\acute{a}\eta$ 'to name', $t^{h}\check{a}$ 'to borrow') can be distinguished in Pǔmǐ by the overt obligatory dative marking =bi (§6.2.3) on the dative argument. Agentive marking can be expressed, but is not obligatory, and is usually done if no recipient is present and the agent needs to be distinguished from the recipient. In (594), all three arguments are

present, but only the recipient is overtly marked (with =bi). In (595), again all three arguments are present, and the agent is overtly marked as well.

'The Hàn, mind you, need to give meat to the butcher.' (CV16.19)

(595) $[p\hat{u}d\hat{m}d = dz\hat{e}\eta = g\hat{o}\eta]$ $[m\hat{o} = I\hat{o} kdw = b\hat{i}]$ $[\hat{v}I\hat{v}\hat{e}\hat{t}\hat{i}]$ old.woman = DU = AGT person = PL uncle(MB) = DAT a.little $t^{h}\hat{v}\cdots\hat{e}$ $\hat{v}\cdotz\hat{o}$ kw $\hat{e}j$ FR.SP-give.to.pass.on IN-come let:PFV:N.EGO

'(...) the two old women gave uncle a bit (of tuber) to bring back.' (CV21.246)

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has a few ambivalent verbs, but apart from the addition of an extra dativemarked argument, no morphosyntactic treatment is used. This is shown for the verb tc^{h} í 'to feed' in (596) and (597). In (596) it functions as a trivalent verb with two overtly expressed arguments, the agent 'I' and the recipient 'the pigs'. In (597) the same verb is used with the specific meaning 'to fatten up (pigs)', and functions like a bivalent verb where 'pig' is the patient, and thus unmarked.

(596)
$$[\grave{e} = ni]$$
 $[t\varsigma^{h}w\grave{a} = bi]$ $t^{h}\grave{e} t\varsigma^{h}i = s\grave{u}$
 $1 = AGT$ $pig = DAT$ FR.SP-feed = VOL:SG

'(...) I will feed (you) to the pigs, (...)' (CV18.107)

(597) $[in] = tilde{math$a$}$ tilde{math\$a\$} tilde{math\$a\$} (...) tilde{math\$a\$} tilde{math\$a\$} tilde{math\$a\$} (tû) 1:INCL = PL:GEN this fattened.pig (...) UP-feed-NMLZ = GEN lard

'(...) (lard) of our (...) fattened pig that has been fattened up (...)' (PC02.6)

6.4 Semantic role marking and causation

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ does not show morphological causative derivation, but does have a set of lexical causative verb pairs with a voicing-aspiration alternation in the initial of the verb stem (§7.4.3). Apart from these verb pairs, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has an analytical causative/permissive construction (§7.9.5) involving the auxiliary verb kéj 'let' which adjusts the valency of a clause by adding one argument to the core. This is a fully productive process.²⁵²

²⁵² This causative construction is also productive in Dàyáng Půmǐ (Fù 1998:157) and Niúwōzǐ Půmǐ (Dīng 1998:309).

When a causer argument is present, it is obligatorily marked with the agentive marker. The original S argument that becomes the O argument of the causative clause can be marked with the dative =bi if the inherent semantics of the verb permit control by the causee. Because it is a question of control, it is not possible to use dative marking with the causee of a non-controllable verb. The addition of =bi implies that the causer has given total control of the action to the causee. It does not imply anything about the volition of the causee (as in Ao (Coupe 2007:191ff), where the use of the dative implies that the causee is a willing participant, whereas the volition of the causee without dative marking is open to interpretation).

When the original verb is a monovalent or bivalent controllable verb, marking of the causee with = bi is optional. When = bi is used, it implies that the total control of the action is given to the causee. Thus, the absence of = bi in (598) implies that the speaker does not have total control over the riding: either the speaker sat behind somebody who rode the horse, or the speaker sat on the horse that was being led by somebody else. The presence of = bi in (599) implies that the speaker had total control over the horse.

- (598) é gwěŋ nè-dzêj kwêj
 1sG horse DOWN-ride let:PFV.N.EGO
 '(They) let me ride a horse.' (CV22.1.1EL)
- (599) $\acute{v} = bi$ gwěŋ n \acute{v} -dz $\acute{e}j$ kw $\acute{e}j$ 1sG = DAT horse DOWN-ride let:PFV.N.EGO '(They) let me ride a horse.' (CV22.1.1EL)

In (600), the absence of = bi following $ni\eta = dze\eta$ 'the two of you' gives the current speaker the impression that her husband was totally in control of the arrangement to let the addressees go back home. In reality, the two women had made the arrangement and he only helped them. If = bi had been used, it would have implied that the two also had some control, but the husband presented the situation as if he did the whole job.

(600) [nìŋ = dzáŋ sờ k^hờ-çờ kéj = séŋ] tçàw,
2 = DU first OUT-go let = PFV.EGO say:IPFV:N.EGO
é = dzờ?
Q = be
'(My husband) said that (he) let the two of you go home first, isn't it?'
(CV15.6)

The use of = bi in (601) implies that the responsibility and control of the baby-sitting is totally Hare's. If = bi is left out, this would imply that Hare is only given the child to hold for a little bit, without having total control over it.²⁵³

(601) d\u00f6b\u00ed t^h\u00fclli = b\u00fc t\u00ed n kw\u00ecj.
then hare = DAT take.care.of let:PFV.N.EGO
'Then they let Hare baby-sit.' (TC04.9)

There are a few examples in which = bi is optional, but its presence or absence does not make a great difference in the degree of control or responsibility of the causee. There seems to be a cultural aspect involved in all the examples: the causee is a younger member of a household and the action they are conducting is controlled by the social norms of the household, as in (602), where the youngest son follows the instructions of the household concerning the bedding.

(602) jăw tá tsú q^{h} ètséj = gà jǎw wáŋţşhóŋ tçòŋgú Jŧ ¢à again this son small = DEF again Ch:Wachang bedding buy go kèj mà dzà tçàw let GNOMIC HSY 'It is said that they let the youngest son go to Wachang to buy bedding (...)' (CV07.67.2)

When an originally trivalent verb is causativized, both the causee as well as the original dative argument are obligatorily marked by = bi, as in (603), with the causee always first. No extra responsibility or control of the causee is implied by the presence of = bi.

(603) [$\dot{v}m\dot{a}$ | $\dot{a}ts^{h}\dot{u} = g\dot{o}\eta n\dot{i}$] [$k\dot{a}w$ p $\dot{a}tc\dot{i} = b\dot{i}$] [$s\dot{e}\eta l\dot{n}\eta tc^{h}\dot{c}j = b\dot{i}$] aunt T:lHa.mtsho = AGT uncle(MB) Ch:Bajin = DAT Ch:tricycle = DAT t $\dot{n}\eta hw\dot{a}$ k^h \dot{a} -d \dot{i} kw $\dot{c}j = s\dot{i}$ t $c\dot{a}w$ Ch:phone OUT-throw let:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY

'(...) Aunt Lhatshu let Uncle Bajin call the tricycle (driver).' (CV02.84.1)

When both arguments are overtly mentioned, a fixed constituent order applies: the causee precedes the dative argument, as in (604) versus (605). When only one argument is overtly mentioned, the right interpretation can only be clear from the context, as in (606), where both interpretations are possible, and (607), which is structurally ambiguous and can mean that Tshering Lhame is the caller or the one who

²⁵³ In hindsight the use of =bi was fatal for both the baby and the parents: trickster Hare used his control to kill all three.

is called. From the context of the conversation, however, only one interpretation is possible.

(604) $[\grave{e} = ni]$ $[t \acute{a} = t \grave{a} = bi]$ $[nin = dz \acute{e}n = bi]$ $q \grave{a} - dz i$ m $\grave{e} t c^{h}i$ 1 s = A G T 3 = PL = D A T 2 = DU = D A T down-location dinner $t^{h} \grave{e} - dz \acute{u}$ $k \grave{e} j = s \grave{u}.$ FR.SP-make let = VOL:SG

'I want to have them make you a meal downstairs.' (CV03.16.2EL)

(605) $[\grave{v}=ni]$ $[n\imath\eta=dz\acute{e}\eta=b\imath]$ $[t\acute{e}=J\grave{e}=b\imath]$ $q\grave{a}-d\imathi$ mètc^hi 1sg=AgT 2=DU=DAT 3=PL=DAT down-location dinner $t^h\grave{v}-dz\acute{u}$ $k\grave{e}j=s\grave{u}.$ FR.SP-make let=VOL:SG

'I want to have you make them a meal downstairs.' (CV03.16.2EL)

then T:Tshe.ring-T:lHa.mo = DAT Ch:phone = INDF OUT-throw let:PFV:N.EGO 'Then (he) let Tshering Lhame call (his son) (...)' (CV07.74.3)

A different kind of causative construction, the self-causative, that does not adjust the valency of the clause, but rather the parameter of control, will be discussed in §8.1.1.

6.5 Discourse markers

This section discusses several discourse markers: the markers in position classes two and three that follow the semantic role markers (see introduction to this chapter). The intensifiers²⁵⁴ = *la* 'also' (§6.5.1), = *fia* 'even' (§6.5.2), = *noŋ* 'only' (§6.5.3) and = $n^{j}x$ 'just' (§6.5.4) together with the discourse markers = *bu* (§6.5.6), = *di* (§6.5.7), =*sə* (§6.5.8), and = *ni* (§6.5.9) function as unrestricted particles (term from Matisoff 1973), in that they are not limited in occurrence to noun phrases (linking the noun phrase with the wider discourse), but can also occur with other constituents, like the predicate-focus construction (§10.8), and subordinate clauses (§10.4) such as conditional clauses (§10.4.1) and temporal subordinate clauses (§10.4.2). The discourse markers = *gədi* and = *tçəmə* (§6.5.10) and = *çi* (§6.5.11) have a more limited distribution and usually only appear after noun phrases. Two additional value

²⁵⁴ Term used to denote certain focus markers, such as 'also', 'even', 'only' (Mazaudon 2003).

markers = dv and $q^h a$ will be discussed in §6.5.5. In this chapter I will introduce the different discourse markers and their noun phrase marking functions; in Chapter 10 I will describe their other functions. All discourse markers (except for $q^h a$) are toneless and take on the tone of the preceding tone-bearing element. This is the main reason for analysing them as clitics.

6.5.1 The intensifier = la 'also'

The intensifier = la 'also' normally follows a noun phrase, as in (608) and (609).

- (608) nǐŋ $k^{hj}à\cdot dz = bù$ $\acute{v} = là$ dz = sú tì... 2SG OUT:Q-eat = TOP 1SG = also eat = VOL:SG say:IMP:SG 'Tell (him), 'if you eat (it), I too will eat (it)', (...)' (CV03.8)
- (609) n^{j} á èkáw p^{h} íŋts^hú = là zí mè dzè mè dzà. 2SG:GEN uncle(MB) T:Phun.tshogs = also EXIST.AN GNOMIC NMLZ.INCL

'(...) your Uncle Phintshu was present as well.' (CV11.14)

Followed by negation, = la has often the meaning 'even', especially after words like $t\check{u}$ 'anything at all' and $tek^{h\check{\sigma}}$ 'a little bit', as in (610) and (611).

(610)	tù=lá	mà = tsóŋ = tâ.
	anything.at.all = also	NEG = have.flavour = SVM
	'(It) does not have any	flavour at all.' (CV11.74)

(611)
$$t \dot{v} k^h \dot{\partial} = l \dot{a}$$
 $p \dot{u}$ $m \dot{a} = z \dot{i} \eta$ $t^h \dot{v} \cdot d \dot{o} \eta = d \dot{a} w$
a.little.bit = also do NEG = can FR.SP-become = IPFV:N.EGO

'(...) (the situation) has become (that I'm) not able to do even a little bit (...) (CV02.38)

= *la* is often used in parallel clauses, as in (612). When both clauses are positive, it can often be translated as 'as well as', as in (613). When the second clause is negated, the meaning is 'whether...or not', as in (614), and when both clauses are negated, the meaning is 'neither...nor', as in (615).

(612)	qà-pú	.Įóŋdíŋ-m	à pi	idìmá	t ^j óŋ=gòŋnì,	ní=gà			
	down-und	der lowland-j	person ol	d.woman	one:CLF:thing =	AGT LOG = GEN			
	ts ú = là son = also	nin = nón 2SG = COORD	ද්ඤ q ^h ť same ha	imà=là r=also l	ų̂ŝn, gúmíŋ=l long body=als	à nǐŋ so 2sg			
	nànì like.this	zǔ t ^j óŋ very one:CLF:	dzə thing be	tçə = dà say = IPF	w. FV:N.EGO				
	'An old lady from the lowland down there said (to me) that her son is also "(handsome) like you, (his) hair is also long and (his) height is also very similar to you".' (CV07.40.1)								
(613)	tçòŋgú clothes	dəbǔ zə=lá then trousers	t ^h è- =also FR.S	k ^h wêŋ, P-give:PFV:	pálí=là N.EGO jacket=a	also			
	t ^h è-k ^h wêŋ FR.SP-give) e:pfv:n.ego							
	'As for clo	othes, (they) gav	ve (him) tro	ousers as w	ell as a jacket (.)' (TC02.41)			
(614)	nǒŋ tá so 3sg	mă = zì NEG = EXIST.AN	â, t¢à I CONF say	$k^{h}i = la,$ time = als	zí=là so exist.an=als	tçă o say			
	N 1A	~	× 1×	. ¥	> 17				

$$\label{eq:main_state} \begin{split} m\grave{a} = d\hat{a}w, & m\grave{a} = z\grave{i} = l\grave{a} & tc\grave{\flat} & m\grave{a} = d\acute{a}w \\ \text{NEG} = \text{IPFV:N.EGO} & \text{NEG} = \text{EXIST.AN} = \text{also} & \text{say} & \text{NEG} = \text{IPFV:N.EGO} \\ m\acute{\flat} d\grave{a}w & fi\grave{a}. \end{split}$$

NMLZ.CONSTR

'When (I) asked (her) if he was not there, (she) did not even say whether or not (he) was there.' (CV21.132)

(615) $d \neq n = n \circ n$ $n \neq l = l \circ m = d^{j} \circ n$, $s \neq t^{h} \circ u = n \circ n$ raised.platform = COORD thus = also NEG = EXIST.AT altar = COORD $n \neq l \circ m = d^{j} \circ n$ thus = also NEG = EXIST.AT 'Neither the raised platform and such nor the altar and such is there. (...)'

(PC03.21)

In conversations, the direct connection between two utterances, as implied by =la, might not always be clear. Sometimes a certain topic has been brought up some time before a current utterance, and a speaker links their present utterance to that topic. An example is given in (616). The general topic of the conversation is chickens and speaker S remarked earlier in the conversation that the other household would probably have quite a lot of chickens. In (616) she links her current utterance to her previous utterance, and not to the utterance by speaker L that immediately precedes it.

(616) zégì hòŋ-q^hú è-çà k^hí é = q^hú = bù, è = ní tè-pě later in-on IN-go time Q = need = TOP 1 = AGT one-CLF:brood è-pè ((kéj)) k^hǐŋ kwǎ. IN-hatch let give can

L: Later when you move up inwards (to the new house), if you want, I can let one brood hatch and give it to you. (CV04.81)

 $\dot{v} = dz\dot{a}\eta = l\dot{a}$ $d\dot{u} = b\dot{u}$ $d\dot{o}\eta = b\check{u}$ $d\dot{o}\eta = d\check{a}w$. 1 = DU = also chicken = TOP okay = TOP okay = IPFV:N.EGO

S: We are also doing well in terms of chickens. (CV04.82)

Sometimes there is no clear connection to any previous utterance at all. Example (617) is the initial sentence of a monologue on Půmĭ architecture. The conversation preceding the monologue was not recorded, but mainly dealt with deciding on a topic for the monologue. The function of = la as adding and comparing to something previously mentioned is only present in the mind of the speaker, who might be comparing the Půmĭ houses to the houses of other ethnic groups.

'As for these Pǔmǐ houses, (the houses) of every area have their own style and (the houses of every area) their own way of building.' (PC03.1)

= *la* can also function as a subordinator in conditional and concessive clauses (§10.4.1, §10.4.2), and is used as a complementizer in a complementation structure (§10.3.1).

6.5.2 The intensifier = ha 'even'

The intensifier $=\hbar a$ 'even' is homophonous in its underlying form with the ablative marker (§6.2.9) $=\hbar a$ and clause linker $\hbar a$ (§4.7), but can be distinguished from the latter in two respects. The intensifier $=\hbar a$ takes on the tone of the preceding lexical tone-bearing element, whereas the clause linker $\hbar a$ does not, but always appears with a low surface tone. The ablative and clause linker $=\hbar a$ have a longer form $=\hbar a \lfloor ogn n \rfloor$, but the intensifier $=\hbar a$ does not. The intensifier can follow an NP, as in (618) and (619). It has a slightly similar but more intense meaning than =la 'also' (§6.5.11) and can in some instances be replaced by =la.

- (618) $m\dot{a} = f\dot{a}$ $z\dot{i}$ $k^{h}\dot{i} = b\dot{u}$ nǐŋ tèsǐ ((cá mà = qĉj)). mother = even EXIST.AN time = TOP INTJ still old NEG = EXPT 'Even (its) mother is still alive, mind you, so (it) will not be old.' (CV16.76)
- (619) ní-bà jăw tçíŋmíŋ=fià nè-çð
 LOG-household:GEN again home=even DOWN-go
 tồ-tç^hóŋ=sì mà.
 UP-come:PFV:N.EGO=INF INFO

'She has even been to her own home and come back.' (CV02.4.2)

The difference between = la and = ha is exemplified by (620) and (621). When = la is used, the speaker and the referent have the same status, as in (620). When = ha is used, it is implied that the referent certainly should be going. If even he does not go, the speaker will not even think about going.

- (620) $t \neq = l a$ $c \neq m a = d a w$, $t \neq = l a$ $c \neq m a = s a$ 3sg = also go NEG = IPFV:N.EGO 1sg = also go NEG = VOL:SG'If he does not go, I won't go either.' (TC05.8EL)
- (621) $t \dot{\Rightarrow} = f h \dot{a}$ $c \dot{\Rightarrow}$ $m \dot{a} = d \hat{a} w$, $\dot{e} = l \dot{a}$ $c \dot{\Rightarrow}$ $m \dot{a} = \hat{s} \hat{u}$ 3SG = even go NEG = IPFV:N.EGO 1SG = also go NEG = VOL:SG

'If even he does not go, I won't go either.' (TC05.8:EL)

= *fia* is also used in complementation (§10.3), can follow a temporal subordinate clause (§10.4.2) and appears in reduplication constructions (§10.1).

6.5.3 The intensifier = non 'only'

The intensifier = nog 'only' is homophonous with the coordination marker = nog 'and' that is used with NP coordination (§5.7), clause linking (§10.3.2) and the comparative construction (§10.6). It often appears after temporal words or phrases, as in (622), and there is one example in the corpus where it follows a numeral-classifier compound. This example (623) indicates that there were only a small number of people (and even a smaller number of axes, as indicated by $t\check{a}$ 'only').

(622) púnà=nòŋ ừmá sénóŋ=bì ừ-jéj t¢á=sêŋ.
today=only aunt Sanong=DAT IN-bring say=PFV:EGO
'(...) only today I told aunt Sanong to bring (it here).' (CV02.32)

(623) \dot{v} -b \dot{w} -s \dot{v} g = b \dot{u} $z\dot{v}$ -ts \dot{v} = g \dot{v} g = n \dot{v} g \dot{v} t^{\dot{u}}/s \dot{v} t \dot{u} 1-household-PART = TOP four-CLF:person = AGT = only axe one:CLF:thing only d \dot{v} -z \hat{a} . TO.SP-carry '(...) but as for several of our household, only four people carried merely one

axe.' (YJ02.3)

= nog can also be used as a kind of topic marker to indicate that somebody's past experience is to be taken as a warning for the future. Examples are given in (624-626). The implications are the warning to not put any more salt on the meat, as in (624), to not go near the dog, as in (625), and to not do the same thing, as in (626).

(624) $ts^{h}i q^{h}a = q\hat{\epsilon}i$, tènóŋ éd^jà = qà tá salt bitter = EXPT just.now grandmother = GEN this ts^hĭ $t\acute{e}$ - $t\acute{o}\eta = g\acute{o} = n\acute{o}\eta$ t^hè-q^hà sá fià tçàbù one-CLF: piece = DEF = onlyFR.SP-bitter salt because 'It will be salty, just now this piece of grandma's was too salty, because (...)' (CV18.30.1) tshà = góŋní (625) nǐŋ $ts^{h} \hat{a} = q \hat{a}$ dzí $t^{j} \acute{a} = c \acute{o} \eta$, é = nóŋ

2SG dog=GEN location PROH-go:IMP:SG 1SG=only dog=AGT è-qwă. IN-bite:PFV:N.EGO

'You don't want to go near the dog, I have already been bitten by it.' (CV18.30.1EL)

(626) n^{j} á-bàmèŋmà=nóŋ=búbùl^jð q^{h} ð- dzwáNjae-householdCh:sister=only=TOPkidneyOUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO q^{h} ð- dzwáfià tçðbùOUT-eat:PFV:N.EGObecause

'The younger sister of the Njae household (could not move for three or four days,) because she ate and ate the kidneys (...)' (CV17.18)

 $= no\eta$ can also be used as a temporal clausal subordinator (§10.4.2).

6.5.4 The intensifier $= n^{j} x$ 'just, already, at once, right'

Like = non 'only' (§6.5.3), the intensifier $= n^{j}x$ 'just, already, at once, right'²⁵⁵ often occurs with temporal constituents, as in (627).

²⁵⁵ This intensifier is similar to Chinese 就 *jiù* in use.

(627) pèjpéj píŋmá t_{v} én $\partial = n^{j}$ à $q^{h}\partial$ -şéj m ∂ dz ∂ older.sibling Pingma day.before.yesterday = just OUT-go:PFV:N.EGO GNOMIC 'Older brother Pingma already went the day before yesterday, (...)' (CV02.35.2)

But it also less frequently follows NPs with other markings, like a locational, as in (628), and an agentive nominal, as in (629). Note that $l\hat{u} = bu$ in (628) is an afterthought.

- (628) làt cád n = gà hòn-ná-nú = n^jà d^jón mà dzà tà, u = bù. Latcidin = GEN in-near-outside = just EXIST.AT GNOMIC SITU pine.torch = TOP '(...) (it) grows right at the back of Latcidin, the pine torches.' (CV14.252.1)
- (629) \acute{v} ts \acute{u} = n^j \grave{a} \acute{o} -bì [^hóŋ p \acute{u} jí tc \grave{a} m \grave{d} dz \grave{d} tc \grave{a} 1sg son = just that-side fast do come:IMP:SG say GNOMIC say n \acute{o} (p \acute{u}) ((tc \acute{o})) = d \grave{a} w thus (do) say = IPFV:N.EGO

'(...) (he) said, "(...) my son already told (me) to be fast." ' (CV07.74.2)

 $=n^{j}x$ also occurs after temporal subordinate clauses with $k^{h}i$ 'time' and as a temporal clausal subordinator (§10.4.2).

6.5.5 Value markers = d p and $q^h a$

There are two markers, = dv and $q^h a$, that express speaker attitude and value statements towards a referent or a situation. I refer to these markers as 'value markers'. Structurally speaking, the two markers are quite different: = dv cliticizes to the end of a noun phrase or a predicate, between the preceding semantic role markers and the following discourse markers; $q^h a$ usually appears after a noun phrase, but it follows, and not precedes the discourse markers, and it is also attested by itself; it is more like an interjection in that sense. The marker = dv is toneless and takes on the tone of the preceding element; the marker $q^h a$ always surfaces in a low tone. Functionally, however, the two markers are antonyms, and I therefore treat them together here.

 $= dp^{256}$ follows a noun phrase or a subordinate clause, and expresses disdain or contempt for the person or object referred to by the noun phrase, or marks a situation as being too insignificant to be bothered with. Examples with a noun phrase are given in (630) and (631). Examples with a subordinate clause are given in (632) and (633).

 $^{^{256} =} dv$ could be related to the stative verb $d\check{v}$ 'to be bad'. The particle reminds me a little bit of *bloody* in colloquial English that is a similar kind of value particle.

(630) líŋwá tswáŋmèŋ yá-m \dot{z} = $d\dot{z}$ = $d\dot{z}$ = $s\dot{z}$ m \dot{z} = $d\dot{z}$ Yǒngníng:GEN Ch:especially buy-NMLZ=PL=DIS=CONTR.TOP person=PL n \dot{z} p \dot{z} tc \dot{z} swàŋ=dàw m \dot{z} dz \dot{z} . thus do Ch:calculate=IPFV:N.EGO GNOMIC

'As for the insignificant people of Yǒngníng that normally buy (firewood), they calculate it like this.' (CV19.18)

- (631) é=gé tá=gá=dè=bù, tçš dzwá zù má dzà bàw
 1sg=GEN this=DEF=DIS=TOP say comfortable very GNOMIC CONTR
 'My insignificant (number) is very easy to say, (...)' (CV15.43)
- (632) $\dot{ma} = \dot{l}^{i} \dot{on} = d\dot{e}$ $\dot{q}\dot{u} = g\dot{i}$ tçà zù né-pà mà pà. NEG = enough = DIS buy = VOL:INCL say very DOWN-do:N.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR '(...) and if the (provisions) are not enough (which is so insignificant), let's buy more.' (CV08.20.1)
- (633) $n^{j}\acute{a}$ $m\grave{a}$ = tswá $k^{h}\acute{i}$ = d \grave{e} = b \grave{u} , nǐŋ kě $m\grave{a}$ = $q^{h}\check{u}$ eye NEG = see time = DIS = TOP 2SG afraid NEG = need

'Even when your eyes cannot see, you don't need to be afraid. (...)' (KZ03.28)

The particle $q^h a$ expresses that the referent has a very good view of self as opposed to other people, and is thinking or acting in a haughty manner. Examples are given in (634) and (635). In (634) the speaker and a friend are playing a trick on another person and feeling very good about themselves. In (635) a person is on his way to trick a household to give him their daughter in marriage, and he feels very good about himself.

(634) $\dot{e} = dz \dot{e} \eta = b \dot{u} q^{h} \dot{a}$ jǎw zŭ nè-tçǽ zà = Jź nè-lálá 1 = DU = TOPEXALT again very DOWN-calculate hand = PL DOWN-swing nè-khàkhà nè-zá = dwèŋ tcà ĥà á-pà DOWN-pack:CNT DOWN-come = IPFV:EGO:N.SG say LINK that-under:GEN 'As for the exalted two of us, we came down packing handfuls continuously and swinging our arms.' (CV22.36.2)

(635) tá $m = g \circ n n$ dèbů, $u = t \circ n = t$ dè-tswén fià $q^h a$, this person = AGT then horse-white = INDF TO.SP-pull LINK EXALT tè-t $c^h w = b \circ u = t \circ n = t \circ n$

'(...) this person, pulling a white horse and carrying a pine torch trunk on one side (...)' (TC08.17

6.5.6 General topic marker = bu

Topic-comment structure is the primary information structure in Půmǐ (see §10.9). Topics appear towards the beginning of the clause, often in clause-initial position, and can be any kind of constituent (even full clauses). A topic is optionally marked with the topic marker = bu ([bo] in Niúwōzǐ Půmǐ [Dīng 1998:164]). Semantically, = bu is the most general topic marker, and does not add anything to the meaning of the clause, other than marking a constituent as a topic. A clause can have multiple topics and each can be marked by = bu. The topic marker has no absolute association with any grammatical relation and can occur with semantic role marking. If a nominal argument is marked for semantic role, the topic marker follows the semantic role marker. Further research needs to be conducted into the precise factors that condition the presence or absence of the topic marker.²⁵⁷ The presence of = bu seems to have a pragmatic effect of setting the constituent apart from the rest of the clause and thus highlighting it.

Example (636) shows an unmarked topic $p\hat{u}n'\sigma$ 'today', and (637) is an example from the same story where the same topic is marked. Note that in (636) 'today' follows the agent, whereas in (637) it precedes it. The data in the corpus however show no clear relationship between overt topic marking and clause-initial position. The pragmatic effect of using the topic marker, is to set the constituent apart from the rest of the clause so that it highlights the constituent.

(636) è=ní pún^jð nǐŋ q^hð-dzá k^hð-tì=şú 1=AGT today 2sG OUT-eat OUT-put=VOL:SG '(...) Today I want to eat you completely.' (TC03.9)
(637) púnð=bù è=ní q^hð-dzá=şû today=TOP 1=AGT OUT-eat=VOL:SG

'(...) Today I want to eat (you).' (TC03.6)

Example (638)²⁵⁸ has multiple overtly marked topics (marked by square brackets).

²⁵⁷ Dīng (1998:164) notes that in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ pragmatic topics (in the sense of Lambrecht [1994], a topic is what the proposition is about) are not necessarily marked and referents whose cognitive status is quite low can still be designated as topics by the addition of the topic marker. He therefore talks about 'inferrable topic' which is a pragmatic topic that may or may not be marked and 'designated topic' which is always marked by the topic marker, but whose discourse status is otherwise uncertain.

²⁵⁸ Note the word *dəbǔ* 'then' which has a discourse ordering function and is often used as a hesitation marker 'uh...' (§10.9.3). The second syllable looks suspiciously like the general topic marker = bu. Ding (1998:168) sees a connection between the two in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ, where the

(638) [ìŋ=ųź tó tçòmá zįź-dzò]=bù dòbů, [è=ųž lincl=pl:GEN this central.room four-CLF:side=TOP then 1:EXCL=PL:GEN wétú]=bù dòbů, [tçòmá]=bù nó=wêŋ wadu=TOP then central.room=TOP like.this=CUST.EXCL
'(...) This four-sided central room of ours, in our Wǎdū, the central room is like this. (...)' (PC03.5)

Constituents can be marked for semantic role as well as topic. Examples are given with an agent in (639) and a dative in (640).

(639) $[d \partial m d - l i = n \partial \eta$ $n \partial \eta - b d + s \partial \eta = g \partial \eta n \partial i] = b u$ $t^{h} u t u d + d - q^{h} w d$ Drema-DIM = COORD 2-household-PART = AGT = TOP all.the.time that-top:GEN $t \partial = g d d w$ $n \partial t - d z \partial d z \partial \eta$. this = GEN top DOWN-sit:COLL

'Little Drema and several of you sat together on top of that all the time.' (CV09.76)

(640) $[m\dot{a}=g\dot{a} sw\dot{a}\eta=b\dot{i}=b\dot{u} w\dot{e}jk\dot{o}\eta$ tç $\dot{a}w$ mother=GEN father=DAT=TOP Ch:grandfather say:IPFV:N.EGO

'(She) calls her mother's father 'waigong'.' (CV21.37)

Various constituents can function as topic. Locational and temporal nominals are very frequently topics. Examples of a location are shown in (636) and (637), other nominals are shown in (638), (639) and (640), and a full clause as topic is shown in (641) and (642).

(641) [nìŋ-bú t¢óŋ [ú] = bù lú mǎ = tù 2-household uncultivated.land dig = TOP work NEG = be.of.use
'(...) your household working the land is of no use (...)' (TC02.13)
(642) [jèhǎ tớ- çò kèj] = bù dǒŋ mà = qéj óséŋ çì all UP-go let = TOP okay NEG = EXPT AGR think

' "To let them all go by will not be okay, right?" (he) thought.' (TC02.62)

forms are [t ∂ b δ] and [b δ] respectively, and tentatively links it to the demonstrative [t \hat{a}]. Their relationship in Wdd \bar{u} P \dot{u} m \check{n} is not totally straightforward and needs further research: whereas the form $d\partial b\check{u}$ starts with a voiced consonant and has a rising tone on [b \check{u}], the demonstrative $t\acute{a}$ has a voiceless consonant and the topic marker = bu is toneless in W \check{a} d \bar{u} P \check{u} m \check{i} .

Conditional subordinate clauses (§10.4.1) can also function as a topic (the same is true in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ [Dīng 2000:351]), as in (643). The topic marker together with the question marker marks the clause as conditional.²⁵⁹

(643) é é=dzàw=bù,...
1SG Q=eat:IMP:SG=TOP
'If I eat (...)' (CV04.38)

With temporal subordinate clauses (§10.4.2), the topic marker =bu (or one of the other discourse markers) often occurs in combination with the noun $k^{h}i$ 'time' that functions as a temporal clausal subordinator:

(644) é= Jà tç^hwà tú k^hì=bù
1=PL pig slaughter time=TOP
'When we kill the year pig, (...)' (CL01ed.15)

6.5.7 *Disjunctive topic marker* = *di*

The disjunctive topic marker = di is a semantically more rich topic marker than the general topic marker = bu (§6.5.6). Although = di can in most instances be replaced by = bu, a topic marked by = bu has a more neutral and flat meaning. When the disjunctive topic marker = di marks topics, there is a sense that the proposition is different from what was expected, or that there is some underlying adversive reason for the situation. For example in 'I = bu did not go to the store' versus 'I = di did not go to the store', the first sentence is a neutral statement, whereas the second sentence implies that there is an underlying reason for not going, e.g. the speaker has no money. Thus it often denotes that the proposition that follows the topic has a negative connotation, as in (645), is apologetic, as in (646), or counter to expectation, as in (647). It appears after a temporal constituent, as in (649). Interestingly, the marker seems to be bound up with the meaning of the whole proposition and does not just refer to the topic.

(645) zèmí=dì tsú dz = dàw, zèmí=dì....
tonight = DISJ.TOP ghost be = IPFV:N.EGO tonight = DISJ.TOP
'(...) tonight it's a ghost, tonight...' (CV09.33.2)

²⁵⁹ The topic markers = bu, = di, = sa and the intensifier = la can all mark conditional clauses in combination with the question marker v = (\$10.4.1; see also Haiman (1978) 'Conditionalsare topics').

(646)
$$ni = Ja = di$$
 Janán-má từ zón wén trà fiù.
 $2 = PL = DISJ.TOP$ smelly-NMLZ only delicious CUST.EXCL say LINK

'(...) they said that they only liked smelly (meat).' (CV09.149)

In (647) and (648) the implied meaning is that even though the situation was bad, the outcome is less bad than expected. In (647) the speaker is happy to see that the addressee is still alive, counter to expectation. In (648) the speaker was frightened, but the aftermath was not that serious. It also includes an element of surprise, implying that the speaker was frightened because it was an unexpected situation.

(647) $\acute{e} = di$ nin = di $n\acute{e} - sin = q\acute{e}j$ ci = sin 1sg = DISJ.TOP 2sg = DISJ.TOP DOWN-die = EXPT think = PFV:EGO 'I was totally expecting you to have died.' (KZ03.14EL)

(648) $\acute{e} = di$ nè-dú zù kwéj 1SG = DISJ.TOP DOWN-be.frightened very let:PFV:N.EGO 'As for me, I was very frightened.' (KZ03.14EL)

In (649) the aftermath is less serious than it could have been. Here = di follows a conditional clause (§10.4.1).

- (649) $nin = tilde{\phi}$ $m\dot{a} = \dot{e} = dz\dot{\phi} = d\dot{a}$,... 2 = PL NEG = Q = be = DISJ.TOP
 - '(...) if not for you (I would have died) (...)' (CV09.110)

Example (650), which my main consultant proferred, is a remark that is used sarcastically. The speaker comments on the addressee being happy, but by using = di, implies that the addressee should not be so happy. For example, a jealous boyfriend who sees his girlfriend talking happily to another male could say this.

(650) nin = di gá zu = daw2SG = DISJ.TOP happy very = IPFV:N.EGO

'You are very happy.' (CV08.20EL)

The disjunctive topic marker = di can also be used together with clause linker $n \delta \eta$. Example (651) is an ironic remark. The previous speaker commented on a certain person who was said to look like the addressee (see example (612) above), but as it turned out was not handsome at all. The current speaker jokes that the addressee, who is considered handsome, should make friends with this person. (651) ájòŋmâ, há... nŏŋ=dì è=dzǎŋ ljiádú pù=cìŋ tcà qhù mà.
INTJ INTJ SO=DISJ.TOP 1:EXCL=DU friend do=VOL:PL say need INFO
'Whoa, hahaha!...In that case you need to say, the two of us can be friends.'
(CV07.41.1-2)

It is possible for = di to appear after two consecutive constituents as well, as in (652) and in (647) above.

(652) $t\check{a} = di$ $\acute{v} = d\hat{i}$, $d\grave{e}d\acute{e}\eta = l\acute{a} t^{h}\check{o}\eta$ $m\grave{a} = q\acute{e}j = d\acute{a}w$ now = DISJ.TOP 1SG = DISJ.TOP walk = also can:N.EGO NEG = EXPT = IPFV:N.EGO 'As for now, I won't even be able to walk.' (YJ01.66)

6.5.8 Contrastive topic marker $= s \partial$

Contrastive (counter-supposition) topic is marked with the marker = sa. = sa occurs after all kinds of constituents. Examples are given of nominals, (653) - (655), a temporal constituent in (656), a clause linker in (657), a verb in (658), and a full clause in (659).

In (653) *tsâ* 'fatty meat' is highlighted to contrast it with 'mutton' that was mentioned in the previous clause; in (654) $\dot{v} = s\partial$ 'I however' said by Hare is contrasted to the trader he meets who is riding a horse and clearly going somewhere.

- (653) tsá = sò mòdà-lí = tóŋnì dò-jěj,...
 fatty.meat = CONTR.TOP female-DIM = PL:AGT TO.SP-bring
 'She said that the fatty meat, however, was brought by the girls, (...)'
 (CV14.277.5)
- (654) é=só tè-dìŋ=lá çó mà=dóŋ, nǐŋ kì
 1sg=contr.top one-place=also go NEG=IPFV:EGO:1sG 2sG where
 çò dzò?
 go be

'I however am not going anywhere, where is it that you are going?' (KZ02.3)

The contrastive topic marker can be used in combination with a constituent that is marked for semantic role, and it follows the semantic role marker:

(655) è-bă téçámà = gòŋnì = sò t^hé çé
1-household:GEN T:bKra.shis.ma = AGT = CONTR.TOP all.the.time be.big
kèj q^hù tçò fià.
let need say LINK
'(...) our Zhacima always says, "Let them be bigger please." ' (CV18.13)

In (656) the temporals $t\check{a}$ 'now' and $p\hat{u}n\partial z vn\partial$ 'these days' are contrasted with $l\hat{\partial}k^{h}i$ 'in the past'.

(656) jǎw Zĺ zù tçá wèŋ mà, $j \neq k^{h}$ i, $f^{h} \neq c i = t i$ again delicious very say CUST.EXCL INFO past weak.ale = INDFè-t¢^hû, $t\check{a} = s\check{a},$ $p\hat{u}n\hat{z}\hat{z}n\hat{z}=s\hat{z}$ IN-drink.and.eat now = CONTR.TOP these.days = CONTR.TOP jèhǎ mź=là nè-kwěsè = dàw l^jčj. all person = also DOWN-Ch:be.used.to = IPFV:N.EGO DISS 'In the past, we would consider it delicious, to drink some weak ale (with roast tsampa); now however, these days however, people are all used to too

After the clause linker $n \check{o} \eta$ 'so, in that case', as in (657), the use of the contrastive topic marker conveys that the situation is in total contrast to what the speaker had assumed.

(657) mê, hǒ, nǒŋ=sò zǎeq^hù dò-zá có mó dzò qèj.
what INTJ so=CONTR.TOP hand=on TO.SP-carry go EPIST
'What? Oh, *in that case* (Wujin) will probably have gone carrying it by hand.'
(CV02.87)

Verb phrases and conditional clauses can also be marked as contrastive topics, as in (658) and in (659). Note that $=s\partial$ in (659) is also used in the construction $q^{h}u = s\partial$ $q^{h}u$. Predicate-focus constructions like this appear with different discourse markers, and will be discussed in §10.8.

(658) $d\hat{u} = s\hat{a}$ t \hat{a} m $\hat{a} = q\hat{e}\hat{j}$ k^h $\hat{i} = b\hat{u}$ write = CONTR.TOP this NEG = EXPT time = TOP 'The writing however won't be (too difficult), (...)' (CV09.18)

(659) $j\check{\epsilon}j$ $\acute{\epsilon} = t^{h} \grave{\delta}\eta = s\grave{\delta}$ $q^{h}\check{u} = s\acute{\delta}$ $q^{h}\check{u}.$ bring Q = can:N.EGO = CONTR.TOP need = CONTR.TOP need

'If (we) can get it however, (we) certainly want/need it.' (CV14.105)

6.5.9 Additional focus marker = ni

much.' (CV14.169)

The marker = ni marks additional focus. The marker is homophonous with the agentive marker = ni (§6.2.1.1) but the intuition of my main consultant is that they are not related. Further research needs to be done to confirm this.²⁶⁰ = ni can follow nominals

²⁶⁰ Lidz (2011:55) notes that the agentive marker nur^{33} in Yǒngníng Na has an additional function as emphatic marking with non-nominals.

(usually nouns, but also NP's as in [661]), as in (660-662), (664) and (665), and verbs, as in (663) and (666). The marker is used to mark an addition to a list of items that are either overtly stated, or implicitly presupposed.

Sometimes = ni is used in situations where there is no solution to a problem; the clause marked by = ni gives another reason for why there is no solution. In the story example (660) is taken from, a prince keeps asking a monk to give his adopted daughter to him in marriage, and the previous line ends in the statement that even though the monk does not want to, he has no solution. Example (660) gives an additional reason for marrying her off (marked by = ni): she is of a marriageable age, and so the monk finally has to give in.

(660) d\u00f6b\u00e0 t^hw\u00e0 = n\u00ed d\u00f6b\u00f0 q\u00e0 \u00ed v\u00e0 k\u00e0 t^h\u00e0 - d\u00e0 ŋ = s\u00e0 then age = ADD.FOC then eighteen- years.old FR.SP-become = INF
'On top of that she had turned eighteen, (...)' (TC07.31)

In (661) the speaker has just commented that the researcher is to be pitied (since it must be difficult for her to live in a remote village). Then she adds, that on top of the hardships experienced by the researcher, the Pǔmǐ food is not that good (which will make it even harder for her to live there):

(661) $\hat{n} = 4$ $tc^{h} = ni$ $dz \neq (q \neq n) ((q \neq a))$ m = d = d = a1:INCL = GEN food = ADD.FOC eat can NEG = IPFV:N.EGO

'Our food is not even edible.' (CV21.34.4)

In (662) on top of not having brought enough axes, the two women were also not able to cut trees, which made the success of their operation even more questionable. =ni expresses that they have no solution whatsoever.

(662) ìŋ-bú=bù dàbǔ pú nòŋ=n^jàn^já, ìŋ=dzáŋ=nì
1:INCL-household=TOP then axe two=only 1:INCL=DU=ADD.FOC
çá mà=tçǎ, tç^hàná pú=gì?
cut NEG=can:EGO:1 how do=VOL:INCL
'(...) our household (has) only two axes, and on top of that the two of us

cannot cut, what shall we do?' (YJ02.6)

But =ni is also used in a positive sense. In the utterances preceding (663), the topic of conversation turned to the unity of the clan. Several things were mentioned: they bear the same surname; they do everything together smoothly; when somebody dies, they all spring into action immediately. In (663) another thing is added to the list:

(663) sésè = nì mà = dwêŋ, é = Jà.
quarrel = ADD.FOC NEG = IPFV:EGO:N.SG 1:EXCL = PL
'On top of that, we (= our clan) do not quarrel.' (i.e. at the time of funerals) (CV21.51.2)

In the following three examples, the background information is not mentioned explicitly, but is implied. In (664) the implication is that normally men find wives. On top of that, this particular man is handsome, so the fact that he is not able to find a wife is counter-expectational.

(664) $\[mathbb{m}] \hat{a} = ni$ t $\[mathbb{c}] \hat{b} = ni$ t $\[mathbb{m}] \hat{b} = ni$ time wife find can:N.EGO m $\[mathbb{m}] \hat{a} = d\hat{a} w$ neg = IPFV:N.EGO

'Even though this man is handsome (this man is even handsome, but), he is not able to find a wife.' (YJ02.6EL)

In (665) the speaker has just invited the addressee over for a New Year's meal. She is trying to convince the addressee not to worry about giving trouble to the inviting family. Added to the normal (implied) argument that coming over for a meal is not going to give trouble to the family, an additional argument is that they do not even have guests staying with them during the New Year.

(665) $w \dot{v} m \dot{a} = n \dot{n}$ $m \ddot{a} = z \dot{n}$ $m \dot{a} dz \dot{a}$. guest = ADD.FOC NEG = EXIST.AN GNOMIC

'(Our household) does not even have any guests.' (CV21.31)

The speaker in (666) is telling about the time he was child and would buy candy on the way to school. The presupposition is that the children bought candy and ate it in addition to their lunch, but in (666) the speaker adds that they did not even bother bringing lunch, but just ate the candy.

(666) $\varphi w \dot{e} \eta$ $z\dot{a} = n\dot{i}$ $m \ddot{a} = w \dot{e} \eta$, $t\dot{a}$ $b \dot{u} = g \dot{a}$ $q^{h} \dot{a} - dz \hat{a}$. lunch carry = ADD.FOC NEG = CUST.EXCL this candy = DEF OUT-eat

'(...) (we) would not even carry lunch, but just eat this candy.' (CV12.76.2)

As with the disjunctive topic marker = di (§6.5.7), the additional focus marker relates to the proposition, as well as to the referent it follows.

6.5.10 Additional topic markers = gədi and tçəmə

There are two additional topic markers that appear to be combinations of other morphemes. The first one, $=g\partial di$ seems to be constructed from the definite marker

 $=g\vartheta$ (§5.5) and the disjunctive topic marker =di. There are only two examples in the whole corpus, given in (667) and (668). Note that $=g\vartheta di$ follows a first person pronoun, whereas normally the definite marker $=g\vartheta$ does not follow the first person pronoun. The attestation in the corpus is too sparse to clarify the use of this marker, and the label 'topic marker' has to be understood as a provisional label, until further research is conducted. It can be noted that in (667) other discourse markers can be used (notably =bu and =di). In (668), where two constituents are marked, $=g\vartheta di$ seems to indicate that the result is not expected and not wanted. The use of $=g\vartheta di$ implies an impact on self, and especially when self is highly affected, as in (668), other discourse markers cannot be used without a loss of this expression of affect.

(667) táw tçə è- tç^hôŋ, é = gə́dì míŋ è-tç^hôŋ l^jèj IDEO say IN-come:PFV:N.EGO 1SG = TOP what IN-come:PFV:N.EGO RHET cì = sèŋ. think = PFV:EGO

'(...) (he) came crying loudly; I wondered what was coming.' (CV07.75)

(668) $\acute{e} = g\acute{e}di$, tènóŋ $z\grave{e} = g\acute{e}di$ $\grave{e} - t \varsigma^h w \check{e} j$. 1SG = TOP just.now hand = TOP IN-stab

'I just stabbed my hand.' (CV16.63.2)

The second additional topic marker $= t \varphi \partial m \partial$ seems to derive from the verb $t \varphi \partial$ 'to say' and the nominalizer $-m \partial$ (§5.2.3). It behaves very similarly to the general topic marker = bu (§6.5.6) and can in all cases be replaced by = bu. At this point it is not clear whether there is a difference in meaning or not. One particular speaker prefers to use $= t \varphi \partial m \partial$ instead of = bu, as in (669). Another speaker regularly uses both = bu and $= t \varphi \partial m \partial$ in combination to mark a single constituent, always with $= t \varphi \partial m \partial$ following = bu, as in (670). The idiolect of each of the two speakers stands out in this regard.

(669) $|\hat{a}dz\hat{u} = tc\hat{a}m\hat{a}$ $n\hat{v}-p\hat{u}l^{j}\hat{a}$ $k^{h}\hat{i} = tc\hat{a}m\hat{a}$ $b\hat{v}tw\hat{a}tw\hat{a}$, $n\check{i}\eta$ head.cover = TOP DOWN-turn.over time = TOP irregular INTJ $|\hat{a}dz\hat{u} = g\hat{a}$ tí dz \hat{a} ? head.cover = GEN one be CONF

'When the head cover was upside down, it was all irregular, mind you, that head cover was a beautiful one?' (CV22.7.2)

(670) nè-gǎw nè-gàw pá máiê
DOWN-be.happy DOWN-be.happy do:PFV:N.EGO person = PL:GEN
màgéŋ = bù = tçàmà t^hàiź láwláw tçà zù né-pà.
old.man = TOP = TO thank.you very say very DOWN-do:PFV:N.EGO
'(...) the old man was very very happy and thanked us profusely.' (CV09.119)

Like =bu, =tcomo occurs after nominals, as in (669), after temporal or locational constituents, as in (671) and after temporal subordinate clauses, as in (669) above. The temporal constituent in (671) is an afterthought.

(671) tà-bă á-dzà dzá = tù tá-çà nè-çà = lá 3-household:GEN that-location:GEN ladder = on UP-go DOWN-go = also $m\check{a} = z\check{n}$ fià, sòŋ-ŋóŋ $z\acute{e}$ -ŋòŋ = gà = tçàmà. NEG = can LINK three-CLF:day four-CLF:day = DEF = TOP '(...) I was not able to go up and down the stairs of that place (= my job) for three or four days.' (CV21.261.2)

Like =bu, $=t\phi = t\phi = t\phi$ can occur with semantic role markers, and also mark multiple constituents in the same clause:

(672) $nin = dz \neq n = g \circ nni = t \circ m \circ j \circ m \circ -p \circ i = t \circ m \circ ,$ (...) $g \approx = i \circ 2 = DU = AGT = TOP$ again that-under = TOP (...) cliff = PL $m \neq b \circ i$ $k^h \circ -t w \circ i$. down-on OUT-put:PFV:N.EGO

'The two of you had (...) put a big stone (in order to make a sleeping place for them).' (CV09.118.2)

Like =bu, $=t\phi m\partial$ can appear after a subordinate clause, in this case a causal subordinate:

(673) $y \acute{u}$ n \acute{v} -dz \acute{v} dz \acute{e} = g \acute{v} n \acute{n} = tç \acute{e} m \acute{v} n \acute{v} -q \acute{a} t^h \acute{v} n tooth DOWN-be.tightly.closed = AGT = TOP DOWN-split.open can:N.EGO m \grave{a} = d \acute{a} w. NEG = IPFV:N.EGO '(...) because (her) teeth were tightly closed, (her mouth) could not be

opened.' (CV09.64.2)

The markers $=g \partial di$ and $= t \varphi \partial m \partial$ are restricted in their use. The attestation of $=g \partial di$ is limited to the above examples. Apart from the constructions described above, $= t \varphi \partial m \partial$ only appears with a temporal subordinate clause (§10.4.2) and the causal subordinate clause (§10.4.3) and does not appear in any of the other constructions that the other discourse markers appear in (see Chapter 10).
6.5.11 *Limiting topic marker* = ci

In addition to several semantic role markers and topic and focus markers, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has a marker =ci which has characteristics of a semantic role marker as well as a discourse marker. Positionally it can be grouped with the semantic role markers, but it has an interesting distribution: it only occurs after Agents, as in (674), and after event numeral-classifier compounds (§4.4), as in (675). It can be followed by position 3 discourse topic markers, such as =bu, =di and =sp and =tcpmp.

(674) $t\acute{e}-q\grave{e}=c\grave{i}$ $n^{j}\acute{o}\eta$ $m\grave{a}=k^{h}\check{e}\eta=n^{j}\grave{e}$, one-CLF:household=LIM.TOP money NEG=give=just $t\acute{e}-c\grave{i}=g\grave{o}\eta n\grave{i}$ $k^{h}\check{e}\eta$ $m\grave{a}=d\widehat{a}w$. one-CLF:village=AGT give NEG=IPFV:N.EGO

'As soon as *one family* doesn't give money, the whole village doesn't give.' (TC10.9EL)

(675) tⁱčj, nà-dzú=cí=bù á-tčj fià t^hè-dôŋ.
INTJ two-CLF:times=LIM.TOP=TOP that-big LINK FR.SP-become
'Look! In only two times (the bladder balloon) has become that big!'
(CV18.151)

In every occurrence after an Agent, = ci can be replaced by the normal agentive marker $= (g)o_{i}(ni)$ (§6.2.1). It should be noted that in the Ladigu Pǔmǐ speech variety, = ci is the main agentive marker. Note that the normal agentive marker can also be used to mark Instrument (§6.2.4) and that the occurrence of = ci in (675) could be interpreted as the marking of some kind of Instrument: 'using two times' to conduct the action of blowing the bladder. However, when appearing after a numeral-classifier compound, = ci cannot be replaced by $= (g)o_{i}ni$. It could be proposed though that = ci has some kind of agentive/instrumental role marking function.

However, = ci seems to have not simply a semantic role marking function, but has a pragmatic function as well. Looking through the corpus of conversational discourse, the agentive marking function of = ci seems to appear when a discourse referent that was the topic of the conversation is reintroduced as main discourse topic after another referent has dominated the scene. Thus in (676), the main discourse topic of the conversation 'Aunt Lhamtsho' is reintroduced after the conversation turned to another topic.

(676) èmá láts^hú = çì, "nǐŋ n^já mǎ = kwì â, aunt T:lHa.mtsho = LIM.TOP 2SG eye NEG = have CONF ó-pù tó-twáw mà," tçàw. that-under UP-dig:IMP:SG INFO say:IPFV:N.EGO
'Aunt Lhatshu said (to him), "Don't you have eyes? You should dig under there!" ' (CV22.33)

Following numeral-classifier compounds, = ci has a delimiting function and denotes that the action is conducted in only the amount expressed by the numeral-classifier, as in (677). The classifier is usually an event classifier (§4.4).

(677) ní té- $t_s = c_i$ p^hén séj fià, LOG one-CLF:jump = LIM.TOP flee:PFV:N.EGO go:PFV:N.EGO LINK t^hùlì = gôn. hare = AGT

'(...) he himself fled in just one jump, that Hare.' (TC04.18)

The difference between the two temporal expressions $tet^{h}i$ (after) a little while' and $tet^{h}i \, \epsilon i$ immediately' is also based on the delimiting function of $=\epsilon i$. 'immediately' is literally 'in only a little while'.

When reduplicated numeral-classifier compounds are followed by $=\varphi i$, the implication is a continuous action followed by a result, as in (678).²⁶¹ In this position, $=\varphi i$ is almost without exception followed by the general topic marker =bu (§6.5.6).²⁶²

(678) ébăw, è-zó k^hí fià té-dàŋ té-dàŋ = cì = bù = tcòmò,
INTJ IN-come time LINK one-CLF:run one-CLF:run = LIM.TOP = TOP = TOP
é = tcômò dòdáŋ = lá mà = zìŋ t^hé-dóŋ mà, t^hô.
1SG = TOP walk = also NEG = can FR.SP-become INFO foot
'My oh my! After (I) came back (from Yǒngníng) (I) was continuously running back and forth, until I could not even walk any more, (my) foot (was so painful).' (CV21.248)

Looking at the three environments that = ci occurs in, it can be seen that its use is very similar to that of the normal agentive marker = (g)og(ni): it can mark an Agent of a clause, as in (674) and (676); it can mark a constituent that can be interpreted as some

²⁶¹ Interestingly, no matter what the tonal pattern of the numeral-classifier compound is normally (§3.4.2), in this construction the tone pattern is always [H-L H-L L].

²⁶² And in example (678) by $= t \varphi \partial m \partial$ as well. The combination $= bu = t \varphi \partial m \partial$ is characteristic for this particular speaker's idiolect (§6.5.10).

sort of Instrument, as in (675) and (677); and in (678) it almost looks like a clausal subordinator. All these functions can be covered by =(g)og(ni) as well (cf. §6.2.1, §6.2.4, §10.4.3). However, only in the first environment =ci can be substituted by =(g)og(ni).

Dīng (1998:163) describes a similar marker [$j\tilde{\epsilon}$] in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ and analyses it as an argument focus particle. However, based on its delimiting function in combination with a numeral-classifier compound, and its discourse function of re-introducing a previous topic, I refer to it as a limiting topic marker. More research, especially crossdialectal research, needs to be conducted to clarify the exact function and development of this marker.

6.6 Conclusion

This chapter looked at the different noun phrase markers. Three position classes can be established: semantic role marking; intensifiers; and discourse markers. Most semantic role markers derive from locational postpositions. Agentive marking is optional and pragmatically motivated; patients are unmarked; datives are obligatorily marked. Transitivity plays a minor role and the grammatical relations of 'subject' and 'object' are difficult to define. Agentive and ablative marking can also be used for clausal subordination. Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has a whole range of different discourse markers that display various semantics. In addition to marking noun phrases, discourse markers are also used in various other constructions discussed in Chapter 10.

Chapter 7. The predicate

modifier

The following two chapters will cover the main predicate constructions in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. The Pǔmǐ predicate expresses direction, aspect, modality, evidentiality and epistemicity and speaker attitude. The structure of the predicate complex was determined by looking at the different combinational possibilities attested in the corpus, and can be summarized as in Figure 7.1 (the second line of the figure follows the first):

	0		-		
Pre-verbal modifier	Direction-	Negation =	Interrogativ	ve = V1	V2/ Aspect
			·	÷	
Auxiliary	Post-verbal	=Egophor	icity/ =	Epistemicit	y Attitude

Evidentiality

Figure 7.1. Structure of the predicate

The current chapter and next chapter are organised in the following order: the current chapter looks at the directional prefixes (§7.1), negation markers (§7.2) and interrogative marker (§7.3). This is followed by verb stem morphology (§7.4) which includes several reduplication patterns (§7.4.1), a derivational suffix (§7.4.2) and verb pairs that show alternation of the initial (§7.4.3). Special types of verbs include the copula (§7.5), existential verbs (§7.6), the light verb p and denominal verbs (§7.7). Verbal aspect is denoted by several secondary verbs (§7.8), and verbs can be followed by different auxiliaries (§7.8.5). The chapter closes with several constructions that modify the predicate (§7.8.5). Pre-verbal modification will be treated together with post-verbal modification. Chapter 8 deals with verb inflection and post-verbal egophoric, evidential, epistemic and attitude markers. Verbs that show inflection are the equational copula (§7.5), the animate existential verb (§7.6), the modal auxiliary expressing ability (§7.9.1) and controllable verbs (§8.1.1).

7.1 Directional prefixes

In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, direction is expressed by a set of six directional prefixes that attach to the verb. These indicate literal or metaphoric direction of the movement expressed by the verb, and are sometimes conventionalised collocations with bleached meaning. The existence of directional prefixes is a common areal feature found in all Qiangic

languages.²⁶³ One could alternatively analyse these directional morphemes as proclitics. Cross-linguistically, affixes tend to appear closer to the stem than clitics, but in Pǔmǐ other clitics, such as negation, interrogative and discourse clitics can appear between the directional prefix and the verb stem, as in (679), and the interrogative clitic normally fuses with the directional prefix (as described in §7.3). Furthermore, most nominal and verbal marking is expressed by clitics (see Chapters 6, 7 and 8).

(679) $\dot{a}j\dot{a}y$, $k\dot{e} = t\hat{a}$, $n\dot{e}-m\dot{n} = s\dot{a} = s\dot{a}$ dǒn. INTJ afraid = SVM DOWN-NEG:PFV = die = INF okay

'Oh! That's scary, (she) did not end up dying, that's good.' (CV09.66)

However, directional prefixes only appear preceding verbs, and with the exception of the above-mentioned clitics, nothing can appear in between prefix and verb. Furthermore, it has been common practice in Qiangic literature to refer to similar directional morphemes as prefixes. In this thesis I therefore refer to these morphemes as prefixes.

The semantics of the directional prefixes were discussed in §4.6.2 and their tonal behavior in §3.4.5. In this section I will show their interaction with verbs.²⁶⁴ The list of prefixes is given in Table 7.1. There is no prefix indicating neutral direction, as has been reported for rGyalrongic languages (Jacques 2004:359). Prefixes are only obligatory in certain contexts.

Table 7.1 Directional prefixes			
tá-	'mountain-wards, upwards'		
ně-	'valley-wards, downwards'		
q^h ð-/ k^h ð-	'outwards, down the valley'		
ě-	'inwards, up the valley'		
dð-	'towards speaker (across boundary)'		
$t^{h}\check{e}$ -	'from speaker (across boundary)'		

²⁶³ See LaPolla with Huáng (2003:154ff) and Evans (2004:206) for Qiāng, Shirai (2009) for nDrapa and Arakawa (2012) for Tangut verbal prefixes. Jacques (2011b:437) correlates three of the six Pumi prefixes with Tangut prefixes: nja^{1} 'down', $dj\dot{t}^{2}$ 'cislocative' and dja^{2} 'translocative'.

²⁶⁴ For a more in-depth study of prefixes, see Fù (1998:27-72, 172-207), who looked at the grammatical categories of 426 verbs in Dàyáng Pǔmǐ.

Not all verbs can take all prefixes: the choice of prefix depends partly on the semantics of the verb, but is often also lexicalized. Some verbs, especially motion verbs, can combine with all six directional prefixes, in which case they tend to denote literal direction,²⁶⁵ but many verbs have lexicalized the use of a particular prefix. ²⁶⁶ In (680) an example is given with the verb $\varphi é$ 'to go' that takes all prefixes.

(680)	tô-çə	'to go up'
	nv-çə́	`to go down'
	e-có	'to go in'
	kʰə-¢ə́	'to go out'
	də-çə́	'to go towards speaker'
	t ^h ɐ-cź	'to go from speaker'

The equational copula, existential verbs and auxiliaries do not take directional prefixes. Stative verbs can take prefixes (§7.1.2).

7.1.1 Directional prefixes and the interplay with verbal semantics

The semantics of the verb can constrain the choice of the prefix: when the verbs in (681) and (682) occur with a prefix, they only occur with the prefix $n\check{v}$ - and $t\acute{z}$ -respectively, and in these cases it implies literal or metaphorical movement.

(681)	nv-qâ	'to fall down'
	nv-têj	'to put on/wear (hat)'
	nv-héj	'to lose balance'
	nv-gû	'to put on clothes'
(682)	tá-k ^h iŋ	'to get up'
	tô-t ^h aw	'to bubble, boil'
	tô-du	'to climb onto sth; to copulate (of animals)'
	tô-çaw	'to raise (children)'

Some verbs can occur with both prefixes and denote literal movement:

²⁶⁵ Fù (1998:51) notes a correlation between the number of prefixes that a verb takes and the degree of abstraction: only for verbs that take three or more prefixes is the literal direction expressed by the prefixes, and with verbs that take five or six prefixes, only literal direction is expressed.

²⁶⁶ In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, there is no single lexicalized prefix that marks perfective as opposed to simple direction, as exists in some Qiang varieties (LaPolla, p.c.).

(683) $s\check{a} nv - t^h \hat{x}$ 'to close an umbrella'²⁶⁷ $s\check{a} t\hat{a} - t^h \hat{x}$ 'to open an umbrella'

With some verbs the prefix $n\check{e}$ - 'downwards' is used metaphorically for negative meanings,²⁶⁸ as in (684), whereas the prefix $t\acute{a}$ - 'upwards' is used metaphorically for positive meanings. This is especially clear with stative verbs,²⁶⁹ as in (685).

(684)	nɐ-qǔ	'to become blind'
	ne-qwéj	'to cry'
	nvlôŋ	'to have difficulties'
	ne-tă	'to die outside of home
	nv-wěj	'to curse'
(685)	tô-zə	'to become a lot'
	tô-be	'to become expanded'
	tá-ku	'to be full'
	t <i>á-k^hwi</i>	'to have pity on'

The metaphorical use of the prefix $n\check{e}$ - denoting something bad can also be clearly seen in example (686), where the prefix $q^h\check{e}$ -/ $k^h\check{e}$ - ²⁷⁰ is normally used with the verb and the prefix $n\check{e}$ - has a negative connotation.

(686)	$k^h \partial - t^h \hat{i} \eta$	`to drink'	nɐ-t ^h îŋ	'to drink continuously, be an alcoholic'
	q^h ə- $dz\hat{ ho}$	'to eat'	nɐ-dzô	`to eat a lot, overeat'

Some more lexicalized meanings of ně- and tá- are shown in (687) and (688).

(687)	nɐĮâw	'to ferment'
	ne-Įžŋ	'to laugh'
	nv-lí	'to narrate'
(688)	tə́-t̪sʉ	'to sleep holding a child'
	tá-hej	'to forcibly occupy'
	tá- <u>.</u> ji	'to sweat'

 $^{^{\}rm 267}$ The word for 'umbrella' is a loanword from Chinese \oplus sǎn.

²⁶⁸ Cf. Dīng (1998:120) for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ.

²⁶⁹ Cf. Fù (1998:37) for Dàyáng Pǔmǐ. The downwards and upwards prefixes in Qiāng also have negative and positive connotations (LaPolla with Huáng 2003:159). Note that the addition of a prefix with stative verbs indicates inchoative (§7.1.2).

²⁷⁰ The phonology of this prefix was discussed in §2.1.7.4. Some cross-dialectal comparison and semantics were discussed in §4.6.2.

Chinese verbs are usually borrowed with the prefix *ně*-. This is also noted for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ (Dīng 1998:120). Examples are given in (689).

(689)	nɐ-kwæŋtçi	'to shut down (phone)' (<关机 guānjī)
	ne-piŋǐŋ	'to graduate' (<毕业 bìyè)
	nɐ-t û paw	'to gamble' (<赌博 <i>dŭbó</i>)
	nv-caţs ^h éj	'to get out of the car' (<下车 <i>xiàchē</i>)
	ne-tswênpi	'to prepare' (<准备 zhǔnbèi) 271

The 'inwards' prefix \check{e} - is often used as a default prefix²⁷²: many verbs can only be prefixed with \check{e} - in which case no specific direction is implied, as in (690).

(690)	e-dzěŋ	'to be clogged up'
	e-swéŋ	'to study, teach'
	v-tx	'to grab'
	₽-p ^h á	'to become moldy'

In example (691) from a conversation, a literal direction is illustrated. The speaker is in Wǎdū and the person referred to called her from Yǒngníng, which is down the valley and outwards from Wǎdū. The phone call is thus directed inwards.

(691)	jǎw	tìŋhwá	hòŋ-dzì	é-dwî	
	again	Ch:phone	in-direction	IN-throw:PFV:N.EGO	
	'He gave me a call again ()' (CV15.22.1)				

Verbs that only take the 'outwards' prefix $q^{h} \check{\partial} - /k^{h} \check{\partial}$ - do not show any specific semantics, and no literal direction is implied. Some examples are given in (692).

(692)	q^h ə-t s^h $\hat{ ho}$	'to slaughter'
	q ^h ə-swĭ	'to whet'
	k ^h ə-n ^j ôŋ	'to nurse'
	q ^h ə-nî	'to rest'
	k ^h ə-jêŋ	'to be left over'

With some verbs that take multiple prefixes, the prefix $q^h \check{\partial} - k^h \check{\partial}$ - indicates a more specific meaning related to cultural practices:

 $^{^{271}}$ This verb has also been attested with the prefix $t^h \check{e}$ -.

²⁷² Interestingly Fù (1998:43) notes that in Dàyáng Pǔmǐ many verbs that take the \check{e} - prefix have to do with kitchen tasks.

(693)	nv-ts ^h ž	'to open something new'
	q^h ə-ts ^h \check{x}	'to start on a new pork back'273
(694)	nɐ-tsô	'to milk (a cow); to siphon'
	q ^h ∂-ts∂	'to open a jar of ale (by siphoning it into something else)'274
(695)	tô-deŋ	'to weigh'
	a ^h ə-dén	'to measure (using measuring cups) ²⁷⁵

The prefixes $d\check{\partial}$ - 'towards speaker' and $t^h\check{e}$ - 'away from speaker' can also denote a direction across a physical border, like a river. Examples of metaphorical direction towards and from the speaker are given in (696) and (697). However, the semantics of the verb stem do not completely predict the use of a prefix, as can be seen in (698) where one would expect the prefix $d\check{\partial}$ -, but instead $t^h\check{e}$ - is used. Some examples of lexicalized collocations with $d\check{\partial}$ - and $t^h\check{e}$ - are given in (699) and (700).

(696)	dəjî	'to find'
	də-zə́	'to catch'
	də-t ^h wé	'to obtain, find' ²⁷⁶
(697)	t ^h ɐ-t¢íŋ	'to see'
	t ^h æ-kĭ	'to give sb. sth. to drink'
	t ^h ɐ-t ^j ế	'to offer a sheep'
(698)	t ^h æ-gí	'to collect firewood'
	t ^h v-zî	'to rob' ²⁷⁷
	t ^h ɐ-k ^h î	'to grab'
(699)	də-dzwiŋ	'to be light (of the sky)'
	də-bú	'to flare up (anger)'

²⁷³ Pork back, the salted and dried deboned rump of a pig, fulfils an important cultural role. At every New Year a new pork back needs to be 'opened' which means that the head is cut off the rump and placed on the house altar next to the hearth accompanied by a ritual. After that the meat can be sliced and eaten.

²⁷⁴ Ale is traditionally brewed at home (from a mixture of barley, highland barley, corn, and buckwheat or millet) and stored in jars. Opening a new jar is accompanied by a ritual: when the jar is opened, some of the dregs are put on the cooking tripod as an offering.

²⁷⁵ Traditionally, people in Wǎdū use two standard dry measures in the form of a round and a square wooden measuring cup. When lending grain, an equal amount can be returned later.

²⁷⁶ This verb can also appear with the prefix $n\check{e}$ - in the sense 'to run into, encounter'.

²⁷⁷ This verb does not co-occur with the prefix $d\check{\partial}$ - to show the direction of the action, like the verbs in (701).

(700)	t ^h ɐ-dzû	'to build, repair'
	t ^h ɐ-tɕ ^h íŋ	'to know hidden things'
	t ^h ɐ-h ^j éj	'to leave (animals, people) behind'
	t ^h ɐ-t ^h ʉ́	'to untie a knot'

A few verbs can take both prefixes of the pair to indicate the direction of the action, as is illustrated in (701).

(701)	t ^h ɐ-kî	'to sell' (speaker is selling)	də-kî	'to sell' (to speaker)
	t ^h æ-nĭ	'to lend (tools)'	də-nĭ	'to borrow (tools)'
	t ^h v-t ^h ŭ	'to lend (food)'	də-t ^h ŭ	'to borrow (food)'
	t ^h æ-k ^h ĭŋ	'to give' (speaker is giving)	də-k ^h ĭŋ	'to give' (to speaker)

7.1.2 Stative verbs and directional prefixes

When stative verbs (§8.2) are prefixed with a directional prefix, it marks inchoative aspect and a change in telicity of the verb, changing the stative verb to a verb denoting accomplishment or achievement.²⁷⁸ Examples are given in (702) and (685) above.

(702)	lêj	'to be heavy'	nɐ-lêj/qʰə-lêj	'to become heavy'
	kớ	'to be spicy'	tə-kâ	'to become spicy'
	ZŚ	'to be much'	tô-zə/kʰə-zə́	'to become more'

In combination with the prefix $t^h \check{e}$, a stative verb still indicates a state, but rather a comparative or superlative state (as compared with others) or an excessive state (as compared to one's own expectations). This is a productive process.

(703)	t ^h ɐ-lêj	'be heavier, be too heavy'
	t ^h v-kớ	'be spicier, be too spicy'
	t ^h ɐ-zớ	'be more, be too much'

The comparative, superlative and excessive meanings are illustrated in (704), (705) and (706), respectively.²⁷⁹

(704)	tá = Já = tù	ìŋ=lą	n ^j óŋ	t ^h è-há	şə fià
	3 = PL = on	1:INCL = PL	money	FR.SP-be.excessive	because
() we got more money than they ()' (CV08.22.2)					

²⁷⁸ Based on Vendler (1967), Van Valin and LaPolla (1997) distinguish four semantic types of verbs: *States*: be tall, know, have; *Activities*: walk, roll (intr.), read, eat; *Achievements*: pop, explode, collapse; *Accomplishments*: melt (intr.), freeze (intr.); learn. The latter two types are telic (i.e. having an endpoint).

²⁷⁹ In Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ the excessive state, but not the superlative state is expressed with the same directional prefix (Dīng 1998:121).

- (705) híŋ-bù t^hè-t^hóŋ=gó tíŋdwí=bù t¢^hwí zù who-household FR.SP-be.fast=DEF luck=TOP good very
 tçź wêŋ consider CUST.EXCL
 '(...) the household that is the fastest, their luck is considered to be very good.' (CL02ed.16)
- (706) $\grave{e}m\acute{a} = g\grave{e}$ $z\grave{e}$ t^h \grave{e} -c \acute{e} s \grave{e} fià, tcáwsút^hàw = g \grave{e} aunt = GEN hand FR.SP-be.big because Ch:rubber.glove = DEF t^h \grave{e} -q^hétséj s \grave{e} fià FR.SP-be.small because

'(...) (I cannot wear them), because aunt's hands are too big, (...) because the rubber gloves are too small, (...)' (CV02.46.1)

7.1.3 Directional prefixes and telicity

Cross-linguistically, there is a tendency for directionals to develop into markers of perfectivity, by making a process telic or bounded (Bybee and Dahl 1989:85-86). In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ the use of directional prefixes is not necessarily linked to perfective aspect,²⁸⁰ which can be seen in the fact that they can co-occur with imperfective and expectational as well as perfective post-verbal particles, as in (707) and (708), but rather points to the endpoint (telicity) of an action.²⁸¹

(707) nè-dzóŋ = dôŋ, é = lá nè-dzóŋ = sêŋ, kóŋ zǔ
DOWN-sit = IPFV:EGO:1SG 1SG = also DOWN-sit = PFV:EGO cold very
nùséŋ = bù.
morning = TOP
'(I) sit down regularly (next to the fire as well), I also sat down (in the

morning) as well, it's very cold in the early morning.' (CV02.14)

²⁸⁰ Although with controllable verbs that do not show inflection for phonological reasons, the directional prefix is an indication of perfectivity (§8.1.1).

²⁸¹ The notion of telicity has also been proposed for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ by Dīng (1998:196,208-209). He notes that the use of directional prefixes suggests perfectivity with Action verbs in some discourse contexts, but points to the basic notion of telicity. Fù (1998:119) mentions for Dàyáng Pǔmǐ that directional prefixes are often used in prospective aspect and the addition of a directional prefix indicates that the action will certainly be done (1998:124) and is linked to a result (1998:125).

(708) is used when one has already told the addressee that one is planning to eat bread and is carrying bread.

(708) é màză q^hà-dzá=şû
1sG bread OUT-eat=VOL:SG
'I want to eat the bread.' (EL:W-C33.3)

In (709) the directional prefix cannot be left out, which points to the completion of the first action before the second action is taken. The prefix could be seen as indicating perfectivity, but as Ding (1998:209) points out for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ, directional prefixes may give a perfective reading with some Activity verbs due to the discourse context. In (709), the prefixed verb occurs in a temporal subordinate clause marked by $k^{h}i$ noŋ 'only when', which indicates that the first action is conducted before the second starts. Thus a directional prefix that marks the boundedness of the action needs to be present on the first verb.

(709)
$$n\acute{e}l^{j}\acute{a}w = w\grave{u} t^{h}\grave{e}\cdot p^{h}\acute{i}$$
 (($k^{h}\grave{i}$)) = nòŋ tçì = gǐ.
eye = in FR.SP-push time = only pour = VOL:INCL

'Only after having pushed in the eye, let's pour in (some salt).' (CV18.127)

A similar example is given in (710). In (710) the difference between the absence of the prefix in the first line and the use of the prefix in the second and third line also points to the boundedness of the action. In the story something happened during the time the mother was eating, and something else happened after she had finished eating.

```
(710) d\partialbů, dzw\partial = sì
                                                                           k^{h}i = bii
                                          tcàw. dzw\hat{a} = s\hat{a}
                                                                                           dàbù
                 eat:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY
        then
                                                   eat:PFV:N.EGO = INF time = TOP
                                                                                           then
        'So (she) ate. When (she) was eating, (...)' (TC04.15)
                 q^{h} \dot{a} - dz w \dot{a} = s \dot{a}
        dàbǔ
                                                 tc = daw.
        then
                 OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO = INF
                                                say = IPFV:N.EGO
        'Then (she) finished eating, it is said.' (TC04.17)
        q<sup>h</sup>à-dzwá
                                 k^{h}i = n \delta \eta = b \dot{u}
                                                       dàbù
        OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO
                                 time = only = TOP then
        'When (she) had eaten, (...)' (TC04.18)
```

A similar difference in telicity can be seen when comparing example (707) above with (711). In (707) a directional prefix is used which indicates the bounded action of sitting down, whereas in (711) no prefix is used and the same verb indicates the non-bounded action of staying in a place.

(711) púnè èmá ó-q^hwà gòŋn^jà-bá wú dzóŋ=sêŋ.
today aunt that-on:GEN Nuòsū-household:GEN interior sit=PFV:EGO
'Today aunt (=I) visited the Nuòsū household over there.' (CV14.285)

The use of directional prefixes also ties in with pragmatics. When someone invites a person for a meal and that person wants to decline the invitation, it is possible to say $dz\delta = seg$ 'I've eaten'. This does not mean that the invited person has really eaten. If so, $q^{h}\delta - dz\delta = seg$ would be used, with the directional prefix to show that the action has been completed.

When perfective aspect is expressed in verbs (through a non-egophoric perfective verb stem or a basic verb stem followed by the egophoric perfective marker, see §8.1.1 and §8.3.1), the directional prefix is generally used. The exception is the verbs 'to do', 'to go', 'to come', 'to let', 'to think', and 'to say', which are often used without prefix even in perfective aspect, as in (712).

(712) $z(e^{t}-ts) = g^{t}$ $s^{t}si$, four-CLF:person = DEF go:PFV:N.EGO '(...) the four of them went.' (CV02.78.1)

When preceded by a perfective negative, a directional prefix is usually absent, as in (713).²⁸² When a directional prefix is present, it either denotes a specific direction (in the case of motion verbs), as in (714), or emphasizes the action, as in (715).

(713) tènóŋ té-kù=là mí=dzwá sì dàw just.now one-CLF:mouthful=also NEG:PFV=eat:PFV:N.EGO EPIST:probably k^hì. trail

'Just now (you) probably did not eat even one mouthful.' (CV19.55)

²⁸² The exception is with stative verbs that show inchoative aspect (§7.1.2): the directional prefix is present and the perfective negation intervenes between the prefix and the verb, as in $nv-mi = l\epsilon j$ 'has not become heavy'. With verbs that have a lexicalized directional, as in (687), (688), (699) and (700) above, the prefix will usually be absent.

(714)	tá	dǎwmà	t¢	wà	né-nìŋ	ĥà	tètsĭ
	this	T:rDo.rje.Dre.ma	pig	3	DOWN-drive	LINK	still
	tə́-mí = t¢ ^h óŋ			sì d	àw.		
	UP-NE	G:PFV-come:PFV:N.EC	90	EPIS	T:probably		

'(...) this Dauma went to herd pigs and has probably still not come back up.' (CV20.19)

(715) $\dot{a}j\dot{a}\eta$, $k\dot{e} = t\hat{a}$, $n\check{e}-mi = s\dot{a} = s\dot{a}$ dǎn. INTJ afraid = SVM DOWN-NEG:PFV = die = INF okay

'Oh! That's scary, (she) did not end up dying, that's good.' (CV09.66)

Půmǐ does not favor a special directional prefix for imperative forms;²⁸³ the same prefix that is used for the normal verb form is also used for the imperative form. Most imperative forms appear with a directional prefix, but the imperative forms of the verbs 'to come, go, give, say, do, eat, drink' can also appear without directional prefixes.

7.1.4 Multiple prefix construction

A construction with a repetition of a verb prefixed by an antonym pair of directional prefixes is shown in (716). With verbs of motion, the construction expresses a back and forth motion of the action; with other verbs the construction has an intensifying meaning. This construction does not seem to appear with stative verbs. A similar construction also appears in Dàyáng Pǔmǐ (Fù 1998:123), in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ (Dīng 1998:143) and in Qiāng (LaPolla with Huáng 2003:156). The order of the prefixes cannot be changed,²⁸⁴ but some verbs can appear with several sets of prefixes, as with the verb *tçĭŋ* 'to lean' in (717).

k ^h ə-níŋ-ɐ-níŋ	'driving back and forth' (<i>< níŋ</i> 'to drive (animals)')
k ^h ə-bíŋ-ɐ-bîŋ	'flying back and forth' ($< bin$ 'to lurch, fly')
q ^h ə-dzə́-ɐ-dzə́	'grazing (of a cow)' ($< dz \delta$ 'to eat')
t ^h v-tŭ-də-tŭ	'pulling out (a piece) here and there' ($< t \check{u}$ 'to pull')
tə́ı̯i-nɐı̯î	'sweating extensively' ($< \chi \hat{i}$ 'to sweat')
t ^h v-těŋ-də-těŋ	'considering a lot of things' ($< t \check{e} \eta$ 'to think of')
t ^h ɐ-k ^h ǎw-də-k ^h ǎw	'crooked' ($< k^h \check{a} w$ 'to bend)'
	k ^h ə-níŋ-v-níŋ k ^h ə-bíŋ-v-bîŋ q ^h ə-dz <i>á-v-dzá</i> t ^h v-tŭ-də-tŭ t <i>á-ţi-nv-ţî</i> t ^h v-těŋ-də-těŋ t ^h v-k ^h ăw-də-k ^h ăw

²⁸³ In several varieties of Qiāng, particular directional prefixes are used for imperative forms of verbs (LaPolla with Huáng 2003:408; Evans 2004:209).

²⁸⁴ I.e. 'out'-'in'; 'from speaker'-'to spreaker' ; 'up'-'down'. Interestingly, in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ the order is 'from speaker'-'towards speaker', opposite from that of Wǎdū Pǔmǐ (cf. Dīng 1998:143).

(717)	t ^h ɐ-t¢ǐŋ-də-t¢ǐŋ	'walking with a swaying walk'
	k ^h ə-tçĭŋ-ɐ-tçĭŋ	'swaying back and forth (of a tree)'
	tá-tçiŋ-nɐ-tçĭŋ	'swaying up and down (of a tree on a vertical slope)'

Like reciprocal reduplication (§7.4.1.1), this construction deverbalizes the verb, and cam be analysed as a verbal compound. Thus the construction needs to be followed by the verb $p\acute{u}$ 'to do' in order to function like a verb in a clause, as can be seen in (718) and (719). Dīng (1998:143) observes something similar in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ when he states that the compound cannot be preceded by negation or interrogative markers or followed by other verbal markers.

(718) é=bú q^hà-dźŋ-è-dźŋ pù ĥà tà=gǎ $s e \eta n i = h a$ 1SG = TOP OUT-run-IN-run do 3SG = GENlisten = even LINK mí = séŋnì. NEG:PFV = listen '(...) I was running back and forth and did not even listen to his (talking).' (CV07.24) t^hè-ţǔ-dà-ţù (719) tcin = tai = bi = de = bu, pú fià qèlá child = PL = DAT = DIS = TOPFR.SP-pull-TO.SP-pull bundle do link è-dzóŋdzù dà-khìŋ wên.

IN-make:CASU TO.SP-give CUST.EXCL

'(The deceased woman) would pull a bit (of firewood) here and a bit there and casually made a bundle for the children.' (CV09.6.2)

7.2 Negation

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has three negative clitics: the general $m\check{a} =$, the perfective $m\acute{i} =$ and the prohibitive (negative imperative) tiar = 285. The general $m\check{a} =$ has an emphatic form mv = that only appears in some constructions. The various negation markers precede the last verbal element in a predicate, as in (720). This implies that the current evidential = daw in (721) is verbal in origin.²⁸⁶ The position of negation markers depends on the scope of negation. Compare (721), where the scope of negation is the whole clause and the negative marker precedes = daw, with (722), where the negative marker precedes zin and the scope of negation is the complement clause.

²⁸⁵ Cf. Qiāng [tça- ~ tçə- ~ tço- ~ tçe-], PTB **ta*- (LaPolla with Huáng 2003). This negator seems to be toneless, but its exact tonal behaviour needs further research.

²⁸⁶ As are the egophoric markers = dog, = du, = dweg, = su, = cig, and the evidential marker = qcj (§8.3.2; §8.3.3). The egophoric = seg and the evidential = si are never preceded by negation (§8.3.1).

(720) $t_{s} = w u$ $t_{s} = w t_{s} = k t_{s}$ fiaw. dirt = in fall.down PROH-let WARN

'Don't let it fall down in the dirt!!' (CV18.149.2)

(721) dèıtěj tón zín mà = dáw speech speak can NEG = IPFV:N.EGO

'(...) he was not able to speak (...)' (YJ01.27)

(722) $t \dot{v} k^{h} \dot{\partial} = l \dot{a}$ $p \dot{u}$ $m \dot{a} = z \dot{i} \eta$ $t^{h} \dot{v} - d \dot{o} \eta = d \dot{a} w$ a.little = also do NEG = can FR.SP-become = IPFV:N.EGO

'(...) (the situation) has become (that I'm) not able to do even a little bit, (...)' (CV02.38)

If a directional prefix is present it precedes the negation marker, as in (723).²⁸⁷ With certain disyllabic verbs (where an adverb or noun has become incorporated into the verbal complex), the negator comes between the adverb or noun and the second syllable, as in (724).

(723) $d\hat{\partial}$ - $z\hat{\phi}$ -m $\hat{\phi}$ $t^{h}\check{e}$ - $t^{j}\acute{e}$ = $h^{j}\check{e}j$ fià? TO.SP-catch-NMLZ FR.SP-NEG = release LINK

'Why would you not release the one you caught?' (CV16.17)

(724) d\u00ebbu gw\u00eb . $t\u00eb = mi = c\u00acin. (< .t\u00ebbu can')$ then sing can = NEG = can

'(...) I could not sing.' (YJ01.9)

7.2.1 General negation

The general negation marker $m\check{a}$ = is used with general non-perfective statements that do not imply strong speaker-volition.

(725) qě $m\check{a} = kwi \cdot m\grave{a} = \imath\grave{a} = b\check{u}$ $\imath\check{u}$ $t^{h}\acute{o}\mathfrak{g}$ $m\check{a} = w\grave{e}\mathfrak{g}.$ strength NEG = EXIST.IN-NMLZ = PL = TOP lift can:N.EGO NEG = CUST.EXCL

'(...) the ones who don't have the strength will not be able to lift (one side).' (CL01ed.18)

The general negator $m\check{a}$ = is used in several constructions. A construction with the denominal verb (§7.7) $k^{h\acute{e}min}$ $p\mu$ 'not to be possible (not to V)' and the general negation marker implies that there is no other choice but to conduct the action expressed by the verb:

²⁸⁷ For the interesting tonal behaviour in these constructions see the discussion in §3.4.5.

(726) pèzóŋ = tì mà = dzá k^hémíŋ pù wèŋ roast.tsampa = INDF NEG = eat not.possible do CUST.EXCL
'(In the past) there would be no choice but to eat roasted *tsampa* (...)' (CV14.168)

A double negation construction implies a very positive statement:

(727) $m\dot{a} = tc^{h}\check{a}$ $d\check{i}\eta$ $m\dot{a} = c\dot{i}$ NEG = search place NEG = EXIST.AB

'There is no place that (we) did not look for (goldthread) (...)' (SN02.17)

Negative conditional clauses (§10.4.1) are formed with the general negator $m\check{a}$ = and the interrogative marker $\hat{v} =$ (§7.3) in the construction *DIR-m\check{a}* = $\hat{v} = V$ *TOP*, as in (728) and (729). This is the only instance in which the general negator co-occurs with a directional prefix, and also the only co-occurrence of a negator and the interrogative marker.

(728) nùsén n^jǎtjò tớ-mà = é = m³ð = bù, (...) từt^hì = cí bứ morning early UP-NEG = Q = get.up = TOP after.a.while = LIM.TOP sun nôn-p^hà t^hỳ-dòn = dàw. day-half FR.SP-become = IPFV:N.EGO

'If we don't get up early in the morning, (...) after a while it will already have become mid-day.' (CV04.57)

(729) $t dz dz = n dy n dz = t k^{h} dz = t t t dy$ liquor = coord thus = INDF OUT-NEG = Q = drink speak mă = weŋ mə dz nıı NEG = be.able GNOMIC INTJ

'(...) if he does not drink liquor or similar things, he can not narrate, mind you (...)' (CV13.110.1)

When the verb in a negative conditional clause is the equational copula, no prefix is present:

(730) $n \dot{n} = d \dot{z}$ $m \dot{a} = \dot{e} = dz \dot{a} = b \dot{u}$, \dot{e} $ts^{h} \check{u}$ $n \dot{e} \cdot s \dot{a}$ 2 = PL NEG = Q = be = TOP 1SG almost DOWN-die '(...) If it wasn't for you, I would have died (...)' (YJ01.59)

7.2.2 Perfective negation

The negation marker mi = is used with perfective aspect.²⁸⁸ Dīng (1998:200) states: "To negate a perfective-marked verb, the perfective clitic must be removed when the perfective negator is attached to the host." In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, this does not necessarily hold true: both the inferential evidential =si (Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ's perfective clitic) as well as the perfective egophoric =seg can be used in combination with the perfective negator, as shown in (731) and (732).²⁸⁹

(731) dǎwmà mí = t $c^h \delta \eta$ = sì. T:rDo.rje.Dre.ma NEG:PFV = come:PFV:N.EGO = INF

'Dauma has not come back yet.' (CV20.133.2)

(732) èmá mí = çá = sèŋ
aunt NEG = go = PFV:EGO
'(...) aunt (=I) did not go.' (YJ02.33)

7.2.3 Prohibitive negation

The prohibitive or negative imperative is expressed by the prefix $t^{j}x$ - that directly precedes the imperative form of a verb. The directional prefix never appears with negative imperative forms:²⁹⁰

(733) t^jǽ-pàw! proh-do:imp:sg

'(...) don't do that!' (CV04.65)

(734) t^jæ-çìŋ hăw, t^jæ-çìŋ, t^jæ-çìŋ.
PROH-go:IMP:PL WARN PROH-go:IMP:PL PROH-go:IMP:PL
'Don't go, don't go, don't go!' (CV21.385)

²⁸⁸ Jacques (p.c.) notes the resemblance between Tangut's past negator *mjij*² and the Pumi form.

²⁸⁹ As will be shown in §8.3.1, inferential evidential marking is always optional, depending on the type of evidence, and perfective egophoric marking is obligatory in positive propositions, but optional in negative propositions, depending on the purposefulness of the speaker.

²⁹⁰ Not even with verbs that have a lexicalized directional prefix, as in (687), (688), (699) and (700) above.

In combination with the modal auxiliary verb $q^h \check{u}$ 'to need', the prohibitive expresses a (negative) optative sense, as in (735).²⁹¹

(735) "tá màdà-lí = gá = bù t^jà-sà q^hû, (...)" t¢à = sèŋ this female-DIM = DEF = TOP PROH-die need say = PFV:EGO '(We) said, "(We) hope this little girl will not die (...)" '(YJ01.53)

Apart from prohibitions, the negator is used in situations where the volition of the speaker is involved, indicating that the referent refuses to conduct the action, as in (736), (737) and (738).²⁹² Note that in those examples the basic form and not the imperative form of the verb is used.

- (736) tç^hǐ nɨ tç^hwí-mɨ nǐŋ t^jà-dzɨ, nöŋ míŋ dzɨ=su?
 food thus good-NMLZ 2SG PROH-eat so what eat=vol:sG
 'Such good food you would not eat, so what do you want to eat?'
 (TC02.65:EL)
- (737) çàwçăw tç^hớpź t^jà-k^hǐŋ paper nicely PROH-give

'(...) they would not nicely give the money (...)' (SN01.10)

dàbů, sél^jàw $t^{i} \acute{o} \eta = b i$ (738) è-bá $\hat{c}_{L} = \hat{i}_{3}\hat{q}$ 1-household:GEN older.sibling = PL then grain.kernel one:CLF:thing = DAT t¢^hèbùl^jŏŋ qà-bùliòn dzú t^hòŋ-mà nín t^jæ-gwě food.lump nine-CLF:ball make can:N.EGO-NMLZ 2SG PROH-grab 'Our household's older siblings, who can make nine lumps of food from one kernel of grain, you would not grab (...)' (TC02.65)

The constructions $t^{i}x$ - V_{contr} nv-pa involving the basic form of a controllable verb (§8.1.1), as in (739), and $V_{non-contr}$ $t^{j}x$ - $p\mu$ nv-pa involving the basic form of a non-controllable verb (§8.1.1), as in (740), imply that the referent purposely does not take a certain action.

²⁹¹ In Shǐxīng (Chirkova 2009:50), a prohibitive is also used in a negative optative (in combination with an irrealis marker). In Wǎdū Pǔmĭ, the modal auxiliary verb q^h ǔ that is used for polite requests (§7.9.9) is used for the optative in combination with the prohibitive.

²⁹² Dīng (1998:198) calls this negator 'desiderative' with a central meaning of conflicting desires between two parties.

 $h^{j}\dot{a}wh^{j}\dot{a}w p\dot{u} = l\dot{a} = b\dot{u}$ (739) dèbǔ t¢^hèné pù dàbů, ci = wado then how wail do = also = TOP then village = in:GEN t^jà-zà má = Jòŋ tú fià. né-pá person = PL:GEN look PROH-come DOWN-do LINK 'However much he wailed, the people in the village would not come to look.' (TC08.46)

(740) d\u00f6b\u00e0 t\u00f6=g\u00f6nn\u00e1=b\u00f0 p\u00e9ts\u00f5 d\u00ed t ts\u00e9\u00e9d ts\u00e9 d\u00ed ts\u00e9 d\u00ed ts\u00e9 d\u00e4 ts\u00e9 d\u00e4 ts\u00e9 d\u00e4 ts\u00e9 d\u00e9 throw be.finished PROH-do n\u00e9-p\u00e9.
DOWN-do:PFV:N.EGO

'(...) he (purposely) did not finish the flowers.' (TC07.23)

Another construction with the prohibitive $t^{j}x$ -*V* TOP functions as a sort of rhetorical question, implying a very strong suggestion. The verb can have a directional prefix, and a topic marker (often the general topic marker =bu (§6.5.6), but also other discourse markers [§6.5]) may follow the clause. This construction is a case of insubordination and will be discussed in §10.5.

(741) nǐŋ ně-t^jà-tòŋ = bù
2SG DOWN-PROH-speak = TOP

'Why don't you tell something?' (CV06.18)

7.2.4 Emphatic negation

An alternate form mv = of the negation marker $m\check{a} =$ is used in various constructions with a more emphatic meaning. Its most general occurrence is with the auxiliary $h\hat{a}$ 'should' (§7.9.10) as in $m\hat{v}ha$ 'don't!'. In some cases both the general negator $m\check{a} =$ as well as the alternate mv can be used, but mv = conveys a stronger sense of there being no solution, as in (742) and (743).

(742) $i \eta = I \hat{\phi} = b \hat{u}$, $d \hat{\phi} b \check{u} dz \hat{\phi} dz \hat{i} m \check{e} = c \hat{i}$. 1:INCL = PL = TOP then letter NEG:EMPH = EXIST.AB

'(...) but we don't have books.' (CV25.38.1)

(743) nàŋkʰàlàmá=bù dàbǔ tʰé míŋní mè=dzà=bù
lama.naekhae=TOP then all.the.time straw.sandal NEG:EMPH=be=TOP
púqá tçwì ẓǐŋ mà=dáw má dzà bàw.
shoe wear can NEG=IPFV:N.EGO GNOMIC CONTR
'Lama Naekhae cannot wear shoes continuously, except for straw sandals.'
(CV01.18)

A construction with both the interrogative $\hat{v} = (\$7.3)$ as well as negation marker mv = is used in the sense 'whether or not':

- (744) tă nớ-mớ mèjsớ-mờ=tì=là é=zì mé=zî now thus-NMLZ know-NMLZ=INDF=also Q=EXIST.AN NEG:EMPH=EXIST.AN
 '(...) nowadays there may not be many people (lit. whether or not there are people) who know this (story).' (CV13.109)
 (745) nìŋ-bú é=dzìŋ mè=dzìŋ dòbǔ, é=dzìŋ
- 2- household Q = be.true NEG:EMPH = be.true then Q = be.true $m\dot{e} = dz\dot{n}$ $d\dot{e}b\dot{u}$, $n\dot{n}g.b\dot{u}$ \dot{e} -t \dot{u} $m\dot{u}$ NEG:EMPH = be.true then 2- household IN-look INFO '(The wild boar) said, "Your household, whether or not it is like this, whether or not it is like this, your household will see (...)" '(TC02.15)
- (746) p^{h} ín é=màn mé=màn hǎw flee Q=have.time NEG:EMPH=have.time WARN

'(...) I don't know whether there is time to flee!! (...)' (TC03.18)

A construction with a prefixed verb and emphatic negation means 'every/all that V':

(747) $l\check{e}j$ $h\check{e}$ -m \check{e} = $d\hat{i}$ -m \acute{e} $t\acute{o}$ -n \acute{i} = $s\hat{i}$ seed IN-NEG:EMPH = throw-NMLZ UP-sprout = INF

'All the seeds that have been sown have sprouted.' (CV21.537.3EL)

(748) $t \div m \acute{e} = z \grave{a} = l \grave{a}$ $\grave{e} m \acute{a} = b \grave{i}$ $t \varsigma^h \grave{e} k \grave{u}$ $j \grave{e} j .$ UP-NEG:EMPH = come = also aunt = DAT gift get

'(...) every time (you) come up (here you) get aunt a gift.' (CV02.31)

(749) \dot{v} -bǎmềmáhề-mề = mà-másòŋ-twé1-household:GENT:butter.lampIN-NEG:EMPH = light-NMLZthree-CLF:flamezế-twèthè-dòŋ = dàwthè-dòŋ = dàwthree-CLF:flamefour-CLF:flameFR.SP-become = IPFV:N.EGOthree-CLF:flame

'(...) all our household's butter lamps that have been lighted have become three or four flames; (...)' (CV21.537.3)

7.3 Interrogatives

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has several ways of asking polar questions. They all slightly differ in terms of pre-knowledge of the speaker in respect to the situation. The most neutral way of forming questions is with the pre-verbal polar interrogative clitic \hat{v} where the speaker has no clues about the situation to expect an answer one way or the other. The position of the interrogative clitic in a clause depends on the scope of the interrogation.

The clitic normally precedes the last verbal element of a clause, the main verb in (750) and the egophoric marker $=_{S}u$ in (751). In (752) the clitic precedes the nominalization construction $m \partial dz \partial$ (§8.6.1) and the scope is over the truthfulness of the whole proposition. The position of the interrogative clitic in front of a nominalizer is interesting. There is only one example of this in the corpus. The construction $m \partial dz \partial$ marks gnomic statements (§8.6.1) and ties in with the evidential system.

(750) t \acute{a} [$\xi^h \check{a} = b$] t $\varsigma^h \check{i}$ $\acute{e} = t \varsigma^h w$ í w \check{e}]? this dog = DAT food Q = feed:N.EGO PUZ

'(...) has (she) fed this dog food? (...)' (CV14.16.3)

(751) èmá sénóŋ dz $\dot{e} = s$ \ddot{u} ? aunt Sanong eat Q=VOL:SG

'Aunt Sanong, do you want to eat?' (CV14.159)

(752) màdà-lí= lóŋ t^hútù á-pù pù dà-jěj é = mà dzà female-DIM = PL:AGT all.the.time that-wide do TO.SP-get Q = GNOMIC
'(The Nuòsū lady) said that the girls brought (one piece of meat) that wide all the time, right?' (CV14.279)

The polar interrogative clitic \hat{v} = is not used in a substance (WH) question, but interrogative pronouns (§4.2.3) are used instead.

When a directional prefix is present and the verb is not modified, the interrogative marker $\hat{v} =$ fuses with the prefix, as is shown in Table 7.2 and (753). If anything modifies a verb, the marker will precede the last verbal element, as in (754).

- (753)dǎwmàn^jæ̀-tç^hôŋ?T:rDo.rje.Dre.maDOWN:Q-come:PFV:N.EGO'Has Dauma come down?' (CV19.78)
- (754) èmá-lì è-zó é = qèj?
 aunt-DIM IN-come Q = EXPT
 'Will young aunt come back?' (CV13.134.2)

DIR-	DIR:Q-	Meaning
tá-	t ^j <i>ź</i> -	'mountain-wards, upwards'
ně-	n ⁱ ǎ-	'valley-wards, downwards'
q^h ð-/ k^h ð-	$k^{hj}\check{x}$ -293	'outwards, down the valley'
ě-	<i>h^j</i> ě- [çæ] ²⁹⁴	'inwards, up the valley'
dð-	d ⁱ ž-	'towards speaker (across boundary)'
t ^h ě-	t ^{hj} ě-	'from speaker (across boundary)'

Table 7.2 Interrogative directional prefixes

A tag question is formed by adding the question marker $\hat{v} =$ and the copula $dz\delta$ 'to be' to the end of a statement. The tag is set off from the rest of the clause by a pause. When using tag questions, a speaker expects a confirmative answer.

(755) tá= Já tágí nà= Já mí wù¢à=dáw má dzà,
3= PL beginning seven=PL:GEN night new.year=IPFV:N.EGO GNOMIC
é= dzà?
Q= be
'They celebrate New Year on the evening of the seventh day (of the eleventh

lunar month), right?' (CV02.73)

The interrogative marker $\hat{v} = \text{can}$ be used in a conditional construction $\hat{v} = V$ *TOP* to form a conditional subordinate clause, as in (756). If a directional prefix is present, the particle will fuse with the prefix, as is shown in Table 7.2 and in (757). Conditional clauses will be discussed in §10.4.1.

(756) $p\dot{u} = g\check{a}$ $m\dot{a} = j\dot{o}n$ $\acute{e} = ts^{h}\dot{a} = b\dot{u},...$ self = GEN person = PL = AGT Q = slaughter = TOP

'If one's own people slaughter (the pigs), (...)' (CV16.27.1)

 $^{^{293}}$ Since the interrogative forms involve palatalization, the prefix is pronounced with [k^h] (cf. §2.1.7.4).

²⁹⁴ The initial cavity fricative that is lost in the inwards prefix \check{v} - now leaves a trace in the interrogative form (cf. §4.6.2 and §8.3).

(757) t \dot{a} t $c^{h}\dot{I}$ k $^{hj}\dot{a}$ -dzw \dot{a} = b \dot{u} , tcí. \dot{l} ó η m \dot{a} = q \dot{e} j 3SG food OUT:Q-eat:PFV:N.EGO = TOP hungry NEG = EXPT 'If he has eaten, he won't get hungry.' (EL)

Other ways of forming questions make use of clause-final attitude particles. These will be discussed in §8.8.2. Two of the clause-final attitude particles, \hat{a} and *noŋ* are illustrated in (758), (759) and (760). When a question is stated in the negative, the confirmation will be a positive statement, as in (758).²⁹⁵

(758) dzidzi dú tshá mà=dáw â? letter write be.finished NEG=IPFV:N.EGO CONF
W: '(You) haven't finished writing yet?' (CV13.15) fið?ô! INTJ
J: 'Right!' (CV13.16)

In my data, there is one example of a negative answer to confirm a negatively-phrased question, as in (759). According to my main consultant this is an exception. It could be that the speaker was influenced by a positively-phrased question that was asked immediately before, and to which he answered 'No', as in (760).

(759) _{Jéçè} çè = nòŋ ná dú cá $m\dot{a} = t^{i}\dot{u}$ \hat{a} ? packload pack.load = COORD thus do go NEG = EXP CONFP: 'You didn't go when you were driving mule caravans?' (CV13.21) ènhð! INTJ G: 'No.' (confirming the question) (CV13.22) (760) dzédòn tà = jà (nǐŋ), káw nǐŋ ¢ź = t^jú nôŋ? Zhōngdiàn this = PL:GEN (2sg) uncle(MB) 2SG go = EXPQUEST P: 'Uncle, have you been to Zhōngdiàn and surroundings?' (CV13.19) ènhð! INTJ

G: 'No.' (CV13.20)

²⁹⁵ Unlike English, but like Chinese. English: Q. 'You didn't go?' A. 'No' (I didn't go) versus Chinese Q. 'You didn't go?' A. 'Yes' (I didn't go).

7.4 The verb stem: verbal morphology

This section will discuss the morphological structure of the verb stem in Půmľ. Wǎdū Půmǐ shows a certain amount of verbal stem morphology, in particular several patterns of reduplication that mark reciprocal, collective, random and continuous aspect (§7.4.1). Wǎdū Půmǐ has one derivational affix -qa that marks iterative aspect with certain verb stems (§7.4.2).²⁹⁶ And Půmǐ has a set of stative/transitive verb pairs that show alternation of the initial (§7.4.3).

7.4.1 Reduplication and aspect

Reciprocal, collective, random and continuous verbal aspects are all created through reduplication of the verb stem and vowel change in the reduplicated syllable. These reduplication processes show 'derivational iconicity' as defined by Aikhenvald (2007:23): "an intuitively predictable correlation between derivational process and its semantics". The most basic templates for the different reduplications are given in Table 7.3. In addition, there are also tonal differences in the different templates. These have been discussed in §3.4.7 and will not be dealt with here.

Pattern	Aspect	Example	Meaning
C ₁ V ₁	basic	tsêj	'to wash'
$C_1 e C_1 V_1$	reciprocal	tsêtsej	'to wash each other'
$C_1 \left\{ {\mathfrak e} / {\mathfrak p} \right\} C_1 V_1$	collective	tsətsej	'to wash together'
C_1 oŋ C_1V_1	random, causal	tsôŋtsej	'to wash randomly'
$C_1V_1C_1\{a/a\}$	continuous	tsêjtsa	'to wash continuously'

Table 7.3 Reduplication templates

²⁹⁶ There might be an additional derivational affix *-µ* that has been found in only three verbs in the corpus: $ts^{h} \varepsilon j q \varepsilon$ 'to be delayed for a long time' (stative verb) ($< ts^{h} \varepsilon j$ 'to be delayed' [noncontrollable verb]), $t^{h} w \varepsilon j q \varepsilon$ 'to continuously winnow' ($< t^{h} w \varepsilon j$ 'to winnow'), and $\varepsilon \varepsilon q \varepsilon \varepsilon$ 'to resemble' (stative verb) ($< \varepsilon \varepsilon$ 'to resemble' [stative verb]). The origin and function of this affix needs further research. Ding (1998:125) also notes a negative derivational prefix *ma*- that derives antonyms of stative verbs. Based on the Wădū Pǔmĭ data I do not analyse it as a derivational prefix in Wǎdū Pǔmĭ, but rather as the normal negative clitic that cliticizes to the verb. An example is ma = dzwa' 'uncomfortable'. When the current evidential = daw follows, it is not possible to say **ma*-*dzwa* = *dâw*, but unstead the negation marker has to precede = dawas in dzwa' ma = daw (cf. Dīng 1998:126, ex. (5.24)a). Also, it is possible to negate a stative verb that has a lexical alternative, as in *lɛ̃j* 'heavy', $ma = l\varepsilon j$ 'not heavy' and zin 'light'.

7.4.1.1 Reciprocal reduplication

A reciprocal form of a verb is created through $C_1 \varepsilon C_1 V_1$ reduplication of the verb stem. The vowel of the initial reduplicated syllable undergoes reduction to $[\varepsilon]$.²⁹⁷ Some examples are given in (761). Reciprocal reduplication deverbalizes verbs: reciprocal forms do not take a directional prefix, and the light verb $p\acute{t}$ 'to do' needs to be added, as shown in (762), (764) and (765).

(761)	t¢ ^h et¢ ^h ǎw	<i>v</i> 'rubbing each other' ($< tc^h \check{a} w$ 'to rub')					
	qêqu	'helping each other' ($< q\hat{u}$ 'to help')					
	têţæ	'scratching each other' (<i>< tૣǽ</i> 'to scratch')					
	dwed ŭ	$vd\check{t}$ 'writing to each other' (< $d\check{t}$ 'to write')					
(762)	$z\check{a}=q^{h}\check{u}$	dà-zá	ní = dzàŋ	gwég ú	pù	zòŋ	¢ə́=qêj.
	hand = on	TO.SP-carry	2 = DU	exchange:RECP	do	SIM	go = EXPT
	'Carried by continuous	hand, the two ly.' (CV02.88)	o of them w	ill have gone ex	chang	ing (it))

Reciprocals reduce the distinction between the different participants and thus only one argument is required. Compare the following sentences, where the non-reduplicated verb stem takes two arguments, and the reciprocal only one:

(763)	[tá	màdà=góŋní]	[ý]	è-twé
	this	girl=AGT	1sg	IN-scratch:PFV:N.EGO
	'This	girl scratched m	e.' (E	L)

(764)	[tə́	tçìŋ=dzǽŋ]	tétà	p ù =dàw
	this	child = DU	scratch:RECP	do=IPFV:N.EGO

'These two children are scratching each other.' (EL)

Reciprocal reduplication normally occurs with controllable verbs. Interestingly, a reciprocal reduplication is attested for the non-controllable verb $s\check{\sigma}$ to die'. Structurally it functions like a reciprocal, but since a reciprocal meaning is semantically impossible, it has an idiomatic meaning to work or fight as if one's life depended on it', as in (765); since the resulting reduplication has a controllable meaning, the verb $p\check{u}$ needs to follow.

²⁹⁷ One could alternatively analyse this as a replacement of the vowel by [<code>ɐ</code>].

(765) jèhǎ ś-pù sèsà pú k^hí = là t^hé dzǔ all that-under die:RECP do time = also all.the.time make mí = t^hôŋ. PFV:NEG = can:N.EGO '() but even though (they) all looked hard for the problem (they) could

'(...) but even though (they) all looked hard for the problem, (they) could not fix (it).' (PC05.7)

7.4.1.2 Collective reduplication

Collective reduplication is formed with a $C_1 \{ v/o \} C_1 V_1$ reduplication of the verb. The vowel of the reduplicated syllable is reduced to [v], and is often further reduced to [ə]. These vowels are in free variation. Collective reduplication verbs obligatorily take a directional prefix, which is the same as that of the non-reduplicated form. The further reduction of the vowel of the first syllable might be due to the presence of the prefix, but more research needs to be conducted. Vowels of reciprocal forms (§7.4.1.1) are never reduced to [ə], but are always [v].

There are many verbs that show identical forms for both reciprocal and collective reduplications. For example *lvlu* from the verb *lu* 'to hang' can be interpreted reciprocally 'to put arms over each others' shoulders' or collectively 'to hang (of a lot of things)'. Structurally, however, reciprocal and collective reduplications function differently. The difference can be clearly seen in the following elicited examples with the transitive verb $gw\breve{e}$ 'to tie' (the reciprocal and collective forms of this verb are not identical; the reciprocal form has [v] and the collective form has [ə] in the first syllable):

- (766) $\acute{e} = i \eth$ sèdwèn = gón gègwè p $\acute{u} = s$ ên 1.EXCL = PL hemp.rope = INS tie:RECP do = PFV:EGO 'We tied each other with a rope.' (EL)
- (767) é = Jà sèdwěŋ è-gàgwè = sêŋ
 1.EXCL = PL hemp.rope IN-tie:COLL = PFV:EGO
 'We tied a rope together.' (EL)

The collective reduplication has a directional prefix; the reciprocal reduplication does not have a directional prefix, but needs the addition of $p\acute{t}$ 'to do'. Furthermore, the collective reduplication does not reduce the valency of the verb and can have an O argument, whereas it is not possible for the reciprocal reduplication to have an O argument. If *svdwěŋ* 'rope' is added, it needs to be coded as an instrument, as in (766).

The collective reduplication appears with controllable as well as non-controllable verbs and implies that an action is conducted by multiple people (as in nv- $tc^h \partial tc^h \partial'$ to stand

together' from the controllable verb $tc^h \check{\sigma}$ 'to stand') or is completely the case (as in $dz \partial dz \check{e} \eta$ 'to be clogged up completely' from the stative verb $dz \check{e} \eta$ 'to be clogged up'), depending on the semantics of the predicate.

Examples of collective reduplication are given in (768) with the non-controllable verb $l \delta g$ 'to have time', and in (769) with the controllable verb $l \breve{x}$ 'to laugh'. In (769) the form $l \delta l \breve{x}$ can also be used, with a further reduction of the vowel.

(768) _Já=bù ìŋ = Já $k \dot{a} w = n \dot{o} \eta$ €L=3 jèhǎ front = TOPuncle(MB) = COORDall 1:INCL = PL1:EXCL = PLdà-lálòŋ nè-dzóŋ tá $p\hat{u} = n^{j}\hat{z}$ TO.SP-have.time:COLL DOWN-sit one do = just

'In the past, whenever uncle and we had some time to sit down a bit, (...)' (CV08.10)

(769)d\u00e9b\u00e0 \u00e9-s\u00e9ŋn\u00e9-\u00e3\u00e9i \u00e3\u00e3 \u00e8 = s\u00e9ŋ.then1:EXCL-household-PARTDOWN-laugh:COLL = PFV:EGO

'Then several of our household laughed together.' (YJ02.27)

Some verbs do not have a collective reduplication form. Instead, when indicating that an action is conducted by multiple people, the random reduplication form (§7.4.1.3) is used. This depends on the semantics of the verb. Some actions will automatically be conducted in an unstructured and random manner when many people or objects are involved.

The verb $s\check{\sigma}$ 'to die' does not have a collective reduplication, but a collective meaning can be expressed with an adverb $d\check{\sigma}\eta$ 'together', as in (770).

(770) nè-sà=lá ìŋ=dzán má=nòŋ tsú=nòŋ dòŋ sà DOWN-die=also 1.INCL=DU mother=COORD son=COORD together die né-pú=gì DOWN-do=VOL:INCL
'(...) when (we) die, let the two of us - mother and son- die together; (...)' (PC06w.3)

The collective reduplication often has overtones of a continuous action, since either the action is conducted by multiple people or conducted towards multiple objects (which often implies an extended period of time). But Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has a separate basic reduplication template for continuous action that is discussed in §7.4.1.4.

7.4.1.3 Random or casual reduplication

A frequently observed reduplication process is the random reduplication process. This type of verb stem reduplication has the template $C_I og C_I V_I$. The vowel change in the reduplicated syllable can be seen as antiphonic reduplication (Diffloth 1976:262) which creates a dissymmetry that reflects the casual or random way in which the action is conducted. Some examples are given in (771). As can be seen, even Chinese loanwords can be reduplicated in this manner. Random reduplication only occurs with controllable verbs.

(771) $t \hat{o} \eta t u$ 'to comb (hair) randomly' (< $t \hat{u}$ 'to comb (hair)') $to \eta t \hat{u}$ 'to dig randomly' (< $t \check{u}$ 'to dig') $sons \acute{v}$ 'to hit randomly' (< $s \check{v}$ 'to hit') $con \varsigma c \acute{x}$ 'to perch randomly' (< $\varsigma \check{x}$ 'to perch') $ho \eta hw \acute{a}$ 'to paint randomly' (< $hw \check{a}$ 'to paint' from Chinese \blacksquare $hu \check{a}$)

The random reduplication indicates that an action is conducted in a casual or random manner, as is shown in (772) and (773). Random reduplication does not reduce the valency of the verb and it does not deverbalize. Random reduplicated verbs function as normal verbs that can take a directional prefix.

(772)	tçiŋ = J á = bì = d	è=bù,	t ^h è-tǔ-dà-tù	р ú	fià	qèlá
	child = PL = DAT	= DIS = TOP	FR.SP-pull-to.sp-pull	do	LINK	bundle
	è-dzóŋdzù	də-k ^h ìŋ	wêŋ.			
	IN-make:CASU	TO.SP-give	CUST.EXCL			

'(The deceased woman) would pull a bit (of firewood) here and a bit there and casually made a bundle for the children.' (CV09.6.2)

3SG = TOP then leopard.cub = COORD this	- DI - also tiger cub - ACT
_	-ri-also ugel.cuD-AGI
è-tóŋtwǽ=gòŋnì tçòŋgú=là jèhǎ IN-scratch:CASU=AGT clothes=also all	nè-t ^h óŋt ^h wì = sì DOWN-tear:CASU:PFV:N.EGO = INF
'Because he was randomly scratched by the let (his) clothes were all randomly torn $(-)$ ' (TC	eopard cub and the tiger cub,

Random reduplication is not limited to the verbal domain, but is also attested in the nominal domain, for example the reduplication *sontónsæntæn* 'some random vegetables' from the noun *sæntæn* 'vegetables' (§5.1.2).

7.4.1.4 Continuous reduplication

Another reduplication template $C_1 V_1 C_1 a$ or $C_1 V_1 C_1 a$ renders a continuous meaning. Some examples are given in (774).

Sometimes the verb is simply reduplicated without any vowel change, as dwadwa' to step repeatedly' (< dwa' to step'); tc^hawtc^haw' to rub' ($< tc^haw'$ to rub'); dzawdzaw' to wind' (< dzaw' to wind'). The latter two reduplications are often used and the continuous meaning has partly lost its intensity.

Continuous reduplications occur with controllable verbs, and function like normal verbs in that they can take a directional prefix and aspect and evidential marking. Some examples are given in (775-777).

(775) $\dot{\vartheta}$ -dz \dot{a} $\dot{s}\dot{u} = g\dot{\vartheta} = b\dot{i}$ $t^{h}\dot{v}$ -t $c^{h}\dot{a}wtc^{h}\dot{a}w$ $c\dot{\delta}\eta$. that-location:GEN hemp = DEF = on FR.SP-wipe:CNT go:IMP:SG 'Go rub it on the hemp over there.' (CV20.117)

(776) jăw tǐ tǐ tờŋtừ tséŋ=dâw again one one nibble:CNT N.CONTR=IPFV:N.EGO

'(I) am uncontrollably continuously nibbling again, (...)' (CV21.112)

(777) tĭ hà. é=bú $t\hat{a} = q\hat{a}$ ĥà dà-jíjà dà-jíjà one TO.SP-collect:CNT LINK 1SG = TOP one = DEF TO.SP-collect:CNT LINK pù kèj fià, q^há-ť^hwéj_læ tá q^hà-lèilá tá Dù kèi ĥà OUT-winnow:CNT one do let LINK OUT-winnow one do let LINK '(I wanted) to let (you) continuously collect a bit and continuously winnow (it) (sidewards) a bit and continuously winnow (it) (vertically) for a bit, (...)' (CV13.32)

7.4.1.5 Other reduplication

There are a few verbs which, in addition to a reciprocal form, also show reduplication with a different (H.L) tonal template. This reduplication pattern has a non-predicable meaning. The derived verb forms function as normal verbs and do not have a reciprocal, collective or continuous meaning (except for the form $t\hat{p}tu$ 'to rob back and forth'). Some examples are given in Table 7.4. Interestingly, these verbs all have to do with fighting of some sort.

	Table 7.4 Derived redupication						
Basic form Rec		Reci	procal reduplication	Der	ived reduplication		
kí	'to chase'	kekí	'to chase each other'	kêki	'to chase away'		
ţŭ	'to pull'	tetŭ	'to pull back and forth'	têțu	'to rob back and forth'		
sě	`to hit'	sesě	'to hit each other'	sêse	'to quarrel'		
qă	'to bite'	qɐqǎ	'to bite each other'	qêqa	'to fight with biting'		
ţş ^h ŭ	'to gore'	ţs ^h ɐţs ^h ŭ	'to gore each other'	ţs ^h êţs ^h u	'to fight with horns'		
tsŏŋ	'to kick'	tsetsŏŋ	'to kick each other'	tsêtsoŋ	`to fight with kicks'		
tsáw	'to pound'			tsêtsaw	'to fight'		

Table 7.4 Derived reduplication

There are some other reduplicated forms that do not show a H.L pattern, but have a derived meaning, as in (778).

(778)	gw <i>ægw</i> æ	'to stroll' ($< gw \acute{x}$ 'to go out for trade')
	zæzź	'to split into small strips' ($< z \check{x}$ 'to lop off (branches)')
	dədæŋ	`to walk' (<i>< dǎŋ</i> `to run')
	bebĭŋ	'to wrestle' ($< bin$ 'to fly, lurch')

Some verbs have a (partly) reduplicated form, but the non-reduplicated verb form has not been attested, as in (779).

(779)	wewă	'to discuss' ²⁹⁸
	lála	'to stir casually, to swing arms'
	k ^h æk ^h ð	'to continuously put in, pack'
	dâdwe	`to ask'
	n ^j ən ^j wâ	'to smell'

7.4.2 Iterative -qa

A derivational suffix -qa is used to mark iterative Aktionsart (repetition of an action) with verbs that describe actions with an inherent terminal point. It operates on a morphological rather than clausal level and alters the verb's lexical aspect. The process is not very productive, and only the following verbs in my dataset have been found with the derived form:

²⁹⁸ Alternate forms with vowel harmony are [wàwǎ] and [wʉwǎ].

(780)	ţsô	'to jump'	ţşâqa	'to jump repeatedly, continuously'
	tçæ	'to cut with axe'	tçæqa	'to cut with axe repeatedly, continuously'
	tsĭ	'to chop'	tsiqâ	'to chop repeatedly, continuously'
	tsă	'to harrow'	tsaqá	'to harrow repeatedly, continuously'
	tî	'to bite'	tiqá	'to chew' ²⁹⁹

-qa has been analysed as a suffix rather than a clitic, since inflection of the verb stem is expressed on -qa rather than on the verb root, as can be seen in (781).

(781) $\hat{\circ}$ -q^hù [s $\hat{\circ}$ -qwà = sì that-on jump-ITT:PFV:N.EGO = INF

'(Hare) was jumping continuously on top (of the bridge) (...)' (TC06.13)

7.4.3 Verb pairs with voicing alternation

There is a limited set of verb pairs that still show traces of original PTB prefixes **N*and **s*- or voicing contrast ³⁰⁰ for inner directed stative verbs and their transitive/causative counterparts (see Matisoff 2003:89-91, LaPolla 2003a:22-24), or controllable and non-controllable verbs. In Půmǐ this is reflected by voicing alternation in the initial of the verb stem. The stative form of the verb pair starts with a voiced consonant, the causative form with a voiceless aspirated consonant. This strategy is not productive any more.

Table 7.5 shows the list of verb pairs in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. Some of the same verbs have also been recorded for Dàyáng Pǔmǐ (Fù 1998:154-156) and Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ (Dīng 1998:126) and are given in the table for comparison.³⁰¹

²⁹⁹ Note that the tone of [tìqá] is different from what is expected: [tíqà]. My main consultant proffered a different possible analysis of a verb compound with the second syllable deriving from either $q\check{a}$ 'to bite' or $q\acute{a}$ 'to split open'.

³⁰⁰ This issue is controversial: Sagart and Baxter assume this derives from a nasal prefix; Matisoff assumes this derives from both nasal and **s*- prefixes, and LaPolla assumes that there is the influence of prefixes in some cases, but there is also an old voicing contrast. In Qiang and Rawang both the voicing contrast and the prefixes are present, showing they are two different things (LaPolla, p.c).

³⁰¹ Dīng (1998:126) gives an additional four pairs of verbs that I have not encountered in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ: gi / ki 'to return home'/ 'to cause to return home'; dze / tse 'to fall from tree (of fruit)'/ 'to cut off'; $d\hat{i} / t^{h}\hat{i}$ 'to wear out'/ 'to become useless (of person)'; $puga / puk^{h}\hat{a}$ 'to fall apart'/ 'to cause to fall apart'.

Stative/intransitive		Causative/transitive		Dàyáng	Niúwōzĭ
Non-co	ontrollable	Control	lable	Pǔmǐ	Pŭmĭ
<i>dwĕ</i>	'to break (intr.)'	[^ħ ₩Ě	'to break (tr.) (for long, slender or soft objects by pulling or eating away)'	bzĕ / p ^h zĕ	
déŋ	'to break (intr.)'	ţéŋ	'to break (tr.) hard objects, like stone, wood'	dĕŋ∕téŋ	g.ijĔ / k [.] ijĔ
bî	'to fall over, collapse'	$p^{h}\hat{i}$	'to push over'	biĕ∕p ^h iĕ	bê / p ^h ê
hă	'to fall out'	q ^h ă	'to pick'	gǎ/q ^h ǎ	gâ / kʰâ
đð	'to drop, fall (intr.)'	(t ^h ð	'to drop, fall (tr.)'	đð∕t ^h ð	<i>g.1â / k^{.h}.1â</i>
dî	'to be torn'	$t^{h_{\hat{I}}}$	'to tear'	ďĭ∕ť ^h ĭ	dzê∕ţs ^h ê
wŭ	'to die out (fire)'	$q^h\!\hat{u}^{_{302}}$	'to extinguish'	gŏ / χqʰŏ	$g\hat{o}/k^h\!\hat{o}$
dŏŋ	'to be dammed up (of water)'	t ^h ŏŋ	'to dam up water'		
<i>Ą</i> æ	'to come undone, dissolve'	$t^h \hat{x}$	'to undo, dissolve'		
dzěŋ	'to be clogged up'	ts ^h ǎŋ	'to clog up'		
dzôŋ	'to be pierced, have a hole'	t¢ ^h ôŋ	'to pierce a round hole'		
lŏŋ	'to fall out'	ļŏŋ	'to uproot'		
bâ	'to split in half'	p ^h â	'to cut in half'		

nn 11		1	•	1 •	• •	1 •
Table	· / ·	s vern	naire	chowing	VOICING	alternation
Tapic	/ ••		pans	SHOWING	VOICING	ancination
			.			

Jacques (p.c.) notes that the derivation shown in Table 7.5 is 'anticausative' rather than causative. He argues that the direction of the derivation in Japhug rGyalrong,

³⁰² Note that the tone of $w\hat{u}$ and the tone of $q^h\check{u}$ are not the same. The meaning and the structure, however, are the same (see also the discussion on the status of /w/ in §2.1.3.3). Interestingly, in Dàyáng Pǔmǐ both forms show rising tone and in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ both forms show falling tone.

which involves a nasal prefix on the intransitive or anticausative form, is clearly from transitive to intransitive and not from intransitive to causative (2012b:214), and can be contrasted with the causative derivation involving a prefix *sur*. Several of the Japhug rGyalrong forms correspond with Wǎdū Pǔmǐ forms, as shown in Table 7.6.

	able 7.0 Correspond	ing verb pairs in supring regariong
Wǎdū Pǔmǐ	Japhug rGyalrong	Meaning in Japhug rGyalrong
<i>dwĕ∕ t^hwĕ</i>	mbrst/ prst	'to break (intr.)'/'to break (tr.)'
$b\hat{\imath}/p^{h}\hat{\imath}$	mbuit/ phuit	'to collapse (intr.)'/'to pluck out, destroy'
ďð∕ ť ^h ð	ngra/ kra	'to fall'/'to cause to fall'
bâ∕ p ^h â	mbaʁ/ phaʁ	'to break in half (intr.)'/ 'to chop'

 Table 7.6 Corresponding verb pairs in Japhug rGyalrong

Two exceptions to the alternation pattern in Table 7.5 are the verb pairs $\frac{dén}{tén}$ 'to break' and $\frac{l \delta n}{l \delta n}$ 'to fall out/uproot', which show a voiced-voiceless rather than voiced-voiceless aspirated alternation. This might reflect traces of a causative derivation. Ding (1998:127) notes that in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ there seems to be a correlation between verbs with a falling tone and aspiration in the derived form. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ this does not seem to be the case. As can be seen in Table 7.5, different verbs with a rising tone show aspiration in the derived form.

In the Wǎdū Pǔmǐ corpus there is one example of a verb that has a stative or causative interpretation depending on the prefix: the verb $dz \check{z}$ 'to melt'. The form $q^h\check{z}/n\check{v}-dz \check{z}$ 'to melt (intr.)' is a stative verb that is non-controllable; the form $\check{v}-dz \check{z}$ 'to melt (tr.)' is its causative counterpart that is controllable by an agent.³⁰³ Qiang has many such verbs (LaPolla with Huáng 2003:160). This verb shows no alternation in voicing or aspiration in its initial consonant, unlike the stative/causative pairs listed in Table 7.5.

7.5 Equational copula

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has one equational copula. Like controllable verbs (§8.1.1), the equational copula $dz\hat{\sigma}$ 'to be'³⁰⁴ is inflected according to 'self-person' (first person in statements and second person in questions) and 'other-person' (first person in questions, second person in statements and third person). This egophoric/non-egophoric pattern will be

³⁰³ Thus *v*-*d*z*ä* has an inflected form *v*-*d*z*w* \ddot{x} and an imperative form *v*-*d*z*ü* 'melt!' (sg), whereas $q^{h}\partial - dz$ *ä* does not have an inflected form and the imperative is formed in a construction with p*ú* 'to do', $q^{h}\partial - dz$ *æ* $p\hat{a}w$ 'melt!' (sg).

³⁰⁴ For these and other verbs in this grammar, I will use the most frequently-used form as citation form.

discussed at more length in Chapter 8, in particular in §8.1.2. The paradigm is given in Table 7.7. The copula cannot take directional prefixes.

	Table 7.7 The equat	ional copula	
EGO (1 and 2PL)	EGO (2SG)	NON-EGO	
diŋ ³⁰⁵	$d^{j}aw^{306}$	dzâ	

The equational copula is required in the identificational construction. Egophoric forms appear with first person statements and second person questions, as in (782); the non-egophoric form appears with third person statements and questions, as in (783).

(782)	"híŋ-bà		d ^j àw?"	tçàw.		"zězè-bà	
	who-household:GEN		be:EGO:2SG	say:IPFV:N.EGO		Zjaezjae-household:GEN	
	dìŋ," tơ be:EGO:1/PL s	çə k ^h ì ay tim	e				
	'He asked me, "Whose household's are you?" When I answered, "I am of the Zjaezjae household, " ()' (CV07.73.2,3)						
(783)	dùt¢ ^h àpíŋmá	dz	∂=nòŋ	híŋ	dzà	l ^j æ?	

Dutchae.Pingma be:N.EGO = COORD who be:N.EGO RHET

'It's Dutchae Pingma or who?' (CV02.93.1)

The non-egophoric form $dz\hat{\sigma}$ is often used in nominalized constructions (§8.6.1), and it can both be used to ask for confirmation of a statement and to confirm a statement. An example of these three functions can be seen in (784).

(784) tá= Já tágí n, à= Já mí wùcà = dáw
3 = PL beginning seven = PL:GEN night new.year = IPFV:N.EGO
má dzà, é = dzà?
NMLZ be Q = be
P: 'They celebrate New Year on the evening of the seventh day (of the seventh day)

P: 'They celebrate New Year on the evening of the seventh day (of the eleventh lunar month), right?' (CV02.73)

³⁰⁵ It is not clear what the tone of the first two forms is, since they never occur independently. They are analysed to be toneless for the present purposes, since they always take on the tone of the preceding constituent.

³⁰⁶ Often second person singular and sometimes first person singular are treated differently from their plural counterparts. See also the forms zu and zog 'exist' and bu 'have' in §7.6, and the note on the use of =si in second singular questions in §8.3.1.

dzá	mà;	p ú nà	tágí	nŏŋ.
be:N.EGO	INFO	today	beginning	two
N: 'Right.	Toda	y is the	second.' (CV	/02.74)

7.6 Existential verbs

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has six existential verbs whose referents differ in their inherent properties, such as animacy, possession, concreteness versus abstractness, and physical location. Classificatory verbs are found in many Tibeto-Burman languages (LaPolla 1994, Aikhenvald 2003:154). The Wǎdū Pǔmǐ existential verbs are listed in (785).

(785)	ZÎ	'to exist (animate)' ³⁰⁷
	bôŋ	'to exist, have (in possession or use)'
	¢Ĭ	'to exist, have (abstract)'
	têj	'to exist (inanimate, located on a horizontal surface)'
	d ⁱ ôŋ	'to exist (inanimate, attached to something)'
	kwî	'to exist (inanimate, contained)'

The verbs $b\hat{o}\eta$ and $kw\hat{i}$ can take a directional prefix, denoting a change of state with the meaning 'to have acquired things' and 'to become inside' (for example strength that grows inside a person) respectively. The existentials $t\hat{e}j$, $\epsilon\check{i}$ and $d^{j}\hat{o}\eta$ do not take directional prefixes.³⁰⁸ Since $z\hat{i}$ and $b\check{o}\eta$ involve animate arguments, they have inflected forms. Their respective inflections are given in Table 7.8. Like the equational copula (§7.5) and controllable verbs (§8.1.1), they inflect according to 'self-person' and 'otherperson' (see also §8.1.2).

 $^{^{307}}$ I will use the non-egophoric form zî as citation form, since it is the most frequently used form of the verb.

³⁰⁸ The animate existential $z\hat{i}$ is an interesting case. It normally does not take a directional prefix, but there is an alternating tone verb (§3.4.5) $z\tilde{i}/k^h\tilde{j}-z\hat{i}$ to give birth, be born'. The surface tone of the verb $z\tilde{i}$ without a prefix is rising, but when a prefix is added, it is falling, like the tone of the existential. One wonders whether there is a relationship between the two, in the sense of 'to exist' versus 'to come into existence'.
Table 7.8 Existential verbs							
EGO (1SG) EGO (2SG) EGO (PL) N.EGO							
'to exist'	zôŋ	ZÛ	zwêŋ	$Z\hat{i}^{309}$			
'to have'	bôŋ ³¹⁰	bû	bêj	bôŋ			

Some examples are given below. In (786) and (787) the egophoric form is used with third person, since the referent of the speech clause is co-referential with that of the main clause. In (788) the egophoric form is used with third person plural argument, since that refers to the speaker. Non-egophoric forms are given in (789) and (790).

(786) é tçə = dàw à-pú zôŋ 1SG this-under EXIST.AN:EGO:1SG say = IPFV:N.EGO "Yes, I'm here," (she) said.' (PC04w.2.7) qóŋ = wù (787) $i\eta = j\hat{a}$ màtc^hí dzà $k^{h}i = n \delta \eta$ tí-pú dàcð gully = in1:INCL = PL dinner eat time = onlyup-under Draeci tc = daw.zwèŋ

EXIST.AN:EGO:PL sav = IPFV:N.EGO

'They (Phintshu and Tshering Lhame) said that when we were eating, (they) were only in Draeci gully.' (CV02.4.1)

(788) $\acute{e}d^{j}\grave{a}=J\grave{a}$ gæ-má nǐn t $\dot{a} = t\dot{u}$ fià bèj grandmother = PL INTJ this = on LINK beautiful-NMLZ have:EGO:PL $k^{h}i = b\dot{u},$ tchằ jåw zй ĥà mi = gu = senmà. time = TOP again bashful very LINK NEG:PFV = wear = PFV:EGO INFO 'The grandmothers (=we), mind you, have (clothes) more beautiful than these, but we are very bashful and did not wear them.' (CV21.205)

The use of $z\hat{i}$ for animates normally takes precedence over specifying their actual location, but in the case of animals or members of a household, not always over expressing a relationship of possession. In that case $b\hat{o}\eta$ is used. The use of $z\hat{i}$ versus

³⁰⁹ Note the interesting consonant alternation: the alveo-palatal fricative when followed by /i/ and the retroflex fricative when followed by the other vowels (cf. also the discussion of palatalization in §2.1.3.2 and §2.4.5). My main consultant noted that some people in $b\hat{i}ts^{h}i$, a village next to Wǎdū, will also use an alveopalatal consonant for the second person singular form, so instead of saying $n\check{n}p$ $k\hat{i}$ zu? 'Where are you?' they will say $n\check{n}p$ $k\hat{i}$ zu?

³¹⁰ Due to the basic form of the verb, the egophoric first person is the same as the non-egophoric form.

 $b \hat{o} \eta$ depends on the actual point of view the speaker takes. In example (789) the speaker focuses on the relationship between the official and his sons, whereas in example (790) the speaker focuses on the sons themselves.

(789) póŋ $t\acute{e}$ - $q\acute{e}$ = $b\acute{u}$, tsú sòŋ-pèjkwéŋ bòŋ T:official one-CLF:household = TOP son three-CLF:sibling EXIST.POSS '(...) an official('s) household had three sons.' (TC09.1) (790) póŋ $t\acute{e}$ - $q\acute{e}$ = $b\acute{u}$, tsú sòn-pèjkwén zì T:official one-CLF:household = TOP son three-CLF:sibling EXIST.AN 'An official('s) household had three sons.' (TC09.1:EL)

The existential φi is used for abstract referents such as problems, solutions and knowledge, as in (791). In example (792) φi seems to denote a human referent. However, since the referring expression is encoded in a nominalized construction, the referent that is referred to is not a specific human being, but rather an abstract class of referents: 'baby-sitters'.

'What are you doing here?' (Lit. what work do you have here?) (TC02.38)

(792) tçìŋ tíŋ-mə́ mà = çĭ child take.care.of-NMLZ NEG = EXIST.AB

'(...) there was no baby-sitter.' (TC04.1)

It is used as copula in certain nominalized constructions, as in (793).

(793)
$$tc\hat{\Rightarrow}$$
 $t^{h}(\eta)$ $m\dot{a} = c\dot{i}$
water drink-NMLZ NEG = EXIST.AB

'(...) there was no water to drink.' (SN02.20)

The existential $t\hat{e}j$ describes an object located on a horizontal plane, as in (794) where the referent is flower tea that is sitting on a shelf above the hearth. $t\hat{e}j$ also more generally refers to a place where the referent would normally sit on top of something horizontal, as in (795).

(794) - q^hù téj mè dzè.
that-on EXIST.H GNOMIC
'(It)'s up there.' (CV14.62.2)

³¹¹ *niŋ* can be marked as topic with the topic marker *bu*, but not as agent or patient.

(795) làlźi ìŋ=dzźŋ à-wú mǎ=tèj
seed 1:INCL=DU this-in NEG=EXIST.H
'(...) we two don't have seed here (...)' (TC02.72)

The existential $kw\hat{i}$ describes an object that is located inside another object, especially a container of some sorts:

(796) $q^hwa = wu$ té-ton-li = ti $tc^ha-k^hi = la$ kwibowl=in one-CLF:piece-DIM=INDF how.much-time=also EXIST.IN

'(...) for such a long time there was a small piece in the bowl (...)' (CV18.101)

When the second object denotes a rather large area, such as a house or a compound, $t\hat{ej}$, rather than $kw\hat{i}$ is used, as can be seen in (795). Even though the demonstrative ∂ - $w\hat{u}$ 'in here' is mentioned, the extent of the area is too big to use $kw\hat{i}$. But when talking about a spring, as in example (797), or mud in a puddle, $kw\hat{i}$ and not $t\hat{ej}$ is used: the hollow holding the spring and the mud holding the puddle are conceptually more like a container.

(797) màŋ-tú = bú tçàųĭ tç^hwí zǔ tⁱóŋ kwì tail.end-under = TOP spring good very one:CLF:thing EXIST.IN
'(...) there was a very good spring below (him) (...)' (TC07.3)

The existential $d^{i} \hat{o} \eta$ is used to describe an object that is attached to something or grows from something. It is normally used in connection with plants, fruit on a tree, hair on one's head, limbs, teeth, stars in the sky, grottos, roads and villages.

(798) Jú mǎ = d^jòŋ, śsèŋ?
tooth NEG = EXIST.AT AGR
'(We) don't have teeth, right?' (CV02.54.2)

A village can be described in two ways, depending on the point of view. If the description focuses on the people living in the village, the animate $z\hat{i}$ rather than the inanimate $d^{i}\hat{o}g$ is used, as in (799). If the description focuses on the actual physical location of the houses, $d^{j}\hat{o}g$ rather than $z\hat{i}$ is used, as in (800).

- (799) m^ˆ→c^ì=tì zì
 person-village=INDF EXIST.AN
 'There is a village.' (EL)
- (800) m[÷]-c^ì=tì dⁱòŋ person-village=INDF EXIST.AT
 'There is a village.' (EL)

It can also be used in a more abstract sense, as in $z \check{o} \eta d^{i} \hat{o} \eta$ 'to be lucky' (luck EXIST.AT), *máŋ* $d^{i} \hat{o} \eta$ 'to be famous' (name EXIST.AT) and $z \hat{a} w m \check{a} d^{i} \hat{o} \eta$ 'to be embarrassed' (face NEG EXIST.AT).

7.7 The light verb and denominal verbs

The verb $p\dot{u}$ and its inflected form $p\hat{a}$ is a verb with the general meaning 'to do', as in (801) and (802), and sometimes with the meaning 'to use', as in (803) and (804). The verb also has singular and plural imperative forms $p\hat{a}w$ and $p\hat{i}\eta$ (§8.1.2).

(801) nǒŋ míŋ p $\dot{\mathbf{u}} = s\dot{\mathbf{u}}$? so what do = VOL:SG

'In that case what do you want to do?' (CV11.4.1)

- (802) $g \partial z u = g \partial = b \partial = l \partial d \partial b u n \partial p \partial k^h \partial = b u,...$ middle = DEF = DAT = also then thus do:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP 'Then, when (he) did the same (...) to the middle one also, (...)' (TC02.26)
- (803) $d\partial b\check{u}$ $t\partial c\check{x} = b\check{u}$ $cint w\acute{v} = n \grave{n} n$ $n\acute{\partial} = l\acute{a}$ $p\acute{u}$ $m\grave{u} = d\acute{a}w$ then now = TOP tripod = COORD thus = also do NEG = IPFV:N.EGO

'Nowadays (people) don't use a cooking tripod and such either; (...)' (PC03.19)

(804) ěŋ, ¢è-lí pà=sì. INTJ Hàn-language do:PFV:N.EGO=INF

'Right, they used the Chinese language.' (CV13.5)

Apart from functioning as the main verb in a clause, the verb $p\acute{t}$ functions in multiple constructions as a toneless grammatical morpheme: the self-causative construction that adds control to non-controllable verbs (§8.1.1); the pre-verbal adverbial construction (§7.10.1); the post-verbal adverbial construction (§7.10.2); the post-verbal delimitive construction (§7.10.3). It also follows multiple prefix constructions (§7.1.4) and reciprocal reduplications (§7.4.1.1). The inflected form $p\hat{a}$ is added to non-controllable verbs to form the non-egophoric forms (§8.1.1). The constructions are listed in Table 7.9 and will be discussed in their respective sections.

	etions of pu	
Name of construction	Template	Section
Self-causative construction	V _{non.contr} p#	§8.1.1
Non-egophoric forms of non-controllable verbs	$V_{non.contr} pa$	§8.1.1
Pre-verbal adverbial construction	X <i>p</i> u V	§7.10.1
Post-verbal adverbial construction	V <i>zu pu</i>	§7.10.2

Table 7.9	Additional	functions	of pu
-----------	------------	-----------	-------

Name of construction	Template	Section
Post-verbal delimitive construction	V tə p u	§7.10.3
Multi-prefix construction	dir-V-dir-V <i>p</i> #	§7.1.4
Reciprocal reduplication	V:recp <i>p</i> u	§7.4.1.1

Additionally, *pú* is used in light verb constructions to form denominal verbs in which the noun carries the semantic content and *pú* renders the verbal function. The term 'light verb' is used for verbs with little semantic meaning that take a nominal complement. Since *pú* is a controllable verb, denominal verbs formed with *pú* are always controllable verbs. Examples are given in (805), (806) and (807). The last two verbs in (805) are slightly different in that their first parts are not used by themselves as nominals. Example (807) shows the Chinese loanword ²*m*</sup> *lǎoshī* 'teacher' as a denominal verb 'to be a teacher'.

(805)	ts ^h ờŋ p ử	'to conduct trade' (<i>< ts^hŏŋ</i> 'trade')
	wùçà p û	`to celebrate New Year' (<i>< wù¢ð</i> 'New Year')
	tç ^h wấ p ù	'to kowtow' ($< t c^h w \hat{x}$ 'kowtow')
	q ^h óŋlí p ù	'to speak insider jargon' ($< q^{h} \acute{o} g l \hat{i}$ 'insider jargon')
	míŋ p û	'to treat a sickness' (<i>< m̥íŋ</i> 'medicine')
	kế.lớn p ù	'to conduct a ritual' (<i>< kἑĮôŋ</i> 'ritual')
	qòŋ.tóŋ p û	'to bend, crawl'
	bùbæ̀ p ú	'to crawl'

(806) $t^{h}\hat{u}l\check{i} = ((b\check{i})) d\check{e}b\check{u} tin kw\check{e}j k^{h}\check{i} = b\check{u} d\check{e}b\check{u} n\acute{i} = dz\check{e}n$ hare = DAT then take.care.of let:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP then LOG = DU lú pú sěj = sì tçàw. work do go:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY

'Then, when (they) had let Hare baby-sit, the two of them went off to work in the field.' (TC04.10)

(807) k^hù-q^hú kí tçàw từ-dǐŋ láwsá pù=dàw out-on where say:IPFV:N.EGO one-place Ch:teacher do=IPFV:N.EGO mà dzà tçàw.
GNOMIC say:IPFV:N.EGO
'Where out there did (he) say? (He) said that somewhere (his son) is a teacher.' (CV07.22)

Another verb that is often used to derive denominal verbs is $tc^{h} \delta \eta$ 'to appear'. Verbs that are derived with $tc^{h} \delta \eta$ can be divided into three semantic categories: weather

verbs, bodily functions, and more abstract verbs denoting mental states (like sleep, worries and dreams) or states like being responsible, lucky or tormented, and as illustrated in (808), (809) and (810). In contrast to $p\acute{t}$, which derives controllable verbs, $tc^{h} \delta \eta$ derives non-controllable verbs. This can be clearly seen with two verbs that are derived from the noun *vdû* 'joke'. The derivation with $p\dot{u}$ versus $tc^{h} \delta \eta$ renders a slightly different meaning: *vdû pu* means 'to crack jokes' (a controllable verb), whereas *vdû* $tc^{h}o\eta$ means 'to be humorous' (a non-controllable verb).

(808)	gwí tç ^h oŋ	'to rain' ($< gwi$ 'rain')
	p ú tç ^h oŋ	'to snow' (< <i>p</i> #́ 'snow')
	mêhaw tç ^h oŋ	'to be windy' (<i>< mɛ̂haw</i> 'wind')
	sêgwi tç ^h oŋ	`to have an earthquake' (<i>< sêgwi</i> `wind')
(809)	çi tç ^h ŏŋ ~ şoŋ tç ^h ŏŋ	'to sneeze' ($< c\check{i} \sim s\check{o}\eta$ 'sneeze')
	haçə tç ^h ôŋ	'to yawn' (<i>< haçð</i> 'yawn')
	gôl ⁱ ə tç ^h oŋ	'to burp' ($< g \hat{a} l^{j} \hat{a}$ 'burp')
	b u du tç ^h ôŋ	'to have the hiccups' ($< b H d \check{H}$ 'hiccup')
(810)	zə tç ^h óŋ	'to be sleepy' (< zð 'sleep')
	sawd ^j aw tç ^h óŋ	'to be worried' ($< sawd^j \check{a}w$ 'worrying thought')
	zômiŋ tç ^h oŋ	'to dream' (<i>< zâmiŋ</i> 'dream')
	qân wu tç ^h on	'to be responsible for'
	tíŋdwi k ^h ə-tç ^h oŋ	'to be blessed, lucky'
	k ^h udû k ^h ə-tc ^h ôŋ	'to be tormented, troubled'

Sūn (1993:962) notes that verbs denoting bodily functions in Amdo Tibetan use egophoric and evidential marking to express control or non-control of the self-person (see also Tournadre 2008:291, note 23). In Půmǐ the default for verbs denoting bodily functions is that they are non-controllable and thus only occur with evidential marking. When control of the referent over the action needs to be expressed, the self-causative construction with $p\dot{u}$ 'to do' (§8.1.1) is used, and in that case egophoric marking can be used, as in (811) versus (812).

- (811) é $tc^{h} \acute{o} \eta = d\dot{a} w$ hàcà yawn appear = IPFV:N.EGO 1SG 'I'm yawning.' (EL)
- t¢^hóŋ (812) é hàçà $p\hat{u} = d\hat{o}\eta$ 1sg yawn appear do=IPFV:EGO:1SG

'I'm yawning on purpose.' (EL)

Some other bodily functions are expressed by normal (not denominal) verbs: they take directional prefixes and do not need to occur with $p\dot{u}$. These include functions like $t^{h}\ddot{u}$ 'to cough' (non-controllable), $p^h \check{e}$ 'to vomit' (controllable), $\chi \check{e}$ 'to laugh' (controllable). The verb $q \hat{e} j \chi \check{e}$ 'to fart' is also a controllable verb that displays a more idiomatic nounverb constituent, combining the noun $q \hat{e} j$ 'faeces' and the controllable verb $\chi \check{e}$ 'to laugh'.

7.8 Versatile verbs

Versatile verbs occur as main verbs as well as auxiliary verbs. Several versatile verbs can be analysed as part of an asymmetrical serial verb construction, and express various kinds of verbal aspect, direction and a benefactive role. In asymmetrical serial verb constructions the second verb is taken from a limited group of verbs. (For a definition of serial verb constructions and a comparison with clause chains, see §10.2). Other verbs are more like auxiliaries in that they take a clausal complement.

A list of aspect and case marking auxiliary verbs used in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ is given in Table 7.10 and will be discussed in §7.8.1-7.8.4.³¹² These verbs can still occur as independent verbs, but when following other verbs denote aspect and semantic role. They are still verbs, however, and have kept their inflectional properties. Thus inflection is expressed on the final verb of the construction and the non-final verb is in the non-finite form (thus not marked for aspect or evidentiality).

Verb	Basic meaning	Derived meaning	Reference
¢ð	'to go'	away, outward (from deictic centre)	§7.8.1
Zð	'to come'	towards, inward (to deictic centre)	§7.8.1
dzóŋ	'to sit, stay'	durative	§7.8.2
k ^h ĭŋ	'to give'	benefactive	§7.8.3
tĭ	'to put'	completely	§7.8.4
ts ^h á	'to be exhausted, be finished'	terminative	§7.8.6
tç ^h ŏŋ	'to complete'	completive	§7.8.6
р ú	'to do'	control	§8.1.1
tséŋ	'to fall down'	non-control	§8.1.1

Table 7.10 Versatile verbs

³¹² Note that the verbs p# 'to do' and tsén 'to fall down' are discussed together with verb inflection and evidentiality in §8.1.1.

The degree of grammaticalisation of these constructions can be seen by the position of the negation marker and the possibility or impossibility of inserting the clause linker *ha* (§10.2) between the different verbs.

When a negation marker can be inserted, but the negation only holds scope over the second verb, the construction is grammaticalised to only a small extent; when a negation marker can be inserted, but the negation holds scope over the whole construction, it is grammaticalised to a higher degree; when a negation marker cannot be inserted, the construction is highly grammaticalised.

'+' indicates that negation can be inserted, but only holds scope over the verb it precedes. '-' indicates that addition of negation between the verbs is possible, but holds scope over both verbs; '0' indicates that negation cannot be inserted.

When the clause linker can be inserted without much semantic difference, the construction shows a low degree of grammaticalisation; when the insertion of a clause linker completely changes the meaning, the construction shows a great degree of grammaticalisation.

The various constructions show a greater or lesser degree of grammaticalisation, as shown in Table 7.11. '-' indicates less grammaticalised constructions, whereas '+' indicates more grammaticalised constructions.

Construction	Derived meaning	Negation	Clause linker
V ¢ð	away, outward (from deictic centre)	-/+	-/+
V Zð	towards, inward (to deictic centre)	-	-
V dzóŋ	durative	+	-
V k ^h ĭŋ	benefactive	+	-
V tř	completely	0	+
V çə kej	emphatic	0	+
V ts ^h á	terminative	-	-
V t¢ ^h ŏŋ	completive	-	-

Table 7.11 Degree of grammaticalisation

In §7.8.5 an emphatic construction is discussed. Two additional aspect markers t^{4} and *zoŋ* are discussed in §7.8.7 and §7.8.7. The two are not clearly linked to independent verbs synchronically but are likely to have derived from verbs.

7.8.1 Motion verbs 'come' and 'go'

The two motion verbs $z\check{\sigma}$ 'to come' and $c\check{\sigma}$ 'to go' function as directional auxiliary verbs in an asymmetrical serial verb construction, denoting motion towards the deictic centre and motion away from the deictic centre respectively. This is similar to Tibetan and many other languages (DeLancey 1991). I discuss them under aspect, because of the further grammaticalisation of the verb 'to go' as illustrated below.

The motion verbs carry the inflection and the preceding verb appears in the basic uninflected form, as in (813) and (814). The prefix is often but not always the same, as in (815), where the bridge broke in a horizontal direction away from the speaker and then fell down into the water; however, it would be possible to say nv-dén nv-séj in this example.

(813) $n\hat{i} - b\hat{u} = l\hat{\alpha}$ $m\hat{o} = J\hat{o}$ $t\hat{i}$ $n\hat{v} - j\hat{e}\hat{j}$ LOG-household = also person = PL one DOWN-get $n\hat{v} - tc^{h}\hat{o}\eta = s\hat{i}$ DOWN-come:PFV:N.EGO = INF

'Their household themselves also got some (pine torches) (...)' (CV14.228.4)

(814) dzènèj tónlón t^hè-bì t^hè-şêj wasp roundish FR.SP-explode FR.Sp-go:PFV:N.EGO

'(...) the wasp exploded (...)' (TC06.11)

(815) dzŏŋ t^hè-déŋ nè-şéj bridge FR.SP-break DOWN-go:PFV:N.EGO

'(...) the bridge broke downwards (...)' (TC06.9)

The combination of the motion verbs with noun-verb constituents, as in (816), or plain verbs without directional prefixes, as in (817), indicate a purposive clause. Note that in this kind of purposive clause, the motion verb forms one tone group (§3.2) with the preceding verb (tone group boundaries are represented by '#').

(816) d\u00f6b\u00ed# s\u00f6ŋ-p\u00ecjkw\u00e9ŋ=g\u00ed# d\u00f6b\u00ed# t\u00ec^h\u00f6ŋ ts\u00ed s\u00ecj\u00ed#
(816) d\u00e6b\u00ed# s\u00e6ŋ-p\u00ecjkw\u00edyn=g\u00ed# d\u00e6b\u00ed# t\u00ec^h\u00e6ŋ ts\u00ed s\u00ecj\u00ed#
(816) d\u00e6b\u00ed# s\u00e6ŋ-p\u00ecjkw\u00edyn=g\u00ed# d\u00e6b\u00ed# t\u00ec^h\u00e6ŋ ts\u00ed s\u00ecj\u00ed#
(816) d\u00e6b\u00ed# s\u00e6ŋ-p\u00ecjkw\u00edyn=g\u00ed# d\u00e6b\u00ed# t\u00ec\u00e6h\u00ecg
(816) d\u00e6b\u00ed# s\u00e6ŋ-p\u00ecjkw\u00ed# t\u00ec\u00eff\$
(816) d\u00e6b\u00eff\$
(816) d\u00eff\$
(816) d\u00e6b\u00eff\$
(816) d\u00e6b\u00eff\$
(816) d\u00e6b\u00eff\$
(816) d\u00eff\$
(816) d\u00

(817) zì tc^hòŋ mó dzó = dàw?#
receive come:PFV:N.EGO GNOMIC = IPFV:N.EGO
'He came to get (the two of them)?' (CV07.8)

Negation can normally be added before the verbs 'to go' and 'to come', for example in (815) $t^{h}\dot{v}$ - $d\acute{e}\eta$ $n\check{v}$ - $m\acute{i} = s\acute{e}j$ (FR.SP-break DOWN-NEG:PFV = go:PFV:N.EGO), and holds scope

over both verbs negating the whole construction.³¹³ This is not possible for example (814), where rather the first verb is negated $t^h \breve{e} - m i = b i$, (FR.SP-NEG:PFV-explode) and the second verb is dropped. This construction with the verb 'to go' seems to be more grammaticalised than in many other examples. In many examples, the clause linker *fia* (§10.2) can be added in between the two verbs with little semantic difference, as in (815), although structurally *fia* breaks up the construction into two clauses. In (814) the insertion of *fia* between the two verbs would cause a total change in meaning: it clearly separates the actions 'the wasp exploded and went'. The construction used in (814), only attested with the verb 'to go', is a special construction that gives extra force to the action expressed by the non-controllable verb.

In two other examples, the insertion of *fia* creates a clear difference in meaning between the verb concatenation construction, as in (818), and the clause chain, as in (819).

(818) pálí nề-gú côŋ! clothes DOWN-wear go:IMP:SG

'Go put on your clothes!' (CV01.11EL)

(819) pálí nề-gú fià côŋ!
clothes DOWN-wear LINK go:IMP:SG
'Put on your clothes and go!' (CV01.11EL)

The inflected form *sej* has an alternative form *so*, as in (820), which is often used in combination with the clause linker *ha*, as in (821). Like *sej*, it carries inflection, and thus the verb that precedes it occurs in its basic form. Interestingly, it can co-occur with the form *sej*, as in (822). According to my main consultant, *sej* ~ *so* sometimes takes over the function of the inferential evidential marker *si* (§8.3.1), but as shown in (823), it sometimes co-occurs with the inferential marker. More research needs to be conducted.

(820) k^hù-nó-nú jàcŋdzò-lí t^hè-dzù sò, ósèŋ?
out-near-outside Ch:courtyard-DIM FR.SP-make go:PFV:N.EGO AGR
'(They) made a little courtyard on the outside down the valley, right?'
(CV14.231)

³¹³ If one explicitly wants to state that the first action happened and the second did not, one would say in (815) $t^h \dot{v} \cdot d\acute{e}\eta \ k^h i = b\dot{u}$, $n \check{v} \cdot m i = s \hat{e} j$ (FR.SP-break time = TOP DOWN-NEG:PFV = g0:PFV:N.EGO) 'when it broke, it did not go down' turning the initial verb into a temporal subordinate clause. In that case negation holds scope only over the second clause.

(821) Jú nè-dzàdzà fià. şá teeth DOWN-be.tightly.closed go:PFV:N.EGO LINK '(...) his teeth were tightly closed.' (YJ01.42) (822) t^hútù $m \partial g \dot{e} \eta = g \dot{a} = n \partial \eta$ m a da e li = g a = n a nJŧ immediately old.man = DEF = COORDfemale-DIM = DEF = COORD teeth nè-dzèdzè fià. şέj şá DOWN-be.tightly.closed go:PFV:N.EGO go:PFV:N.EGO LINK

'The teeth of the old man and the girl were tightly closed.' (CV09.53.2)

(823) tớ-wúl^jà sờ=sì.

UP-dry.out go:PFV:N.EGO = INF

'(...), (it) dried out.' (CV18.103)

7.8.2 Durative aspect 'sit'

When the verb $dz \delta \eta$ 'to sit, stay' follows another verb in an asymmetrical serial verb construction, it adds the meaning of continuation or prolonged duration to the action expressed by the main verb, as in (824). The addition of $dz \delta \eta$ carries the implication that $t\hat{v}$ - $qv p \mu$ 'to become a family' involves a long-term relationship.

(824) zèpů zèpù $k^{h}i = bu$, $ci = n \delta \eta$ dàbù $l \epsilon j = t i$ in.the.past in.the.past time = TOP louse = COORDflea = INDFthen té-qè $dz \circ \eta = s i t c a w$ pù one-CLF:household do sit = INF HSY

'A long, long time ago, a louse and a flea became a family, it is said.' (KZ01.1)

Example (825) without *dzŏŋ* would mean that the people stood in a conifer grove; the presence of *dzŏŋ* indicates that they actually stayed standing there for a long time.

(825) gwèŋ=nóŋ mɔ́=nòŋ ɔ́-pù dòbǔ nè-tchòtchò horse=COORD person=COORD that-under then DOWN-stand:COLL dzóŋ=sî sit=INF

'(...) the horse and the people (father and daughter) stayed down there (...)' (YJ01.25)

Example (826) is sometimes politely said while taking leave after dropping in at a neighbouring house and having stayed longer than intended.

This construction is only grammaticalised to a slight extent. The clause linker ha (§10.2) can be inserted between the two verbs in this construction without much difference in meaning, but it does break up the predicate into two clauses.

When negating the construction, it is possible for negation to appear on the first verb in which case the verb $dz \delta \eta$ is dropped. It is also possible for negation to appear on the verb $dz \delta \eta$. Then the scope of negation is on the whole predicate. Thus with (825), both $n\check{e}-mi t \varsigma^h \partial t \varsigma^h \partial$ and $n\check{e}-t \varsigma^h \partial t \varsigma^h \partial mi dz \delta \eta$ '(they) did not stay' can be said, and they mean roughly the same.

7.8.3 Benefactive 'give'

The use of the verb $k^{h}i\eta$ 'to give' as second verb in an asymmetrical serial verb construction expresses that the action of the first verb is done for the benefit of somebody. The verb can appear with or without directional prefix. This is shown in examples (827) and (828). The beneficiary argument is not obligatorily present. When present, it is marked with the dative marker =bi (§6.2.3), as in (829).

(827) mě $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ -t^h $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ j t^h $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ -k^h $\dot{\mathbf{h}}$ ŋ = séŋ fire IN-light FR.SP-give = PFV:EGO

'(...) and lighted a fire for (them).' (CV09.60)

(828) $n^{j} \not{a}$ $p \not{a} z \not{u} = d \not{e}$ $\dot{e} = n \not{i}$ $k^{h} \not{\partial} - t \not{c} \not{a}$ $k^{h} \dot{\eta} = \varsigma \hat{u}$ 2SG:GEN carpet = DIS 1 = AGT OUT-weave give = VOL:SG

'(...) as for your little carpet, I will weave it for (you) (...)' (TC09.30)

(829) tcin = tdi = bi = die = bi, $t^{h}e^{t}die - tin = bi = die = bi$, $t^{h}e^{t}die - tin = bi = die = bi$, $t^{h}e^{t}die - tin = bi = die = bi$, $t^{h}e^{t}die - tin = bi = die = top = top$

'(She) would pull a bit (of firewood) here and a bit there and casually make a bundle for the children.' (CV09.6.2)

This construction is only slightly grammaticalised. The clause linker ha (§10.2) can be inserted between the two verbs without much difference in meaning, but it does break up the predicate into two clauses.

Negation precedes the verb $k^{h}\check{n}g$ but has scope over the whole construction. Thus the negation of (827) \dot{v} - $t^{h}\acute{e}j t^{h}\check{v}$ - $m\acute{n}=k^{h}\hat{n}g$ (IN-light FR.SP-NEG:PFV = give) implies that the fire was not lighted. To express that the fire was lighted, but not for them, one would say:

(830) mě è-t^héj tá= tá= bì mí=k^hîŋ, nìn=bí t^hé-k^hìŋ=sèŋ
fire IN-light 3=PL=DAT NEG:PFV=give 2SG=DAT FR.SP-give=PFV:EGO
'(We) lighted a fire not for them, but for you.' (CV09.60:EL)

7.8.4 Terminative/controllative 'put'

The verb $t\check{i}$ to put' is often used as an auxiliary verb. When functioning as a main verb, $t\check{i}$ can occur with different directional prefixes, but when used as an auxiliary verb it only occurs with the prefix $k^h\check{\partial}$ -, as in (831). When used as an auxiliary verb, inflection is realized on $t\check{i}$, as in (832). The construction with $k^h\partial$ - $t\check{i}$ as auxiliary verb emphasizes the total control of the agent over the action and the fact that the patient is negatively affected by the action. The patient is often not overtly mentioned; the agent, on the other hand, is usually overtly mentioned and is in all cases marked for agentive. The construction also focuses on the termination of the action. Initial verbs in this construction are generally highly controllable verbs such as 'kill' and 'catch'.

(831) $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ -ní $\mathbf{p}\dot{\mathbf{u}}$ ný té- $\mathbf{p}^{h}\dot{\mathbf{e}}\mathbf{j}=\mathbf{e}\mathbf{i}$ n $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ -s $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ k $^{h}\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ -t \mathbf{i} fià 1SG-AGT today one-CLF:shot=LIM.TOP DOWN-kill OUT-put LINK '(...) today I killed (him) off in one shot (...)' (TC04.16)

(832)dàbůtà-bǒntá-sèjfiàdà-zák^hà-twì;then3-household:AGTUP-go:PFV:N.EGOLINKTO.SP-catchOUT-put:PFV:N.EGOdà-zák^hà-twǐk^hì=bùdàbǔTO.SP-catchOUT-put:PFV:N.EGOtime=TOPthen'Then that household went and caught (him). When (they) had caught (him),

(...)' (TC04.30)

The verb $k^{h} \partial -ti$ as auxiliary verb is highly grammaticalised. It is not possible to insert the clause linker *fia* (§10.2) in between the verbs in this construction, without breaking up the construction and radically changing the meaning. In that case, example (831) would mean 'today I killed (him) in one shot and put him away'.

When the construction is negated, a simple nv - mi = sv 'I did not kill him' is used and the verb $k^h \partial - ti$ is dropped.

7.8.5 Emphatic construction 'let go'

An emphatic construction is formed with a controllable verb (§8.1.1) followed by the verb $\varphi \delta$ 'to go' and the auxiliary verb $k \delta j$ 'to let' (that is also used for a normal causative

construction, §6.4, §7.9.5). The controllable verb and the verb 'to go' have the same obligatory prefix. The choice of the prefix depends on the first verb, as shown in (833) and (834).³¹⁴ V₁ verbs used in the V_1 *dir-\varphi \Rightarrow kej* construction are generally highly controllable verbs like 'to throw, to pour' and the construction expresses a high intensity of action.

- (833) sǒŋ k^hà-tǐ k^hà-çà kêj, sǒŋ q^hà-dzá k^hà-çà kêj.
 three OUT-put OUT-go let three OUT-eat OUT-go let
 'Leave three, eat three.' (CV17.26)
- (834) d\u00f6b\u00ed n\u00ed-t\u00es\u00f6\u00f6\u00ed, i d\u00e6b\u00ed \u00e3-w\u00ed n\u00ed -\u00ec\u00e3 k\u00e8j = d\u00e3w.
 d\u00e6b\u00ed n\u00ed -\u00ec\u00e3 k\u00e8j = d\u00e3w.
 DOWN-pour DOWN-go let = IPFV:N.EGO

'(...) and (the oil) is poured down, (it) is made to go down in there, it is poured down.' (PC02.11)

Inflection is expressed on the final auxiliary verb $k \not\in j$, as in (835).

(TC02.27)

(835) ts^hèlàlí=gá dàbǔ t¢á=wù nè-dǐ nè-çà kwéj
little.dog=DEF then water=in DOWN-throw DOWN-go let: PFV:N.EGO
k^hí=bù
time=TOP
'Then when (he) threw the small dog downwards into the water (...)'

In contrast to the normal causative construction, the emphatic contruction does not change the valency of the verb, but rather expresses a high degree of control of the agent over the action. Interestingly, in the corpus the patient is often overtly mentioned, but the agent almost never is. The distinction between the normal causative construction and the emphatic construction can be clearly seen in (834). In the first clause the action of pouring is described by a single verb. In the second clause the normal causative construction is used. In the third clause an emphatic construction is used, which has the same valency as the verb in the first clause. The difference is the degree of control of the agent over the action. In (836) the first clause shows the emphatic construction and the second the causative.

³¹⁴ Note that $k^h \check{\partial}$ - and $q^h \check{\partial}$ - are conditioned variants of the same prefix, see §2.1.7.4.

(836) dèbů zé té-p^hèj k^hè-dǐ k^hè-çè kwéj k^hí = bù, then bow one-CLF:shot OUT-throw OUT-go let:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP q^{h} ù-n^jé = wù dèbǔ jésèŋ k^hè-çè kwéj = sí tçàw needle-eye = in then arrow OUT-go let:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY

'Then (he) shot one shot and caused the arrow to go through the eye of the needle, it is said.' (TC02.46)

The construction is highly grammaticalised. When negated, the initial verb will be negated and *DIR-co kej* will simply be dropped. Thus in (836), $k^h o -mi = dwi$ will be the negation of the first clause.

If the initial verb expresses motion, it is possible to change the construction into a clause chain by the addition of the clause linker *ha* (§10.2) after the initial verb. However, in that case the construction is clearly broken up and the intensity of the action is lost. When the initial verb is not a motion verb, as in example (833), the addition of *ha* results in odd semantics.

7.8.6 Completive 'complete' and terminative 'be finished'

The verbs $t\varphi^h \delta \eta$ 'to complete' and $ts^h \delta$ 'to be exhausted, be finished' are dissimilar from the verbs discussed above in that they are rather complement-taking verbs, formally similar to the modal auxiliaries (§7.9). Complementation is discussed in §10.3.

The verb $tc^{h} \check{o} \eta$ 'to complete' is used with verbs of creation denoting actions that result in a completed product, for example weaving a shawl, building a house, or making tools. Its use as main verb is illustrated in (837) and as auxiliary in (838).

(837) dòŋ púų pù-jì tà, phi = gé d-dzìtogether roast do-NMLZ can grandfather = GEN that-location e = t c j = b u, $t^{hj} c c^h d \eta = b u$. Q = EXIST.H = TOP FR.SP:Q-complete = TOP

'If there is (meat) at grandfather's over there, if it is done, (you) can roast it together.' (CV18.30.2)

(838) tă púnà=bù dzǔ t^hè-tç^hóŋ now today=TOP build FR.SP-complete
'(...) As for today, (the bridge) has been built (...)' (KZ02.9) The verb $ts^{h}\acute{a}$ 'to be exhausted, be finished'³¹⁵ is used to express the exhaustiveness of an action, and is used mainly with Activity verbs other than creation verbs, like working the land, slaughtering pigs or studying English.³¹⁶ The verb $ts^{h}\acute{a}$ is used as a main verb in (839) and as an auxiliary in (840). Note that in (840) it is used with a State verb.

(839) tǐŋ nỳ-ts^há = n^jề kwántcí zù = dâw. Ch:electricity DOWN-be.finished = just Ch:shut.down very = IPFV:N.EGO

'As soon as the power is finished, (my cell phone) shuts down.' (CV04.64)

(840) mín dzè wèj, nè-mé nè-ts^h $\dot{a} = s\hat{i}$. what be PUZ DOWN-forget DOWN-be.finished = INF

'What on earth is it? (I)'ve totally forgotten (them).' (CV09.24.2)

Negation comes between the main verb and the auxiliary, with the scope of negation being the auxiliary, as in (841) and (842). Thus in (841) the speakers did build the house, but they did not finish it. This is not possible with the asymmetrical serial verb constructions discussed above (cf. for example [827]).

- (841) tsón dzǔ mí = tc^hôn house build NEG:PFV = complete
 '(We) did not complete building the house.' (EL)
- (842) $m \approx \eta q w \approx \eta = g \Rightarrow = l \approx dz \Rightarrow mi = ts^h \hat{a}$ pork.back.end = DEF = also eat NEG:PFV = be.finished

'(...) (we) had not finished eating the pork back end (...)' (CV21.154.1)

7.8.7 Experiential tⁱu

The experiential aspect marker $t^{i}\mu$ is used to denote situations that were experienced prior to the moment of the utterance, as in (843). That $t^{i}\mu$ is of verbal origin can be seen from the fact that it can co-occur with the interrogative particle and negative particle, as in (844) and (845), but it has not been attested as an independent main verb in the natural corpus, and it always takes on the tone of the preceding element. Dīng (1998:202) gives a grammaticalisation path from the verb 'to pass through' in

³¹⁵ It is possible that this is a borrowing from Tibetan, since a verb *tshar* that expresses completive aspect is found in several Tibetan dialects (Zeisler 2004:647). Chirkova (2009:44) mentions this for the neighbouring language Shǐxīng as well.

³¹⁶ Some verbs can be followed by either $tc^h \delta \eta$ or $ts^h \dot{a}$. When $ts^h \dot{a}$ modifies the verb 'to eat', the implication is that all the food is finished. When $tc^h \delta \eta$ is used instead, this implies that the action has been completed.

Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ there is a verb $t^{i} t$ 'to thread a needle', but my main consultant does not see a clear connection between this verb and the aspect marker.

(843) nó-mó=là q^hò-dzó=sêŋ, q^hò-dzó t^jú mò dzò thus-NMLZ=also OUT-eat=PFV:EGO OUT-eat EXP GNOMIC
'We (...) also ate (things) like this, experienced eating (like this) (...)' (CV03.12.3)

(844) nǐŋ tçìŋ zí $\acute{v} = t^{j}\grave{u}$? 2SG child give.birth Q = EXP

'Have you given birth to any children?' (EL)

(845) ěŋ, mà mà $=t^{j}$ á má dzà qèj INTJ hear NEG = EXP EPIST

'Right, he will not have heard it before.' (CV08.7)

7.8.8 Simultaneous action zoŋ

The simultaneous action marker *zoŋ* is used with two separate actions, the first of which takes place during the second. The construction can be schematized as follows: $V_1 zon V_2$. In most instances of my dataset, V_2 is a verb of motion (either 'to come' or 'to go'). The action expressed by V_1 and marked with *zoŋ* is semantically embedded in the action of V_2 : it describes the manner in which V_2 is conducted. The origin of *zoŋ* is opaque.

The construction with the simultaneous action marker looks superficially similar to a pre-verbal adverbial construction $X p \acute{u} V$ (see §7.10.1), as in (846), but the difference with the pre-verbal adverbial construction is that the element preceding the simultaneous action marker *zon* is a controllable verb, whereas in the pre-verbal adverbial construction the pre-verbal element is something that is not controllable (a stative verb, an adverb, or a numeral-classifier compound). Additionally, the verb following the simultaneous action marker is usually a motion verb, but verbs following the pre-verbal adverbial construction $X p \acute{u}$ are usually not motion verbs.

(846) də̀dḗɛŋ zóŋ şɛ̂j walk SIM go:PFV:N.EGO

'He went walking; (...)' (CV04.16)

There are several examples where constituents come between V_1 *zon* and V_2 , as in (847), or where V_2 is not present, as in (848).

(847) dòdén zón lìŋwú cô=sên walk SIM Yǒngníng go=PFV:EGO
'I went walking to Yǒngníng.' (CL02ed.7EL)

(848) dàbů pètsá dì zóŋ, dì tátçà $tc \partial_{I} = g \acute{x}$ zóŋ, tá then flower throw just.right this spring = GEN SIM throw SIM dzí t^hè-tà pâ. location FR.SP-arrive do:PFV:N.EGO 'So throwing flowers continuously (they) just then reached the place of the

spring.' (TC07.27)

A morpheme that is often used with this construction is the morpheme *ta*, as in (849). This morpheme seems to have some kind of plural meaning, but further research needs to be done.

(849) ěŋ, ní jwé=wù kùjù t^híŋ ¢ə́-jí dòŋ = qèj zòŋ tà INTJ LOG road = in porridge drink SIM all go-NMLZ okay = EXPTtçàw mà dà say:IPFV:N.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR

'Right, he said that he needed to go drinking porridge on the road.' (CV07.83)

7.9 Modal auxiliaries

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ shows a whole range of modal auxiliaries; some are still able to function as main verbs, others only function as auxiliaries, and some have grammaticalised to express even more abstract notions such as politeness or inclusive versus exclusive knowledge. For example, the verb $q^h \check{u}$ 'to need' can appear as a main verb, function as an auxiliary modifying another verb, and have a slightly more abstract meaning of 'politeness' (§7.9.9) and an even more grammaticalised use denoting 'inclusive knowledge' (§8.5).

The modal auxiliaries can be divided semantically into two groups expressing dynamic modality and deontic modality. Whereas dynamic modality relates to the ability or willingness of the referent (internal conditioning factors), deontic modality relates to obligation or permission from an external source (external conditioning factors) (Palmer 2001:9). The auxiliaries described in this section are given in Table 7.12. In addition to auxiliaries, Wădū Pǔmǐ also has two deontic modality constructions, discussed in §7.9.11.

Dynamic	Dynamic modals Deontic modals				
Dynamic	liiodais	Deonti			
t ^h ŏŋ	'be able, dare'	$q^h \check{u}$	'need'		
wêŋ	'be able'	hâ	'ought'		
qá	'can, be able'	tâ	'should' (also dynamic 'can')		
<i>zĭŋ</i>	'can, be able'	kéj	'make' (also dynamic 'let')		
.Į́ə́¢ľ	'can, be able'				
ıfêŋ.ţeŋ	'feel like, want to'				
ZÁW	'feel like, want to'				
ŋá	'dare'				

Table 7.12 Modal auxiliaries

The modal auxiliaries are clearly verbal, since all of them (except for $t\hat{a}$ 'can, should', §7.9.7) can be preceded by the negation and interrogative markers. When the two disyllabic auxiliaries $d\hat{c}\hat{a}$ 'can, be able' and $d\hat{c}\hat{n}d\hat{c}\hat{n}$ 'feel like, want to' are negated, negation and interrogation markers are inserted in the middle. Auxiliaries generally do not take a directional prefix, unless they can also function as main verbs in a clause. All auxiliaries are complement-taking verbs. Complementation is discussed in §10.3.

It is possible for several auxiliaries to co-occur, but this is not very frequent. Apart from the examples with $w \hat{e} \eta$ and $q^h \check{u}$ mentioned below in (855) and (856), only the following examples have been attested in the corpus. Example (850) shows three auxiliaries following the verb $\chi \check{e}$ 'to laugh', the desiderative $\varkappa \check{a} w$, the causative $k \acute{e} j$ and the moral obligation $h \hat{a}$. The scope of each auxiliary is over the preceding auxiliary or verb. Examples (851-853) show $t \hat{a}$ 'can , should', $w \hat{e} \eta$ 'be able' and $q^h \check{u}$ 'need' following $k \acute{e} j$ 'make, let'. Example (854) shows $q^h \check{u}$ 'need' following $w \hat{e} \eta$ 'be able'.

- (850) nè-ų à záw kéj hà tçà=dàw=là tç^hémì
 DOWN-laugh want let ought say=IPFV:N.EGO=also not.sure
 '(He) said, ''(...) one ought to make them want to laugh," and what all.'
 (CV14.146.4)
- (851) édⁱà = bì tú kèj tà grandmother = DAT look let can
 '(...) (you) can let grandma look.' (CV18.143.1)
- (852) làdzú tý kèj wèŋ mà=dâw
 head.cover wear let can NEG=IPFV:N.EGO
 '(She) was not able to help me me wear the head cover, (...)' (CV22.1.7)

(853) tế tí jấc ((nề-tçà kèj q^hù bàw)). false one IDEO DOWN-say let need CONTR

'(...) (she) should have put in a quick and smooth lie (...)' (CV15.55)

(854) d $\partial b\check{u}$ t \acute{a} d $z\check{\partial} = l\check{a}$ $m\check{a} = g\check{o}n$ $p\acute{u}$ wén $q^{h}\check{u}$ then this be = also person = AGT do be.able need

'Even though it is like this, it needs people able to do it.' (TC01ed.13)

The auxiliaries $w \hat{e} \eta$ and (less frequently) $q^h \check{u}$ often follow other auxiliaries in their more abstract customary exclusive and inclusive knowledge function (cf. §8.5), as in (855), or politeness marker (§7.9.9), as in (856).

(855) l^jé kwí kèj wèŋ â? tongue EXIST.IN let CUST.EXCL CONF

'Is it the custom to let the tongue stay inside?' (CV18.43)

(856)té-qè-bàwùnè-thwékéjqhùone-CLF:household-household:GENinteriorDOWN-encounterletPOL

'(...) Please let (me) find a household (...)' (TC08.5)

7.9.1 *Physical ability 't^hŏŋ'*

The auxiliary $t^{h} \check{o} g$ 'be able, dare' expresses the physical ability to do something, and derived from that the courage to do it. It displays an inflection paradigm made up of suppletive forms.³¹⁷ Like other verbs, the inflection patterns according to 'egophoric' or 'self-person' versus 'non-egophoric' or 'other-person'. A fuller discussion of egophoricity will be given in Chapter 8, in particular in §8.1.2. The different forms of the auxiliary are given in Table 7.13.

Table 7.13 The paradigm of 'can'						
EGO (1)	EGO (2SG)	EGO (2PL)	N.EGO			
tçž	kŭ	kĭŋ	t ^h ŏŋ			

Examples of the egophoric forms are given in (857) and (858).³¹⁸

 $^{^{317}}$ It is not sure whether other speech varieties show suppletive forms. Ding (1998:250) only mentions the form [t^hõ], but since his examples only show third person referents, it is impossible to ascertain whether there are other forms in the paradigm.

³¹⁸ Note that in the third line of (857), the form $k\check{u}$ is used in a second person statement. There are several instances where a second person egophoric form is used in a second person

(857) "tý bù $_{i}$ $_{j}$ $\hat{e} = g \hat{e} = t \hat{u}$ è-t^hằ kú é = qèj," sè this snake black = DEF = on IN-shoot kill can:EGO:2SG Q = EXPT $tcw \hat{a} = s\hat{i}$. say:PFV:N.EGO = INF "(...) will you be able to you shoot and kill this black snake?" (he) said." (TC02.49) "sě tç $\dot{a} = q\hat{c}j$." kill can:EGO:1 = EXPT ' "I will be able to kill (it)." ' (TC02.50) sě "nǐn kŭ sàtcà 2sg kill can:EGO:2SG if ' "If you are able to kill (it), (...)" ' (TC02.51) (858) tèt^hǒŋ é $n\dot{e}$ - $gw\dot{e}$ = $q\dot{e}j$ hàw, nìŋ-bú-sèŋ tswéŋ after.a.while 1sG DOWN-drunk = EXPT WARN 2-household-PART pull kéŋ $\dot{\mathbf{g}} = \mathbf{g} \dot{\mathbf{g}}$ can:EGO:2PL Q = EXPT'After a while I will get drunk (I'm warning you!!), and will the several of you be able to pull me?' (CV21.78)

Examples of non-egophoric forms are given in (859), (860) and (861). In (861) $t^h \check{o} \eta$ has the meaning of 'dare'.

(859)	nìŋ = Já	swæŋşwí	t ^j óŋ=là	mà	t ^h ǒŋ	mà=dáw
	2 = PL	sour.water	one:CLF:thing = also	hear	can:N.EGO	NEG = IPFV:N.EGO
	'() non	e of you was	able to hear (him say)) "Sour	water" ()' (CV09.38.1)

statement. In this instance, the fact that it appears in a conditional clause might be relevant. Conditional clauses are often phrased like questions (not in this example) in which case one would expect the second person egophoric form. Another explanation for the presence of a second person form could be that this is a remnant of an earlier person-number or actor-agreement marking system that is still (partly) present in some more southern speech varieties of Pǔmǐ (Lù 1983; Fù 1998; Dīng 1998). As discussed in Daudey (2014), Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has changed to an egophoric marking system, possibly under influence the of Tibetan or other languages in the linguistic area. Alternatively, this use of the second person egophoric form (together with the presence of a suppletive paradigm) might point to a collapse of two distinct modals, that leave occasional residue forms.

(860) gwě $\eta = s$ à çá t^hóŋ é = qèj...? horse = CONTR.TOP go can:N.EGO Q = EXPT'(...) the horse, however, will (it) be able to go?' (CV14.244) (861) $ni\eta = bi$ dàbů t^hón $g \neq = t \neq l a$ gwž $m\dot{a} = t^{h}\check{o}\eta$ $2s_{G} = TOP$ then voice beautiful = SVM = alsoNEG = dare:N.EGO sing l^jěmătà useless

'(...) (your) voice is beautiful, but you don't dare to sing, that's of no use (...)' (YJ01.9)

7.9.2 Learned ability wêŋ

The auxiliary $w \hat{e} \eta$ 'be able' expresses ability to do something through having acquired the skills and gone through a process of learning the steps.³¹⁹ It can be used as a main verb, as shown in (862) and as an auxiliary, as shown in (863). It does not show inflection.

- (862) $dz \partial dz \dot{d} z \dot{n} d = w \partial \eta$, hwítcí $k^{h} \dot{\epsilon} j$ $k \dot{u} = q \dot{\epsilon} j$ \hat{a} ? letter NEG = have.learned Ch:airplane Ch:drive can:EGO:2SG = EXP CONF 'If you have not learned your letters, will you be able to fly an airplane?' (CV11.33)
- (863) "nǐŋ zố t^hà é=wèŋ," tçwõ. "t^hà wéŋ," tçwõ=sì.
 2sg bow shoot Q=can say:PFV:N.EGO shoot can say:PFV:N.EGO=INF
 '(He) said, "Can you shoot a bow?" (He) answered, "I can shoot." '(TC02.43,44)

The modal *wêŋ* can also refer to a general custom or procedure, a generally known fact, or a habit of somebody. Used in that sense, *wêŋ* is used to express exclusive knowledge, not known by outsiders: it indicates that a speaker does not expect the addressee to know the information she is talking about, as in (864). This will be discussed in §8.5.

(864) é= Jà wétà t^hóŋmá= Jà= bù séŋtçîŋ bùlá çáw wèŋ.
1 = PL Wǎdū:GEN Pǔmǐ = PL = TOP T:animal many raise CUST.EXCL
'We Wǎdū Pǔmǐ raise many animals.' (PC02.1)

7.9.3 Unlimited qá and zǐŋ

The auxiliary $q\dot{a}$ 'can, be able (eat, use, wear)' marks not being limited by internal factors or limitations (like food being edible or clothes being wearable). It is often used

³¹⁹ This form is cognate to the assertive/skillitive [jô] mentioned in Ding (1998:249).

for activities having to do with eating, drinking and putting on clothes, as illustrated in (865), but can be used with other verbs as well, as illustrated in (866).

thìŋ (865) jíŋl^jàw ná-má qá-mэ́ $dz \hat{a} = n \hat{o} \eta$ $m\check{a} = dz \grave{a} = fi \grave{a}$ Ch:beverage thus-NMLZ drink can-NMLZ be = COORD NEG = be = eventc^hémì not.sure '(I) don't know whether or not (you) can drink a beverage like this, (...)' (CV11.71) (866) tá-ján \approx n = sì dàbů, tshá $m\check{a} = q\check{a}$ UP-be.smelly = INFslaughter then NEG = can'(...) (the yak corpse) had become smelly, so (they) could not butcher it (...)'

(YJ01.15)

The auxiliary zin 'can, be able', which is very similar to qa, is used for all sorts of activities (including eating and wearing clothes).³²⁰ Its main difference from qa is that when using zin the limitations or factors are external, rather than internal.³²¹ Thus, the pair of examples in (867) and (868) differ in that (867) is a general statement that holds because of external factors like size, whereas (868) depends on internal factors like the condition of the jacket (whether or not it is wearable).

The two not only differ in semantics, but also in argument structure. $q\dot{a}$ only takes an S argument, but zin takes both an A and an O argument. This can be seen in (867) and (868), where an argument 'I' can be added in (867), but not in (868).

(867) $[t \neq p dli = g \neq]_0$ $g u \neq in = q e = daw$ this jacket = DEF wear can = EXPT = IPFV:N.EGO'(I) will be able to wear this jacket.' (EL:W-C49.11) (868) $[t \neq p dli = g = da]_A$ g u = q e = dawthis jacket = DEF wear can = EXPT = IPFV:N.EGO'This jacket can be worn.' (EL:W-C49.13)

³²⁰ Not surprisingly, there are only three examples with $q\dot{a}$ in the corpus versus fifty-five examples with $zi\eta$.

³²¹ The examples in the corpus show the following limitations: unable to speak because of mushroom-poisoning; unable to pass because the road is blocked; unable to swim because one does not have arms; unable to show oneself to others because one is not wearing clothes. Interestingly, all the examples with $q\dot{a}$ and most of the examples with zin appear in negative clauses.

Some other examples with *ziŋ* are given in (869), (870) and (871).

- (869) tù=lá dzó zíŋ mà=dáw tçâw.
 anything=also eat can NEG=IPFV:N.EGO say:IPFV:N.EGO
 '(...) it's not possible to eat anything, (he) says.' (CV02.58.1)
- (870) tá $m\dot{a} = z\dot{n} = n\dot{n}$ dàbǔ $j \dot{z} dz \dot{z} dy dz$ tón $zi\eta = n \delta \eta$ this speak can = COORD NEG = can = COORD then liquor-bowl = INDFk^hà-t^híŋ $k^{h}i = bu$, dàbů tó $\eta = d \dot{a} w$ mà dzà mà, nǐŋ. OUT-drink time = TOP then speak = IPFV:N.EGO GNOMIC INFO INTJ 'Whether or not he could narrate this, after having drunk one bowl of liquor, he would narrate, mind you!' (CV13.114.1)

(871) $\acute{v} = \imath \eth$ $\acute{c} \textdegree$ $\imath \grave{n} = w \grave{e} n$, $n \grave{n} n = \imath \circlearrowright$ $g \grave{o} n n^{j} \grave{x} = \imath \circlearrowright$ $\acute{c} \checkmark$ $\imath \acute{n}$ $m \grave{u} = w \grave{e} n$, 1 = PL go can = CUST.EXCL 2 = PL Nu $\grave{o} s \ddot{u} = PL$ go can NEG = CUST.EXCL $t \grave{c} \grave{v}$ $q^{h} \grave{u}$ mà. say need INFO

'You should say, "We will be able to go, but you Nuòsū people will not be able to go." ' (CV14.122)

7.9.4 Solution Jácí

The auxiliary $J\phi \epsilon i'$ can, be able' expresses that there is a solution to the problems that arise in conducting an action. My main consultant suggested that the form could be derived from $Jw\epsilon \epsilon i'$ there is a way', as in example (872), which can be said in a quarrel. Two phenomena support the idea that the auxiliary derives from a nominal and a verbal component. $J\phi\epsilon i'$ is still a discontinuous morpheme: the negation and interrogative markers always precede ϵi , as in (873). Additionally, the high-rising surface tonal pattern suggests that $J\phi\epsilon i'$ originally consisted of two morphemes (see §3.3.5).

- (872) é nìŋ = pú ựwè cỉ mà = qêj
 1sg 2sg = COM road EXIST.AB NEG = EXPT
 'I won't have any way to get along with you.' (EL:W-C49.14)
- (873) dòbǔ jèhǎ cò ts^hà l^jêj, pún^jà tó=gó=bù dòbǔ ó-q^hù then all go be.finished DISS today:GEN this=DEF=TOP then that-on è-zwíŋ còŋ tcò k^hì=bù zwìŋ tó=mì=cî.
 IN-block go:IMP:SG say time=TOP block can=NEG:PFV=can '(They) will all finish going, the one who told me to block them up there (...); (I) have no solution to block (them) (...)' (TC02.63)

The auxiliary $d \neq i$ is often used in alternation with a form of the physical ability auxiliary $t^{h} \delta \eta$ (§7.9.1), but expresses a slightly deeper meaning of there (not) being any solution. Two examples are given in (874) and (875).

(874) èmá dèbǔ gwě $m\dot{a} = t^{h}\check{o}\eta$ dàbǔ à-wá \dot{v} má = nòŋ aunt then sing NEG = dare:N.EGO then this-in:GEN aunt = COORD"nì $\eta = b \dot{u} d \dot{e} b \dot{u} t^{h} \dot{o} \eta$ $t \hat{a} = J \check{0} \eta n \hat{1},$ $g \neq = t \neq a = l a$ qwě this = PL:AGT 2SG = TOP then voice beautiful = SVM = alsosing $m\dot{a} = t^{h}\check{o}n$ l^{j} ěmătà," tçà, $\dot{e} = bi$ ná $tc \hat{a} = d \hat{a} w$, NEG = dare:N.EGO useless say 1SG = DATthus say = IPFV:N.EGO dàbů gwà $J \tilde{\partial} = m \tilde{i} = c \tilde{i}$. then sing can = NEG:PFV = can

'Aunt (=I) did not dare to sing, so this aunt here and the others said (to me), "Your voice is beautiful, but (you) don't dare to sing, that's of no use." Thus (they) spoke to me, but I could not sing.' (YJ01.9)

Example (875) is a conversation between a magpie who asks people about their ability to bring pine resin, and the people who respond that they have no solution.

(875) î nìŋ-bú dàbů, Júdéj dàbů, sòn-cí jÈj then pine.resin then INTJ 2-household three-CLF:liter bring kíŋ é=qèj," tcw = si.can:EGO:2PL Q = EXPTsay:PFV:N.EGO = INF '(...) (he) said, "Iih!...Will your household be able to bring three liters of pine resin?" ' (TC04.23) "sòŋ-çĭ jÈj $m\dot{a} = q\acute{e}j,$ " Jącj t¢wź. three-CLF:liter bring can NEG = EXPTsay:PFV:N.EGO "(We) won't be able to bring three liters," (they) said.' (TC04.24) "nǒŋ sòŋ-dwěŋ jÈj kíŋ $\acute{e} = q \grave{e} j$," tçw \grave{e} . three-CLF:measuring.cup bring can:EGO:2PL Q = EXPT say:PFV:N.EGO SO "In that case will (you) be able to bring three measuring cups?" (the magpie) said.' (TC04.25) "sòn-dwèn = lá t^hwé jácì mà=qéj," tcwź. three-CLF:measuring.cup = also find can NEG = EXPT say:PFV:N.EGO "(We) won't be able to bring three measuring cups either," (they) said. (TC04.26)

"nǒŋ	sòŋ-q ^h wǎ	jèj	kíŋ	é=qèj,"	tçà	k ^h ì=bù,
SO	three-CLF:bowl	bring	can:EGO:2PL	Q = EXPT	say	time = TOP
"sòŋ-c	l ^ʰ wà=bú	jÈj	Jácì = qéj,"	tçwà.		
three-	CLF:bowl = TOP	bring	can = EXPT	say:PFV:N	.EGO	

"(When (he) said, "Will (you) be able to bring three bowls then?" (they) said, "(We) will be able to bring three bowls." ' (TC04.27)

7.9.5 Desiderative jêŋjeŋ and záw

The stative verb \underline{Jenjen} 'to feel well' is an endoceptive (internal state) verb (§8.2) and appears followed by the stative verb marker =ta or the intensifier $\underline{Z}u$, as in (876). It is a discontinuous morpheme in that negation is inserted in the middle. \underline{Jenjen} can also function as an auxiliary 'feel like, want to', which expresses a desire to conduct a certain action, as in (877) and (878). The ability to co-occur with =ta and $\underline{Z}u$ makes it slightly different from the other auxiliaries described thus far. In addition, \underline{Jenjen} can take a directional prefix, and in that case has the meaning 'to be a little bit better' (see §7.1.2).

(876) é "jéŋ=mǎ=jèŋ=tà 1sg feel.well=NEG=feel.well=SVM

'I'm not feeling well.' (EL:B179)

(877) míŋ pʉ̀ ᢩរຂ̀ŋរួឧ̀ŋ? what do feel.like

P: 'What would (you) like to do?' (CV11.28)

fítçí k^hèj _vèŋ, vèŋ = tà. Ch:airplane Ch:drive feel.like = svm

C: 'I would like to fly an airplane.' (CV11.29)

(878) $c \hat{\Rightarrow} = s \hat{\Rightarrow}$ $t c^{h} \hat{\Rightarrow} n \hat{i}$ $c \hat{\Rightarrow}$ $\frac{1}{2} e \hat{n}_{2} \hat{e} \hat{n}_{2} \hat{e} \hat{n}_{3}.$ go = CONTR.TOP how go feel.like

'As for going, how (I) would like to go (...)' (CV14.120)

The desiderative $z \dot{a} w$ 'feel like, want to' follows a limited number of verbs that have to do with physical needs like sleeping, laughing, using the bathroom and having sex, as in (879). Its occurrence in the corpus is thus rather limited. Like j enjen, it functions as an endoceptive (internal state) verb followed by the stative verb marker = ta or the intensifier $z \breve{u}$. It can also take directional prefixes. In answer to such a question it is possible to say $m\breve{a} = z \acute{a} w$ 'I don't feel like it, I don't need to'. Thus, in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ this marker should be analysed as an auxiliary, rather than a derivational verbal suffix as in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ (Dīng 1998:125). (879) zò záw zù wéŋ tçàw mò tçàw hà, nè q^hó-dzò k^hì.
sleep feel.like very CUST.EXCL HSY NMLZ.CONSTR brain OUT-eat time
'It is said that (one) will want to sleep very much, when (one) eats (pig's) brain.' (CV18.3)

The desiderative $z \dot{a} w$ is also used with the stative verb $dz i \eta$ 'to be true', as in (880):

q^hètséj k^hì €L=à (088) ná pú $q^{h} \hat{\partial} - dz \hat{\partial} = s \hat{e} \eta$ t¢à k^hì, be.small 1:EXCL = PLtime thus do OUT-eat = PFV:EGO say time ((dzíŋ záw tcin = jónpù $m\dot{a} = q\hat{\epsilon}j)$). child = PL:AGT be.true feel.like do NEG = EXPT'When I say that we ate like this when we were small, the children will not

7.9.6 'dare' ŋá

think it's true.' (CV03.15)

There is too little attestation in the corpus to say anything valid about the morpheme $g\dot{a}$, which seems to be an auxiliary that has the meaning 'dare' (cf. $t^h \check{o}g$ which can also mean 'dare', §7.9.1). The only occurrence is given in (881).

(881)	wù=gź=bù,	$l^{j} \dot{a} w l^{j} \dot{a} w = l \dot{a}$		mí=ŋá		
	tiger = DEF = TOP	immediately	move=also		NEG:PFV = dare	
	tà-bă	hŏŋ=pù		də̀bù	nè-dzóŋ	fià.
	3-household:GEN	animal.pen = under		then	DOWN-sit	LINK

'The tiger immediately did not dare to move, so (he) sat down under their household's animal pen.' (KZ03.6)

7.9.7 Permissive/suggestive tâ

The auxiliary $t\hat{a}$ 'can, should' expresses a strong suggestion and permission to conduct an action 'go ahead and do V'. It is most often used as a strong suggestion with less imperative force than a real imperative, as in (882). In that utterance, the speaker weakens the imperative force of her statement by reframing it as a strong suggestion the third time. It can also be used with first person and third person statements, as in (883) and (884). It has not been attested with negation.

(882) k^h∂-t^{hj}ôŋ, k^h∂-t^{hj}ôŋ, k^h∂-t^híŋ tà.
OUT-drink:IMP:SG OUT-drink:IMP:SG OUT-drink can
'Drink, drink, go ahead and drink.' (CV21.201)

(883) ză tâ, (...) zà = séŋ mó séŋ fià
carry can carry = PFV:EGO NMLZ.CONSTR
'(We) can carry (some sour water to them), (...) and so (we) carried (the sour water).' (CV09.48.3)

(884) pèjpéj píŋmá dzæts^hèŋ tçè tà mà, ésèŋ?
older.sibling Pingma Dzaetshen say can INFO AGR
'(He) can say (=could have shouted) "Older brother Pingma Dzaetshen",

right?' (CV04.19.2)

 $t\hat{a}$ often borders on the verge of 'possibility' and 'suggestion', as in (885) and (886). The speaker is raising the possibility of conducting an action and at the same time suggesting that the action be done that way.

(885) t^{h} óŋmá-lì pàw, ásà? nǐŋ cè-lí t^{j} á = pàw, Pǔmǐ-language do:IMP:SG CONFIRM 2SG Hàn-language PROH-do:IMP:SG dzín^jâ, tǎ = bù t^{h} óŋmá-lì pù tà. really now = TOP Pǔmǐ.language do can

'Don't speak Chinese, really, you can speak Pǔmǐ now.' (CV21.492.2)

(886) pédí = tì tà dzó tçàw, pédí = dè zèpú t^hé·kì dò-jěj tá mà toad = INDF only be HSY toad = DIS armpit FR.SP-put TO.SP-get can INFO '(...) it is said that it is only a toad. A little toad can be brought stuck in one's armpit, (...)' (TC09.39)

 $t\hat{a}$ is often used in response to an expression of intent to do something, as in $c\hat{a} s\hat{u}$ 'I want to go' and the response $c\hat{a} t\hat{a}$ 'Go then'.

é=qì," (887) "tǎ zèmí=bù $i\eta = dz \epsilon n$ à-dzí nè-cž tcà now tonight = TOP 1:INCL = DU this-location DOWN-spend Q = VOL:INCL say $k^{h}i = bi$ dàbů, "çǎ tà çě tà," t¢wà. time = TOPthen spend can spend can say:PFV:N.EGO '(Hare) said, "Now shall we sleep here tonight?" (Tiger) said, "(We) can spend the night, (we) can spend the night." ' (KZ03.31)

Example (888) is interesting in that speaker S answers from the point of view of speaker P. Even though talking about her own intention to eat a bit, speaker S uses $t\hat{a}$. A straightforward answer would be $dz\delta s\hat{u}$ 'I want to eat'.

(888) èmá sénóŋ dzó é=şù?
aunt Sanong eat Q=VOL:SG
P: 'Aunt Sanong, do you want to eat?' (CV14.160)

326

dzá tà. eat can

S: 'Go ahead and eat (=I'll eat some).' (CV14.161)

In a few conversations a dialectal equivalent $kw\ddot{a}$ with the same meaning from the Lābǎi Pǔmǐ speech variety was used:

(889) zégì lěj è-tň è-jèj k^hí=bù, à-wú tⁱáw kwæ má dzà.
later seed IN-dig IN-get time=TOP this-in plant can GNOMIC
'Later when the seedlings have been dug up, (you) can plant them here.' (CV14.95)

A construction V = la V ta occurs with the meaning 'if you want to V, go ahead and V (but there are also other options)'. This is a predicate-focus construction discussed in §10.8.

(890) nin = wu $netative t^h we j = la$ $t^h we j$ tà. basket = in DOWN-peel = also peel can

'(...) go ahead peel it in the basket.' (CV13.39.2)

The auxiliary $t\hat{a}$ is sometimes followed by the copula $dz\hat{a}$, as in (891), and sometimes by another form of the copula dzi that is also used in one of the nominalization constructions that is used for confirmation (§8.6.3), as in (892). The use of $dz\hat{a}$ seems to give a more definite reading than the use of dzi. Thus (891) is the concluding statement of a procedural text on making butter tea, whereas (892) is just a suggestion.

(891) nó pú t^hỳ-dzú dòbǔ, k^hì=bù dòbǔ, t^hǐŋ tá dzô. thus do FR.SP-make then time=TOP then drink can be

'After having made (it) like this, (you) can drink (it).' (PC01.9)

(892) $\xi \hat{a}$ nè-kóŋ = q $\hat{c}j$, q^hà-dz \hat{a} tà dzì. lean.meat DOWN-cold = EXPT OUT-eat can be:CON 'The meat will get cold, (you) can eat.' (CV19.84)

7.9.8 Permissive/causative kéj

The auxiliary $k \not{e} j$ 'let' displays a similar inflection to controllable verbs (§8.1.1): it has a basic form $k \not{e} j$ and an inflected form $k w \not{e} j$ with a non-egophoric infix [w]. Inflection patterns according to 'self-person' and 'other-person', the inflected form being used for 'other-person'.

kéj is used both as a jussive, allowing somebody to do something, as well as a causative, making somebody do something. The distinction between a jussive and a causative is a fine line and ties in with volition of the causee. Wǎdū Pǔmǐ does not mark this

distinction on the verb, but can mark the causee argument with the dative marker =bi to indicate that the causer gives full control of the action to the causee. This has been discussed in §6.4. An example with a jussive reading is given in (893) and an example with a causative reading is given in (894). The non-egophoric inflected form can be seen in (894).

(893) pèjpéj kízú tè-tsá sá kêj, nè-tóŋ older.sibling T:sKal.bzang one-CLF:section first DOWN-speak let tèthĭ k^hì. jåw dèjèj tétóŋ pù after.a.while speech speak:RECP do again TRAIL 'Let older sister Kizu first narrate a section and then we can talk together after a while.' (CV09.163)

(894) é tsèŋtóŋ=là nè-Jásà, ts^hǔ nè-sà kwèj,
1sG chest=also DOWN-take.off.skin almost DOWN-die let:PFV:N.EGO
Jèdză ná-má=tì=bù,...
liquor thus-NMLZ=INDF=TOP
(Such (good) liquor it took the skin off my chest and almost made me die

'Such (good) liquor, it took the skin off my chest and almost made me die, (...)' (CV21.395)

7.9.9 Obligation and politeness q^{h} ů

The auxiliary $q^h \check{u}$ 'need to' expresses obligation. It has two forms that express number: $q^h \check{u}$ for singular and $q^h w \check{e} \eta$ for plural.³²² The form $q^h w \check{e} \eta$ seems to have a more limited use: it is not attested as a main verb or an inclusive knowledge marker in the corpus, but is only used as an auxiliary and a politeness marker. The form $q^h \check{u}$ can be used as a main verb, as in (895). The auxiliary function of $q^h \check{u}$ and $q^h w \check{e} \eta$ is illustrated in (896) and (897).

 $q^{h}\dot{u} = q\dot{\epsilon}\dot{j} = d\dot{a}w$ (895) kâw, J $\hat{a}t \hat{e} \eta = g \hat{a}$ nôŋ? cutting.knife = DEF need = EXPT = IPFV:N.EGOuncle(MB) QUEST 'Uncle, will you still need that cutting knife?' (CV19.35) pù q^hù, (896) $z\check{a} = bi$ nè-d^júd^jú ásà? hand = onDOWN-grasp do need CONFIRM '(You) need to grasp tightly, okay?' (TC08.13)

³²² Cf. Fù (1998:153) who gives similar forms for Dàyáng Půmǐ (qu^{55} for singular and $quan^{55}$ for plural).

(897) $n \hat{n} = dz \hat{e} \eta = l \hat{a} z \hat{e} d \hat{e} + t \hat{e} t \hat{o} \eta$ $\hat{o} - dz \hat{i}$ $n \hat{e} + t \hat{e}^h \hat{o} q^h w \hat{e} \eta$ 2 = DU = also hand TO.SP-fold:RECP that-location DOWN-stand need:PL $m \hat{a}$ INFO

'The two of you need to fold your hands and stand over there (...)' (CV16.14)

When used in requests, $q^h u$ has a more abstract meaning of politeness.³²³ This is illustrated by examples (898) and (899). (898) represents the request of a woman to god, and (899) the request of a guest to his hosts. In these kinds of relationships it is impossible to command the addressee, and $q^h u/q^h w x$ is rather used to soften the command, thus implying a measure of politeness. As a politeness marker, it has lost its own tone and takes on the tone of the preceding element. Its function can be compared to that of the clause-final attitude markers (§8.8), but it occupies the auxiliary position in the clause. This can be seen from the form of the main verb: if $q^h u$ was a real clause-final attitude marker, the verbs in the examples below would have been in the imperative form.

- (898) té-qè-bà wù nè-t^hwé kéj q^hù one-CLF:household-household:GEN interior DOWN-find let POL
 'Please let (me) find a household (...)' (TC08.5)
- (899) $\dot{v} = bi$ sèntc^h $\dot{w} = ti$ tc^hi q^hw \hat{w} n 1SG = DAT breakfast = INDF feed POL:PL 'Please give me some breakfast, (...)' (CV07.87.2)

In combination with the prohibitive negation marker $q^h \check{u}$ is used to mark optatives, as in (900) (see also §7.2.3), and sometimes without the prohibitive, as in (901).

(900) tcin = giantia = biat^jà-sà q^hû, $m \partial g \dot{e} \eta = g \dot{a} = d \dot{e}$ dzwà t¢á-jì child = DEF = TOP PROH-die need old.man = DEF = DIS let.it.be say-NMLZt^hè-dòŋ FR.SP-become '(We) could only say, "We hope that the child will not die, but as for that insignificant old man, let it be" (...)' (CV09.133.1) (901) *á*-dzì $ts \circ \eta = t i$ d^jón a^hù that-location house = INDFEXIST.AT need

'(I) hope (they) will build a house there.' (EL)

³²³ In Yùchū village, guests are always politely invited to eat by saying $dz \acute{o} q^h u$ 'Eat, please!' In Wǎdū, people normally do not use this polite form, but will simply say $q^h \partial -dz \hat{a} w$ 'Eat!'

 $q^{h}\check{u}$ has further developed as a marker expressing inclusive knowledge that has an important function in discourse. Since its development is parallel to the development of $w \hat{e} \eta$ (§7.9.2) and its meaning can be contrasted with that of $w \hat{e} \eta$, the functions of both markers in discourse will be discussed in §8.5.

7.9.10 Moral obligation hâ

The auxiliary $h\hat{a}$ 'should, ought to' is used in situations where a certain behaviour is either required or forbidden, usually on ethical or moral grounds, as in (902). It is most often used with a negative in trying to restrain people from doing certain actions. Example (903) can be regularly heard in talking to children. Interestingly, the only form of the negative that can be used with this auxiliary is the emphatic negation marker $m\hat{v} = (\$7.2.4)$ and not the prohibitive $t^{j}w = (\$7.2.3)$. An example of a positive use is shown in (904).

(902) q^hén^jà hí=góŋ è-dí mà dzà, fiámázà tçă mé=hà.
mouth god=AGT IN-connect GNOMIC, messy say NEG:EMPH=ought
'(Your) mouth is given by god, (you) shouldn't speak randomly.' (EL)

(903) mé = hà! NEG:EMPH = ought

'Don't!' (CV21.599.2)

(904) şéŋt^hì k^hà-t¢^hwí pú hà t¢à fià... Ch:health OUT-good do ought say LINK

'(...) (they) said that (she) ought to make her health better, (...)' (CV14.210)

In example (905) the speaker talks about a family member who embarrassed the household by going to a different village wearing old shoes.

(905) nú $c \hat{a} k^{h} \hat{i} = b \hat{u},$ pú mé=hà ¢à khì, ná mà, nú outside go time = TOP thus do NEG:EMPH = ought INFO outside go time $c \hat{a} k^{h} \hat{i} = b \hat{u}$ nú ěľý tc^hwí çíçì pù hà mà. outside go time = TOPa.little good a.little.bit do ought INFO '(...) when (he) goes out, (he) should not act like this; when (he) goes out, (he) ought to act (=put on something) a bit better.' (CV15.34)

7.9.11 Deontic modality constructions

There are two constructions that express deontic modality. The verbs $dz\hat{\partial}$ and $d\check{\partial}\eta$ in these two constructions function as complement-taking verbs (§10.3). Both constructions are formed with the purposive nominalizer -ji (§5.2.2). The first construction, the 'self-obligation construction' has the form V-*ji* $dz\partial$ with the copula

 $dz\hat{\partial}$ 'to be' following a nominalized verb, as in (906). It implies that the referent is willing and in control of the action that needs to be performed.

(906) káw pàtçí sèŋbǔ nè-çè-jí dzè tçè k^hì=nòŋ uncle(MB) Ch:Bajin tomorrow DOWN-go-NMLZ be say time=only
'Only when Uncle Bajin said that (he) needed to go back the next day, (...)' (CV06.13)

The purposive nominalizer –*ji* is often left out, as in (907).

(907) $\dot{e} = ni$ $n\dot{e}$ -tsón $dz\dot{e}$ $b\ddot{a}$ 1sg = Agt DOWN-pour be SPEC

'I maybe need to pour (it) in?' (CV09.141)

The second construction, the 'other-obligation construction' has the form V-*ji doŋ* with the verb $d \delta \eta$ 'to become, be okay'. The use of that construction implies that the referent is pressed by external circumstances to take a certain action and has no choice in the matter, as in (908).

(908)	p ú nà	zènà = sà			t¢ ^h wě=bì=fià	má=gà	tù
	today	yester	day=	= CONTR.TOP	pig=DAT=even	person = GEN	top
	há		pú	t¢ ^h ì-jí	dòŋ=dàw,	ásèŋ?	
	be.exc	essive	do	feed-NMLZ	okay=IPFV:N.EGO	AGR	

'(...) in recent days, however, one needs to feed the pigs even more than people (were fed in the past), right?' (CV03.10.3)

7.10 Predicate modification

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has three predicate modification constructions: a pre-verbal adverbial construction, a post-verbal intensive construction and a post-verbal delimitative construction. The three are illustrated in this section.

7.10.1 Pre-verbal adverbial construction

The construction X p # is a pre-verbal predicate modifier construction with adverbial meaning, expressing the manner in which the action denoted by the modified verb is done. The verb p# 'to do' has grammaticalised to an adverbializer (similar to Lìjiāng Nàxī and Xùmĭ, Chirkova 2010:20). The various elements (X) that can modify a verb using this construction are stative verbs, as in (909), adverbs, as in (910), numeral-classifier compounds, as in (911), and even complete verbal predicates as in (912) and

(913).³²⁴ Modifiers are given in square brackets. Numeral-classifier compounds occur repeated in the X slot of the construction, as in (911) and (914).

- (909) k^hà-tç^hǐŋ, [şóŋ pú] t^hè-q^hâ, [şóŋ pú] k^hà-tç^hìŋ má dzâ.
 OUT-sun.dry clean do FR.SP-pick clean do OUT-sun.dry GNOMIC
 'It is picked in a clean way and sun-dried in a clean way.' (CV14.72)
- (910) ìŋ=dzéŋ=bù zégì [dádà pʉ] ¢∋=gî
 1:INCL=DU=TOP later slowly do go=VOL:INCL
 '(...) Let the two of us go slowly behind (the others). (...)' (YJ01.41)
- (911) [tè-p^hǎ tè-p^hà pú] nè-gêŋ
 one-CLF:piece one-CLF:piece do DOWN-cut.with.scissors
 '(...) (we would) cut it piece by piece with scissors.' (SN01.4)
- (912) $\grave{v}m\acute{a} = b\grave{u}$ $k\acute{o}\eta = t\acute{a}$, $\grave{o} p\acute{u}$ [n \grave{v} -d $\grave{e}j$ p \acute{u}] n \grave{v} -d $z\acute{o}\eta = s\acute{e}\eta$. aunt = TOP cold = SVM this-under DOWN-stick do DOWN-sit = PFV:EGO 'Aunt (=I) is very cold, (I)'ve sat here stuck (to the fireplace).' (CV02.13)
- (913) $[l^{j}\dot{\alpha}wl^{j}\dot{\alpha}w m\ddot{\alpha} = z\eta p\acute{u}] t^{h}\dot{e} dz\dot{u}$ hà mà dzà move NEG = can do FR.SP-make ought GNOMIC

'(...) It ought to be made so that it cannot move, (...)' (CV14.146.2)

Multiple modifiers can precede the verb, as in (914).

ts^há (914) mán l^jón $k^{h}i = b\hat{u}$ [qàqà pú] hair peel be.finished time = TOP group do tsàzð [tⁱóŋ t^jóŋ p**ù**] t^héj wêŋ fattened.pig one:CLF:thing one:CLF:thing do Ch:lift CUST.EXCL 'When the hair has been scraped off, (the people) will together lift the fattened pigs one by one (...)' (CL01ed.18)

7.10.2 Post-verbal intensive adverbial construction zu pú

The post-verbal intensive construction zu p ti immediately follows the verb it modifies. When present, post-verbal markers will follow the modifier, as in (915). The construction is derived from the verb z ti 'to be excessive, to be capable' and p ti 'to do' and expresses that the action denoted by the verb is done often.

³²⁴ The reciprocal reduplication (§7.4.1.1), which is also followed by the verb p*t*, is different in that it does not modify another verb, but functions as the main verb in a clause.

(915) tóŋ[zùpú]wèŋ,śsèŋ?speak be.excessivedoCUST.EXCLAGR

'(Uncle) often utters about it, right?' (CV01.8.1)

The similar examples (916) and (917) use the same modifier, but used post-verbally and pre-verbally respectively, and the interpretation differs slightly. (916) denotes that the action expressed by the verb is done often, whereas (917) denotes that the action expressed by the verb is done in great quantities. Both clauses can also be used when commenting on a current action of a referent, in which case they mean roughly the same, indicating that the referent is clearly enjoying his meal. The pre-verbal modifier in (917) is similar to the ones described in §7.10.1.

(916) tá t c^{h} ì dzá [zù pt] = dàw 3sG food eat be.very do = IPFV:N.EGO

'He's eating attentively.' or 'He often eats.' (CV01.8.1EL)

(917) t \acute{a} t \acute{c} ^h \check{I} [z \grave{u} p \acute{t}] dz \acute{a} = d $\^{a}$ w 3SG food be.excessive do eat = IPFV:N.EGO

'He's eating attentively/a lot.' or 'He eats a lot.' (CV01.8.1EL)

The post-verbal constructions described here and in §7.10.3 might originally have been preverbal modifiers of the following aspectual markers (Harold Koch, p.c.).

7.10.3 Post-verbal delimitative construction

The construction *DIR-V* to *p*# is a post-verbal predicate modifier construction that expresses delimitative aspect: the action denoted by the preceding verb is done very quickly, only once or not very thoroughly. to is derived from the numeral $t\check{i}$ 'one' and $p\check{i}$ is the verb 'to do'. The main verb takes an obligatory directional prefix. This can be explained using the concept of telicity (or boundedness): both the delimitative construction and the directional prefix point to the boundedness of the action (cf. §7.1.3).

(918) \acute{e} $z\check{e}$ $t^{h}\check{e}$ -ts $\acute{e}j$ $t\check{e}$ $p\check{e}i=s\check{u}$ 1sG hand FR.SP-wash one do= VOL:SG

'I want to wash my hands a bit.' (EL:C5.5)

In this construction, the verb $p \acute{t}$ 'to do' can be inflected. Examples are given with a non-egophoric form (919) and an imperative form in (920).

(919) kwěŋ q^hètséj=gòŋ è-dódwè tò pà k^hì=bù younger.sibling small=AGT IN-ask one do:PFV:N.EGO time=TOP '(...) the youngest brother asked (him) a bit (...)' (TC02.13)

(920) ts^hǐ t^hè-zàzá tớ pàw.
salt FR.SP-mix one do:IMP:SG
'(You) should mix the salt a bit.' (CV18.27)

7.11 Conclusion

This chapter described different parts of the predicate: directional prefixes, negation, interrogatives, verbal morphology (including various verb stem reduplication templates), the copula and existential verbs, the light verb and denominal verbs, versatile verbs and verbal aspect, modal auxiliaries and predicate modification.
Chapter 8. Evidentiality and speaker attitude

This first part of this chapter is concerned with the interplay between the lexical semantics of the verb and the egophoricity-evidentiality parameter. Wǎdū Pǔmǐ shows four groups of verbs based on verbal semantics: controllable verbs (Haller 2000), also referred to as 'volitional verbs' (Sūn 1993, Tournadre 2008); non-controllable verbs; endoceptive (Tournadre 2011) or internal state verbs (Aikhenvald 2003); and exoceptive (Tournadre 2011) or observable state verbs (Sūn 1993). Each group shows different behaviour in regard to inflection and interaction with evidentials and egophoricity. The term egophoricity (Tournadre 2008) denotes the involvement of the speaker in an action, which results in direct knowledge about the action on the part of the speaker. Evidential marking in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ implies lack of involvement on the part of the speaker, and thus knowledge of a situation has to be based on one of several types of evidence.

§8.1 deals with controllable and non-controllable verbs. The notion of control plays a major role in verbal behaviour as will be shown in this chapter. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, inflection of the verb stem is only observed in controllable verbs and only in perfective aspect. Inflection patterns according to egophoric and non-egophoric (Tournadre 2008) or 'self' and 'other' (Sūn 1993) and not according to person-number or actor-agreement as has been noted for other Pǔmǐ speech varieties (Lù 1983, Fù 1998, Dīng 1998). However, this egophoric system should not be seen as a rigid agreement system, but rather as a pragmatically-used means that speakers employ, as is shown in §8.1.2. As illustrated in §8.1.3, only controllable verbs show separate imperative forms.

§8.2 deals with stative verbs and makes a distinction between endoceptic (internal state) verbs and exoceptic (observable state) verbs. The notion of 'observability' plays a role in evidential marking of these verbs.

§8.3 describes the different evidential and (non-)egophoric post-verbal markers and their interplay with the category of person and the controllability or non-controllability of the situation. It discusses the perfective egophoric and inferential evidential markers (§8.3.1), the (non-)egophoric imperfective markers (§8.3.2), and the modal (non-)egophoric markers (§8.3.3). It also deals with some other evidential markers: the auditory evidential marker (§8.3.4), the quotative marker and the related hearsay evidential marker (§8.3.5), and the reported thought marker (§8.3.6). The section on evidentiality ends with a presentation of the co-occurrence of evidentials and non-

egophoric markers (§8.3.7), the link between text genre and evidentiality (§8.3.8) and the use of evidentiality for information obtained through new media (§8.3.9).

The second part of the chapter deals with epistemic modality (§8.4), and various speaker attitude and discourse-related markers and constructions. Two modal auxiliaries and their discourse functions are described in §8.5, and various nominalization constructions that are used for evidential strategy and speaker-attitude functions are discussed in §8.6. The nominalization constructions are syntactically embedded in the other markings discussed in this chapter, and because of their functions are discussed in this chapter rather than in §5.2 on nominalization. The co-occurrence of evidential marking, epistemic marking and nominalization constructions is presented in §8.7. The chapter ends with a section on the different clause-final attitude markers (§8.8).

8.1 Control and inflection

Two groups of verbs can be distinguished semantically according to the parameter of control: controllable and non-controllable verbs. Structurally, there are two factors that distinguish them: in perfective aspect, controllable verbs show stem inflection; non-controllable verbs do not show stem inflection (§8.1.1); controllable verbs have imperative forms, non-controllable verbs have to form an imperative with the verb 'to do' (§8.1.3).

In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, verb inflection does not show person-number or actor agreement, but rather verb agreement patterns that are similar to 'conjunct/ disjunct', 'egophoric/ non-egophoric', 'congruent/ non-congruent' or 'person-sensitive TAME marking' systems described for Newari (Hale 1980; Hargreaves 2005), Tibetan (DeLancey 1986, 2001; Sūn 1993; Tournadre 2001, 2008), Tsafiki (Dickinson 2000) and Tani (Post 2013). Verbs inflect according to 'self-person' and 'other-person': they have egophoric forms for 'self-person' and non-egophoric forms for 'other-person'. This is interesting from a cross-dialectal perspective, since to date most descriptions of Pǔmǐ point to person-number agreement (Lù 1983,2001; Fù 1998) or actor-agreement (Dīng 1998). Only Jacques' analysis of Shuǐluò Pǔmǐ (2011) seems to point to an agreement system similar to that of Wǎdū Pǔmǐ.³²⁵

There are three main arguments for analysing Wǎdū Pǔmǐ verbs as an egophoric/evidential system, rather than an actor-agreement or person-number agreement system. These arguments are illustrated in the subsequent sections.

 $^{^{325}}$ His data also show a verbal infix $\langle w \rangle$ that he glosses as non-egophoric volitive. Daudey (2014) addresses this cross-dialectal variation and ascribes it to possible areal influence from Tibetan.

The first argument is that the egophoric form(s) of verbs are used in both first person statements as well as second person questions. The non-egophoric form of verbs is used in first person questions, second person statements and third person (statements and questions).

A second argument is that the egophoric form(s) are used in subordinate speech clauses whose actor referent is co-referential with that of the main clause, even when the referent is third person (cf. example (955) below), and the non-egophoric form is used in subordinate speech clauses whose referent is not co-referential with that of the main clause, even when the referent is first person (cf. examples (951) to (954) below). This pattern was observed by Hale (1980) and others, and referred to as "conjunct-disjunct".

A third argument is that the egophoric form is used with an overt third person argument when that refers to the speaker (cf. examples (957) to (959) below). This is similar to what Dickinson (2000:386) mentions for Tsafiki.

8.1.1 'Control' as basic notion in verbs

This section discusses the first two groups of verbs: controllable and non-controllable verbs.³²⁶ Semantically, controllable verbs are verbs that express events that can be controlled by an agent; non-controllable verbs denote events that cannot be controlled by an agent. Morphosyntactically, only controllable verbs have imperative forms (as will be discussed in §8.1.2)³²⁷ and show inflection of their verb stem in perfective aspect (§8.3.1). Non-controllable verbs do not. The basic form of controllable verbs is used as egophoric form in 'self-person' contexts; the inflected form is the non-egophoric form used in 'other-person' contexts. Non-controllable verbs have only one basic verb stem and do not inflect (but they have a different way to distinguish 'self-person' contexts from 'other-person' contexts, involving the verb 'to do').

³²⁶ This is recognized by Fù (1998:25,77-87,140) for Dàyáng Pǔmǐ as well. She notes that verbs split in two groups: autonomous (自主) and non-autonomous (非自主), that autonomous verbs show more phonological inflection (for person, number, and aspect) than non-autonomous verbs, and that only autonomous verbs can occur in imperatives. An autonomous particle (自主 助词) $-ptt^{31}$ can be added to non-autonomous verbs in order to let them function like autonomous verbs (equivalent to the 'self-causative' construction with the verb ptt 'to do' in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ). Non-autonomous verbs can only occur with the aspect markers $-st^{31}$ and $-qa^{31}$ (the equivalents of =si and $=q\epsilon j$ in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ). Fù also notes the similarity with Tibetan (1998:164, 170).

³²⁷ See Haller (2000:176) for a similar observation on controllable verbs and imperatives in Tibetan. Some controllable verbs in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ have imperative forms that are similar in shape to the verb stem, due to phonological restrictions.

The notion of control that is lexicalized in the verb is also reported for Tibetan dialects (Tournadre (2008:291) "controllability is a lexical category of the verb", and Haller (2000:175) for Shigatse and Temchen Tibetan; Sūn (1993:960) analyses it as volitionality). The notion of control cuts across transitivity, and the group of controllable verbs includes both transitive (e.g. hit) as well as intransitive verbs (e.g. walk).³²⁸

Apart from imperative forms (§8.1.2), controllable verbs have only two forms: a basic form and an inflected form. Verb inflection of controllable verbs is done in most cases by inserting an infix $/w/^{329}$ in the verb stem. In (921), a list is given of the basic and inflected form of several controllable verbs.

(921) dǐ/dwǐ 'to throw away'; kǐ/kwǐ 'to put in, wear (earrings)'; kǐ/kwǐ 'to give to drink'; tc^hǐ/tc^hwǐ 'to feed'; jěj/jwěj 'to get'; k^hěŋ/k^hwêŋ 'to give'; zǎ/zwâ 'to carry'; dzá/dzwâ 'to eat'; zǎ/zwă 'to sleep'; tcǎ/tcwă 'to say'; q^hǎ/q^hwâ 'to pick'; kéj/kwéj 'to let'; sě/swě 'to kill'; tǐ/twĭ 'to put'; tá/twá 'to scratch'; t^hě/t^hwě 'to push'; t^hǐŋ/t^hwǐŋ 'to drink'; ts^hâ/ts^hwâ 'to slaughter'; tcĭ/tcwĭ 'to pour'; cĭ/cwĭ 'to lead'; tsáqà/tsáqwà 'to jump continuously'.

However, there are four verbs whose inflection shows a vowel change, as in (922), and the verbs 'to come' and 'to go' show a suppletive form, as in (923).

- (922) bin/bǎn 'to lurch, fly'; $p^{h}in/p^{h}ǎn$ 'to flee'; zwin/zwǎn 'to block'; $p\acute{u}/p\hat{a}$ 'to do'.
- (923) $ji (z \check{z})/t c^h \hat{o} \eta$ 'to come'; $c \check{z} (c \check{z})/s \hat{c} j$ 'to go'.³³⁰

Some controllable verbs do not display verb inflection due to phonological restrictions, either because of an initial labial consonant, as in (924), because of a rounded vowel, as in (925), or because of labialization of the consonant, as in (926). The verbs in (924-926) do have imperative forms and their semantics indicate control by an agent.

(924) $p\acute{ej}$ 'to add heat, boil'; $p\acute{eg}$ 'to hide oneself'; $p\acute{a}$ 'to print'; $p^h\acute{i}$ 'to push over'; $p^h\acute{a}$ 'to cut in half'; $p^h\check{u}$ 'to divide the household'; $b\check{i}$ 'to hammer'; $b\acute{a}$ 'to hurl';

³²⁸ The question of transitivity is discussed in §6.3. Sūn (1993:960) also mentions that volitional verbs in Amdo Tibetan include transitive as well as intransitive verbs.

³²⁹ This infix is subject to palatalization as described in §2.1.7.3. It is an interesting question where this infix derives from. LaPolla (p.c.) suggests an -u suffix that appears in some Qiangic languages as a third person form. Jacques (p.c.) rather suggests that this reflects the inverse prefix (cf. Japhug rGyalrong *wyur*- [Jacques 2010], Zbu rGyalrong *w* ∂ - [Gong 2014:49]) which has only been preserved as inverse in core rGyalrongic languages and has been generalised in other Qiangic languages.

³³⁰ The forms in brackets are alternate forms.

bɨť 'to steam'; m̥ð 'to blow'; m̥ĭ 'to beg'; wěj 'to curse'; wú 'to trap'; wě 'to prepare food'.

- (925) qú 'to tame (an ox)'; dzù 'to make'; kǔ 'to carry on back'; sù 'to hide something'; dóŋ 'to stuff with force'; l'ôŋ 'to peel'; zŏŋ 'to guard'; q^hŏŋ 'to turn upside down'; Jú 'to buy'; dŭ 'to write'; dzú 'to grind'; gŭ 'to change'.
- (926) kwĭ 'to cover'; gwǎ 'to sing'; qwéj 'to cry'; cwé 'to gossip'; tc ^hwá 'to deceive'; hwǎ 'to camp'; t^hwě 'to break (tr.)'; dwéj 'to mix'; Jwá 'to hook'; Jwéŋ 'to bring forth sound'; swá 'to decorate'; Zwěj 'to rinse'; swéŋ 'to study, teach'; swǐ 'to whet'.

Note however that these phonological restrictions also hold for three of the verbs in (922) which have an initial bilabial consonant but which do show inflection. Instead of using a /w/ infix, vowel change is used to create a non-egophoric form. It is interesting that speakers of Wădū Pǔmǐ do not seem to feel the need to use vowel change to create non-egophoric forms for the verbs in (924-926). This might indicate that Pǔmǐ has enough other indications to distinguish 'self' from 'other', probably through the system of evidential post-verbal particles. For the verb forms in (924-926) perfectivity of the verb is indicated by the addition of a directional prefix (§7.1.3).

The basic form of controllable verbs functions as the egophoric form which occurs in 'self-person' clauses (first person statements and second person questions), as in (927) and (928). The inflected form functions as the non-egophoric form which occurs in 'other-person' clauses (first person questions, second person statements and third person statements and questions), as in (929-932).³³¹

(927) \acute{e} $q^{h}\eth-dz\acute{o}=s\acute{e}\eta.$ 1sG OUT-eat=PFV:EGO

'I have eaten.' (CV19.60)

(928) fiðw, nǐŋ \grave{v} -z \acute{z} =sí â? INTJ 2SG IN-come(EGO)=INF CONF 'Oh, (you) came back?' (CV21.406)

³³¹ Egophoric and evidential markers will be discussed in §8.3; for the examples used in this section it is worth noting here that = *seŋ* is the perfective egophoric marker that is used in 'self-person' clauses where the action can be controlled (egophoricity implies volition, control and involvement) and = *si* is the inferential evidential marker that is optionally used in 'other-person' clauses, or in 'self-person' clauses where the action cannot be controlled.

- (929) nǐŋ tç>, é tç^hǐ k^{hj}à-dzw>=sî?
 2SG say 1SG food OUT:Q-eat:PFV:N.EGO=INF
 'You say, have I eaten?' (EL)
- (930) é sél^jàw té-l^jàw=bì, tç^hèbùl^jŏŋ sǒŋ tà dzù one-CLF:kernel=DAT food.lump three only make 1SG grain.kernel $tc \hat{x} - m\hat{y} = b\hat{u}$ nǐŋ è-zwîŋ can:EGO1-NMLZ = TOP2sg IN-block:pfv:n.ego '(...) me, who can only make three lumps of food from one kernel of grain, you blocked!!' (TC02.65)
- (931) $d\partial b\check{u} = q^{h}\partial dzw \partial = si$ then OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO = INF say = IPFV:N.EGO

'Then (she) finished eating, it is said.' (TC04.17)

(932) tá t¢^hĭ k^{hj}à-dzwá=sî?
3SG food OUT:Q-eat:PFV:N.EGO=INF
'Has he eaten?' (EL)

Non-controllable verbs only display one basic form, as shown in (933) and example (934):

(933) bî 'to fall down'; çứ 'to grow old'; çí 'to ooze'; dⁱáw 'to be tired'; dứ 'to stick (intr.)'; dzăw 'to have authority'; dzĭ 'to splash'; dzĕ 'to appear (stars)'; dzĭŋ 'to lean against'; dǎ 'to resemble'; déŋ 'to break (intr.)'; lôŋ 'to be full of maggots'; ʃi 'to succeed in escaping'; méŋ 'to have time'; mð 'to hear, forget'; mǐ 'to lose (sth)'; nŏŋ 'to make a mistake'; nǔ 'to know'; qâ 'to fall down'; Jǎŋ 'to get stuck'; Jî 'to sweat'; sð 'to die'; số 'to live'; tǎ 'to arrive'; tçǎ 'to crack (intr.)'; tç^hế 'to be cut off, be tired'; zǐ 'to be born'; gǎw 'to be happy'; dzǎŋ 'to be clogged up'; dzî 'to be burned'; dâ 'to dissolve, become undone'; dð 'to fall down'; dî 'to tear (intr.)'; q^hĕj 'to be burned'; t^háw 'to bubble'; tǎ 'to die outside'; ts 'to come into being'.

(934) $\acute{v}b\grave{a}w$ $n\grave{v}-m\acute{a}=s\grave{i}$ INTJ DOWN-forget = INF

'My oh my! (I) forgot (everything).' (CV22.48.1)

Since non-controllable verbs show only one basic form, inflection for 'other-person' is expressed by adding an inflected form pa of the light verb $p\acute{t}$ 'to do' (§7.7) to the non-controllable verb, as in the following examples:

- (935) tá= Já=là tă ềpú nề-má pà=sì.
 this=Pl=also now grandfather DOWN-forget do:PFV:N.EGO=INF
 '(...) grandfather already forgot these things (...)' (CV01.11)
- (936) jànláwù màgìn=qhù thè-tsèn pà
 Ch:Yang.Lawu old.man=on FR.SP-fall.down do:PFV:N.EGO
 '(...) he fell down on old Yang Lawu, (...)' (CV09.45.2)
- (937) $ni\eta = g \acute{o} \eta$ t^hè-t¢í η pá .tà η ànì mà nì fhà. 2SG = AGT FR.SP-see do:PFV:N.EGO seems NMLZ.CONSTR

'(...) it seems (to me) that you saw it.' (CV09.39.2)

The parameter of control in the lexical specification of verbs can be adjusted with two different constructions, which in turn influence the choice of evidential or egophoric marking: the first construction turns a non-controllable verb into a situation that can be controlled; the second construction turns a controllable verb into a situation that implies lack of control. Unlike in Qiāng (LaPolla with Huáng 2003; Curnow 2003) and nDrapa (Shirai 2007), Wǎdū Pǔmǐ cannot simply use evidential marking with controllable verbs to mark lack of control with 'self-person', but a special construction has to be used to adjust the control first.³³²

The first control-adjusting construction is the 'self-causative construction', a type of causative construction with the light verb p# 'to do' (see also §7.7, Fù 1998:80, and Jiǎng 2012a), which allows controllable actions to be expressed with non-controllable verbs. As a result, the action is portrayed as controllable and purposeful, and the egophoric *= seŋ* has to be used in 'self-person' sentences, that is first person statements, as is shown in example (938), and second person questions, as is shown in example (942) (compare with (934) above).

(938) é nè-m

p

t

(938) é nè-m

p

t

(938) forget do = pFV:EGO
(1 (purposely) forgot (it).' (EL)

The adverbial $tun^{j}\beta$ 'purposely' can be added to the sentence, as in (939).

³³² In Qiāng, the visual evidential is used with a first person controllable action to imply nonintentionality (LaPolla with Huáng 2003:66). In nDrapa, both the egophoric particle and the evidential particle can occur with a verb (Shirai 2007:139). The use of the evidential particle in nDrapa indicates the uncontrollability and unintentionality of the situation; the use of the egophoric particle indicates intention. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, a control-adjusting construction has to be used first.

(939) é tùnⁱ nề-m pù = sèŋ
1sG purposely DOWN-forget do = PFV:EGO
'I purposely forgot (it).' (EL)

This adverbial cannot occur in a sentence without $p\dot{u}$, as in (940).

(940) *é tùn^jó nè-mó sì/ *é tùn^jó nè-mó sèŋ

In second person questions $p\dot{u}$ can also be added. Example (941) is a neutral question and the inferential evidential =si is used, but example (942) implies that the speaker expected the addressees to have actively done something about the situation, and thus the egophoric =sep is used.

- (941) nin = t = v = nie mie = si = inf = configuration in the configuration of the config
- (942) $nin = tilde{a}$ $nilde{b}$ -mé $pilde{b} = sin \hat{a}$? 2 = PL DOWN-forget do = PFV:EGO CONF

'You (pl) forgot, didn't you? (You shouldn't have forgotten)' (EL)

Two examples from natural speech are given in (943) and (944).

(943) $q^{h} \partial_{\eta} \dot{a}_{\eta} p \dot{u} = s \dot{e}_{\eta} k^{h} \dot{i} = b \dot{u}$ OUT-slow do = PFV:EGO time = TOP

'When (we) were (purposely) going slowly, (...)' (CV09.27)

(944) $dz \Rightarrow m\dot{a} = c\hat{\eta}, \quad t \Rightarrow c\dot{a} = n\dot{\eta} \quad p\dot{i} \quad t \Rightarrow k\dot{u} \quad ((p\dot{u} = s\dot{e}\eta)).$ eat NEG = VOL:PL now = only belly UP-full do = PFV:EGO

'(...) (we) won't eat; (we) just stuffed our tummies.' (CV14.157)

The second control-adjusting construction is formed with the form *tsen*³³³ 'unintentionally, unfortunately, uncontrollably, unawarely' following a controllable verb. This construction allows non-controllable actions to be expressed with a controllable verb. The construction is only used in 'self-person' sentences and denotes that the situation cannot be controlled by the speaker, even though s/he wishes to. When *tsen* follows a controllable verb, like $qw \epsilon j$ 'to cry' in (945), the egophoric marker *= sen* cannot be used, but instead the inferred evidential *= si* has to be used, as in (946). An additional example from natural speech is given in (947).

³³³ The etymology of this particle is not clear at present. It is possible that it developed through a serial verb construction from the non-controllable verb $ts\acute{e}\eta$ 'to fall down, to hit target'.

- (945) é nè-qwéj = sê η^{334} (*é nè-qwéj = sî) 1sG DOWN-cry = PFV:EGO 'I cried.' (EL)
- (946) é nè-qwéj tséŋ = sì (*é nè-qwéj tséŋ sèŋ)
 1sG DOWN-cry N.CONTR = INF
 'I cried (unintentionally).' (EL)
- (947) $\hat{a}w$, $j\check{a}w$ \hat{a} - $d\imath$ í $k^{h}\check{a}$ -tì $ts\check{e}\eta = si$. INTJ again this-location OUT-put N.CONTR = INF 'Oh, (I) unfortunately put it here again.' (CV18.45)

This second construction can also be used with non-controllable verbs whose parameter of control has been adjusted by the first construction, the addition of $p\acute{t}$ 'to do', as discussed above. This denotes a situation in which the agent could have controlled the situation and had the responsibility to do so, but ended up not controlling it, to their own embarrassment, as in (948).

(948) $\min_{n \in I} = l\hat{a}$ $n\hat{v} \cdot m\hat{a}$ $p\hat{u}$ $ts\hat{e}\eta = s\hat{i}$ medicine = also DOWN-forget do N.CONTR = INF

'(I) also forgot medicine unfortunately.' (CV02.43)

The verb $m\check{\sigma}$ 'to forget' is a non-controllable verb. The speaker wants to highlight the fact that it was his intention and responsibility to buy medicine, but he forgot. Since 'forget' is not an action that can normally be controlled, the verb $p\check{\mu}$ 'to do' is added first (so that the construction presents a controlled event and the speaker is seen as responsible for the action) only then to add *tseŋ* to express his lack of control over the situation. The example differs from (949), in that in (949) the speaker is portrayed as totally lacking control, whereas in (948) he portrays himself as having been able to do something about the situation, but finding himself in the unfortunate situation where he did not control it. It is interesting that if an overt argument had been expressed, the agentive marker could have been used in (948), whereas in (949) agentive marking is not possible.

(949) $\min = l\dot{a}$ $n\dot{e} \cdot m\dot{a} = s\dot{a}$ medicine = also DOWN-forget = INF

'(I) also forgot medicine.' (CV02.43EL)

³³⁴ In my database I only have examples with first person statements, and none with second person questions. According to my main consultant, second person questions involving *tseŋ* are not possible, except for when repeating people's exact words to verify you heard them say it correctly.

In example (950) the speaker comments on the fact that she should have made an effort to tell a story slowly, since it was being recorded by the researcher, but instead she told it rather quickly:

(950) èmá = gòŋnì qútà là tçà nè-tshá pú tsèŋ = sì.
aunt = AGT in.a.flash say DOWN-be.finished do N.CONTR = INF
'Unfortunately, aunt (= I) was finished in a flash.' (CV09.14)

The above-mentioned verb inflection data from Wǎdū Pǔmǐ all point to a system based on the parameter of control that ties in with parameter of evidentiality versus egophoricity (speaker-involvement), rather than a straightforward person-number agreement system. ³³⁵ Apart from the data shown above, two other pieces of information support this analysis.

The first argument is that when the referent of a main clause and a subordinate speech clause are non-co-referential, the non-egophoric form of the verb has to be used in the quotation (even when the referent in the speech clause is first person). Thus in (951) and (952), the inflected form of the verb is used with a first person argument in the subordinate clause, because the referent of the main clause is not the same. Depending on the type of evidence, the inferential evidential =si can be used, as in (951) or (953) (implying inferred evidence), or left out, as in (952) or (954) (implying visual evidence).³³⁶ The speech clause in each example is in square brackets.

- (951) $t \partial = g \partial g n \partial i$ [$\dot{v} = n i$ $q^h \partial dz w \partial s = s \partial i$] $t c \partial = d \partial w$ 3sg = Agt 1sg = Agt OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO = INF say = IPFV:N.EGO'He says that I have eaten.' (inferred evidence) (EL)
- (952) $t \partial = g \partial g n \hat{n}$ [$\dot{e} = n \hat{i} q^h \partial dz w \partial = \phi$] $t c \partial = d \partial w$ 3sg = AgT 1sg = AgT OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO say = IPFV:N.EGO'He says that I have eaten.' (visual evidence) (EL)
- (953) $t \hat{\partial} = g \check{\partial} \eta n \hat{i} [t \hat{\partial} = g \check{\partial} \eta q^h \hat{\partial} dz w \hat{\partial} = s \hat{i}]$ $t c \hat{\partial} = d \check{\alpha} w$ $3sG_1 = AGT$ $3sG_3 = AGT$ OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO = INF say = IPFV:N.EGO 'He_i says that he_i has eaten.' (inferred evidence) (EL)

³³⁵ As is analysed for some other varieties: Qìnghuā Pǔmǐ (Lù 1983) and Dàyáng Pǔmǐ (Fù 1998). Dīng (1998) analyses Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ verbal inflection as actor-agreement.

³³⁶ Examples (951) and (952) are interesting, in that the current speaker is controlling the pronoun in the indirect quotation, but the quoted speaker controls the form of the embedded verb and the evidential marking.

(954) $t \partial = g \delta \eta n i$ $[t \partial = g \delta \eta q^h \partial - dz w \partial = \emptyset]$ $t c \partial = d \partial w$ $3sG_1 = AGT$ $3sG_3 = AGT$ OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO say = IPFV:N.EGO

'He_i says that he_i has eaten.' (visual evidence) (EL)

But when the referent of the main clause and the subordinate clause is co-referential, the egophoric verb form of the complement verb and the egophoric marker =sep are used, as in (955). The logophoric pronoun $n\hat{i}$ is used to indicate co-reference. This is similar to what is reported for Tsafiki (Dickinson 2000:384) and Tibetan (Tournadre 2008), and can be seen as keeping the original ending of the quotation (Tournadre 2008:300), (cf. also §8.3.5). In direct speech the normal pronoun used in the original quotation will be used instead, as \acute{e} 'T' in (956). In Wădū Pǔmǐ there seems to be no distinction between direct and indirect speech apart from the reference marking: the use of the logophoric pronoun $n\hat{i}$ indicates that the referent of the main clause is the same as the referent of the embedded clause.

- (955) tà=gǒŋnì [ní=gòŋ q^hà-dzá=sèŋ] tçà=dàw
 3SG=AGT LOG=AGT OUT-eat=PFV:EGO say=IPFV:N.EGO
 'He_i says that he_i himself has eaten.' (EL)
 (956) tà=gǒŋnì ["è=ní q^hà-dzá=sèŋ"] tçà=dàw
- (930) ta = goi fin [e = in q = dz = seif] tc = duw $3sg = Agt \ LOG = Agt \ OUT-eat = PFV:EGO \ say = IPFV:N.EGO$ 'He says, "I have eaten." '(EL)

Another argument against the analysis of person-number agreement is that egophoric marking is also used with an overt third person argument when that refers to the speaker, as in examples (957), (958) and (959) where $vm\dot{a}$ 'aunt', $vp\dot{u}$ 'grandfather' and $\hat{v}d^{j}x = .l\partial$ 'grandmothers' refer to the speaker (or the speaker and others).

(957) $\grave{v}m\acute{a} = l\grave{a}$ $c\acute{a} = s\acute{e}\eta$ aunt = also go = PFV:EGO

'(...) aunt (=I) went too.' (YJ01.36)

- (958) $n^{j}\hat{x} p \dot{x} p \dot{x} t^{j} \dot{z} p \dot{u} = g \dot{y} \dot{y} \dot{z} dz \dot{z} \dot{z} q^{h} \dot{z} t^{h} \dot{z} = s \dot{z} \eta, t^{j} \dot{z} \dot{z} \dot{z}$ INTJ Ch:stool grandfather = AGT that-location OUT-push = PFV:EGO INTJ 'Here you are, grandfather (=I) has pushed the stool over there, look.' (CV13.56)
- (959) éd^jà = Jà (...) tç^hă zǔ fià mí = gú = sèŋ mà. grandmother = PL (...) bashful very LINK NEG:PFV = wear = PFV:EGO INFO
 'The grandmothers (= we) (...) are very bashful and did not wear (the clothes).' (CV21.205)

8.1.2 Egophoricity as notion in existentials and auxiliaries

Egophoricity and evidentiality also plays a role in the equational copula (§7.5), certain existential verbs (§7.6) and auxiliary verbs (§7.9.1). Their forms are given in Table 8.1. As has been shown in the afore-mentioned sections, egophoric forms appear with first person statements and second person questions, and the non-egophoric form appears with third person statements and questions.

	EGO (1SG)	EGO (2SG)	EGO (PL)	N.EGO
'to be'	diŋ	d ⁱ aw	diŋ	dzô
'to exist'	zôŋ	ZÛ	zwêŋ	ZÎ
'to have'	bôŋ	bû	bêj	bôŋ
'can'	tçž ³³⁷	kŭ	kĭŋ	t ^h ŏŋ

Table 8.1 (Non-)egophoric forms of copula, existential, auxiliary

The egophoric forms also appear in indirect speech when the argument of the quotation is the same as the argument of the main clause. Note that the logophoric pronoun $n\hat{i}$ is used to indicate co-reference (cf. §8.1.1).

(960) d\u00f6b\u00fc \u00ec\u00ec-m\u00e5d\u00ec\u00ec=dz\u00ecm] = g\u00f6ŋn\u00ed [n\u00ef=dz\u00ecm] = l\u00ec q\u00ecm_n\u00e7 d\u00ed]]
then H\u00ecn-female=DU=AGT LOG=DU=also Tibetan be:EGO:1/PL
t\u00ec\u00ec=s\u00ecŋ t\u00ec\u00ec=d\u00ecw t\u00ec\u00ecw
t\u00ec\u00ec=d\u00ecw
t\u00ec\u00ec\u00ec
t\u00ec\u00ec\u00ec
t\u00ec\u00ec
t\u00ec
<lit\u00ec
t\u00ec
t\u0

that they told her].' (PC08w.9)

The non-egophoric form appears when the arguments are not co-referential, as in (961).

(961) tà=gǒŋ [ứ t^hóŋmá mǎ=dzà] tçà=dàw
3sG=AGT 1sG Pǔmǐ NEG=be:N.EGO say:IPFV:N.EGO
'He says that I'm not Pǔmǐ.' (EL)

As with other verbs (§8.1.1), the basic pattern of inflection for the forms in Table 8.1 is based on egophoricity. However, inflection depends on pragmatic factors as well. The examples below show that the egophoric system is not to be taken as a strict and rigid agreement paradigm, but rather as a pragmatically-used system, whereby the speaker can manipulate the effect of the utterance by the particular form that is chosen.

³³⁷ Used for first plural as well; kin is only used for second plural.

The use of the non-egophoric form in a 'self-person' context can be employed for pragmatic effect, as in example (962), where grammatically the egophoric form *dig* should be used, but the speaker uses the non-egophoric form $dz\hat{\sigma}$ instead.

(962) èmá t^jěj t^hóŋmé dzè, nán nè-gù-mè=bù ìŋ= té
aunt INTJ Půmĭ be:N.EGO skirt DOWN-wear-NMLZ=TOP 1:INCL=PL
jèhǎ t^hóŋmé l^jádú tà dzè
all Půmĭ friend only be:N.EGO
'(...) Aunt is indeed Půmĭ, all the ones among us that are wearing skirts are only Půmĭ friends (...)' (YJ01.45)

The speaker is part of a group of Půmǐ people who run into some other people during a trip in the mountains. The speaker explains to a young girl belonging to the other party who they are and tries to put her at ease. By using the non-egophoric verb form, she distances herself from the group she belongs to and positions herself cognitively closer to the addressee, in this case to indicate to the girl that she is in the same group with her and does not pose any danger, neither does the group that she introduces.³³⁸ Note that in the second clause she even uses an overt first person inclusive pronoun.³³⁹

Another example of pragmatic use of an egophoric form in an 'other-person' context is given in (963).

- (963) nǐŋ tç^hwí=tí mǎ=d^jàw nǐŋ 2SG good=INDF NEG=be:EGO:2SG 2SG
 - '(...) you are not a good one, you!' (CV21.321)

In this example the speaker reacts to what the addressee has just said about herself, namely that her competence is very bad. The speaker in (963) reacts to this statement by using the form $d^{i}aw$, stating that the previous speaker is correct in her admission: that her competence is not good as she herself well knows. The speaker in (963) thus expressly links her statement to the previous statement made by the addressee. To use the form $dz\hat{a}$ in this example would not be appropriate, since it does not convey these

³³⁸ The use of $dz\hat{\partial}$ in this example could also have another explanation: it gives my main consultant the impression that the speaker is adjusting her language for the child she is addressing by simplifying the verb paradigm. In that case, it is still a pragmatic use, but not related to egophoricity.

³³⁹ In the first instance, she refers to herself as emá, which technically is a third person, but this is not the reason that she uses the non-egophoric form. In many instances in texts a speaker will use a term of address for self-reference and still use the egophoric form of the verb (see §8.1.1).

speaker-addressee dynamics, but renders the sentence as a neutral statement that is not necessarily related to the speaker-hearer interaction.³⁴⁰

The statements in examples (964) and (965) are both correct, but are used in different situations.

- (964) nǐŋ t^hóŋmɨ dzɨ
 2sg Pǔmǐ be:N.EGO
 'You are Pǔmǐ.' (EL)
- (965) nǐŋ t^hóŋmá d^jàw
 2sG Pǔmǐ be:EGO:2sG

'You are Půmĭ.' (you know that very well yourself!) (EL)

Whereas the statement with $dz\hat{\sigma}$ is a neutral statement, the statement with $d^{j}aw$ implies that the speaker knows very well that the addressee knows the fact expressed in the statement. It is used, for example, when the addressee has just claimed to be Tibetan, whereupon the speaker reacts with (965), "But you are Pǔmǐ, you know that very well yourself".

The difference between pragmatic use of 'self-person' and 'other-person' is exemplified in the following pair of questions:

(966) tá sènbón = $g \hat{\Rightarrow} = q^h \hat{u}$ hín = $g \hat{\Rightarrow} n$ cá kìn = $q \hat{\epsilon} j$? this tree = DEF = on who = AGT go can:EGO:2PL = EXPT 'Who will be able to climb this tree?' (CV06.13EL)

(967) tá sènbón = $g a = q^h u$ hín = g o n cà t^hón = q e j? this tree = DEF = on who = AGT go can:N.EGO = EXPT

'Who will be able to climb this tree?' (CV06.13EL)

Example (966) is a real question, and even though it refers strictly speaking to a third person referent hig 'who', it is addressed to people who are expected to be able to answer the question. Thus it is similar to a second person plural question and the egophoric form kig is used. Example (967) on the other hand is a rhetorical question and is not directly addressed to anybody. The implied answer is that nobody will be able to climb the tree. Thus the non-egophoric form $t^h \check{o}g$ is used.

³⁴⁰ This particular structure is also often used when speaking to children. For example, when two children have been fighting and one child blames the other for everything, an intervening grown-up can say example (963) implying, "But you are not totally in the right either, you know that very well yourself".

Example (968) came up during a conversation, and is interesting in that the form $t\varphi\check{a}$ is used in a third person statement. Normally, $t\varphi\check{a}$ is only used with first persons. The implication is that the speaker is not representing the real situation, but rather his own thinking: thus the use of the first person form. Example (969) would be used if the referents are currently selling timber and the speaker comments on the fact that they are really good at it.

- (968) $t \hat{\Rightarrow} = t \hat{\Rightarrow} = b \hat{u} \quad l^{j} \hat{u}$ kǐ t¢æ má dzà, ásèŋ? 3 = PL = TOP timber sell can:EGO:1 GNOMIC AGR 'They could sell timber, right?' (CV19.65.1)
- (969) $t \dot{\Rightarrow} = t \dot{\Rightarrow} = b \dot{u} \quad l^{j} \dot{u}$ kǐ $t^{h} \dot{o} \eta$ mớ dzà, ớsèŋ? 3 = PL = TOP timber sell can:N.EGO GNOMIC AGR 'They can sell timber, right?' (CV19.65.1:EL)

8.1.3 Imperatives and control

As mentioned in §8.1.1, only controllable verbs have imperative forms (although some imperatives have the same form as the stem). Imperative forms distinguish singular and plural number. Inflection is not totally predictable, but several general rules can be noted. Imperative forms of verbs with the vowels [ν], [α w], [$\tilde{0}$] and [u] are always the same as the basic verb form. Verbs with the vowels [ν], [α w], [$\tilde{0}$] and [u] have either imperative forms that are the same as the basic verb form, or an imperative singular form with [u].³⁴¹ Verbs with the vowel [$\tilde{1}$] have imperative forms that are the same as the basic verb form, or an autom of the consonant. Verbs with the vowel [\tilde{e}] have imperative forms that are the same as the basic verb form, or have an imperative singular form with [$\tilde{0}$] and palatalization of the consonant. Verbs with the vowel [\tilde{e}] have imperative forms that are the same as the basic verb form, or have an imperative singular form with [$\tilde{0}$]. Verbs with the central vowels [$\bar{\nu}$] and [\underline{u}] have a singular imperative form of the verb. Verbs with the central vowel [\tilde{e}] have a singular imperative form of the verb. Verbs with the central vowel [$\bar{\nu}$] have a singular imperative form with [α w] and a plural imperative form with [\tilde{e}]. Table 8.2 gives the imperative forms of some controllable verbs.

³⁴¹ With palatalization of the consonant for verbs with bilabial initials and the vowel [i]. Only the verb $z \check{a}$ 'to carry' is slightly irregular, with a singular imperative $z \check{u}$ and a plural imperative $z W \check{e} g$.

³⁴² Sometimes with labialization of the consonant.

³⁴³ Sometimes with labialization of the consonant.

Table 8.2 Imperative forms					
Basic verb form	Imperative singular	Imperative plural	Meaning		
р й	pâw	pîŋ	'to do'		
dzó	dzâw	dzêŋ	'to eat'		
t ^h ĭŋ	t ^{hj} ŏŋ	t ^h ĭŋ	'to drink'		
k ^h ĭŋ/k ^h ĕŋ	k ^h ŏŋ	k ^h ĭŋ/k ^h ĕŋ	'to give'		
¢ð	çôŋ	¢îŋ	'to go'		
zð/jí	jî	jîŋ	'to come'		
tçð	tĭ	tǐŋ	'to say'		

In (970) and (971) examples of imperative forms of some controllable verbs are given.

(970) t^{h} óŋ páw! nề-p^{hj}ôŋ!

quick do:IMP:SG DOWN-flee:IMP:SG '(...) Quick, flee down! (...)' (PC06.5)

(971) jæ̀jǔ q^hè-dzéŋ mà. Ch:potato OUT-eat:IMP:PL INFO

'Eat potatoes!' (CV15.63)

Non-controllable verbs do not have imperatives and can be used in imperative situations only by adjusting the controllability through the 'self-causative' construction with the verb $p\acute{t}$ 'to do' (cf. §8.1.1). To form an imperative, the imperative forms $p\hat{a}w$ or $p\hat{i}\eta$ of the verb $p\acute{t}$ 'to do' are used. An example is shown in (972). $q\hat{a}$ 'to fall down' is a non-controllable verb and thus has to be modified with the imperative form of $p\acute{t}$ in order for imperative force to be expressed.

(972) nè-qá t^jǽ = pàw
DOWN-fall.down PROH-do:IMP:SG
'Don't fall down.' (CV21.500)

Often, but not always, the directional prefix is added to imperatives. Unlike some other languages (Qiāng [LaPolla with Huáng 2003]; rGyalrong [Sūn 2007:800]) the addition

of a prefix is not obligatory for all verbs. The directional prefix is not used with a prohibitive (negative imperative):³⁴⁴

- (973) t^jæ-hóŋţâw PROH-move:IMP:SG 'Don't move!' (CV01.57.1)
- (974) t^j**ǽ-pàw.** PROH-**do**:IMP:SG

'Don't do (that).' (CV04.65)

In some cases of verb concatenation the directional prefix occurs on the first verb and the imperative is expressed by the second verb:

(975) $\xi \delta = b t^{h} t^{h} b k^{h} \eta c \delta \eta$. meat grandma = DAT FR.SP-give go:IMP:SG 'Go give the meat to grandma.' (CV18.110)

The verbs in Table 8.2 can all appear without directional prefix. This includes some frequently used verbs (e.g. 'to eat', 'to drink') and verbs that appear as second verb in verb concatenation (e.g. 'to go', 'to come'). An excerpt from a conversation, (976), shows the imperative of the verb 'to eat' with and without directional prefixes.

```
(976) à-dzá
                             t\hat{a} = q\hat{a}
                                           q<sup>h</sup>à-dzâw.
        this-location: GEN this = DEF OUT-eat: IMP:SG
       Y: 'Eat this one here.' (CV04.35)
        (...)
b
        dzâw,
                     dzâw!
        eat:IMP:SG eat:IMP:SG
        Y: 'Eat, eat!' (CV04.37)
с
       dzin^{j}\acute{a} mǎ = dzaw,
                                    é
                                           è=dzàw=bù,...
                                                                   wèmź = nì
       really
               NEG = eat:IMP:SG 1SG Q = eat:IMP:SG = TOP
                                                                   guest = ADD.FOC
       m\check{a} = (dz\check{a}) ((di\eta)).
        NEG = (be) ((be:EGO1))
       L: '(I) really won't eat; if I eat..... (I will help myself); (I) am after all not a
        guest.' (CV04.38)
```

³⁴⁴ Although it is used in combination with the prohibitive negation marker in certain constructions; in those constructions the directional prefix precedes the negation marker (see §7.2.3).

d dzáw mà, t^hè-tç^hù mâ. eat:IMP:SG INFO FR.SP-feed:IMP:SG INFO Y: 'Eat, feed (her)!' (CV04.39)

e dzín^jé mă=dzàw. really NEG=eat:IMP:SG

L: 'I really won't eat.' (CV04.40)

An interesting phenomenon can be observed in this conversation: when an addressee responds to a command negatively, the imperative form will always be used, as in (976)c and (976)e; it is not possible to respond with $m\check{a} = dz\vartheta$ in (976)c and (976)e. Another example is given in (977), where the singular imperative form $t^{hj}\hat{o}\eta$ 'drink' is used for a first person statement in response to an imperative.

(977) $t^{h}wi$ $math{\dot{a}} = t^{hj}ath{\dot{n}} = si$ ale NEG = drink:IMP:SG = INF

'(I) don't drink ale any more right now.' (CV19.112)

This phenomenon ties in with the general egophoric system observed in the language: the same imperative form is used for second person commands (the traditional 'imperative') as well as first person answers to commands. It should however be noted that this phenomenon is not frequently observed in the language: in most cases when responding to an imperative command, a speaker will use the basic form of the verb and the negatively marked volitive $=_{S}u$, as in (978).

(978) \acute{e} dz \acute{e} m \grave{a} = $\widehat{s}\widehat{u}$, t \acute{e} = b \grave{i} t^h \grave{e} -t \mathring{c} ^h \grave{u} . 1SG eat NEG = VOL:SG 3SG = DAT FR.SP-feed:IMP:SG

'I don't want to eat, give (it) to her.' (CV21.79)

When the addressee responds to a command with a conditional, there is the option³⁴⁵ to respond with an imperative form as in (976)c. This implies there is a condition in this specific instance. There is also the option to respond with a basic verb form instead of an imperative form, as in (979). This implies that the condition applies not only in this case, but in general ('if (= whenever) I eat this, the situation will be like this').

(979)
$$\acute{e}$$
 k^{hj} \grave{e} -dz \acute{e} = b \hat{u} , p i ní η = q $\hat{e}j$
1sg OUT:Q-eat = TOP belly painful = EXPT

'If I eat, my belly will hurt.' (CV04.38EL)

³⁴⁵ It is not sure how frequent this or the other option is used, since (976) is the only example in the corpus.

The copula $dz\hat{\sigma}$ 'to be' can be added to an imperative, as is shown in example (980). It is not totally clear at this point what the exact pragmatic implications are, but it seems similar to constructions for expressing obligation that are found in other Sino-Tibetan languages. Those normally involve nominalization, ³⁴⁶ but in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ no nominalization can be observed.

(980) nǐŋ ¢è-ļí tⁱá = pàw fiǎw, jóŋdóŋ nìŋ = lá
2SG Chinese-language PROH-do:IMP:SG WARN T:Gyung.drung 2SG = also
t^hóŋmá-lì pàw dzà.
Pǔmǐ-language do:IMP:SG be
'Don't you speak Chinese!! Yongzhong, you should speak Pǔmǐ too.'
(CV21.491)

8.2 'Observability' as basic notions in stative verbs

Stative verbs are a subtype of verbs that can function as the predicate of a clause and take directional prefixes, as in (981) and §7.1.2. They can be preceded by the interrogative and negation markers, and can be nominalized, as in (982).

(981) k^hà-tçè kwèj k^hì=bù dàbǔ OUT-big let:PFV:N.EGO time=TOP then
'When (he) had let (her) become big, then (...)' (TC07.12)
(982) é=zòŋ mà=zóŋ tçâ, zóŋ-má=gà q^hà-dzá Q=delicious NEG=delicious say delicious-NMLZ=DEF OUT-eat tséŋ=dàw. N.CONTR=IPFV:N.EGO

'(...) (nowadays we will all talk about) whether or not it is tasty and only eat the tasty bit.' (CV21.272)

Unlike other verbs, stative verbs cannot be modified by preceding adverbial expressions or following auxiliaries, but they can modify nouns post-nominally as adjectives (§5.6), as in (983).

(983) nǒŋ tá=gá ừmá cé=gòŋ t^jǎ-mì tóŋ=dâw.
so this=DEF aunt big=AGT recently-night speak=IPFV:N.EGO
'So oldest aunt told this one during a recent evening.' (CV09.26)

³⁴⁶ For example, Chinese 你是要去的 'You should go'.

Unlike other verbs, stative verbs can be followed by the stative verb marker = ta and the adverbial marker zt 'very', as in (984). The markers = ta and zt do not co-occur.³⁴⁷ In this position, neither = ta nor zt seem to be verbal: they are not preceded by negation or interrogative markers. However, zt seems to have developed from a verb (cf. §4.7).

(984)
$$m\dot{a} = z\dot{o}\eta = t\dot{a}$$
 / $m\dot{a} = z\dot{o}\eta$ $z\dot{u}$
NEG = delicious = SVM / NEG = delicious very

'(It)'s not delicious.' / '(It)'s not delicious at all (...)' (KZ03.25)

Semantically and morpho-syntactically the group of stative verbs can be split into two different categories. The first category, endoceptive³⁴⁸ verbs, relates to internal states (such as being angry or feeling relaxed) or states of external objects that can only be internally experienced (such as the bitterness or sourness of food, or the heaviness of an object). The second category, exoceptive verbs, denotes externally observable situations and sensations (such as the size of an object). Sūn (1993:968) also reports a split between observable and unobservable situations in Amdo Tibetan. A list of endoceptive and exoceptive verbs is given in Table 8.3.

Endocep	tive verbs	Exoceptive verbs		
téj	'to be (feel) big, important'	ÇÊ	'to be (look) big'	
lêj	'to be (feel) heavy'	ZÓ	'to be (look) much'	
.ĮWá	'to feel something (in one's eye)'	ť ^h óŋ	'to be fast'	
.Į Ú	'to be relaxed'	də́dê	'to be bad(-looking)'	
dŭ	'to detest, be detestable'	<i>dŏŋ</i>	'to be okay'	
tçílôŋ	'to be hungry'	dzŵŋ	'to be wet'	
ţsú	'to be sour, feel the sourness of sth.'	nísêjsêj	'to be red'	
tsóŋ	'to have the flavour (of things)'	p ú ľ ^j ǽľ ^j ǽ	'to be soft'	
níŋ	'to hurt, be sick'	bádôŋdôŋ	'to be short and stocky'	
ţéj	'to want (food, drinks)'	çéçà	'to be similar'	
kě	'to be afraid'	<i>d</i> ĕ	'to be capable'	

Table 8.3 Endoceptive and exoceptive verbs

³⁴⁷ Since most of the discussion below uses examples with =ta, it should be kept in mind that where =ta is used, za could be used in the same manner (except for in example [999]). ³⁴⁸ The terminology 'endoceptic' and 'exoceptic' follows Tournadre (2011).

Endoceptive verbs		Exoceptive verbs
těŋ	'to miss'	
ŋæjĭ ¢ĭ	'to know'	
zóŋ	'to be delicious'	
Morphosy	ntactically the two gro	ups pattern differently. With exoceptive (observable

Morphosyntactically the two groups pattern differently. With exoceptive (observable state) verbs the state of something is externally observeable and there is thus no privileged access to that knowledge: everybody has equal access to the knowledge and can make an observation based on visual clues. Exoceptive stative verbs are usually used in third person clauses and can be modified by the stative verb marker = ta or the adverbial $z \mu$ without any evidential marking. This is shown in (985) and (986).

(985) hòŋ-dzé $\acute{e}d^{j}\grave{e}=g\grave{e}$ zě tà t $\acute{e}=g\acute{e}$ $\grave{e}l^{j}\grave{e}$ in-location:GEN grandma=GEN hand only this=DEF a.little $c\acute{e}=t\grave{a}$ be.big=SVM

(...) this one over there in grandma's hand is a bit bigger, (...)' (CV16.107)

(986) $\grave{e}m\acute{a}$ $\varsigma\acute{e} = g\grave{e}$ nǐŋ tsá $\varsigma\acute{e}$ zǔ aunt big = GEN INTJ meat be.big very

'First aunt's meat is very big, mind you, (...)' (CV21.168)

With endoceptic (internal state) verbs, however, the knowledge of a state derives from internal clues, and speakers can only remark directly on their own internal state, or on the state of a thing they have experiential knowledge of ('this thing is heavy'). Speakers directly report on their own internal state, using = ta and zt, speakers report on (the appearance of) other people's states (based on their observation of outside clues) using non-egophoric marking. Thus endoceptive stative verbs are modified with the egophoric = ta and $z\check{u}$ in self-person sentences, as in (987), but with the non-egophoric = daw (discussed in §8.3.2 below), as in (988), or a combination of $= ta/z \check{u}$ and = daw, as in (989), in 'other-person' sentences. The use of = daw, in (988), versus = ta = daw, in (989), shows a slight difference in meaning. The use of = daw is straightforward and neutral, but the use of =ta=daw can either imply that the speaker presents the situation from the point of view of the referent, or that the speaker has an implied meaning. Thus in (988), the speaker simply comments on the fact that a certain girl likes the addressee. In (989) however, he expects a response from the addressee, either an acknowledgement of his feelings for the girl, or for the addressee to act on the information (for example by asking the girl out).

- (987) gé=tû / gé zŭ like=svM / like very 'I like (it)/I like (it) very much.' (EL)
- (988) g \acute{a} = d \hat{a} w like = IPFV:N.EGO

'(She) likes (you). (EL)

```
(989) g \not\equiv t \nota = d a w
like = SVM = IPFV:N.EGO
'(She) likes (you).' (EL)
```

The distinction between egophoric 'self-person' and non-egophoric 'other person' sentences plays out in the same way with endoceptive stative verbs as with other verbs (as discussed in §8.1.1). Thus, in statements, =ta and za can be used with first person, but non-egophoric marking has to be used with second and third person. In questions, second person does not have to be modified by anything, but first and third person questions need non-egophoric marking. This is shown in (990), (991) and (992).

(990) nǐŋ tçí = \acute{e} = iòŋ? 2sG hungry = Q = hungry

'Are you hungry?' (EL)

(991) é t¢íųóŋ é=dàw?
1sG hungry Q=IPFV:N.EGO

'Am I hungry?' (EL)

(992) tá t¢í tóŋ é = dàw?
3sG hungry Q = IPFV:N.EGO
'Is she hungry?' (EL)

The phrase $k^h we p u t c^h o g$ 'to be satisfied with' is an endoceptive verb construction. In the following two example sentences, the difference between 'self-person' versus 'other-person' can be clearly seen by the use of = ta versus = daw. Since in (993) no evidential is used, the sentence can only refer to the speaker, whereas in (994) the presence of the non-egophoric marker = daw indicates that the girl is the one who is satisfied, not the speaker.

(993) tá màdàlí k^hwè = pú tç^hóŋ = tà
this girl heart = under appear = SVM
'(I'm) satisfied with this girl.' (EL)

(994) tá màdàlí $k^h w \dot{e} = p \dot{u}$ t $c^h \dot{o} \eta = d \dot{a} w$ this girl heart = under appear = IPFV:N.EGO

'This girl is satisfied (with this thing).' (EL)

Since exoceptive (observable state) verbs do not need the addition of evidentials, the occurrence of the non-egophoric marker = daw with these verbs has a slightly different meaning. It implies that the speaker just discovered the state of something and it represents new information to him, i.e. a mirative use, as in (995). There the speaker did not know that the feet of the two girls were big, but realized it when buying shoes. More discussion will follow in the section on mirativity (§8.3.2.1).

(995) jóŋtçíŋ=nòŋ técámà=gà=là tcé zù=dáw,
T:dByangs.cin=COORD T:bKra.shis.ma=GEN=also be.big very=IPFV:N.EGO
míŋ dzà tc^hémì?
what be not.sure
'Yongjin's and Zhacima's (feet) are also very big, (I) don't know what it is.'
(CV01.47.1)

Some stative verbs can be fluid, that is have both endoceptive and exoceptive readings. A few examples are given in Table 8.4.

	Endoceptive reading	Exoceptive reading
tç ^h wí	'to be good (inherently)'	'to be good(-looking)'
gǽ	'to like, be happy'	'to be (look, sound) beautiful'
kóŋ	'to be (feel) cold' (inside)	'to be cold' (weather)

Table 8.4 Stative verbs with endoceptive and exoceptive reading

An example is given for the verb $g\dot{x}$ 'to like; to be beautiful'. Examples (996) and (997) give the endoceptive (internal state) reading and the egophoric =ta can only be used with 'self-person', as in (996). The non-egophoric =daw has to be used with 'other-person', as in (997). Example (998) gives the exoceptive (observable state) reading and thus =ta can be used with 'other-person'.

(996) é dzədzĭ mà=g α =t α .

1sg letter NEG = like = svm

'I don't like books/to study.' (CV11.2)

(997) má= jà jèhà = Jóŋ ts^hw*æ*-m*j* = nòŋ, tá person = PL 3SG all = PL:AGT ask.help-NMLZ = COORD $p\dot{u} = w\dot{e}\eta = d\dot{a}w = g\dot{o}\eta n\dot{i} = b\dot{u},$ má jèhǎ $g \hat{a} = d \hat{a} w$, do = can = IPFV:N.EGO = AGT = TOPlike = IPFV:N.EGO person all á-pà má = Jþ. that-under:GEN person = PL

'Because he knows how to behave like a person, people all ask him for help, they all like him, the people over there.' (CV14.140.1)

(998) $n \hat{n} = b \hat{u}$ d $\hat{e} b \hat{u}$ t^hón $g \hat{e} = t \hat{a} = l \hat{u}$ $g w \hat{e}$ $m \hat{a} = t^h \check{o} \eta$ 2sg = TOP then voice beautiful = svm = also sing NEG = can:N.EGO $l^j \check{v} m \check{a} t \hat{u}$ useless

'(...) Even though your voice is beautiful, (you) don't dare to sing, that's useless. (...)' (YJ01.9)

In addition to the egophoric marker =ta, there is also a construction =ta noŋ that can be used with 'self-person' sentences, as in (999). At this point it is not clear what the difference between =ta and =ta noŋ is nor what the origin of noŋ is.

(999) tí-pú t¢í tóŋ = tà nòŋ fià up-under hungry = SVM ? LINK

'(We) were so hungry up there (...)' (CV21.323.1)

8.3 Evidentiality and egophoricity

The above sections have discussed the different verbs and their semantics and shown that a basic distinction is made along the parameters of control (whether or not an action can be controlled) and observability (whether or not a state can be observed). This section will introduce the post-verbal particles that express (non-)egophoricity (speaker-(non-)involvement) and evidentiality (source of knowledge) and that are intertwined with aspect and modality. It will show in more depth how their use interacts with verbal semantics.

In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, evidentiality and egophoricity are two sides of the same coin. On the one hand, speakers report on things that they are involved in themselves (this is egophoric or 'self' knowledge);³⁴⁹ on the other hand they report on others (evidential knowledge). When speakers are involved in actions themselves, or question an addressee, there is privileged access to the knowledge they report. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ this

³⁴⁹ The term egophoricity is used by Tournadre (2008); the terms 'self' and 'other' are used by Sūn (1993).

is expressed by egophoric markers. When, however, they report on other people's actions, they lack that privileged access to knowledge, and need to indicate their source of knowledge. This is done by a set of non-egophoric or evidential markers. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, egophoric markers occur in a paradigmatic opposition to non-egophoric/evidential markers. The different (non-)egophoric and evidential markers occur post-verbally and can only be followed by the clause-final attitude particles (§8.8).

There are three groups of egophoric and non-egophoric/evidential markers that occur in paradigmatic opposition: they all appear in the same slot in a clause. The markers are listed in Table 8.5, and will be discussed in §8.3.1, §8.3.2 and §8.3.3. None of the egophoric markers co-occur. Apart from two constructions, a construction denoting epistemic uncertainty *si daw* (§8.4.3) and a construction *qej daw* 'about to' (§8.7), the evidential markers do not co-occur either.

Table 8.5 involvement and evidential markers					
		EVIDENTIAL			
	ego 1sg	ego 2sg	EGO INCL	EGO PL	NON-EGO
Perfective	=seŋ	=si	=s	eŋ	=si
Imperfective	=doŋ	=du	=dv	veŋ	=daw
Volitive, expectational	=	șu	=gi	=¢in	=qɛj

Table 8.5 Involvement and evidential markers

The different markers interact with person in the same way as verb inflection (§8.1.1), not based on actor-agreement or person-number agreement, but rather on a $1 \leftrightarrow 2/3$ in statements and $2 \leftrightarrow 1/3$ in questions pattern. This does not imply that evidential forms cannot be used with 'self-person'. Rather, it will be seen that in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ the use of evidentials with 'self-person' implies a lack of control and volition on the side of the speaker. This corroborates with what Curnow (2002:187) noted: "Some evidentials in particular languages have sharply distinct interpretations in sentences with first-person subjects and in third-person-only sentences. In almost all cases, these involve an interpretation of the evidential as a marker of non-volitional action when used with a first-person subject." The egophoric markers imply control and volition over the action. Therefore, they can only co-occur with controllable verbs. Evidential markers, on the other hand, occur with both controllable and non-controllable verbs. When they occur with non-controllable verbs, they only occur with 'other-person'; when they occur with non-controllable verbs, they occur with 'self-person' as well as 'other-person'.

The three sets of markers all show a basic egophoric-evidential distinction, but at the same time they also mark aspect and modality. Similar markers in related speech

varieties have been analysed in various ways. Lù (1983:42; 2001:154) treats them as a single paradigm of past, present and future tense markers. Fù (1998:104) analyses them rather as perfective, progressive and prospective aspect markers. Dīng (1998) does not treat them as one paradigm, but analyses the three different sets of markers as aspectual, evidential and modality markers respectively.

The inferential evidential and perfective egophoric markers will be discussed in §8.3.1, the (non-)egophoric imperfective markers in §8.3.2, and the expectational evidential and volitive egophoric markers in §8.3.3. Apart from these evidential/egophoric marker sets, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ also marks auditory evidence (§8.3.4), quotatives and reported (hearsay) evidence (§8.3.5) and reported thought (§8.3.6). The section on evidentiality and egophoricity will close with the co-occurrence of evidentials (§8.3.7), the link between evidentiality and different text genres (§8.3.8) and the way visual evidence obtained through new media is marked (§8.3.9).

8.3.1 Perfective and inferential evidential markers

Perfective aspect is expressed by inflection of the verb (§8.1.1) and the post-verbal markers = seg or = si. In this section I will discuss the use of the two post-verbal markers = seg and = si. Both markers interact with verb inflection and the category of person, as will be shown in this section. = si is an inferential evidential marker and is in paradigmatic opposition to the perfective egophoric marker = seg and zero marking. = si marks source of information based on inference. The marker occurs optionally in 'other-person' sentences (third person questions and statements, second person statements, and first person questions) with the non-egophoric (inflected) form of controllable verbs (§8.1.1), as in (1000), (1001) and (1002). The presence of = si implies inferential evidence, its absence implies direct visual evidence, as in (1003), (1004) and (1005). This applies to negative statements as well, as in (1006) and (1007).

```
(1000) tá tç<sup>h</sup>ĭ k<sup>hj</sup>à-dzwá=sî?
3SG food OUT:Q-eat:PFV:N.EGO=INF
'Has he eaten?' (EL)
(speaker assumes addressee did not have visual evidence)
(1001) nĭŋ/tá tç<sup>h</sup>ĭ q<sup>h</sup>à-dzwá=sî
2SG/3SG food OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO=INF
'You/he has eaten.' (EL)
(inferred evidence)
```

- (1002) nǐŋ tçš, é tç^hǐ k^{hj}à-dzwś=sî?
 2SG say 1SG food OUT:Q-eat:PFV:N.EGO=INF
 'You say, have I eaten?' (EL)
 (speaker assumes addressee did not have visual evidence)
- (1003) tá tç^hǐ k^{hj}à-dzwá?
 3SG food OUT:Q-eat:PFV:N.EGO
 'Has he eaten?' (EL)
 (speaker assumes addressee had visual evidence)
- (1004) nǐŋ/tá tç^hǐ q^hà-dzwá
 2SG/3SG food OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO
 'You/he has eaten.' (EL)
 (visual evidence)
- (1005) nǐŋ t¢ð, é t¢^hǐ k^{hj}æ̀-dzwó? 3SG say 1SG food OUT:Q-eat:PFV:N.EGO

'You say, have I eaten?' (EL) (speaker assumes addressee had visual evidence)

(1006) tớ-mí = t ς^h óŋ tçàw.

UP-NEG:PFV = come:PFV:N.EGO HSY

'It is said that (Dauma) (...) has not come back up yet.' (CV19.89) (the current speaker implies that the original speaker had visual evidence)

```
(1007) dǎwmà mí = t¢<sup>h</sup>óŋ = sì.

T:rDo.rje.Dre.ma NEG:PFV = come:PFV:N.EGO = INF

J: 'Dauma has not come back yet.' (CV20.133.2)

(inferred evidence)

tèsǐ mí = t¢<sup>h</sup>óŋ = sì â?

still NEG:PFV = come:PFV:N.EGO = INF CONF

N: '(She) still hasn't come back?' (CV20.134)
```

(speaker assumes addressee did not have visual evidence)

When a non-controllable verb appears in 'other-person' sentences (third person statements and questions, second person statements, first person questions), the inflected form $p\hat{a}$ of the verb $p\hat{u}$ 'to do' is normally added (§8.1.1), as in (1008), (1009) and (1010). Again the use of =si implies inferential evidence and zero marking implies visual evidence:

(1008)	á-pà		lúlú	mə̀gìŋ	nè-dzói	ŋ-mə́ =	=tù	t ^h è-tsèŋ
	that-unde	er:GEN	Lolo	old.man	DOWN-S	sit-NMI	z = on	FR.SP-fall.down
	pà. do:PFV:N.	EGO						
	ʻ() (he) (YJ01.32	fell do [.])	wn or	n top of th	e old Lo	lo ma	n who wa	as sitting there.'
(1009)	n ^j ǽ	jílú = lờ	ì		à-wú	nè-tà	Ì	pá=sì,
	2sg:gen	grandd	laugh	ter = also	this-in	DOW	N-arrive	do:pfv:n.ego = inf
	t ^j ěj. look							
	'Look, yo	ur gran	ıddau	ghter has	also con	ne ove	er here.' (CV21.470)
(1010)	nìŋ = góŋ 2sg = Agt	t ^h è-t¢ FR.SP	síŋ -see	pá do:PFV.N.	्रक्षे EGO see	.nànì ems	mà.nì.h NMLZ.CC	à. DNSTR

'(...) it seems (to me) that you saw it.' (CV09.39.2)

The fact that the inferential evidential marker can be left out without any change in aspect and only a change in evidential meaning is an argument to analyse evidentiality rather than perfective aspect as the central meaning of =si in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. It is possible that =si went through a stage of marking perfective and has now developed into an inferential marker. Note that it can still mark change of state, as in (1011).³⁵⁰

(1011) $t^{h}wi$ mà = t^{hj} òŋ = sî ale NEG = drink:IMP:SG = INF

'(I) don't drink ale any more right now.' (CV19.112)

The perfective egophoric marker = seg marks that at least one speech-act participant is involved in the action: the speaker in statements and the (singular) addressee in questions. = seg also marks volition and control over the action and thus only occurs with controllable verbs (§8.1.1). = seg occurs obligatorily in positive 'self-person' sentences (first person statements and second person plural questions) with the basic (non-inflected) form of the verb, as in (1012) and (1013). Interestingly, questions with second person singular addressees generally use the inferential evidential particle = siinstead, as in (1014). It is not totally clear yet what triggers this. The verb form,

³⁵⁰ Note that Dīng (1998:206) analyses a similar morpheme as a perfective marker in Niúwōzǐ Půmǐ. For the neighbouring language Shǐxīng, Chirkova (2009:51) reports on a perfective auxiliary that has likely developed into an inferential marker and a mirative marker. This is cross-linguistically very common (Comrie 1976:108-110). A change of state marker *-si/-so/ - son/-i* (depending on person) is also found in Púxī Qiāng (Huáng 2007:137).

however, is always the basic form and never the inflected form. In second person nonsingular questions, the egophoric = sen is always used, as in (1013). = sen does not specify the source of information, since the speaker (or the (singular) addressee in questions) has experiential information of the action (and is thus the source of the information), but it marks perfectivity (which is not marked on the verb in egophoric situations, since with egophoric forms the basic form of the verb is used).

(1012) †s^hð = bì t^hè-tc^hì $k^{h}\hat{a}$ -t \hat{i} = s $\hat{e}\eta$. dog = DAT FR.SP-feed OUT-put = PFV:EGO '(I) fed (them) to the dog.' (CV17.13) tchà (1013) kèdzí $t^{h}\dot{e}$ - $dz\dot{u}$ = $s\dot{e}\eta$? this.time how.many FR.SP-make = PFV:EGO 'How many did you (pl) make this time?' (CV14.40) (1014) tènóŋ ((kʰá)) zé = gà kí $t^{h}\dot{e}$ - $d\dot{i} = s\dot{i}?$ time:GEN four = DEF just.now where FR.SP-throw = INF

'Where did (you) put the four just now?' (CV17.12)

As was shown in §8.1.1, when the argument of a main clause is co-referential with the argument of an embedded speech clause, egophoric marking is used in the embedded clause, even when the subject is third person, as in (1015). When the argument of the embedded speech clause is not the same as the argument of the main clause, evidential marking is used in the embedded clause, even when the subject is first person, as in (1016), repeated from example (951) for convenience. Again, the presence of =si implies inferred evidence, its absence implies visual evidence.

(1015) jǎw [$\acute{e} = i i = b$ nớ tí nề-tếj = séŋ] again 1 = PL = DAT thus one DOWN-Ch:loan = PFV:EGO tçi = dàw mà dàw fià. say = IPFV:N.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR

'But (he) told us that (he) loaned that much.' (CV07.62)

(1016)
$$t \hat{\vartheta} = g \check{\vartheta} \eta n \hat{\imath}$$
 [$\dot{\vartheta} = n \hat{\imath}$ q^h $\hat{\vartheta}$ -dzw $\hat{\imath} = s \hat{\imath}$] $t c \hat{\vartheta} = d \grave{\vartheta} w$
3sg = AGT 1sg = AGT OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO = INF say = IPFV:N.EGO

'He says that I have eaten.' (inferred evidence) (EL)

Even when an overt referent argument is lacking, the marker =seg forces the interpretation of speech-act participant involvement (first person involvement in statements, second person involvement in questions). Whether the referent is singular or plural is derived from the context, as can be seen in (1017) where the first referent is plural and the second is singular and both are marked by =seg.

(1017) bàbú = nóŋ tá = tá jèhǎ líŋwú nè-p^hè = sêŋ,
stuff = COORD this = PL all Yǒngníng DOWN-leave = PFV:EGO
púnà = nòŋ èmá sénóŋ = bì è-jźj tçá = sêŋ.
today = only aunt Sanong = DAT IN-bring say = PFV:EGO
'The stuff etcetera (we) left all in Yǒngníng, only today (I) told aunt Sanong to bring (it here).' (CV02.32)

In a negative statement the use of =seg is optional and the default is to leave it out. When it is used, it indicates intention and purposefulness on the part of the speaker not to conduct an action. Thus, (1018) indicates a neutral statement, but (1019) indicates that the speaker intentionally did not go.

 $m i = c \hat{a}$. $(1018) \acute{e} = b\acute{u}$ á-wù ¢ź..., t^hútù tú á-pù tá 1SG = TOP that-in go immediately look NEG:PFV = go 3sg that-under $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ -t \mathbf{c}^{h} ó η = sì tcàw k^hì. IN-come:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY TRAIL

'I did not go to look, even though it was said that he came over.' (CV09.102.2)

(1019) d\u00f6b\u00fc \u00e9md s\u00e9nd s\u00e9n k\u00e0 \u00e7\u00e5 k\u00e8j, \u00e9md m\u00ed = \u00e7\u00e3 = s\u00e9n then aunt Sanong sell go let aunt NEG:PFV = go = PFV:EGO
'(...) Then (they) let aunt Sanong go to sell (it), aunt (=I) did not go.' (YJ02.33)

The perfective egophoric marker = seg cannot be used in combination with a noncontrollable verb and 'self-person'; instead the inferential = si is used:

(1020) ébàw $n \dot{e} \cdot m \dot{a} = s \dot{i}$ INTJ DOWN-forget = INF

'My oh my! (I) forgot (everything).' (CV22.48.1)

The use of =si is optional with non-controllable verbs and implies inferential evidence. (1021) implies that the speaker was aware of the situation while it happened; (1022) on the other hand implies inferred evidence: the speaker realizes later that he must have fallen down. The same is true for (1023) and (1024). In (1023) the speaker was aware that she was getting drunk, whereas in (1024) she only realized it later.

(1021) é nè-dậ 1sg DOWN-fall 'I fell down.' (EL) (1022) é nè-dá = sì 1sg DOWN-fall = INF 'I fell down.' (EL)

(1023) é nè-gwé

1SG DOWN-drunk

'I am drunk.' (CV09.119EL)

(1024) é nè-gwé = sì

1SG DOWN-drunk = INF

'I am drunk.' (CV09.119EL)

A common pragmatic extension of inferential evidential markers is mirativity, the coding of new and unexpected (surprising) information (DeLancey 2001). Evidence derived from inference is often not integrated in the knowledge system of the speaker and a mirative reading thus easily develops. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ a mirative reading for =si often occurs with stative verbs. It is used when one has just discovered that a situation (expressed by the stative verb) is the case. In (1025) the speaker just found out that the referent was capable, but the action that made the referent capable in the eyes of the speaker was an action in the past, not an action at the moment of speaking. If it had been an action at the time of speaking that made the speaker exclaim that the referent was capable, she would have said $\partial juju$, $d\check{v} = daw m\hat{a}!$, using the non-egophoric = daw (§8.3.2). When the speaker knew all along that the referent was capable, she would have said $\partial juju$, $d\check{v} = ta m\hat{a}!$, using the egophoric stative verb marker = ta (since $d\check{v}$ is an exoceptic [observable state] verb, [§8.2]).

(1025) ýjùjù, dè = sì mâ.

INTJ be.capable = INF INFO

'Oh, (you're) really capable!' (CV02.7)

Other examples of mirative use are given below:

(1026) m̃ŋ, nǐŋ dòŋ=sí, nǐŋ zá t^hà tç^hwí=dáw.
INTJ 2SG okay=INF 2SG bow shoot be.good=IPFV:N.EGO
'Hmm, you're okay, you shoot very well.' (TC02.47)

- (1027) śjù, mèzè wé mà-dé = sî, míŋ dzè?
 INTJ bread make NEG-resemble = INF what be
 'Oh, the bread is very good, how come?' (CV21.97)
- (1028) èmá nǐŋ tớ jăw k^hwé = pù nè-kwì = sî,...
 aunt 2sG this again heart = under DOWN-EXIST.IN = INF
 'Aunt, you still remember this?!' (CV24.24)

The presence of =si in $ma = q^h u = si$ in example (1029) might be the influence of the Lābǎi Pǔmǐ speech variety. The speaker currently lives in Lābǎi and came back to visit her family in Wǎdū. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ $ma = q^hǔ$ is normally used. In the example the speaker realizes that she uses this expression and is a little bit embarrassed about it.

(1029) $\dot{ma} = q^{h}\dot{u} = s\hat{i}$, $\dot{ma} = q^{h}\dot{u} = s\hat{i}$ t¢ \dot{s} $q^{h}\dot{u}$ ma, \dot{ha} NEG = need = INF NEG = need = INF say need INFO INTJ 'I don't want any more, I need to say, "I don't want any more," hahaha!' (CV15.64)

In example (1030) the use of =si is not totally clear. It might be a change-of-state use, but my main consultant could only note that it gives extra depth of expression to what the speaker wants to convey.

(1030) tàç \acute{a} = bú dàbů, ìŋ = J \acute{a} dàbů, dzih \acute{a} = bù t¢^hwí zù now = TOP then 1:INCL = PL:GEN then society = TOP good very má dzih = si. GNOMIC = INF

'(...) nowadays our society is very good.' (TC10.56)

The markers =seg and =si do not seem to be of verbal origin since they cannot be preceded by the negation or interrogative markers. Ding (1998:197) and Fù (1998:130) note the same for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ and Dàyáng Pǔmǐ: the interrogative and negative marker precede the verb when the verb is followed by =seg/=si. The other evidential and egophoric markers can all be preceded by negation and interogatives³⁵¹ and might have developed from auxiliaries.³⁵² =seg and =si might have grammaticalised via a different route, possibly deriving from a hierarchical person marking system in which first person was marked separately from the others (LaPolla, p.c) or a widespread TB clause sequence marker, usually on nonfinal clauses, compare Lisu [s_1^{55}] (Bradley, p.c.). A non-verbal origin for =seg and =si would explain why controllable verbs show inflection when appearing with the inferential evidential =si, but do not show any inflection when appearing with the other evidentials.

8.3.2 Imperfective (non-)egophoric markers

Progressive and habitual aspect is marked by the egophoric imperfective markers = don, = dwen and = du and the non-egophoric imperfective marker = daw. The

³⁵¹ In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ = gi can be preceded by the interrogative and the negative, contrary to what Dīng notes for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ (1998:197, Table 8-2).

³⁵² In Tibetic languages many evidential markers (now suffixes) developed from auxiliary verbs (Tournadre 2008:292).

egophoric markers express the involvement of 'self-person' in a current or habitual action. The non-egophoric marker expresses the non-involvement of 'self-person' in a current or habitual action. It is used to report on 'other-person' current or habitual actions, or on 'self-person' in combination with non-controllable verbs. The marker expresses default evidence that speakers have for their statements about others, and is usually based on visual evidence. It is in paradigmatic opposition to the auditory *= tiŋ* (§8.3.4), which marks auditory evidence, the nominalization construction $m \partial dz \partial q^h u$ (§8.6.1) which marks generic statements, and the customary markers *weŋ* and $q^h u$ (§8.5), which mark customary knowledge.

Dīng (1998:218) notes the evidential usage of a similar set of markers in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ and also analyses them on the basis of (non-)involvement in the action. Dīng states:

"... 'ron (Wǎdū Pǔmǐ = don) is employed essentially for signifying the consciousness and responsibility for a situation by the speaker...and the volitionality of the speaker..." (1998:220), and "...signifies a direct volitional involvement of the speaker in a situation, entailing the consciousness on the part of the speaker..." (1998:218)

"...the default opposite of *ron* –the non-involvemental *riu* (Wǎdū Pǔmǐ = daw)– is used, indicating that the speaker lacks conscious control over the situation." (1998:220) "*riu* asserts that the speaker knows about some situation which is not under the control of the speech act participants..." (1998:218).

All markers occur with the basic form of the verb; the egophoric and non-egophoric markers carry the inflection for 'self' versus 'other', as is shown in Table 8.6, and are obligatory in all contexts.

EGO 1SG	ego 2sg	EGO PL	NON-EGO
=doŋ	=du	=dweŋ	=daw

Table 8.6 Imperfective (non-)egophoric markers

The egophoric forms are used for progressive and habitual aspect with controllable verbs. Progressive aspect and the interplay with person is shown in (1031) and (1032): egophoric forms appear with first person statements and second person questions. Habitual aspect is shown in (1033).

¢>=dù," èt^hú _Jéŋdì (1031) "nǐŋ kí tçà $k^{h}i = b\hat{u}$, "é dàbǔ é 2SG where $g_0 = IPFV:EGO:2SG$ say time = TOP 1SG then 1SG hero seek tçà $k^{h}i = bu$ $c \hat{a} = d \hat{o} \eta$," go = IPFV:EGO:1SG say time = TOP '(...) when (Damasongtsa) said, "Where are you going?" (Likisa) answered, "I am going to seek a hero." ' (CV13.100.1) (1032) nìŋ-bú kí $c\hat{a} = dw\hat{e}\eta$? 2sg-household where go = IPFV:EGO:N.SG A: 'Where are you going?' (TC03.6) t^híŋ é-bù nú $c \hat{a} = dw \hat{e} \eta$ 1:EXCL-household salt.water drink go = IPFV:EGO:N.SG B: 'Our household is going to drink salt water, (...)' (TC03.7) (1033) nè-dzóŋ = dôŋ, é=lá $n\dot{e}$ -dzó η = sê η , kóŋ zŭ DOWN-sit = IPFV:EGO:1SG 1SG = also DOWN-sit = PFV:EGO cold very $nùsé\eta = bù$ morning = TOP

'I sit down regularly (next to the fire as well), I sat down (in the morning) as well, it's very cold in the early morning.' (CV02.14)

Egophoric forms are also used with co-reference: when the argument of an embedded speech clause is co-referent with the argument of the main clause, as in (1034), where = dog is used with a third person referent (cf. also §8.1.1; §8.3.1; §8.3.2 for the same pattern).

(1034) èkáw-lì dàwzí [ní tá-zá=dòŋ] tçà=dàw
uncle(MB)-DIM T:rDo.rje LOG UP-come=IPFV:EGO:1SG say=IPFV:N.EGO
sì dàw.
EPIST:probably

'Young Uncle Dauji probably said that he would come up himself.' (CV21.358)

The non-egophoric form = daw is used for other people's current or habitual actions, as in (1035) and (1036) respectively.

 $tc^{h} \dot{o} \eta \quad k^{h} \dot{i} = b \dot{u},$ tsúqwá = wùt¢^hwà-t¢^hì (1035) dèbǔ ségwì èmá = bù then T:earthquake appear time = TOP aunt = TOP side.room = in pig-food $q\dot{u} = d\dot{a}w.$ boil = IPFV:N.EGO 'When the earthquake hit, mother was boiling pig fodder on the side room stove.' (PC06w.2) (1036) èmá jóntçín ťhé tc^hwǎ çé zù-mź tà

(1036) emd jojiciji ["e t¢"wæ ¢e zu-mə td aunt T:dByangs.cin all.the.time pig big very-NMLZ only t§^hə́=dàw. slaughter=IPFV:N.EGO

'Aunt Yongjin always only slaughters very big pigs.' (CV21.167)

= daw is also used when stating a generally-known fact (this is probably an extension from the habitual meaning: when something is habitually done, it is usually generally known), as in (1037). However, it cannot be used for customs that have been around for a long time. This is clear from the contrast between the customary marker = weg (§7.9.2 and §8.5) and the non-egophoric imperfective = daw in example (1037), where the speaker is talking about the way things have customarily be done in Wǎdū (using = weg) to the way things are currently (using = daw).

(1037) dèbů, zèp \dot{u} k^hí = bú t^hè-kí cú $dzidz \approx = g \circ \eta h^{j}$ wêŋ, then past time = TOP paddy.rice FR.SP-cut flail = INS beat CUST.EXCL tè-tc^hwì-b^jé t^hwàt^{hj}á çwè-gà-tsá one-direction-on:GEN young.person eight-nine-CLF:person sà nè-tc^hź dzidz $\dot{e} = g \dot{o} \eta c \dot{u}$ nè-tsáw wêŋ, about DOWN-stand flail = INS paddy.rice DOWN-beat CUST.EXCL $t \partial c \hat{x} = b \hat{u}$ tà $tcitc^hi = gon$ $ts \dot{a} w = d \hat{a} w$. now = TOPonly Ch:machine = INSbeat = IPFV:N.EGO 'In the past, after the paddy rice had been cut, (we) used a threshing implement to beat (it); about eight or nine young men would stand on one

side to beat the paddy rice with a flail; nowadays it is beaten with a machine.' (CL03ed.31)

It is also used to mark assertions concerning other people's internal states or qualities, like the utterance with the endoceptic (internal state) verb $k\check{e}$ 'to be capable' in (1038), cf. also §8.2.

(1038) ní m $\hat{a} = q\hat{a}$ t¢íŋmíŋ nǐŋ k $\hat{e} = d\hat{a}w$, nǐŋ, LOG person = PL home INTJ capable = IPFV:N.EGO INTJ

'She is very capable at home, mind you.' (CV21.113)

A speaker can also choose to portray an event as if it happens at the present time. The event presented in (1039) happened the night before:

dawma = bikǒn t^hè-tc^hón (1039) pícì (...) tà pàw tçà last.night T:rDo.rje.Dre.ma = DAT door FR.SP-open one do:IMP:SG say $k^{h}i = la$ tchà $p\hat{u} \hat{v} - p\hat{x}\eta = d\hat{u}w$ mà. time = alsobashful do IN-hide = IPFV:N.EGO INFO 'Last night (...) when I told Dauma to open the door, (she) bashfully hid.' (CV02.15)

The non-egophoric = daw is also used with 'self-person' and non-controllable verbs, as in (1040) and (1041) (cf. the description of = si in §8.3.1), or with controllable verbs that denote non-controllable actions in combination with *tseŋ* (cf. the description of the *tseŋ* construction in §8.1.1), as in (1042). Note that in (1041) = daw is not used because the referent is third person, but because the verb $d^{i}dw$ 'to be tired' is noncontrollable: in reported speech with co-reference between the arguments of the main clause and the speech clause the egophoric form = dog would have been used if the verb was controllable.

(1040) é t^hé nè-má=dàw 1sG always DOWN-forget=IPFV:N.EGO

'I always forget.' (EL:W-C44.3)

- (1041) ni = di (...) $n\dot{e} \cdot d^{j}\dot{a}w = d\dot{a}w$ $tc\dot{e} = d\dot{a}w$ LOG = ADD.FOC DOWN-tired = IPFV:N.EGO say = IPFV:N.EGO 'She said that, "(...) she herself gets tired." ' (CV21.326)
- (1042) èmá = bù jåw gà-dzǽ swiku = non $t \hat{a} = J \hat{a} = b \hat{u}$ dzá aunt = TOP again DOWN-location:GEN Ch:fruit = COORD this = PL = TOP eat tséŋ $m\dot{a} = d\hat{a}w$, à-dzǽ tá jędzy = dźpał tá N.CONTR NEG = IPFV:N.EGO this-location:GEN this liquor = DEF only t^hìŋ tsen = daw.drink N.CONTR = IPFV:N.EGO'Aunt (=I) does not eat fruit, but unfortunately only drinks this liquor here.'

(CV02.52.2)
A construction with the egophoric =doy, =du and =dwey or the non-egophoric =daw followed by the verb $tc\ddot{a}$ 'to say' (§8.3.5) where no speech quote is present implies that when an action was taken, an unexpected result happens. This construction will be discussed in §10.4.3. One example is given here:

(1043) sòŋ-çútçà = dòŋtçà khì = bù, bù źj = góŋthree-CLF:timesay = IPFV:EGO:1SGsay time = TOPpǐ = pùnè-şèjfià...belly = underDOWN-go:PFV:N.EGOLINK'As (Bear) was sucking three times, the snake went into his belly and (...)'(TC06.6)

8.3.2.1 Mirativity

In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ = daw can also be used as a mirative (DeLancey 2001) to code information that has just been discovered and is new and has not been integrated into the speaker's knowledge system.³⁵³ Often it carries an overtone of surprise. = daw seems to have this mirative function only when it appears in places where it is not obligatory, as when following the copula (1044), existentials (1045) and (1046), exoceptive (observable state) verbs (1047), and other evidential marking (examples, (1048), (1049) and (1050).

(1044) p^{h} íŋts^hú dzà = dàw

T:Phun.tshogs be = IPFV:N.EGO

'Oh, it's Phintshu!' (one just found out). (TC09.6EL)

(1045) was said when a speaker expected something to be in a certain place, but when looking for it realized that it was not there. If he had known it all along, he would have said *mă têj* instead.

(1045) mǎ = t $\acute{e}j$ = dàw

NEG = EXIST.H = IPFV:N.EGO

'It's not there.' (EL:W-C29.9)

In (1046) the speaker just realized this fact. If she had known it all the time, she would have used the nominalization construction $z\hat{i} = m\partial dz\partial$ instead. If she had phrased it in

³⁵³ The reader is referred to a more recent debate on mirativity which deals with the question whether mirativity should be seen as a separate grammatical category. Arguments against a separate category are raised in Hill 2012; argument for a separate mirative category are given in DeLancey 2012 and Aikhenvald 2012.

a more neutral way, without making explicit whether she had any knowledge about it beforehand or not, she would have used a simple $z\hat{i}$ instead.

(1046) ýjù, pějpéj tédí >-pú zí=dàw
INTJ older.sibling Tadi this-under EXIST.AN=IPFV:N.EGO
'Oh! Older brother Tadi is here, (...)' (YJ02.28)

(1047) could be said when buying shoes with a friend and realizing for the first time how big his feet are. $tc\hat{v}$ is an exoceptive (observable state) verb (§8.2), and does not need to be marked with = daw. If the speaker had known the size of his friend's feet for a long time, he would have used $tc\hat{v} z \check{u}$ instead.

(1047) t¢é zù = dâw be.big very = IPFV:N.EGO

'(They) are really big.' (EL:W-C28.7)

(1048) dz \dot{a} \dot{z} \dot{z}

'I won't be able to eat it.' (CV04.36)

(1049) is said in a discussion about a group of people who moved to a different place some time ago. As a result they now take a different route home. The speaker just realized that.

(1049) tǎ hùsú nề-cə = dàw mà dzà = dàw now Housuo DOWN-go = IPFV:N.EGO GNOMIC = IPFV:N.EGO

'(...) (as a result) they now go down (on the road) to Housuo.' (CV07.54)

(1050) was said when the speaker just found out that the old man's sons were university graduates. This is contrary to expectation, since they came from the backwaters of the Půmǐ area. The words $n \delta p$ 'in that case' and the contrastive topic marker = sp also highlight the surprise the speaker feels upon discovering this.

(1050) $n \check{o} \eta = s \grave{o}$ $m \grave{o} g \acute{e} \eta = g \acute{e}$ $t \check{s} \acute{u} \dots$ ((=. $t \grave{o} d \grave{e}$ $m \grave{o} dz \acute{o} = d \hat{a} w$)). so=contr.top old.man=GEN son =PL capable GNOMIC=IPFV:N.EGO

'In that case, that old man's sons are capable!' (CV07.19.2)

That a non-egophoric imperfective form is used for mirative is not surprising. Imperfective aspect often denotes that an action is happening at the current time. Nonegophoricity implies that a speaker does not have direct access to the knowledge. These two combined render a strong possibility that the knowledge reported on is rather new, and has not been integrated well in a speaker's knowledge system, thus the mirative reading. The attitude marker $k^{h}i$ (<'time', §8.8.1.12, §10.5.1) often follows the mirative use of = daw.

(1051)è = nání má = Jæ mź dzâ, má dz \dot{z} tc \dot{z} = s \dot{z} 1SG = AGTperson = PL:GEN person be person be say = PFV:EGO $k^{h}i = bu$, dàbǔ é $k^{h} \hat{a} - c \hat{a} = s \hat{e} \eta$ $k^{h}i = b\dot{u}$, time = TOP then 1SG OUT-go = PFV:EGOtime = TOP k^hì. tátá dzá = dàw má exactly be=IPFV:N.EGO TRAIL person '(...) when I said, "It is a person, it is a person," then when I went outside, it was exactly a person.' (CV09.36)

8.3.3 Modal (non-)egophoric markers

So far I have discussed the paradigms of perfective egophoric and inferential evidential marking, and egophoric and non-egophoric imperfective marking. It was shown that these paradigms closely interact with the notion of control as present in the verbal semantics, and the category of person, especially 'self-person' and 'other-person'. The egophoric markers were shown to pattern with 'self' in controllable situations; the non-egophoric/evidential markers occur with 'other' in all situations, and with 'self' in non-controllable situations.

The last paradigm to be considered is that of the modal particles which occur in the same slot as the other (non-)egophoric markers. Form-wise, modal egophoric and non-egophoric markers are not clearly related to each other, but conceptually they act the same, differentiating 'self' from 'other' and interacting with the parameter of control. The markers are presented in Table 8.7.

Tuble 0.7 modul (non-)egophorie markers								
EGO SG	EGO PL	EGO INCL	NON-EGO					
=su	=¢in	=gi	=qɛj					

Table 8.7 Modal (non-)egophoric markers

In line with Dīng (1998) these markers are analysed as modal rather than aspectual markers (=su and =cin as (singular and plural) volitives 'want to, will', =gi as an inclusive volitive (or hortative) 'let's, shall' and =qcj as an expectational marker that implies epistemic certainty 'will'). Palmer (2001:104) notes that modal verbs often show a future time reference. It is not surprising therefore that Lù (1983:42-43) analyses them as future tense markers. Fù (1998:104) also views them as a single paradigm of aspectual rather than tense markers, and analyses them as prospective markers. Dīng (1998:210) notes that even though these markers have been recognised

by other linguists as a suppletive paradigm and their semantics interact with person in a way that looks like person-agreement, in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ they should not be analysed as a person-agreement, but rather as volitive, hortative and optative modal clitics, the distinction between the volitive and the optative being that the former indicates control on the part of the speaker, whereas the latter lacks control. In Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ the volitive often occurs with first/second person actors and the optative often with third person actors. Dīng (1998:211) shows that this is not true person-agreement and gives counter-examples that show that control, rather than person-agreement, is in play.³⁵⁴

In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ there is a similar distinction based on control, which I analyse as an egophoric/non-egophoric distinction, similar to the distinction that is present in the inflection of controllable verbs (§8.1.1) and the distinction between the other egophoric and non-egophoric/evidential markers (§8.3.1 and §8.3.2). Thus, the modal egophoric markers pattern with 'self' in controllable situations and the non-egophoric marker patterns with 'other' in all situations and with 'self' in non-controllable situations.

The following examples show how the various egophoric modals interact with the category of person: $=_{S}u$ is used for first person singular statements, as in (1052), and second person singular questions, as in (1053); $=_{G}i$ is used for first person inclusive questions and statements, 355 as in (1054); $=_{G}in$ is used for first person exclusive statements, as in (1055), and second person non-singular questions, as in (1056). The egophoric markers all denote intention on the part of the speaker or addressee to conduct an action, and only appear with controllable verbs.

(1052) é l^jéŋpèj má-má t¢wì=şù.
1sG Ch:two.hundred Ch:size-NMLZ wear=VOL:SG
'I want to wear size two hundred.' (CV01.42)

³⁵⁴ Dīng does not address the egophoricity question and it is not totally clear how these markers pattern in questions versus statements.

³⁵⁵ Dīng (1998:210) analyses =gi as a hortative in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ, and mentions that negation and interrogativity do not co-occur with it. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ both negation ($ig = t\hat{\sigma} = bu t\hat{\sigma} - b\check{a}$ wu $c\hat{\sigma}$ ma = gí [1.INCL = PL = TOP 3-household:GEN interior go NEG = VOL:INCL] '[...] we shall not go to his house [...]' [TC08.33]) and interrogativity, (example [1054]), can co-occur with =gi.

(1053) púqá nìŋ-bá $\dot{v}p\dot{u} = b\dot{l}$ té-ț^hù q^hà-tòŋ shoe 2sg-household:GEN grandfather = DATone-CLF:pair OUT-weave $k\epsilon_j = q_i$, nǐŋ tçwí $\acute{e} = sù?$ let = VOL:INCL2sg wear Q = VOL:SG'Let's have your grandfather weave (you) a pair (of straw shoes), will you wear them?' (CV01.24) (1054) tă $c\hat{a} = q\hat{a}$ now go Q = VOL:INCLL: 'Shall we go now?' (CV21.288) mâ? ájòn, INTJ what B: 'Oh, what?' (CV21.289) tǎ $c\hat{a} = q\hat{1}$ bă, mǽ ťżà tc = daw.now go = VOL:INCL SPEC what REP sav = IPFV:N.EGOL: 'Let's go now, alright? What are you 'whatting' about?' (CV21.290) $(1055) n \delta \eta = d i$ ŀźdú pù = cìn tçà q^hù $\dot{v} = dz \check{e} n$ mà. friend do=VOL:PL say need INFO so = DISJ.TOP1:EXCL = DU'In that case (you) need to say, the two of us will be friends (...)' (CV07.41.2)

(1056) jàžjù pú tú dz
á é = çìŋ?
Ch:potato roast eat Q = VOL:PL

'Do (you pl) want to eat potatoes?' (CV14.154)

Egophoric forms are also used in reported speech or thought where the actor referent of the main clause is co-referential with the actor referent in the speech or thought clause. An example is given with $=_{S}u$ in (1057) and $=_{C}i\eta$ in (1058):

(1057) ní yùgí $c\hat{\vartheta} = s\hat{\vartheta}$ cì fià jăw tsákísádz $\hat{\imath} = t\hat{\imath} = l\hat{a}$ LOG pine.torch go = VOL:SG think LINK again pork.back.limb = INDF = also n $\hat{\imath}$ -d $z\hat{a}$ = d \hat{a} w, h \hat{a} ...! DOWN-add = IPFV:N.EGO INTJ

'Because he himself (=Bajin) is thinking of going to collect pine torches, (he) adds in the pork back slice and limbs (custom), hahaha!' (CV18.59)

(1058) $ni = t \partial j dw$ $c \partial m d = c i \eta$ t c d w. LOG = PL again go NEG = VOL:PL say:IPFV:N.EGO

'(...) (they) said that they themselves would not go.' (CV11.51)

Egophoric forms are also used with third person used to refer to the speaker. In (1059) the speaker refers to herself as grandmother, and in (1060) the speaker poses as a god and thus refers to himself in the third person. In both cases first person egophoric marking is used.

(1059) téj kèj, téj kèj, édⁱæ $J\dot{u} = s\check{u}$. EXIST.H let EXIST.H let grandmother dust = VOL:SG 'Let it be, let it be, grandmother (=I) will dust it.' (CV13.139) (1060) é dàbǔ hí dîŋ, púnà=bù hí=góŋ dèıčj $q^{h} \hat{a} - t \hat{o} \eta = s \hat{u}$ 1sG then god be:EGO1 today = TOP god = AGT speech OUT-speak = VOL:SG

'I am god, today god wants to speak' (TC08.11)

The use of egophoric forms with co-referentiality, as in (1057) and (1058), and with third person forms that refer to the speaker, as in (1059) and (1060), also happens in verb inflection of controllable verbs (§8.1.1): the egophoric markers show a similar distribution to the non-inflected (egophoric) form of a verb based on the pragmatics of 'self' versus 'other'. Thus I agree with Dīng's analysis of the distinction based on control rather than person-agreement,³⁵⁶ but in line with Lù (1983) and Fù (1998) I also recognise the markers as a (suppletive) paradigm. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ this paradigm shows agreement based on 'self' versus 'other'.

The non-egophoric expectational marker =qej is used in situations that cannot be controlled by the speaker: in 'other-person' sentences (third person statements and questions, second person statements and first person questions) and with 'self-person' when a non-controllable verb is present. =qej is an inferential marker of sorts, since speakers base their understanding about a future situation on their knowledge or evidence now. The extent of the future reference is not specified; prospective aspect is expressed by the combination *qei daw* (§8.7). Since it refers to a situation that has not taken place yet, one could argue that it is not really an evidential, but rather an epistemicity certainty marker (cf. §8.4). When used, the speaker is fairly certain about the truth of the proposition. (1061), (1062) and (1063) are examples of 'other-person' clauses; (1064) and (1065) are examples of 'self-person' clauses with non-controllable verbs.

³⁵⁶ Actually, Fù (1998:78) recognizes the importance of the control parameter in Dàyáng Pǔmǐ: she notes when the subject of a clause is a person and the verb is non-controllable, only the markers that are analysed as evidential in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ (Fù mentions $-si^{31}$ and $-qa^{31}$ for Dàyáng) occur.

(1061) t \dot{a} = t \dot{u} = l \dot{a} $dz \hat{z} = b \hat{u}$ t¢^hwí $\dot{\mathbf{e}} = \mathbf{q} \dot{\mathbf{e}} \mathbf{j}$? this = on = also society = TOP good Q = EXPTN: '(...) will there be a better society than this?' (CV03.12) $tc^hwi = q\hat{\epsilon}j.$ good = EXPTP: '(There) will be (a) better (one).' (CV03.13) (1062) tá má = Jòŋ $s\dot{e} = q\dot{\epsilon}j$ ŀěj, dzín^jâ, tá màgéŋ 3SG person = PL:AGThit = EXPTDISS really this old.man má = Jòŋ $s\dot{e} = q\hat{e}j$. person = PL:AGT hit = EXPT 'He will be hit by other people, really, this old man will be beaten by other people!' (CV14.221) (1063) té Jěsàwæn = tí $c\dot{e} = j \dot{o} \eta$ $p\hat{\mathbf{u}} = q\hat{\mathbf{z}}\mathbf{j},$ false do = EXPT Ch:two.hundred.thousand = INDF Chinese = PL:AGT nin = bizě=wù nź tí swá tçè kľ $e' = q \epsilon j?$ 2SG = DAT thus one hand = in IDEO say give Q = EXPT'He will be lying, will a Hàn put two hundred thousand in your hand like this 'shwa!'?' (CV07.88) (1064) tèt^hǒŋ é $n\dot{e}$ -gw \dot{e} = q \dot{e} j hǎw after.a.while 1SG DOWN-drunk = EXPT WARN 'After a while I will get drunk (I'm warning you!), (...)' (CV21.78)

(1065) \acute{e} \acute{a} -pù n \grave{e} -q \acute{a} j

1SG that-under DOWN-fall.down = EXPT

'(...) I will fall down there.' (CV09.93.2)

The notion of control is the basic driving factor in the interaction between verbs and egophoric and non-egophoric particles. Basically, if a verb is non-controllable, it only occurs with non-egophoric marking, unless control is adjusted by the *p*# construction (§8.1.1) and egophoric particles can be used. This can be seen in (1066) and (1067), where the express intention of the speaker is in focus, and the verb *p*# 'to do' is used to add control, so that the intention can be expressed by the egophoric particles =su and =gi. The verbs $d\tilde{a}$ 'to drop' and $s\tilde{a}$ 'to die' are non-controllable verbs and normally co-occur with =qej, as in (1068).

(1066) é \acute{a} -pùnè-dápùnè-sàpú = sú1SGthat-underDOWN-dropdoDOWN-diedo = VOL:SG

'(...) I will drop myself and make myself die under there.' (TC04.30)

(1067) $in = dz \neq n$ m $\dot{a} = n \dot{o} n$ ts $\dot{u} = n \dot{o} n$ d $\dot{o} n$ s \dot{a} n $\dot{e} - p\dot{u} = g \dot{a}$ 1:INCL = DU mother = COORD son = COORD together die DOWN-do = VOL:INCL

'(...) let the two of us die together, mother and son (...)' (PC06w.3)

(1068) $z \dot{v} m i = b \dot{u}$ $\dot{\eta} - b \dot{u} - s \dot{v} \eta$ $\dot{\partial} - p \dot{u}$ $n \dot{v} - s \dot{\partial} = q \hat{\epsilon} j$

tonight = TOP 1:INCL-household-PART this-under DOWN-die = EXPT

'(...) Tonight the three of us will die here (...)' (YJ01.25)

Additionally, when controllable verbs are adjusted by the *tseŋ* construction (§8.1.1) to represent a non-controllable situation, $=q\epsilon j$ is used with 'self-person', as in (1069). $dz \check{\sigma}$ 'to eat' is normally a controllable verb.

(1069) tàçá à-wú k^{hj}à-dzô, t¢^hípǽ dà-tchǐ k^{hj}à-dzô, té-t¢^hwì now this-in OUT:Q-eat one-CLF:meal very.well TO.SP-feed OUT:Q-eat tì= Jǽ wíi té-kù = là dzá tsén $m\dot{a} = q\hat{\epsilon}j.$ interior one-CLF:mouthful = also other = PL:GEN eat N.CONTR NEG = EXPT '(...) if (I) eat here now, if (I) eat one meal of good food, (I) won't even eat one mouthful of food at other's.' (CV21.273.4)

When verbs are modified by modal auxiliaries (§7.9) which also imply a form of noncontrol, the evidential marker $= q\epsilon j$ is used even with 'self-person' sentences:

(1070) nǐŋ $\acute{9}$ -wùt^hè-cǐt^hè-tàkú \acute{e} = qèj?2SGthat-underFR.SP-leadFR.SP-arrivecan:EGO:2SGQ = EXPT

'(...) Will you be able to lead (me) there?' (TC07.25)

(1071) sẽ tça = q \hat{c} j

hit can:EGO:1 = EXPT

'I'm able to kill (it)' (TC02.50)

(1072) ìŋ = dzéŋ jǎw (ìŋ = dzéŋ) tè-dzú dzù lòcí mà = qêj
1:INCL = DU again (1:INCL = DU) one-CLF:time make can NEG = EXPT
'(...) the two of us won't be able to fix it this time (...)' (CV04.45)

 $= q\varepsilon j$ is also used for irrealis situations, as in (1073) and (1074):

'If we had books in the past (to write down the history), (we) would know where (we) were (before).' (CV25.37)

(1074) jìpắŋ ts^hèŋsð=wù $\acute{v}=dz$ ð=bù, sắŋ-nìŋt¢ì swéŋ=qźj bàw. Ch:in.general Ch:city=in Q=be=TOP Ch:third-grade study=EXPT CONTR

'In general, if this was in the city, (he) would be in third grade.' (CV12.19)

Thus, to summarize: the egophoric =su, =cin and =gi are never used in noncontrollable situations. In controllable situations, they are only used with 'self-person'. The non-egophoric =qej is used in controllable situations only with 'other-person' and in non-controllable situations with both 'self-person' and 'other-person'. This is similar to the other egophoric and non-egophoric particles: the perfective and imperfective egophoric markers =seg, =dog, =du and =dweg are never used in non-controllable situations, but occur only with 'self-person' in controllable situations. The inferential evidential and the non-egophoric imperfective markers =si and =daw are used in non-controllable situations, and only with 'other-person' in controllable situations. The only exception is the second person singular question in a controllable situation where =si is also used (cf. example (1014) in §8.3.1).

For the modal markers, there are two exceptions to the general patterning of 'self' and 'other'. The first exception is that conditional clauses with second person also take egophoric marking:

- (1075) nǒŋ nǐŋ t^hứ k^hǐŋ ứ=şù=bù nǒŋ ứ cì=şú
 so 2sG all.the.time give Q=VOL:SG=TOP so 1sG lead=VOL:SG
 '(...) If you keep insisting that you'll give (her to me in marriage), I will take her (...)' (TC08.27)
- (1076) nìŋ-bú hòŋ-q^hú è-cò k^hí lěj $\acute{e} = cìŋ = bù$. 2SG-household in-on IN-go time seed Q = VOL:PL = TOP

'(...) if your household wants to sow them when you go up there (= move to the new house).' (CV14.82)

This can be explained in terms of structure: conditional clauses have the same structure as questions (§7.3; §10.4.1), and second person questions always function as egophoric environments. If the subject of the conditional clause in (1075) had been either first person or third person, =qej would have been used.

The second exception is that a few times a first person question is also formulated with the egophoric $=_{SU}$. This implies the intention of the speaker, who is intending to take an action, but needs permission to do it.

(1077) ∂ -pú dzóŋ $\acute{e} = s$ ù? this-under sit Q = VOL:SG 'Shall (I) sit here?' (CV02.9) (1078) \acute{e} ∂ -dz \acute{e} t ∂ = g \check{e} bì t c^{h} àwt c^{h} àw = sù? 1SG this-location:GEN this = GEN side rub = VOL:SG

'(...) shall I wipe it one the side of this one?' (CV20.116)

This can be explained in terms of pragmatics. Examples (1077) and (1078) imply that the speakers, even though asking a question, have control over the action, since they are fully intending to conduct the action. If $=q\epsilon j$ had been used instead, the speakers would have implied that they had no control over their actions; thus, the pragmatic notion of control (even though usually patterning with speech-act participants) is more important than a rigid grammaticalised 'self' versus 'other' agreement pattern.

8.3.4 Auditory evidential = tiŋ

Apart from the evidential =si and the non-egophoric markers = qaw and = qej, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ also has an auditory evidential =tig. This evidential does not occur with any other evidentials except for the quotative particle and the reported (hearsay) evidential (§8.3.5), as in (1079) and (1082). The auditory evidential is used when a speaker bases his knowledge of a situation on what he hears, rather than sees or infers. The auditory stimuli can either be the sounds of someone's actions or overhearing somebody speaking. It is not used for other non-visual perception (such as smell, taste or touch). An auditory evidential has also been mentioned for Pǔmǐ by Huáng Bùfán (1991:28)³⁵⁷ and for the Xiǎngshuǐhé speech variety (Jo Chan, p.c.). It has not been attested for other speech varieties. Taking into account the setup of the village, it is not surprising that such an evidential has evolved in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ: houses are built closely together and conversations that take place outside or quarrels in neighbouring households can be easily overheard inside, and thus a major part of knowledge derives from an auditory source.

³⁵⁷ Huáng does not specify which variety of Pǔmǐ. She makes a distinction between visual evidence (two types: one unmarked for the process modality 过程情态, and one marked with – si^{31} for the result modality 结果情态), inferential evidence (marked with - ci^{31}) and auditory evidence (marked with - $s\tilde{c}^{31}$).

A few examples from the corpus are given in (1079), (1080) and (1081). In the Deluge story, the only mortal left on earth is eating food inside a house when he hears the family of immortals coming home, and so he hides under the raised platform:

(1079) $q^{h}\partial dz \partial k^{h}i = b\dot{u}$ $d\partial b\check{u}$ $m\dot{\partial} d\dot{\partial} b$ $tc^{h}\dot{\partial} \eta = t\dot{\eta}$ $tc\dot{\partial} w$ OUT-eat time = TOP then person = PL come: PFV: N.EGO = AUD HSY

'(...) after (he) had eaten, (he) heard people coming, it is said.' (TC02.33)

In (1080) the speaker comments on the researcher who is talking on the phone just outside the house. The speaker and addressees are all inside the house with the door closed, and auditory evidence is the only evidence they have for the statement. The same is true for (1081) and (1082).

- (1080) èmá-lì dèųèj tóŋ zù pá = tìŋ
 aunt-DIM speech speak very do:PFV:N.EGO = AUD
 'Young aunt is talking a lot, I hear; (...)' (CV13.137.3)
- (1081) wútçí $J = n^{j} = n^{j} = i n$ bàw, fiàw, hòŋ-dzí Ch:Wujin first=just go:PFV.N.EGO=AUD CONTR INTJ in-location $tc^{h} \partial \eta^{l} \partial \eta = c \eta t c h a s = i n.$ wait=VOL:PL say LINK go:PFV.N.EGO=AUD '(,) (I) heard Wujin leave first and heard (her) say "We will wait up
 - '(...) (I) heard Wujin leave first, and heard (her) say, "We will wait up the valley," and leave.' (CV02.86)

The difference between $t\varphi = ti\eta$ (with the auditory evidential), as exemplified in (1082), and $t\varphi = daw$ (with the non-egophoric imperfective marker), as in (1041) above, is that in the case of $t\varphi = ti\eta$ no visual access to the information is involved. The speaker obtained her information solely through auditory means, whereas in the case of $t\varphi = daw$, the speaker is also visually aware of the referent talking.

(1082) k^{h} ù-nú "wû" tc = t nout-outside INTJ say = AUD

'(...) (I) heard (somebody) say 'Wu!' outside, (...)' (CV09.32.2)

The natural corpus does not shed light on the origin of the marker. In the corpus it only appears at the end of a clause as an evidential marker, and one occurrence shows its appearance in a nominalization construction (§8.6.2), as in (1083). It is not related to the normal verb 'to hear' $m\check{\partial}$.

(1083) t^hè-, wáw tçô, nó pú zù pá = tìŋ mò tìŋ fià
FR.SP-buy:IMP:SG say thus do very do:PFV:N.EGO = AUD NMLZ.CONSTR
'(I) continuously heard (you) tell (him) to buy (that).' (CV15.23)

Elicited examples, however, point to an existential verbal origin. Even though = tig cannot take directional prefixes, it can be preceded by an interrogative marker, or a negation marker, as in (1084) where it is the only verbal element in the clause.

(1084) má mǎ = tîŋ person NEG = EXIST.AUD 'There is no person.' (auditory evidence) (EL)

It occupies the same slot as the existential, as in (1085) and (1086). In (1085) the normal animate existential verb $z\hat{i}$ (§7.6) is used and there is no evidential marking. This means that the speaker has direct visual evidence of the situation. The existential verb $z\hat{i}$ is replaced by the aural evidential *tin* in (1086), where the speaker of the utterance heard the chicken in the pen, but did not actually see it. The two can also co-occur, as in (1087). The difference between (1086) and (1087) is not clear. Thus, the auditory evidential marker can still occur as an existential verb, but its verbal use seems to have almost disappeared.

(1085) $tc^hw\dot{e}$ -tóŋ = pù $t\dot{u}$ = tì zìpig-pen = under chicken = INDF EXIST.AN

'There is a chicken in the pig pen.' (visual evidence) (EL:S11.9.14)

(1086) $tc^h w \dot{v} t \dot{o} \eta = p \dot{u}$ $t \dot{u} = t \dot{u} = t \dot{\eta}$ pig-pen = under chicken = INDF = AUD

'There is a chicken in the pig pen.' (auditory evidence) (EL:S11.9.14)

(1087) $tc^hw \dot{e}t \dot{o}\eta = p \dot{u}$ $t \dot{u} = t \dot{i}$ $z \dot{i} = t \dot{i}\eta$ pig-pen = under chicken = INDF EXIST.AN = AUD

'There is a chicken in the pig pen.' (auditory evidence) (EL:S11.9.14)

8.3.5 Quotative and reported evidential (hearsay)

The quotative particle and the reported evidential derive from a single verbal origin: they are grammaticalisations from the verb $t\phi\dot{\sigma}$ 'to say' and have undergone phonological reduction in that they have become toneless. The verb 'to say' can still be used as a main verb in a clause, as in (1088).

(1088) d\u00f6b\u00ed t^h\u00fcll = b\u00fc t\u00cc\u00ed kw\u00ed j = s\u00fc then hare = DAT say let:PFV:N.EGO = INF 'Then (they) let Hare speak (...)' (TC04.6)

The quotative particle appears directly after a speech quote and functions as a quotation marker or complementizer rather than a main verb in that position. This is

clear in the following example where the quotation marker is followed by the main verb $d\dot{u}$ 'to call out'.

(1089) "(...) tçìŋ-tá gú fià l^jéj l^jéj" tçà dú=sí
child-skin wear INTJ say call=INF
'(...) (he) called out, "(...) wear child skin *nanana*!" (TC04.20)

The quotative also follows onomatopoeic ideophones (§9.2), as in (1090). The phrase has an adverbial sense, but unlike other adverbial modifiers (§7.10.1), it does not require the verb p# 'to do' as adverbial marker.

(1090) "jílúwèlú," tçə $\dot{2}$ -pù $_{l}\dot{2}\dot{2}p\dot{u} = p\dot{u}$ $n\dot{e}$ -dw $\hat{i} = s\hat{i}$ IDEO say that-under cliff = under DOWN-throw:PFV:N.EGO = INF

```
(Hare) (...) threw (him) 'rumble-tumble' down under the cliff, (...)' (TC06.34)
```

In addition, it can follow proper names, place names, or names of (cultural) concepts or objects that might not be known to the addressee:

(1091) tồ-pùqá có-tó-pùqà tcò fià nó-mó púqá tế-t^hù skin-shoe muntjac-skin-shoe say LINK thus-NMLZ shoe one-CLF:pair dò-k^hwěŋ mó dzô. TO.SP-give:PFV:N.EGO GNOMIC

'(My family) gave me a pair of leather shoes like this, so-called 'muntjac skin shoes'.' (TC10.24)

The quotative has lost most of its verbal properties: it cannot be preceded by negation or interrogation, and cannot take a directional prefix. It always forms one tone group with the final tone-bearing element of the preceding quote. However, it has retained some of its verbal properties in that it can still be followed by the (non-) egophoric markers, and inflect for perfective aspect, and in many cases it still functions as the verb of the main clause, as in (1092).

(1092) "(...) \acute{e} mà = dìŋ," tçwà = sì 1SG NEG = be:EGO:1 say:PFV:N.EGO = INF

'(Hare) said, "(...) I am not the one." ' (TC06.23)

The quotative can mark direct as well as indirect speech. The only distinction between direct and indirect (or rather semi-direct) speech is the use of pronouns; the verb endings of the reported quote are always the same as the original quote and reflect the deictic perspective of the original speaker. This includes the evidential marking the original speaker used (Sūn (1993:983) reports the same for Amdo Tibetan). With direct speech, the pronouns of the original speech clause are retained, but with indirect

speech, the pronouns reflect the viewpoint of the current speaker.³⁵⁸ When the embedded speech clause has the same third person referent as the main clause, the reflexive/logophoric pronoun $n\hat{i}$ (§4.2.1) is used to mark co-referentiality. However, there is not always a clear distinction between direct and indirect speech and speakers often switch in the middle of a quotation, i.e. the pronouns change but not the other marking. Since nominal arguments are often left out, the status of a quotation is often ambiguous.³⁵⁹ Examples are given for direct speech in (1093), semi-direct speech with co-referentiality in (1094), and a switch between direct and indirect speech in (1095). It was discussed above (§8.1.1, §8.3.1, §8.3.2, §8.3.3) how verb inflection and evidential marking functions in speech quotations.

(1093) d\u00f6b\u00fc, "n\u00edny k\u00ed c\u00ed = d\u00fc, "t\u00ec\u00ed k^h\u00ed = b\u00ed, "\u00ec d\u00ed b\u00ed \u00ed k^h\u00ed = b\u00ed, "\u00ec d\u00ed k^h\u00ed = b\u00ed, "\u00ec d\u00ed k^h\u00ed = b\u00ed. (1093) d\u00ed b\u00ed, "n\u00ed y k\u00ed = b\u00ed, "\u00ec d\u00ed k^h\u00ed = b\u00ed, "\u00ec d\u00ed k^h\u00ed = b\u00ed, "\u00ec d\u00ed k^h\u00ed = b\u00ed. (1093) d\u00ed b\u00ed, "n\u00ed y k\u00ed = b\u00ed, "\u00ec d\u00ed k^h\u00ed = b\u00ed, "\u00ec d\u00ed k^h\u00ed = b\u00ed, "\u00ec d\u00ed k^h\u00ed = b\u00ed. seek go = IPFV:EGO:1SG say time = TOP

'(...) when (Damasongtsa) said, "Where are you going?" (Likisa) answered, "I am going to seek a hero." ' (CV13.100.1)

(1094) ní = $_{J}$ \hat{a} = dì Jànæn-má tà zóŋ wéŋ tcà fià. LOG = PL = ADD.FOC smelly-NMLZ only delicious CUST.EXCL say LINK '(...) and (they) said that they only liked smelly (meat).' (CV09.149) (1095) "hǎw, nǒŋ dé=dâw," $p\hat{u}s\acute{e}\eta = n\grave{o}\eta$ ní INTJ LOG today.morning = only so be = IPFV:N.EGO zǎzà-bà $k^{h} \hat{a} - z \hat{a} = s \hat{e} \eta$ wù $tc \hat{a} = d \hat{a} w.$ Zjaezjae-household:GEN interior OUT-come = PFV:EGO say = IPFV:N.EGO '(...) (he) said, "Right, in that case you are," and that he himself had come from the Zjaezjae household only that morning.' (CV07.73.4)

³⁵⁸ Tournadre (2008: 300) notes: "The fact that traces of the original speaker's deictic systems are found in the reported speech is not surprising from a typological point of view: "Indirect speech lies half way [...], between direct speech, which ignores the actual speaker's deictic system, and main clauses [...] which wholly use the system of the speaker". (Palmer, 1986: 164)."

³⁵⁹ Tournadre (2008:300) talks about 'hybrid reported speech' for quotative constructions where the initial pronoun is dropped.

Evidential hearsay marking³⁶⁰ appears clause-finally and consists of the fixed form tc = daw: a grammaticalisation of $tc \neq$ 'to say' in combination with the current evidential = daw (§8.3.2), as in (1096). The two markers have undergone even more phonological reduction in that they are often merged into the hearsay marker tcaw, that can always still be replaced with tc = daw, as in (1097).

(1096) ìŋ-bú tçế = gà dzà tçà = dàw.
1:INCL-household big = DEF be say = IPFV:N.EGO
'It is said that our household is the older one (= the older sons descendants).'
(CV25.17)

(1097)ìŋ-bú = bù,tộ khíkỳmó dzàtộ kử.1:INCL-household = TOPfront-timecapableGNOMICHSY

'It is said that in the past our household was very capable.' (CV25.36)

tçaw is in the process of becoming one marker conceptually. This can be seen in the nominalization structure that only reduplicates the last syllable of a predicate (§8.6.2). This structure sometimes reduplicates only = daw, as in (1098), but sometimes reduplicates *tçaw* as a whole, as in (1099).

(1098)) ní	mà=dzź	k ^h émíŋ	nè-p ù	kwèj
	LOG	NEG = be	not.possible	down-do	let:PFV:N.EGO
	tçàw	τ	mà dàw hà.		
say:IPFV:N.EGO '() and (he) s		PFV:N.EGO	NMLZ.CONSTR		
		aid that (they)	caused him	to have no choice but to eat it.'	
	(CV()9.150)			

(1099) mðdælí = góŋnì tá ně-dù pá tçàw mð tçàw hà. girl = AGT first DOWN-poison do:PFV.N.EGO HSY NMLZ.CONSTR '(...) it is said that the girl was poisoned first.' (CV09.160)

In certain cases of reported indirect speech, there is structural ambiguity between the evidential hearsay marker $t\varphi = daw \sim t\varphi aw$ 'it is said that' and the quotative $t\varphi a$ in combination with the current evidential = daw 'he said that'. This is to be expected, since (in)direct quotation and reported speech form a continuum with first-hand evidence of the speech and a specific source of information on the one hand, to nth-hand gossip and no specific source of information on the other hand (Wǎdū Pǔmǐ does

³⁶⁰ Reported evidentials are also used in the local dialect of Chinese. An example I observed in the speech of my main consultant: 他说以后他可以教表弟说 tā shuō yǐhòu tā kěyǐ jiào biǎodì <u>shuō</u> 'It is said that he said that he can teach younger cousin in the future'. This is a calque from Pǔmǐ which has been adopted by the local Hàn Chinese as well.

not mark all the individual steps the speaker is removed from the original source, but it does show some layering, illustrated below). A structurally ambiguous example is given in (1100). In cases of structural ambiguity, the context normally clarifies which reading should be taken; in this case the speaker is referring to a specific person.

(1100) $p^h \check{v}$ mǎ = wèŋ tçàw, $\grave{\partial} -q^h \acute{u} = b\acute{u}$ z $\grave{\partial} tséŋ$ pour NEG = CUST.EXCL say:IPFV:N.EGO this-on = TOP mountain.god máŋtsí mǎ = wèŋ tçàw. mention NEG = CUST.EXCL say:IPFV:N.EGO

'(He) said that libraion is not normally poured out, the mountain god is not normally mentioned here.' (CV23.5)

Structural ambiguity only occurs when the basic form $t\varphi \partial$ of the quotative is followed by the imperfective marker = daw, and not when it has the non-egophoric form $t\varphi w \partial$, or is followed by any other (non-)egophoric markers or the clause linker *ha*.

The quotative and evidential hearsay marker can co-occur, with the evidential hearsay marker following quotative, as in (1101). Sūn (1993:986) reports on a similar 'duplex quotative construction' in Amdo Tibetan. Wǎdū Pǔmǐ is interesting in that the quotative and the evidential hearsay marker derive from the same source, i.e. both from the verb $tç \check{\sigma}$ 'to say'. Examples (1101) to (1104) are good examples of layering.

(1101) $c\check{e}n = w\dot{u}$ t $\grave{e} = J\dot{e}$ z $\grave{o}n$ t $c\grave{e} = d\grave{u}w$ t $c\grave{a}w$. Ch:county = in this = PL:GEN be:EGO:1SG say = IPFV:N.EGO HSY

'(...) it is said that (Old He Khuzu) said that he is in the county seat and surroundings.' (CV02.94.2)

When the two co-occur, the evidential hearsay marker will always have the form *tçaw*, as in (1102), and never tco = daw. Occasionally even the combination of quotative and imperfective marker will merge to *tçaw*, due to fast speech, as in (1103).

(1102) sòŋ-tsá = gà	wèwà=séŋ	t¢ə = dàw	tçàw.
three-CLF:person = DEF	discuss = PFV:EGO	say = IPFV:N.EGO	say:IPFV:N.EGO
'() the three people di (PC08w.7)	scussed it on the roa	d (Drema said that	they told her).'

(1103) èmá láts^hú ś-wù cà=dòŋ tcàw tcàw
aunt T:lHa.mtsho that-in go=IPFV:EGO:1SG say:IPFV:N.EGO HSY
'Aunt Lhatshu is said to have said to go in that (tricycle), (...)' (CV02.80)

Three layers of reported speech (one quotative and two evidential hearsay markers) are the most that have come up in the data. My main consultant commented on (1104) that it marked the story as passed down from a long time ago.

(1104) pédí = bì	dàbǔ	ná	tçwə́ = sì	tçàw	tçàw
toad = DAT	then	thus	say:PFV:N.EGO = INF	HSY	HSY
'() (he) sa	id this t	to the to	ad, it is said, it is said	1. ()'	(TC09.29)

The construction $t\varphi w = si t\varphi aw$ (with the non-egophoric form of the quotative and the inferential evidential marker) seems to be used only in traditional narratives and implies the passing down of a story through many speakers. In conversations normally $t\varphi = daw t\varphi aw$ is used, which implies only a limited amount of layers of speakers (at least two, but not limited to two).

In a chain of closely associated clauses in narratives, reported evidentials are not always used after every clause, but tend to be used at the end of the chain. A similar 'tendency for evidentials to linger in pragmatic space' was noted in Yǒngníng Na (Lidz 2010:477). This sporadic use of hearsay evidential marking will be shown to have an important discourse function, in that it tends to mark the end of a chain of clauses that ends in a new development in the narrative. The use of the reported evidential gives prominence to this new development in the story (§10.9.5).

Evidential hearsay markers are also used to indicate that speakers distance themselves from the making any truth-claim about what they are reporting. In (1105) the speaker uses tcaw almost like an interjection, inserting it in several parts of the sentence, since the man who told her the information was rather a talker who might not be too truthful.

(1105) dèbů tá çè = jóŋní ní-bà wù gá-nòŋ nine-CLF:day then this Han = PL:AGT LOG-household:GEN interior tcaw = nontí dzóŋ $k^{h}i = bù$, ní-bà ná mín tçàu HSY = COORD thus one sit time = TOP LOG-household:GEN what HSY t¢^hwǎ ťón $tc \hat{a} = daw = n \delta \eta$ tçàw = là q^hà-dzá nòŋ one:CLF:thing say = IPFV:N.EGO = COORD pig two HSY = also OUT-eatnè-tshá $c \hat{a} k^{h} \hat{i} = b \hat{u}$ $n(b\hat{u} = b)$ pâ, DOWN-be, finished do: PFV:N.EGO go time = top LOG-household = DAT dà-k^hwèŋ $\eta w \acute{e} - \imath \acute{e} \imath = n \grave{o} \eta$ ná tí tà tcá hà five-CLF:hundred = COORD thus one only TO.SP-give:PFV:N.EGO say LINK nź t¢á = dàw mà dà. thus say = IPFV:N.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR

'(...) then when these Han stayed for nine days, it is said, or something like that in his house, (they) finished eating his family's one or even two pigs, it is said; when (they) left, they gave his family only five hundred (yuan) or so, (he) told (us) that.' (CV07.67.1) Dreams are expressed as reported evidentials, as in (1106), where someone reports that he was a king in his dreams. Note that the non-egophoric form of the copula $dz\hat{\sigma}$ 'to be' is used.

(1106) é póŋ dzó tç∂=dàw
1SG T:official be say=IPFV:N.EGO
'I am a king.' (EL:W-C29.8)

8.3.6 Reported thought marker *ci*

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ makes use of separate quotative marker to express reported thought. This marker φi is also of verbal origin, and derives from the verb φi to think, wonder, realize'. When functioning as a quotative, this verb has lost some of its verbal properties: it appears in the same tone group as the last tone-bearing element of the quote, and it does not take a directional prefix, but it has still retained the potential to inflect: it can be followed by (non-)egophoric and evidential markers, like the egophoric =*seg* in (1107), and it shows a non-egophoric inflected form φwi that is used in 'other-person' sentences. This inflected form is however not always used (it is only attested three times in the corpus), and it might be that φi is becoming more grammaticalised and is losing its ability to inflect. In (1108) both the non-inflected form as well as the inflected form are used:

 $(1107) \acute{e} = tc\acute{a}m\grave{a}$ míŋ dzà lⁱÈj ci = senwhat be RHET think = PFV:EGO 1SG = TOP'I wondered what that could be?' (CV16.43) (1108) jèhǎ q^hà iåw tá = tù héhà, héhà $k^{h}i\eta = q\dot{\epsilon}j$ all EXALT again this = on excessive excessive give = EXPT qétìŋ-màn k^{h} ìŋ k^{h} ì = bù, ci = daw, jǎw şà tú think = IPFV:N.EGO ten-yuan give time = TOP again Ch:ten Ch:more $k^h w \epsilon j = n \delta \eta$ k^{h} í $\eta = q \epsilon j$ $k^{h}i = bu$. ná çwì Ch:kuai = COORD thus give = EXPT think: PFV: N.EGO time = TOP 'They all thought that (the price) would go up and (the people buying the

pigs) would give more, when they gave ten yuan (per pound). They thought that they would give more than ten kuai (a pound), but (after that it did not go up).' (CV14.58.3)

Like verbs of speech, ci can take a clausal complement, as in (1109). Its most common occurrence however is with a reported thought complement, both direct reported thought as in (1110) and indirect reported thought as in (1111). In traditional narratives, as in (1110), the use of reported thought makes the narrative more vivid.

(1109) dèbů m $\hat{a} = J\hat{a}$ $p\hat{u}d\hat{m}a = b\hat{u}$ dzíŋ çî true think then person = PL:GEN old.woman = TOP 'Then that old woman thought (it) was true (...)' (TC08.12) (1110) "jèhǎ tá-cà kèj = bù dǒŋ $m\dot{a} = q\dot{\epsilon}j$ ásèŋ," çì. all let = TOP be.okay UP-go NEG = EXPTAGR think ' "To let them all go by will not be okay, right?" (he) thought.' (TC02.62) ÇÌ (1111) ní Jùgí $c \hat{a} = s \hat{u}$ ĥà jåw think LINK LOG pine.torch go = VOL:SGagain $n\dot{v}-dz\dot{a}=d\hat{a}w,$ $ts \dot{a} k \dot{s} \dot{a} dz \dot{a} = t \dot{a} = l \dot{a}$ há...!

pork.back.limb = INDF = also DOWN-add = IPFV:N.EGO INTJ

'Because he himself (=Bajin) is thinking of going to collect pine torches, (he) adds in the pork back slice and limbs (custom), hahaha!' (CV18.59)

In terms of evidentiality, reported thought is interesting. Unlike reported speech, a speaker does not have direct access to other people's thoughts, and evidence based on reported thought has to be taken as a certain kind of inferential, like deriving a person's intention from what he just said before. This is the case in (1111) where the person referred to just stated that the custom is to carry the pork-back-slice-and-limbs when going to collect pine torches. This is not really the custom (the original speaker just made it up), and so the other people infer from that statement that he himself is planning to go pine torch collecting. This inference is cast in the structure of an indirect thought complement.

One can also derive inferential clues from a person's appearance, as in (1112) where the situation of a girl who almost cried is presented as an embedded thought clause $qw \epsilon j = su$ (I) want to cry', so the sentence has the structure literally 'She thinks 'I want to cry' '.

(1112) $[qw \epsilon j = s u]$ $\epsilon i = d a w$ $k^{h} i$ cry = VOL:SG think = IPFV:N.EGO TRAIL '(She) almost cried.' (CV09.63.2)

8.3.7 Co-occurrence of evidentials

This section will discuss how the different evidentials and evidential strategies are combined to convey different layers of evidence. In Table 8.8 the possible co-occurrence of different evidentials is given. Every layer is followed by a closing square bracket. Column #1 shows the utterance of the original speaker A with the type of evidence A has for this utterance. The adjoining column gives the meaning of the utterance. Column #2 shows the utterance of the original speaker A as reported by the

current speaker B, who heard it personally from A. Column #3 shows the utterance of the original speaker A as reported by the current speaker B who overheard A saying it to someone else. Column #4 shows the utterance of the original speaker A as reported by the current speaker C, who heard it personally from B, who heard it personally from A. Column #5 shows the utterance of the original speaker A as reported by the current speaker C, who heard it personally from B, who heard it personally from S peaker C, who heard it personally from B, who overheard A saying it to someone else. Column #6 shows the original utterance as it is handed down through the mouths of many people. This is generally only used in traditional narratives.³⁶¹ Column #7 shows the original utterance as reported thought.

#1	Meaning	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7
çə qej	"he will go"	çə qej] tçə daw	çə qej] tçə tiŋ	çə qej] tçə daw] tçaw	çə qej] tçə tin] tçaw	çə qej] tçwə si] tçaw	çə qej] çi
çə daw	"he is going"	çə daw] tçə daw	çə daw] tçə tiŋ	çə daw] tçə daw] tçaw	çə daw] tçə tin] tçaw	çə daw] tçwə si] tçaw	çə daw] çi
şej ø	"he went" (visual)	şej ø] tçə qaw	şej ø] tçə tiŋ	şej ø] tçə daw] tçaw	şej ø] tçə tin] tçaw	şej ø] tçwə si] tçaw	<i>şеј ø]</i> ¢і
şej si	"he went" (inferred)	şej si] tçə qaw	şej si] tçə tiŋ	şej si] tçə daw] tçaw	şej si] tçə tin] tçaw	şej si] tçwə si] tçaw	şej si] çi
şej tiŋ	"he went" (auditory)	şej tin] tçə qaw	şej tiŋ] tçə tiŋ	şej tiŋ] tçə daw] tçaw	şej tiŋ] tçə tin] tçaw	şej tiŋ] tçwə si] tçaw	şej tiŋ] çi

Table 8.8 Co-occurrence of evidentials

³⁶¹ With only one exception from a personal narrative where the speaker heard about a situation via different other people. The normal way of saying would be $t\phi = daw t\phi aw$, even when more than two people passed on the information.

Not all of the co-occurrences are attested in the corpus, but their ability to co-occur has been checked by elicitation. The examples below show some of the co-occurrences that are attested. (1113-1116) are examples of Column #2; (1117-1119) are examples of Column #3; (1120-1122) are examples of Column #4; (1123) is an example of Column #5; (1124) is an example of Column #6; (1125-1127) are examples of Column #7. The different layers are separated by square brackets.

(1113) [nǐŋ tcíŋ = qéj] tc \hat{a} = dàw k^hì. 2sg see = EXPT say = IPFV:N.EGO time 'Even though (he) said that you will see (him), (...)' (CV07.26.2) (1114) [tá-k^híŋ $m\dot{a} = d\dot{a}w$] t¢ź = dàw UP-get.up NEG = IPFV:N.EGO say = IPFV:N.EGO '(...) (she) did not get up, (I) was told (...)' (CV12.43) (1115) [lúçà tc = daw.tà] Luoshui arrive say = IPFV:N.EGO 'It is said that (he) arrived in Luoshui.' (CV21.340) (1116) [lúçà $t\dot{a} = s\dot{l}$ $tc \hat{a} = d \hat{a} w.$ Luoshui arrive = INF say = IPFV:N.EGO'It is said that (he) arrived in Luoshui.' (CV21.339) (1117) [tèdzé = bú mà dzà] tçà = tìn, mál^jà $g \circ \eta b a = w u = l a$ zí several = TOP EXIST.AN GNOMIC say = AUD Mùlimonastery = in = alsojèmá cé-mà. monk big-NMLZ '(I) overheard that there are several old monks in the Mùlĭ monastery.' (CV13.81.2) (1118) [píŋmá séj] tçà = tìŋ Pingma go:PFV:N.EGO say = AUD 'Pingma left.' (I overheard others talking about the fact that he left; they saw

him leave with their own eyes). (EL)

(1119) [píŋmá ξ éj = sì] t¢à = tìŋ Pingma go:PFV:N.EGO = INF say = AUD

> 'Pingma left.' (I overheard others talking about the fact that he left; they did not see him leave, but drew their conclusions from other facts). (EL)

- (1120) [[hòŋ-dzí từ-dìŋ zí=qčj] tçà=dàw] tçàw.
 in-location one-CLF:place EXIST.AN = EXPT say = IPFV:N.EGO HSY
 '(...) (people) said that (they) would be somewhere up the valley.' (CV15.1)
- (1121) [[ŋóŋ kéŋ = dàw] tçà = dàw] tçàw. money collect = IPFV:N.EGO say = IPFV:N.EGO say:IPFV:N.EGO '(...) (there was somebody) collecting money [Drema said that they told her].' (PC08w.4)

(1122) [[$nin = dz \acute{e}n tc^h \acute{e} k^h \acute{i}$ $c\acute{o} = g\acute{o} t\acute{e}t \acute{e}t \acute{e}j$ $p \acute{e} c\acute{o} = g\acute{i}$] 2 = DU how.many-time go = DEF together do go = VOL:INCL $tc\acute{o} = d\dot{a}w$] $tc\dot{a}w$. say = IPFV:N.EGO HSY

'(...) it is said that (she) said that 'whenever the two of you go, let's go together'.' (CV02.92)

(1123) [[píŋmá ξ éj=sì] tcàw Pingma go:PFV:N.EGO=INF say=AUD HSY

> 'Pingma left.' (Others told me that he left. Then themselves were told by others who had not seen him leave themselves, but had heard the noise of his leaving). (EL)

(1124) [[d\u00f3-tsw\u00e9nm\u00e3=g\u00f3n]t\u00e3c\u00ex=n\u00f3n]d\u00e3c\u00e3n=w\u00e3n\u00e3-t\u00e3\u00e3TO.SP-pull-NMLZ = AGTnow = onlythat-under:GENhole = inDOWN-jumpn\u00e3- \u00e3\u00e5t\u00e5w\u00e3=s\u00e3]t\u00e5\u00e3wt\u00e5wDOWN-go:PFV:N.EGOsay:PFV:N.EGO=INFHSY

'(Tiger) said, "(...) the one who pulled, jumped down into this hole below only just now," it is said.' (KZ03.16)

(1125) [jèhǎ q^hà jǎw t=tù héhà, héhà k^hìŋ = qi] all EXALT again this = on excessive excessive give = EXPT cì = dàw think = IPFV:N.EGO

'They all thought that (the price) would go up and (the people buying the pigs) would give more (...)' (CV14.58.3)

(1126) $[in = Jonni tc^{h}i dz \rightarrow ma = daw]$ ci fia 1:INCL = PL:AGT food eat NEG = IPFV:N.EGO think LINK '(He) thought that we had not eaten, (...)' (CV08.20) (1127) Jèq^hǔ = bú dàbǔ, séŋgéŋ tà-tç^hòŋ k^hì = là, [ájù first = TOP then T:lion UP-come:PFV:N.EGO time = also INTJ séŋgéŋ = tì tà-tç^hòŋ] çì nè-dú pà. T:lion = INDF UP-come:PFV:N.EGO think DOWN-afraid do:PFV:N.EGO 'First a lion came up, "Oh! A lion has come!" (he) thought and was afraid.' (TC02.56)

8.3.8 Evidentiality and text genres

There are certain correlations that can be drawn between evidential use and text genre. This section only slightly touches on the more general correlations in sweeping generalizations. A more in-depth study of evidential use in different text genres is an area for future research.

Generally, in procedural texts or descriptive texts about customs, not much marking is used. The text is only wrapped up in the end by using the customary marker *weŋ* (see also §10.9.1 and §10.2.2, example [1377]). The bare basic stem of verbs is used to describe the differents steps, as is shown in (1128) from a butter tea recipe and in (1129) from a travelogue (explaining what route one takes to a famous national park). The marker *weŋ* cannot co-occur with other evidentials, so should be considered part of that system. It presents the information as the customary way of acting that is known by insiders, but not by the addressee. This will be further discussed in §8.5.

(1128) d\u00e9b\u00fc, ts^hì=l\u00e1 n\u00e9-d\u00e1. d\u00e9b\u00ed n\u00e9-dz\u00f3\u00e9.
then salt=also DOWN-put then DOWN-churn
'Then also put in some salt. Then churn (it).' (PC01.6-7)

(1129) dèbů tè = Jě **A** tcè cà dàbǔ t^húbì tà= ıě then 3 = PL:GEN packload pack.load go then Walapian 3 = PL:GENięčș nè-k^hàk^hð dàbǔ t^húts^hì è-çô. è-tcê packload DOWN-pack IN-pack.load then Tuōqī IN-go 'Then (one) loads up their luggage; (one) packs their luggage at Walapian; (one) loads (it); then (one) goes inwards to Tuōqī.' (TC05.2)

It is also possible to use $= daw \ ma \ dza$, which presents something as a general situational truth that is stronger than *weŋ* (combining the habitual meaning of the current evidential = daw [§8.3.2] and the gnomic statement function of the nominalization $ma \ dza$ [§8.6.1]), and presents something as a very definite statement that is either somebody's own understanding of the situation, or a habitual situation that has only arisen in recent times.

(1130) $p\acute{e}p\acute{u} = b\acute{u}$ jèh $\acute{a} = J\acute{e}$ zégì $p^h\acute{e} = d\acute{a}w$ mè dzà. ancestors = TOP all = PL:GEN after pour = IPFV:N.EGO GNOMIC

'Libation is poured out for the ancestors after all the others.' (CV23.27.3)

In personal experience narratives about habitual actions in the past, no evidential or egophoric marking is used, as in (1131):

(1131) dòbǔ gì li $k^{h}i = bù$ dòbǔ, $t^{hj}ǎ$ $k^{h}ô-tçé$ $k^{h}i = bù$ then livestock herd time = TOP then about OUT-be.big time = TOP dòbǔ, dzôdzì swéŋ kêj. then letter study let

'After herding livestock, when (I) was a bit bigger, (I) was let to go to school.' (TC10.6)

This is in line with Epps (2005:624) who states that personal experience narratives tend to use the unmarked form, regardless of whether visual evidence is available to a speaker. Thus explanatory and descriptive discourse mostly lack evidential marking.

But when narrating a specific incident that happened in which the speaker was involved egophoric marking is used for 'self' and evidential marking for 'others', as in (1132):

 $(1132) \div q^h \dot{u}$ $n \eth w \dot{u} + t \varsigma^h \eth - \varsigma \acute{a}$ $dz \grave{o} \eta = s \grave{e} \eta$.that-ontwenty-more.than-CLF:nightsit = PFV:EGO

'(We) spent more than twenty nights up there.' (YJ01.12)

In traditional folk stories the construction $=si \ tcaw$ (with the inferential evidential and the hearsay marker) is used often to mark that the story has been passed down through many people.

(1133) túútⁱú tçà mà k^hí = bù á-dzì gwéŋ = tí IDEO say blow time = TOP that-location bear = INDF nè-tç^hóŋ = sì tçàw. DOWN-come:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY

'(...) when (he) was blowing (it) 'Toot toot!' over there a bear came down, it is said.' (TC06.1)

In traditional folk stories, the inferential evidential marker = si might be left out as an expressive device (similar to the use of the English 'historical present' in stories), as in (1134). This gives the audience the impression that the narrator was on the scene and saw it with his own eyes, which makes the story more vivid.

(1134) $t_{s} = d \delta \eta$ $t_{c} = n \delta \eta$ $\delta - q^{h} u$ $v - d \delta j$ pd. jump = IPFV:EGO:1SG say time = only that-on IN-stick do:PFV:N.EGO '(...) As (he) was jumping, (he) got stuck on top.' (TC04.29)

In conversations, evidentiality is employed to a great extent by different speakers and by the same speaker in different situations to convey slight nuances of meaning. Not surprisingly, conversations show the widest range of evidentials. Since there is no single generalization possible for conversations, no examples will be given here.

8.3.9 Evidentiality and new media

When visual information is obtained through new media, such as TV, it is marked as inferred information. This is dissimilar to Qiāng (LaPolla with Huáng 2003:204), where either the unmarked form or the hearsay marker is used (but never the visual evidential), and Yǒngníng Na that marks visual information acquired through TV as visual evidence (Lidz 2010:495). When reported information is obtained through TV (e.g. where no images are shown, but somebody verbally reports something), it is marked as reported evidence.

8.4 Epistemic modality

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has different epistemic modality strategies for marking degrees of certainty or confidence about an assertion. As mentioned in §8.3.3, the expectational marker $= q\epsilon j$ also implies a fairly high degree of epistemic certainty. The other constructions and markers do not form a neat paradigm but consist of two attitude markers (*bǎ* and *vla*), which will be discussed here instead of in the section on attitudinal markers §8.8, and five constructions (*sə ti, si qaw, mə dzə qej, Jæ nəni* and $cw = ta \sim cwJw = ta$. None of these co-occur, except for *mə dzə qej* and *bǎ*. The two attitudinal markers are identified as such in that they occur in the same slot as other attitudinal markers (§8.8), i.e. they are not followed by other attitudinal markers, whereas the epistemic constructions *sə ti, si qaw, mə dzə qej* and *cw* = ta can be followed by attitudinal markers.

Epistemicity shows overlap with evidentiality in that different types of evidence imply a lesser or greater degree of epistemic certainty, e.g. inferred evidence implies less certainty than visual evidence. It is not surprising that one of the epistemic constructions (*si daw*) consists of two evidential markers and another (*mə dzə qɛj*) of an evidential strategy (*mə dzə*) and an evidential marker (=qεj).

Table 8.9 shows the different constructions and markers with the clause $k^{h}\partial -t\varphi^{h}\partial g^{*}$ (he) came'. They are listed from least certain to most certain, and the type of evidence is given in the last column.

Form	Meaning	Degree of epistemic certainty
k ^h ə-tç ^h ôŋ bă	'He maybe came'	least certain; based on speaker- internal assesment
k ^h ə-tç ^h ôŋ çæ ţa (k ^h ə-tç ^h ôŋ çæ.ţæ ţa)	'It looks like he came'	uncertain; inferred from visual clues
k ^h ə-tç ^h ôŋ si daw	'He probably came'	relatively certain; inferred from reported clues
k ^h ə-tç ^h ôŋ sə ti	'He most probably came'	relatively certain; inferred from visual or experiential clues
k ^h ə-tç ^h ôŋ .Įæ nəni	'It seems that he came'	relatively certain; based on speaker-internal assesment
k ^h ə-zô mə dzə qej	'He will have come'	only slightly uncertain; inferred from different clues or based on speaker-internal assesment
k ^h ə-tç ^h ôŋ ela	'He naturally came'	certain; based on speaker- internal assesment

Table 8.9 Epistemic modality constructions

8.4.1 Epistemic certainty ela

The toneless attitudinal marker *ela* ([$\dot{e}l\dot{a}$] ~ [$\dot{e}l\dot{a}$]] ~ [$\dot{e}l\dot{a}$])³⁶² 'naturally, of course' is bound up with epistemic certainty. The speaker's attitude is that there is no question whether or not an action should be taken or whether a situation is possible. This does not derive from outside knowledge, but rather from the speaker's experience or assessment of the situation.

(1135) $zin = q \epsilon j$ $\epsilon l a$. can = EXPT CERT

'Of course (we) will be able (to carry it).' (CV21.452)

³⁶² Depending on the emphasis with which the marker is pronounced the surface tone can be any of these. This does not totally correlate with normal tonal spread, but rather with situation-dependent intonation.

(1136) l^jé q^hà-tǔ élâ. tongue OUT-pull CERT

'The tongue should naturally be pulled out!' (CV18.47)

(1137) $t \hat{e} = g \check{e}$ nǐŋ $\hat{e} \cdot k^h$ ì $t \hat{e} = J \check{e} = b \grave{u}$, $q^h \hat{e} \cdot d \check{e} = q \grave{e} j$ $\grave{e} l \grave{a}$ this = GEN INTJ that-time this = PL:GEN = TOP OUT-spread = EXPT CERT

'At that time, mind you, (they) naturally would have spread, (...)' (CV25.56)

8.4.2 Speculative marker bă

The speculative marker *bǎ* (also present in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ [Dīng 1998:224]) denotes uncertainty about a situation. It is usually not based on immediate clues, but denotes the speaker's speculation. Additionally, a speaker can be soliciting the addressee's opinion or confirmation.

(1138) èmá sénóŋ = nòŋ tçĭŋ tèdzé sánlèŋ = wù q^hà-şèj bǎ?
aunt Sanong = COORD child several Ch:tricycle = in OUT-go:PFV:N.EGO SPEC
'Aunt Sanong and several children have maybe gone by tricycle?' (CV02.78.2)

(1139) tç^hè-k^hí çá dzè?
how.many-time go be
N: 'When will you be going?' (CV02.72)
ŋwé= tà nòn cá dzè bă!
five = PL:GEN day go be SPEC

P: (We'll) maybe go on the day of the fifth.' (CV02.75)

When $b\check{a}$ follows the inclusive volitive = gi, the focus is on soliciting the opinion of the addressee.

(1140) tă $c \neq g$ bă,... now g = VOL:INCL SPEC 'Let's go now, alright?' (CV21.290)

8.4.3 Epistemic uncertainty si daw

Epps (2005:632) notes that in Hup an inferential evidential marker can co-occur with an epistemic modality marker for speculation where no evidence is at hand or evidence is too vague to be conclusive. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ the inferential evidential marker is also used for expressing epistemic uncertainty. The particular combination of two evidential markers, the inferential evidential =si (§8.3.1) and the non-egophoric imperfective marker = daw (§8.3.2), renders a epistemic uncertainty construction that is often, but

not always, based on reported evidential clues, as is shown in (1141).³⁶³ The previous speaker has just told the others that her husband took seven hens to the market to sell. The construction *si daw* expresses more certainty than *bă*.

(1141) 1ú zù=tí zí sì dàw, nǒŋ=sà.
chicken much=INDF EXIST.AN EPIST:probably so=CONTR.TOP
'In that case, (your family) probably has a lot of chickens.' (CV04.75)

The construction *si daw* can occur with the evidentials = daw and $= q\epsilon j$, as in (1142) and (1143), but not with the inferential evidential = si. (1143) was said when it had snowed a bit the day before and at the moment of the utterance the sky was quite grey, but no snow was falling. The speaker was looking at the sky when uttering (1143).

(1142) tántsəbon = bⁱà t^hwàlá nè-zǎ k^{h} ə-tì = dáw sì dàw. pine.tree = on:GEN branch DOWN-lop.off OUT-put = IPFV:N.EGO EPIST:probably

'(She) probably lopped off the pine branches and put them there.' (CV14.267)

```
'(It) will probably snow... (it)'s very cold!' (W-C28.3)
```

When the construction occurs without $=q\epsilon j$ or =daw, the perfective non-egophoric form of the verb is always used, as in (1144). From this example it can also be seen that the statement is based on several (reported evidence) clues.

(1144)	èmá	ļáts ^h ú	á-wù	¢þ=dà	òŋ		tçàw	tçàw	fià,
	aunt	T:lHa.mtsho	that-in	go=IP	FV:EGC	:1sg	say:IPFV:N.EGC	HSY	LINK
	tà = dz	zěŋ zégì	nè-ņáŋ	hà,	èmá	ļátsh	ú = gòŋnì	sæŋlìŋt	s ^h éj = wù
	3 = DU	behind	DOWN-late	LINK	aunt	T:lHa	a.mtsho=AGT	Ch:tricy	rle=in
	k ^h à-¢à	=gí	t¢ə́=dàw	T	tçàw	, dài	oŭ sǽŋlìŋţşʰɛ́	j=wù	
	OUT-g	$\mathbf{o} = \text{VOL}$:INCL	say=IPFV	':N.EGO	HSY	the	en Ch:tricyclo	e=in	
	q ^h à-şé	j	sì dàw.						
	OUT-g	0:PFV:N.EGO	EPIST:prol	bably					

'Aunt Lhatshu is said to have said to go in that (tricycle), the two of them were later (than the others), so Aunt Lhamtsho is said to have said 'Let's go by tricycle' and so (they) probably went in a tricycle.' (CV02.80)

³⁶³ Since it functions as a single construction with a different meaning from the parts, I gloss it together. This is also the case for some of the other epistemic and nominalized constructions. See also §8.7 on layering of marking.

si daw might also be used as a conversational tool to downplay the epistemic authority of a speaker, but this needs further conversational analysis.

si daw is used in a few traditional stories where one would expect reported evidential marking and not epistemic uncertainty, as in (1145) where one would expect $t\varphi w = si$ *t* φaw . The use of *si daw* in these cases seems to be the personal style of some storytellers and does not necessarily imply epistemic uncertainty.

(1145) "èkáw làwlàw t^hàzâ. é é=gé tá m e = b u, 1SG = GEN this bamboo = TOP uncle(MB) spare.life 1sg INTJ $k^{h}i = bu$, dzâ," $m\hat{a} = d\hat{o}\eta$ mà-má tà t¢wà time = TOP blow-NMLZ blow = IPFV:EGO:1SG only be say:PFV:N.EGO sì dàw. EPIST: probably '(Hare) answered, "Uncle, spare my life, I am blowing this bamboo piece of

mine, I am only blowing it." ' (TC06.2)

The construction *si* daw and the marker $b\check{a}$ can be used in very similar situations, as can be seen in example (1146), a conversation about a cell phone that belongs to speaker S. Another example in which a speaker uses $b\check{a}$ and *si* daw in two consecutive clauses is given in (1147).

```
(1146) èl<sup>j</sup>átì
                 tá
                                            bǎ.
                        mà=dáw
        a.little this
                        NEG = IPFV:N.EGO SPEC
        P: 'It's maybe not that good. ' (CV04.29)
        mâ?
        what
       S: 'What?' (CV04.30)
        tǐŋţsʰà
                       l^{j}awl^{j}aw = daw
                                              sí dàw.
        Ch:battery
                                             EPIST: probably
                       move = IPFV:N.EGO
        P: 'The battery probably moves.' (CV04.31)
        tǐŋţsʰà
                                                                             tá = gá
                       l^{j}awl^{j}aw = daw
                                              bă,
                                                     ásèn? á-b<sup>j</sup>à
        Ch:battery
                       move = IPFV:N.EGO
                                              SPEC AGR
                                                             that-on:GEN
                                                                             this = DEF
        èl<sup>j</sup>ě
                 s \delta \eta = d \delta w
                                           sì dàw,
        a.little Ch:loose = IPFV:N.EGO EPIST:probably
        S: 'The battery maybe moves, right? That one is probably a little loose...'
        (CV04.32)
```

(1147) l ^j ú=dáw	bă?	l ^j ú=dáw	sì dàw.
boil=IPFV:N.EGO	SPEC	boil=IPFV:N.EGO	EPIST:probably

'(The water) is maybe boiling, right? It's probably boiling.' (CV14.31)

8.4.4 Epistemic uncertainty sa ti

The epistemic uncertainty construction s ti expresses that the speaker is fairly certain of a situation. The construction expresses more certainty than $b\check{a}$ (and seems to express more certainty than $si \ daw$) and might be based on visual or experiential clues, such as when a speaker has a peek in the soup pot and states that there are most probably no vegetables in the soup, or when a speaker feels a few rain drops and states that it will most probably rain. The origin of s ti is not clear; it might be that s a developed from the contrastive topic marker (§6.5.8) and ti from the numeral 'one' that is used in several constructions.

sə ti is often based on current visual evidence of which current statements or statements about the future are based. It can also be used with past statements, as in (1148). In (1149) the speaker is talking to himself while working on cutting out the tongue of a slaughtered pig. That gives him some evidence to state this with a great amount of certainty. Two other examples are given in (1150) and (1151).

- (1148) dòmá-lí jăw èl^jětì tsàtsà şéj só tì k^hì.
 Drema-DIM again a.little grope.for go:PFV:N.EGO EPIST:most.probably TRAIL
 'Little Drema was most probably looking for some (firewood).' (CV09.77)
- (1149) từ zín ma = q $\dot{\epsilon}$ j só tì k^hì. cut can NEG = EXPT EPIST:most.probably TRAIL

'(I) will most probably not be able to cut (the tongue)?' (CV18.41)

- (1150) t^hè-cà kéj = qéj sà tì tcà fià ná tcáw bàw.
 FR.SP-go let = EXPT EPIST:most.probably say LINK thus HSY CONTR
 'It is said that (they will) ... then most probably let (her) go back (...) home.' (CV15.62)
- (1151) pèjpéjtédí = gòŋnì, "(...)tçhǐt^jà-dzó = dwéŋolder.siblingTadi = AGTfoodPROH-eat = IPFV:EGO:N.SGsò tì,è = dzàŋ = bínótçâw.EPIST:most.probably1:EXCL = DU = DATthussay:IPFV:N.EGO

'(...) older brother Tadi spoke like this to the two of us, "... you most probably won't dare to eat food now." ' (YJ02.22)

While *sə ti* and *si daw* are very similar, the data seem to show that *sə ti* implies more certainty: *sə ti* is often based on visual clues, whereas *si daw* is often based on reported clues. In (1152) *sə ti* and *si daw* are used together:

(1152) "nìn = bú láwsá = gà (t¢^hwǎ) sí dàw," tçà tsàzà dzá 2SG = TOP Ch:teacher = GEN (pig) fattened.pig be EPIST:probably say $k^{h}i = bu$. télæ $q^{h}\dot{u} = q\dot{o}\eta n\dot{i}$, "p^hòŋţsújà $p\hat{u} = q\hat{c}\hat{j}$ laugh:RECP CUST.INCL = AGT do = EXPTtime = TOP fat.piglet sà tì." tcà $k^{h}i = bii$. EPIST:most.probably say time = TOP

(We) said, "You are probably the teacher's fattened pig, (you) will most probably be a fat piglet, " and we laughed so hard that... (CV12.27.4)

8.4.5 Epistemic uncertainty .*jæ nəni* and *çæ ta ~çæ.jæ ta*

The construction *Jæ nəni* 'it seems' is an epistemic construction that takes an embedded finite complement, thus it occurs with all types of evidential and egophoric markers, like the quotative and the auditory evidential, as in (1153).

(1153) nìŋ-bá èmá=gòŋ hwájì tì tçà=tíŋ từ nànì.
2sG-household aunt=AGT Huayi one say=AUD EPIST:seems
'(I) seem to have heard your mother say that (they are from) Huayi.'
(CV07.50)

.µæ nəni can occur in different alternate forms, such as *µæ ni* and *nəni*, as in (1154-1156). It is not clear at this point what triggers that.

- (1154) ô-pù míŋ dzò pépù=là ,ì wèŋ ,4 nònì.
 that-under what be bottom=also burn CUST.EXCL EPIST:seems
 'It seems (to me) that (we) also roast it at the bottom.' (CV21.572.1)
- (1155) tçáŋtçán wú-pà-nìn, wú-pà-nìn dzə Ch:just.now Ch:five-Ch:eight-Ch:year Ch:five-Ch:eight-Ch:year be Jà nì EPIST:seems

'It seems to have been in '58. (...)' (CV13.26.1)

(1156) t^h > èl^j žtì dèpèj = dáw nònì, míŋ dòŋ wèj?
foot a.little lame = IPFV:N.EGO EPIST:seems what become PUZ
'It seems that (his) foot is a bit lame, what on earth is the matter?' (CV14.247)

The construction λa *noni* might be an adverbial phrase that takes the whole clause in its scope, as is reported for Qiāng (LaPolla with Huáng (2003:206) for the adverbial particle χsu -ni 'seem'). Its origin is not totally clear, but *noni* seems to be related to the adverb *nóni* 'like this' and λa seems to be related to the second part of $c \alpha a$ 'to resemble', as in (1157), (related to the verb $c \alpha$ 'to resemble'):³⁶⁴

tshàjèŋ (1157) dút^{hj}ǽ $tc\hat{\partial}-m\hat{\partial}=g\hat{\partial}=b\hat{u}$ t^hàzǽ dèjèj ná tóŋ Druthjae T:Tshe.ring say-NMLZ = DEF = TOP spare.life speech speak thus ti = lawén $e' = q \epsilon j = l a$ mǎ = Jà çǽ one = also can Q = EXPT = alsoresemble NEG = resemble

'(...) the one who is called Druthjae Tshering, spare my life, even if (he) can tell stories like this, (he) does not look like it, (...)' (CV13.78.2)

The construction cx = ta 'it looks like' that is clearly derived from the verb $c\hat{x}$ 'to resemble' and that takes an embedded complement also functions like an epistemic construction, as in (1158) and (1159). My main consultant mentioned that it is also possible to use cxtx = ta, but no attestations are found in the corpus. $cx = ta \sim cxtx = ta$ seems to be linked to some kind of visual knowledge, whereas tx noni seems to be linked to speaker-internal knowledge.

(1158) $\dot{e}m\dot{a}$ j $\dot{o}\eta$ t $\dot{c}\eta$ -b \dot{a} = l \dot{a} $\dot{c}\dot{e}$ = t \dot{a} . aunt T:dByangs.cin-household = also big = SVM resemble = SVM

'It looks like aunt Yongjin's family's (pork back) is big as well.' (CV21.164)

(1159) màgén $\grave{e}l^{i}\check{a}$ té $p\acute{u} = q\grave{e}j$ $c\grave{a} = t\grave{a}$, ásèn? old.man a.little false do = EXPT resemble = SVM AGR

'It looks like the old man will have been lying a bit, right?' (CV07.71)

8.4.6 Epistemic uncertainty ma dza qej

Even though both the expectational evidential =qej (§8.3.3) and the nominalization construction $m \partial dz \partial$ (§8.6.1) have epistemic certainty readings, when they are combined into the construction $m \partial dz \partial qej$ this expresses epistemic uncertainty. The degree of uncertainty is fairly small, as can be seen in (1160) where the speaker has some auditory evidence of the situation. $m \partial dz \partial qej$ can be used to refer to past as well as general events, as in (1161) and (1162), but not to future events.³⁶⁵ Note that in

³⁶⁴ Although cf. §7.4.1, footnote 296 for a tentative analysis of $-\mu$ as a verbal suffix.

³⁶⁵ Note the distinction between $= q\epsilon j$, which only occurs with general and future events, and *mə dzə qɛj* in the following clauses: *seŋbú* $k^h \partial z = q\epsilon j$ 'he will come tomorrow' (which is not possible with a past time reference) and $\lim_{e \to a} k^h \partial z = q\epsilon j$ 'he will have come the year before last' (which is not possible with a future time reference).

(1162) speaker Y is tentative about their ability to carry the recording device, whereas speaker N responds using the epistemic certainty marker *vla* (§8.4.1).

(1160) èmá-lì iśtáp tóŋ zù $p\dot{a} = t\dot{n}$, tèsĭ k^hù-dzí speech speak very do:PFV:N.EGO = AUD still out-location aunt-DIM zí mà dzà qèj. EXIST.AN EPIST 'Young aunt is talking a lot, I hear. (She) will probably still be out (=in the courtyard).' (CV13.137.3) $(1161) \text{ m}\hat{a} = J\hat{a}$ má dzà gèj. màgén nè-dú zù person = PL:GEN old.man DOWN-afraid very EPIST 'That old man will have been frightened.' (CV22.24) (1162) dà-zá zìŋ wéŋ mà dzà gèj. TO.SP-carry can CUST.EXCL EPIST Y: '(We) will probably be able to carry (it).' (CV21.451) $zi\eta = q\epsilon j$ élà. can = EXPT CERT N: Of course we will be able (to carry it). (CV21.452) The construction *mə dzə qɛj* can occur with the speculative marker *bǎ*, as in (1163),

The construction $m \partial dz \partial q e j$ can occur with the speculative marker $b \dot{a}$, as in (1163), but not with any other epistemic marking.

 $(1163) \, m \acute{a} = p \grave{u}$ $t \partial \eta = d \partial w$ játýb mà dzà gèj bă mother = COM speech speak = IPFV:N.EGO EPIST SPEC $p\dot{\mathbf{u}} = d\dot{\mathbf{u}}w$ iátáp tétóŋ pù zù $m\hat{a} = J\hat{a}$. speak:RECP do very do = IPFV:N.EGOspeech person = PL

'(Tshering Lhame) will maybe be talking with her mother, they are talking a lot.' (CV13.60)

8.5 Modal verbs and discourse

Palmer (2001:58) notes that modal verbs often play an important role in discourse, especially in the interactions of speech participants. Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has two modal auxiliaries, q^h ǔ 'need' (§7.9.9) and *wêŋ* 'be able' (§7.9.2), that have developed important discourse functions.³⁶⁶ In their discourse functions, they always take on the tone of the preceding element. They are used as customary evidentials, evidential

³⁶⁶ In these functions they are toneless markers that take on the tone of the preceding tonebearing unit (§3.3.1).

strategies that mark customs that have been around for a long time. They thus denote knowledge that is firmly embedded in the speaker's consciousness. Their use can be opposed to the use of the non-egophoric imperfective marker = daw (§8.3.2) which expresses new information. An example is given in (1164).

kĥâ (1164) dàbů, zèpù tá géngòn = Jònnì = bùdàbǔ gwěŋ then past time:GEN this old.person = PL:AGT = TOP then horse t^jôŋ t^jôŋ pù dàdá né-dì ĥà tcəbù... one:CLF:thing one:CLF:thing do DOWN-throw LINK because horizontal ((q^hén^jà sèqwèj = góŋ nè-gǎ tçəbù, mèqú nè-tçí wèŋ)) mouth stick = INS DOWN-pry because oil DOWN-pour CUST.EXCL gwenn = non $\dagger i = ((bi))$ mèqú ((t^hè-))kì wêŋ. FR.SP-give.drink CUST.EXCL horse = COORDmule = DAT oil

'The old people of the past gave horses and mules oil to drink by throwing the horses down horizontally one by one, and prying (their) mouths open with a stick to pour down the oil.' (PC02.7)

 $k^{h}i = la$ púpù zèpù = bù gwèŋ méqù kì dàdà this.year last.year = TOP horse oil give.drink time = also horizontal $q^{h}\dot{u} = l\dot{a}$ dí $m\dot{a} = d\dot{a}w$, dàbǔ ěľý tì zàzé throw need = alsoNEG = IPFV:N.EGOthen a.little easy one $p\hat{u} = d\hat{a}w$. do = IPFV:N.EGO

'In recent years, when giving horses oil to drink, there is no need to throw (them) horizontally, so it is a little bit easier.' (PC02.8)

The speaker is telling about the custom of feeding mules oil in winter. In the first seven lines of the narration from which (1164) is taken, the storyteller uses the customary *weŋ*, as can be seen in the first line in (1164) which is the seventh line in the narration. In line eight of the narration, the second line in (1164), the storyteller switches to using the imperfective marker = daw. He does this since a new practice of using a flail head to keep horses in check (without having to throw them down) has only become popular in recent years; thus, *weŋ* cannot be used, since it is not a practice that has always been done.

The customary markers weŋ and $q^h u$ have acquired additional meanings that are closely tied to the interaction between speech participants and assumed knowledge. $q^h u$ has acquired an additional meaning of inclusive knowledge. It is used at the end of statements or questions to indicate that speakers expect addressees to know the information they are talking about. *weŋ* on the other hand marks exclusive knowledge.³⁶⁷ It is used at the end of statements or questions to indicate that speakers expect addressees not to know the information they are talking about.³⁶⁸ Both mark customary information that is generally known.

In example (1165) the use of $q^h u$ is illustrated. The inclusive knowledge function is highlighted by the use of the inclusive pronoun $i\eta_{\lambda}\delta$: the speaker includes everybody in the group of addressees, and thus it is expected that he use $q^h u$. But it is possible to use *weŋ* instead, for example when the speaker is an adult talking to a child who, although included in the group of people that calls Nínglàng 'Lugu', does not know this custom yet.

(1165) in = 4i = bi lin lin an = bi = bi lúgi tçò q^hù 1:INCL = PL = TOP Nínglàng = DAT = TOP Lugu say CUST.INCL 'We call Nínglàng 'Lugu' (...)' (CV01.19)

The use of *weŋ* is illustrated in (1166). This is a similar example to (1165), but here the speaker is talking to an outsider and does not expect that person to know the information. This is also highlighted by the use of the exclusive pronoun $\hat{e}_{l,2}$. However, the use of inclusive versus exclusive pronouns is not tied to the use of $q^h u$ versus *weŋ*. $q^h u$ could be used in this example when the speaker assumes that the addressee, although being an outsider and not included in the group denoted by $\hat{e}_{l,2}$, knows this information.

(1166) $\acute{e} = i = b i$ hòŋ-pú tçà wèŋ 1:EXCL = PL = TOP in-under say CUST.EXCL 'We call that 'inwards' (...)' (PC04w.1.7)

Two further examples with $q^h u$ and *weŋ* are given in (1167) and (1168). The markers could be used interchangeably in both examples, the only difference being the assumption of the speaker in regards to the addressee's knowledge.

³⁶⁷ 'Shared (inclusive) knowledge' versus 'personal (exclusive) knowledge' is also expresed in several Romani dialects (Victor Friedman, p.c.). Matras (1995) shows that a split in the third person of simple past tenses in Vlach Romani functions as an interactional device to express personal versus shared knowledge (see also Friedman 2003:1993).

³⁶⁸ The marker $q^h u$ only appeared towards the end of my second fieldwork. This is not surprising, because as an outsider, people would not use the form $q^h u$ in speaking to me. There is a marked difference in use in the corpus: $q^h u$ only appears 9 times and only in conversations; *weŋ* appears around 350 times not only in conversations, but especially in procedural/descriptive texts, in personal narratives that relate to customs in the wider world, and to a minor degree in traditional narratives.

'(In the past) (a lot of people) carried buckets on (their) backs, and would go upwards to carry water on (their) backs.' (CV21.307.2)

(1168) mán l^jón ts^há $k^{h}i = b\hat{u}$ qàqà pú hair peel be.finished time = TOP group do tsàzž t^jón ťión pù t^héj wêŋ fattened.pig one:CLF:thing one:CLF:thing do Ch:lift CUST.EXCL $t\dot{e}$ - $tc^{h}w\dot{i} = b\dot{i} = l\dot{a}$ gè kwì-m $\dot{a} = J \dot{a} \eta = b \dot{u}$ tá-zú strength EXIST.IN-NMLZ = PL:AGT = TOP one-CLF:side = on = also UP-lift wèŋ, CUST.EXCL фр $m\check{a} = kwi - m\check{a} = J\check{a} = b\check{u}$ zù t^hóŋ mà wèŋ. strength NEG = EXIST.IN-NMLZ = PL = TOP lift can:N.EGO NEG CUST.EXCL 'When the hair has been scraped off, (the people) will together lift the fattened pigs one by one, the ones who have the strength will lift one side, the

fattened pigs one by one, the ones who have the strength will lift one side, the ones who don't have the strength will not be able to lift (one side).' (CL01ed.18)

Both markers can also be used in questions. Example (1169) can be a question addressed to others or to self. When addressed to oneself, the use of $q^h u$ indicates that the speaker knows the answer, but it currently escaped him. When addressed to others, the speaker expects the addressees to know the answer. The use of *weŋ* in (1170) implies that the speaker does not know the information and is neutral in regards to whether or not the addressee knows the information.

(1169) tá = gá míŋ tçà q^hù? this = DEF what say CUST.INCL
'What is this called again?' (CV01.19:EL)
(1170) tá = gá míŋ tçà wèŋ? this = DEF what say CUST.EXCL
'What is this called?' (CV01.19:EL)

It is also possible to add a particle *son* to these sentences, as in (1171) and (1172). Both indicate that the speaker knows the information he is asking for, but it temporarily escaped him. Example (1172), using $q^{h}u$, is a little bit more polite. The particle *son*
does not appear in the natural corpus, but only appeared during elicitation. More research is needed into its function.

(1171) $t \neq g \neq min$ triangle with the set of the set

8.6 Nominalization and discourse

It has been shown that Půmǐ uses nominalization for lexical derivation (§5.2), as well as a means to form attributive relative clauses (§5.3.2). However, independent main clauses can also be nominalized. Apart from a clearly embedded clausal nominalization construction involving the equational copula (§7.5), Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has four nominalization constructions that raise the question of embedding. In these four constructions, the nominalizer is always followed by another form, that is, in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ there are no independent clauses that end in just the nominalizer.

'Non-embedded' (Matisoff 1972) or 'stand-alone' or 'free-standing' (Watters 2008) nominalization has been described for many other Tibeto-Burman languages (Noonan 1997, Bickel 1999b, Hargreaves 2005, Genetti 2011), and it would therefore not be surprising to find similar non-embedded nominalization constructions in Pǔmǐ. In the following sections I will first describe the different nominalizations and their functions and then discuss the question whether Pǔmǐ has non-embedded nominalization or not.

Main clause nominalization is used for various discourse purposes, such as an evidential strategy and epistemic authority, agreement with previous speaker, and negotiating epistemic rights. In her work on Korean, Kim (2011) shows that the choice of evidential markers employed by speakers of Korean depends on epistemic authority and is used to negotiate epistemic rights. Thus evidential markers can be used to claim or downgrade epistemic rights: speakers will assess the epistemic rights of other speakers and chose their evidentials accordingly. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ clausal nominalization is one of the instruments used for negotiating epistemic rights. Speech-participant interaction and conversational analysis has not been explored in Pǔmǐ before, but with the amount of conversational data recorded for the present study, it is an area that shows great promise for future research. Due to the limitations of this present study and the lack of background in conversational analysis, I will only present some first impressions here. Areas of future investigation are the role of evidentials, epistemic constructions, epistemic markers and attitude markers in downgrading or claiming epistemic rights and turn-taking.

8.6.1 V mə dzə

The nominalization construction $m \partial dz \partial$ (a complement-taking predicate with a nominalized clause as the complement and the equational copula $dz \partial$ 'to be' as the predicate) is an evidential strategy that marks declarative or gnomic³⁶⁹ statements, 'matter-of-fact' information that the speaker has known for a long time and is generally known to people. LaPolla with Huáng (2003:207) also mentions a construction with nominalization and a copula as an evidential strategy for Qiāng (for information that has been known for some time and expresses strong certainty). In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, the nominalization construction $m \partial dz \partial$ is actually neutral in terms of evidence: instead of expressing source of information, it implies that the information is so well established that no source is needed. In addition to its use as an evidential strategy, it marks the epistemic authority of the speaker over the information, who presents it as something that cannot be challenged:

- (1173) búbúlì sờjì-swǐ dzớ = qèj mờ dzð.
 Bubuli Ch:eleven-Ch:year.old be = EXPT GNOMIC
 'Bubuli will be eleven.' (CV12.9)
 (1174) bùl^jð tçí tồ dzố zíŋ mà = dáw mố dzð.
- kidney some.people eat can NEG = IPFV:N.EGO GNOMIC 'There are some people that can not eat kidneys.' (CV17.20)

Even though a nominalized clause indicates a statement that cannot be challenged, a speaker can invite an addressee to agree with him by using the agreement marker $\hat{s}seg$ (§8.8.2.6):

(1175) *á*-k^hì $ni\eta = j\acute{a}$ $t \hat{a} = I \hat{a},$ k^hí tà=Jà è-swén tí that-time this = PL:GEN 2 = PL:GEN time this = PL:GEN IN-study one $\dot{\mathbf{e}} = \mathbf{p}\dot{\mathbf{u}} = \mathbf{b}\dot{\mathbf{u}},$ ěľý zàzé = dàw mà dzà, ásèn? Q = do = TOPa.little easy = IPFV:N.EGO GNOMICAGR

'At those times, if (you) had done a bit of study in your times, it is a bit easier (to find work), right?' (CV12.39)

In (1176) the gnomic statement is embedded as hearsay, which indicates that the current speaker is not the one with epistemic authority, but the original speaker who told her was.

³⁶⁹ Woodbury (1986) for the term 'gnomic' which denotes a statement for which the speaker does not purport to have direct evidence.

'It is said that this (chrysanthemum) is very good for the eyes.' (CV14.74.1)

In narratives, this type of nominalization is often used for background comments of the narrator that are not part of the story line. This ties in with the position of authority that the narrator has.³⁷⁰ For example, in the story of the louse and the flea, the narrator states in conclusion:

(1177) d\u00f6b\u00fc, (\u00c1\u00e9j = g\u00e0...) \u00e1\u00e9j k^\u00ed k = b\u00e0 d\u00e6b\u00ed n^\u00ed \u00e8 \u00e1^\u00e3 \u00ed n^\u00e3 \u00e8 \u00e1^\u00e3 \u00ed n^\u00e3 \u00e8 \u00e3 \u00

Note that here as well as in example (1178), the concluding statement of the Deluge story, the narrator defers the final authority for these truths to the original people who passed down these stories, as can be seen in the use of the hearsay marker *tçaw*.

(1178) d\u00f6b\u00fc t\u00f6 = g\u00f6ŋn\u00fc t\u00f6c\u00e9 d\u00f6b\u00ed z\u00e9 = l\u00fc t\u00e3 = g\u00f6ŋ k^\u00eb -t\u00e0 m\u00e3 dz\u00e3 then this=PL:AGT now seed all=also 3SG=AGT OUT-put GNOMIC t\u00ec\u00e0 HSY

'So all the seeds (that we have) now are the ones she left, it is said.' (TC02.82)

Example (1179) is the narrator's comment in the middle of a story where the main characters are instructed to collect the carpets that their wives have woven.

³⁷⁰ Bickel (1999) discusses similar nominalized constructions in Belhare and notes that they are focus constructions that lend authority to the statement of the speaker as the definitive version. Note that the focus constructions in Belhare are non-embedded nominalizations that appear without a copula (parallel to equative constructions that do no need a copula in the language), whereas Wǎdū Pǔmǐ requires a copula in both constructions. Watters (2008:34) mentions that in Kham narratives non-embedded nominalization is used for non-event line (background, parenthetic material, stage setting). The question whether non-embedded nominalizations are not in fact embedded is still a point of discussion. In Rawang (LaPolla, p.c.) there are nominalized clauses that look like non-embedded nominalization, but the copula can always be recovered.

(1179) zèpù-k^hź păzù k^hà-tçà-mź=bù, màdà= Jóŋ k^hà-tçà
past-time:GEN carpet OUT-weave-NMLZ=TOP girl=PL:AGT OUT-weave
mź ((dzâ)).
GNOMIC
'The carpet that was woven in the past, was normally woven by women.'

(TC09.17)

These examples are background statements that are not part of the story line. In the main story line no nominalization is used, but in order to show that this is not part of the story line, the nominalization device is used.³⁷¹

Kham (Watters 2008) makes a sharp distinction between embedded and non-embedded 'stand-alone' nominalization. The former is used for strong assertions that cannot be questioned, while the latter is used for backgrounding information. Watters (2008:34) also mentions that in several Kiranti languages stand-alone nominalizations can have both (assertion and backgrounding) functions and that in Athpare and Belhare, languages with a zero equational copula, no distinction is made. In Wădū Pǔmǐ the equational copula is required for the identificational construction (§7.5) and it could be argued that in line with that the copula is also required for the nominalization construction that carries the same functions as non-embedded nominalization in Athpare and Belhare. Thus the two (assertion and backgrounding) functions that are clearly distinguished in Kham and that are expressed by non-embedded nominalization in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ.

Speakers can also use nominalization when talking about their own situation. This is done to downplay personal involvement. Thus rather than portraying an action as a personal experience, the speaker represents it as a general situation. Nominalization then comes instead of normal egophoric marking. This is shown in (1180), where madza is used instead of the perfective egophoric marker = seg. The use of the egophoric particle = seg is grammatically possible. This example is taken from a story where three brothers look for a wife by shooting their crossbows. They will take a wife from the household their arrows hit. The youngest son's arrow hits a toad. The toad asks him what the matter is and the youngest son answers with (1180). By using ma dza he downplays his involvement in the action in order to avoid the responsibility of having to marry it.

³⁷¹ In Yǔchū Pǔmǐ (personal fieldnotes) and Shuǐluò Pǔmǐ (Jacques 2011a), on the other hand, nominalization is used as a narrative device and almost every sentence ends in a nominalized construction. Watters (2008:36) mentions this for Kaike (West Bodish) as well.

(1180) "é = bú dàbǔ t^hà $k^{h}i = bu$, n^jǽ **J**ùt¢^hí jéndì zà mà dzà $1_{SG} = TOP$ then wife seek front come GNOMIC time = TOP 2SG:GEN \dot{v} -ts \dot{v} ," t $cw\dot{v}$ = s \dot{v} tçàw. IN-hit say:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY 'While I have come looking for a wife, (I) hit your front (instead)," (he) said, it is said.' (TC09.17)

In (1181) the implication of using a nominalization construction is that the speaker should go and feed the pigs instead of talking by the fire.

(1181) tç^hwà-tç^hì = lá mí-tç^hí mò dzò.
pig-food = also NEG:PFV-feed GNOMIC
'(I) haven't even fed the pigs (...)' (CV03.1.2)

Example (1182) talks about times in the past when there was nothing to eat. Downplaying their involvement by using a nominalization indicates that it was not the speakers' intention or volition to live through those days, but it was simply the situation.

(1182) $\dot{v}m\dot{a} = x\dot{a} = b\dot{u}$ ná-má n \dot{v} -k \dot{u} má dz \hat{a} . aunt = PL = TOP thus-NMLZ DOWn-Ch:live.through GNOMIC

'(...) (we) aunties have lived through that.' (CV03.14)

There is one example in the corpus that displays the first person egophoric form of the copula, as in (1183).

(1183) sèŋtç^hĭ = là dzó mà = dóŋ = mó dìŋ tçô
breakfast = also eat NEG = IPFV:EGO:1SG = NMLZ be:EGO:1 say
'(...) he said he was not eating breakfast, (...)' (CV07.74.5)

In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, interrogatives that use a nominalized predicate express that the speaker enquires about a general situation, as in (1184) and (1185). The answer in (1185) also uses nominalization in the second clause (and visual evidence in the first clause).

(1184) gú = gó kí d^jòŋ mò dzò? be.old = DEF where EXIST.AT GNOMIC 'Where is the old (school)?' (CV12.53)
(1185) jàŋmáwlì t^húbì = là dzóŋ mó dzò â? Ch:Yang.Maoning Walapian = also sit GNOMIC CONF P: 'Did Yang Maoning also stay at Walapian?' (CV12.65) t^húbì dzôŋ, képá t¢^hð-₄źéŋ dzóŋ mð dzð fiàw, Walapian sit very.long how-long sit GNOMIC WARN jæ̀ŋmáwlì. Ch:Yang.Maoning

N: 'Yang Maoning stayed in Walapian for such a long time.' (CV12.66)

Hargreaves (2005:19) states that in Kathmandu Newar, '[i]n questions with "background" or "presupposed" information, [nominalized clauses] function as being less "interrogatory" (hence polite or merely phatic) than questions with finite verb forms'. And Watters (2008:36) notes that in Kham non-nominalized interrogatives imply 'personal investment' and the 'right to knowledge' and thus can be inappropriate in certain social relations between speaker and addressee. In Wădū Pǔmĭ, nominalization does not seem to have this polite function. but it does indicate that a speaker has some background information relating to the question. This can be seen in examples (1186-1188). In (1186) the speaker asked his mother whether the place she just talked about was where she went. He had noticed that she was gone for a long time, and she just told him she had visited a friend. Expressing (1186) in a nominalized form ties it to the overall situation and indicates that the speaker is thinking 'No wonder you were gone for so long'.

(1186) nǐŋ, ś-q^hù k^hà-çà mà dzà â?
2sG that-on OUT-go GNOMIC CONF
'You went up there?' (CV14.213)

Example (1187) is the normal way to ask somebody where they are from. It implies the overall situation of living, not just the current position of a speaker. (1187) was asked about the researcher who was living in the village at the time.

(1187) kí dzòŋ mà dzà, à-dzé...?
where sit GNOMIC this-location:GEN
'Where is (your friend) from?' (CV14.3.1)

Example (1188) can be asked when somebody comes in the door all wet, and the speaker assumes that there is a reason why that is the case.

(1188) téj, tèj, kí çə mə dzə? INTJ INTJ where go GNOMIC

'Wow, wow! Where did (you) go?' (CV21.114.1)

Nominalization in interrogatives can also be used in the same way as in declaratives: in questions about general situations, as in (1189), and when a speaker wants to present a fact that cannot be challenged, as can be seen in example (1190). A group of ladies is walking from one household to another during the neighbourly visits on New Year's

Day. One of them is holding the recorder with which they are recording their conversation for the present study. Speaker L has taken the lead and is holding the recorder. Speaker N thereupon comments that it is because speaker L wants to record her own stories that she has brought the recorder. In her question, speaker L uses nominalization to present the situation as a general truth that cannot be challenged by the others. Speaker N then repeats the question, adding $dzin^{j}\hat{x}$ 'really' to indicate that she is amused at the suggestion.

(1189) tèsí tà-bă $m\dot{a} = g\dot{a}$ zí mà dzà â? still 3-household:GEN mother = DEF EXIST.AN GNOMIC CONF 'So his mother is still alive?' (CV14.26) (1190) t $\dot{a} = g\dot{a} = d\dot{a}$ jǎw z en a li = s uçì ĥà again story tell = VOL:SG think LINK this = DEF = ADD.FOCnè-t^héi $d\hat{a}$ -zwá = sì, hà..... DOWN-Ch:lift TO.SP-bring:PFV:N.EGO = INF INTJ N: '(You!) Since (you) are thinking of telling stories, you brought this one (=the recorder), hahaha!' (CV21.422) $ni\eta = g \circ \eta d \partial - z \circ d$ kèj = mà $m\check{a} = dz\check{a}$ â? 2SG = AGT TO.SP-carry let = NMLZ NEG = be CONF L: 'Wasn't it you who let (me) carry it?!' (CV21.423) dzín^jæ. nin = jóndà- zá kèj = mà $m\check{a} = dz \grave{a},$ 2SG = PL:AGTTO.SP-carry let = NMLZNEG = be CONFreally N: 'Wasn't it y'all who let (me) carry it, really!' (CV21.424)

The nominalization construction $m \partial dz \partial$ is the only nominalization construction that can be followed by various evidential and attitude markers. The nominalization constructions $V m \partial V ha$ (§8.6.2) and $m \partial dza$ (§8.6.4) contain the correct knowledge attitude marker ha (§8.8.1.4) and are not followed by any other markers; the constructions $m \partial dzi$ (§8.6.3), and $m \partial ta$ (§8.6.5) do not clearly contain an attitude marker, but always occur clause-finally and seem to function more like attitude markers (§8.8).

8.6.2 V mə V ha

The $V \mod V$ fia nominalization construction is a type of nominalization that reduplicates the last syllable of a predicate, whether it be part of the verb, as in (1191) and (1192), a particle that follows the main verb, as in (1193) and (1194), or an epistemic construction, as in (1195). The construction is followed by what seems to be the correct knowledge marker fia (§8.8.1.4), which sometimes fuses with the preceding

reduplicated form, as in (1196) where the form da is a fusion of the imperfective marker daw and ha.

(1191) t^hè-dzú fià, dèbǔ qéŋ = tè té-ljélè kèj é-pù
FR.SP-make LINK then neck = PL UP-gaze:COLL let that-under
è-bóŋdzù mé dzù fià.
IN-cover NMLZ.CONSTR
'(You) made (it) and, letting (their)(necks stick out together, (you) covered

(them).' (CV09.120)

(1192) n^jé-p^hà q^hờ-tǔ t^hờ-t¢^hwì k^hí = bú, "êi... q^hờtťú mó từ fìà," eye-CLF:single OUT-dig FR.SP-feed time = TOP INTJ bitter NMLZ.CONSTR t¢wờ.

say:PFV.N.EGO

'When (Hare) dug out one eye and fed it (to Bear), (he) said, "Ai! it is extremely bitter!" ' (TC06.26)

(1193) qémè dzè = dàw mè dàw fià Tibetan be = IPFV:N.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR

'(Xukisa and Likisa and those places) are also Tibetan.' (CV13.93.3)

(1194) $k^{h}\partial -c\partial = sen$ $k^{h}i = bu$, emd = gon $e^{-p^{h}i\eta} = sen$ m $\partial sen fia$. OUT-go = PFV:EGO time = TOP aunt = AGT IN-flee = PFV:EGO NMLZ.CONSTR

'When (we) went outside (to look), aunt fled inside (again).' (CV09.35)

(1195)nìŋ = góŋ t^hỳ-tçíŋ pá là nànì mà nì hà. 2SG = AGT FR.SP-see do:PFV:N.EGO seems NMLZ.CONSTR

'(...) it seems (to me) that you saw it.' (CV09.39.2)

Four initial observations on its function can be noted. First of all, the construction seems to be used when both speaker and addressee know the information. In (1196) the speakers are talking about general events that everybody knows. In (1197) two speakers are recalling a story from when they were little and encountered a snake together. Examples (1191), (1193) and (1194) above also convey this meaning of shared information.

(1196) tí tⁱóŋ... nŏŋ từngừn tếj zð = dáw mò dà.
chicken one:CLF:thing so eagle come = IPFV:N.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR
L: 'One chicken... eagles³⁷² come regularly.' (CV04.68)

³⁷² tæŋæŋtéj is Lābǎi Pǔmǐ speech variety; the Wǎdū word for 'eagle' is tǎ or tsæŋæŋtéj.

€Ļ=ùĻ	pǐŋ=wù=là	q ^h à-qú	¢ə́=dàw	mə dà.				
chicken = PL	forest = in = also	OUT-lay.egg	go=IPFV:N.EGO	NMLZ.CONSTR				
S: 'The chickens normally go to the forest to lay eggs.' (CV04.69)								

(1197) tcinmin = bù tón cdi = sen mà sen fià. house = TOP speak go = PFV.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR

'When I got home, I told (the people there).' (CV22.46.4)

Example (1198) is interesting in that it shows a second person statement with the egophoric marker = du instead of the expected non-egophoric = daw (§8.3.2). My main consultant said that when the nominalization construction is not present = du cannot be used, but instead the sentence would run $z\hat{v}gi$ $k^{h}i = bu$, \acute{v} $jvm\acute{a}$ pu = su tca = daw. This ties in with the pragmatics of shared knowledge: the egophoric marker = du can be used since the speaker has the same knowledge about the situation as the addressee.

(1198) zégì k^hì=bù, é jèmá pú=şù tçà=dù mà dù fià.
later time=TOP 1SG monk do=VOL:SG say=IPFV:EGO:2SG NMLZ.CONSTR
'Later you said, "I want to be a monk." ' (CV11.16)

Secondly, the construction is used to make an utterance more gentle and less direct. An example can be seen in (1195) above. In this example, a previous speaker has just claimed to have auditory evidence for an action; the current speaker now politely protests that the addressee rather had visual evidence for the action. If the sentence had finished with a plain $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ n = ni instead of the nominalization, the statement would have been very direct. Another example that expresses politeness is shown in (1199). Here the speaker gently disagrees with one of the other speakers who claims that an action was done the year before.

(1199) zépù mă=dz>, púpù dz> m> dz>.
last.year NEG=be this.year be NMLZ.CONSTR
'It wasn't last year, it was this year.' (CV14.130)

Thirdly, it can have a counter-expectational sense. Example (1192) above shows Bear who is being tricked by Hare into eating his eyes on the assumption that they will be deliciously sweet. Example (1200) can be said when one orders a beef dish and when it is served it looks like pork, and example (1201) can be said when something is pricier than expected.

(1200) tç^hwà-şə dzə mə dzà
pig-meat be NMLZ.CONSTR
'Oh, it's pork.' (EL:W-C1.9)

(1201) p^hù-téj zù = dáw mè dà price-big very = IPFV:N.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR 'It is very expensive!' (TC06.26EL)

Fourthly, it seems to be used when a speaker realizes something and additionally wants to pass on that realization to others. (1202) is the concluding statement of a discussion in which the current speaker is trying to work out how the addressee made his way back home. After everything has been explained very clearly, she remarks:

(1202) píçì $m e \eta e \eta = n o \eta$ ni = dz a p p i = n o nafternoon = only older.sibling = COORD last.night LOG = DUkwen = nonpù è-t¢^hóŋ má t¢^hòŋ fià téjèj younger.sibling = COORD together do IN-come:PFV:N.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR '(...) only last night the two of them, older and younger brother came back together.' (CV02.35.2)

The situation is now clear in her mind and she wants to express that the situation is now totally clear to everybody.

An additional example that should be mentioned does not clearly tie in with any of the above-mentioned examples. In (1203) the use of the nominalization construction implies that the speaker wards off the responsibility of some action: he is afraid A will hold him responsible for Phintshu's action. The neutral answer would be $p^{h}i\eta ts^{h}u = go\eta q^{h}\partial - dzw\partial$ 'Phintshu ate it'.

(1203) tá tçídù híŋ = gòŋ q^hà-dzwâ? this orange who = AGT OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO A: 'Who ate that orange?' p^{h} íŋts^hú = gòŋ q^hà-dzwá mà dzwà fià T:Phun.tshogs = AGT OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR

B: 'Phintshu ate it.' (But it is his responsibility, not mine) (CV06.12EL)

8.6.3 V mə dzi

The nominalization $m \partial dzi$ is used to make a claim to epistemic authority and to express agreement with the statement of a previous speaker: 'I know that as well, I agree with what you just said'. The pragmatic core is that 'self' knows the information and agrees with 'other' based on that (this can be nicely compared to the construction $m \partial dza$, see §8.6.4). It can follow a (partial) repetition of the utterance of the previous speaker, as in (1204), and it often occurs with the stative verb dzin 'to be true', as in (1205) and (1206). In (1205) the speaker joins in with what Grandmother Lhamtsho has just been saying about their extended household.

(1204) ádzà é=bú, ní=gà n^jǽ=wù ¢э́ má dzà tá zù that-location:GEN this $1SG = TOP \ LOG = GEN$ eye=in go very GNOMIC tçàw. say:IPFV:N.EGO G: '(He) said that he is very satisfied³⁷³ with me.' (CV21.278.2) $c \hat{z} \hat{z} \hat{u} = q \hat{z} \hat{j}$ má dzì, ájòŋ, lú t^hè-bé hòn-dzí go very = EXPT NMLZ.CON INTJ work FR.SP-develop in-location Y: '(He) will be very satisfied, oh, working over there up the valley (...)' (CV21.279) t^{hj}ž dàbú-ná (1205) wùçð Jæn tí = bù dzóŋ New.Year then-near about long one=TOP Sit $d \partial \eta = q \partial j = d \partial w$ há... mà dzà, $\acute{e} = dzà$, become = EXPT = IPFV:N.EGO GNOMIC Q = beINTJ L: '(...) so at New Year it will be good to sit around a bit longer, isn't it?' Hahaha! (CV21.33) dzín^jæ, *ájù* dzín má dzì. really INTJ true NMLZ.CON B: 'Really! Ojo, (what you are saying) is really true!' (CV21.34.1) (1206) ¢ǐŋ má má dzà, dzíŋ má dzì, fiěŋ, dzíŋ mó dzì, Ch:surname Ch:Ma GNOMIC true NMLZ:CON INTJ true NMLZ.CON má = _Jà éďà láts^hú dèjèj tóŋ kè=dâw. grandma T:lHa.mtsho speech speak capable = IPFV:N.EGO person = PL:GEN'(We all) have the surname Ma, it's true, right, it's true; that Grandmother Lhatshu speaks really well.' (CV21.50)

The use of *mə dzi* can simply mark agreement with the previous speaker, but can also be used as a turn-taking device used by a speaker to indicate that she has the same knowledge (epistemic authority) as the previous speaker and wants to take a turn at communicating this knowledge as well. This turn-taking use is illustrated in (1207). One of the speakers has been telling about an old man who visited a few days previous to the conversation, and the speaker in (1207) wants to take a turn at telling the rest of the story. She agrees with the previous speaker and then moves on to tell what happened when the old man left their household.

³⁷³ An idiom, literally phrased as 'to go in one's eyes'.

```
(1207) ébàw, mà = d\alpha = g\alpha
                                          tçŭşà
                                                        qóŋqòŋmámá=gà ná
                                                                                    tí
                                           Ch:merely extroverted = GEN
        INTJ
                NEG = resemble = GEN
                                                                              thus one
        tc^{h} \partial \eta = s i
                             mà dzì.
        come:N.EGO = INF NMLZ.CON
        'My oh my! (He) was an extraordinarily extroverted one.' (CV07.78.1)
                                     t¢<sup>h</sup>ǎ
        ni = q a
                      gwen = bi
                                             tá-tcí
                                                        \dot{e} = k\dot{e}j = s\dot{e}\eta
        LOG = GEN
                      horse = DAT food
                                             UP-feed Q = let = PFV:EGO
        '(He asked) whether (we) had fed his horse and (...)' (CV07.78.2)
```

Additionally, the use of $m \partial dzi$ has a softening effect, expressing agreement with others in a gentle, moderate and not too straightforward way, as in (1208), where the first speaker is considered not so courteous in her behaviour towards others and the second person agrees in a gentle way. If the normal nominalization $m \partial dz \partial$ had been used instead, it would have been very straightforward.

 $(1208) \dot{e} = b\hat{i}...,$ mǎ = wèŋ $t\dot{u} = l\dot{a}$ è=bí má pù tcð 1SG = DATperson do NEG = be.able anything = also1SG = DATsay m e = h atcàw. NEG:EMPH = oughtsay:IPFV:N.EGO L: '(My husband) said to me, "(You) can't behave like a person, don't say anything at all." (CV14.138) dzínⁱ á dzín má dzì. really true NMLZ.CON Y: 'Really, that's true!' (CV14.139)

8.6.4 V mə dza

The nominalization $m\partial dza$ is used when speakers know or imply that the addressee knows the information that is being shared. The pragmatic core is that 'other' knows the information and 'self' agrees with 'other' based on that (this can be nicely compared to the construction $m\partial dzi$, see §8.6.3). Thus the use of $m\partial dza$ can sometimes carry polite overtones, as in the situation where speakers tell an addressee how something should be done. If speakers use the general nominalization $m\partial dz\partial$, the utterance is very straight and rather curt, but if they use $m\partial dza$, they are implying that the addressee knows about it and is not stupid. This gives face to the addressee, and thus makes it more polite. The form [dza] seems to be a fusion of the equational copula $dz\partial$ and the correct knowledge marker fia (§8.8.1.4).

An example expressing the shared information between the speaker and the addressees is given in (1209). The speaker addressees people from her extended household who

all know this information. Example (1210) shows a polite reading: the speaker is telling the addressee how something needs to be done, without being to directive.

 $(1209) \acute{e} - b \acute{u} = b \acute{u},$ dàbǔ q^hètsèj-má t^hè-dzù jèhǎ lázù 1-household = TOP small-NMLZ all Ch:cured.meat FR.SP-make then t^hé t^jóŋ ĥà t^jóŋ $dz\dot{u} = d\dot{a}w$ tà LINK all.the.time one:CLF:thing one:CLF:thing only make = IPFV:N.EGO má dzá mà dzà, tságôŋ. NMLZ.INCL pork.back GNOMIC 'Our household made cured meat of all the small ones, and only made pork

back of some (big ones).' (CV21.146)

(1210) l^jé kèj=bù dèbǔ nè-phá k^hì, kwí l^jé = là tongue EXIST.IN let = TOP then DOWN-cut.in.half time tongue = also ná-phà $t^{h}\dot{e}$ - $d\dot{o}\eta = q\dot{e}j$ p^há bàw, $\partial -dz i = l a$ two-CLF:single FR.SP-become = EXPT CONTR this-location = also cut.in.half dzà mà dzà. be NMLZ.INCL

'If (you) let the tongue stay inside, when you cut (the head) in half, the tongue will also turn into two halves regrettably, (we) need to also cut (it) in half here.....' (CV18.46.2)

When a clause ends in the equational copula $dz\hat{\sigma}$ and is nominalized, it is sometimes difficult to distinguish whether it is the $m\hat{\sigma} dza$ nominalization or the $V m\hat{\sigma} V fa$ nominalization (§8.6.2), since both result in the surface structure $dz\hat{\sigma} m\hat{\sigma} dza$. Structurally, however, the nominalized clauses should be interpreted as [$dz\hat{\sigma} m\hat{\sigma} dz\hat{\sigma}$ fia] versus [$dz\hat{\sigma} [m\hat{\sigma} dza$]]. The two nominalizations show certain overlap (cf. the discussion of $V m\hat{\sigma} V fa$ in §8.6.2): they can both express shared knowledge and render a polite reading, and they both seem to contain the correct knowledge marker fia (§8.8.1.4).

Another type of homophony is easier to differentiate. This homophony happens when the clause-final confirmative marker \hat{a} (§8.8.2.2) follows the general nominalization $m \partial dz \partial$ (§8.6.1) which in faster speech has a surface pronunciation [m ∂ dza]. This is easy to differentiate from the nominalization $m\partial dza$, since the nominalization $m\partial dza$ does not appear in interrogative clauses. Thus, since example (1211) is a question, it is clear that the nominalization construction used is not $m\partial dza$, but $m\partial dz\partial$, followed by the question particle \hat{a} .

(1211)) á-pù	tà=ıæ	¢ǽ	kéj = dáw	mà dzà,	á-pà
	that-under	this = PL:GEN	cut	let = IPFV:N.EGO	NMLZ.INCL	that-under:GEN
	tçə̀lì = gǽ spring = gen	pû? under				

'Is it allowed to cut under there?' Below the spring under there?' (CV04.60)

8.6.5 V mə ta

The nominalization $m \partial t a \sim m \partial t^{j} a^{374}$ indicates a sudden result of purposeful looking and alerts others to the fact. The origin of *ta* is unclear at this point.³⁷⁵ *m \u03b8 ta* can be used when somebody has told you that at a certain place in the road you will find something and you suddenly see it:

(1212) âw, à-dzí dzá mà tà
INTJ this-location be NMLZ.ALERT
'Oh, it's right here!' (CV24.15.2EL)

This is also illustrated in example (1213) where speaker L is unable to locate a certain piece of meat and speaker N points it out to her. Thereupon she is able to locate it and ends her utterance with *mə ta*.

(1213)) sǒŋ	sòŋ = b	рú	dzá	mà,	t ^j óŋ		kí	t ^h è-zwà	
	three	three =	= TOP	be	INFO	one:CLF	thing:	where	FR.SP-ca	rry:PFV:N.EGO
	L: 'Three (pieces of meat) is (right), where did (that) one piece go?' (CV21.581)								go?'	
	à-tû, that-ur	à nder t)-tû, hat-un	ıder	màŋ· lowei	-tú r.end-un	t der o	^j óŋ one:CLF:th	têj. 11ng Exis	ST.H
	N: 'On here, on here, there is one on the lower end (of the tripod).' (CV21.582)								od).'	
	fiăw, è-tú mà INTJ this-under low		màŋ-	màŋ-tú k ^h ấ		k ^h ə́-twì=sì			mà tà.	
			lower	r.end-under OUT-p		out-pi	OUT-put:PFV:N.EGO = INF		NMLZ.ALERT	
	L: 'Oh, (somebody) put it on the lower end.' (CV21.583)									

In addition to realizing something, *mə ta* also implies that one wants to alert others to the fact. In example (1214) the conversation has been a discussion about where the

 $^{^{374}}$ This free alternation between the palatalized and non-palatalized consonant is yet another indication of the wave of palatalization that is active in the Půmĭ area (cf. §2.1.7, §2.4.5 and §2.4.7).

³⁷⁵ No other *ta* morpheme in the language shows this palatalization alternation, so it cannot be clearly related to anything else

household originated from. It is said that two brothers separated many generations ago; one went to the lowlands and the other to the highlands. Throughout the discussion it became clear that the people of the current household are the descendants of the older brother, and the speaker in (1214) wants to share his preliminary conclusion with the others. Note that he is not totally sure of the epistemic truth of his statement and frames it as epistemic uncertainty using the construction *si daw* (§8.4.3).

(1214) nǒŋ má = Jà Jóŋdíŋ-mà-bù pèj tçíŋ-bù person = PL lowland-person-household older.sibling child-household SO tcà $k^{h}i = b\dot{u}$. dzà ìη-bú pèj-bú say time = TOP 1:INCL-household older.sibling-household be sì dàw mà tà. EPIST:probably NMLZ.ALERT

'But the people of the lowland say that we are the older child's household, so we probably are the older brother's household.' (CV25.20)

A little bit later on in the same conversation after more discussion the same speaker repeats with more certainty this time:

(1215) pèj-b ú	dzà	=dàw	mà tà,
older.sibling-household	be	= IPFV:N.EGO	NMLZ.ALERT
pèj-b ú older.sibling-household	dzə be	mà. INFO	
'It's the older brother's (CV25.27)	house	hold, it is the	older brother's household.'

In the second clause he uses the informative attitude marker *ma* (§8.8.1.3) which usually marks that the speaker informs others strongly about a certain situation.

Depending on the context *mə ta* can carry overtones of haughtiness, for example when alerting someone to something they should know but do not: "You don't know this? It's like this..." or even "Don't you know it is this way?! I'm telling you...". Example (1216) has a speaker repeat somebody else's invitation to me (the researcher whom she assumes might not know enough Pǔmǐ yet to understand) and she wants to make totally clear that I get the gist of what the previous speaker has said:³⁷⁶

³⁷⁶ Note also the chunky information structure. She probably assumes that that will make it easier for me to process.

(1216) tçíŋmíŋ tó-jí tçà = dàw mà tⁱà, tó-çòŋ, home UP-come:IMP:SG say = IPFV:N.EGO NMLZ.ALERT UP-go:IMP:SG
tà-bă wù, ósæ?
3-household:GEN interior CONFIRM
'(She) is telling (you) to come up to (her) house, go up there, to their house, okay?' (CV21.28)

Example (1217) is a question about a word that is used in a libration ritual, and speaker N takes it as something that speaker P should know, since the ritual is often performed and people can usually recall the words from memory.

(1217) p^héjídéjí $min = q\hat{a}$ jìsà dzâ? Phajidraji what = GEN Ch:meaning be P: 'What is the meaning of 'Phajidraji'?' (CV24.32) $p^{h}éjídéjí = bù$ dàbů (...) tà = g \check{a} mà tà. jìsź dzá Phajidraji = TOP this = GEN Ch:meaning then be NMLZ.ALERT N: 'As for 'Phajidraji', the meaning of this is (...) (don't you know?).' (CV24.33)

In conclusion on the different nominalization structures introduced in this section, this excerpt from a conversation nicely shows the use of the different nominalization constructions in context:

(1218) zépù é çǽ mà dzà, é=dzà? âw, zépù $m\check{a} = dz\check{a}$. last.year 1SG cut GNOMIC o = beINTJ last.year NEG = beP: 'Last year it was I who cut it, isn't it? Oh, not last year.' (CV14.107) (gnomic statement; self-correction) (three lines left out) dzá mà dzì. zépù last.year be NMLZ.CON Z: 'It was last year.' (CV14.111) (agreement with the first utterance of speaker P) tcùbù tsáw = jæ pù dzà mà dzà. earth.wall pound = PL:GENyear be NMLZ.INCL S: 'It was the year of building the earth wall.' (CV14.112) (polite disagreement, the year of building was not 'last year')

tçùbù Jubh $dz \hat{z} = q \hat{z} j$, tsáw = _Jǽ pù, ásèŋ? year.before.last be = EXPTearth.wall pound = PL:GEN year AGR Y: 'It must have been the year before last, the year of building the earth wall, right?' (CV14.113) (indefinite statement: $= q\epsilon j$ makes it epistemically less certain than $dz \partial by$ itself) $m\check{a} = dz\check{a}$ nŏn zépù â? last.year NEG = beso CONF Z: 'So it wasn't last year?' (CV14.114) mæ? What Y: 'What?' (CV14.115) zépù dzà mà dzà. last.year be NMLZ.INCL L: 'It was last year.' (CV14.116) (polite restatement) Júpù t^hè-dòŋ mà dzà. year.before.last FR.SP-become GNOMIC P: 'It is already two years ago.' (CV14.117) (initial speaker's restatement phrased as a gnomic statement) dzà, zépù dzà t^jčj. Jubh tçàw year.before.last be last.year be say:IPFV:N.EGO INTJ S: 'It was the year before last. Look, (he) said it was last year.' (CV14.118) (epistemically certain statement; the speaker makes fun of speaker Z) zépù té-kù $k^{h}\hat{\partial}-n\hat{i}=s\hat{e}\eta$ mà sèn fià, t^hùlì last.year one-CLF:year OUT-rest = PFV:EGO NMLZ.CONSTR hare $k^{h} \hat{a} - n \hat{i} = s \hat{e} \eta$ wú=jà pù mà sèn fià. zodiac.cycle = PL:GEN OUT-rest = PFV:EGO NMLZ.CONSTR year Y: 'Last year we rested one year. In the year of the Hare we rested.' (CV14.119) (realization that will influence the discussion, so speaker shares it) (introduction of new conversation topic)

8.6.6 The question of embedding

A question that should be dealt with now is whether Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has non-embedded nominalization or not. As has been noted in §8.6.1, several functions that are expressed

by non-embedded nominalization constructions in other Tibeto-Burman languages are expressed by embedded nominalization in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. There are no examples in the corpus of clausal nominalizations that end in a nominalizer $m\partial$ clause-finally, but all clausal nominalizations are followed by either the equational copula $dz\partial$ (§8.6.1) or the forms dzi (§8.6.3), dza (§8.6.4), or ta (§8.6.5). As suggested above, the form dza is a fusion of the copula and the correct knowledge marker.

The origin and status of the morpheme dzi, however, is not clear. Two analyses are possible. The first analysis is that dzi is a fusion of something with the equational copula $dz\hat{a}$. This is a likely analysis, since the initial consonants are the same, and it is in line with the analysis of the form dza. However, one would have to account for the final [i] by positing something like a morpheme -i that merged with the copula to produce this form. A morpheme -i has not been attested elsewhere in the language. If one analyses dzi as a form of the equational copula, the nominalization construction ma dzi should be interpreted as embedded nominalization.

Another analysis is that the morpheme dzi is unrelated to the equational copula $dz\hat{a}$, and is rather an attitude particle. In that case, $m\hat{a} dzi$ should be analysed as a nonembedded nominalization. This would expain why this nominalization construction cannot be followed by other attitude particles (whereas the general nominalization construction $m\hat{a} dz\hat{a}$ can be followed by attitude particles).

The form dzi occurs in one other environment outside of the nominalization construction: it follows the permissive/suggestive auxiliary *ta* (§7.9.7) and softens the force of the suggestion, as illustrated in (1219). Grammatically it could be left out.

(1219) nìŋ = t^{4} t^húlátçí bôŋ, $\dot{v} = t^{4}$ pù tswéŋ z^{4} tà 2 = PL Ch:tractor EXIST.POSS 1:EXCL = PL:GEN under pull come can dzì, t^{0} . be.CON pine.torch

'You have a tractor, (you) can come take pine torches down under our place.' (CV14.250)

One could say that since it follows dzi auxiliary, it should rather be interpreted as an attitude particle. However, according to my main consultant the normal equational copula $dz\hat{\sigma}$ is used in the Mùdǐqīng speech variety and his intuition is that dzi is a copular form. Based on these facts, I am tending towards the analysis of dzi as a copular form and its corresponding nominalization construction as an embedded nominalization.

The morpheme ta in the nominalization construction m a ta cannot be interpreted as a form of the equational copula, but what the origin is, is not clear at this point. The

attitudinal situation marker *ta* (§8.8.1.8) is a dialectal form that is rarely used in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. Other forms such as the suggestive auxiliary *tâ* (§7.9.7), the morpheme *ta* that appears in plural constructions (§10.7), or the adverb *ta* 'only' are homophonous, but do not show the palatalization alternation that *ta* in *mə ta* ~ *mə tⁱa* shows. Thus it is difficult to establish whether *ta* should be taken as an attitude marker of some sort, in which the nominalization is non-embedded, or whether is is verbal, in which case the nominalization is embedded.

Thus a more definitive answer to the question whether Pǔmǐ has non-embedded nominalization awaits further research.

8.6.7 Double nominalizations

Double nominalizations occur in two possible orders, $[m \partial dz \partial] [m \partial dz dz]$ and $[m \partial dz \partial] [m \partial dz dz]$ and $[m \partial dz \partial]$ $[m \partial dz dz]$, as shown in (1220) and (1221). The first shows a gnomic statement ($m \partial dz \partial$) that has just been realized by the speaker (= daw) who agrees with the previous speaker ($m \partial dz dz$). Example (1221) is an equative clause with a nominalized constituent ($n \partial -m \partial$) that is presented as a gnomic statement ($m \partial dz \partial$) and indicates shared knowledge ($m \partial dz a$). The other nominalizations described in §8.6 do not co-occur.

(1220) n

tí m

m

d

m

d

d

m

d

d

m

d

d

m

d

d

m

d

d

m

d

d

m

d

d

m

d

d

m

d

d

m

d

d

m

d

d

m

d

d

m

d

d

m

d

d

m

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

d

<lid>d

d

d

d

d

d

(1221) tç^hèttádzá = qèj, hòŋ-dzánŏŋljèk^háw[ná-má][dzà]Cordycepsonlybe = EXPTin-location:GENsoearringthus-NMLZbe[mà dzà][mà dzà].GNOMICNMLZ.INCLNMLZ.INCLSo<

'It was not only Cordyceps, but also over there (we) ate the 'one like an earring' (=hazel flower).' (CV21.301)

8.7 Co-occurrence of post-verbal marking

This chapter has introduced the different non-egophoric/evidential, epistemic and nominalization constructions and shown their functions indicating involvement of the speaker, source of knowledge, degree of certainty about the truth of the proposition, inclusive versus exclusive knowledge, and speaker attitude. Wǎdū Pǔmǐ shows a complex layering of the different non-egophoric/evidential markers, epistemic constructions and nominalization constructions. The most elaborate example from the corpus is given in (1222). The different chunks are bracketed.

(1222) nìŋ-b ú	\mathbf{q}^{h}	òŋ	dwè	e=[qéj=dàw]	[sì dàw]
2-hous	2-household life		brea	ak = EXPT = IPFV:N.EGO	EPIST:probably
[tçə̀=	dàw]	[tçàv	w]	[mè tçàw fià].	
say=I	PFV:N.EGO	HSY		NMLZ.CONSTR	

'(...) your household will probably soon die, (he) said, it is said.' (CV20.47)

This section will illustrate the different combinational possibilities that are attested in the corpus. Subsequent research might show additional combinations.

One of the problems in the combination of different markers is how to interpret the layers. As has already been shown for *si daw* (§8.4.3) and *mə dzə qej* (§8.4.6) above, the combination of these markers forms a construction that is more than the added meaning of the separate parts: both *si daw* and *mə dzə qej* should be interpreted as one layer ([*si daw*] / [*mə dzə qej*]) instead of two layers ([*si*] [*daw*] / [*mə dzə qej*]).³⁷⁷ There is one other combination, *qej daw* that appears in (1222), that could possibly be seen as a single construction.

The combination qej daw denotes that a speaker has current evidence (expressed by the non-egophoric imperfective marker = daw) of the initial stages of a development that will result in a future state (expressed by the expectational = qej). Depending on the action that is portrayed by the predicate, there will be more or less time between the time of speaking and the resulting end point of the action which can render the prospective meaning 'about to', as in (1223) and (1224). The use of qej daw is different from the use of = qej, as show in (1225), where no indication is given of current evidence, but only of expectation. In that example, qej daw could be used as well, since the speaker does have current evidence of the size of the addressee's feet. The use of qej daw would denote that the development of the foot has already started, but the endpoint of it being big is still years away.

tá- t c^h wá qèj dàw k^hì = nòŋ, (1223) lùn^jěŋ $m \dot{e} l^{j} \dot{u} = q^{h} \dot{u} \quad j \dot{e} s \dot{e} \eta = t \dot{i} = g \dot{o} \eta n \dot{i},$ time = only tail = onpython **UP-pass** PROSP $\operatorname{arrow} = \operatorname{INDF} = \operatorname{INS}$ hàw-ná è-t^jàw tá $p\dot{a} = s\dot{i}$ tçàw. pú this-thus do IN-touch one do:PFV:N.EGO = INFHSY 'When the python was about to pass by, (he) touched the tail a bit with an arrow like this, it is said.' (TC02.63)

³⁷⁷ This is the main reason that I gloss them together.

(1224) jǎw púqá hǒŋ hǒŋ nɨ pú nè-dzóŋ hà púqá nɨ-tsà again shoe INTJ INTJ thus do DOWN-sit LINK shoe two-CLF:section dzù qèj dâw.
make PROSP

'Hey, hey, (your) shoe; when you sit like this, (your) shoe is about to break in two parts.' (CV13.48.2)

(1225) t^hớ p^híŋts^hú $k^{h}i = bu$, ¢é zǔ, nǒŋjà káw nà foot be.big very uncle(MB) T:Phun.tshogs time = TOP SO thus p^{h} ínts^hú = gà káw t^há $n\hat{a} = q\hat{c}\hat{j}$. uncle(MB) T:Phun.tshogs = GENfoot thus = EXPT

'(Your) feet are very big, when (you are) the same as Uncle Phintshu later, (your feet) will be like Uncle Phintshu's feet.' (CV01.41)

Based on the current data, the post-verbal constituent order is laid out in Table 8.10.

V	Customary marking	Evidential marking (aspect, modality)	Nominalization	Epistemic marking	Attitude marking
	<i>weŋ</i> (§8.5)	(Vinfl) ø (§8.3.1)	<i>mə dzə</i> (§8.6.1)	si daw	mə V
	$a^{h}u$ (§8.5)	<i>daw</i> (§8.3.2)	mə dzə daw	(§8.4.3)	ĥa
	4 . (0000)	aci(8833)	(§8.7)	sə ti	(§8.6.2)
		<i>qej</i> (80.5.5)	mə dzə si (§8.7)	(§8.4.4)	mə dzi
		<i>qɛj daw</i> (§8.7)		mə dzə qej	(§8.6.3)
		si (§8.3.1)		(§8.4.6)	mə dza
		<i>tiŋ</i> (§8.3.4)		.Įæ nəni	(§8.6.4)
				(§8.4.5)	mə ta
				çæ ţa	(§8.6.5)
				(§8.4.5)	several
					markers
					(§8.8)

The customary markers $q^{h}u$ and wen (§8.5) still occupy the auxiliary slot, in that wen can be followed by = qaw and = si, as in (1226) and (1227). Both can also be followed by nominalization and attitude markers, as in (1228), and epistemic marking as in (1162) above. The combination in (1227) is not often used: there is only one example in the corpus.

(1226) fið, dzín^j \acute{a} ó-q^h \acute{u} k^hð-tì w $\acute{e}\eta = d$ $\acute{a}w$. INTJ really that-on OUT-put CUST.EXCL = IPFV:N.EGO

'Oh, (you two households) really put it on top.' (CV21.571)

(1227) $n\check{i} = b\check{i} = b\check{u}$ tç^hú l $\check{e}j$ w $\check{e}\eta = s\hat{i}$. spring = DAT = TOP crops sow CUST.EXCL = INF 'In spring we (start to) grow crops.' (CL03ed.4)

ts^hàjì (1228) dèbǔ téçá ĥà p^héjídéjí tçà ĥà ná pú then LINK Phajidraji say thus do T:bKra.shis T:Tshe.ring LINK tá-t¢^hí q^hù tì-dzì mà dzà mà, ěŋ!... up-location UP-feed CUST.INCL GNOMIC INFO INTJ

'Then, one says Zhaci Tshering 'Phajidraji' and one goes up (the geneology) like that.' (CV24.47.3)

The evidential markers $=q\epsilon j$ and =daw and the construction $q\epsilon j daw$ can be followed by several epistemic constructions and attitude markers. See also examples (1143), (1147), (1149), (1159), (1163) and (1206) above.

(1229) jóŋtçíŋ = tù n^{j} á thá cé = dàw sà tì T:dByangs.cin = on 2SG:GEN foot be.big = IPFV:N.EGO EPIST:most.probably k^{h} ? trail

'Your feet are most probably bigger than Yongjin's?' (CV01.45)

(1230) $q^h \grave{e} t i$ $p \acute{u} = d \acute{a} w$ $J \grave{e} n \grave{e} n \grave{e} n \grave{e}$. certain.thing do = IPFV:N.EGO seems

'It seems (to me) that (they) do certain things.' (CV21.578.2)

(1231) $n\dot{e} = g\dot{a}$ $\dot{e}k\dot{a}w$ -lì $p^{h}i\eta ts^{h}\dot{u}$ $dz\dot{a} = q\dot{e}j$ sì dàw. brain = DEF uncle(MB)-DIM T:Phun.tshogs eat = EXPT EPIST:probably 'Young Uncle Phintshu will probably eat the brain.' (CV18.97)

(1232) d^jǎw q^hắt¢í è-zwéŋ=qèj bàw. again Kaji IN-block=EXPT CONTR

'(...) (they) will block (people) at Kaji (I'm afraid).' (CV14.255)

(1233) pì níŋ tséŋ pù çò qèj dàw sò tì, śsèŋ?
belly painful hit do go PROSP EPIST:most.probably AGR
'(He) will most probably get diarrhea, right?' (CV07.81.2)

The evidential markers =si (§8.3.1) and =tin (§8.3.4) can only be followed by the epistemic construction *in noni* (§8.4.5), as in (1234) and (1153) above, and different attitude markers and constructions, as in (1235) and (1236).

(1235) wútçí Já=n^jæ̀ $s \epsilon j = t \eta$ bàw Ch:Wujin first = just go:PFV.N.EGO = AUD CONTR'(...) (I) heard Wujin leave first, (...)' (CV02.86) (1236) èkáw-lì tá cì $s \epsilon j = s i$ mà tà. uncle(MB)-DIM 3sg lead go:PFV.N.EGO = INFNMLZ.ALERT

'Young uncle went to pick (her) up.' (CV21.115)

The general nominalization construction $m \partial dz \partial$ is interesting in that it can both precede and follow evidential markers. It can follow the evidential markers $= q\epsilon j$ and = daw and the construction $q\epsilon j daw$, and it can be followed by the evidential markers $= q\epsilon j$, = daw, and = si. The combination $m\partial dz\partial q\epsilon j$ has been shown to be an epistemic construction (§8.4.6) and will not be treated here. The other combinations are illustrated below:

(1237) búbúlì sjì-swí $dz \delta = q \delta j$ mà $dz \delta$. Bubuli Ch:eleven-Ch:years.old be = EXPT GNOMIC 'Bubuli will be eleven.' (CV12.9)

- (1238) Jwè lí = dáw mè dzè â? yak herd = IPFV:N.EGO GNOMIC CONF '(Their household) is herding yaks?' (CV14.237)
- (1239) jǎw t $\dot{a} = t\dot{a} = b$ ì è = tçà = bù, tóŋhóŋts^héj = wù kè again this = PL = DAT Q = calculate = TOP Ch:Dongfeng.truck = in afraid tí c $\dot{a} = q$ èj = dàw mà dzà. one go = EXPT = IPFV:N.EGO GNOMIC

'(...) if one calculates these ones (=tractors), a lot more will go in a Dongfeng truck.' (CV19.49)

The combination of the nominalization construction $m\partial dz\partial$ (§8.6.1) and the current evidential = daw (§8.3.2) indicates that the gnomic situation has just recently been

discovered by the speaker: an instance of mirativity. (This is often followed by the attitude marker $k^{h}i$, described in §8.8.1.12). This is illustrated in examples (1240) and (1241) where the speaker had not expected that situation (see also example (1049) above). In (1240), the speaker mentions that people from a certain village are taking a different route than in the past, since they recently moved. This is relatively new information that has not been incorporated into the knowledge system of the speaker. In example (1241) the speaker had been told that the addressee was in a certain place, but then he ran into her in a different place.

 $m\dot{a} = t^{h}\dot{o}\eta$ k^hí $q^{h}\dot{u} = g \dot{n} \dot{v} t^{j} \dot{u}$ ĥà (1240) ěŋ, zŭ INTJ lift head = INS IN-brace NEG = can:N.EGO time LINK ięcș сé cэ́ $m \hat{a} dz \hat{a} = d \hat{a} w$ k^hì pack.load GNOMIC = IPFV:N.EGO packload go TRAIL 'Yes, when (he) was not able to lift (he) used his head to lift and pack luggage, (...)' (CV01.9)

(1241) nǒn làm $\dot{a} = g$ òn nǐŋ hòŋ-pú zì $tc \hat{a} = d \hat{a} w$ k^hì, Lhamu = AGT so 2sg in-under EXIST.AN say = IPFV:N.EGO time à-pú $m \hat{a} dz \hat{a} = d \hat{a} w.$ nǐŋ zí this-under 2sg EXIST.AN GNOMIC = IPFV:N.EGO 'But Lhamu said you were over inwards, but you are actually here!' (PC04w.2.6)

The nominalization construction $m \partial dz \partial (\$8.6.1)$ can also be followed by the inferential evidential =si (\$8.3.1), but it is not clear how the resulting meaning differs from a plain nominalization construction. In the corpus there are only three examples, listed here for further research.

(1242) $c\dot{u}$ \dot{v} -d^j $\dot{d}w$ = n^j \dot{a} t $c^{h}\dot{u}$ $l\check{z}j$ = b \dot{u} n \dot{v} -ts^h \dot{d} m $\dot{d}z\dot{v}$ = s \dot{v} . paddy.rice IN-plant = just crop sow = TOP DOWN-be.finished GNOMIC = INF 'As soon as the paddy rice has been planted, the sowing of crops is finished.' (CL03ed.15)

(1243) wùçà-ựú = bùtágí = bì = nòŋtç^hwà-k^hwè-tç^hwá-l^jè = nòŋnew.year-pine.torch = TOPbeginning = on = only pig-heart-pig-tongue = COORDtsákíşádzì = nòŋdà-zátçàbùçá = q^húmà dzà = sì.pork.back.limb = COORDTO.SP-carrybecausego = CUST.INCLGNOMIC = INF'One needs to go for the new year pine torches only at beginning of the month

and carry the pig heart and tongue and the pork back slice and limbs.' (CV18.54.2)

(1244) $dz \partial k^{h} \dot{a} = b \dot{u} t c^{h} w \dot{i} z \dot{u} m \dot{o} dz \partial = s \dot{i}.$ society = TOP good very GNOMIC = INF

(...) nowadays our society is very good.' (TC10.56)

The epistemic constructions *si daw* (§8.4.3), *sə ti* (§8.4.4) and *mə dzə qej* (§8.4.6) are only followed by attitude markers and constructions, as in (1245) and (1246), and *si daw* can also be followed by *mə ta* (§8.6.5), as in (1247). The epistemic construction *.µx nəni* (§8.4.5) is only followed by the *mə V fia* construction (§8.6.2), as in (1195) above, and *çx* = *ta* (§8.4.5) is not followed by anything else.

'We old women most probably say that there are thirty-three (earth gods), (...)' (CV23.18.3)

- (1246) $q\dot{a}$ -pát \dot{a} = $g\dot{a}$ = bùn \dot{e} -d $z\dot{o}\eta$ m \dot{a} d $z\dot{a}$ q $\dot{e}j$ b $\dot{a}w$.down-under:GENthis = DEF = TOPDOWN-be.piercedEPISTCONTR'The one down there will probably have a leak.' (CV16.12.1)
- (1247) ìŋ-búpèj-búdzè sì dàwmè tà.1:INCL-householdolder.sibling-householdbeEPIST:probablyNMLZ.ALERT

'(...) so we probably are the older brother's household.' (CV25.20)

The attitude markers and attitudinal nominalization constructions can only be followed by the tag-question like attitude marker $\hat{s}seg$ (§8.8.2.6).

8.8 Clause-final (attitude) markers

Attitude markers are clause-final particles that have scope over the whole sentence, rather than the predicate. They express the speaker's emotion or attitude about the proposition or towards the addressee, and some can express level of certainty as well. Similar markers can be found in other Tibeto-Burman languages as well. Post (2007:612) calls such markers 'highly pragmatically-oriented, often clause-final functional words'. Matisoff (1973:365,380) talks about final unrestricted particles, of which some function like punctuation marks. He equates the declarative with a full stop [.], the dubitative with suspension points [...], the interrogative with a question mark [?], the persuasive with an exclamation point plus question mark [!?], the quotative with quotation marks [""] and the interjectory with an exclamation point [!] (1973:366) and notes that their 'only function is to convey a lively, vivid or ejaculatory flavor to the utterances in which they occur'.

Attitude markers do usually not co-occur in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. Exceptions are the marker *noŋ* (§8.8.2.1) which can be followed by $l^i \varepsilon j/l^i x$ (§8.8.2.3) and $w\varepsilon j$ (§8.8.2.4), and the tag question marker *ôseŋ* (§8.8.2.6) which can follow several other attitude markers. The marker *noŋ* developed from a coordination marker into a clause-final attitude marker through a process similar to insubordination (this is discussed in §10.5.3) and can therefore co-occur with the above-mentioned interrogative markers. The marker *ôseŋ* is functionally similar to the other attitude markers, but is structurally more like a tag question: it is often separated from the clause by a pause. The same is true for the confirmation marker *ôsæ* (§8.8.2.7), which however does not co-occur with other attitude markers.

The attitude markers will be presented in two parts: declarative attitude markers are dealt with in §8.8.1 and interrogative attitude markers in §8.8.1.12. These labels are not to be taken as mood categories: the attitude markers do not really change the mood of the clause from declarative to interrogative, but rather occur with one-way statements (declarative attitude markers), or statements that need some kind of reaction from the addressee or express that some kind of question exists in the mind of the speaker that does not necessarily need an answer (interrogative attitude markers). Two residual markers are explored in §8.8.3.

Roughly half of the attitude particles are toneless. This means that they take on the tone of a preceding tone-bearing element. In reality, since they occur clause-finally and are often preceded by other post-verbal toneless elements, they often appear with a low surface level pitch. Additionally, when they follow a focused tone-bearing element, as in (1263), (1270) and (1272), tone from that element does not spread to the attitude marker, and the attitude marker appears in a low surface level pitch. Attitude markers that are presented without tone marks in this section are analysed to be toneless. Following is a list of attitude markers:

	Form	Function	Gloss	Section
	hăw	warning and attention marker	WARN	§8.8.1.1
DECLARATIVE MARKERS	hờŋ	attention marker	ATTENT	§8.8.1.2
	ma	informative marker	INFO	§8.8.1.3
	ĥа	correct knowledge marker	CORR	§8.8.1.4
	dzæ	reminder marker	REMIND	§8.8.1.5
	di	urging marker	URG	§8.8.1.6
	haw	situation marker	SITU	§8.8.1.7

Table 8.11	Attitude	markers
------------	----------	---------

	Form	Function	Gloss	Section
	ta	situation marker Labai	SITU	§8.8.1.8
	baw	negative contrastive situation marker	NEGCON	§8.8.1.9
	êmu	positive attitude marker	POS	§8.8.1.10
	ŀĕj	dissatisfaction marker	DISS	§8.8.1.11
	k ^h i	trailing knowledge marker	TRAIL	§8.8.1.12
	ela	epistemic certainty marker	CERT	§8.4.1
	bă	speculative marker	SPEC	§8.4.2
	noŋ	question marker	QUEST	§8.8.2.1
INTE	â	confirmative marker	CONF	§8.8.2.2
RROC	ŀæ/ŀεj	rhetorical marker	RHET	§8.8.2.3
ATIV	wej	puzzlement marker	PUZ	§8.8.2.4
'E MA]	$t^{j}x$	repetition marker	REP	§8.8.2.5
UKERS	<i>âseŋ</i>	agreement marker	AGR	§8.8.2.6
	<i><i>îs</i>æ</i>	confirmation marker	CONFIR	§8.8.2.7

8.8.1 Declarative attitude markers

8.8.1.1 Warning and attention marker haw

The warning and attention marker $h \check{a} w$ is used for warning or drawing attention to something, a little bit like a double exclamation mark would function in written English. The particle $h \check{a} w$ expresses not so much the attitude of the speaker, but rather the interaction between speaker and addressee. When used at the end of a declarative clause, $h \check{a} w$ often changes it into a statement that closely concerns the addressee and will negatively influence the addressee unless some action is taken. The speaker is basically saying: "I know something that will influence you and I want you to pay attention to what I'm saying (or else...)." Some examples are given below:

(1248) $l_{j}^{j}\dot{e}dz\dot{u}=b\dot{i}$ gw \dot{e} m $\dot{e}=h\dot{a}$, q $\dot{a}=q\dot{e}j$ fiðw. ear=on touch NEG:EMPH=ought bite=EXPT WARN 'Don't touch (the dog's) ear, it will bite!!' (CV16.100)

Example (1249) is taken from the Deluge story. In this example, the attitude marker $h \check{a} w$ is clause-final in the speech clause, but embedded as a quote. The other attitude markers can appear embedded at the end of speech clauses as well.

(1249) "sèŋbǔ q^hùsèŋnź = n^jà tçàdóŋmźdòŋ zà qèj dàw tomorrow day.after.tomorrow = just flood come PROS fiǎw" tçwà = sì tçàw.
WARN say = INF HSY
' "(...) tomorrow or the day after there will be a flood at once!!" (he) said, it is said.' (TC02.13)

In the story of Hare and a trader, the trader is very proud of his features and asks Hare what he thinks:

(1250) "âi, nǐŋ $z\hat{u}t\hat{a} = s\hat{z}$ $tc^hwi = s \dot{a}$ t¢^hwí zŭ $k^{h}i = bu$. 2sg features = CONTR.TOP good = CONTR.TOP good very time = TOP INTJ t¢^há-jì=tì nìŋ = gǽ dzĭ = wù çáw dⁱòŋ haw," tcwa = si2SG = GEN waist = in ritual take-NMLZ = INDF EXIST: AT WARN say = INFtçàw. HSY

'(Hare) said, "Ai, while your features are very good, your waist needs a little adjustment!!" it is said.' (KZ02.5)

 $h\check{a}w$ is often used with a prohibitive to mark a strong negative imperative command. The addition of $h\check{a}w$ implies that a negative outcome will result if the command is not obeyed. In (1251) the negative result will be a language recording that has Chinese in it.

(1251) nǐŋ çè-lí $t^{j} \acute{a} = p \grave{a} w$ hàw, jóŋdóŋ $ni\eta = la$ 2sg Chinese-language PROH-do:IMP:SG WARN T:Gyung.drung 2sG = alsot^hóŋmá-lì pàw dzà. Půmí-language do:IMP:SG be 'Don't you speak Chinese!! Yongzhong, you should speak Půmǐ too.' (CV21.491) (1252) tsé = wù tsén t^jæ-kèj hàw. dirt=in fall.down PROH-let WARN

'Don't let it fall down in the dirt!!' (CV18.149.2)

In the examples following, $h \check{a} w$ is used for drawing attention to a situation, rather than warning the addressee. The situation can be either positive or negative.

(1253)	è-bă		pèj = nóŋ		tá = _J á =	bù	d⁄æŋ=q ^h ù
	1-househo	o ld: GEN	older.sibling = COO	RD	3 = PL =	ТОР	$raised.platform{=}on$
	k ^h à-zà	$\mathbf{k}^{\mathbf{h}}\mathbf{i}$	Į∂-dwèŋ-qóŋ	ma	àŋ-tú	k ^h à-	tì=dàw
	OUT-sleep	time	skin-rope-CLF:circle	be	low-on	OUT	-put = IPFV:N.EGO
	mà dzà	hăw.					
	GNOMIC	WARN					
	Whon my	oldor	brother clopt on the r	oico	d platfor	(my fathar) nut a laath

'When my older brother slept on the raised platform, (my father) put a leather rope at the tail-end (of the bed)!!' (CV12.45.1)

Example (1254) is said by a mother who is visiting her daughter. Her daughter is raised by relatives and she has not seen her for a long time.

(1254) t^{hj}ž nǒŋ tç^hǐ tç^hwí=sí fiǎw, q^hú-màŋ.
about so bind good=INF WARN head-hair
tç^hð-téj nè-dòŋ=sì fiǎw
how.many-be.big DOWN-become=INF WARN
'In that case, (you) did (it) pretty well!! (Your) hair. How big (you) have grown!!' (CV04.5.2)

In example (1255) Bear tastes the candy that Hare gave him and he is under the impression that he is eating Hare's eye. The flavour is surprisingly good and he utters the example in (1255).

ť^jóŋ t^hè-t¢^hwĭ, "î... dzín^jǽ (1255) bú bⁱàlⁱòŋ sugar round.piece one.CLF:thing FR.SP-feed:PFV:N.EGO INTJ really hảw (...)," tcw = sizòŋ zŭ tçàw. delicious very WARN say = INFHSY '(...) (Hare) gave (him) a round candy, "Iii...! That's really delicious!! (...)" (Bear) said, it is said.' (TC06.25)

8.8.1.2 Attention marker höŋ

The attention marker *hŏŋ* is used for alerting people about a fact, or telling people to pay attention to what they are doing:

(1256) n^{j} á $macha{m} = gachanni n n = dzácn = bi swíkú = nan ná = tí$ 2SG:GEN mother = AGT <math>2 = DU = DAT Ch:fruit = COORD thus = INDF $k^{h}a-jwezi fian$ OUT-bring:PFV:N.EGO ATTENT'Your mother has brought some fruit and such for the two of you (...)'(CV02.50)

8.8.1.3 Informative marker ma

The informative marker *ma* occurs after a wide range of utterances. When following an imperative clause or an obligational construction, it marks a strong suggestion, as in (1257) and (1258).

(1257) q^hà-dzáw mà! OUT-eat:IMP:SG INFO

'Eat!' (CV20.57)

(1258) $n \check{o} \eta = d \check{i}$ $\check{e} = d z \check{e} \eta$ $l_{\check{e}}^{j} \acute{e} d \check{u}$ $p \check{u} = c \check{i} \eta$ $t c \check{e} q^{h} \check{u}$ mà. so = DISJ.TOP 1:EXCL = DU friend do = VOL:PL say need INFO

'In that case (you) need to say, the two of us will be friends (...)' (CV07.41.2)

When following a declarative clause it indicates that the speaker informs the addressee of the situation and it gives extra force to the utterance: "I'm telling you, I'm informing you (...can you believe it?!)".³⁷⁸ Depending on the content of the utterance it can sometimes imply a speaker's superior attitude: ³⁷⁹ the speaker knows a piece of information that the addressee does not necessarily know. Examples are given in (1259), (1260) and (1261). It also occurs after exclamations, as in (1262) and (1263). The marker has been described as a suggestive marker for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ (Dīng 1998:223), but since in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ it occurs after a wider range of statements than just imperatives, I have chosen to refer to it as informative marker.

(1259) dǎwmà=bì kǒŋ t^hè-tç^hóŋ tà pàw tçà k^hì=là T:rDo.rje.Dre.ma=DAT door FR.SP-open.door one do:IMP:SG say time=also tç^hà pú è-páŋ=dáw mà. bashful do IN-flee=IPFV:N.EGO INFO

'(...) When (I) told Dauma to open the door, (she) bashfully hid.' (CV02.15)

(1260) ní-bà jăw tçíŋmíŋ = fià nỳ-çặ LOG-household:GEN again home = even DOWN-go tồ-tc^hóŋ = sì mà. UP-come:PFV:N.EGO = INF INFO

'She has even been to her own home and come back.' (CV02.4.2)

³⁷⁸ *ma* might be related to the Chinese final particle \mathfrak{R} *ma*, that indicates that something is obvious. It is not related to the Wǎdū Pǔmǐ general negation marker *mǎ* (§7.2.1) which has a rising tone.

³⁷⁹ One speaker who uses it a lot is characterized as arrogant.

 $(1261) \dot{v} = ni$ kél^jæ é dù = Já tì $m\dot{a} = q\dot{\epsilon}j$ é nà 1sg friend = PL difficult 1SG = AGT1sg thus one NEG = EXPTt¢á = sèŋ mà. say = PFV:EGO INFO B: 'I said that my friends will not have it as difficult as I.' (CV21.6) ájù, dzíŋ mà... INTJ true INFO N: Oh! That's true...' (CV21.7) láw (1262) tçŭşà mà. Ch:right Ch:PFV INFO 'That's totally right!' (CV14.209) kʰwĭ (1263) ájòŋ, mà. INTJ cute INFO

'Oh, so cute.' (CV21.130)

8.8.1.4 Correct knowledge marker ha

The correct knowledge marker *ha* is used for expressing agreement with the previous speaker, based on assessment of the previous speaker's correct knowledge of the situation. The marker *ha* often fuses with the preceding syllable, as in (1264). It is the same marker used in the nominalization constructions $V m \partial dza$ (§8.6.4) and possibly $V m \partial V ha$ (§8.6.2). It is different from the ablative/clause linker *ha*(*Jonni*) (§6.2.9,§10.2,§10.4.3) and the intensifier *ha* (*tcobu*) 'even' (§6.5.2).

(1264) mă=dzà	1264) mǎ = dzà qàŋ-máŋ-bá = bù				píŋmá-ts ^h ə̀ţì			
NEG = be	down-bel	ow-household:	GEN = TOP	Pingma-T	:Tshe.ring	be		
S: 'That's r (CV24.46)	iot right, tl	he (Pingma) fro	om downsta	irs is Ping	ma Tshering	<u>g</u> .'		
qàŋ-máŋ- down-belo	bá = bù w-househo	old:gen = top	píŋmá-ts ^h ð Pingma-T:T	ųì, Ishe.ring	píŋmá-dzà Pingma-Dz	jae		
píŋmá-ts ^h ə Pingma-T:'	म्रो Tshe.ring	dzà. be:CORR						
N: 'The (Pi	N: 'The (Pingma) from downstairs is Pingma Dzjae Pingma Tshering.'							

Sometimes a combination of the correct knowledge marker *ha* and the equational copular $dz\hat{\sigma}$ (§7.5) is used as a complete utterance confirming the statement or question

(CV24.47.1)

of a previous speaker, as in (1265), where the previous speaker just recounted something about an experience they had together when they were young.

(1265) dzâ.

be:CORR

'That's right!' (CV22.46.1)

In (1266), the use of *dza* marks politeness, by implying that the speaker is not stupid, but knows this information already. The use of a plain $dz\hat{\sigma}$ would be more curt.

(1266) jăw có dzò, wùcò uí $mi = gi = m \hat{a}$ dzà. gí again collect go be New-Year-pine.torch NEG:PFV = collect = NMLZ be B: '(I) am going to collect (pine torches) again, the new year pine torches have not been collected yet.' (CV18.52) nǒŋ t $\dot{a} = g\dot{a}$ míŋ dzà? Jù so this = DEF what pine.torch be

W: 'In that case, what kind of pine torch is this?' (CV18.53)

tá = gá = bù	jìpớn=gớ	ıú	tà	dzâ.
this $=$ DEF $=$ TOP	Ch:normal = GEN	pine.torch	only	be:CORR

B: 'This is just a normal pine torch.' (CV18.54)

There are also a few examples where *ha* functions as an attitude marker indicating anger and curtness, as in (1267), where the speaker feels that others misunderstand her. Note that the utterance is referring to self, and thus instead of stating that the previous speaker is correct, it implies that the current speaker said something before which she now states is correct, whatever other people might say.

(1267) mă = dzà, á-q^hù lì-tóŋ téj tçà dòŋ fià.
NEG = be that-on recite-NMLZ EXIST.H say IPFV:EGO:1SG CORR
'No, what (I) am saying is that there is a reciting machine on top of that!' (CV21.466)

Another example is the situation in (1268), proferred by my main consultant, where a speaker feels treated improperly by an impolite question that assumes they are eating meat. (Note that the attitude marker \hat{a} (§8.8.2.2) implies that the speaker is sure of a confirmative answer). The addressee's answer does not indicate whether or not they are eating meat, but rather curtly indicates that since the speaker assumes something, the addressee will leave them under that assumption. The use of the marker *fia* might be seen as sarcastically affirming the previous speaker's wrong assumption of the situation.

(1268) nǐŋ tsá dzá dù à?
2sG meat eat IPFV:EGO:2sG CONF
'So you are eating meat?'
é tsá dzá dóŋ fià
1sG meat eat IPFV:EGO:1sG CORR
'Indeed, I'm eating meat.' (CV21.466EL)

8.8.1.5 Reminder marker dzæ

The attitude marker dzæ 'but you said/did...' is used for reminding somebody of something they have said or done, and have forgotten or are denying now:

```
(1269) é q^{h}\partial -dz\partial = sen.

1sg OUT-eat = PFV:EGO

J: 'I have eaten.' (CV19.60)

non nin mà = dzàw tç\partial = du dza.

so 2sg NEG = eat:IMP:SG say = IPFV:EGO:2sg REMIND

S: 'But you said you did not eat.' (CV19.61)
```

(1270) could be said when somebody is looking for their keys and the speaker had visual evidence of the addressee's carrying of the keys.

(1270) nǐŋ tènóŋ dè-zwă dzæ 2SG just.now TO.SP-carry:PFV:N.EGO REMIND 'But you just carried them!' (CV16.84EL)

In (1271) the child is disgusted with the suggestion that he wants to be a land-plower, but he is reminded that he said so himself a few years before.

(1271) jòjíŋ-mó pù é = şù?
land.plow-NMLZ do Q = VOL:SG
N: 'Do you want to be a land-plower?' (CV11.7)
p^hêi!
INTJ
C: 'Ugh!' (CV11.8)
p^héi t^jà, hêŋ.
INTJ REP INTJ
N: 'Did you say 'Phei'? Hehehe!' (CV11.9)

nǒŋ	nǐŋ	séŋzà		kʰéjşə́	kù		$k^{h}i = n^{j}a = bu$,		míŋ
SO	2sg	Ch:birthd	ay	Ch:start	Ch:celebrate		time=just=TOP		what
pù=	şù	tçà k ^h ì,	é	jàjíŋ = ş	û,	tçà	=dù	dz	à.
do =	EXPT	say time	1sg	land.plo	$\mathbf{W} = \mathbf{E}\mathbf{X}\mathbf{P}\mathbf{T}$	say	= IPFV:EGO:2SG	RE	MIND

W: 'But when you started to celebrate your birthday (a few years ago), when you were asked, "What do you want to do (in the future)?" you said, "I want to plow land." ' (CV11.10)

Note that in both (1269) and (1271) the second person singular egophoric marker = du is used to comment on the addressee's action (and not the current evidential = daw as would be expected with a second person statement, cf. §8.3.2). This expresses the speaker's viewpoint that the addressee was consciously and volitionally involved in the action and thus should know about it, and makes it even more strange that he has now forgotten it or is now denying the fact.

Note also the interesting (non-egophoric/evidential versus egophoric) difference between example (1272) and example (1273) below. (1272) can be said when somebody is looking for a piece of meat that he has just eaten, or when somebody exclaims that he has not had meat in a long time. (1273) can be said when the addressee is sick and is not supposed to eat meat or the particular meat that the addressee ate should not have been eaten. The focus of example (1272) seems to be on the the speaker and the fact that he had visual evidence of the action the addressee is now denying, whereas the focus of (1273) is on the addressee and conscious involvement in the action which he has now forgotten or is now denying.

(1272) nǐŋ tsá q^hà-dzwá dzæ 2sg meat OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO REMIND

'But you ate (the) meat!' (CV11.10EL)

(1273) nǐŋ tsá $q^{h}\partial - dz\partial = du$ $dz\partial ?$ 2SG meat OUT-eat:IPFV:EGO:2SG REMIND

'But you ate (the) meat (you shouldn't have).' (CV11.10EL)

8.8.1.6 Urging marker di

The urging marker *di* is used after imperatives to remind people of an action they should be taking. It is said for example to guests who are not eating, as in (1274), to people who are lingering behind talking when the whole group is heading somewhere else, as in (1275), or to tell a child to do what she has already been told to do, as in (1276).

(1274) q^hà-dzéŋ t^{h} ùtcí = tí = là... dì, OUT-eat:IMP:PL URG pickles = INDF = also'(Y'all) eat, also some pickles....' (CV21.240.1) (1275) éd^jà pⁱǽjóŋ jí dì. grandmother Pjaejong come:IMP:SG URG 'Grandmother Pjaejong, come on!' (CV21.418) $\acute{e}d^{j}\grave{a}=b\grave{1}$ (1276) tí-dzé tĭ tá-zú dì, éď up-in:GEN grandmother = DAT one UP-bring:IMP:SG URG grandmother $ni = n^{j} an^{j} b$ tà zi = qiLOG = onlvonly EXIST.AN = EXPT

'Let me, grandmother (=I) wants to roast (meat); take a bit up to the grandmother from up there, grandmother will be all by herself.' (CV19.97.2)

8.8.1.7 Situation marker haw

A marker haw (different from the rising tone attention/warning marker haw described in §8.8.1.1) is used clause-finally to indicate that a situation is the way it is. It might mark a neutral statement, or indicate that the speaker is slightly disappointed with the situation.

- (1277) èşá tçìŋhú=qêj, tşóŋ tç^hwí pú t^hè-dzú mà dzà fiàw.
 Ch:still Ch:warm.house=EXPT house good do FR.SP-make GNOMIC SITU
 '(They) will give a housewarming party, (they) built a very good house.'
 (CV14.144.1)
- (1278) $t\dot{q}\dot{q} = g\dot{q} = b\dot{u}$ $t^{j}\dot{o}\eta$ tà $n\dot{v}$ - $q\dot{u} = s\dot{e}\eta$ fiàw bone = DEF = TOP one:CLF:thing only DOWN-bite = PFV:EGO SITU '(I) only gnawed one bone; (...)' (CV14.277.3)
- (1279) \dot{e} -bóŋb $\dot{e}j = s\hat{i}$ fiàw, tă tá- $c\dot{e}a = s\hat{i}$. IN-old.and.stiff = INF SITU now UP-old = INF

'(She)'s old and stiff, (she's) old now.' (CV14.152.1)

8.8.1.8 Situation marker ta (Lābǎi speech variety)

The corpus has a few examples of the attitude marker *ta* that is used in the Lābǎi Pǔmǐ speech variety (and according to my main consultant it is used in Mùdǐqīng Pǔmǐ as well). It is not normally used in Wǎdū, and all but one of the occurrences in the corpus are by a single speaker who is visiting from Lābǎi. According to my main consultant, *ta* could be an areal feature, since the Chinese in the Yǒngníng area use it as well, as in *sə lâw ta* (是了嗒) 'that's right!'

ta appears after a description of a situation. Three examples are given below; (1282) by the speaker from Wǎdū:

(1280)	kèdzí = bú	é =	=bù	bú	(tçæŋtçá	eŋ bú)	nóŋp ^h à=nòŋ	jèhǎ
	this.period = TOP	1 = PL =	= TOP	sun	Ch:just.n	low sur	midday = coori) all
	m҉ə́=dáw get.up=IPFV:N.EGC	mà.d: GNOM	zð t IIC S	t à. SITU				
'This period of time we all only get up when the sun is high in the sky (CV04.54)								
(1281)	tá-b ù = bù	Jý = u	^j à	kĭ	kwà	má dzà	tà	
	3-household = TOP	front	= just	sel	ll can	GNOMIC	SITU	
'Their household could have sold it before, ()' (CV14.58.1)								
(1282)	p ú -dzàw-p ú -lù		dzà	tà.				
	self-authority-self-	work	be	SITU	ſ			
	'It was total freedo	om.' (TC	210.52	2)				

The attitudinal *ta* is different from the permissive/suggestive auxiliary $t\hat{a}$ (§7.9.7). This can be clearly seen from example (1281) where the Lābǎi Pǔmǐ variant of the auxiliary is used (*kwǎ*) in the same clause as the attitudinal particle *ta*.

8.8.1.9 Negative contrastive situation marker baw

The toneless marker *baw* marks the discrepancy between the speaker's or addressee's presupposition of a situation or their desire for a situation to be a certain way, and the real situation. It often appears with slightly negative situations.

baw is used when a speaker presupposes a situation and then discovers that the actual situation is the opposite from what he thought. In (1283) the speaker expected the candy he ate to be sweet.

(1283) "nǒŋ q^hà = tá bàw," tçwà = sì tçàw. so bitter = SVM CONTR say:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY ' "But it's bitter," he said it is said.' (TC06.27)

baw is also used when a speaker reacts to an addressee to adjust the preconceived notions of the addressee that are not in line with reality. The use of *baw* indicates that the actual situation is opposite to what the addressee thinks:

(1284) tá pì-téj-mà = Jà = bì t^hè-tc^hù, pìtéjmà, há.....
this belly-big-mother = PL = DAT FR.SP-feed:IMP:SG belly-big-mother INTJ
L: 'Feed those big bellies, the big bellies, hahaha!' (CV21.81)
$\dot{\mathbf{e}} = dz\dot{\mathbf{e}}\eta = b\dot{\mathbf{u}}$ $q^{h}\dot{\mathbf{e}} - dz\dot{\mathbf{e}} = dw\dot{\mathbf{e}}\eta$ bàw. 1 = DU = TOPOUT-eat = IPFV:EGO:N.SG CONTR B: 'But the two of us are eating.' (CV21.82) (1285) *à-pú* zènù = tí têj. here:under hand.pad = INDF EXIST.H S: 'There is a hand pad here.' (CV14.30) zènŭ $m\check{a} = t\check{e}j$ bàw. hand.pad NEG = EXIST.H CONTR

Y: 'There is no hand pad though.' (CV14.31)

In (1286) one of the previous speakers has just stated that the dog does not eat. The speaker in (1286) then responds:

(1286) nǒŋ míŋ dzè wèj, èmá tç^hì k^hí = bù dzé = dáw bàw?
so what be PUZ aunt feed time = TOP eat = IPFV:N.EGO CONTR
'What's the matter? When aunt (=I) feed him, he eats...' (CV14.19)

The use of *baw* implies that she has a certain view of reality that clashes with the view that was just proposed.

baw is also used when a speaker would prefer reality to be different. This discrepancy between desire and reality often carries overtones of unhappiness (in the case of the speaker's desire or wrong presupposition) or empathy with the addressee (in the case of the addressee's desire or wrong presupposition). This can be seen in example (1287) which portrays an irrealis situation; the real situation is that the speaker lives in the countryside and the child is only in second grade. Adding *baw* to the clause implies that if the speaker could choose, he would choose a different situation.

(1287) jìpán t \S^h èngð=wù $\acute{v} = dz$ ð=bù, sán-nintcì swén=qźi bàw. Ch:in.general Ch:city=in Q=be=TOP Ch:third-grade study=EXPT CONTR

'In general, if this was in the city, (he) would be in third grade.' (CV12.19)

Example (1288) indicates that the speaker wishes the situation was different.

(1288) p^{h} êi, $\acute{e} = g\acute{e}$ $q^{h}\acute{e}n^{j}\grave{e} = w\grave{u}$ jèhǎ tá ts^hì kwí bàw. INTJ 1SG = GEN mouth = in all this salt EXIST.IN CONTR

'Ugh! There is all this salt in my mouth.' (CV18.93)

There are several examples where the use of *baw* does not carry such a strong sense of discrepancy, but is rather similar to the use of *haw* (§8.8.1.7) in presenting a situation. Unlike *hāw* and *haw*, there are no two clearly separate morphemes. Two examples are given in (1289) and (1290). It might be that the cultural context, the conversational

context or the speaker's unexpressed presupposition does carry some kind of discrepancy similar to the examples above.

(1289) qù-pú = bù sěŋ twénð zù = qéj bàw?
down-under = TOP firewood close very = EXPT CONTR
'Down there the firewood is probably very close?' (CV04.59)
(1290) dðbǔ ó-wù k^hð-zí pʉ kèj fià, dðbǔ tਏ-tsèj dóŋ
then there-in OUT-be.born do let LINK then one-CLF:section become

$$k^{h}i = bù$$
, dðbǔ ní = tæ = wù t^hề-çð = qêj, t^hề-çð kéj = qéj
time = TOP then LOG = PL:GEN interior FR.SP-go FR.SP-go = EXPT
sð tì tçð fià nó tçáw bàw.
EPIST:most.probably say LINK thus say:IPFV:N.EGO CONTR
'It is said that (they) will let (her) give birth there (in Lijiang), and after a
while then probably let (her) go back to their own home.' (CV15.62)

8.8.1.10 Positive attitude marker \hat{v} mu

The use of the marker $\hat{v}mu$ indicates the positive attitude of the speaker in regard to the addressee. There is only one attestation in the natural corpus:

(1291) dòbǔ mògén = tçòmò t^hòzé láwláw émù then old.man = TOP thank.you INTJ POS
'Then the old man said, "Thank you so much! (...)" ' (CV09.110)

8.8.1.11 Dissatisfaction marker lⁱčj

The attitude marker $l^{j} \check{\epsilon} j$ with a rising tone is usually used in a negative situation and expresses that the speaker is not satisfied with a situation. The marker only appears in declarative clauses and is not interchangeable with the toneless $l^{j} \epsilon j \sim l^{j} \alpha$ (§8.8.2.3) which only appear after questions.

(1292) tá má = jòŋ ŀěį $s\dot{e} = q\dot{\epsilon}j$ person = PL:AGT hit = EXPT DISS 3sg 'He will be beaten by other people, (...)' (CV14.221) (1293) é ts^hájí tí-pá tçátòŋ = pù nè-qá 1sg T:Tshe.ring up-under:GEN water.place = under DOWN-fall.down mà dzà ĺ^jčj GNOMIC DISS '(...) my (brother) Tshering fell down under the water place up there.' (CV21.304.2)

(1294) dèbů m $\delta = 4$ $m\dot{\delta} = b\dot{u}$ t^hú m $\dot{u} = c\check{t}$ lⁱ \check{t} j. then person = PL:GEN person = TOP solution NEG = EXIST.AB DISS 'Then that person had no solution.' (TC02.74)

In example (1295), which I overheard a speaker saying when another speaker asked him whether he had checked on a certain pig, the marker $I^{\check{e}j}$ expresses that the speaker had not done as he ought to have done.

(1295) mì = tú $l^{j} \check{\epsilon} j$ NEG:PFV = look DISS '(I) haven't looked.' (W-C13.9)

8.8.1.12 Trailing knowledge marker k^hi

The trailing knowledge marker $k^{h}i$ has developed through insubordination (§10.5.1) from the temporal subordinator $k^{h}i$ into a clause-final attitude marker, which denotes that speakers have more knowledge about a situation than what they express in the utterance. The reader is referred to §10.5.1 for a more substantial treatment and illustrative examples.

8.8.2 Interrogative attitude markers

In addition to the use of the pre-verbal question marker \hat{v} (§7.3) which is the most neutral way of asking questions, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ employs several clause-final attitude markers with interrogatives that denote speaker-attitude and several degrees of epistemic certainty.

8.8.2.1 The question marker non

The clause-final question particle *noŋ* is used when the speaker is over fifty percent sure of a confirmative answer. (1296) is said after the current speaker asked the addressee whether her foot was painful or not (using the neutral pre-verbal interrogative marker \hat{v} =) and the addressee responded that her foot was not painful. The speaker is not totally convinced of the truthfulness of the answer, but more than fifty percent sure that the addressee will confirm her (negatively phrased) question.

(1296) mà = dáw nòŋ? NEG = IPFV:N.EGO QUEST 'Not (painful)?' (CV14.200)

noŋ can also be used when a speaker knows certain things from the background context, but does not derive any clues from the immediate context. Thus, in (1297), the speaker does not see anything in the addressee's expression, but knows from the context (maybe the addressee just had an operation) that he could be in a lot of pain. (1298) is asked

in a situation where the addressee is expected to feed the dog and the time for feeding is already past. There are no clues from the immediate context.

(1297) nǐŋ níŋ zù nóŋ
2SG painful very QUEST
'Are you in a lot of pain?' (EL:B318)
(1298) tç^hǐ tç^hì = sí nòŋ?
food feed = INF QUEST
'Did (you) feed (him) food?' (CV14.99)

As is shown in §10.5.3, this marker developed from the coordination marker = nog through a process similar to insubordination.

8.8.2.2 Confirmative marker â

The use of the clause-final question particle \hat{a} implies that the speaker is a hundred percent sure of a confirmative answer based on clues from the immediate context. So (1299) will be said when the speaker can clearly see that the addressee is in a lot of pain. (1300) is said in response to the context provided by the addressee.

```
(1299) nǐŋ níŋ zǔ â
2SG painful very CONF
```

'You're in a lot of pain, aren't you?' (EL:B319)

(1300)) níŋzì-bà		ts ú =	gòŋnì	ní=g	là	t¢híŗ	t¢á ³⁸⁰	
	Ninzi-household	:GEN	son=	AGT	LOG =	= GEN	Ch:N	Juòsū.friend	
	dzà=dàw	tçà	fià	è-çé		è-çì		şéj = sí	
	be=IPFV:N.EGO	say	LINK	IN-pack	load.	IN-lea	ıd	go:PFV:N.EGO = INF	
	mà sì hà.								
	NMLZ.CONSTR								
	G: '() this son o	of the	Ninzi	househo	ld said	l they	were	his Nuòsū friends	and
	went to bring the	em ov	er.' (C	V09.85.	3)				
	níŋzì-bà		ts ú =	gòŋ è-	¢wĭ			â?	
	Ninzi-household	:GEN	son=	AGT IN	-lead:	PFV:N.E	EGO	CONF	

Y: 'The son of the Ninzi household brought (them) over?' (CV09.86)

 $^{^{380}}$ A loanword from Chinese $\pm \bar{s}$ 'relatives by marriage', but in Wǎdū and the rest of the Wēnquán Pǔmǐ area it is used to refer to Nuòsū friends.

8.8.2.3 The rhetorical markers $I^{j}x$ and $I^{j}\varepsilon j$

The markers $l^{i} a$ and $l^{i} e j$ 'what about?' (different from the rising tone dissatisfaction marker $l^{i} e j$ described in §8.8.1.11) are alternate forms that can (mostly) be used interchangeably in questions that express that the speaker has no access to the information he wants to know. The markers can follow verbless clauses: noun phrases and adverbial phrases:

(1301) jăw zégì l^jà? again later RHET 'What about later?' (CV11.15) (1302) k^hí ŀà? key RHET 'What about the key?' (CV21.337) (1303) in = jǽ lèjjwàŋ l^jĉj dàbů. Ch:source RHET then 1:INCL = PL:GEN'So what about the source of our (money)?' (CV19.14)

They also appear after verbal clauses (only content questions).

(1304) $hin = g\dot{a}$ $dz\dot{u} = gonni$ $q^{h}\dot{\partial} - dzwo$ $l^{j}\dot{a}$? who = GEN soul = AGT OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO RHET 'By whose soul has it been eaten?'³⁸¹ (EL:B1252)

(1305) $\dot{e}m\dot{a} = g\dot{a}$ tǎ t¢^hwàt^hwéŋ t¢^hànání l^jèj? aunt = GEN now pig.fodder how RHET

'Now how is aunt (Yongjin)'s pig fodder?' (CV03.1.3)

Example (1306) clearly shows that both markers appear in the same position. Whereas in (1301) and (1303) an answer is expected, in (1305) and (1306) the speakers ask themselves a rhetorical question that does not need an answer.

(1306) wû, wû, tç \dot{a} = tìŋ míŋ dz \ddot{a} l^j \dot{c} j cì = sèŋ k^hì = bù INTJ INTJ say = AUD what be RHET think = PFV:EGO time = TOP 'I heard 'Wu,wu!' and wondered what that could be, (...)' (CV04.19.1)

³⁸¹ An idiomatic phrase that people can say when they are looking for something that has been lost.

pèilálá		wû,	wû,	tçà	fià	ná	pú	
Ch:without.rhyme.c	or.reaso	n INTJ	INTJ	say	LINK	thus	do	
qwé _ł éj=dàw	míŋ	tì d	zà l ^j à,	gà	ŋŋ ^j æ	tçíŋ =	= tì	jăw
shout = IPFV:N.EGO	what	one b	e Rhe	T NI	uòsū	child	= INDF	again
t¢ ^h óŋ = sì	¢ì =	sèŋ.						
come:PFV:N.EGO = IN	F thir	hk = PFV:	EGO					

'Without rhyme or reason he shouted, 'Wu, wu!' like this. I wondered what that could be and thought that it was a Nuòsū child again.' (CV04.19.3)

 P^{i} æ (but not P^{i} ɛj), is also used in certain types of questions that function as a narrative device to introduce a (procedural) story.³⁸² The clause functions as a rhetorical question which the narrator answers by telling the story. Two examples are given below. In (1307) the narrator is about to describe the planting of rice seedlings. In (1308) the narrator follows the rhetorical question by laying out his arguments for stating that the society is good. These introductory questions are a powerful device to draw the listeners' attention; they do not need a response.

(1307) $t \hat{\partial} = g \check{a} \quad z \acute{e} g \hat{i} = b \check{u}$ çú $t^{j} \acute{d} w$ wèŋ, d $\hat{\partial} b \check{u}$ çú $t^{j} \acute{d} w$ tç^h $\hat{\partial} n \acute{d}$ this = GEN later = TOP rice plant CUST.EXCL then rice plant how $p \acute{u} = w \grave{e} \eta$ $l^{j} \grave{a} ?$ do = CUST.EXCL RHET

'After this (we) will plant paddy rice seedlings. So how do (we) plant rice seedlings?' (CL03ed.12)

(1308) dəbůmíŋკòŋ.tçədzənóŋkʰátçʰwítçálʲà?thenwhysocietybe.goodsayRHET

'Why am (I) saying that (such a) society is good?' (TC01ed.9)

8.8.2.4 Puzzlement marker wej

The toneless marker *wej* 'what on earth?' marks questions that express the puzzlement of a speaker over a situation for which he has no clues or knowledge whatsoever. Often these are rhetorical questions that the speaker asks himself.

(1309) nǒŋ míŋ dzà wèj, èmá tç^hì k^hí=bù dzá=dáw bàw?
so what be PUZ aunt feed time=TOP eat=IPFV:N.EGO CONTR
'What's the matter? When aunt (=I) feed him, he eats...' (CV14.19)

³⁸² If $I^{j}\epsilon j$ is used it indicates that the speaker does not know the answer.

(1310) kí zì wèj

> where EXIST.AN PUZ

'(...) where on earth is he?' (TC02.35)

(1311) nòŋ t^hè-Įwáw tçâw, nòŋ FR.SP-buy:IMP:SG say:IPFV:N.EGO two:CLF:thing one so

> k^hì. $g\hat{u} = q\hat{e}j$ wéj tçá fià, ná $tc \hat{a} = s \hat{e} \eta$ wear = EXPT PUZ say LINK thus say = PFV:EGO TRAIL

'(You) told him to buy another outfit. "Who on earth will be able to wear two (outfits)?" (I) told (Aunt Sanong and Dauma).' (CV15.18.2)

tí

híŋ = gòŋ

who=AGT

8.8.2.5 Repetition marker $t^{i}x$

The repetition marker $t^{i}x$ is used when a speaker has not heard clearly what the other person just said and wants to confirm that what they thought they heard was indeed what the other said:

(1312)	t ^j ǎsèŋ		è-zá≡Jǽ	sèŋ
	recent.mor	ning	IN-come = GEN:PL	morning
	M: 'The mo	orning ((he) came a few day	ys ago ()' (CV07.75)
	nùséŋ	t ^j à? z	zènàséŋ	ť ⁱ æ?
	morning	REP y	yesterday.morning	REP
	G: 'In the n (CV07.76.2	norning 2,3)	g, did you say? Yest	erday morning, did you say?'
	ðŋ,			
	INTJ			
	M: 'Right, .	' (CV()7.77)	

When a speaker does not like a certain suggestion, they can pretend not to have heard it, to indicate that they are not happy with the suggestion. In (1313) the speaker does not want to go.

(1313) çà = gí ť²à? go = VOL:INCLREP 'Let's go, did you say?' (EL)

 $t^{j}x$ can also be used jokingly, as in (1314) where the speaker (who could also be referred to as *vkâw-li* 'young uncle') asks whether the addressee meant him. From the context it was very clear that the addressee was referring to somebody else.

```
(1314) èkáw-lì = gòŋ
                                  ťóŋ
                                                    z\dot{a} = q\check{e}j.
                                  one:CLF:thing carry = EXPT
        uncle(MB)-DIM = AGT
        J: 'Young uncle will take one (=a piece of kidney to eat).' (CV17.28)
        é
              \dot{v} = dz \dot{a}?
        1 \text{sg} \quad q = b e
        P: 'Is that me?' (CV17.29)
        mâ?
        what
        J: 'What?' (CV17.30)
        é
              ťżà
        1sg
              REP
        P: 'I, did you say?' (CV17.31)
```

8.8.2.6 Agreement marker ôseŋ

The agreement marker ∂seg 'right?' is used by speakers to express something that they assume the addressee knows as well and will agree with. The use of ∂seg draws the addressee into the conversation, and invites them to agree, but an explicit answer is not necessarily needed. ∂seg is a sort of tag-question and is often separated from the clause by a pause. In fast speech it can be shortened to seg and the pause can be left out, as in (1315). It can follow clauses that contain any of the other clause-final markers, one example is given in (1316). In these two aspects it is slightly different from the other attitude markers. It is possible that this marker is clausal in origin. ∂seg is not a real question marker, in that it does not mark the clause as an interrogative, but rather enhances the interaction between speaker and addressee. Therefore, even though it is structurally different from the other markers, I treat it with the clause-final attitude markers. Example (1317) shows ∂seg following a declarative clause and (1318) following an interrogative clause.

(1315) tá = tù	dzàk ^h ǽ	t¢ ^h wí=bú	mà=¢ĭ	sêŋ?
this = on	society	good = TOP	NEG = EXIST.AB	AGR

'(...) there is no better society than this, right?' (TC01ed.12)

(1316) $\chi e n$ tí mà = tr n bâw, $\delta e n$? long one NEG = see CONTR AGR

'(We) have not seen (each other) for a long time, right?' (CV02.67)

- (1317) Jú mǎ = dⁱòŋ, śsèŋ?
 tooth NEG = EXIST.AT AGR
 '(We) don't have teeth, right?' (CV02.54.2)
- (1318) ébàn, pún^jà zèn^jà nà = wèŋ â, śsèŋ?
 INTJ last.year:GEN year.before.last:GEN thus = CUST.EXCL CONF AGR
 'Bah, like in these recent years, isn't it, right?' (CV22.40)

8.8.2.7 Confirmation marker ôsæ

The confirmation marker $\partial s \omega$ 'okay?' expresses the speaker's own opinion and asks for the addressee's agreement. It is not sure that the addressee will agree; often there is an expectation that the addressee will not agree with the proposition. The confirmation marker is usually set apart from the clause by a pause, but in fast speech the pause disappears and $\partial s \omega$ can be shortened to $s \omega$, as in (1320). It is however not a real tagquestion as no answer is expected from the addressee (and in most cases in the corpus no answer is given, but the conversation just carries on). Even though it is structurally different from the other attitude markers, it is functionally similar and I treat it with the attitude markers. Unlike ∂seg (§8.8.2.6) it cannot co-occur with other attitude markers.

 $(1319) \dot{v} = ni$ tá-cwén = sù, ásà? ásà? UP-send = EXPT CONFIRM CONFIRM 1SG = AGT'I will send (you) up, okay? Okay?' (CV20.41.1,2) èmâ, hòŋ-q^hú è-sèj (1320) ěŋ, è=bí tì sæ 1SG = DAT aunt IN-go:PFV:N.EGO INTJ in-top say:IMP:SG CONFIRM $k^{h}i = bi$ tc = dawsay = IPFV:N.EGO time = TOP'Yes, when (he) said to me, "Aunt, tell (Pali Tshering) (I) am going inwards (to the new house), okay?" (...)' (CV04.24.1)

8.8.3 Other undefined markers

A few other particles appear in the corpus, but more research needs to be conducted on their function and semantics. The two particles mentioned here are dissimilar from the clause-final attitudinal markers described in the rest of this section, but data is too sparse to make definite claims about their position and function.

The particle $t^j x$ is a negative particle that appears right at the end of reported speech and just before the quotation marker $t\varphi$. $t^j x$ is not part of the reported speech, and has a very abstract meaning which expresses that what was heard was not positive. More research needs to be done. Examples are given in (1321) and (1322):

(1321) t^hè-zàzá tá ťżà pàw tc = tin. ? FR.SP-mix one do:IMP:SG say = AUD'(I) overheard (her) say to mix (it) a bit.' (CV18.29) (1322) t¢^hĭ tⁱ*á*-dzàw ťżà $tc \hat{a} = t \hat{n}$ food PROH-eat:IMP:SG ? say = AUD'(I) overheard (her) say that (I) should not eat.' (CV18.29EL)

The particle $tc^h u$ seems to function as a discourse particle in some instances and as a clause-final attitudinal particle in other instances. I have listed its occurrences in the examples below, but more research is needed. In examples (1323-1325) it seems to function as a clause-final attitude marker. In (1326-1329) it seems to function as a discourse marker (similar to the topic marker *bu*).

(1323)
$$t\hat{u} = l\hat{a}$$
 $t^{j}\hat{a}\cdot t\hat{i}$ $tc^{h}\hat{u}$
anything = also PROH-say:IMP:SG UND

'Don't say anything.' (Let's see what they will do...) (CV21.415.2)

(1324) hòŋ-q^hú hìtsóŋ = gé gòŋnù ti = J e nŏŋji tiin-top shrine.room = GEN rear this = PL:GEN later one i-lij = gi tc^hi. IN-sow = VOL:INCL UND

'Let's sow some at the rear of the shrine-room up there later.' (Let's see whether it grows) (CV14.83)

(1325) $p^h \acute{e}li \cdot b\grave{a}$ pùl $\grave{e}j = ti$ t $\acute{e}-j\acute{e}j = g\grave{i}$ t $\varsigma^h \grave{u}$ Phali-household:GENlower.partseed = INDFUP-get = VOL:INCLUND

'Let's go to the Phali household to get some (chrysanthemum) seeds.' (Let's see whether it grows) (CV14.85)

(1326) tçí lớŋ-jì $tc^h ù m \dot{a} = c \check{l}$ hungry-NMLZ ? NEG = EXIST.AB

'(I)'m not hungry yet.' (EL:B170)

(1327) tá púnà ¢wíŋ mì = dzwà t¢^hù, t¢í tóŋ = qèj 3SG today lunch NEG:PFV = eat:PFV:N.EGO ? hungry = EXPT 'If he has not eaten lunch today, (he) will be hungry.' (EL:B141)

- (1328) tá tç^hí k^hà-dzwá tç^hù, tçí tóŋ mà = qéj 3SG food OUT:Q-eat:PFV:N.EGO ? hungry NEG = EXPT 'If he has eaten, (he) won't get hungry.' (EL:B145)
- (1329) \acute{v} tú k^hì t¢^hù, g \acute{e} -jí mà = ¢ĭ 1SG look time ? beautiful-NMLZ NEG = EXIST.AB 'As for me, I don't think it that beautiful.' (EL:B152)

The questions that remain to be answered are what the exact function and meaning of $tc^h u$ is, whether the two occurrences are a case of homophony or not, and whether the second syllable of $nontc^h \hat{u}$ 'in that case' ($< n \check{o} \eta$ 'in that case'), that occurs as an afterthought in (1330), is related to $tc^h u$. In this example, $tc^h u$ cannot be used instead of $nontc^h \hat{u}$.

(1330) ájòŋ, dǔ zù kéj = dàw bàw, nòŋt¢^hû.
INTJ destetable very let = IPFV:N.EGO CONTR in.that.case
'Oh! (You) make people detest (you).' (CV21.91)

8.9 Conclusion

This chapter discussed the verbal system of Wǎdū Pǔmǐ and found that only controllable verbs show inflection of the stem. The basic notion underlying verbal inflection is not person-number agreement or actor-agreement, but rather egophoricity: the distinction between 'self-person' and 'other-person'. When reporting on other people, evidential marking (expressed by post-verbal markers) is used to mark the source of information. Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has several ways of marking epistemic certainty, and uses various nominalization constructions to express speaker attitude. Speaker attitude is also expressed by a whole range of clause-final attitude markers. Interestingly, a large part of this chapter would not have been written if not for the conversational data included in the research. Most of the speaker attitude marking (including various nominalization constructions) only appear in conversational analysis of Wǎdū Pǔmǐ would certainly benefit from more proper conversational analysis in the future, something that lies outside the scope of the present study.

Chapter 9. Ideophones and interjections

One of the striking features of Půmǐ and many other languages in the area (Matisoff 1994, Sūn 2004) is the use of ideophones.³⁸³ Půmǐ has a whole range of ideophones that regularly come up during conversations and narratives and that colour and intensify the flavour of the expression and interaction.³⁸⁴ The power of these words is that, because it limits the interpretation to certain very specific situations, a single ideophone can conjure up a complete mental image in the addressee's mind.

A recent definition of ideophones can be found in Dīngemanse's work: "Ideophones are marked words that depict sensory imagery" (2011:25). They are marked in that they stand out from the rest of the language in terms of phonology, morphology, syntax and semantics. Languages in general use the normal phonemic inventory for ideophones³⁸⁵ (Diffloth 1994), and they can use sounds or tones with a lower functional load for symbolic purposes (Matisoff 1994:121), cf. §9.2. Ideophones can be iconic and often show sound symbolism.³⁸⁶ They depict a situation, presenting it as a complete mental picture. The sensory imagery that they depict includes sounds, movements, and feelings. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, ideophones can depict all the different types of imagery that are laid out in the implicational hierarchy given by Dīngemanse (2012:663): sounds < movement < visual patterns < other sensory perceptions < inner feelings and cognitive states. This states that ideophones depicting sound are most common across languages and ideophones that depict cognitive states are least common. When a

³⁸³ In Southeast Asian languages, the term 'expressives' has been used (Diffloth 1972, 1976). Ideophones are not limited to Asia and have been extensively reported for Africa (one recent study is Dīngemanse 2011).

³⁸⁴ Ideophones are some of the most fun words to collect during fieldwork, as speakers are aware of their vividness and power, and often explode in peals of laughter when a new ideophone is mentioned during a round-the-fire-come-up-with-ideophones-session.

³⁸⁵ If sounds are used that are not present in the inventory, these tend to be sounds that balance out the phonemic inventory by filling gaps (Mithun 1982, Dīngemanse 2012).

³⁸⁶ Sound symbolism mimics the sounds of real-life happenings; iconicity relates certain sounds to certain concepts in a more structural way (for example the vowel [i] denoting small objects versus the vowel [a] denoting big objects in some languages). Diffloth (1994:113) shows that iconicity is language-specific. More research needs to be conducted on sound symbolism and iconicity in Půmǐ.

language has imagery that ranks higher up the hierarchical scale, it will have the lower ranking imagery as well.

In terms of structure there are three different types of ideophones in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ: onomatopoeic ideophones (§9.2), ideophones proper (§9.1) and expressives (§9.2). The chapter will also treat interjections and expletives (§9.4).

9.1 Onomatopoeic ideophones

Onomatopoeic ideophones are to a greater or lesser degree sound-symbolic, and can show reduplication, vowel lengthening or special intonation. Often low tone is used. Low tone does not normally appear on monosyllables, and thus has a low functional load in Pǔmǐ. Some examples are given in (1331).

(1331)	jílúwelú	'Rumble-tumble!' (sound of object rolling down a slope)
	<i>Φùφʉ̀(Φʉ̀Φʉ̀)Φʉ́</i>	'Fffff! ' (sound of wind)
	túút ^j ú	'Toot-toot!' (sound of trumpet-like blowing)
	màjứŋhôooŋ	'Miaow!' (miaowing of cat)
	kìqwà kìqwà kíqwà	'Quack! ' (quacking of ducks)
	pâ	'Pa!' (sound of falling object hitting the ground)
	tè	'!' (sound of choking)
	ţáw	(sound of loud talking)
	q ú tà.Jà	(in a flash)
	t ^h á	(sudden jerking movement)

More research needs to be done on iconicity, especially in relation to onomatopoeic ideophones that express things other than sound, like the last two examples in (1331). One interesting pair that might display iconicity is given in (1332). The voiced consonant is used to express a softer, more subtle image; the voiceless aspirated consonant conveys a harsher and more abrupt depiction.³⁸⁷

(1332) <i>bèxèj</i>	'flickering' (of candle light)
p ^h èxèj	'flashing' (of lightning)

A single ideophone can sometimes combine a range of images that share a core sensation (Diffloth 1976:257). An example is given in (1333) with the onomatopoeic ideophone *swa* which expresses a core sensation of a smooth and unobstructed movement. Through different tone and the amount of repetition, various images expressing that core sensation are conveyed (the symbol * behind a syllable indicates that the syllable can be repeated multiple times):

³⁸⁷ Which reminds one of the causative verbs pairs (§7.4.3) that show a similar alternation.

(1333) <i>şwà*</i>	'Shwa! Shwa!' (water falling heavily)
şwà* şwá	'Shwa! Shwa!' (vomiting)
ŞWÁ	'Shwa!' (rustling of paper)
ŞWÁ	'Shwa!' (people smoothly springing into action)
ŞWÁ*	'Shwa!' (object cut in half in one smooth movement)

When uttered in a low tone, *swa* conveys the image of heavily falling water, for example rain or a waterfall. Depending on what duration or intensity the speaker wants to convey, it can be repeated multiple times, but always with a low tone. A related image is vomiting, for which *swa* is usually reduplicated (vomiting normally happens in multiple stages). Its tone is slightly different: all non-final *swa* are uttered in low tone; the final *swa* is uttered in a high tone.

swa with a high tone conveys the image of rustling paper, especially money, and the movement of freely giving it out. It implies that a person gives money generously and without hesitation in a smooth and quick movement. *swa* with a high tone also depicts the movement of many people smoothly springing into action without hesitation or disunity. The ideophone is usually not reduplicated in these contexts, because that seems to take away from the force of the image. The other context where *swa* with a high tone is used, is to denote a cutting action. The two parts of the object that is cut are cut clean and totally separate without any hindrance. In this context it can be reduplicated with pauses between the different *swa* to denote multiple objects that have been smoothly cut.

The multiple realizations of this onomatopoeic ideophone share the core sensation of a smooth movement without any obstructions. Tone seems to have a iconic function: the low tone in the first two contexts indicate a heavy downward movement; the high tone in the last three contexts indicate a quick movement and positive outcome. Whether tone in Půmǐ is indeed used iconically on a wider scale is a topic for further research.

Additionally, the presence or absence of repetition is iconic, depicting extended duration through repetition. Onomatopoeic ideophones can be reduplicated to express multiplicity or continuous sound or movement. An example is hiha, the sound of laughing, which can be reduplicated as hihihaha to express that multiple people are laughing.

Syntactically, onomatopoeic ideophones precede the main verb that they complement and are followed by the verb 'to say' $t\varphi\check{a}$, as in (1334). The ideophone constituent in this construction can be left out without any instability in the syntactic structure, that is, if it is left out, the clause is still syntactically sound.³⁸⁸ Occasionally $t\phi\dot{\sigma}$ is missing, as in (1335). The reduplication of $b\dot{b}\dot{c}\dot{c}$ in that example indicates that the referent fell down multiple times.

(1334) <u>J</u>ú = gà $k^{h}i = la$, "p^hétètù p^hétètù, nè-dĭ nè-cà kέj chicken = DEF DOWN-throw DOWN-go let time = also IDEO IDEO pèt^jèl^jů" tcà tcź = wù nè-sêj. IDEO say water = in DOWN-go:PFV:N.EGO 'When (he) threw the chicken down, (it) went 'Flutter, flutter! Plopplop!' down into the water.' (TC02.28) (1335) bìbìbàbà, bìbìbàbà nè-qâ IDEO IDEO DOWN-fall.down

'(He) fell down 'Bingbing bangbang!' ' (CV21.307.1)

An onomatopoetic ideophone can also function in a light verb construction (§7.7) with the verbs $p\acute{u}$ 'to do' (*IDEO* $p\acute{u}$), as in (1336), or $t\not{c}\check{\sigma}$ 'to say' when a directional prefix is added (*IDEO* DIR- $t\not{c}\check{\sigma}$), as in (1337), in which case it forms the predicate of a clause. $t \not{c}^h w\acute{v}$ is used for a fire that suddenly splutters and stops burning, or water for irrigation of the fields that suddenly splutters and stops flowing. The light verb can show inflection, as in (1338). $j\acute{x}$ is used for a continuous movement passing by in front of one's eyes.

(1336)) èkáw-bà	gw	∕é-màn = tù	L		çémàçét ^h ù	èxìxi
	uncle(MB)-house	ehold:GEN fir	e.place-low	er.end = c	on	very.early	IDEO
	p ú -má=tì	zì=bù,	JÚ	ŋù	mà	dzà.	
	do-NMLZ = INDF	EXIST: $AN = TOP$	chicken	crow	GNO	OMIC	

'A being who very early giggles at the lower end of the fireplace of uncle's household, is the rooster who crows.' (PC05w.14.2)

(1337) $\dot{j}\dot{u}$, \acute{e} tç^hw \dot{e} tç^h \dot{i} = g \dot{o} mě tç^hw \acute{e} né-tç \dot{o} m \dot{o} dz \dot{o} q $\dot{e}\dot{j}$ INTJ 1SG pig-food = DEF fire IDEO DOWN-say EPIST

'Oh, my pig fodder, the fire will have spluttered and gone out.' (CV14.30.2)

(1338) tá t¢ĭŋ já nè-t¢wà=sì
this child IDEO DOWN-say:PFV:N.EGO=INF
'This child is nowhere to be seen.' (EL)

³⁸⁸ Diffloth comments that ideophones are not integrated in the syntax of Semai (1976:256).

9.2 Ideophones proper

The onomatopoeic ideophones described in §9.2 can form a collocation with $d^{j}a$ -,³⁸⁹ in which case monosyllabic onomatopoeic ideophones are reduplicated. It is a highly productive process, but whether it is completely productive is a subject for further research. Most ideophones with $d^{\prime}x$ - attested in the corpus are trisyllabic, but there is one quadrisyllabic example: $d^{i} \alpha t c \hat{i} t s i p \alpha$ 'sound of crackling fire with noises of wood popping'. These are the ideophones proper in that they are the most clear examples of depictions (Dingemanse 2012). For example, the onomatopoeic ideophone *Jwé* expresses a movement that can be observed for a small amount of time because of a small frame of vision (such as observing someone pass by through a crack in a wall). The corresponding ideophone $d^{i}\alpha_{j}w\hat{e}_{j}we$ denotes the movement of a person that can be observed in instances (for example a person walking in the woods and disappearing and re-appearing among the trees). Most of the ideophones express some kind of movement, sometimes in combination with sound (i.e. $d^{j}xsw\hat{a}swa$), sometimes in combination with feeling (i.e. $d^{j} \alpha t s^{h} w \hat{a} t s^{h} w \hat{a}$), and sometimes in combination with a cognitive state, like $d^{i} \alpha \phi \dot{u} \phi u$, which depicts a cognitive state of anger and its resulting movements. This ideophone is derived from an onomatopoeic ideophone $\phi \dot{u} \phi \dot{u}$ for the sound of wind. The ideophone is interesting in that the association between the onomatopoeic ideophone and the ideophone proper is not so straightforward. The sound and continuous movement of wind $\phi \dot{\mu} \phi \dot{\mu}$ is applied to persons who, out of anger, conduct their daily chores without heeding other people in the household, but keep moving continuously like the wind.

A partial list of ideophones is given in Table 9.1 (syllables with the symbol * after them can be repeated multiple times). All ideophones are derived from corresponding onomatopoeic ideophones, and some also have a corresponding expressive form (§9.2). The meaning of corresponding onomatopoeic ideophones is only given when they express something slightly different. Except for a few exceptions, all ideophones show a L-H.L surface tone pattern.

Table 9.1 Ideophones					
Ideophone	Description	Onomatopoeic ideophone			
d ⁱ æşwâşwa	Sound of heavily falling rain or waterfall	<i>swà</i> , cf. (1333)			
d ^j æwûwu	Sound of a blazing fire, burning lustily	wù wù* wû			
d ⁱ æpæ̂pæ	Sound of a tractor	pæ̀ pæ̀* pæ̂			

Table 9.1	Ideophone
-----------	-----------

³⁸⁹ Origin unclear.

Ideophone	Description	Onomatopoeic ideophone
d ⁱ æt ^h îŋliŋ	Movement of fat people while walking with the fat moving up and down	t ^h ìŋlìŋ* t ^h íŋlìŋ
d ⁱ æt ^h âŋlæŋ	Walking with a bent waist, carrying lots of things that are dangling on one's back or hanging from one's neck	t ^h àŋlàŋ* t ^h áŋlàŋ
d ^j æts ^h âw.Įaw	Movement of a skirt that is pulled up high so that it does not touch the ground; the rim of the skirt is moving faster than normal; it also describes walking faster than normal; person with small stature	ts ^h àw.jàw* ts ^h áw.jàw
d ^j æp ^h âŋnæŋ	Movement of a skirt that is too long or piece of clothing that is too big on a small person	p ^h àŋnàŋ* p ^h áŋnàŋ, p ^h ánâŋnâŋ
d ⁱ ædzîŋla	The swaying gait of a tall person	dzìŋlà* dzíŋlà, dzĭŋlâlâ
d ⁱ æh ⁱ âwla	Swaying of a tree or unsteady walking of people who are drunk or have no strength left	h ⁱ àwlà* h ⁱ áwlà
d ⁱ æjæ̂jæ	Movement passing by in front of one's eyes and that can be seen continuously	jæ
d ⁱ æqêtoŋ	A very short person walking very fast with fast-moving legs	<i>qètòŋ qétòŋ, qétôŋlî ~ qétôŋtôŋ</i> 'very short'
d ⁱ æts ^h ǽĮæ	Movement of rags fluttering in the wind	ts ^h æļæ* ts ^h ǽļæ, ts ^h æļæ̂ļǽ
d ⁱ æŋæ̂li	Small stature, the chest is sticking out and the head is looking up to the sky	ŋælì* ŋælì
d ⁱ æts ^h êl ⁱ u	Nimble or agile movement of a small person working the land	ts ^h èl ⁱ ù* ts ^h él ⁱ ù

Ideophone	Description	Onomatopoeic ideophone
d ^j ækûl ^j u ~	Wiggling of tooth that is still attached	<i>kùlⁱù* kúlⁱù</i> 'action of
d ⁱ ækâl ⁱ æ	by its root \sim Wiggling of a tooth when it is about to fall out	grabbing and holding on to something bigger and stronger than oneself, while pulled along with it in a swaying movement'
d ^j æţs ^h wâţs ^h wa	Walking without stopping, fluent movement	ţs ^h wà* ţs ^h wá
d ⁱ æф ú ф u	(Of angry people) doing things very fast without paying attention to others, not wanting to talk to others	<i>φʉ̀φʉ̀</i> 'sound of wind'

Additionally, some partial reduplication denoting a description of many people has been observed, as given in Table 9.2. A syllable with the initial consonant of the onomatopoeic ideophone followed by the high vowel /i/ is inserted between the stem $d^{i}x$ - and the onomatopoeic ideophone. Under influence of the high vowel /i/, some consonants are palatalised: the retroflex /I/ of IWé changes to [j] in the form $d^{j}xjiIWe$, and the retroflex /S/ of SWa changes to [c] in the form $d^{j}xciSWa$.

Table 9.2 Ideophone reduplication		
Ideophone	Reduplication	Meaning
d ⁱ æjæjæ	d ⁱ æjîjæ	'multiple people walking steadily'
d ⁱ æ.Įwê.Įwe	d ⁱ æjî.Įwe	'multiple people flitting by'
d ⁱ æşwâşwa	d ^j æçîşwa	'multiple people conduct a fluent movement'
d ⁱ æt ^h âŋlæŋ	d ⁱ æt ^h ît ^h æŋlæŋ	'multiple people walking carrying lots of things'
d ⁱ æt ^h îŋliŋ	d ^j æt ^h ît ^h iŋliŋ	'multiple fat people walking'

Syntactically, ideophones usually function as adverbial modifiers, preceding the verb:

(1339) tènóŋ = bú	d ^j àwúwù	dzóŋ=dáw	k ^h ì.
just.now=TOP	lustily	burn = IPFV:N.EGO	TRAIL
'Just now the fir	e was burnii	ng lustily.' (CV14.34	.1)

460

(1340) d^jàts^háw.jàw nè-tc^hóŋ fià quickly DOWN-come:PFV:N.EGO LINK

'(...) (she) came down with her skirt moving quickly and (...)' (CV14.265)

(1341) qéjín = wù d^{j} àjíjà è-şêj.

Karong = in steadily IN-go:PFV:N.EGO

'(...) (they) went up the valley from Karong without stopping.' (CV02.81)

They also function as a predicate of a clause, but without the normal postverbal marking:

(1342) $swenters n = k^{h}i = b\dot{u}$ read = time = TOP tongue = on = TOPfluently

'When (I) was studying, (I) could read fluently (...)' (TC10.12)

9.3 Expressives

In Půmǐ the most common structure of expressives is a trisyllabic word with identical second and third syllables (ABB).³⁹⁰ Expressives are marked³⁹¹ because of their reduplication and their tonal melody: the second and third syllables show two falling tones which causes a downstep (§3.3.6). Whereas the first syllable is usually a free lexical word that expresses the basic semantic meaning, the second and third syllables are often reduplicated ideophonic words that express the semantic intensity and colouring. I use the term expressives³⁹² rather than ideophones for these words, since only the second and third part of the word can be said to be truly ideophonic in many cases, but as seen below, not all expressives consist of an ideophones (§9.2) and expressives.

Even though most expressives have three syllables of which the second and third are identical, the way of constructing them is variable. The most common way is with a stative verb followed by an ideophone. The choice of ideophone is lexically determined, but sometimes a verb can take different ideophones, depending on the particular colouring the speaker wants to give it, or the particular situation it describes. Colour terms in particular have several options. For example, the stative verb $n^{j}\breve{\alpha}$ 'black' can

³⁹⁰ Similar to Chinese. For example, $\mp \boxtimes \boxtimes g\bar{a}nb\bar{a}b\bar{a}$ 'dry, boring', from the root $\mp g\bar{a}n$ 'dry'. Interestingly, this word is borrowed in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ with the meaning 'very thin' as applied to people, as in (1352) below.

³⁹¹ They were some of the first words that stood out for me in conversation.

³⁹² Matisoff (1983:297) talks about intensified adjectives in Lahu.

be followed by different ideophones, all describing different shades of black or different situations:

(1343)	n ⁱ žbôŋbôŋ	'rather dark, dusky' (darkness that limits clear observation)
	n ^j ǎļ ^j ôŋļ ^j ôŋ	'black' (animals or clothes)
	n ^j žqûqû	'pitch-black'
	n ^j ǎ.Įû.Įû	'dark-skinned, tanned (face), with eyes clearly visible'
	n ^j ǎhwâŋhwâŋ	'soot-black' (cooking pot or black person)
	n ^j ž.Į û .Įû	'angry-looking'
	n ^j ǎt û tû	'very black' (animals)
	n ^j ằmûmû	'scarlet'

A single ideophone can also be used to modify different lexical parts. An example is the ideophone $-l^{i}\hat{a}l^{i}\hat{a}$ which occurs as the second part of an expressive in the following examples:³⁹³

(1344)	b û l ^j æl ^j æ	'very thin' (clothing, bread), 'very shallow' (water) (${<} b \hat{\#}$ 'thin')
	zĭŋl ^j æl ^j æ	'very light' (weight) (< ʑǐŋ 'light')
	ts ^h ôŋl ^j æl ^j æ	'very short' (length) ($< ts^h \hat{o} \eta$ 'short')
	dzwâl ^j âl ^j â	'very short' (stature) ($< dz w \hat{x}$ 'short')
	p û l ^j âl ^j â	'very soft' ($< p\hat{H}$ 'soft')
	s ŭ ľ ^j æl ^j æ	'hot (temperature of food)' (< s¥ 'warm')
	ts ù ŀ ^j ŵŀ ^j ŵ	'very small' ($< ts\hat{\theta}$ 'son, child'?)

A distinction can be made between intensifying and restrictive expressives. In (1344), the ideophonic element only intensifies the basic meaning of the word but does not necessarily limit the circumstances in which it can be used. In (1343), the ideophonic element clearly semantically specifies the use of the word to certain situations. Within the semantic domain of black, the different ideophones occupy certain areas and almost act as subcategories: the ideophones encompass different parts of the whole expressed by the stative verb.

Colour terms often only appear as an expressive.³⁹⁴ There are two basic colour terms in Půmǐ: $n^{j}\hat{x}$ 'black' and $t^{h} \delta \eta$ 'white', which can appear by themselves without ideophones. Other colour terms are only found in expressives: ni 'red, unripe, green,

³⁹³ There seems to be some iconicity involved: coronal sounds and front vowels express light and small meanings. But it is too early to draw conclusions and further research needs to be conducted.

³⁹⁴ Colour terms in the neighbouring language Shǐxīng are ideophonic as well (Chirkova 2009:56).

blue'³⁹⁵, $b\check{e}$ - 'colourless, pale, gray, white', and $h\check{e}\eta$ - 'yellow' (< $\eta\acute{e}$ 'gold'?), as in (1345).

(1345)	nísêjsêj	'red'
	nínâŋnâŋ	'very green/blue'
	bètç ^h wêtç ^h wê	'pale' (something that lost its colour; smooth clothing or wool)
	bètçâtçâ	'very white'
	bèh ^j ûh ^j û	ʻgray'
	hừŋqûqû	'very yellow' (butter)

Apart from stative verbs followed by an ideophone, it is also possible for a noun to be followed by an ideophone, like $n \delta \eta t \hat{\epsilon} j t \hat{\epsilon} j$ 'emaciated' which describes the bareness of the land after the flood has swept it clean: the hills stick out like the ribs of an emaciated person. This expressive is built on the noun $n \delta \eta$ 'rib'. Some other examples:

(1346) <i>pèkwâkwâ</i>	'plastered with <i>tsampa</i> ' (< <i>pě</i> ' <i>tsampa</i> flour')
ţşêh ^j ûh ^j û	'earth-coloured' (< $t_{S}\hat{x}$ 'dirt, earth') ³⁹⁶

Sometimes the first syllable of the expressive is opaque:

(1347) <i>k^héwâwâ</i>	'toothless' (people; a harrow)	
kæjôŋjôŋ	'bald-headed'	
kwéŋlîŋlîŋ	'empty-handed' (of a visitor)	

In some cases the second and third syllables are not true ideophones, but derive from lexical words, like $nin\hat{r}jn\hat{e}jn\hat{e}j$ which describes the glowing of the embers in the fire, where the reduplicated second syllable is derived from the noun $n\hat{e}j$ 'gold'.³⁹⁷ The same is true for $tc^hw\tilde{e}sw\hat{a}sw\hat{a}$ 'dirty as a pig-sty', which derives from $tc^hw\tilde{e}$ 'pig' and $sw\hat{a}$ 'nest' (it almost looks like an extended compound). The fact that lexical items form a source for ideophones raises the question whether some of the now unanalyzable 'true ideophones' originally derive from lexical words as well.

Sometimes the structure of the expressive is completely different, as in $m \dot{\sigma} d\hat{i} d\hat{i}$ which describes an expression of either surprise or lost hope in someone's eyes. This expressive consists of the stative verb $m \dot{\sigma} d\hat{i}$ 'to be surprised' where the second syllable [di] is repeated. A similar example is $c \dot{a} w \bar{l} w \hat{a} l w \hat{a}$ 'crooked, gnarled (of tree); swaying

³⁹⁵ Occurs as a stative verb 'to be unripe (maize)' or 'to be red (of face in shame)'. This colour seems to occur as an independent colour term $[n^j \alpha m_{\bar{e}}]$ in Yǔchū.

³⁹⁶ Note the vowel reduction in the first syllable.

³⁹⁷ Both $\eta \dot{\epsilon} j$ and $\eta \dot{\epsilon}$ mean 'gold'. This might be dialect mixture: the form in Gélůdiàn Půmǐ is $\eta \dot{\epsilon} j$ (Gerong Pincuo, MS) whereas the normal form in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ is $\eta \dot{\epsilon} ,$ but $\eta \dot{\epsilon} j$ can also be used.

back and forth (because lack of strength)' which derives from the verb $c \dot{a} w_{v} w \hat{a}$ 'to wring, throw (when wrestling)' (cf. [1350]).

Two more examples are given here. Note that in these examples the tonal template is different from the normal L.F.F template of expressives. The form $b\acute{ej}l\grave{a}l\grave{a} \sim b\acute{ej}l\grave{a}l\grave{a}$ describes someone's mouth plastered with food. This expressive derives from the noun $b\acute{ej}$ 'fodder' ('food' in some Mùlĭ speech varieties). The form $m\grave{a}líl\hat{i}$ is used to describe the purring sound of a cat as well as the sound somebody makes when saying a rosary.³⁹⁸ This is not a real expressive, but rather the noun-verb combination $maní l\hat{i}$ with regressive assimilation of [l], mani being the shortened way of referring to the mantra *om mani padme hum*, and li 'to narrate'.

The expressives in (1348) do not show the normal structure in terms of reduplication and tone (some have the same tonal template, but not the ABB syllable structure; some are alternative forms of canonical expressives; some show a different tonal template and syllable structure altogether, like the final five expressives with an AABB structure):

(1348)	tóŋbâlâ	'empty-handed' (visitors) ³⁹⁹
	níkôŋl ⁱ ôŋ	'stark naked'
	çètâlâ	'very big' ($< \varphi \hat{p}$ 'big') ⁴⁰⁰
	qétôŋlî ~ qétôŋtôŋ	'very short' (stature)
	qétsəlî ~ qétsətsə	'relatively small'
	qóŋdóŋlà ~ qóŋlôŋ(lôŋ)	'empty' (containers, bags, pockets) ⁴⁰¹
	k ^h ǽlájì	'slighty drunk'
	tç ^h ə̀p ^h àlâ	'soaking wet' (people) ⁴⁰²
	qoŋqóŋĮéjĮej	'train of people' (<i>< -qóŋ</i> 'CLF:ring', <i>-Įέj</i> 'string')
	qôŋqoŋmáma	ʻflighty' (<i>< qóŋma</i> 'crazy person')
	şûşugǽgæ	'extremely happy' ($< s \hat{u} = no g \hat{x}$ 'happiness') ⁴⁰³
	toŋtoŋlíli	'in small crumbs' (<i>< -tôŋ</i> 'CLF:piece', <i>-li</i> 'DIM')
	tsatsalíli	'many small sections' (< - $ts\hat{a}$ 'CLF:section', $-li$ 'DIM')

³⁹⁸ In Tibetan culture, cats are said to be good Buddhists, since their purring reminds people of the constant repetition of Buddhist mantras.

³⁹⁹ Similar to *kwéŋlîŋlîŋ* 'empty-handed'.

⁴⁰⁰ Antonym of $q^{h} \dot{v}ts \dot{\varepsilon}jl^{j}\dot{x}$ 'very small' ($< q^{h} \dot{v}ts \hat{\varepsilon}j$ 'small').

⁴⁰¹ This is an example of what Diffloth (1976) calls a lack of lexical discreteness: the existence of variant forms with the same meaning. This is often found with expressives.

⁴⁰² Similar to $dz \hat{x} \eta_i \hat{a}_i \hat{a}_i \hat{a}$ 'soaking wet' (firewood, clothes, things), (< $dz \hat{x} \eta$ 'wet').

⁴⁰³ Or $g\dot{\alpha} = no\eta \, s\dot{u}$ 'happiness'. Similar coordinate constructions were described in §5.1.1.

Expressives are more integrated in the syntax than onomatopoeic ideophones, and can occupy a wider range of positions than ideophones proper. In general, they function like stative verbs: they can be used in predicate position, as in (1349),⁴⁰⁴ followed by the current evidential = daw (§8.3.2) as in (1350), or the stative verb marker = ta (§8.2), as in (1351); they can be nominalized (§5.2), as in (1351); they can be modified by *cici* 'a little bit' (§4.7), as in (1352); they can modify nouns as adjectives, as in (1353); and they can appear as an argument of the light verb p t 'to do' or, dz 'to make', as in (1354).

- (1349) ladzú = tçəmənè-púl^jék^hì = tçəməbèţwâţwâhead.cover = TOPDOWN-turn.upside.downtime = TOPirregular'When the head cover was upside down, (it) was all irregular (...)' (CV22.7.2)
- (1350) gwěŋ = sà cá t^hóŋ é = qèj, cáw, wâ, wá = dàw
 horse = CONTR.TOP go can Q = EXPT swaying = IPFV:N.EGO
 '(...) the horse, however, will (it) be able to go? (It) is swaying back and forth

(from lack of strength), (...)' (CV14.244)

(1351) $p \acute{u} l^j \acute{x} = t \grave{a}$, $\grave{\eta} = t \grave{a}$ (...) $p \acute{u} l^j \acute{x} l^j \acute{x} - m \grave{a} = g \grave{a}$ $z \acute{\eta} = t \grave{a}$. very.soft = SVM 1:INCL = PL very.soft-NMLZ = DEF delicious = SVM

'(It)'s very soft, we (...) like to eat soft things.' (CV21.240.3,4)

(1352) ((jòŋtçíŋ)) káŋpâpá çìçì=tà, dăwmà
T:dByangs.cin Ch:very.thin a.little.bit=svM T:rDo.rje.Dre.ma
bádôŋdóŋ çìçì=tà, śsèŋ?
short.and.stocky a.little.bit=svM AGR

'((Yongjin)) is very thin, Dauma is short and stocky, right?' (CV01.54)

- (1353) gúmín táşên sén = $g \hat{a} = b \hat{u}$ body tall.lanky = DEF = TOP
 - (...) the one with the tall body (...)' (CV07.18)

(1354) $\dot{e} = n^{j} \dot{e}^{405}$ níkækæ $t^{h} \dot{e} - p \dot{u} = s \dot{e} \eta$

- 1SG = AGT very.firm FR.SP-make PFV:EGO
- '(...) I already made that very firm (...)' (CV14.146.1)

⁴⁰⁴ But note that in this particular example no postverbal marking is present. This is similar to (1342) where an ideophone proper functions as a predicate.

⁴⁰⁵ The Lābǎi Pǔmǐ variant of the first person agentive marker.

The main way expressives are different from stative verbs is that they do not take directional prefixes, and a change of state is rather expressed in a light verb construction with the verb $d\delta g$ 'to become' (§7.1.2).

(1355) pálí bětwætwæ ně-dòŋ = sì jacket colourless DOWN-become = INF

'The jacket has lost its colour.' (EL)

An expressive can also be used as an adverbial modifier, as in (1356), whereas a stative verb has to use p# 'to do' in an adverbial modifying construction (§7.10.1).

(1356) èmá = bì bètâtâ dà-ļwě má ļwê aunt DAT wide.open.eyed TO.SP-gaze NMLZ.CONSTR

'(The girl) (...) kept looking at aunt with wide-open eyes.' (CV06.2.1)

There is one example of an expressive in a nominal position, where the expressive is followed by the postposition = wu 'in':

(1357) $\dot{v}m\dot{a}$ $\dot{c}e=n\dot{o}\eta$ $t\dot{a}=\dot{d}aw$ aunt big=COORD 3=PL pitch.black=in UP-get.up=IPFV:N.EGO

'(...) oldest aunt and others get up when it is still pitch black (...)' (CV04.56)

Expressives are reduplicated in the following manner: the first syllable is reduplicated and followed by the syllable p# (thus ABB > A-p#-ABB). It is not clear whether p# is related to the verb p# 'to do'. Reduplication indicates that the expressive describes more than one person. So, semantically, not all expressives can be reduplicated in this manner. Only those expressives that are used for describing the appearance or manner of people or things can be reduplicated. The corpus has only one example, but elicitation shows that it is a productive process.

(1358) từt^hì = bú bừpúbừtwật wật gwěŋ = là mí = dzwéj
a.while = TOP empty.expression:PL horse = also NEG:PFV = ride:PFV:N.EGO
zégì k^hà-tç^hóŋ mà dzà mà, ná-tsà = gà
behind OUT-come:PFV:N.EGO GNOMIC INFO two-CLF:people = DEF
'After a while, those two people, who had not ridden horses, came behind
with empty expressions.' (CV22.1.5)

9.4 Interjections and expletives

Interjections are usually single words that are not part of the syntax and can be left out without any syntactic reorganization. They often appear by themselves as a full utterance. Watters (2002:188) describes interjections as 'emotive outbursts'. A partial list of interjections is given in Table 9.3. Some interjections show reduplication of the

second syllable for a more intensive meaning. The non-reduplicated form can also be	
said repeatedly with a similar effect.	

Table 9.3 Interjections	
Interjection	Meaning and use
əhěŋ	'No'
ěŋ	'Yes'
ĥð	'Oh'
îii!!	'Gee!' (expresses sharp surprise at something unexpected)
WÎ	'Gee!' (expresses surprise)
êmi∕êmimimi ~ êm ⁱ æ	'Good grief, yikes!' (expresses surprise, fright upon hearing some piece of news) (accompanied by a wide- open-eyed expression on someone's face)
ə̂joŋmâ	'Whoa!' (expresses mild surprise)
∂ju/∂juju/∂jujuju	'Oh!' (expresses a slight shock at hearing a piece of news, or seeing a situation)
êpaw ~ébăw ~ êbaw/êbawbaw	'My oh my!' (expresses discomfort, disgust or dismay at a mildly negative situation)
êbæŋ/êbæŋbæŋbæŋ	'Bah!' (expresses disgust at someone's behaviour)
têi	'Wow!' (expresses surprise and admiration)
p ^h êi	'Ugh!' (expresses disgust) (accompanied by a movement that is almost like spitting)
âwhaw/âwhawhaw	'Uh-oh' (expresses that something goes wrong)
heŋheŋhéŋ?	'Oomph!' (used when conducting strenuous effort, like climbing a steep slope)
êts ^h its ^h i ~ êts ^h ats ^h a	'Ouch!' (when touching something hot or when the weather is hot)
êtç ^h utç ^h u	'Ouch!' (when touching something icy or when the weather is cold)
nŏŋməda	"That's right, exactly!' (expresses agreement; mostly used by older women; now often replaced by the Chinese 就是 <i>jiùshì</i>)
dzín ⁱ æ	'Really!' (expresses confirmation of a statement, or amusement at somebody else's statement or action)

Interjection	Meaning and use
t ^h əzâ	'Spare my life!/Beg your pardon!/Thanks' (expresses a request for consideration, or gratitude)
t ^h əzê láwlaw	'Thank you so much' (expresses intense gratitude)
fia l ⁱ ej l ⁱ ej	'Nanananana' (expresses mockery; found in Trickster stories)
n ⁱ æjoŋ n ⁱ æjoŋ	'Njam njam' (expresses enjoyment of food while others look on jealously; found in Trickster stories)

Some other interjections rather function as an interactive device to make the addressee act, and can be seen as one-word commands.

(1359) $n^{j}\hat{x}$	'Here, take it!' (when handing somebody something)
$d^{j}\check{x} \sim j\check{x}$	'Let me (look, do it, pass)!' or 'Go away!'
dzwž	'Let it be!'
ÇÂ	'Let's go!'
t ⁱ čj	'Look!'
WÊj	'Hey!' (to draw people's attention)
$h\hat{x}$ ŋ 406	'Huh?' (asking people to repeat what they said)
WÛ	'Hey!' (in order to locate people; often first a name is called)
âw	'Here!' (in answer to $W\hat{u}$!)

Since keeping animals is a big part of Půmǐ daily life, it is not surprising that the language has a wide range of interjections for handling animals. These can be divided into three categories: calling animals towards the speaker; shooing them away from the speaker or from a certain place or driving them when herding; cursing them for doing something they should not do (for example a dog stealing food). The interjections are listed in Table 9.4 and the curses are listed in Table 9.5.

Note that many of the interjections for calling animals end in the syllable $n^{j}x$. This is the same as the first interjection listed in (1359), since these interjections are mainly used when feeding animals. The interjection for calling yaks is the word for salt: a speaker will usually simultaneously call and hold out some salt on their palm. Some

⁴⁰⁶ Note that the interjection has a falling tone, which is the opposite of the question intonation in English. Matisoff (1994:117 and note) comments on a similar interjection in Lahu and the importance to pronounce it with the correct tone. I had a similar experience during my fieldwork.

interjections have various forms and most interjections can be repeated multiple times depending on the urgency or intensity expressed by the speaker.

Animal	Call	Shoo (away) or herd
dog	?âw ∼?âwn ⁱ ὰ	$k^{h}\hat{a} k^{h}\hat{a} k^{h}\hat{a}$ (commanding dogs to attack somebody)
cat	<i>ènⁱó:ŋnⁱà</i> ⁴⁰⁷	-
chicken	$t \check{t} : t \check{t} n^{j} \check{x} : ! ! !!^{408} \sim t \check{t} t \acute{t} t \acute{t} t$	çâw? çâw? çâw? ~ çéhà
pig	wăwn ⁱ ž	şû şû ~ ?áwşû
goat (sheep)	?jǎːwn ^j æ̀	?jâw ?jâw ?jâw
bovine	?æːm ⁱ æ	wăw? wăw? wăw?
horse, mule	wãwçə ~ wăwçàwçàw	tç ^h û
yak	ts ^h í ts ^h í ts ^h í ts ^h í	wăw? wăw? wăw?

 Table 9.4 Interjections for handling animals

Animal curses are mostly nouns or nominal compounds expressing various plagues and predators that pose a danger to livestock and pets.

Table 9.5 Animal curses						
Animal	Curse	Meaning				
dog	$swî(tc^hi) \sim ts^h ani\eta$	'leopard (food)' ~ 'dog plague'				
cat	meníŋ	'cat plague'				
chicken	ket ⁱ óŋ ~ .µníŋ	'wildcat' \sim 'chicken plague'				
pig	t¢ ^h wæníŋ ~ lêgoŋ q ^h æŋtáji	'pig plague' \sim 'food for wolves' ⁴⁰⁹				
goat	ts ^h əníŋ	'goat plague'				
bovine	pútç ^h i	'wild dog food'				
horse	.Įwedĭ ~ qujĭtc ^h i	'old horse' \sim 'crow food'				
mule	tidĭ ~ qujĭtç ^h i	'old mule' ~ 'crow food'				
yak	qujĭtç ^h i	'crow food'				

⁴⁰⁷ Multiple dental clicks.

⁴⁰⁸ Multiple alveolar clicks.

⁴⁰⁹ Literally means: '(Object) for neck-biting by the wolf' (wolf = AGT neck-bite-NMLZ).

The corpus has one example of an expletive (or swear word), probably from Tibetan:

(1360) fiǎnjì, lámásóŋdʑíŋtɕʰîŋ INTJ my.god

'Wow, my god!' (CV21.203)

9.5 Conclusion

This chapter described onomatopoeic ideophones, ideophones proper, expressives and interjections. Onomatopoeic ideophones are often sound symbolic and some seem to show a certain amount of iconicity. Apart from sound, they might express movement and visual patterns as well. Ideophones proper are built on a template that incorporates onomatopoeic ideophones, and and are most clearly depictions of sounds, movement, visual patterns, other sensory perceptions, inner feelings and cognitive states. They have a partial reduplication template to depict multiple people. Expressives are trisyllabic structures that are often built from a semantically meaningful first syllable and a reduplicated ideophonic second and third syllable. Many colour terms are expressives.

This thesis only started exploring the substantial wealth of ideophones and expressives found in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. The great number of ideophones and expressives present in the language certainly deserve further research. A possible outcome could be an illustrated dictionary of ideophones and expressives.

Chapter 10. Complex constructions

This chapter deals with complex structures that are the result of coordination (§10.1), clause linking and verb concatenation (§10.2), complementation (§10.3), and subordination (§10.4). It discusses insubordination (§10.5), one of the topics that has recently received attention in the literature. The chapter also discusses several continuous action constructions (§10.7) and comparison and equation structures (§10.6). It ends with sections on the predicate-focus construction (§10.8) and discourse features (§10.9). Relative clauses were discussed in §5.3.2.

One of the characteristic areas of Wǎdū Pǔmǐ is the use of discourse markers (§6.5) in a whole range of complex constructions, mainly predicate-focus constructions (§10.8) and subordinate clauses (§10.4). The use of discourse markers as subordinators has been discussed since Haiman's work on conditionals as topics (Haiman 1978). Some work on Tibeto-Burman languages is Matisoff (1973) which deals extensively with unrestricted particles in Lahu, Genetti (1991) and LaPolla (1995) on the development of semantic role markers to clause subordinators, and Mazaudon (2003) which discusses topic markers and intensifiers used as subordinators. Since in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ the extent of discourse markers used in complex constructions is quite substantial, I will illustrate their use with multiple examples in §10.4 and §10.8.

10.1 Coordination and disjunction

The coordination marker = nog can link phrases as well as clauses and mark conjunction as well as disjunction. Noun phrase coordination is described in §5.7; in this section clausal coordination will be illustrated. An example of clausal coordination and noun phrase coordination is given in (1361).

(1361) kél ^j à=dàw,		$tc^hwarcheta-tc^hi$ $tc^hi=non$			pùtá		zázù	
	hard =	= IPFV:N.EGO	pig-food	feed=coo	ORD	woode	n.bucket	lift:COLL
	q ^h ù,	t¢ ^h wà-t¢ ^h ì-j	pứtá = nòŋ		n ^j á	zú	$k^{h}i = bu$	
	need	pig-food-we	ooden.bucke	et = COORD	thus	lift	time = TC)P
	need	pig-food-we	ooden.bucke	et = COORD	thus	lift	time = TC	OP

'It is hard, (I) need to feed the pigs and lift wooden buckets; when lifting the pig fodder bucket and actions like this (...)' (CV02.48)

When $= no\eta$ links two non-identical parallel clauses, it has a disjunctive meaning 'whether X or Y'. Examples are given of two slightly different parallel clauses, as in (1362), a positive and a negative parallel clause, as in (1363), or a declarative clause

followed by a parallel interrogative, as in (1503). Note that =nog can follow both clauses, as in (1363), which is an argument to analyse it as an enclitic rather than a proclitic.

(1362) ¢wè-tsź tçàw = nòŋ gá-tsà eight-CLF:person say:IPFV:N.EGO = COORDnine-CLF:person tcàw wèj? say:IPFV:N.EGO PUZ '(...) was it said (that it was) eight people or nine people?' (CV07.65.2) (1363) tá tóŋ zin = nón $m\dot{a} = z\dot{n}\eta = n\dot{n}\eta$ this speak can = COORD NEG = can = COORD'Whether or not he could narrate this, (...)' (CV13.114.1)

(1364) dùt c^{h} à píŋmá dz $\partial =$ nòŋ híŋ dz ∂l^{j} à? Dutchae Pingma be=coord who be RHET

'(...) it's Dutchae Pingma or who?' (CV02.93.1)

A non-identical (disjunctive) clause coordination construction with $= no\eta$ is often used as a complement clause of $t c^{h} \hat{v}mi$ 'not sure, don't know' (§10.3.1.1), as in (1365) and example (1403).

(1365) $n \check{o} \eta = s \grave{\partial}$ técámà = bì dádwè = nòŋ in.that.case = CONTR.TOP T:bKra.shis.ma = DAT ask = COORD $mi = d\acute{o} dw\grave{e} = l\grave{a}$ tc^hémì NEG:PFV = ask = also not.sure 'In that case, (I) don't know whether or not (they) have asked Zhacima (...)' (CV02.93.1)

When verbs linked by $= no\eta$ are completely identical, the meaning is one of intensity, as in (1366), or prolonged duration or repetition, as in (1367). It is often used with reported speech.

(1366) é è-p^híŋ=k^hì=nòŋ ní=là kè=tá=nòŋ kè=tá 1sG IN-flee=time=only LOG=also afraid=SVM=COORD afraid=SVM tçà say '(...) when I fled inside, (she) said that she was very much afraid as well (...)'

(CV06.10)

(1367) sénóŋ = sà		jăw	tà =	=dzěŋ	è-lú = qèj = nòŋ			
	Sanong = CONTR.TOP		again	3 = DU		IN-pass.out.of.sight = EXPT = COO		
	è-lú=qèj tçàv		J		mà.			
	IN-pass = EXPT	say:	IPFV:N.E	GO	INFO			

'But Sanong said repeatedly that the two of them would have passed out of sight.' (CV02.82)

10.2 Verb concatenation and clause chaining

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has various constructions for expressing events that include multiple actions, namely verb concatenation, non-finite clause chains, finite clause chains and separate clauses. 'Finite' is defined as being marked for person, aspect and evidentiality. The various constructions show different levels of integration on a scale ranging from the relatively tightly integrated verb concatenations to the less tight non-finite clause chain, to the even less tight finite clause chain, to non-integrated separate clauses.

The various constructions can be described using the layered clause structure approach laid out in Van Valin and LaPolla (1997). In this approach, a distinction is made between the Nucleus, the smallest layer which contains the predicate; the Core, the intermediate layer which contains the predicate and its core arguments; and the Clause, the largest layer which contains the predicate, its modifiers and its arguments.

The combination of the different elements (Nucleus, Core and Clause) can be described with the terms Nuclear juncture (Nucleus + Nucleus); Core juncture (Core + Core); and Clause juncture (Clause + Clause). The various manners in which these elements are joined together are Coordination, Subordination and Cosubordination. Cosubordination is intermediate between coordination and subordination: it does not involve embedding (like coordination), but one of the elements is dependent on the other (like subordination).

Verb concatenation (term from Matisoff 1969) in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ is defined as a multipleverb chain in which all verbs share the actor and the patient arguments, and which often, but not necessarily, forms a single predicate.⁴¹⁰ No constituents are allowed to come between the different verbs, and no pause can be observed between the different verbs. However, the clause linker *ha* can often be inserted, turning it into a non-finite clause chain (exceptions to this are some of the versatile verb concatenations that have

⁴¹⁰ Matisoff (1969:72) talks about 'fortituous concatenation', i.e. a clause chain with lots of coreferential zero anaphora, which looks superficially like a serial verb construction, but in which the different verbs belong to separate clauses. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, fortituous concatenation can be observed frequently. However, such juxtaposed verbs have limited ability to take different arguments: they need to share the same actor and patient arguments.

been discussed in §7.8 in which the second verb has a grammaticalised meaning). Inflection is only marked on the final verb. The different verbs show the same polarity: when negation is present, it has scope over the whole concatenation. The different verbs in the concatenation form separate tone groups (§3.2). Verb concatenation can be analysed as involving Nuclear juncture.

Non-finite clause chains are marked by non-finite verb forms in all but the final clause. The clauses share the same actor argument, but not necessarily the same patient argument; when no overt patient argument is expressed in a clause, the patient is taken to be the same as the patient of the preceding clause. When the patient is different between the clauses, a patient argument needs to be expressed. Different polarity is possible. Non-finite clause chains can be strung together without any clause linkers, in which case the different verbs express simultaneous actions. When no clause linker is present, a pause is possible between the different verbs in the clause chain. Sequentiality can be expressed through the use of the clause-final clause linker *ha* (or its variants *halonni* and *ha tçəbu*), the marker $d\partial b \check{u}$ then', or a combination of the two. Depending on the relationship between the clauses that are linked, the clause linker *ha* can also mark cause-and-effect. This ties closely and is an extension of the sequential meaning. Non-finite clause chains can be analysed as involving Core juncture.

Finite clause chains are linked by the clause linker *fia* and display finite verb forms in their non-final clauses. These chains can share the same actor and patient arguments, but this is not obligatory; when no overt actor or patient argument is expressed in a clause, the actor or patient is taken to be the same as the actor or patient of the preceding clause. When the actor or patient is different between the clauses, an overt actor or patient argument needs to be expressed. Different polarity is possible. Finite clause chains can be analysed as involving Clause juncture.

Separate clauses are not linked and show finite marking. Arguments are not necessarily shared, but can be. Different polarity is possible. Separate clauses do not involve any juncture.

Table 10.1 shows the different constructions. '+' indicates that something needs to be the same; '-' indicates that something is not necessarily the same; ' \emptyset ' indicates that no clause marker is present.

	actor	patient	polarity	clause marker
	argument	argument		present
verb concatenation	+	+	+	Ø
non-finite clause chain	+	-	-	Ø/ ha/ dəbŭ
finite clause chain	-	-	-	ĥa
separate clauses	-	-	-	Ø

Table 10.1. Concatenation and clause chains

The clause linker *fia* seems to be related to the ablative marker *fia* (§6.2.9). Ablative markers in many Tibeto-Burman languages are used as causal subordinators (Genetti 1986, 1991; LaPolla 1995a, 1995b, 2004) and in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ *fia* can mark causal subordination as well as general clause linking. Causal subordination is discussed in §10.4.3.

10.2.1 Verb concatenation

Verb concatenation in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ is defined as a construction of two or more verbs that occur in adjacent positions and often function as a single predicate. Thus no constituents come between the verbs. The whole construction can denote a single event in which the different verbs constitute sub-events. Verb concatenation appears as a single intonation unit. This means that a pause cannot be inserted without breaking up the unit. The unit is, however, not a single tone group (§3.2), but all verbs keep their own lexical tone. Inflection (aspect and evidential marking) is realized on the final verb of a unit.

Verb concatenation shows a gliding scale of integration. The most tight integration happens with some constructions (described in §7.8) in which the second verb is drawn from a limited group of verbs and usually functions as some kind of aspectual modifier to the first verb.⁴¹¹ In some of those constructions the clause linker *fia* cannot be inserted without changing the meaning of the whole construction. Most other verb concatenations appear to be what Matisoff (1969:72) calls 'fortuitous concatenations', that is, even though they superficially look like a single predicate, the verbs belong to

⁴¹¹ One could alternatively talk about asymmetrical serial verb constructions (Aikhenvald 2006).

different clauses.⁴¹² In these concatenations (described in this section) all verbs are drawn from an unrestricted group of verbs. The order of the different verbs reflects the order of the actions they denote. The clause linker *fia* can always be inserted without substantial change in meaning; it does break up the different actions more clearly. However, when verbs concatenate, both agent and patient roles (if specified by the verb semantics) and polarity are necessarily the same, whereas when *fia* is present, the patient argument and polarity do not have to be the same. This can be explained as the difference between nuclear juncture and core juncture (Van Valin and LaPolla 1997).

A few examples are given in (1368), (1369), (1370) and (1371). Whereas one could still interpret (1368), (1369) and (1370) as a single predicate, the two verbs in (1371) clearly represent two separate actions. Note that in all these examples *ha* can be inserted without problem. In (1369) the verb *kwej* modifies both *tséŋ* 'to fall down' and *sð* 'to die'.

(1368) n^jùkántçwìn dzà tcà fià \hat{a} -t \hat{c} j = m \hat{a} mĭ Ch:king.boletus be edible.fungus that-be.big = NMLZ say LINK t^jón è-pú,ú $q^{h} \partial dz w \partial = s \partial dz$ one:CLF:thing IN-roast OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO = INF '(...) (they) roasted and ate a mushroom this big called 'king boletus'.' (YJ01.20) (1369) swan d b k^{h} dq^há-p^háŋ $k^{h}i = la$, father then out-direction OUT-flee:PFV:N.EGO time = also hèsð $q^{h} \acute{e} = t \grave{u}$ nè-tsèn nè-sà kwéj Ch:still spike = on DOWN-fall DOWN-die let:PFV:N.EGO '(...) when the father fled outwards, (Hare) also caused (him) to fall down on the spike and die.' (TC04.36)

⁴¹² Because of the possibility to insert the clause linker *ha* between many of the verbs without substantial change in meaning, I prefer to use the term 'verb concatenation' rather than 'serial verb constructions'.

Cross-linguistically, symmetrical serial verbs have the tendency to lexicalize (Aikhenvald 2006:22) and it is often culture-specific events that are seen as one concept and are lexicalized (Durie 1997; Enfield 2002). I have not seen clear examples of lexicalization in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ.

(1370) jăw tè-p^hǎ, tè-p^hà dàbů jăw pú one-CLF:piece again one-CLF:piece do then again jăw, è-t^jě k^hà-tǐ. nè-géŋ DOWN-cut.with.scissors again IN-fold OUT-put '(...) after having cut (it) piece by piece, (we) would fold (it) and put (it) away.' (SN01.5) $\mathbf{q}^{\mathbf{h}}$ **ð-dzð** t**ð-çð** k^hì = bù dàbǔ tí-q^hú (1371) dàbů çwíŋ ts^hí-téj then lunch OUT-eat UP-go time = TOP then up-on meadow-big tá-tâ. **UP-arrive** 'After having eaten lunch and having gone up, (we) arrived at a meadow.'

(YJ01.4)

Because the order of the different verbs reflects the order of the actions they denote, verb concatenation often displays a cause-effect relation, as in (1372).

(1372) **nè-ņⁱž tó-sú k**čj mà! DOWN-pour UP-be.full let:IMP INFO 'Pour (it) until (it's) full!' (CV19.107)

Some verb concatenations show more specific semantics. In (1373) and (1374) V_2 is a verb of motion ('to get, to bring, to go, to come') and V_1 is a verb of manner conducting the motion. Again, the order of the two verbs reflects the order of the actions they denote.

(1373) t¢áw-t^hóŋ wúsð tçíŋ $c \hat{a} = m \hat{a}$ nè-kú Ch:rubber-barrel Ch:fifty Ch:pound go = NMLZ DOWN-carry.on.back tá-zâ **UP-carry** '(...) so (we) brought a barrel that held 50 pounds carrying (it) up on our backs (...)' (SN02.21) (1374) dèbǔ è-sèj k^hì, nè-dzéj è-sè è-sèj then IN-go:PFV:N.EGO IN-go:PFV:N.EGO time DOWN-ride IN-go:PFV:N.EGO $k^{h}i = bii$ dàbù time = TOP then 'Then (they) went and went, (he) was riding as (he) went (...)' (TC03.16)

As stated above, some verb concatenation is rather loose in integration. With tail-head linking (§10.9.2), it is not always the case that the whole construction is repeated, as is illustrated in (1375):

(1375) màdà-lí = tí $dz\hat{a} = d\hat{a}w = (n^{j}\hat{a}),$ tá-càw k^hà-tcé kwèj. female-DIM = INDF be = IPFV:N.EGO = just UP-raise OUT-be.big let:PFV:N.EGO '(...) it turned out to be a girl, and (so) (he) raised (her) till (she) was big.' (CV07.11) k^hà-tcè $k^{h}i = bi$ dàbů kwèj let:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP OUT-be.big then 'When (he) had let (her) become big, (...)' (CV07.12)

10.2.2 Non-finite clause chains

In non-finite clause chains only the final verb is inflected. The verbs in a non-finite clause chain obligatorily share their S or A arguments, but O arguments do not need to be shared and can be overtly expressed between the different verbs. Clause linkers are optionally used and if no clause linker is present, a pause may be inserted between the different clauses. Non-finite clause chains can be analysed as core junctures.

An example of a non-finite clause chain without overt clause linkers is shown in (1376). Even though no clause linker is used, the chain can be distinguished from verb concatenation by the pauses between the different clauses and the fact that the argument $t\varphi x t\varphi \dot{z}$ 'alcohol' and the adverbial modifier nv- $g \partial g w \check{v} p u$ 'drunk' is overtly expressed between the verbs.

The verbs $dz\delta$ 'to eat' and $t^h \check{i} \eta$ 'to drink' are not marked for person, aspect or evidentiality. Only the final verb $dz\delta\eta$ 'to sit' is marked by the customary marker *weŋ* (§8.5), but the scope of *weŋ* is over the whole clause chain. Note that non-finite verbs are able to take a directional prefix.

(1376) gì		ļĭ	mà=¢ə́-mə́=Jə̀=bù			¢í = wù		té-qè		
	livestock	herd	NEG = §	go-NMLZ	Z = PL = T	ГОР	villa	age=in	one-CLF:househo	old
	té-qè		pù	Įźj		q ^h à-	dzâ,	tçàtçð	k ^h à-t ^h îŋ,	
	one-CLF:ho	usehol	d do	invite	.guest	OUT	-eat	alcohol	OUT-drink	
	nè-gàgwè		pú	dzóŋ	wêŋ					
	DOWN-drui	nk:COLL	do do	sit	CUST.E	XCL				

'(...) The ones who do not herd animals will eat as guests in the village at one household in turn, drink alcohol, and hang out drunk. (...)' (CL02ed.22)
Non-finite clause chaining using *dəbǔ* 'then'⁴¹³ is often found in procedural texts and can include larger sections of text of which multiple non-finite clauses are only wrapped up by one finite clause at the end of the text.⁴¹⁴ An example of this is a prescription of how to make butter tea. Since it is a short text, it is given in its entirety in (1377). The finite predicates are given in bold font. As can be seen, only the first two and last two lines contain finite predicates.

The middle part of the text is one long non-finite clause chain that is wrapped up by $t^{h}v$ - $dz\hat{u}$ wey in the second to last line.

t^hóŋmá-bà (1377) tàç $\acute{a} = b\acute{u}$, $\dot{\mathbf{e}} = \mathbf{n}\hat{\mathbf{i}}$ ìn-bá Půmì-household:GEN now = TOP1SG=AGT 1:INCL-household:GEN t c^{h} àná pú qú = wèŋ mú-dzí à tá tè-tsá = g \Rightarrow butter-tea how do cook = CUST.EXCL INTJ this one-CLF:section = DEF $n\dot{v}$ -tò η = sû. èljǎtì a.little DOWN-speak = VOL:SG 'Now I will tell you a bit about the part of how our Pǔmǐ household makes butter tea.' (PC01.1) dàbů, mú-dzí t c^{h} àná pú qú = wèŋ ľà? then butter-tea how do cook = CUST.EXCLRHET 'So how to make butter tea?' (PC01.2) Jý=bù sź dàbù cè-dín = wà dàbů, dzì è-tǐ; dzĭ dzĭ first = TOPthen tea first IN-put tea then Hàn-area = in:GEN tea tá-l^jù tá-jéj = mà dàbǔ á-pù è-tǐ; kèi. that-under IN-put UP-get = NMLZthen UP-boil let 'First of all, put tea on first; the tea... put the tea that has been brought in from the Hàn Chinese area on under there; let (it) come to a boil;' (PC01.3) tá-l^jù $k^{h}i = bi$ dàbů, tâ $ts \approx d \delta \eta = w u$ nè-tcî. UP-boil time = TOP then this churn = inDOWN-churn 'when (it) is boiling, pour (it) into this tea churn;' (PC01.4)

⁴¹³ Note that $d \Rightarrow b \check{u}$ is also used by speakers as a hesitation marker 'uhm, so...' to gather their thoughts (§10.9.3). This use can be observed several times in (1377).

⁴¹⁴ A similar pattern is also reported for Dulong and Rawang procedural texts (LaPolla 2001) where the main steps end in a non-finite reduplicated verb.

 $q \circ \eta = q^h w \circ d$ dàbû (à mû) tá jwé = gæ ìŋ= Jǽ highland = on:GEN then INTJ butter 1:INCL = PL:GENthis vak = GEN $d\hat{a}$ -ts \hat{a} = m \hat{a} = g \hat{a} mú $t^{h}\dot{v}$ -dzú = m \dot{v} dàbù nčj tâ milk TO.SP-syphon = NMLZ = GEN this butter FR.SP- = make = NMLZ then dàbú á-wù nè-dî; that-in DOWN-throw then 'then put in butter that has been made from our highland yak milk that has been milked;' (PC01.5) dàbù. $ts^{h}i = la$ nè-dî: then salt = also DOWN-throw 'then also put in some salt;' (PC01.6) dàbǔ nè-dzôn; DOWN-churn then 'then churn (it);' (PC01.7) dàbǔ, ná pú t^hè-dzú wèn. then thus do FR.SP-make CUST.EXCL 'then...(it) is usually made like this.' (PC01.8) ná pú t^hè-dzú dàbů. $k^{h}i = bù$ dàbů, t^hǐŋ tá dzô. time = TOP then thus do FR.SP-make then drink can be 'After having made (it) like this, (one) can drink (it).' (PC01.9)

An example of sequential non-finite clause chaining with the clause linker ha^{415} is given in (1378), where multiple non-finite clauses precede the final clause. Person, aspect and evidentiality are only marked on the final clause, but non-final verbs can take directional prefixes.

⁴¹⁵ Note that the final *fia* in (1378) is part of the nominalization construction and is a different morpheme from the clause linker *fia*.

 $[ti = q^{h}u]$ $m \partial g e \eta = b u$ (1378) dèbů tá nè-dzéj] ĥà [ná рú then this old.man = TOP mule = on do DOWN-ride LINK thus [ná pú è-tchóŋ t^hè-k^hí] ["wû wû" tçè] hà ĥà LINK thus do IN-come:PFV:N.EGO FR.SP-grab LINK INTJ INTJ say má t¢^hòŋ ha], n^{j} à qúqú = wù. NMLZ.CONSTR pitch.black = in

'This old man came riding on a mule, holding on like this, and calling out "Wu, wu!," in the pitch-blackness.' (CV06.8)

Non-finite clause chains can have different O arguments, as in (1379) where the object of v- $t\hat{e}\eta$ is the non-expressed 'bread', whereas the object of $q^{h}\partial$ - $t\check{a}$ is 'glowing embers'. This is not possible in a verb concatenation. If *ha* is left out in (1379), the meaning of the resulting verb concatenation is strange; it would denote that the 'glowing embers' are the object of the baking. Since only the final verb carries inflection, inflection holds scope over all non-final clauses and thus the S/A arguments are obligatorily the same.

(1379) mètsú = góŋ	á-dzà	[dzìdwà=tí] ₀	q ^h à-t ǔ	ĥà
tong=INS	that-location:GEN	glowing.ember = INDF	OUT -dig	LINK
ષ્ટ-ત્રૂêŋ. IN-bake:IMP:	PL			

'Dig some glowing embers over there with the fire tongs and bake (the bread).' (CV21.100)

One often finds clauses in which the utterance verb $t\varphi \check{\sigma}$ 'to say' is linked by *ha* to a following manner of speaking verb or clause, as in (1380) and (1381). This is true as well for clauses in which $t\varphi \check{\sigma}$ means 'so-called', as in (1382). In Tibeto-Burman languages a common extension of the ablative is to mark (manner) adverbials (LaPolla 1995), and this seems to be happening here.

(1380) pèilálá wû, wû, tçà fià ná pú Ch:without.rhyme.or.reason INTJ INTJ say LINK thus do qwéıśj = dàw shout = IPFV:N.EGO 'Without rhyme or reason he shouted, 'Wu, wu!' like this. (...)' (CV04.19.3) (1381) káw = çì "á-q^hù zí k^hì," jǎw $m\dot{a} = t\dot{u},$ nǒŋ "nǐŋ uncle(MB) = LIM.TOP so that-on EXIST.AN time again aunt = on 2SGhòŋ-q^hú è-sèj tì," t¢à fià jåw ná $\mathbf{t}\mathbf{c}\mathbf{\dot{o}} = \mathbf{n}\mathbf{\dot{o}}\mathbf{g}$ again in-on IN-go:PFV:N.EGO say:IMP:SG say LINK thus say = COORD"nìŋ-bá $c\hat{a} = q\hat{e}j = d\hat{a}w$ k^hì," tçà ĥà 2-household:GEN go = EXPT = IPFV:N.EGO TRAILgo = ADD.FOCsay LINK **cwépà** = dàw mà dà jåw. scold = IPFV:N.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR again

'So uncle was scolding Aunt (Sanong), "When (Pingma) was up there (in his bedroom), he still let you say that he went up there (to the new house), even though (Pingma) wanted to go up there, (he still acted like that, i.e. told Aunt Sanong to say it like that)." ' (CV04.20)

(1382) Jà-pùqácá-Já-pùqàtcà fiàná = mápúqáté-t^hùskin-shoemuntjac-skin-shoesayLINKthus = NMLZshoeone-CLF:pairdà-k^hwěŋmá dzâ.TO.SP-give:PFV:N.EGOGNOMICthus = NMLZshoeshoe

'(My family) gave (me) a pair of leather shoes like this, so-called 'muntjac skin shoes'.' (TC10.24)

A direct quote linked by *ha* to an action can express the reason for the action, as in (1383). This is similar to what Genetti (2006:15) mentions for Dolakha Newar.

(1383) míŋ dzà t¢^hémì, $m\dot{a}(=g\dot{a})$ $\dot{e} = dz\dot{e} = b\dot{u}$ $d\dot{e}_{z}\dot{e}_{z}\dot{e}_{z}$ $t \circ \eta = q \hat{\epsilon} j$, not.sure person(=DEF)Q = be = TOP speech speak = EXPT what be zèmí = bù tsú dzý bǎ, é kè=tá" tçà fià $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ - \mathbf{p}^{h} í \mathbf{n} = sè \mathbf{n} . tonight = TOP ghost be SPEC 1sG afraid = SVM say LINK IN-flee = PFV:EGO '(...) saying, "What it is I don't know, if it were a person, he would be able to speak; tonight it is maybe a ghost; I am afraid", (I) fled in here.' (YJ01.30)

10.2.3 Finite clause chain

In finite clause chains the clause linker *fia* is obligatorily used. All verbs have a finite form and do not need to share the same arguments and polarity. Finite clause chains can be analysed as clausal junctures. Example (1384) shows two different actor arguments linked using a finite clause chain:

(1384) "mí	ŋ t¢ə=dwèŋ		mâ?"	tçà	k ^h ì	tà	á-pù	
wha	at say=IPFV:EGO:	N.SG	what	say	time	all	that-und	ler
tá-t	¢ ^h óŋ	fià,	lęłș		q ^h ù=	=gòŋ		nè-sð.
UP-0	come:PFV:N.EGO	LINK	laugh:	COLL	CUST	.INCL	= AGT	DOWN-die
'Co	ntinuously saying	, "Wha	at are yo	u say	ving, w	hat?	" (he) car	me up from under
the	re; (we) died with	laugh	ter.' (CV	/08.2	0.6)			

In example (1385) the finite form $t \varphi a w$ is used in the first main clause. This allows the actor of the first main clause to be different from the actor of the second main clause. If the non-finite $t \varphi a$ had been used instead, the actor arguments of both main clauses would be interpreted as referring to the same person.

(1385) jí hàw jî, mǎ = zð dǒŋ $m\dot{a} = q\dot{\epsilon}j$ come:IMP:SG WARN come:IMP:SG NEG = comebe.okay NEG = EXPT tcáw èmá gòŋn^jà-bá ĥà wú $t \hat{e} - c \hat{e} = s \hat{e} \eta$, say:IPFV:N.EGO LINK aunt Nuòsū-household:GEN interior UP-go = PFV:EGO há INTJ '(She) said, "Come, come! It won't be good to not come"; so aunt (=I) went to

'(She) said, "Come, come! It won't be good to not come"; so aunt (=1) went to the Nuòsū household, hahaha!' (CV14.287.1-2)

Example (1386) shows a speech quote that includes a non-finite clause chain. The quote is marked with square brackets and the non-finite clause chain is highlighted. The form $t\varphi a$ in the non-finite clause chain marks that the actor argument of the speaking and the actor argument of the fleeing are necessarily the same.

The whole utterance is a finite clause chain (with embedded speech quotes). This can be seen by the use of the finite form tcaw, which marks the speaker of the first speech quote as different from the speaker of the second speech quote. If the non-finite form tca had been used instead, the speaker of the first speech quote would be interpreted as the same person as the speaker of the second speech quote.



'Then aunt Naedzuma asked me, "What is it?"; (I said), "What it is (I) don't know, if it were a person, he would be able to speak; tonight it is maybe a ghost; (I) said "I am afraid" and fled in here." (YJ01.30)

Verbs in a finite clause chain can share the same actor argument, as illustrated in (1387), which is the climax of a trickster story. Trickster Hare is caught and tied up by the couple whose child he killed, and he now sets his plan in motion to kill them as well. All the actions, which ultimately lead to the death of the couple, are performed by Hare.⁴¹⁶

(1387) "l^jú = dáw" tçà $k^{h}i = n \partial \eta$ áwà, n^jùçù-pé áwà boil = IPFV:N.EGO say time = COORD CMX leather.bag-bottom CMX $j \neq ts = q \circ \eta$ $t \neq -j = c = b \circ \eta$ gwìd^jón śwà nè-dî knife = INS one-CLF:cut = LIM.TOP = TOP pestle DOWN-throw CMX nè-cà kwéi ĥà $m\dot{a} = j\dot{a}$ ts^hàpéj-jéj DOWN-go let:PFV:N.EGO LINK person = PL:GEN boiling.water-cooking.pot jèhă l^jwètsəlóŋ nè-té nỳ-çà kwéj ĥà tá-†sà DOWN-break DOWN-go let:PFV:N.EGO all embers UP-jump LINK ĥà kwèj let:pfv:n.ego LINK

'When they said, "It's boiling," LOOK! (Hare) used the knife, LOOK! to cut the bottom of the leather bag in just one cut, LOOK! let the pestle fall down; (he) let their cooking pot with boiling water break; (he) let all the glowing embers jump up.' (TC04.36)

Clauses in a finite (as well as a non-finite) clause chain can have different polarity, as in (1388) where the first clause is negative and the second positive. Note that the actor

⁴¹⁶ It can be observed in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ that the longest clause chains in narratives happen at the climactic point in the story. This was also noted by DeLancey (1991:18, note 7) for Tibetan.

in both clauses is the same (although functioning as S argument in the first and A argument in the second clause).

(1388) tsèmí = gón mí = p^hán fià female.deer = AGT NEG:PFV = flee:PFV:N.EGO LINK tçá k^hè-t^hwên water OUT-drink:PFV:N.EGO

'(...) the female deer did not flee, but drank the water.' (TC07.6)

Thompson et al. (2007:237,242) note that coordination and subordination form a continuum and in some languages the same morpheme can function as a coordinator and a subordinator. When the clause linker *fia* links two clauses that stand in a cause-and-effect relationship to each other, as in (1389), a causal subordination effect can be observed. However, this is an implicature, rather than real subordination. The latter is discussed in §10.4.3.

(1389) tshà nè-sá fià, tsóŋ zóŋ=mà cǐ mà=dáw.
dog DOWN-die LINK house guard=NMLZ EXIST.AB NEG=IPFV:N.EGO
'Because the dog died, there is no one to guard the house.' (TC05.8EL)

10.3 Complementation and complementation strategies

A complement clause is a clause that functions as a nominal argument of another clause (Dixon 2006:4; Noonan 2007:52). Following Dixon (2006), I distinguish between complementation and complementation strategies. Wǎdū Pǔmǐ shows three complementation types and several complementation strategies. Complementation types, described in §10.3.1, include sentence-like (S-like), non-finite and nominalized complement types. Complementation strategies, described in §10.3.2, include relative clause constructions, apposition and purposive linking.

10.3.1 Complementation

Semantically, the following complement-taking predicates (CTPs) can be distinguished in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ (terms from Noonan 2007:120ff): the utterance predicate tçǎ 'to say'; the propositional attitude predicates ci 'to think' and $sâwd^jaw$ 'to consider, think'; the pretence predicate tæ na nv-p# 'to pretend'; the commentative predicates cæ 'to resemble', tæ na(ni) 'it seems', dǎn 'to be okay, good', $k^húji$ 'to be okay to' and hwatejts# $\sim hwatejswæn$ 'to be worth'⁴¹⁷; the knowledge predicates nǔ 'to know', næjici 'to know', $tc^hêmi$ 'don't know', mǎ 'to forget'; the desiderative predicates ténten and záw 'like, want' (§7.9.5); the manipulative predicates kéj 'let, cause' (§7.9.8), $k^hémin p#$ 'no

⁴¹⁷ Both *k^húji* 可以 and *hwatejts*¥ 划得着 ~*hwatejswěŋ* 划得算 are loanwords from Chinese.

choice but to'; the modal predicates $t^h \check{o} g$, $w \hat{e} g$, $q \acute{a}$, $z \check{i} g$, $J \acute{a} \check{c} \check{i}$ 'can, be able', $t \acute{a}$ 'should', $q^h \check{u}$ 'need' and $h \acute{a}$ 'ought' (§7.9); the achievement predicate $d \check{o} g$ 'to end up, become', $g \acute{a}$ 'dare'; the phasal predicates $t s^h \acute{a}$ 'to be exhausted, be finished' and $t c^h \check{o} g$ 'to complete'; the immediate perception predicate $t c \acute{i} g$ 'to see, observe, watch'.

In terms of structure, Dixon (2006:9) distinguishes between different complementtaking verbs: verbs he calls 'Primary-B verbs', which can take a clausal argument, but can also take only NP arguments; and 'Secondary verbs', verbs which need to take at least one clausal argument. Most modal auxiliaries are Secondary verbs.

Complements can be divided into sentence-like complements, non-finite complements, and nominalized complements. There is a tendency for Primary-B verbs to take a sentence-like complement and for Secondary verbs to take a reduced (non-finite or nominalized) complement.

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has three complementizers *la*, *ha* and $n^{i}x$ that probably derive from the intensifiers 'also', 'even' and 'just' respectively (§6.5.1, §6.5.2; §6.5.4), and that are only used optionally with some complement-taking predicates.

The different predicates and the types of complements they take are illustrated in the following subsections. In the example sentences, complement clauses are marked by angular brackets. Multiple complements can be present in a sentence; in (1390) $n\hat{i}$ $ma = dz\hat{a}$ is the complement of $k^{h}\acute{e}min$ nv-pu, which in its turn is the complement of kwej, which in its turn is the complement of tcaw.

(1390) < ní mà = dzá>₁ k^hémíŋ nè-pù>₂ kwèj>₃
LOG NEG = eat not.possible DOWN-do let:PFV:N.EGO
tçàw mà dàw fià.
say:IPFV:N.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR
'(...) and (he) said that (they) caused him to have no choice but to eat it.'

(CV09.150)

10.3.1.1 Sentence-like (S-like) complements

Sentence-like complements are complements in which the verb inflection (including person, aspect and evidentiality) and argument structure is the same as in an independent clause. Sentence-like complements are the most independent complement type in the language. All sentence-type complements in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ are Fact-type complements (Dixon 2006:23). Some take optional complementizers and appear in S or O argument slots.

Utterance predicates take only sentence-like complements (similar to rGyalrong, see Sūn 2012:481). The verb $t\phi\dot{\sigma}$ 'to say', which normally is a three-place verb with an optionally agentive-marked A argument, an obligatorily dative-marked E argument and

a non-marked O argument, as in (1391), takes quotes as complements in place of the normal O argument NP. Thus the quote comes between the A/E arguments and the verb, as in (1392). Both direct and indirect speech can function as a complement, with the only distinction being the difference in pronouns which reflect the point of view of the original speaker in direct speech or the point of view of the current speaker in indirect speech. The verb endings reflect the deictic system of the original speaker in both direct and indirect speech. This has been described in §8.3.5.

(1391) $[\grave{e}=ni]_A$ $p \notin n \grave{\partial} [tc \grave{n} = t \grave{\partial} = b \grave{i}]_E$ $[t \grave{\partial} = g \grave{\partial}]_O$ $tc \grave{\partial} k^h i = b \grave{u}$ 1SG = AGT today child = PL = DAT this = DEF say time = TOP 'When I told this one (= the Na riddle on distilling liquor) to the children today, (...)' (CV08.3.2)

(1392) $[d\check{a}wm\grave{a}=b\grave{i}]_{E}$ <kõŋ t^hè-tç^hóŋ tà pàw>₀ tçà T:rDo.rje.Dre.ma=DAT door FR.SP-open.door one do:IMP:SG say $k^{h}\grave{i}=l\grave{a}$ time=also

'(...) When (I) told Dauma to open the door, (...)' (CV02.15)

Some utterance verbs like $qw \acute{e}_{\ell} e^{j}$ 'to shout', $k^{h} \partial t c^{h} w p u$ 'to whisper', and $d\acute{u}$ 'to call out' cannot directly take a complement. Instead the verb $t c \dot{\sigma}$ 'to say' needs to be present, as in (1393). Since these verbs do not take O arguments, the presence of $t c \dot{\sigma}$ allows the relationship between the two clauses to be expressed.

(1393) ní = bù dàbǔ (...) < "tçìŋ-şá dzá fià lⁱéj l^jéj, tçìŋ-tá gú
LOG = TOP then child-meat eat INTJ child-skin wear
fià lⁱéj l^jéj"> tçà dú = sí tçà = dàw.
INTJ say call = INF say = IPFV:N.EGO
'He himself (Hare) (...) called out, "Eat child meat nanana, wear child skin nanana!" ' (TC04.20)

I do not analyse $t\varphi \check{\sigma}$ as a complementizer, however. It is possible to insert the clause linker *ha* between the two verbs, just as in other verb concatenations (as illustrated in examples (1380) and (1381) in §10.2.2). The verb $t\varphi \check{\sigma}$ 'to say' is not used in combination with verbs of cognition or emotion (as in Dolakha Newar [Genetti 2006:149]), but it is often used in a non-finite clause chain with *ha* to link a quoted speech proposition to a resulting action (§10.2.2, example [1383]).

Verbs of utterance can be extended to other perception or cognition concepts, such as 'think' or 'realize', as in (1394), but this is rare, since there is a propositional attitude predicate ci 'to think'. This verb behaves like an utterance verb (§8.3.5), taking

sentence-like complements, often direct and indirect quotes, that fill the O argument slot, as in (1395) and (1396).

(1394) nè-dz $\epsilon j = m \hat{a} = g \hat{a} = b \hat{u}$ dàbǔ <wù dz \dot{a} = d \dot{a} w $>_{0}$ ĥà tçà DOWN-ride = NMLZ = DEF = TOPthen tiger be = IPFV:N.EGOsay LINK t^hútù p^háŋ séj fià. immediately flee:PFV:N.EGO go:PFV:N.EGO LINK '(...) the one who was riding realized it was a tiger and (he) immediately fled.' (KZ03.9) $(1395) \, m \hat{a} = t \hat{i}$ zì $k^{h}i = bii$ dàbǔ. <í... á-wù zì má person = INDF EXIST.AN time = TOPthen that-in person EXIST.AN INTJ $\hat{a}sen_0 > \hat{c}$ hà, dèbǔ tá jèmá=góŋ tá-çàw. this monk = AGT UP-raise think LINK then AGR 'When (he found out that) there was a person, (he) thought, "Iii! There is a person inside, right?", so this monk raised (it).' (TC09.10) (1396) tçiŋ = jóŋní <nùséŋ = n^jà $t^{h}i\eta = daw >_{0}$ $ci = q\hat{c}j$.

child=PL:AGT morning=just drink=IPFV:N.EGO think=EXPT 'The children will think that (I)'m drinking so early in the morning.' (CV02.24)

Other complement-taking predicates that take sentence-like complements are the propositional attitude predicate $s\hat{a}wd^{j}aw$ 'to think, consider' and the knowledge predicate $n\check{u}$ 'to know (facts)'. Both can take an NP argument as well as a sentence-type complement, which can be phrased like direct speech. Complements appear in the O argument slot. Here only examples of complements are given:

(1397) < nǐŋ míŋ p $\dot{\mathbf{u}} = s\dot{\mathbf{u}} >_{0}$ n $\dot{\mathbf{v}}$ -sáwd^j $\dot{\mathbf{a}}$ w 2SG what do = VOL:SG DOWN-think:IMP:SG

'(...) "Think what you want to do," (...)' (CV11.14.3)

(1398) <"ěŋ, tá-bù dz \dot{a} k^h \dot{i} = b \dot{u} , $m\dot{a} = n\dot{o}\eta$ $m\hat{a} = t\hat{i}$ tà INTJ 3-household mother = COORD daughter = INDF only be time = TOP $m\dot{a} = b\dot{u}$ $p\hat{u} = d\hat{a}w$ t¢^hwǽ tà-bǎ nź рú 3-household:GEN mother = TOP kowtow do = IPFV:N.EGOthus do sì dàw," $>_0$ t^hè-nù pâ. EPIST:probably FR.SP-know do:PFV.N.EGO

'And he knew, "Oh, this household has only a mother and a daughter, so the mother probably often kowtows like that." ' (TC08.7ed)

None of the above-mentioned verbs take complementizers.

The knowledge predicate $hænjiçi \sim nænjiçi$ 'to know' takes interrogative sentence-like complements as well as NP arguments in the O argument slot. It optionally occurs with the complementizer *la*, as in (1399). This predicate is a denominal verb (§7.7). In example (1400) the nominal part *hænji*- 'knowledge' and the verbal part *çi* 'EXIST.AB' are separated by negation.

(1399) $in = J \hat{\phi}$ $J \hat{\phi} - k^{h} \hat{i}$ $dz \hat{\phi} dz \hat{i} = t \hat{i}$ $t \hat{\epsilon} j - m \hat{\phi}$ $\hat{e} = dz \hat{\phi} = b \hat{u},$ 1.INCL = PL front-time letter = INDF EXIST.H-NMLZ Q = be = TOP $< k \hat{i}$ $z \hat{i} >_{O} = l \hat{a}$ $n \hat{e} n j \hat{i} c \hat{i} = q \hat{e} j.$ where EXIST.AN = also know = EXPT

'If we had books in the past (to write down the history), (we) would know where (we) were (before).' (CV25.37)

(1400) ébăw, <tòŋpú tçhàná tçhàná thè-dòn mà dzà>o fiànjǐ=fiá
INTJ story how how FR.SP-become GNOMIC knowledge=even mà=çì má dzâ.
NEG=EXIST.AB GNOMIC
'My oh my! (I) don't even know how the beginning (part of the story) goes.'

(CV13.106)

The knowledge predicate $t c^{h} \hat{c} mi$ 'not sure, don't know' occurs after a sentence-like complement clause and an optional complementizer, either *fia* or *la*. The use or nonuse of a complementizer renders a slightly different meaning. According to my main consultant, a sentence without a complementizer is more straightforward and direct, using the complementizer *la* implies that the speaker does not care too much about the real situation, and using the complementizer *fia* implies that the speaker is worried about the situation.

The form $t\varphi^h \hat{v}mi$ is impersonal. It is not possible to add a human referent argument, but the complement rather functions as the S argument.

Complements of $t \varphi^h \hat{v} mi$ are often, but not necessarily, interrogative clauses, as in (1401) and (1402). A complement can only be perfective aspect when it appears as an interrogative clause, as in (1403), since in general one would expect a perfective situation to be known information.

(1401) <mín dz>s t¢^hémì
what be not.sure
'(...) what it is (I) don't know (...)' (CV09.18)
(lit. what it is is not sure)

(1402) $< j \dot{a} j \dot{a}$ p^híŋts^hú dz $\dot{a} = q \dot{\epsilon} j >_s = f \dot{a}$ tc^hémì. T:older.brother T:Phun.tshogs be = EXPT = even not.sure

> 'Whether older brother Phintshu will eat (it), (I) don't know.' (CV04.42) (lit. whether older brother Phintshu will eat is not sure)

 $\begin{array}{lll} (1403) < t^{h} \grave{e} \cdot \$ \acute{o} \eta = n \acute{o} \eta & m \acute{i} = \$ \acute{o} \eta >_{\$} = l \grave{a} & t \And^{h} \grave{e} m \grave{i}, & f \acute{a} m \acute{e} z \grave{e} & t^{h} \grave{e} \cdot t \$ \acute{e} i \\ & \mbox{FR.SP-clean} = \mbox{COORD} & \mbox{NEG:PFV} = \mbox{clean} = also & not.sure & messy & \mbox{FR.SP-wash} \\ & t \grave{e} & p \grave{e} = s \grave{e} \eta & k^{h} \grave{i} = b \grave{u}, \\ & \mbox{one} & do = \mbox{PFV:EGO} & time = \mbox{TOP} \end{array}$

'Whether it has become clean or not (I) don't know, (I) casually washed it a bit.' (CV17.1) (lit. whether it has become clean or not is not sure...)

The epistemic stative verb $\varphi \hat{x}$ 'to resemble' (§8.4.5) can take NP arguments as well as a sentence-like clausal complement, as in (1404), and the complementizer *la* can optionally be added. Another epistemic construction, the impersonal $\mu n \partial (ni)$ 'it seems' (§8.4.5) takes a sentence-like complement, as in (1405). In both the complement appears in the S argument slot. In combination with the verb $p \hat{u}$ 'to do', which functions as a sort of causativizer, $\mu n \partial (ni)$ 'it seems' means 'to pretend', and the complement fills the O argument slot, as in (1406).

(1404)
$$< m \ge g \le j \ge k$$
 té $p \le q \ge j \ge s$ $c \ge t \ge k$, $s \ge j \ge k$
old.man a.little false $do = EXPT$ resemble = SVM AGR

'It looks like the old man will have been lying a bit, right?' (CV07.71)

$$(1405) < q^{h} \grave{e}ti$$
 $p\acute{u} = d\acute{a}w >_{s}$ Jæ nànì.
certain.thing do = IPFV:N.EGO it.seems

'It seems (to me) that (they) do certain things.' (CV21.578.2)

(1406) káw = gà , từ chí jăw $\langle séj = si \rangle_0$, từ nà nừ pừ uncle(MB) = GEN front again go:PFV:N.EGO = INF it.seems DOWN-do k^hờ-tì = séŋ OUT-put = PFV.EGO

'(...) but in front of uncle (I) pretended that he had gone (...)' (CV04.24.2)

The immediate perception verb 'to see' takes sentence-like complements with an optional complementizer *la*, as in (1407). Just like an NP argument, a complement appears in the O argument slot.

(1407) nǒŋmèdà, <gòŋnǔ p^hè pú q^hà-şéj>₀=là tçíŋ
INTJ back vomit do OUT-go:PFV:N.EGO=also see
mà=dáw śsèŋ?
NEG=IPFV:N.EGO AGR
'That's right, (Ahwa'aji) didn't even notice that (he) went to (his) back to vomit.' (CV09.50)

10.3.1.2 Non-finite complements

Non-finite complements are reduced predicates that lack full person, aspect and evidential marking. All the modal auxiliaries take non-finite complements. The question of whether auxiliaries take complements, or whether they should be analysed as part of a serial verb construction has been discussed for Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ by Dīng (1998:326) and can be applied to Wǎdū Pǔmǐ as well. Ding's main argument is that verb concatenation involves nuclear juncture (cf. §10.2) and the juncture of an auxiliary verb with its complement involves a higher juncture.

Auxiliaries were discussed in §7.9, so I will only give a few examples here that illustrate complementation. Most modal auxiliaries are what Dixon (2006) calls "Secondary Verbs", verbs that take at least one clausal argument. The examples show \underline{legleg} 'to like' (§7.9.5), $h\hat{a}$ 'ought' (§7.9.10), and $kwa\check{e}$, a dialectal variant of $t\hat{a}$ 'can' (§7.9.7) in a correlative construction (§4.2.3).

 $(1408) < tc^h w a - l^j e dz a > zi\eta$ $m\dot{a} = q\dot{\epsilon}j = d\hat{a}w$ pig-tongue make can NEG = EXPT = IPFV:N.EGO'(We) won't be able to make pig tongue, (...)' (CV18.49) (1409) $k^{h} \partial t^{hj} \delta \eta$, $< k^{h} \partial - t^{h} \eta >$ $t\hat{a} = b\hat{u}$ míŋ dzá, hà OUT-drink:IMP:SG this = TOP medicine be OUT-drink ought 'Drink, this is medicine, (you) ought to drink (...)' (CV06.3) (1410) èkáw báli = gonninón $\dot{e} = c\dot{i} = d\dot{e} = b\dot{u}$, púnà zènà,

uncle(MB) Bali=AGT money Q=EXIST.AB=DIS=TOP today yesterday <min dz $\dot{a}>$ $i \dot{e}n \dot{i} \dot{e}n$ $dz\dot{a}>$ kw \ddot{a} what eat like what eat can

'Uncle Bali said that whatever (you) like to eat (you) can eat these days if there is a bit of money. (...)' (CV14.52.2)

The knowledge predicate $m \check{\sigma}$ 'to forget' takes activity or potential type complement clauses (Dixon 2006:25), in which the verb is not inflected for person, aspect or evidentiality. The meaning is 'forget to <X>', where <X> is the complement clause.

The complement clause cannot refer to a fact. Fact-type complements are expressed by nominalized complement, as will be discussed below (§10.3.1.3).

(1411) tá ¢è-mádà-lì=gòn, < ní=gà tìnnáw zǎ>o this Hàn-female-DIM=AGT LOG=GEN Ch:computer carry nè-má=sì DOWN-forget=INF
'(...) this Hàn Chinese girl (said that) she had forgotten to carry her computer (...)' (PC06w.7)

The phasal predicates $ts^h a'$ to be exhausted, be finished' and $t\varphi^h \delta g'$ to complete' (§7.8.6) take non-finite complements, and cannot usually occur with an NP (Dixon (2006) "Secondary Verbs"), but when the action is clearly known to the addressee, a complement clause verb might be left out (see Dixon 2006:14). Thus one can say $tsa' n b ts^h a'$ the meat is finished' which could be understood as $tsa' dza' n b ts^h a'$ the meat is finished' which could be understood as $tsa' dza' n b ts^h a'$ the meat is finished (eating)' $\varphi b p^h \delta g' t^h b t \varphi^h \delta g'$ the blanket is completed' which could be understood as $\varphi b p^h \delta g' t t b t t \varphi^h \delta g'$ the blanket is completed (weaving)'. This raises the issue of whether the argument of $ts^h a'$ and $t\varphi^h \delta g'$ is ever a true NP, or if it is always a complement clause where the NP may be omitted.

 $(1412) < dz \partial dz \partial dz \partial dz \rangle \quad ts^{h} \dot{\alpha} \qquad m \dot{\alpha} = d \dot{\alpha} w \qquad \hat{\alpha}?$ $letter \qquad write \qquad be.finished \qquad NEG = IPFV: N.EGO \quad CONF$

'(You) haven't finished writing yet?' (CV13.15)

(1413) < gů> tç^hǒŋ mà = dáw bǎ wear complete NEG = IPFV:N.EGO SPEC

'(He) maybe isn't dressed yet.' (EL)

The denominal verb (§7.7) $k^{h} \ell m i \eta p \mu$ 'have no choice but to' takes a negative non-finite complement, as in (1414) and (1415).

(1414) ní <mà=dz> k^hémíŋ nè-pù kwèj LOG NEG=be not.possible DOWN-do let:PFV:N.EGO tçàw mà dàw fià. say:IPFV:N.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR '(...) and (he) said that (they) caused him to have no choice but to eat it.' (CV09.150)

(1415) < pèzóŋ = tì mà = dzó > k^hémíŋ pù wèŋ
roast.tsampa = INDF NEG = eat not.possible do CUST.EXCL
'(In the past) there would be no choice but to eat roasted *tsampa* (...)'
(CV14.168)

There are several impersonal constructions, borrowed from Chinese, that take a non-finite clausal complement with the optional complementizers $n^j a$ 'just' or la 'also': $k^h úji$ 可以 'it is possible, it's okay', as in (1416) and (1417), and *hwatejts* 並划得着 'it is worth to' or *hwatejswǎn* 划得算 'it pays to', as in (1418). The latter can also take a nominal argument, as in (1419).

(1416) nìŋ-bú-sòŋ = gòŋ tờ-j \dot{z} j k^hì, < \dot{z} sú q^hờ-dz \dot{z} >₀ n^jà 2-household-PART = AGT UP-bring time 1SG air OUT-eat just k^hújí làw. Ch:be.okay Ch:PFV

'When several of you bring up (the food), it's okay for me just to eat air.' (CV21.92)

'(...) even when we don't pour out libation on the upper fireplace, it is also okay.' (CV24.52.2)

(1418) <má= Jæ t^húts^hì-pì = nòŋ tá= Já sèŋ kí>₀ lá person = PL:GEN Tuōqī-clan = COORD 3 = PL firewood sell also hwàtèjtsʉ = qéj = dâw.
Ch:be.worth = EXPT = IPFV:N.EGO
'For the people of Tuōqī etcetera it will be worthwhile to sell firewood.'

(CV19.58)

(1419) nó pú dòbǔ cítsà é = tçà = dè = sò
thus do then Ch:itemized.account Q = calculate = DIS = CONTR.TOP
[tớ]₀ hwàtèjtsù mó dzó k^hì = bù
this Ch:be.worth GNOMIC time = TOP
'If it is calculated one by one, this is worth it....' (CV19.12)

The verb $d \delta \eta$ 'to be okay, to become' is a verb that has both monovalent and bivalent uses. As a monovalent verb, it functions as a stative verb (§8.2) with the meaning 'to be okay', as in (1420), and when a directional prefix is present, it has an inchoative meaning (§7.1.2) 'to become better', as in (1421). As a bivalent verb, $d \delta \eta$ can take a nominal O argument with the meaning 'to become NP', and when that is the case, it usually appears with a directional prefix, as in (1422).

(1420) $m\dot{a} = q^{h}\ddot{u}$, tǎ $d\dot{o}\eta = q\check{e}j$. NEG = need now become = EXPT

'No need, (it)'s okay for now.' (CV02.18)

(1421) t \neq q^h \rightarrow -dz \neq k^h1 = bu, t^he-do η we η this OUT-eat time = TOP FR.SP-become CUST.EXCL

'(I said to her), "When (you) eat this, (you'll) get well." (...)' (CV09.106)

(1422) $d\partial \eta = s\hat{i}$, $t^{h}\partial \eta i$ jèhả tçèpě nè- $d\partial \eta = q\hat{e}j$ bàw. be.okay = INF corn.cob.inside all flour DOWN-become = EXPT CONTR 'Okay, the corn cob insides will all have become flour.' (CV13.46)

Both the monovalent and bivalent forms of the verb can take clausal complements: nominalized clausal complements, discussed in §10.3.1.3, and non-finite clausal complements, discussed here.

When the monovalent form of the verb takes a clausal complement, it functions like an impersonal verb $d\check{o}g$ 'to be okay to $\langle X \rangle$ '. The complement appears in the Sargument slot. This is a topic-comment structure in which the sentence-like complement is the topic and can be followed by a topic marker, as in (1423) (cf. Qiāng [LaPolla with Huáng 2003:229]) or the intensifiers = la 'also' and $= n^j a$ 'just', as in (1424). When both an intensifer and a topic marker are present, the topic marker follows the intensifier, as in (1425).

 $(1423) " < j \grave{e} h \grave{a} t \acute{e} - c \grave{e} k \grave{e} j > = b \grave{u} d \check{o} \eta m \grave{a} = q \acute{e} j \acute{e} s \grave{e} \eta, " c \grave{i}.$ all UP-go let = TOP be.okay NEG = EXPT AGR think

' "To let them all go by will not be okay, right?" (he) thought.' (TC02.62)

 $(1424) < n\dot{\vartheta} \quad tc\dot{\vartheta} \quad t^{h}\dot{\vartheta} \cdot tc\ddot{\vartheta} > = n^{j}\dot{\vartheta} \qquad d\dot{\vartheta}\eta = q\check{\varepsilon}j.$ thus do FR.SP-say = just be.okay = EXPT

'Telling (her) like this, that's good.' (CV14.149)

(1425) < min = bú tǎ từ từ từ mà = tứ > = lá = bù medicine = TOP now this.period.of.time = TOP NEG = buy = also = TOP dòn = qěj be.okay = EXPT 'It will be okay to not buy medicine now during this period of time, (...)'

(CV02.44)

When the bivalent form of the verb $d \delta \eta$ takes a clausal complement, a directional prefix is always present and the meaning is 'to end up $\langle X \rangle$ ', as in (1426) and (1427). Interestingly, when the clausal complement involves an existential verb (§7.6) or a modal auxiliary (§7.9), as in (1426), the complement is actually sentence-like in that

it can function as an independent clause. When the clausal complement involves a normal verb, like $dz \delta g$ 'to sit', as in (1427), the complement cannot function as an independent clause, but is non-finite.

(1426) <t\u00e9k^\u00e9\u20e3 = l\u00e1 p\u00e9 m\u00e0 = \u00e2\u00e3n V \u00e9d\u00e3 w
a.little = also do NEG = can FR.SP-become = IPFV:N.EGO
'(...) (the situation) has become (that I'm) not able to do even a little bit, (...)'
(CV02.38)

(1427) t^j ě-nônélínwúçà = sènkhì,< sénlènt shéj = wù</th>recent-daytime1SGYǒngnínggo = PFV:EGOtimeCh:tricycle = indòndzón>thé-dònmà dòn fià.togethersitFR.SP-becomeNMLZ.CONSTR

'Recently when I went to Yǒngníng, (we) ended up sitting together in the same tricycle.' (CV21.248)

10.3.1.3 Nominalised complements

Nominalised complements are very common in Tibeto-Burman languages (Genetti 2011:172ff; Sūn 2012:481ff), but Wǎdū Pǔmǐ displays only a few complements that involve nominalization. The agentive nominalizer $=m\rho$ (§5.2.3), also used in relative clauses (§5.3.2),⁴¹⁸ is used to express fact-type complements of the knowledge predicate $m\check{\sigma}$ 'to forget', as in (1428); compare this with example (1411) above.

(1428) tá ¢è-mádà-lì=gòŋ, <ní=gà tìŋnáw zǎ=mə>o this Hàn-female-DIM=AGT LOG=GEN Ch:computer carry=NMLZ nè-má=sì DOWN-forget=INF 'This Hàn Chinese girl (said that) she had forgotten (the fact) that she carried

her computer' (PC06w.7EL)

Another nominalizer used for complementation is the purposive nominalizer *-ji* (§5.2.2). The verbs that have been attested with nominalised complements are $d\delta g$ 'to be okay, become' and the equational copula $dz\hat{\sigma}$ 'to be'. As described in §7.9.11, the constructions $\langle X \rangle$ -*ji* $d\delta g$ and $\langle X \rangle$ -*ji* $dz\hat{\sigma}$ function as deontic modality constructions. $\langle X \rangle$ -*ji* $d\delta g$ literally means 'be good to X' which implies the need to conduct a certain action and having no choice but to do it, as in (1429), or $\langle X \rangle$ -*ji*

⁴¹⁸ The distinction between relative clauses and noun complements is not made in many Asian languages, but uses similar structures. See the work of Matsumoto (1988, 2010), Comrie (1996, 1998) and LaPolla (2012).

DIR-dŏŋ which literally means 'become to X' which implies that one could only conduct a certain action, as in (1430).

k^hù-q^hú (1429) dàdzá $t \hat{a} - s \hat{c} \hat{j} = s \hat{i}$ tçàw bàw, ìŋ=dzǽŋ Dezhi UP-go:PFV:N.EGO = INFCONTR 1:INCL = DU out-on HSY $c\hat{a} = j\hat{1}$ $d \partial \eta = q \partial j = d \partial w$ bă. be.okay = EXPT = IPFV:N.EGO go = NMLZSPEC

'It is said that Dezhi went down the valley up (to Tuōqī); the two of us maybe will need to go (pick up Duoji).' (CV21.331)

(1430) $tcin = gidelet = bin t^{j}intervalue since q^{h}intervalue multiplication defined and the second definition of t$

'(We) could only say, "We hope that the child will not die, but as for that insignificant old man, let it be," right? (...).' (CV09.133.1)

The construction $\langle X \rangle$ -*ji* $dz\hat{\sigma}$ with the equational copula $dz\hat{\sigma}$ 'to be' indicates that there is a need to do the action indicated by the complement, as in (1431).

(1431) tóŋ e' = ci = biJ¢dz∂ = tí sź kéj = sù nǒŋ sà speak let = VOL:SG Q = think = TOPso first liquor = INDF first $dz \hat{a} = d \hat{a} w$, kì-jí ásèŋ? give.drink-NMLZ be = IPFV:N.EGOAGR

'So if (one) would want to let him narrate, (one) would first need to give (him) liquor, right?' (CV13.113)

10.3.2 Complementation strategies

A complementation strategy used in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ is apposition. This is shown in example (1432) where both *nŏŋ ení nɐ-mǎ ti pʉ=su* and *dŏŋ* $\hat{v}=q\varepsilon j$ are complete clauses. Normally, the commentative predicate *dŏŋ* 'to be okay' takes a non-finite complement (see (1423-1425) above).

(1432) nǒŋ è = ní nè-mà tí $p\hat{\mathbf{u}} = s\hat{\mathbf{u}}$ dŏŋ isp=9 tcà so 1SG = AGTDOWN-blow one do = VOL:SGbe.okay Q = EXPTsay $k^{h}i = bi$ time = TOP

"When (Bear) said, "In that case, I want to blow for a bit, will (that) be okay?" (...)" (TC06.3)

10.4 Subordinate clauses

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has several subordinate clause constructions. Apart from their role in the predicate-focus construction described in §10.8, discourse markers (§6.5) play an important role in subordinate clauses. The semantics of the particular discourse marker indicates the relationship between the subordinate clause and the main clause. Conditional clauses are treated in §10.4.1, temporal and concessive clauses are discussed in §10.4.2, and causal clauses are dealt with in §10.4.3.

10.4.1 Conditional clauses

In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ there are two ways to form conditional clauses: the first uses the interrogative marker $\hat{v} = (\$7.3)$, either by itself or fused with the directional prefix, both illustrated in (1433), and usually followed by one of the discourse markers described in \$6.5; the second uses the conditional subordinator *sətçæ* 'if', as in (1434).⁴¹⁹

(1433) dòŋ púų pù-jì tà, $\flat p \acute{u} = g \acute{e}$ $\acute{a} - dz$ ì together roast do-NMLZ can grandfather = GEN that-location $\acute{e} = t \grave{e} j = b \grave{u}$, $t^{hj} \grave{e} - t \varsigma^h \acute{o} \eta = b \grave{u}$. Q = EXIST.H = TOP FR.SP:Q-complete = TOP

'If there is (meat) at grandfather's over there, if it is done, (you) can roast it together.' (CV18.30.2)

(1434) ìŋ = dzáŋ pètsó dì zóŋ t^hè-çò sótçá ó-wù t^hè-tà = qêj
1:INCL = DU flower throw SIM FR.SP-go if that-in FR.SP-arrive = EXPT
'(...) If the two of us go throwing flowers, we will reach that place (...)'
(TC07.26)

The conditional clauses differ slightly in interpretation. A clause with *sətçæ*, as in (1435), is a relatively neutral statement of the situation ('if it rains, the logical result is that the clothes will get wet'), but (1436), which has the interrogative marker = e (fused with the directional prefix), implies that the speaker is very much concerned with the possibility that it will rain and the clothes will get wet, and is expressing his hope that that will not happen.

⁴¹⁹ Many languages show a similar distinction. An example from Dutch: *Gaan jullie naar huis, dan ga ik ook* 'If you go home, I'll go too' with a subordinate clause framed like a question (i.e. *Gaan jullie naar huis?* 'Are you going home?') versus *Als jullie naar huis gaan, dan ga ik ook* 'If you go home, I'll go too' with the subordinator *als* 'if'.

- (1435) gwí né-tç^hòŋ sàtçà, tçòŋgú nè-dzáŋ = qèj
 rain DOWN-appear if clothes DOWN-wet = EXPT
 'If it rains, the clothes will get wet.' (EL)
- (1436) gwí n^j&-tc^hòŋ = bù, tcòngú nè-dz&n = qèj rain DOWN:Q-appear = TOP clothes DOWN-wet = EXPT 'If it rains, the clothes will get wet.' (EL)

The general topic marker =bu is the only one that can follow the conditional

subordinator *sətçæ* 'if', as in (1437).

(1437) \acute{e} tç \grave{i} = m \acute{a} nìŋ = góŋnî t^h \grave{i} -p \acute{a} s \grave{i} tç \grave{i} = b \grave{u} d \grave{i} b \check{u} 1SG say = NMLZ 2SG = AGT FR.SP-do:PFV:N.EGO if = TOP then '(...) if you do what I say, (...)' (TC02.48)

The other conditional subordinate clause type can also be followed by =bu, as in (1436), but can additionally be followed by a whole range of discourse markers (§6.5), as illustrated in examples (1438-1440). This is in line with Haiman (1978) who states that conditionals are basically topics. The various discourse markers link the conditional clause topics to their comments and the semantics of the discourse markers denote the relationship between conditional topic and comment. When a conditional clause is marked with the topic marker =bu (§6.5.6), it is linked in a fairly neutral way to the comment, as in (1433) above.

When a conditional clause is marked with the disjunctive topic marker = di (§6.5.7), the comment has an adversative meaning, as in (1438).

(1438)) ájù	çwépà =	mà	é=dz	à=dì		tçìk ^h ź
	INTJ	scold = N	IMLZ	Q = be	:N.EGO = DISJ	ТОР	embarrassing.situation
	nè-t¢ ^h	óŋ	tçà	fià	((dèŋ-jì	t ^h è-d	ຼ. ôŋ))
	DOWN	-appear	say	LINK	moan-NMLZ	FR.SP	-become
	'We m	noaned th	at, "(Ojo, if v	we had scolde	ed the	m, it would have been a very
	embai	rrassing s	ituati	ion." ' (CV08.20.4)		

When the conditional clause is marked with the contrastive topic marker $=s \Rightarrow$ (§6.5.8), the comment has an contrastive meaning, as in (1439), where it is contrasted with the situation that it does not snow.

 $(1439) \acute{e} - b\dot{u} = l\dot{a}$ tè-dzú $c\hat{a} d\hat{o}\eta = q\hat{e}j$ bă, 1-household = also one-CLF:time go be.okay = EXPT SPEC $m\dot{a} = \acute{e} = tc^{h}\dot{o}\eta = b\dot{u};$ $\acute{e} = tc^{h} \grave{o} \eta = s \grave{o}$ pú pú NEG = Q = appear = TOPsnow snow Q = appear = CONTR.TOPdàbǔ tí-q^hú çą Tąčj jǎw $m\dot{a} = q\dot{\epsilon}j$ bǎ. then again up-on go can NEG = EXPT SPEC 'Our household maybe needs to go one time as well, if it does not snow; if it snows however, one can maybe not go up there.' (CV18.71)

When the conditional clause is marked with = la 'also' (§6.5.1), the comment has an additive meaning, as in (1440).

(1440) fiǎw, tà=gǎŋ $\acute{v}=li=là$ $\vec{z}a=q\acute{z}j$ mà dzì. INTJ this=AGT Q=recite=also come=EXPT NMLZ.CON

'Oh, if it recites, (the sound) can also come out.' (CV21.467)

No conditional clauses followed by =ha (§6.5.2), $=no\eta$ (§6.5.3), $=n^{i}x$ (§6.5.4), $=g \Rightarrow di$ (§6.5.10), $= t \varphi \Rightarrow m \Rightarrow ($ §6.5.10) or $= \varphi i$ (§6.5.11) have been attested in the corpus. It is possible for no discourse marker to be present, as in (1441).

(1441) tàçá à-wú $k^{hj}à-dz$, té-t¢^hwì t¢^hípá dà-t¢^hĭ $k^{hj}à-dz$, now this-under OUT:Q-eat one-CLF:meal very.well TO.SP-feed OUT:Q-eat tì = tá = wú té-kù = là dzá tséŋ mà = qêj. other = PL:GEN = in one-CLF:mouthful = also eat N.CONTR NEG = EXPT '(...) if (I) eat here now, if (I) eat one meal of good food, (I) won't even eat one mouthful of food at other's.' (CV21.273.4)

Negative conditional clauses are marked with both the negation marker $m\check{a}$ = and the interrogative marker \hat{v} =, as in (1442).

'If young people are not able to think, are not able to act, the people at home are disappointed; (...)' (TC01ed.18)

The markers are fused and auditorily [mǎ:] with a long vowel and a rising-falling pitch is observed. That this is indeed a merger of the negation marker and the interrogative

marker can be seen from example (1444), when compared to (1443).⁴²⁰ That example (1443) is a normal negative clause used as general topic, and not a negative conditional clause, can be seen from the tonal pattern and the optional addition of the topic marker = bu. Example (1443) expresses a realis situation: the eye of the slaughtered pig has not been pushed in yet, and without a knife this will prove impossible. Example (1444) on the other hand shows a counterfactual situation: the eye of the pig has been pushed in and this would not have been possible without a knife.

(1443) nél^jáw = bù nǐŋ ((p^hí $\delta \eta = dz \hat{e} \eta$ Játsà $m\dot{a} = c\dot{i} = b\dot{u}$ eye = TOP INTJ 1:INCL = DUknife NEG = EXIST.AB = TOPblow.up tcæ $m\dot{a} = q\dot{\epsilon}\dot{j}$ bâw)). can:EGO:1 NEG = EXPTCONTR

'Mind you, if we two don't have a knife, (we) won't be able to push in the eye.' (CV18.133)

(1444)
$$n\acute{e}l^{j}\acute{a}w = b\grave{u}$$
 nǐŋ $\grave{o}\eta = dz\acute{e}\eta$. Játsà $m\grave{a} = \acute{e} = c\grave{i} = b\grave{u}$ ((p^hí
eye = TOP INTJ 1:INCL = DU knife NEG = Q = EXIST.AB = TOP blow.up
tçæ mà = qɛ́j bâw)).
can:EGO:1 NEG = EXPT CONTR

'Mind you, if we two had not had a knife, (we) would not have been able to push in the eye.' (CV18.133EL)

The presence of the negation marker $m\check{a}$ = blocks the tone of the preceding directional prefix or verb from spreading, as in (1445), (see also §3.4.5).

(1445) tá mì=gá ně-mă=dù=bù, zègàņóŋ jăw
this edible.fungus=DEF DOWN-NEG:Q=poison=TOP day.after again
jèŋdí çá=qèj bàw nǐŋ.
seek go=EXPT CONTR INTJ

'If (they) had not been poisoned by the mushroom, the day after (they) would have gone seeking (the yak corpse), mind you.' (CV09.151)

Conditional constructions can be repeated with the clause coordinator $= no\eta$ in between ($\hat{v} = V = no\eta$ $\hat{v} = V = bu$) to render a more intense meaning, as in (1446), (cf. §10.1). This example implies that the speaker thinks she knows better than the addressee and is proudly making a suggestion. If only a single conditional construction had been used, the meaning would be more neutral.

⁴²⁰ The clause $last a = \hat{v} = ci = bu$ phonetically sounds like [last a mă: cì bù] and at first I took it as just a tonal distinction between [mà cì bú] and [mǎ cì bù], instead of a negation marker fused with the interrogative marker.

(1446) é = dzú = nòŋ	é=dzù=bù	t¢ ^h wí	р ú	
Q = make = coor	Q = make = TOP	good	do	
' "If (you) really	v build it, do it well.	" ' (CV1	4.144.	6)

10.4.2 Temporal and concessive clauses

Speakers of Wǎdū Pǔmǐ use the same mechanism to express both temporal and concessive clauses; it depends on the combination of the individual clauses whether the subordinate clause should be interpreted as temporal or concessive.

Temporal clauses are followed by the subordinator k^{h_i} (the nominal k^{h_i} 'time'⁴²¹), as in (1447). When the first clause, subordinated by k^{h_i} , has the opposite polarity from the second clause, the meaning of the subordinate clause is a concessive 'even though, ...but', as in (1448).

k^hì, $q^{h} \hat{\partial} - dz \hat{\partial} = n^{j} \hat{a}$ (1447) nìŋ-bú-sòŋ = gòŋ tá-jéj é sú 2-household-PART = AGT UP-bring time 1sg air OUT-eat = justk^hújí làw. Ch:be.possible Ch:PFV 'When several of you bring up (the food), it's okay for me to just eat air.' (CV21.92) (1448) nǐŋ t¢íŋ = qéj tçà=dàw k^hì, dàbǔ 2sg see = EXPT say = IPFV:N.EGO time then $m i = t c^h \delta \eta$ mà t¢^hòŋ hà. NEG:PFV = come:PFV:N.EGONMLZ.CONSTR 'Even though (he) said that you will see (him), (he) did not come.'

(CV07.26.2)

Various discourse markers (§6.5) can follow k^{h_i} to connect the subordinate clause to the following main clause in more specific ways. The semantics of the particular discourse marker indicates the relationship between the subordinate clause and the main clause. The fact that discourse markers can follow temporal subordinate clauses is not surprising if one analyses these clauses as relative clause constructions headed by the nominal k^{h_i} 'time'.⁴²²

⁴²¹ It is not possible to establish the original tone of the noun, since it is never used in isolation, but always in combination with some other morpheme, for example $\hat{\partial} - k^h i$ 'that time'.

⁴²² Note, however, that in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ, pre-head relative clauses are normally linked to the head noun by the genitive clitic $=(g) \approx$ (§5.3.2), which is not the case in these subordinate clauses.

The most frequently used discourse marker in temporal clauses is the general topic marker =bu (§6.5.6).⁴²³ It has a fairly neutral meaning 'when X, Y', as in (1449). Occurrence of the additional topic marker $=t\varphi ama$ (§6.5.10) is shown in (1450). It is not clear at this point what the exact difference is between clauses with $k^{h_i}=bu$ and $k^{h_i}=t\varphi ama$. A temporal clause marked by the contrastive topic marker sa (§6.5.8) indicates a contrast with a previously mentioned time, as in (1450). The discourse markers =di (§6.5.7), =ni (§6.5.9), =gadi (§6.5.10) and $=\varphi i$ (§6.5.11) have not been attested in temporal clauses in the corpus and their occurrence in this construction is deemed unacceptable by my main consultant.

- (1449) $k^{h}\partial -c\partial = sen$ $k^{h}i = bu$, emd = gon $e^{-p^{h}in} = sen$ m ∂ sen fia. OUT-go = PFV:EGO time = TOP aunt = AGT IN-flee = PFV:EGO NMLZ.CONSTR 'When (we) went outside (to look), aunt fled inside (again).' (CV09.35)
- (1450) ladzu = tcama nè-pul^jé $k^{h}l = tcama$ bètwâtwâ hear.cover = TOP DOWN-turn.over time = TOP irregular

'When the head cover was upside down, it was all irregular, (...)' (CV22.7.2)

(1451) t¢ ^h wà-t¢ ^h ĭ	t¢ ^h ì=nóŋ		mà=t¢ ^h í	=nôŋ,	tədzí	kóŋ
pig-food	feed = cc	OORD	NEG = feed	d = COORD	this.time	cold
$k^{h}i = s \hat{a}$	te	¢ ^h wà	= tź = bì	q ^h wá	mé = dàw	
time = CONT	TR.TOP p	oig = Pl	L = DAT	be.of.use	NEG:EMPH =	= IPFV:N.EGO

'Whether or not one feeds (the pigs) pig fodder, at this period of time when it is cold however, it is no use at all to the pigs, (...)' (CV14.36)

In most of the examples in the corpus, an subordinate clause with $k^{h}i$ and the intensifier = la 'also' (§6.5.1) marks a temporal concessive clause '(even) when X, but Y'. Usually the actor (S/A) argument of the subordinate clause is different from the actor (S/A) argument of the main clause, as in (1452), and often the polarity is different as well. There are a few examples where the actor (S/A) argument of both clauses is the same (but note that there the polarity is different), as in (1453). In a few examples, however, = la is used in its original meaning of 'also', and the subordinate clause has a temporal and not a concessive reading, as in (1454). The particular reading depends on the discourse context.

⁴²³ Temporal adverbial clauses followed by =bu form by far the majority of examples in the corpus with over 700 occurrences. This can be compared to the other markers: =la 71 attestations, =nog 35 attestations, $=n^{j}x$ 27 attestations; =ha and =tcomo four attestations, =so two attestations. Temporal adverbial clauses without discourse marker following number around 160 occurrences.

(1452)	è=ná	ní	mə́ =	Jæ	má	dzə́	tçà	$k^{h}i = la,$	
	1 sc =	AGT:EMPH	perso	on = PL:GEN	person	be	say	time = also	
	tà= Įč	inni è=t	0Í	k ^h à-cà=dâw,		nǐŋ	k ^h v	vé tçé	
	3 = PL	AGT 1SG	= DAT	OUT-go = IPFV	:N.EGO	2sg	he	art be.big	
	zù=d very=	áw = IPFV:N.EGC	tçə say	fià. LINK					
	`Even "(You	when I sai) are still g	d that t oing ou	hat was a per it, you are vei	son, they y bold."	y came ' (CV	e ove 09.34	r to me and })	said,
(1453)	iĉi	mùiù	néi =	sú	tcàw		k	$h_{1} = 1a$	
(1100)	INTJ	Ch:koniac	simn	er = VOL:SG	sav:IPFV	N.EGO) t	ime=also	
	dzú mé = t ^h òŋ. grind NEG:EMPH = can:N.EGO								
	`Hey, no tin	when (aun 1e to grind	t Sanor it.' (CV	ng) said that (s 721.242.2)	she) wou	ıld boi	il son	ne konjac, (s	she) had
(1454)	dèbǔ then	ts ^h èləlí = ç little.dog =	∣ ó = DEF	dəbŭ tçə́=v then water	wù nè =in do	?-dĭ)wn-tł	irow	nè-çə DOWN-go	
	kwéj let:pfv	k ⁱ /:n.ego ti	^h í=bù me=™	dàbǔ DP then					
	'Then (TC02	when (he) 2.27)	threw	the small dog	downwa	ards ir	nto th	e water, ()'
	àw INTJ	Jú=g∂ chicken=	DEF 1	nè-dǐ DOWN-throw	nè-çə DOWN-;	k go le	éj k et t	^{ch} í = là ime = also	
	'Whe r	n (he) also	threw t	he chicken do	wn. ()	, (LCO	2.28)	
Subord concess respect	linate o sive re tively.	clauses foll eadings, de	owed l	by $k^{h}i$ and $=1$ ag on the disc	<i>fia</i> 'even' course co	(§6.5 ontext	.2) h	ave either te in (1455) a	emporal or and (1456)
(1455)	ébăw, INTJ	è-zə́ IN-come	k ^h í=f time=	ìà té-dà: = even one-Cl	ŋ LF:run	té-dài one-CI	ŋ = çì LF:rui	= bù = tçəm n = LIM.TOP =	ò, = TOP = TOP
	é=tçá	əmə dəd TOP wal	égn=lć k=also	i mà=zìŋ NEG=can	t ^h é-dóŋ FR.SP-be	ecome	mà, INFC	t ^h ə̂. foot	
	'My ol back a painfu	h my! Afte and forth, u 11).' (CV21.	r (I) cai intil I c 248)	me back (from could not even	i Yŏngní walk ar	ng) (I) iy moi) was re, (n	continuous 1y) foot (wa	ly running s so

(1456)) zé-p ^h à	t ^h è-dzù	k ^h ì=fià		
	four-CLF:part	FR.SP-make	time = even		
	è-lóŋ = dàw			tçàw	nǐŋ
	IN-become.full	l.of.maggots =	IPFV:N.EGO	say:IPFV:N.EGO	INTJ

'(Wujin) said that even when it was made into four parts, it became full of maggots, mind you!' (CV18.118)

Subordinate clauses followed by $k^{h}i$ and =non 'only' (§6.5.3) have the meaning 'only when X, Y', as in (1457). Subordinate clauses followed by $k^{h}i$ and $=n^{j}x$ 'just, already, right then' (§6.5.4) have the meaning 'when X, right then/already Y', as in (1458), or a concessive meaning, as in (1459).

(1457) mà jí $k^{h}i = n \partial \eta$ từ wèn sky be.clear time = only dig CUST.EXCL

'(...) only when the weather is clear (we) will harvest.' (CL03ed.23)

(1458) Jó-khì káw=gòŋ phè khí=njà nó pú phè wêŋ front-time uncle(MB)=AGT pour time=just thus do pour CUST.EXCL
'In the past when uncle poured out libation, (he) would already do (it) like this.' (CV23.23.2)

(1459) dòbǔ nǐŋ q^hètséj zù $k^{h}i = n^{j}àc$ $c \circ = bú$ $c \circ = m \circ$ then INTJ small very time = just go = TOP go = NMLZ $dz \circ = daw$ $k^{h}i$ be = IPFV:N.EGO TRAIL

'(...) then, mind you, even though (he) was very small, (he) went (...)' (CV01.7)

The general topic marker = bu can follow the intensifiers = la 'also', = non 'only' and $= n^{j}x$ 'just', as in (1460), (1461) and (1462). Other discourse markers cannot co-occur in temporal clauses.

(1460) $m\dot{\vartheta} = J\dot{a}$ person = PL:GEN person = PL flee time = also = TOP tough do $ki = s\acute{e}\eta$ k^{h} . chase = PFV:EGO TRAIL

'Even when other people fled, I toughly chased after them.' (CV14.183)

(1461) $z\dot{e}$ - $t\dot{s}^{h}\dot{a} = w\dot{u}$ $k^{h}\dot{i} = n\dot{o}\eta = b\dot{u}$, $t^{h}\dot{e}$ - $d\dot{a} = s\dot{i}$ $b\dot{a}w$. four-CLF:generation = in time = only = TOP FR.SP-come.undone = INF CONTR

'(...) we spread (from them) only four generations ago.' (CV25.48.4)

(1462) mə́ = Jə̀	má = tì	t ^h è-t¢íŋ	$k^{h}i = n^{j}a = bu$
person = PL	person = INDF	FR.SP-see	time=just=TOP

'As soon as one sees other people, (...)' (CV14.172.1)

The intensifiers =la 'also', $=n^{j}a$ 'just, already, right then', =non 'only' can also appear as clausal subordinators by themselves. When $k^{h}i$ is present as a subordinator, as in the examples above, the emphasis of the utterance is more on the temporal aspect of the situation 'at the time when X', whereas when $k^{h}i$ is absent, the emphasis is more on the situation itself, presented as a topic for the rest of the utterance, as in (1463), (1464) and (1465). The general topic marker =bu can follow the clause, as in (1466).

(1463) $k^h wi$ $t^h \dot{e} \cdot p \dot{u}$ $m \dot{a} = q^h \dot{u}$ $k^h \dot{a} \cdot t\dot{i} = l\dot{a}$ $n \dot{e} \cdot s \dot{a} = w \hat{e} \eta$ pity FR.SP-do sky = on OUT-put = also DOWN-die = CUST.EXCL

'(There are some children) even when (you) care for (them) till the heavens, (they) will die.' (CV07.1)

(1464) $z \dot{z} \dot{z} \dot{g} \dot{z} \cdot s \dot{e} \eta = b \dot{u}$ $\eta \hat{u} = n^{j} \hat{z}$ $d \neq \eta = q^h u$ sóŋ JÚ later-morning = TOPchicken crow = justraised.platform = onincense q^hú wèŋ tòŋ burn.incense need CUST.EXCL

'Early morning the next day, as soon as the rooster crows one needs to burn incense at the raised platform; (...)' (CL02ed.16)

(1465) tí-q^hú tó-çà = nòŋ ní nè-gà tí k^hó-tç^hòŋ tçàw.
up-on UP-go = only LOG DOWN-happy one OUT-appear say:IPFV:N.EGO
'(She) said that only when (the old man) had gone up (into the mountains), she was happy.' (CV14.226)

(1466) púpù zèpù = sà $i\eta = j \hat{a}$ ásèŋ, á-dzà this.year last.year = CONTR.TOP 1: INCL = PL AGR that-location:GEN $n\dot{e}$ - $d^{j}\dot{a}w = l\dot{a} = b\dot{u}$, míŋ $dz \hat{a} = l \hat{a}$ dz-jí ci = daw.DOWN-be.tired = also = TOP what eat = also eat-NMLZ EXIST.AB = IPFV:N.EGO 'These recent years, however, even though we were tired, but whatever (we wanted) to eat was there, right?' (CV21.263)

10.4.3 Causal clauses

Both the agentive/instrumental marker =gon(ni) (§6.2.1,§6.2.4) and the ablative marker *fia*, which also functions as a subordinate clause linker (§6.2.9; §10.2), are used as causal subordinators. Agentive, instrumental and ablative markers function as causal

subordinators in many Tibeto-Burman languages⁴²⁴ (Genetti 1986, 1991; LaPolla 1995a, 1995b, 2004, Bickel 1999a).

One form of causal subordination⁴²⁵ is done by means of the instrumental/agentive marker = gon(ni) (§6.2.1). The subordinate clause marked by the agentive indicates the cause; the following main clause indicates the result (often a feeling the referent experiences as a result of the action), as in (1467) and (1468). Often a negative result is implied, but a positive result is possible as well. In most cases in the corpus, the result of the action is not expressed, but left implicit (see §10.5), as in examples (1471-1474).

(1467) tá=gá dzàdzì swéŋ=góŋ màgéŋ ní=bù némíŋ nè-tç^hóŋ
this=DEF letter study=AGT old.man LOG=TOP torment DOWN-appear
tçàw.
say:IPFV:N.EGO

'Because this one (= child) was going to school, the old man said that he himself had a hard time.' (CV07.60.1)

(1468) $\acute{e} = t \acute{e} \acute{o} m \grave{e}$ k $\grave{e} = g \acute{o} \eta n \acute{i}$ n \grave{e} -s \grave{o} 1sg = top afraid = Agt DOWN-die

'I was so afraid, (I thought) I'd die.' (CV22.20.9EL)

There is a clear distinction between 'self-person' and 'other-person' situations (see Chapter 8 for a discussion of these concepts as expressed in the verbal system of the language). The marker =gon(ni) is used in 'other-person' situations, as in (1467), and 'self-person' situations where the verb is not controllable, as in (1468). The construction $q^{h}u = gonni^{426}$ is used in 'self-person' situations: first person declarative clauses, as in (1384), and co-reference between main clause and embedded speech clause where the verb is controllable, as in (1470). Note that in the last example the verb $d\check{u}$ 'to be detestable' is not controllable, thus =gon is used, whereas the verb $zw\check{e}n$ 'to block' is controllable, thus $q^{h}u = gonni$ is used. Another example of self-person (marked by $q^{h}u = gonni$) and other-person (marked by =gon) is given in (1471).

⁴²⁴ Qiāng (LaPolla with Huáng 2003:239).

⁴²⁵ The construction is not very frequent and appears mostly in conversational texts: 30 attestations of = gon(ni) and 14 attestations of $q^h u = gonni$ are present in the corpus. Only one instance appears in a narrative text.

⁴²⁶ The part $q^{h}u$ seems to be the inclusive knowledge marker $q^{h}u$ (§8.5).

(1469) *jéj*æ $q^{h}\dot{u} = g\dot{o}\eta$ nè-sð. laugh:RECP CUST.INCL = AGT DOWN-die '(...) we died with laughter.' (CV08.20.6) (1470) ní = dì $d\hat{u} = g\delta \eta$ nè-sð, zwèŋ q^hǔ zwèŋ LOG = DISJ.TOP detestable = AGT DOWN-die block CUST.INCL block q^{h} $u((=g \circ \eta n i))$ CUST.INCL = AGT '(...) she herself died with detestation and tried to block (him).' (CV14.218) $tc^{h} \dot{a} = g \dot{a} g \dot{n} m \dot{a} = J \dot{a}$ (1471) _Jà q^{h} ú = gòŋnì = bù, Jæ jèhǎ Jæ laugh CUST.INCL = AGT = TOP laugh laugh take = AGT person = PL all $k \epsilon j = g \delta \eta n i = b u.$

let = AGT = TOP

'We laughed (so hard that...), he was joking so that he made everybody laugh (so hard that...).' (CV14.146.5)

The causal subordinate clause marked by the agentive often expresses a continuous action; the verb, and the inclusive knowledge marker $q^{h}u$ if present, is reduplicated, as in (1472) and (1473).

(1472) zépù Jubh $t\hat{a} = J\hat{a} = s\hat{a}$ è-tắŋ IN-shut.up year.before.last this = PL:GEN = CONTR.TOP last.year \dot{e} -t $\dot{e}\eta$ = gô η . IN-shut.up = AGT'(...) last year and the year before last (she) was often shut up, so...' (CV12.27.1) (1473) in = tai = bu, $m \partial g e \eta = g \partial = d \vartheta$ dàbǔ dzwě, $tcin = q \hat{a}$ 1:INCL = PL = TOP then old.man = DEF = DIS let.it.be child = DEFq^hú t^hè-dón a^hù tcè ĥà q^{h} ú = qóŋnì. dèn dèn FR.SP-become POL say LINK moan CUST.EXCL moan CUST.INCL = AGT'We were continuously moaning, saying, "As for the insignificant old man, let it be (=let him die), (but we) hope that the child will get better." ' (CV09.96) The agentive use and the subordinating use of =gog can appear in the same clause, as in (1474), where =gon(ni) appears on the verb $t \check{e} \eta$ and on the noun *láwso*.

(1474) è-tǎŋ $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ -t $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ ŋ = **góŋnî**, $láws \hat{a} = g \hat{o} \eta$ têj, jàŋ ţşà IN-shut.up IN-shut.up = AGTINTJ Ch:Yang Ch:Zhi Ch:teacher = AGT $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ -t $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ ŋ = **góŋnî**, há IN-shut.up = AGTINTJ 'Wow, (I was) often shut up, (I was) often shut up by teacher Yang Zhi, so... hahaha!' (CV12.26)

The topic markers =bu and $=t\varphi am \partial$ can follow the causal subordinate clause, as in (1475) and (1476).⁴²⁷ Other discourse particles have not been attested in this position.

(1475) tǐŋț s^h əpán són = dáw = gònnì = bù, tsətòn Ch:battery.pack Ch:be.loose = IPFV:N.EGO = AGT = TOP Ch:automatically kwánt¢í = dàw. Ch:turn.off = IPFV:N.EGO

'Since the battery pack is loose, (it) will turn off automatically.' (CV15.40)

(1476) t^{th} nè-dzàdzà = góŋní = tçàmà nè-qá t^hóŋ tooth DOWN-be.tightly.closed = AGT = TOP DOWN-open can:N.EGO

 $m\dot{a} = d\hat{a}w$ NEG = IPFV:N.EGO

'(...) because (her) teeth were tightly closed, (her mouth) could not be opened.' (CV09.64.2)

Another way of forming causal subordinate clauses is using the ablative marker/ subordinate clause linker *ha* or its longer variant *halonni*⁴²⁸, or the form *ha tçəbu*⁴²⁹, as in (1477). The latter seems to derive from the marker *ha*, the verb $tc\ddot{a}$ 'to say' and

⁴²⁷ Bickel (1999:40) notes that clauses subordinated by the ergative often function as a sentential topic. Thus, it is not strange to find topic markers following the subordinate clause in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ.

⁴²⁸ This form is in the process of disappearing. In the corpus it is only used seven times by a single old man (who also uses a variant *logni* in one instance). All other people use *ha*. However, my main consultant is happy for the form *ha* to be replaced by *halogni* in every single instance it appears. Interestingly, [logni] is similar to the plural agentive form, and thus the form *halogni* might point to a combination of ablative and agentive marking.

⁴²⁹ *fia tçəbu* appears only 18 times in the corpus. This form seems to be the longer variant of the intensifier *fia* 'even' (§6.5.2), since in all cases *fia* 'even' can be replaced by *fia tçəbu*, but not by *fialoŋni*. The form *fia tçəbu* does not function as an ablative. Thus, there are two forms fia: the ablative *fia(lonni)* and the intensifier *fia (tçəbu)*.

the topic marker =bu. The ablative function of ha is treated in §6.2.9 and its clause linking function in §10.2. All three forms can be used for causal subordination as well as for more neutral sequential clause linking, but the form ha is used most frequently.⁴³⁰

(1477)) n ^j æ-bà	mèŋmà =	=nóŋ=t	Dú	b	ul ^j ð			
	Njae-househo	Ch:youn	ger.siste	r = TOP = TC	op k	idney			
	q ^h à-dzwá		q ^h à-dzwá	q ^h à-dzwá		jèhờ	í		
	OUT-eat:PFV.N	I.EGO	OUT-eat:PFV	N.EGO	LINK	all			
	q ^h à-dzwá		nè-ts ^h á		pá		fià,	sòŋ-ŋóŋ	
	OUT-eat:PFV:N	I.EGO	DOWN-be.fi	nished	do: pfv:n	.EGO	LINK	three-CLF:da	y
	zé-ņòŋ	l ^j àwl ^j	àw=lá ()	((mí=t	^h òŋ		t ^h è-dòi	Ĵ	
	four-CLF:day	move	=also	NEG:PF\	v = can: N.E	GO	FR.SP-b	pecome	
	pà))								

do:pfv:n.ego

'The younger sister of the Njae household could not move for three or four days, because she ate and ate the kidneys and finished eating them all.' (CV17.18)

Causal subordination using the agentive =gonni is slightly different from causal subordination using the ablative ha(tonni) or intensifier ha(tcon). My main consultant's intuition is that with =gonni as subordinator, the result is more severe than with ha(tonni) or ha(tcon) where the result is a general situation.⁴³¹ In examples (1467) and (1472) ha(ton) or ha(tcon) could also be used. With stative verbs, such as in (1468), only the agentive =gonni can be used.

A third way of expressing causal subordination is using a reported speech clause with egophoric marking. The 'speech clause' (which in this construction does not mark real speech) is linked by the verb 'to say' to the resulting action.⁴³² The construction V = dog

⁴³⁰ Only when used as a complementizer (§10.3.1), *fia* cannot be replaced by *fia tçəbu* or *fiatoŋni*.

⁴³¹ Mithun (2008:102) reports on Khalkha Mongolian which has 'in consequence of' clauses marked by ablative, and reason clauses marked by instrumental.

⁴³² Compare this to what Genetti (2006:150) notes for Dolakha Newari: "(...) a direct quote followed by [the verb 'to say'] can be used not only to express a reason for feeling afraid, or suspicious, or hopeful, but to express the reason for any action. For example, it would be the appropriate construction for a sentence such as 'Saying "I'm not well", she went home'. (...) Thus what occurs here is (...) a very general construction that allows an inferable causal relationship between a proposition expressed by a direct quote and the proposition of the following clause."

 $t\varphi \Rightarrow$ (or $V = dwen t\varphi \Rightarrow$ for plural referents) can be translated as 'as X was/were V-ing, (something happened)' and implies that a certain situation arose during or from that action. The construction appears with the temporal subordinator $k^{h}i$ and the topic marker = bu, or with the clause linker ha which has a stronger causal effect 'because X was/were V-ing, (something happened)'. This construction is not only used with self-person, as in (1478), but also with other-person, as in (1479). Singular referents are marked with the singular egophoric imperfective marker = don (§8.3.2); plural referents are marked with the non-singular egophoric imperfective marker = dwen (§8.3.2), as in (1479) and (1480).

(1478)	gòŋ-bá=wú		jæjù	ťŧ	¢ź=dòr)	t¢ə̀	hà,
	grass-household: $GEN = in$		Ch:potato	dig	go=IPFV	/:EGO:SG	say	LINK
	tà-bă	á-dzæ		dzá	e=tù	tá-¢à	nè-çà =	lá
	3-household:GEN that-loo		cation:GEN lade		der=on	UP-go	DOWN-8	go=also
	mă=zǐŋ							
	NEG = can							

'(I'm not used to working the land any more nowadays, and) so since (I) went to help the household in Mudiqing to dig potatoes, (I) was not able to go up and down the stairs of that place (=my job) (...).' (CV21.261.2)

(1479) sòŋ-t̥ʂə́		t ^h ਏ-t¢Ə = dòŋ		t¢à	k ^h ì=bù,	dzǒŋ
three-CLF:ju	mp	FR.SP-do = IPFV:E	EGO:1SG	say	time = TOP	bridge
t ^h è-déŋ	nè-	séj	ĥà			
FR.SP-break	DOV	VN-go:PFV:N.EGO	LINK			

'(...) as (he) did three jumps, the bridge broke downwards and (...)' (TC06.19)

(1480) də̀b	í tá=lą	tçíŋmíŋ	dèyêj	tétóŋ	pù= dwè	eŋ	t¢ə̀
the	3 = PL	home	speech	talk:RECP	do = IPFV3	EGO:N.SG	say
k ^h ì = time	= bù, e = top	fiŏŋ = pà animal.pe	n = under	wúzà :GEN ox.fo	r.plowing	è-tàn≡r ™-shut.u	ná = góŋ ıp = NMLZ = AGT
t ^h è- FR.S	í 2-escape	pà do:pfv:n.:	şéj EGO go	= sì :PFV:N.EGO =	tçə = INF say =	= dàw. = IPFV:N.EG	GO
'(He) said tha	at as they v	were talk	ing at home	, the ox for	r plowing	that was shut

up in the animal pen escaped and went.' (PC04w.1.2)

The difference between a normal temporal subordinate clause (§10.4.2) and the reported speech construction described in this section can be illustrated by two elicited examples. (1481) is a normal straightforward way of saying, using a temporal subordinate clause. (1482) uses the reported speech construction and indicates that there is a deeper layer of meaning that implies that 'we did not need to go to Tuōqī,

but since we did go, something happened' or 'we did not know the way, and so then we lost the way'.

(1481) $\acute{e} = \imath \eth$ t^húts^hì ¢ð k^hì = bù, Jwè nè-nôŋ. 1 = PL Tuōqī go time = TOP road DOWN-lose 'When we went to Tuōqī, (we) lost our way.' (S11.9.6) (1482) $\acute{e} = \imath \eth$ t^húts^hì ¢ð = dwèŋ t¢ð k^hì = bù, Jwè nè-nôŋ. 1 = PL Tuōqī go = IPFV:EGO:N.SG say time = TOP road DOWN-lose

'As we went to Tuōqī, (we) lost our way. (S11.9.6)

10.5 Insubordination

'Insubordination' is a term coined by Nicholas Evans to describe the process whereby formally subordinate clauses are reanalysed as independent main clauses. His definition of insubordination is 'the conventionalised main clause use of what, on prima facie grounds, appear to be formally subordinate clauses' (2007:367). The process is triggered by the ellipsis of the main clause, after which the formal subordinate (in Tibeto-Burman context, non-final) clause is left hanging and the addressee has to reconstruct the rest of the utterance, based on what is expected after a specific subordinate clause. The reconstruction of the elided main clause is constrained by the original function of the clausal subordinator, but the absence of the main clause leaves more room for interpreting the rest of the utterance depending on conversational inference. With an elided main clause, the subordinate clause is then reanalysed as the main clause and the clausal subordinator as a sentence-final particle.

This section will describe a similar process for Wǎdū Pǔmǐ⁴³³ in which temporal subordinate clauses (§10.4.2) marked by the subordinator k^{h_i} and causal subordinate clauses (§10.4.3) marked by the clause linker *ha* or the agentive =gon(ni) are reanalysed as main clauses, and k^{h_i} and *ha* are reinterpreted as clause-final attitude markers.⁴³⁴ A similar process happens with the coordinator =non, which coordinates NPs as well as clauses (§5.7, §10.1) and which has been reanalysed as a question

⁴³³ I have not found any process similar to what Mithun (2008) describes for Navajo in which structurally dependent clauses (i.e. marked by a dependent clause marker that normally marks adverbial and complement clauses) function as main clauses that express the background storylines in narratives and that are only dependent in the sense that they are conceptually linked to the overall main story line (which is expressed by main clauses not marked by a dependent marker).

⁴³⁴ In a study on sentence-final particles in Korean, Rhee (2012) notes that several sentencefinal particles in Korean grammaticalised from clausal connectives.

marker (§8.8.2.1). Strictly seen, this is not insubordination, since coordinated clauses are not subordinate to each other. But since the process of reanalysis is the same, I will discuss it in this section as well.⁴³⁵

The process shows the following steps: firstly, the (non-final) subordinate and (final) main clause are switched, or alternatively the main clause is not expressed; secondly, the subordinate or non-final clause is reinterpreted as the main clause while the presence of a subordinator still formally marks it as a subordinate clause; thirdly, the subordination marker or non-final clause linker is reinterpreted as an attitude marker.

The conventionalizing of insubordination is a continuum (Evans 2007:386). This can be clearly seen in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ where subordinate clauses with the temporal subordinator $k^{h}i$ and coordinate clauses with the coordinator = nog have been clearly reinterpreted as main clauses, in that the ellipsed main clause cannot always be added and the dependent clauses are complete in themselves, and the markers $k^{h}i$ and = noghave been reinterpreted as attitude markers. Causal subordinate clauses with *fia* and = gonni are becoming more conventionalised as main clauses, but in all cases a main clause can still be supplied. In some examples *fia* has clearly been reinterpreted as an attitude marker, but = gonni has not yet been reinterpreted as an attitude marker. Subordinate clauses ending in *la* 'also' or $n^{j}x$ 'already, just, right' seem to be on their way to reinterpretation through the same insubordination process.

10.5.1 Temporal clauses

One clear example of insubordination in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ is found with the temporal subordinator $k^{h}i$ 'time'. As discussed in §10.4.2, this subordinator marks temporal and concessive clauses (optionally followed by the various discourse markers). Normally, the subordinate clause precedes the main clause and the clausal subordinator occurs at the end of the subordinate clause. However, Wǎdū Pǔmǐ conversation also shows many cases where the main clause and the subordinate clause have switched order and the subordinate clause now appears after the main clause. As a result the clausal subordinator now appears sentence-finally, as in (1483).

(1483) zò záw zù wéŋ tçàw mò tçàw fià, nè q^hó-dzò k^hì.
sleep want very CUST.EXCL HSY NMLZ.CONSTR brain OUT-eat time
'It is said that (one) will want to sleep very much, when (one) eats (pig's) brain.' (CV18.3)

⁴³⁵ If one includes formally coordinated clauses that are used independently, a more allencompassing term might have to be found for the process. Note that Evans (2007:384) explicitly excludes independently-used coordinated clauses from his insubordination discussion, but notes that the process might be functionally similar.

The subordinator also occurs sentence-finally when the main clause is elided, for example when speakers do not finish their sentence. In that case, the actual main clause should be inferred by the addressee. Example (1484) gives a clear example of a subordinate clause (in bold). The main clause is not expressed by speaker N, who does not finish her sentence. The addressee (speaker C) infers that speaker N wants to know why he (speaker C) poured out the beverage when Nima gave it to him (speaker C), and answers accordingly.

(1484) jàn hàm á = gón k^hî, kwì jèhǎ tí-pú up-under Ch:Yang.Nima = AGTgive.drink:PFV:N.EGO time all tà=Jà $n\dot{v}$ -tç \dot{i} = sèŋ. this = PL:GENDOWN-pour = PFV:EGO C: 'Yang Nima gave it (to me), and (I) poured it all out up there.' (CV11.70) (2 lines following a related thread of conversation) $n \partial m \dot{a} = g \dot{o} g \dot{h}$ **k**^h**î**.... má = _Jà pèjpéj older.sibling Nima = AGT give.drink time person = PL:GEN N: 'Older brother Nima gave it... (why did you pour it out?).' (CV11.73) $t\dot{u} = l\dot{a}$ $m\dot{a} = ts \dot{o} \eta = t \hat{a}$. anything = also NEG = have.flavour = SVM

C: 'It does not have any flavour at all.' (CV11.74)

The ellipsis of main clauses has been grammaticalised in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ to the extent that there are many clauses that end in $k^{h}i$ that should be interpreted as main clauses rather than subordinate clauses: they form complete utterances that are not subordinate to other main clauses.

One of the pragmatic effects of a subordinate clause that has been reinterpreted as a main clause is that information-wise there is something trailing, some knowledge that has not been expressed by the speaker, but that provides the background to the utterance. The use of k^{h_i} in a reinterpreted main clause indicates that speakers have more knowledge about a situation than what they express in the utterance. Thus the difference between $t \circ c \circ = q \varepsilon j$ 'he will go' and $t \circ c \circ = q \varepsilon j k^{h_i}$ 'he will go' is that in the second clause the speaker has some unexpressed background information that leads him to that conclusion.

The two speakers in (1485) use a formally temporal subordinate clause as a main clause. That these are complete utterances can be seen from the use of the sentence-final attitude marker $\hat{a}seg$ in the first line, by which speaker Y asks speaker S to agree with her statement. The unexpressed background knowledge is that even though the speakers should tell stories slowly, they did it rather quickly. This fact is then overtly

stated by speaker Y in the third line. The intuition of my main consultant is that when the general topic marker *bu* follows $k^{h}i$, the main clause can often be added, whereas when $k^{h}i$ is used on its own, as in several examples below, no addition of main clause is possible any more.

(1485) mă = dzà, tìtí $k^{h}i = bu$, tìtí $p\dot{u} = j\dot{l}$ ásèŋ? dzà NEG = be slowly slowlydo = NMLZtime = TOP AGR be Y: 'That's not so, (we) should do it slowly, right?' (CV09.12) nǒŋmàdà, dù_lí dùıí $p\dot{u} = j\hat{i}$ dzà $k^{h}i = b\dot{u}$. right leisurely leisurely do = NMLZbe time = TOP S: 'That's right, (we) should do it leisurely.' (CV09.13) nè-ts^há \dot{v} má = gònnì qútàjà tcà рú tsen = si. aunt = AGTin.a.flash say DOWN-be.finished do N.CONTR = INFY: 'Unfortunately, aunt was finished in a flash.' (CV09.14)

In example (1486) the second clause is a syntactically independent main clause which still formally looks like a temporal subordinate clause. The unexpressed background information is that the speaker knows the second part of Druthjae's name, but forgot.

(1486) dút^{hj}á mín tçàw, q^hètí mán má dzà
Druthjae what say:IPFV:N.EGO certain.thing name GNOMIC
tçà = dàw k^hì.
say = IPFV:N.EGO time
'Druthjae what (is his name again)? He is called a certain name (but I forgot).'

(CV13.81.3)

Another pragmatic effect is that $k^{h}i$ is reinterpreted as an attitude marker with an exclamatory effect. The presence of $k^{h}i$ in (1487) implies that the speaker should not be sitting, but do something about the situation. My main consultant likened the function of $k^{h}i$ to that of the negative contrastive situation marker *baw* (§8.8.1.9). *baw* is used when the situation is different from the speaker's expectations or wishes, and could replace $k^{h}i$ in this example.

 $tc^hwartc^hi = q j me$ (1487) *ájù*, é t¢^hwé né-tçà mà dzà qèj. pig-food = DEF fire splutter INTJ 1SG DOWN-say EPIST nэ́ $n\dot{e}$ -dzóŋ = séŋ k^hì. pú DOWN-sit = PFV:EGO time thus do 'Ojo, my pig fodder, the fire will have gone out. And I'm here sitting like this!'

(CV14.30.2-3)
This exclamatory effect of $k^{h}i$ is especially clear in a mirative situation where a speaker finds out about something (thus it often occurs with = daw, §8.3.2.1), as in (1488).

(1488)è = nání má = Jæ má dzâ, má dzá tcà = sèn 1SG = AGT person = PL:GEN person be person be say = PFV:EGO $k^{h}i = bu$, dàbǔ é $k^{h} \hat{a} - c \hat{a} = s \epsilon \eta$ $k^{h}i = b\hat{u}$, time = TOP then 1SG OUT-go = PFV:EGO time = TOP dzá = dàw k^hì. tátá má exactly person be = IPFV:N.EGOtime '(...) when I said, "It is a person, it is a person", then when I went outside, it was exactly a person.' (CV09.36)

It also regularly occurs with epistemic uncertainty constructions (§8.4.3, §8.4.4), as in (1489) and (1490), and is sometimes reinterpreted as a question particle, as in (1490).

- (1489) dòmá-lí jăw èl^jětì tsàtsà şéj só tì k^hì.
 Drema-DIM again a.little grope.for go:PFV:N.EGO EPIST:most.probably time
 'Little Drema probably went looking for (some firewood).' (CV09.77)
- (1490) púnà zènà=sà tă k^hĭŋ mà=dáw sí dàw
 today yesterday=CONTR.TOP now give NEG=IPFV:N.EGO EPIST:probably
 k^hì.
 time

'In recent years however, (one) now probably doesn't give (anything)?' (CV16.23)

When the temporal subordinate clause involves the verb of speaking $t\varphi\check{\sigma}$ 'to say' and it is reanalysed as a main clause, the implied reading is often annoyance: 'when I said "...", (you did not listen or act)'. Insubordinated main clauses ending in $t\varphi i k^{h}i (bu)^{436}$ are used when a speaker has to repeat themself at an addressee's lack of reaction. In (1491), the clause $t\varphi i \eta = bu n \delta p \mu m \hat{v} = ha t\varphi i k^{h}i = bu$ 'when I already told the child he should not behave like this!' is not subordinated to the following clause $t^{h}v$ -jwæ si 'he's too excessive', but is rather a stand-alone main clause with the implied pragmatic inference 'but he did it again'. The speaker is confident that the addressee will be able to infer the negative evaluation of the situation.

⁴³⁶ According to my main consultant *tçiŋ* or *tçə bu* can be used as well, but they are not attested in the corpus.

(1491) $p^{h}\hat{\epsilon}j$, $t\epsilon\check{i}\eta = b\check{u}$ nó pú mé = hà $t\epsilon\grave{i}$ $k^{h}\grave{i} = b\check{u}$, INTJ child = TOP thus do NEG:EMPH = ought say time = TOP $t^{h}\grave{e}\cdotjw\grave{a} = s\widehat{i}$ FR.SP-be.excessive = INF

'(...) Bah! (I) already told the child that (he) shouldn't behave like this, (he's) too excessive, (...)' (CV01.49)

The utterance in (1492) is either directed to a dog or a child. It is too impolite to use when addressing adults, and implies severe annoyance.

(1492) t^jæ-jì t¢ə k^hî PROH-come:IMP:SG say time

'Don't come (...)' (lit. When (I) said 'Don't come'.) (CV20.78)

Alternatively, an insubordinated clause ending in $t\varphi a k^{h}i(=bu)$ can also be used positively to express that a speaker agrees with a previous speaker, as is shown in (1493), where the current speaker repeats what the previous speaker has said and adds $t\varphi a k^{h}i(=bu)$ at the end (repetition in bold). There is no annoyance involved. The use of $t\varphi a k^{h}i(=bu)$ does not necessarily mean that a speaker has stated the utterance before, but just implies strong agreement with a previous speaker in the sense 'that's what I was thinking as well', as in (1494).

k^hì, (1493) nǒŋnòŋ; èmá t¢é sónqù dzù á-dzæ no.wonder aunt big filled.pig.stomach make time that-location:GEN $t \hat{a} = q \check{a}$ t¢^hĭ $m\dot{a} = dzw\dot{a} z\dot{u}$ t^hé-dòn dzì tí this = GEN location bind NEG = good very one FR.SP-become $tc \hat{a} = d \hat{a} w.$ say = IPFV:N.EGO

W: 'No wonder, when first aunt made filled pig stomach, (she) said that over there it was very hard to tie.' (CV16.54)

sóŋqùdzùk^hìtç^hǐmà = dzwázù = dáwtçàfilled.pig.stomachmaketimebindNEG = goodvery = IPFV:N.EGOsay $k^{h}ì = bù.time = TOP$

S: '(That's right), when making filled pig stomach, that is very hard to tie.' (CV16.55)

(1494) nôŋmàdà tçà k^{h} ì.

right say time

'That's right!' (CV09.148)

10.5.2 Causal clauses

The marker *fia* has been analysed as a clause linker that links non-final clauses to a final clause (\$10.2) and as a causal subordinator (\$10.4.3). However, in the corpus there are multiple attestations in which *fia* occurs utterance-finally.⁴³⁷ This is either because the final clause, which normally follows the *fia*-clause, precedes it, as in (1495), or because the final clause is absent, as in (1496). There the unstated implication is that therefore the referents did not come home.

(1495) mésámæŋ, zù zíŋ mà=qéj=dâw, nìŋgă nè-déŋ
wait.a.bit lift can NEG=EXPT=IPFV:N.EGO basket DOWN-break
şéj fià.
g0:PFV:N.EGO LINK

'Wait a bit, it cannot be lifted, because the basket broke.' (CV16.71)

(1496) tçíŋmín zð mà = çín tçó hà. home go NEG = VOL:PL say LINK

'(...) (he) said (they) would not come home.' (CV09.117)

That a clause ending in *ha* can indeed be reinterpreted as an independent main clause can be seen in (1497). In that example, *ha* is followed by *ôsen*, the attitude marker that invites the addressee's agreement with the statement (§8.8.2.6).

(1497) "wù, wù" tà tçš fià, śsèŋ?
INTJ INTJ only say LINK AGR
'(He) only said, "Wu wu!" right?' (CV09.33.1)

Often the final clause to which the subordinate *ha*-clause is linked is missing and another unconnected clause follows, as in (1498). The unexpressed result of bringing along friends was that the household needed to buy bedding. This is expressed a few lines later with two causal subordinate clauses marked by *ha* linked to a main clause.

⁴³⁷ In all the examples given in this section, *ha* could be replaced by *halonni* or *ha tçəbu*, see also §10.4.3.

(1498) t $\hat{a} = g \delta \eta n \hat{a}$ zépù dù dá-cwì ĥà, ádzætá... dů 3SG = AGTlast.year friend TO.SP-lead:PFV:N.EGO LINK friend INTJ t¢^hà-tsá tçàw, ádzætá... çwè-tsź tcaw = nonhow.many-CLF:person HSY INTJ eight-CLF:person HSY = COORDqá-tsà tçàw wèj? nine-CLF:person HSY PUZ

'It is said that this (son) brought many friends along last year, so... uhm...was it said (that it was) eight people or nine people?' (CV07.65.2)

(2 lines of conversation)

dàbǔ jǎw $ni = b\hat{u} = tc\hat{z}m\hat{z}$ tcòngú mà = cľ ĥà tà = Jǒn then again LOG-household = TOP clothes NEG = EXIST.AB LINK 3 = PL:AGTá-jàŋ dzòn fià, jǎw tá $q^{h} \dot{e} ts \dot{e} j = q \dot{e} j \dot{a} w$ w
é
nts^h
ó
n tsú that-long stay LINK again this son small = DEF again Ch:Wachang tçòngú Jŧ çà kèj mà dzà tcàw, dzín^jæ. clothes buy go let GNOMIC HSY really

'Because his household did not even have bedding and because they stayed that long, it is said that they let the youngest son go to Wachang to buy bedding, really!' (CV07.76.2)

In most of the attestations, as the result is still expected to follow, the addressee will mentally draw the conclusion. Sometimes cultural factors are in play. In (1499), the rest of the sentence is not expressed as the conversation took place in the main room and the topic of death is taboo around the hearth. Note also the use of the demonstrative $t\hat{s}$ 'this' referring to 'death'.

(1499) á-k ^h ì = bù			pèilálá			ìŋ = J	é	wú
	that-t	ime = top	Ch:with	nout.r	hyme.or.reason	1:INC	L = PL:GEN	interior
	q ^h ǒŋ t ^h è-dwè-jí		tá		t ^h è-dòŋ	hà,	ásèŋ	
life FR.SP-breal			k-NMLZ	this	FR.SP-become	LINK	AGR	
	'() a	at that time	ey) got	sick at out	r place and			

became like this (= died), right? (...)' (CV04.78)

In a more conventionalised construction, *fia* appears with the prohibitive negation marker $t^i x = ($ §7.2.3), as in (1500). Even though interpreted as a rhetorical question,

the construction has a deontic modal meaning 'you should have exchanged it'.⁴³⁸ This construction can be rephrased as $min_{JOD} t^h \breve{e} - t^j \hat{x} = g \#$? 'Why wouldn't (you) exchange (it)?' with the interrogative min_{JOD} 'why?', which turns it into a more direct, and therefore more threatening, speech act. The formal non-completeness of the utterance in (1500) avoids this directness and gives face to the addressee. Evans (2007:390) notes that ellipsed result clauses are often a source of polite requests.

(1500) $t^{h}\check{e} t^{j}\acute{a} = g \grave{u}$ fià? FR.SP-PROH-exchange LINK

'Why wouldn't (you) exchange (it)?' (CV11.76)

In more than half of the occurrences with the causal subordinators $q^h u = gon(ni)$ and = gon(ni) (§10.4.3), these subordinators occur utterance-finally. A result can always be added. It is not clear whether a different pragmatic effect is present. An example is given in (1501) with both = gon(ni) and *fia* clauses.

(1501) ébàw, ìŋ = Já = bú dàbǔ jǎw òŋmád^jà mà = lóŋ pú çà
INTJ 1:INCL = PL = TOP then again self NEG = free.time do go
q^hù = gòŋnì.
CUST.INCL = AGT
B: 'My oh my! Since we continuously make ourselves so busy (we have no

time to sit together like this normally).' (CV21.1)

ébàn, mà=lón pú fià, śsèn? INTJ NEG=free.time do LINK AGR

Y: 'Bah! (We) don't make time, right?' (CV21.2)

10.5.3 Coordinated clauses

The coordinator = non (§5.7, §10.1) is additionally used as a question marker (§7.3, §8.8.2.1). These double functions come about through a process similar to insubordination. Even though Evans (2007:384) does not deal with independently-used coordinated clauses, he mentions that they might have similar functions to insubordinated clauses. But if coordination is treated as a cosubordination construction (i.e. dependent coordination, in which at least one part cannot occur by itself (Foley

⁴³⁸ A similar construction is found in the example below, which is also a stand-alone construction ending in the general topic marker = bu. More in-depth research needs to be conducted.

 $c \hat{\sigma} t^{j} \hat{a} = k \hat{c} j = b \hat{u}$

go PROH-let = TOP

^{&#}x27;Why not let him go?' (lit. To not let him go...) (CV04.24.3)

and Van Valin 1984), it makes sense to treat independently-used coordination under insubordination as well.

In conversation, the second part of a coordinated question is frequently left out, so that the coordinator appears clause-finally, as in (1502). A full coordinated question is shown in (1503). In the former example, it is perfectly possible to add $b \delta \eta m \check{a} = d a w$ '(or) don't they?'

(1502) nwéŋ⁴³⁹ bóŋ dàw = nòŋ?
sister EXIST.POSS IPFV:N.EGO = COORD
'Do (they) have sisters?' (CV07.21)
(1503) dùtc^hà píŋmá dzà = nòŋ híŋ dzà

(1503) dùtç^hà píŋmá dzà = nòŋ híŋ dzà lⁱà?
Dutchae Pingma be=COORD who be RHET
'(...) it's Dutchae Pingma or who?' (CV02.93.1)

The question ending in the coordinator is then conventionalised and reinterpreted as a complete question, and the coordinator is reinterpreted as an interrogative attitude marker. Formally the construction looks like the initial half of a coordinated pair of clauses, but functionally it is used as an independent main clause question. This can be seen in (1504) where the question is directly followed by the interrogative attitude marker *wej* (§8.8.2.4). Attitude markers only follow complete utterances. One would not expect an attitude marker to follow a coordinator, unless it marks a complete utterance.

(1504) dò-zá zìŋ wéŋ=nòŋ wèj? TO.SP-carry can CUST.EXCL=COORD PUZ 'Can we carry it?' (CV21.450)

Attitude markers do not co-occur generally (§8.8). The fact that $= no\eta$ is one of the few attitude markers that co-occurs with other attitude markers (*wej*, $l^j \alpha \sim l^j \epsilon j$) supports the analysis of a different origin of $= no\eta$.

Another factor that supports the reinterpretation analysis of $= no\eta$ is example (1505) where negation is present. Generally in coordinated clauses with opposite polarity, the first clause is positive and the second negative. If (1505) had been a case of simply leaving out the second coordinated clause, no negation would be present in the resulting truncated clause. The presence of negation in (1505) points to a reinterpretation of $= no\eta$ as a more normal question marker which can appear with positively as well as negatively phrased clauses. The speaker in (1505) might have seen

⁴³⁹ The term *nwén* 'sister' is used by males for both their older and younger female siblings.

that the object she is referring to was in that location before, but it is also possible that she did not have any pre-knowledge.

(1505) $\hat{\bullet}$ -d $z\hat{i}$ m \check{a} = t $\check{e}j$ = n $\check{o}\eta$? that-location NEG = EXIST.H = COORD 'Is it not over there?' (CV19.37.1)

Some other dependent structures that might be in the process of being reinterpreted as independent main clauses are subordinate clauses ending in $=n^{j}x$ 'just, already' (§6.5.4, §10.4.2) and =la 'also' (§6.5.1, §10.4.2). There are a few instances in the corpus where a main clause precedes a subordinate clause with $=n^{j}x$, as in (1506) and some instances where only the subordinate clause is present, as in (1507); the main clause is left out. The presence of $=n^{j}x$ implies that there is some result that is not overtly expressed 'so now your joints are big' (because of hard work). An example with =la is given in (1508). Further research will need to show to what extent reinterpretation is taking place.

(1506) sèŋtç^hĭ = là dzớ mà = dóŋ = mớ dìŋ tçờ breakfast = also eat NEG = IPFV:EGO:1SG = NMLZ be:EGO:1 say séj mờ sèj fià, dzĭ k^hờ-t^híŋ = n^jề. go:PFV:N.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR tea out-drink = just

'(...) he said he was not eating breakfast, but as soon as he had drunk tea, he went.' (CV07.74.5)

(1507) $\dot{\psi}q^{h}\dot{u}$ t $\dot{\vartheta} = \dot{\chi}\dot{a}$ k $\dot{\ell}l^{j}\dot{a} = n^{j}\dot{a},...$ $\dot{\vartheta}s\dot{e}\eta$? in.the.past this = PL:GEN difficult = just AGR

'In the past it was a hard life, so... right?' (CV02.47)

(1508) $\dot{e}p\dot{u}_{s}\ddot{d}$ n \dot{e} -d \dot{u} = fiá tç^hémì, n^jùkáŋtçwìŋ dz \dot{d} = là. Ch:still.not DOWN-be.poisoned = even not.sure Ch:king.boletus be = also `Even though (it) was a king boletus, (I) don't know whether or not (they) were poisoned.' (CV09.159)

10.6 Comparison and equation

The most common comparative construction $X Y t\hat{u} V$ uses the postposition $t\hat{u}$ 'on top' (§4.6.3) to mark the standard of comparison. The normal order of this construction is the compared item (X) followed by the standard of comparison (Y) marked with $t\hat{u}^{440}$

⁴⁴⁰ My main consultant added that there are two ways to mark the standard of comparison, either with $t\hat{u}$ 'on' or with $q^{h}u$ 'on', as in $n\check{n}g = t\check{u} tc\hat{v}$ versus $n\check{n}g = q^{h}\check{u} tc\hat{v}$ 'You are bigger than me'. But in the dataset, only examples with $t\hat{u}$ can be found.

followed by the quality of comparison (V) (expressed by a stative verb), as in (1509). Interestingly, (1510) shows its origin as a locational noun. However, it does not totally behave like a noun: it has lost its tone and behaves as part of the genitive construction tone group.

(1509) $\dot{v} = dz \ddot{z} \eta$ jǎw tà = dz $\dot{z} \eta$ = tú t^hôn 1.EXCL = DU again 3 = DU = on fast

'(...) the two of us were faster than the two of them (...)' (YJ02.17)

(1510) púnà zènà = sà $tc^hw\check{a} = bi = fia$ $m \hat{a} = g \hat{a}$ tù today yesterday = CONTR.TOP pig = DAT = evenperson = GENon há pú $tc^{h}i = ji$ $d \partial \eta = d \partial w$, ásèŋ? be.excessive do feed = NMLZ be.okay = IPFV:N.EGO AGR

'(...) in recent days, however, one needs to feed the pigs more than people (were fed in the past), right?' (CV03.10.3)

Comparison can also be expressed by juxtaposing two clauses, as in (1511). This construction has the form X V, $Y h\hat{a} ti V$, where X and Y are the items that are compared, V is a the quality of comparison expressed by a stative verb, $h\hat{a}$ is a verb that means 'to be excessive' and $t\check{i}$ is the numeral 'one'.

(1511) t \Rightarrow p $\hat{i}=g\hat{\Rightarrow}$ t $\varphi^{h}w\hat{i}$, t \Rightarrow p $\hat{i}=g\hat{\Rightarrow}$ h \hat{a} t \hat{i} t $\varphi^{h}w\hat{i}$ this pen=DEF be.good this pen=DEF be.excessive one be.good 'This pen is good; this pen is even better.' (CV04.32.2EL)

Equative constructions are expressed by the standard of comparison followed by the bound demonstrative $\hat{\sigma}$ - 'that' prefixed to a stative verb (the quality of comparison), as in (1512). The standard of comparison (*niŋ*) keeps its own tone and the tones of the demonstrative and the stative verb are suppressed, and surface with low tone [$\hat{\sigma}$ -t $\hat{\epsilon}$].

(1512) èpú nǐŋ à-tèj k^hì=n^jà ts^hóŋpáŋ pù sà=sì tçàw.
grandfather 2sG that-be.big time=just T:trader do go:PFV:N.EGO=INF HSY
'When grandfather was as big as you now, (he) already went trading, it is said.' (CV01.13)

For more emphasis, the stative verb can be reduplicated, as in (1513), (see also §4.2.3; 4.6.2).

(1513) $t \dot{\vartheta} = g \dot{\vartheta}$ $\dot{\vartheta} - l \dot{\epsilon} j$ \sim $t \dot{\vartheta} = g \dot{\vartheta}$ $\dot{\vartheta} - l \dot{\vartheta} l \dot{\epsilon} j$ this = DEF that-be.heavy this = DEF that-be.heavy 'As heavy as this.' (CV21.386EL) Another equative comparative construction (similarity construction) is expressed with the verb $d \not{e}$ 'to resemble'. When both the compared item (X) and the standard of comparison (Y) are overtly expressed, the construction is: $X Y = non d \not{e}$, where the coordination marker *non* is used to mark the standard of comparison, as in (1514). In (1515) only the standard of comparison is expressed. When X and Y are expressed as one argument, the verb $d \not{e}$ is reduplicated and no coordination marker is used, as in (1516). However, the reduplicated form also appears when the X and Y arguments are distinct and the coordination marker is present, as in (1517).

(1514) té-çìté-qè = nòŋdépúone-CLF:villageone-CLF:household = COORDresembledo

'(...) one village is like one household (...)' (TC01ed.6)

(1515) $q^h \acute{e} = n \grave{o} \eta$ d \acute{e} spike = COORD resemble

'(Sharp) as a spike.' (TC04.31EL)

(1516) tá .tátsá nòŋ=gá dǽdæ̀ this knife two=DEF resemble

'These two knives are the same.' (EL:S11.7.2)

(1517) é = nóŋ dédé pú ó-q^hù nè-dzóŋ tç^hôŋ
1sG = COORD resemble do that-on DOWN-sit come:PFV:N.EGO
'(...) (he) came and sat up there just like me.' (CV09.126.1)

A similar but more colourful construction that is seldomly used, is $X = no\eta j \delta \eta m \delta z_{\theta}$ or

X=noŋ jŏŋmóta 'totally the same'. Only one example is attested in the corpus:

(1518) tà¢ớ		ğ,= jă		wétú = bù	.t∂-kʰǽ=nòŋ			
	now	now 1:EXCL = PL:GEN		$W\check{a}d\bar{u}$ = top	$W \check{a} d \bar{u} = TOP$ front-time:GEN = COOF			
	jǒŋmə́zə́ dzə; totally.the.same be		dzà,	dwìlóŋ = bú	èl ^j ětì=là	$m i \!=\! p^h \acute{e}$		
			be	custom = TOP	a.little=also	NEG:PFV = throw.ou		
	mà dz	zə.						
	GNOM	IC						

'Our Wǎdū is now totally the same as in the past, the customs have not been lost one bit.' (CL02ed.9)

The construction $DIR_x - k^{h_i} DIR_x - V$ with a stative verb, k^{h_i} 'time', and a repeated directional prefix has the meaning of 'more and more V'. The construction is similar to the reduplication constructions described in §10.1. Only one example is attested in the corpus:

dzà pàlí tsháuì k^hð-k^hí $k^{h} \hat{a} - c e = n \hat{o} \eta$ (1519) míŋ míŋ dzà what be Pali Tsheri OUT-time OUT-be.big = COORD what be è-dzàdzæŋ tóŋ (lú) = nòŋcici = q adèjèj speech speak (work) = COORD IN-be.clogged.up:COLL a.little.bit = GEN Jæ záw zů. laugh want very

'Tshering of the Pali household is more and more strange; (his) manner of speaking is all stuffed up; (I) really want to laugh.' (CV04.18)

10.7 Continuous action constructions

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has several constructions that express continuous action. The most straightforward construction is a simple repetition of the verb, either with or without directional prefix, as in (1520) and (1521).

(1520) q^hà-séj jǎw cэ́ $\varsigma \dot{\epsilon} \circ k^{h} \dot{\epsilon} = b \dot{u}$ dàbů, fi $\neq n = t^{j} \hat{e}$ OUT-go:PFV:N.EGO again go go go time = TOP then pass = INDF:GEN $k^{h}i = bu$ $w\dot{u} = t\dot{i} = g\dot{o}\eta$ wù tà jwè=wù interior arrive time = TOP tiger = INDF = AGTroad = in \dot{v} -zw \dot{z} n = sì tcàw. IN-block:pfv:n.ego = INF HSY

'They went on again and as they went for a long time, they arrived at a mountain pass and were blocked by a tiger on the road.' (TC03.8)

 (1521) qà-q^hú zà-tóŋ k^hà-zà k^hí tá nè-qwéj down-on sleep-NMLZ OUT-sleep time all DOWN-cry
 nè-qwéj má dzà mà dzà
 DOWN-cry GNOMIC NMLZ.INCL

'(She) (...) continuously slept on the sleeping place down there and cried continuously (...)' (CV12.44)

Another construction is $[V=J \partial nv-di]$, with the plural marker $=J \partial$ following a controllable verb, and a prefixed form of the verb $d\check{i}$ 'to throw', which expresses a continuous or often repeated action, as in (1522) and (1523). The verb can be repeated, as in (1524).

(1522) tènóŋ	tşǽ=wù è-q	wá	sì dàw	k ^h ì,
just.now	dirt=in IN-b	oite:PFV:N.EGO	EPIST:probably	TRAIL
nìŋ=góŋ	kí = Já	nè-dì	hà.	
2SG = AGT	chase = PL	down-throw	LINK	

'Just now (the pig) probably bit in some dust, since you continuously chased after it.' (CV19.26.2)

ĥà (1523) fið, tçůsà, é tà = Jǒŋ sè = ı́s nè-dwì INTJ Ch:INTJ 1SG 3 = PL:AGThit = PLDOWN-throw:PFV:N.EGO LINK $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ - \mathbf{p}^{h} ín = dòn tçà mà dzà. IN-flee = IPFV:EGO:1SG say NMLZ.INCL

'Yes, right, (because) I was often beaten by them, (I) fled home.' (CV22.18)

(1524) fið, t¢ìŋ = góŋ nớ pú ề-sí k^hì tà tú = tờ tú = tờ INTJ child = AGT thus do IN-push time all look = PL look = PL nề-dwì. DOWN-throw:PFV.N.EGO

'Right, the child holding (the bottle with yoghurt) like this was continuously looking (at us).' (CV09.138.1)

The construction $V k^{h_i} V = X$ where X can be the topic marker = bu, the marker = la 'also' or the coordination marker = nog is a reduplication construction that can be compared to the reduplication constructions discussed in §10.1. $V k^{h_i} V = la$ has a continuous meaning, as in (1525).

(1525) jèmá = bù dèbů, zégì tú k^hì tú-là ní = bì l^jèwů monk = TOP then behind look time look = also LOG = DAT YN:again q^{h} è-lè tí = lá mí = pâ. OUT-gaze one = also NEG:PFV = do:PFV:N.EGO

'(...) even though the monk watched (them) continuously from behind, she did not even gaze back at him one time.' (TC07.33)

The temporal adverb $t^{h} \acute{e}$ 'all the time' can be used in the same clause, as in (1526). Note that only the first syllable of the verb $qw\acute{e}lej$ is reduplicated. It is also possible to say $qw\acute{e}lej k^{h}i qw\acute{e}lej = la$ instead.

The constructions $V k^{hi} V = bu$, with the topic marker = bu, and $V k^{hi} V = non$, with the coordination marker = non, are also used. The latter is illustrated in the riddle in (1527) and has the meaning 'more and more V'.

The construction $V k^{h} i ta$ has a continuous meaning, as illustrated in (1459). The origin of the morpheme ta is opaque and needs more research. It also often occurs with the simultaneous action marker zon (§7.8.8).

 $m\dot{a} = tc^h wi$ (1528) n^jé tá l^{j} **u** = b**u** tcá k^hì tà, 2SG:GEN this timber = TOP NEG = goodsay time all $g \check{o} \eta = w \check{u} \quad m \check{a} = c \check{o} \quad t c \check{o} \quad k^{h} \check{i}$ tà. body = in NEG = go say time all (She) constantly said, "Your timber is not good, it's not satisfying." (CV14.144.5)

The various constructions described in this section often occur in the same sentence, for example the constructions $k^{h}i$ ta and V=Jo *nv-di* in (1524), and the construction $k^{h}i$ ta and verb repetition in (1521).

10.8 Predicate-focus construction

The predicate-focus construction deals with focalizing or de-focalizing specific parts of the predicate, as a means used by speakers to assert the factuality of the utterance or to express their attitude toward the proposition. In terms of information structure, the predicate is usually associated with focus. If any constituent in the predicate needs to receive special focus, or is already established as topic of the discourse and needs to be defocalized, the predicate-focus construction is used.

The predicate-focus construction works in the following way. A verb is normally part of the predicate and is associated with direction, person, aspect, polarity and evidentiality. But apart from these grammatical specifications, a verb also has a semantic component: its lexical content. When the lexical content of a verb needs to

⁴⁴¹ The answer is join 'drying rack'. This approximately three-metre high wooden structure is used for drying produce. When one batch is dry, it is taken off and stored, and a new batch is put on the rack to dry. The expressive nontejtejtej (§9.2) normally describes a person whose ribs are visible for lack of food. In the riddle the horizontal poles of the drying rack are metaphorically described as ribs. The drying rack keeps eating produce, but never grows fat.

receive special focus, the basic form of the verb is copied out of the predicate complex to the pre-predicate position and followed by one of the discourse markers (§6.5). The choice of a specific discourse marker depends on the role of the focused predicate in the immediate discourse environment, and is similar to the roles of the nominal constituents as described in §6.5. Apart from the verb, the directional prefix and the negation marker can also be focused.

As far as I know, this construction has not been described for Tibeto-Burman languages, but according to Pavel Ozerov (p.c.) a similar construction can be found in Burmese, and Randy LaPolla (p.c.) came across an example in his Rawang corpus recently.⁴⁴² It would not be surprising if other languages in the area display predicate-focus constructions too. A similar construction has been described for Classical Biblical Hebrew (Goldenberg 1971, Kim 2009) where the focused verb form is referred to as the 'tautological infinitive'.

The predicate-focus construction shows several basic templates as outlined in Table 10.2. These will be illustrated by the examples in this section. Not all discourse markers appear in the predicate-focus construction. The possibilities in Table 10.2 have been established from attestations in the corpus combined with elicitation. In the table, 'V' stands for the verb root; 'N' stands for the nominal part of some verbs that have developed from a noun-verb combination; 'DIR' stands for directional prefix; 'NEG' stands for negation marker; 'x' stands for the slot in which the discourse marker appears.

		Ve	erb focus		NEG focus Prefix focus		
	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7
	VxV	NxNV	VxDIR-V	Vxneg-V	NEGXNEG-V	dirxdir-V	DIRXNEG-V
=bu	х	Х	X	X	Х	X	X
=sə	х	х	Х	х	Х	X	X
=ni	х	х	Х	х	Х	Х	X
=di	х	?	?	X	Х	Х	X
=gədi	-	Х	-	X	Х	Х	Х
=tçəmə	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
=¢i	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
=1a	х	X	X	X	X	X	X

Table 10.2. Predicate-focus templates

⁴⁴² *shón nō mv-shòn-ò* (say/tell TOP NEG-say/tell-transitive.non.past) '...the elders didn't say...'. The predicate-focus construction looks also similar to the Chinese construction '好是好, 但是...'

		V	erb focus		NEG focus	Prefix focus		
	#1	#1 #2 #3		#4	#5	#6	#7	
	VxV	NxNV	VxDIR-V	Vxneg-V	NEGXNEG-V	DIRXDIR-V	DIRXNEG-V	
=ha	х	X	x	x	x	x	X	
=noŋ	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
$=n^{j}x$	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	

Seven different patterns have been attested. In the most basic pattern, #1, no directional prefixes or negation markers are involved and verbs are simply repeated with a discourse marker in between. An example is given in (1529).

(1529) mớ = jà	màgén = bù	dú = bù	$d\dot{u} = s\hat{i}$.	
person = PL:GEN	old.man = TOP	frightened = TOP	frightened = INF	
'That old man was				

Pattern #1 applies to disyllabic verbs that consist of an originally nominal part, as in (1530). The nominal part *tçi*- of *tçi[oŋ* 'to be hungry', and not the verbal part *-loŋ*, is repeated.

(1530) t¢í-ní-t¢íµôŋ,	t ^h ú	mà=¢ì	né-dôŋ.
hungry-ADD.FOC-hungry	solution	NEG = EXIST.AB	DOWN-become

'(...) on top of that he was hungry; (he) ended up having no solution any more.' (PC07w.6)

The pattern also applies to lexicalized noun-verb combinations. This can be seen in (1531) as well. While $g\breve{\mu}$ 'money' and $b\hat{o}g$ 'EXIST.POSS' can also appear as independent words, the form $g \# b \acute{o}g$ 'to be rich' forms a lexical compound with a slightly derived meaning. Thus the originally nominal part is repeated in the predicate-focus construction.

```
(1531) \dot{a}jòŋmà, m\dot{a} = J\dot{a}
                                         nǒŋ
                                                         c\dot{e}-m\dot{a}d\dot{e}=g\dot{a}
                                                                             g\hat{u} = b\hat{u}
        INTJ
                   person = PL:GEN
                                        in.that.case
                                                         Han-girl = DEF
                                                                             money = TOP
                                  dzà sì dàw,
        gù-bóŋ
                             tì
                                                         jěs a w a n = t \hat{i},
                                                                                           ásèn?
        money-EXIST.POSS one be EPIST:probably Ch:twenty.thousand = INDF
                                                                                          INTJ
        'Whoa! That Hàn girl is probably pretty rich, (otherwise how could she repay)
        two hundred thousand, right?' (CV07.86)
```

The pattern does not apply to non-lexicalized noun-verb combinations like $\mu dz \delta t^{h} i \eta$ 'to drink liquor' in (1532), which does not form a single lexical compound. As can be seen, the verb is reduplicated and the topic marker appears between the two verbal parts.

(1532) $\chi edz = t^h \eta = b u$ $t^h \eta$ tà $k^h \eta = b u$, $n e^- g w e$ p uliquor drink = top drink can time = top down-drunk do m e = h aNEG:EMPH = ought

'(You) can drink liquor, but (you) are not allowed to get drunk.' (TC06.10EL)

Pattern (2) also appears with disyllabic Chinese loanwords, as in (1533), where the first syllable of the stative verb hw $\hat{e}np^{j}$ $\hat{e}n$ 'convenient (方便 fāng biàn)' is reduplicated.

(1533) hwán = bù-hwánp^jàn = dàw, dzá = tú tç^hòn mà = dáw convenient = TOP-convenient = IPFV:N.EGO eat = on appear NEG = IPFV:N.EGO má dzà.
GNOMIC
'(Grease) is useful, but doesn't last long.' (CV20.98)

When directional prefixes or negation markers are present, several patterns are possible. Pattern (3) and (4) show verb focus, as in (1534) where a directional prefix⁴⁴³ is present, and in (1535), where negation is present. Pattern (5) shows focus of the negation marker, as in (1536). Patterns (6)⁴⁴⁴ and (7) show directional prefix focus, as in (1537) and (1538). When both a directional prefix and a negation marker are present, no reduplication of any part takes place, but the discourse marker is inserted between the directional prefix and the negation marker, as in Pattern 7 and example (1538).

(1534) nǐŋ $\acute{v} = dz\acute{u} = n^{j}\grave{x}$ t^hè-dzû, n^já tè-tsì = gá tá 2SG Q = make = ADD.FOC FR.SP-make 2SG:GEN one-CLF:lifetime = DEF only tá pù = şù çì this do = VOL:SG think

'(...) since you have already started building (the house) (why didn't you build it a bit better?); (you) only think of your own lifetime, (...)' (CV14.144.3)

⁴⁴³ In example (1534), a dialectal variant $=n^{j}x$ of the additional focus marker =ni (§6.5.9) is used. Note that this construction is slightly different in that it is preceded by an interrogative clitic, which indicates that it is a conditional clause as well.

⁴⁴⁴ Dīng (1998:143) mentions a similar structure in Niúwōzǐ Pǔmǐ with a repeated directional prefix *[DIR-la-DIR-V]*, which he analyses as a compound.

(1535) tá tsá $dz \hat{=} b\hat{u} m\hat{i} = dzw\hat{=} s\hat{i}$ $k^{h}\hat{i} = b\hat{u},$ 3SG meat eat = TOP NEG:PFV = eat:PFV:N.EGO = INF time = TOP $j\hat{e}$ -kw \hat{i} $t^{h}\hat{e}$ - $tc^{h}\hat{o}\eta = s\hat{i}$ pot-cover FR.SP-open = INF

'Even though he has not eaten the meat yet, the pot cover is already open.' (CV09.67EL)

(lit. He, as for eating meat, did not eat, the pot cover is open)

(1536) dòbǔ ní = dzàŋ tó-ní tó-p^hê, ósèŋ, ó-dzà tò = gǒŋnì then LOG = DU UP-ADD.FOC UP-vomit INTJ that-location:GEN 3SG = AGTgóŋdwí = qèj k^hì, zǒ mà = cíŋ tcàw have.diarrhea = EXPT time come NEG = VOL:PL say:IPFV:N.EGO

'(The old man) said that they vomited, right?, and on top of that he would have diarrhea, so (they) would not come (...)' (CV09.117)

(1537) $\dot{e} = tc\dot{a}m\dot{a} = ni$ $m\dot{a} = dzw\dot{a}$ $z\check{u}$ $z\dot{e} = g\dot{o}\eta n\hat{i}$. 1SG = TOP NEG = ADD.FOC NEG = comfortable very hand = AGT

'As for me, my hand was really very uncomfortable.' (CV22.3.3)

(1538) nè-bú-mí = sá sì dàw, k^{h} à-cà = gí tcá = sèŋ DOWN-TOP-NEG = die EPIST:probably OUT-go = VOL:INCL say = PFV:EGO

'(I) said, "(...) (he) probably has not died yet. Let's go." ' (CV09.67)

So far, I have only shown examples of the various predicate-focus templates listed in Table 10.2. In the examples below I will discuss the pragmatic effect of the various templates.

Verb focus templates (Patterns 1-4) are used to emphasize the lexical content of the verb. This can usually be contrasted with another unmentioned action, as in (1535), where the referent did not *eat* the meat, but must have done something else which caused the pot to be open. Of all the different templates of predicate-focus, verb focus is most frequently attested in the corpus. A few exampes of verb focus are given here.

Responding to a previous speaker's doubtful question whether the horse will be able to go, the speaker in (1539) replies affirmingly using a predicate-focus construction, in which the lexical meaning of the verb is in focus. The implication is that *going* is no problem for the horse, but he will not be able to *carry* much.

(1539) ç3=bú ç3 t^hòŋ=qêj, èl^jătì è-tçé nè-jèj kéj tà.
g0=TOP go can:N.EGO=EXPT a.little IN-pack.load DOWN-get let can
'As for going, (the horse) will indeed be able to go; just make (the horse) carry a little bit.' (CV14.246)

A similar example is given in (1540). Affirming the previous speaker's epistemically uncertain statement 'the old man will have been frightened', the speaker in (1540) responds with a predicate-focus construction focusing on the lexical meaning of the verb to emphasize that this being frightened was indeed the case.

(1540) $m\dot{a} = t\dot{a}$ $m\dot{a}g\dot{e}\eta = b\dot{u}$ $d\dot{u} = b\dot{u}$ $d\dot{u} = s\dot{i}$. person = PL:GEN old.man = TOP frightened = TOP frightened = INF 'That old man was indeed frightened.' (CV22.25)

Negation focus and prefix focus have far fewer attestations in the corpus. When negation is in focus, (Pattern 5) and (1537) above, the emphasis is more on the truth value of the utterance than on the action itself. Example (1537) is the only example in the corpus, but elicitation shows the possibility of a focused perfective negation marker mi = as well, as in (1541).

(1541) é mí = ní mí = dzá, míŋ tçà = Jà tçà kéj
1SG NEG:PFV = ADD.FOC NEG:PFV = eat what say = PL say let:IMP
'I really didn't eat, just let (them) talk.' (EL)

Prefix focus templates (Patterns 6 and 7) focus on the lexical direction implied in the directional prefix, as in (1542) below, or on the completion of the action, as in (1536) and (1538) above, where the directional prefix has a metaphorical sense. In (1538), the downward prefix that appears in collocation with the verb 'to die' is often used for expressing negative situations (§7.1.1). The speaker was under the impression that the referent had already died, but some noise nearby made her believe that this was possibly not the case. She then uttered example (1538) with a focused prefix. The referent (the victim of mushroom-poisoning) was dying, but had not completely died yet, and by using a predicate-focus construction, the speaker focuses on the non-completion of the situation. In addition, the predicate-focus construction indicates her attitude towards the proposition: the negative situation has not been completely realized and the speaker does not want it to.

In (1542), a situation proferred by my main consultant, the focus is on the lexical content of the prefix. A girl has disappeared and nobody knows where she is. Her household calls some of her friends down the valley to ask if she has gone over to their place, but the answer is negative. At that point they can say (1542), 'She has not gone *down there* either' with the focus of the utterance on the lexical meaning of the directional prefix.

(1542) nè-lá $mi = si k^{h}$, nǒn kí DOWN-also NEG:PFV = go:PFV:N.EGO = INF TRAIL so where t^{h} è-sij l^{j} à? FR.SP-go:PFV:N.EGO RHET

'(She) has not gone down (there) either, so where did (she) go?!' (CV09.67EL)

The various discourse markers that are used after the focused constituent infuse the construction with their particular semantics (as also described in §6.5). The general topic marker = bu (§6.5.6) is used to render a rather neutral expression. It is by far the most frequently used marker in this construction in the corpus.

The disjunctive topic marker = di (§6.5.7) has not been attested in the natural corpus; it is possible with the predicate-focus construction, as in the elicited example (1543), but is not used very frequently. This example would be used when a speaker did not know that the referent drank at all and now sees him drinking a lot. The implication is that the reality is different from what the speaker assumed.

(1543) tá $\chi \dot{e} dz \dot{i}$ t^h $\dot{\eta} = d \dot{i}$ t^h $\dot{\eta} = d \dot{a} w$ k^h \hat{i} . 3SG liquor drink = DISJ.TOP drink = IPFV:N.EGO TRAIL 'He really drinks a lot.' (TC06.10EL)

The contrastive topic marker $=s\partial$ (§6.5.8) marks a contrast to presupposition. In (1544) Hare tricks Tiger by giving him a piece of candy to eat instead of giving him his eye. The emphasis is on the fact that the supposed eye is unexpectedly delicious.

 $k^{h}i = bu$. (1544) *á*jù $z \delta \eta = s \delta$ zù $\acute{e} = q\acute{e} = l\grave{a}$ zóŋ INTJ delicious = CONTR.TOP delicious very time = TOP 1SG = GEN = also q^hà-tù kéj dzà bă OUT-dig let be SPEC '(...) Oh! It is really delicious! (I) will let (you) dig out mine as well, okay?' (KZ03.23)

A predicate-focus construction with the additional focus marker = ni (§6.5.9) followed by the expectational marker $= q\epsilon j$ (§8.3.3) implies certainty, as in (1545). Followed by the customary markers $= w\epsilon \eta$ or $= q^h u$ (§8.5), a predicate-focus construction with = niimplies that a situation happens often, as in (1546) and (1547). The basic meaning of additional focus is also implied, as in (1546) where on top of being poor and living in bad circumstances, they were often provoked by others.

(1545)	រូù-gí		ní=gà	q <i>ǽŋ</i> = wù	t¢ ^h òŋ=ní	t¢ ^h òŋ=qèj				
	pine.tor	ch-collect	LOG = GEN	neck=in	appear = ADD.FOC	appear = EXPT				
	çí think	hà. LINK								
	'(Bajin) thinks that collecting pine torches will certainly be his responsibility (lit. appeared in his own neck).' (CV18.63)									
(1546)	wà-ní		wà¢í	zù p ú	wèŋ					
	provoke	e-ADD.FOC	provoke	very do	CUST.EXCL					
	'(We) w	ere often p	rovoked, ())' (CV12.33.	1)					
(1547)	á-k ^h ì	dzədzi	swéŋ k ^h í	tà=ıæ=	=sə̀,					
	that-tim	le letter	study time	e this=PL	:GEN = CONTR.TOP					
	tú-nì		túçù	$\mathbf{q}^{\mathbf{h}}\mathbf{\hat{u}}$						
	Ch:cut.c	ass-ADD.FO	c Ch:cut.c	lass CUST.	INCL					
	'() At that time, when (we) were studying, (we) often cut class, ()' (CV12.36)									

A predicate-focus construction with the topic marker $=g \Rightarrow di$ (§6.5.10) does not occur in the corpus, but the elicited example in (1548) shows that it can be used. This utterance can be said in a situation where the speaker really has no way to perform a certain action, since it makes them throw up. For example, somebody asks them to throw a dead pig in the ditch, and they cannot do it because of the stench.

(1548) $\acute{e} = g\acute{e}di$ t \acute{e} -g $\acute{e}di$ t \acute{e} -p^h \acute{e} 1sg = top UP-top UP-vomit

> '(I haven't been able to complete this), it really made me throw up.' (CV09.117EL)

In (1549) a predicate-focus construction with the intensifier = la 'also' is shown. The lexical meaning of $ts^h \vartheta$ 'to slaughter' is contrasted with 'selling' in the previous clause. The speaker's family not only *sells* chickens, they also *slaughter* them.

úل (1549)		kì	¢à	kèj	mà dzà.	
	chicken sell go		let	GNOMIC		
ts ^h ə́=là				tşʰá =	=dwèŋ	mà dzà
slaughter = also			SO	slaug	hter = IPFV:EGO:N.SG	GNOMIC

'(...) (we) let (younger uncle) go sell chickens. As for slaughtering, (we) also often slaughter (chickens), (...)' (CV04.72.1-2)

A predicate-focus construction with the intensifier $=\hbar a$ 'even' indicates that the situation expressed by the lexical meaning of the verb already is the case and cannot be changed any more, as in (1550).

(1550) dǎwmà = nòŋ = bù jóŋtçíŋ = gà t^h3
T:rDo.rje.Dre.ma = COORD = TOP T:dByangs.cin = GEN foot
jóŋtçíŋ = gà èl^jǎtì tçé = fià tçè = dàw.
T:dByangs.cin = GEN a.little.bit be.big = even be.big = IPFV:N.EGO
'(Comparing) Dauma's and Yongjin's feet, Yongjin's are already a bit bigger.'
(CV01.52)

When negation is involved, however, the construction indicates that the situation expressed by the lexical meaning of the verb is not a bit the case, as in (1551).

(1551) $\acute{v} = b\acute{u}$ q^hà-d \acute{e} ŋ- \acute{v} -d \acute{e} ŋ p \acute{u} fià tà = g \check{e} sèŋní = fiá 1SG = TOP OUT-run-IN-run do LINK 3SG = GEN listen = even mí = séŋnì. NEG:PFV = listen

'(...) but I was running back and forth and did not even listen to his (talking).' (CV07.24)

When the predicate-focus construction appears in a temporal subordinate clause followed by $k^{h}i$ (§10.4.2), a condition or a counter-result is often expressed in the main clause, as in (1552) and (1553).

(1552) ébàw, é $c \dot{a} w = s \dot{a}$ $tc^{h} \dot{a} = s \dot{a}$ tc^hð wéŋ k^hì = bù INTJ 1SG ritual = CONTR.TOP take = CONTR.TOPtake can time = TOP $tc^{h} \hat{a} = b \hat{u}$ dàbů, cáw lúhwá $z\hat{u} = d\hat{a}w$ ŀěj mà dzà then ritual take = TOP difficult very = IPFV:N.EGO GNOMIC DISS '(...) My oh my, as for the ritual, I am indeed able to do that, but doing the ritual is very difficult as a matter of fact, (...)' (KZ02.6)

(1553) á-q^hù zi = buzí mà dzà qèj k^{h} ì, $k \dot{a} w = g \dot{a}$ Jùtchí that-on EXIST.A N = TOP EXIST.AN EPIST time uncle(MB) = GENface jǎw $s \epsilon j = s i$ jà nà nè-pù $k^{h}\hat{a}$ -t \hat{i} = sén dzà again go:PFV:N.EGO = INF it.seems DOWN-do OUT-put=PFV:EGO be '(Pingma) would probably have been up there, but in front of uncle (I) pretended that (he) had gone (...)' (CV04.24.2)

This counter-result can also be seen in (1554) where speaker Y finishes the utterance of speaker S, which is why her (speaker Y's) utterance starts with $k^{h}i = bu$. This is not a normal way to start a clause.

(1554) è = dzàŋ = lá			Jų́=bù	dòŋ=bŭ	dòŋ=dăw.		
	1:EXCL = DU = also		chicken = TOP	be.okay=TOP	be.okay=IPFV:N.EGO		
S	S: 'We are also	o doii	ng well in terms	of chickens.' (CV	/04.82)		
1	k ^h ì=bù	qétsâ	lí=dàw				
l		sman	I = IPFV: N.EGO				
	Y: But they re	e just	a little dit small	. (CVU4.83)			

10.9 Discourse features

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ narrative discourse⁴⁴⁵ is a web of interrelated features that structure the narrative in various ways. Tail-head linking, the coding or non-coding of participants, the use of the hearsay marker and the clause linker *dəbǔ* all work together in a complex way to link or subdivide events in a narrative.

In this section a few features will be outlined briefly (the scope of the present study being too small for a complete discussion of these features and their interrelation): clause-chaining (\$10.9.1), tail-head linking (\$10.9.2), the function of the marker *dəbŭ* (\$10.9.3), reported speech (\$10.9.4) and the role of the hearsay marker (\$10.9.5), participant reference (\$10.9.6), afterthoughts (\$10.9.7), and some discourse functions of demonstratives (\$10.9.8).

10.9.1 Clause chaining

Expository, procedural, or general historical texts tend to have a clause chaining structure, with sentences often consisting of multiple non-finite clauses linked to a final finite clause. Especially in procedural texts, the whole text can consist of a long chain of non-finite clauses which is only wrapped up in the end by one finite clause. An example of this has been shown in §10.2.2, example (1377). In legends, myths and trickster narratives, the longest sentences (consisting of (non-)finite or subordinate clauses linked to a finite clause) usually appear at the climactic moment of the story (also noted for Tibetan, DeLancey 1991:18), as illustrated in (1555), which is the

⁴⁴⁵ This section focuses on narrative texts (mainly procedural texts, legends and trickster stories). Conversation is a totally different genre and will benefit from proper conversational analysis, which I have not been able to conduct due to the scope of the present study. Several other genres, such as formal speeches, ritual texts and riddles have been left out as well. For some features of the formal speech genre see Gerong Pincuo and Daudey (2013).

climax of a Trickster story.⁴⁴⁶ The sentence consist of five non-final clauses, of which two are subordinate clauses (clause linkers and subordinators are in bold).

(1555) "l^jú = dáw" tçà $\mathbf{k}^{h}\mathbf{\hat{i}} = n\mathbf{\hat{o}}\eta$ áwà, n^jùçù-pé \hat{a} wà \hat{a} \hat{a} say time = only CMX leather.bag-bottom CMX knife = INS boil = IPFV:N.EGO gwìdⁱóŋ śwà nè-dî té-je = ci = bùnè-cà one-CLF:cut = LIM.TOP = TOP pestle CMX DOWN-throw DOWN-go kwći ĥà má = jæ ţs^hàpéj-₄éj boiling.water-cooking.pot let:PFV:N.EGO LINK person = PL:GEN nè-cà ĥà nè-tén kwéj DOWN-break let:PFV: N.EGO LINK DOWN -go jèhă lⁱwètsàıóŋ tá-†sà ĥà kwèj all glowing.ember UP-jump let:PFV:N.EGO LINK méqé-bà $(sw \neq n \circ \eta)$ $m\dot{a}(=n\dot{o}\eta,$ $ti-jo\eta = ((bu))$ family-household:GEN father = COORD mother = COORD one-CLF: thing = TOP $\mathbf{k}^{h}\mathbf{i} = l\mathbf{a}$ tsù-kó η = wù è-phìn è-séj qé-bù = tù IN-flee side.room-door = in IN-go:PFV:N.EGO time = also dung-pile = on t^hè-dwéj $q^{h} \acute{e} = t \grave{u}$ nè-tsèn kwéj; spike = on DOWN-fall.down let:PFV:N.EGO FR.SP-slip

'When (they) said, "It's boiling," LOOK! (Hare) used the knife, LOOK! to cut the bottom of the leather bag in just one cut, LOOK! let the pestle fall down; (he) let their cooking pot with boiling water break; (he) let all the glowing embers jump up; when the (father and) mother (one of them) fled inwards to the side room door, (he) let (her) slip on the dung pile and fall on the spike. (...)' (TC04.36)

10.9.2 Tail-head linking

Tail-head linking is used to perform two different discourse functions in narrative. The first one is to anchor the action following the tail-head linking construction to the time line and indicate a new development in the story. This is exemplified by the first two lines of (1556).

⁴⁴⁶ As in many languages in the area, the trickster figure is personified by Hare, who is crafty and cruel. His main opponents are Bear, Tiger and various humans, who are usually characterized by stupidity, pride or envy. Trickster stories generally end in the death of the opponent and the escape of the trickster.

(1556) zèpǔi		zèpù	k ^h í=bú	zóŋmí ⁼	= tì = nòŋ = bù	zóŋts ú = 1	tì		
	in.the.past	in.the.pas	t time=TOF	ewe = I	NDF = COORD =	TOP lamb = IN	IDF		
	nú mineral.wa	t ^h íŋ ter drini	şèj = sì k go:PFV:N.E	GO = INF	tçàw. HSY				
	'Long, long (TC03.1)	ago, an ew	e and a laml	o went to a	drink sodium	bicarbonate wate	er.'		
	nú mineral.wa	t ^h íŋ ter drink	şÈj go:PFV:N.EC	$k^{h}i = b$ GO time =	Dù = TOP				
	fiấn = t ^j ầ mountain.p	ass = INDF:	wù GEN interior	lé=gòŋ wolf=AG	.jwè=wù GT road=in	è-zwàŋ. IN-block:PFV.N.E	EGO		
	'When (they) went to drink salt water, (they) were blocked by a wolf on t								

road through a mountain pass.' (TC03.2)

The second function is as a highlighting device. Tail-head linking is used to build up suspense by slowing down the narrative before a climax. An example is given in (1557). This is the moment that the youngest of three brothers brings home his wife for their wedding. The guests have been waiting in expectation, since it is rumoured that his wife is a toad. But during their journey, the toad changes into a very beautiful girl. Note that in the first line the climax marker (§10.9.8) also appears.

(1557) dèbǔ áwà, t^{hj}ě bú t^hè-p^hì cící $k^{h}i = bu$, then CMX about sun FR.SP-slant a.little.bit time = TOP k^hà-t¢^hôŋ. OUT-come:PFV:N.EGO 'And so, LOOK! when the sun was a little bit past noon, they arrived.' (TC09.42) k^hà-t¢^hóŋ $k^{h}i = b\hat{u},$ têj, màdà-lí = bù gǽ zй. OUT-come: PFV:N.EGO time = TOP INTJ female-DIM = TOP beautiful very 'When they arrived, Wow! the girl was very beautiful.' (TC09.43)

10.9.3 The marker dəbǔ and its functions in discourse

The clause linker $dab\check{u}$ 'then' (§10.2) has important functions in ordering discourse. One of the functions is a time-ordering function: $dab\check{u}$ denotes that the action that follows is sequential in time to the action that precedes it. In procedural texts with clear sequentiality, $dab\check{u}$ has a high rate of occurrence, marking the different steps in a certain process, as shown in the fragment of a butter tea recipe in (1558).

 $ts^{h}i = la$ (1558) dàbù, nè-dî. then salt = alsoDOWN-throw dàbǔ nè-dzôŋ. then DOWN-churn t^hè-dzú dàbů, ná DÚ wèŋ. then thus do FR.SP-make CUST.EXCL 'then also put in some salt; then churn (it); then...(it) is usually made like this.' (PC01.6-8)

In narratives, a major function is marking new developments at (foreground) event lines in a story. As such, the new foregrounded element appears at the beginning of a clause, followed by a pause, to mark that an action will take place or that a new phase in the action is about to start. It often marks a new locational or temporal frame in a narrative, as shown in (1559). Trickster Hare has already played two pranks on Bear and the scene of the story moves to another time and location for the third prank.

(1559) d ∂ bů, t^hùlì = góŋ d ∂ bů jǎw, $ts^{h}iton = t^{j}a$ q^hù jǎw, then hare = AGT then again swamp = INDF:GEN top again cwecwé-dzón = tit^hè-dzù, á-q^hù $ts\dot{a}-qw\dot{a}=s\dot{a}$ jump-ITT:PFV:N.EGO = INF hemp.stem-bridge = INDF that-on FR.SP-make tçàw. HSY

'Then Hare again made a hemp stem bridge over a swamp and was jumping continuously on top (of it), it is said.' (TC06.13)

The marker *dəbŭ* is also used as a spacer following a nominal constituent, and is used to give special prominence to the referent, usually one of the main participants. This is especially clear in the story of Hare and Bear, where at the start of four of the five major developments, trickster Hare is (re-)introduced with a noun phrase followed by *dəbŭ*. This can be seen in example (1559) above.

The linker $d \partial b \check{u}$ is also often used as a hesitation marker, a time-winning device that helps the speaker collect their thoughts before moving on to the next bit of the story, or a gap filler, a device to fill the silence when a narrator is at loss for a word. The first time my main consultant was recorded telling a story, he had to order his thoughts a lot during the narration, and as a result inserted many hesitation markers. The second attempt to tell the same story, the number of hesitation markers had decreased dramatically. An example of $d\partial b\check{u}$ used as hesitation marker is given in (1560). In the recording there is a long pause after $n\check{n}t\acute{j}$, $i\hat{j}$, a long drawn out $d\partial b\check{u}$, and another long pause, after which the narrator picks up the storyline again with a repetition of *nǐŋ tá-jî*.

(1560) dèbů "é à-pú zôŋ" tc \hat{a} k^h \hat{i} = b \hat{u} dàbů, "nǐŋ then 1sg this-under EXIST.EGO:1sg say time = TOP then 2sg tá-jî," ...dəbu... "nın tə-jî, nǐŋ è-bǎ 2sg UP-come:IMP:SG then UP-com:IMP:SG 2sg 1-household:GEN tc^hì-q^hwá jèhǎ q^hà-dzâ," $tcw \hat{a} = s\hat{i}$ tcàw. food-bowl all OUT-eat say:PFV:N.EGO = INFHSY 'When he said, "I am under here," (they said), "Come up!" then... "Come up! You ate all our household's bowl of rice," (they) said, it is said.' (TC02.37)

10.9.4 Reported speech

The default form to mark reported speech quotes is with an agentive-marked referent preceding the quote and the verb 'to say' following the quote (§8.3.5). At important points in narratives, however, an overt clause 'X said thus' precedes the quote, as in (1561). In this story, a certain man tricks a pious woman into giving her daughter to him in marriage, and in order to succeed, he poses as a god. The quote is sandwiched between the preceding 'X said thus' and the following verb $tc \sigma$ 'to say' to highlight the importance of the quotation for the development of the narrative.

(1561) dèbů tá má = gòŋ $tcw \hat{a} = s\hat{a}$ "é dàbǔ ná tcàw. this person = AGT thus say:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY then 1SG then hí $p\hat{u}n\hat{v} = b\hat{u}$ hí=góŋ dèıĕj $q^{h} \hat{\partial} - t \hat{\partial} \eta = s \hat{u}, "$ tcà dîŋ, be:EGO:1 today = TOP god = AGT speech OUT-speak = VOL:SG say god $k^{h}i = bu$. time = TOP 'then this person said the following. "I am god, today god wants to speak," (he) said,' (TC08.11)

10.9.5 The discourse use of the hearsay marker

The evidential hearsay marker tcaw (§8.3.5) is not used after every line in a story, but only at the end of a chain of closely associated clauses. This end line tends to be a clause that marks a new development in the story that moves the story along. The function of tcaw is to pause in order to give prominence to this new development. This can be clearly seen in an excerpt from a story given in example (1562). The story is about a monk whose daughter is discovered by a prince on a hunting expedition and taken to be his bride. This causes the monk to die of grief. (For reasons of space, the excerpt is only given in English translation. In the translation the major developments in the story are marked in italics and the translation of the hearsay marker *tçaw* 'it is said' is marked in bold.)

(1562) Long, long ago, in a beautiful place a monk practiced Buddhism. As the monk was practicing Buddhism, there was a very good spring below (him). There was a very good spring, and every day (he) practiced Buddhism there. (When he) practiced Buddhism..., then in this good place, the monk washed his own change of clothes [[in the water]] there, (he) washed (them) in the spring. After (he) washed (his change of clothes) in the spring, after (he) washed (them) in the water, (he) practiced Buddhism the whole time. When (he) was washing (his clothes) in the spring there, *a female deer drank the water*, it is said. (TC07.1-5)

Even though (he) was chasing away the female deer, she did not flee, but drank the water. When (she) was drinking water, and then the monk... the monk had gone to get some clean water, *the female deer then excreted/gave birth to something that looked like a wheel of lard*, **it is said**. (TC07.6-8)

When the monk saw (that), he wondered what on earth this thing that looked like a wheel of lard could be, and only when he cut it in half (he found out that) *there was a person inside*, **it is said.** (TC07.9)

When (he found out that) there was a person, (he) thought, "Iii! There is a person inside, right?", so this monk raised (it). When (he) raised (it), it was a girl (turned out to be a girl), and (so) he raised her till she was big. When he raised her till she was big, then the whole time...then later... (She) grew big and turned seventeen, eighteen years old. When (she) became seventeen, eighteen years old, the monk) made (her) the one who got his own clean water. (He made her) get his own clean water (from) inside this spring, and (she) became the monk's servant. (He made her) the one who got and carried clean water (for him). It went like this, and then *an official and his household went hunting*, **it is said.** (TC07.10-15)

10.9.6 Participant reference

Participant reference is a massive topic, but due to the scope of this study, I will only limit myself to some main observations. Major participants are normally introduced by an indefinite noun phrase, as in (1563), or a numeral classifier, as in (1564), in a presentational clause with an existential verb or a verb of movement (appearing on the scene, as in [1565]). A definite noun phrase is used at their first involvement in the story and often zero anaphor marking is used after that.

(1563) zènð $k^{h}i = b\hat{u},$ zènà jăw té-qè=bù again one-CLF: household = TOP in.the.past in.the.past time = TOP $m\dot{a} = n\dot{o}\eta$ $m\hat{a} = t\hat{i}$ $z\hat{i} = s\hat{i}$ tçàw. $m\dot{a} = n\dot{o}\eta$ mother = COORD daughter = INDF EXIST.AN = INF HSY mother = COORD $m\dot{a} = n\dot{o}\eta$ $m\dot{a} = g\dot{a} = b\dot{u}$ $m\hat{a} = t\hat{i}$ zì, daughter = INDF mother = COORD daughter = DEF = TOPEXIST.AN ť'né $ni = dz an = n^{j} an^{j} a$ tà dzâ. all.the.time LOG = DU = onlyonly be 'Long, long ago there was a household that consisted of a mother and a daughter. There were a mother and daughter. All along, it was only the mother and daughter, the two of them.' (TC08.1-2) (1564) zènð $k^{h}i = bii$ jăw, té-qè-bù = bù, zènà in.the.past in.the.past time = TOP again one-CLF:household = TOP $t\acute{e}$ -q \acute{e} = b \acute{u} , sòŋ-pèjkwéŋ póŋ tsú bòŋ. T:official one-CLF:household = TOP son three-CLF:brother EXIST.POSS $k^{h}i = bi$ dəbu, son-pejkwen = qə tsú sòn-pèjkwén bòŋ son three-CLF:brother EXIST.POSS time = TOP then three-CLF:brother = DEF dàbů, k^{h} à-t¢é = sì tcàw. then OUT-be.big = INF HSY

'Long, long ago a household, an official('s) household had three sons. He had three sons, and the three siblings had grown up, it is said.' (TC09.1-2)

When, however, the participants are well-known characters, like Trickster Hare and his opponent Bear, they might be introduced slightly differently. In (1565), Hare is introduced with an agentive noun phrase and receives zero marking from then on. Bear is introduced with an indefinite noun phrase and receives zero marking from then on. (In (1571) below, Hare is not even introduced until line 6 of the story, but appears with zero marking in lines 3 to 5.)

(1565)	zènð	zènà	$k^{h}i = bi$	i	dàbǔ	t ^h ù	lì = gói	ŋnî,	t ^h ùl	ì = gối	ŋní	dàbù,
	in.the.past	in.the.past	time=7	ГОР	then	Haı	e = AG	Г	Hare	e = AG	Г	then
	mè-tsà-lí = tí bamboo-CLF:section-DIM = 1			dà-z	χâ;	â; Ø		túút ^j ú t¢è n		mð		
				INDF TO.SP-carry (Hare) IDEO say					say	blo	w	
	k ^h í=bù á-dzì		gw	$\mathbf{gwe} \mathbf{n} = \mathbf{t} \mathbf{i}$ nè-tc ^h on = sì						1	tçàw.	
	time = TOP	that-locatio	on bea	$\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{I}$	NDF	DOW	N-com	e:PFV	:N.EC	GO = IN	IF I	HSY
	'Long, long	ago, Hare ca	rried a p	piece	e of ba	mbo	o and v	when	ı (he) was	blov	ving it
	'Toot toot!'	over there a	bear car	me d	lown,	it is :	said.' ('	TC06	5.1)			

Minor participants are often referred to by a full noun phrase throughout the narrative, but can have zero anaphor reference when involved in a conversation with a main character, as in (1566), where Leopard, a minor character, is introduced and then appears as a zero anaphor in conversation with the main characters, the Sheep.

(1566) Ø
$$q^h \hat{\partial} - \hat{s} \hat{\epsilon} \hat{j}$$
 $k^h \hat{i} = b\hat{u}$ Ø $fi \hat{\epsilon} \eta = t^j \hat{e}$
(sheep) OUT-go:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP (sheep) mountain.pass = INDF:GEN
w \hat{u} t \hat{u} $k^h \hat{i} = b\hat{u}$ $j\check{a}w$ $swi = t\hat{i} = g\dot{o}\eta n\hat{i}$. $tw\dot{e} = w\hat{u}$ $\hat{e} - zw\dot{e}\eta$
interior arrive time = TOP again leopard = INDF = AGT road = in IN-block
 $\hat{s}\hat{\epsilon}\hat{j}$ $fi\hat{a}$, Ø $n\hat{\eta}$ -b \hat{u} $k\hat{i}$ $\hat{c}\hat{a} = dw\hat{e}\eta$,
go:PFV:N.EGO LINK (leopard) 2-household where go = IPFV:EGO:N.SG
 $p\acute{u}n\hat{a} = b\hat{u}$ $\hat{e} = n\hat{i}$ $q^h\hat{a}$ -d $z\hat{a} = \hat{s}\hat{u}$ t $\hat{c}w\hat{a} = s\hat{i} = d\hat{a}w$.
today = TOP 1SG = AGT OUT-eat = VOL:SG say:PFV:N.EGO = INF = IPFV:N.EGO

'When (they) went on and arrived at a mountain pass, (they) were again blocked on the road by a leopard who said, "Where are you going? Today I want to eat (you)." ' (TC03.6)

Minor props are not introduced, but enter the narrative as full noun phrases already caught up in the action. They are usually referred to by a full noun phrase at every appearance in the narrative, like the ducks in (1567).

w $\dot{\epsilon}$ j-t $c^{h}w$ í = b^j \dot{a} (1567) âw... $((p\dot{a}j\dot{i} = w\dot{a}))$ jèqá k^hà-kì-má left-direction = on:GEN sleeve = in:GEN bone OUT-put.in-NMLZ INTJ k^hà-tcí k^hà-cà $k^{h}i = b\hat{u},$ kwći OUT-move OUT-go let:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP k^hwé = wù jèhǎ bǽ t^hé-dòŋ bǽ = Jóŋ fià, lake = inall duck FR.SP-become LINK duck = AGTáwà, k^hwé=wù $n\dot{v}$ -ts^hú = sí kìqwà kìqwà kìqwà tçè tçàw IDEO IDEO IDEO say CMX lake = in DOWN-dance = INF HSY 'When she threw out the bones that were put in her left sleeve, they all became ducks in the lake, and the ducks quacking 'Quack, quack, quack!' LOOK! danced in the lake, it is said.' (TC09.54)

Major participants on the main action line generally receive zero expression, as in (1568), as they are active, identifiable topics.

(1568)Ø "nǐŋ míŋ tsàw = dù," $k^{h}i = bu$, tçà Ø what pound = IPFV:EGO:2SG say time = TOP (Hare) (Bear) 2sg "è=bú ģ=gà dzèj tsáw = dòŋ," tçà $k^{h}i = bu$, 1SG = TOP 1SG = GEN drum pound = IPFV:EGO:1SGtime = TOP say Ø "nǒŋ é tsàw zìŋ è=qèj," tçà $k^{h}i = bu$, (Bear) 1sg pound can time = TOP so Q = EXPsay 'When (Bear) said, "What are you beating?" (Hare) said, "Me, I'm beating my drum," (Bear) said, "In that case can I beat?" ' (TC06.9)

But when there is a paragraph break or a major new development in the storyline, the main characters appear again as full NPs, with the main protagonist receiving agentive marking as well, as in (1569).

(1569) d $\dot{a}b\check{u}$, $t^{h}\dot{u}l\dot{i} = g\acute{n}$ $ts^{h}iton = t^{j}a$ q^hù jǎw, dàbǔ jǎw, then hare = AGT then again swamp = INDF:GEN top again á-q^hù cwecwé-dzon = tit^hè-dzù, $fs \hat{a} - qw \hat{a} = s \hat{i}$ hemp.stem-bridge = INDF FR.SP-make that-on jump-ITT:PFV:N.EGO = INF tçàw. HSY 'Then Hare again made a hemp stem bridge over a swamp and was jumping continuously on top (of it), it is said.' (TC06.13)

dàbǔ	jăw	tə́	gwéŋ	á-dzì	è-t¢ ^h ôŋ
then	again	this	bear	that-location	IN-come:PFV:N.EGO

'Then again that Bear came over there (...)' (TC06.14)

With a minor development in a story, a main character can also be coded by a pronoun, as in (1570).



'Then when he (= the shaman) said, "Wait a bit, wait a bit, let me first read a book. Twelve wolf skins, twelve tiger skins, one leopard skin is lacking, there might not be time to flee!!" Oh! the leopard also went fleeing.' (TC03.20)

10.9.7 Afterthoughts

Afterthoughts are frequently used with identifiable, active or accessible topics. This is illustrated in (1571) with line 6 of a trickster story. One of the characters, a Trader, has been properly introduced in the story, but the main protagonist, Hare, who appears in line 3 of the story, has not been mentioned a single time, but has from the start been referred to by zero anaphora. Not until line 6 does the speaker add an explicit reference to this established and active participant in the form of an afterthought. The reason why this is possible is that trickster stories always include Hare as main character, and when telling a trickster story, Hare is thus identifiable and accessible from the start.

(1571) də̀bû,	Ø	"nǐŋ çáw	t¢ ^h á é=wèŋ,	," t¢à k ^h ì	=bù, Ø	"ébàw,
then	(trader)	2sg ritual	take Q=can	say tim	e=TOP (hare	e) INTJ
é	¢áw=sớ	t¢ ^h	'à=sá	t¢ ^h ð wéŋ	$k^{h}i = bu$	də̀bŭ,
1SG	ritual = con	NTR.TOP tak	ke = CONTR.TOP	take can	time = TOP	then
çáw	t¢ ^h á=bù	lúhwá	zù=dáw	mà dzà	l ⁱ čj,"	
ritual	take = TOP	difficult	very = IPFV:N.	EGO GNOMIO	C DISS	
t¢wà=	t¢w à=sì		t ^h ùlì=gòŋn	ì.		
say:PF	say:PFV:N.EGO = INF		hare = AGT			

'Then when (the trader) said, "Are you able to perform rituals?" (Hare) said, "My oh my, as for the ritual, I am indeed able to do that, but doing the ritual is very difficult as a matter of fact," it is said, Hare.' (KZ02.6)

Afterthoughts are also frequently employed in narration to add temporal or locational information that the narrator realizes has been left out and needs overt mentioning, as

in (1572) and (1573). Sometimes a clearly observable pause can be heard between clause and afterthought, and if no pause is present, the afterthought is usually pronounced on a very low pitch due to downdrift.

(1572) nìŋ-bá káw p^hínts^hú nànì $ni\eta = la$ 2-household:GEN uncle(MB) T:Phun.tshogs like.this 2sG = also sðsðwú nŏnjæ=bù, áiù. t^há má tcwĭ $d \delta \eta = q \delta j$, сé be.okay = EXPT later = TOP Ch:forty.five Ch:size wear INTJ foot be.big $z\dot{u} = q\dot{\epsilon}j = d\dot{a}w.$ very = EXPT = IPFV:N.EGO

'Like your Uncle Phintshu you will also end up wearing size forty-five, later. Oh! (your) feet will be very big.' (CV01.34)

(1573) dèbů tá $c\dot{e}-m\dot{a}d\dot{e}-l\dot{l}=g\dot{e}=l\dot{a}$ nè-dú zù then this Hàn-female-DIM = DEF = also DOWN-be.frightened very $n\hat{a}-p^{h}\hat{a}=g\hat{a}$ $p\dot{a} = s\dot{i}$, zě tá-zú sà ĥà, hand two-CLF:single = DEF UP-lift go:PFV:N.EGO do:PFV:N.EGO = INFLINK í "ségwì, ségwì," tcà $p_{\rm H} = d\dot{a}w$, T:earthquake T:earthquake say INTJ do = IPFV:N.EGO

 $n\hat{\sigma}$ -ts $\hat{c}j$ -ts $\hat{\sigma}\eta = q^{h}\hat{u}$.

two-CLF:section-house = on

'The Hàn Chinese girl was also very frightened. Lifting (her) two hands, (she) cried, "Earthquake, earthquake," on top of the side building.' (PC06w.4)

10.9.8 Discourse functions of demonstratives

In her article on the discourse power of demonstratives, Mithun (1987) points out that demonstratives in many languages have special functions in ordering discourse. In this section I will discuss three discourse functions of demonstratives in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ.

The demonstrative construction ∂wa , involving the distal demonstrative ∂ - (§4.6.2), the locational postposition = wu (§4.6.3), and the genitive clitic = x (§5.3.1) is used as a climax marker in narratives. Demonstratives that are used as climax markers have also been reported for Jarawara (Dixon and Vogel 2004:367). The climax marker ∂wa appears at a point in the story where the actions of a main protagonist increase in intensity or number, and just precedes the climax. It can be seen as a slowing down device that increases the tension and invites the addressees to pay close attention. In the free translation it is translated as 'LOOK!'. The climax marker either appears clause-initially, clause-finally, or following an NP. Multiple climax markers can be used to announce a climax.

Example (1574) is from a trickster story where Hare ends up killing all the other participants in the story. The example describes the moment he sets his trap in motion.

$$(1574)$$
 "l^jú = dáw"tçà k^hì = nòŋ**śwà**, n^jùçù-pé**śwà**boil = IPFV:N.EGOsay time = onlyCMXleather.bag-bottomCMX.jótsà = gòŋté-.jè = cì = bùgwìd^jóŋ**śwà**nè-dîknife = INSone-CLF:cut = LIM.TOP = TOPpestleCMXDOWN-thrownè-càkwéjfiàDOWN-golet:PFV:N.EGOLINK

'When (they) said, "It's boiling," LOOK! (Hare) used the knife LOOK! to cut the bottom of the leather bag in just one cut, LOOK! let the pestle fall down; (...)' (TC04.36)

Example (1575) is taken from the climax of a wedding where the bride of the youngest brother dances for the guests.

 $(1575) ts^{h} ú$ nè-ts^hú nè-ts^hú nè-ts^hú $k^{h}i = b\hat{u}$, $\hat{\mathbf{w}}\hat{\mathbf{a}}$ t $\hat{\mathbf{v}} = g\hat{\mathbf{v}}\eta\hat{\mathbf{n}}\hat{\mathbf{n}}$, dance time = TOP DOWN-dance DOWN-dance DOWN-dance CMX 3SG = AGT $q^{h} \dot{e} ts \dot{\epsilon} j = q \dot{e} t^{h} \dot{e} = q \dot{o} \eta n \hat{i} \dot{e} w \dot{a}, z \dot{e} - t c^{h} w \dot{i} = w \dot{a}$ kwěŋ younger.sibling small = GEN wife = AGT CMX right-direction = in:GEN t^h wí k^h à-t¢í = mà, **ówà** k^hà-t¢í k^hà-cà kwéj pàjí = wà sleeve = in:GEN ale OUT-pour = NMLZ CMX OUT-pour OUT-go let:PFV:N.EGO $k^{h}i = b\hat{u},$ k^hwé = tí t^hè-dòŋ $kw \hat{c} j = s \hat{i}$ tçàw. time = TOP lake = INDF FR.SP-become let: PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY 'When (the wife of the youngest son) danced, and danced, and danced, and danced, LOOK! she -the youngest son's wife- LOOK! the ale that was put in her right sleeve, LOOK! she threw it and let it become a lake, it is said.' (TC09.53)

Some demonstratives are used as hesitation markers to help narrators gather their thoughts, especially $t\hat{\sigma}$ 'this' and $\hat{\sigma}dz (t\hat{\sigma})$ 'this one of here', consisting of the distal demonstrative $\hat{\sigma}$ - 'that' (§4.6.2), the locational postposition = dzi (§4.6.3) and the genitive clitic = x (§5.3.1). The marker $d\partial b\check{u}$ 'then' is also often used as a hesitation marker or a gap filler (§10.9.3). In (1576) an example with $t\hat{\sigma}$ and in (1577) an example with $\hat{\sigma}dzx$ to are given.

(1576) dòbǔ tớ t^hóŋmớ= từ tớ... tçòmá=bú dòbǔ tç^hònó wéŋ l^jừ?
then this Pǔmǐ=PL:GEN this main.room=TOP then how CUST.EXCL RHET
'So what is this central room of the Pǔmǐ like?' (PC03.5)

(1577) éŋ, gǎ = tù míŋ dzà, ó-dzà tó míŋ dⁱòŋ
INTJ cliff = on what be that-location:GEN this what EXIST.AT
tçà wèŋ = là
say CUST.EXCL = also
'Uhm, "What is (the thing) on a cliff, that...uhm...what grows there?" (he)
would say, (...)' (CV08.13.1)

The demonstrative $t \acute{a}$ 'this' (§4.6.1) often replaces referential constituents, but it can also replace predicative constituents. Sometimes this is done to avoid the mention of specific things like sickness or bad relationships, (as in (1499) above). In (1578) it replaces the verb $dz\acute{a}$ 'to eat'. In (1579), where the demonstrative refers to the action of cutting, the speaker feels the need to add the verb $p\acute{u}$ 'to do' to make it more verbal. But in (1580) the demonstrative is simply used instead of a verb and is followed by a nominalization construction.

 $m a t c^{h} i = t i$ gà-dzí (1578) nǒŋ séŋmì tè-dìŋ tomorrow.night one-CLF:place down-location dinner = INDF so t^hè-dzú ĥà tá $k \epsilon j = q i$ FR.SP-make LINK this let = VOL:INCL

'So, tomorrow night (or sometime) let's have (them) cook some dinner downstairs and let (you eat) (...)' (CV02.76)

(1579) ∂ -dzítáp $\dot{\mathbf{u}} = dw \dot{\mathbf{e}} g$ tc $\dot{\mathbf{o}}$ k^{h} this-locationthisdo = IPFV:EGO:N.SGsaytime

'When the two of us where cutting over here, (...)' (CV16.53)

(1580) tá = bù tsǎ = wù tá-tú tà pù fià tá = mà tà dzà mà.
3SG = TOP scale = in UP-pull one do LINK this = NMLZ only be INFO
'It (= getting the name Eight Pound) was only because he was pulled up in scales for a bit.' (CV24.50.3)

The manner demonstrative $n\hat{\sigma}$ 'like this' (§4.6.1) can also be used to replace a verb. In (1581) it replaces $n\hat{\eta}$ 'to be painful'.

(1581) nùséŋ kóŋ k^hí = bù jăw tç^hàdzú ná mà = dâw morning cold time = TOP again that.much thus NEG = IPFV:N.EGO
'(...) when it is cold in the morning (my hand) does not (hurt) that much (...)' (CV02.44)

Example (1582) has several examples of referential vagueness. The interpretation can be derived from the context.

tèk^hà=lá рú (1582) **n**á tè-bà tè-bǽ k^hì, pú tá pù time a.little = also thus do one-CLF:kind one-CLF:kind this do do tí $m\dot{a} = z\dot{n}$ $t^{h}\acute{e}$ -dóŋ = dàw, à-wú ti = tinè-qèjlì NEG = can FR.SP-become = IPFV:N.EGO this-in vein = INDF DOWN-sprainone dóŋ sì dàw, t^jčj, tènð zě $t\dot{a} = t\dot{a} = d\dot{a}w$ become EPIST:probably look otherwise hand this = SVM = IPFV:N.EGO mà dzà, GNOMIC

'(...) when (I) **do certain things**, (the situation) becomes (that I'm) not able to do even a little bit, it's possible a vein in here became sprained. Look, otherwise (my) hand **is this (=okay)** (...)' (CV02.38)

10.10 Conclusion

This chapter investigated complex constructions. Some interesting characteristics of Wǎdū Pǔmǐ will be noted here.

Wǎdū Pǔmǐ has a predicate-focus construction which deals with focalizing or defocalizing specific parts of the predicate. This is done to assert the factuality of an utterance or to express speaker attitude toward a proposition. Discourse markers and intensifiers (described in 6.5) play an important role in these constructions. Predicatefocus constructions are found in other Tibeto-Burman languages in the area (Burmese, Rawang), but have not been described before. A similar construction, the 'tautological infinitive' has been extensively described for Classical Biblical Hebrew (Goldenberg 1971, Kim 2009).

The use of nominal markers for subordination has been attested in many Tibeo-Burman languages. In Wǎdū Pǔmǐ the agentive and ablative markers are used for causal subordination and many of the discourse markers are used in conditional and temporal or concessive subordinate clauses.

Insubordination, the independent use of subordinate or non-final clauses (Evans 2007), is attested with temporal, causal and coordinated clauses in Wǎdū Pǔmǐ. Clause-final subordinate markers are then reinterpreted as attitude markers.

Discourse functions of demonstratives include the use of demonstratives as a means for referential vagueness, and the use of a demonstrative to signal the climax of a story.

This study only made initial remarks on the structure of discourse. Further research is needed to gain a more in-depth understanding of Wǎdū Pǔmǐ discourse.

Appendix A. Heart phrases

Heart phrase	Literal meaning	Meaning
k ^h wé t¢ ^h wí	heart good	'to be good, have a good conscience'
k ^h wé dèdê	heart bad	'to be bad, have a bad conscience'
k ^h wé p ù	heart soft	'to be softhearted'
k ^h wé tsôŋ	heart hard	'to be hardhearted'
k ^h wé çê / tèj	heart big	'to be coureageous, bold'
k ^h wé q ^h ètsěj	heart small	'to have small courage, easily frightened'
k ^h wé t ^h óŋ	heart white	'to be sincere, transparent (let people know what you think)'
k ^h wé n ^j ě	heart black	'to be insincere, non-transparent (not let people know what you think)'
k ^h wé g <i>é</i>	heart happy	'to be happy'
k ^h wé .Įwó	heart relaxed	'to be carefree'
k ^h wé dà	heart slow	`to be patient' (<i>< dádà</i> `slow' in Yǒngníng Na and Mùdǐqīng)
k ^h wé dzû	heart explode	'to be angry'
k ^h wé nìŋ	heart aching	'to be jealous, to be envious'
k ^h wé dzwá / k ^h wé mà dzwá	heart (not) comfortable	'to be at peace / to be worried'
Appendix B. List of Tibetan loanwords

Wădū Pǔmĭ	Written Tibetan	Meaning
péwu	dpa.'bo	'hero'
dapú	bdag.po	'host'
póŋ	dpon.bo	`official, king'
ts ^h óŋpæŋ	tshong.pa	`trader'
.Įoŋb û t¢ ^h i	rin.po.che	'Rinpoche' (honorific term 'precious one')
gəgíŋ	dge.rgan	'teacher (religious)'
dawzí	rdo.rje	'vajra' (sceptre used in rituals)
t ubú	dril.bu	'bell' (used in rituals with sceptre)
bʉțsʰóŋ	sbug.cal	'cymbals' (used in rituals)
.Įædóŋ	rag.dung	'long brass horn used in monastic rituals'
memá	mar.me	'butter lamp'
tç ^h étiŋ	mchod.rten	`stupa'
gôŋba	dgon.pa	'temple'
ŀž	las	'fate'
tíŋdwi	rten.'brel	'luck'
ļá	lha	`god' (the main word used in Wǎdū is <i>hí</i>)
dâpa	sdig.pa	`sin, guilt'
dzətîŋ	jig.rten	'world'
sêgwi	sa.'gul	'earthquake'
miŋtu	me.tog	'flower' (only used in a few compounds)
çê-tç ^h wi(bi)	shar.phyogs	'east'
hû-tç ^h wi(bi)	lho.phyogs	'south'

Wădū Pŭmĭ	Written Tibetan	Meaning
n ^j ôŋ-t¢ ^h wi(bi)	nub.phyogs	'west'
tç ^h ôŋ-tç ^h wi(bi)	byang.phyogs	'north'
séŋtçiŋ	sems.can	'animal'
séŋgeŋ	seng.ge	'lion'
lôŋbʉt¢ ^h i	glang.bo.che	'elephant'
dú	Brug	'dragon'
d ú da	sbrul	'snake' (zodiac; the normal word is buزغ)
tá	stag	'tiger' (zodiac; the normal word is <i>wŭ</i>)
lóŋ	glang	'ox' (zodiac; the normal word is $qw\hat{v}$)
ť ⁱ é	rta	'horse' (zodiac; the normal word is $gw\check{e}_{\mathfrak{I}}$)
ţwí	spri'u	'monkey' (zodiac; the normal word is <i>tsêzi</i>)
$p^h \acute{a}$	phag	'pig' (zodiac; the normal word is $tc^h w \tilde{x}$)
dzwĭŋ	bya?	'rooster' (zodiac; the normal word is . <i>Įɐpʉ̂</i>)
tç ^h əbí	byi.ba?	'rat' (zodiac; the normal word is <i>wû</i>)

Code	Type	Speaker(s)	Lines	Duration	Description
CV01	Conversation	B, D, N, P, Z	62	00:03:23	Conversation about grass shoes worn in the past and experiences of uncle Z who used to go trading using mule caravans.
CV02	Conversation	H, N, P, Y	116	00:07:31	A neighbour comes by to welcome the researcher who returned to the village after a few months at the university.
CV03	Conversation	H, N, P	26	00:03:00	The same neighbour relates some experiences from the past when food was scarce.
CV04	Conversation	PL, M, P, S, Y	104	00:08:53	Relative PL comes over for a visit to see her daughter and current news is exchanged.
CV05	Conversation	S	2	00:00:18	Some additional remarks on personal narrative SN02.
CV06	Conversation	Н, Ү	18	00:01:19	Some additional remarks on personal narrative YJ01.
CV07	Conversation	D, G, M, P, S, Y	121	00:07:27	Conversation about people from Mùlǐ who spent the night in Wǎdū village on their way home.
CV08	Conversation	G, P, S, Y	35	00:02:02	Conversation recalling some traditional riddles.
CV09	Conversation	G, P, S, Y	204	00:09:27	Conversation about the mushroom poisoning story (YJ01) that speaker Y told a few days before.
CV10	Conversation	G, P, S, Y	6	00:00:27	Some additional remarks on folktale KZ01.
CV11	Conversation	C, D, N, P, W	92	00:03:29	Interaction with a child about what he would like to do in the future.

Appendix C. Text corpus index

Code	Type	Speaker(s)	Lines	Duration	Description
CV12	Conversation	C, D, G, N, P, W	100	00:08:02	Conversation about the importance of study and the circumstances in schools, now and in the past.
CV13	Conversation	D, G, J, N, P, W, X	181	00:17:39	Conversation about various daily things and about the narration of stories. Speaker G tells part of the story of Damasongtsa, a hero of the past.
CV14	Conversation	H, L, P, S, Y, Z	359	00:46:16	Conversation about daily things: dogs, pigs, making pork back, chrysanthemum tea, building a earthen walls, and potatoes.
CV15	Conversation	D, H, L, P, S, Y	89	00:04:45	Conversation about buying clothes at the local fair.
CV16	Conversation	B, C, D, J, N, P, R, S, W, Z	116	00:04:26	Conversation during the yearly pig slaughter in winter: discussing various pig-related topics.
CV17	Conversation	B, J, M, N, P, R, S, W, Z	33	00:01:08	Conversation during the yearly pig slaughter in winter: talking about the pig kidneys.
CV18	Conversation	B, C, D, J, N, P, R, S, W, Z	167	00:06:16	Conversation during the yearly pig slaughter in winter: talking about the pig bladder that is used by kids as a balloon.
CV19	Conversation	B, C, D, J, N, P, R, S, W, Z	127	00:05:03	Conversation during the yearly pig slaughter in winter: discussing the benefits of cooking on electricity as compared to cooking with firewood.
CV20	Conversation	B, C, D, J, L, M, N, P, R, S, W, Z	160	00:05:57	Conversation during the yearly pig slaughter in winter: joking around with a child.

Code	Type	Speaker(s)	Lines	Duration	Description
CV21	Conversation	A, B, C, DW, E,	707	00:23:58	Conversation on New Year's Day: four women from the same clan
		G, J, L, M, N, Q,			visit each others' households and take the recorder along to
		R, W, X, Y, YZ			record their conversations.
CV22	Conversation	B, L, N, P, R, Y,	94	00:04:48	Two women recall some of their childhood memories.
		Ζ			
CV23	Conversation	P, Y, Z	<mark>.</mark> 55	00:04:42	Discussion of libation rituals. First libation is poured out to the
					mountain god, then to other gods and spirits and then to the
					ancestors.
CV24	Conversation	N, P, S, Y, Z	86	00:04:51	Discussion of the libation ritual performed for the ancestors and
					the order of names.
CV25	Conversation	M, N, P, S, Z	78	00:04:14	Conversation on the origin of the Zjaezjae clan.
TC01	Personal experience	Ζ	18	00:04:07	A 58-old man's views on Púmĭ society and his memories of recent
					history. Edited by my main consultant.
TC02	Folktale	Ζ	82	00:11:28	The Deluge: the youngest of three brothers escapes the flood and
					marries a sky-girl who leaves him with all kinds of grain for cultivation.
TC03	Folktale	Z	23	00:04:11	The sheep and the shaman: two sheep are blocked on the road by a
					tiger, a leopard and a wolf in turn. A shaman manages to scare
					them off.

Code	Type	Speaker(s)	Lines	Duration	Description
TC04	Folktale	И	37	00:05:57	Hare as baby-sitter: a family asks Trickster Hare to baby-sit their child while they go out to work in the field. Hare kills the child and tricks the parents into killing themselves.
TC05	Travelogue	Z	13	00:03:19	Instructions on which road to take to Yàdīng, a famous nature reserve.
TC06	Folktale	И	34	00:05:02	Hare and Bear: Trickster Hare tricks Bear into sucking a snake out of a bamboo pipe, pounding on a wasp hive, jumping on a hemp bridge, eating his own eye, and rolling off a cliff.
TC07	Folktale	ы	37	00:05:49	A hermit monk: when the servant of a prince loses his way on a hunting expedition, he discovers the daughter of a Buddhist hermit monk and tells the prince about her. The prince comes to take her to be his wife. The monk is overcome with sadness and disappears into a cliff.
TC08	Folktale	N	47	00:05:50	<i>Mother and daughter</i> : a scoundrel poses as a god and deceives a devout woman into giving her daughter into marriage to him. He puts the girl into a chest and leaves her in the forest until night time. A prince finds her and puts a tiger cub and a leopard cub in the chest. When the scoundrel comes to retrieve the girl at night, he is severely scratched by the animals and his cries are not headed by the other villagers.

Code	Type	Speaker(s)	Lines	Duration	Description
TC09	Folktale	Z	59	00:08:57	Three brothers take a wife: three brothers go hunting for a wife. The youngest of the three hits a toad who turns out to be the most clever and beautiful of the three girls.
TC10	Personal experience	И	56	00:10:01	The speaker shares his memories of childhood and early adulthood.
TC12	Ritual text	Z	п	00:00:55	Blessing composed for the coming-of-age ritual of a girl. When children are around 13 years of age, a ritual is performed that marks their transition into adulthood.
YJ01	Personal experience	Y	69	00:07:02	The speaker recalls an incident of how a group of Pǔmǐ rescued three people who were poisoned by a mushroom.
YJ02	Personal experience	Y	37	00:04:07	The speaker recalls going up into the mountains to pick red snow tea when she was young.
SN01	Procedural text	S	12	00:01:08	The process of weaving and selling shawls.
SN02	Personal experience	S	24	00:02:41	The speaker recalls going up into the mountains to dig medicinal roots.
KZ01	Folktale	IJ	11	00:01:17	<i>The louse and the flea</i> : a louse and a flea hold a race to see who is fastest. It ends in a fight which results in the flea being rubbed with a clay pot. That explains why fleas are black nowadays.

Code	Type	Speaker(s)	Lines	Duration	Description
KZ02	Folktale	IJ	6	00:01:13	<i>Hare and a trader</i> : Trickster Hare tricks a proud trader into performing a ritual which kills him.
KZ03	Folktale	Ċ	39	00:04:22	<i>Stealing a mule</i> : two thieves go mule-thieving and end up stealing a tiger who was also out to get the mule. When it is light the thieves realize they stole a tiger and flee. The tiger then runs into Trickster Hare who tricks him into losing his hand, eating both his eyes and rolling off a cliff. He dies as a result.
PC01	Procedural text	Ъ	6	00:00:52	A description of how yak butter tea is made.
PC02	Procedural text	д.	14	00:02:02	A description of how mules are fed oil and egg in winter to make them strong for summer.
PC03	Procedural text	д.	21	00:03:12	A description of the various Pǔmǐ architectural styles that are found in the area.
PC04	Personal experience	д,	17	70	Two short written stories about the difference in reference for the directions 'up the valley' and 'down the valley' between Wǎdū and Tuōqī villages and the confusion that causes.
PC05	Personal experience	д.	6	00:01:21	A story about how a classmate successfully sabotaged a light bulb in the classroom in order to get a break from doing homework at night.
PC06	Personal experience	Ь	6	32	A written story about an earthquake that hit the village and people's reaction.

PC07Fictional storyP10-AwrittenPC08Fictional storyP10-A writtenPC08Fictional storyP10-A writtenC01Procedural storyC2600:04:40A descriptionC101Procedural textCL2600:04:40A descriptionC102Procedural textCL2300:09:20A descriptionC103Procedural textCL3300:07:32A description			rescription
PC08Fictional storyP10-A writtenCL01Procedural textCL2600:04:40A descriptionCL02Procedural textCL2300:09:20A descriptionCL03Procedural textCL3300:07:32A description	10	3	A written story about a man who got lost in the forest.
CL01Procedural textCL2600:04:40A descriptiCL02Procedural textCL2300:09:20A descriptCL03Procedural textCL3300:07:32A descript	10	3	A written story about a Pǔmǐ girl and two Hàn Chinese friends on a holiday to Zhōngdiàn.
CL02 Procedural text CL 23 00:09:20 A descript CL03 Procedural text CL 33 00:07:32 A descript	26	00:04:40	A description of the way people slaughter and butcher fattened pigs in winter. Edited by my main consultant.
CL03 Procedural text CL 33 00:07:32 A descript	23	00:09:20	A description of the way Pǔmǐ New Year is celebrated.
crops.	33	00:07:32	A description of the yearly cycle of sowing and harvesting of crops.
3940 05:11:41 = The tota	3940	05:11:41	= The total amount / duration of recorded data used in the thesis

Appendix D. Texts

TC04: 'Hare as baby-sitter' (folktale)

A traditional Trickster story in which the crafty Trickster Hare manages to kill all the others.

(1) $z e p u \# z e p u k^{h} i = b u \# d b u, \# t e - q e - b u \# d b u, d b u$ zèpů zèpů $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbů, tì-qê-bu=bu dəbů, in.the.past time = TOP then one-CLF:household in.the.past then $m \partial_n i_n = ti \# l^j \acute{e}ti k^h i = b u \# d \partial_b u, \# l u p \acute{u} c \partial_k k^h i = b u \# d \partial_b u, \#$ l^jêti $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbů, lú $c \hat{a} k^{h} i = b u$ $m = n \eta = ti$ рú dəbů, child = INDFbe.born time = TOP then work do go time = TOP then tçìŋ-tíŋ-m \neq mà = cǐ.# tîŋ-mə tçĭŋ $m\check{a} = c\check{i}$ child take.care.of-NMLZ NEG = EXIST.AB'A long time ago, a child was born to a family, but when they went out to

work in the field, there was no baby-sitter.'

```
(2)
        tçìn-tín-m\neq mà = cǐ# k<sup>h</sup>ì = bù# d\Rightarrowbǔ,# méqé-b=bù#
        tçĭŋ-tîŋ-mə
                               mă=cĭ
                                                 k^{h}i = bu
                                                               dəbů, méqe-bu = bu
        child-take.care.of
                               NEG = EXIST.AB time = TOP then
                                                                        family-household = TOP
        dàbů,# "tçìŋ-tíŋ-má=tì# ts<sup>h</sup>wæ dòŋ qèj dàw"
                                                    ts<sup>h</sup>wǽ
        dəbů, "t¢ĭŋ-tîŋ-mə=ti
                                                                   d \partial \eta = q \epsilon j = d a w"
        then child-take.care.of-NMLZ = INDF ask.for.help be.okay = EXPT = IPFV:N.EGO
        tcà.#
        tcð.
        say
```

'When there was no baby-sitter, the family said: "We should ask a baby-sitter."

(3) tçìŋ-tíŋ-m \neq ts^hw \hat{a} k^hì = bù# d \hat{a} bů,# n \hat{a} -ts \hat{a} = g \hat{a} # ts^hwǽ $k^{h}i = bu$ tçĭŋ-tîŋ-mə dəbů, ně-ts $\hat{a} = q_{\hat{a}}$ child-take.care.of-NMLZ ask.for.help time = TOP then two-CLF:person = DEF $n\dot{e}$ -w \dot{u} w \dot{a} # $d\dot{e}$ b \dot{u} ,# "q \dot{u} j \dot{i} = $n\dot{o}\eta$ = $b\dot{u}$ # \dot{e} - $dz\dot{e}$ # $t^{h}\dot{u}$ l \dot{i} = $b\dot{i}$ # ně-wuwă dəbů, "qujì = noŋ = bu ô-dzæ $t^{h}uli = bi$ DOWN-discuss then crow = COORD = TOPthat-location:GEN hare = DAT tçin tín kéj = gì, # t \hat{a} = dz \check{a} n # hîn # t c^h wí = g \hat{e} j = g \hat{a} # tçĭŋ tîŋ $k \epsilon j = q i$ $t\hat{a} = dz \hat{e} \eta \hat{h} \eta$ $tc^{h}wi = q\epsilon j = q\epsilon$ child take.care.of let = VOL:INCL 3 = DUwho good = EXPT = DEF $t \hat{a} = dz \check{a} \eta \# t^{j} \acute{o} \eta \# t \acute{i} \eta k \check{e} j = q \check{i}^{"} t \varsigma w \check{e} = s \check{i} . \#$ tá = dzæŋ tⁱôŋ tîŋ kéj = gi $tcw \tilde{d} = si.$ 3 = DUone:CLF:thing take.care.of let = VOL:INCL say:PFV:N.EGO = INF 'When asking the help of a baby-sitter, the two people deliberated. "Let's let the crow and that hare take care of the child; whoever of the two of them will take good care, let's let that one baby-sit," they said.' (4) dàbů# tà = já# qùjǐ = bì sà# dádwè = sì tçàw. dəbů tá= lə quji=bi sə dâdwe = si tçaw. ask = INFthen 3 = PL crow = DAT first HSY 'They asked the crow first.' (5) qùjì = góŋní = bù# dèbǔ,# "mú-tóŋ pùpù# \dot{e} = bí dzô,# quji = gonni = budəbů, "mú-tôn é=bi dzá, pupú crow = AGT = TOPthen butter-piece chewed.piece 1SG = DATeat $ts^{h}i-ton pupu# tcin = bi tc^{h}i" tcwa = si tcaw;#$ ts^hí-tôn pupú tcin = bi tc^hwi ," $tcw\dot{a} = si$ tcaw. salt-piece chewed.piece child = AGT feed say:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY "($z \dot{o} \eta - i \dot{o} \dots$)# $z \dot{o} \eta - i \dot{o}$ tsèpà# $\dot{e} = b i \eta \hat{u}, \#$ ts^h $\dot{o} = i \dot{o}$ tsèpà# "(zóŋ-jâ...) zóŋ-jâ tsépa é=bi ņů, ts^hə̂-Jə̂ tsépa sheep-skin sheep-skin soft? 1SG = DATpad goat-skin soft? tcin = bi nû" tcwa = si tcaw; #tçĭŋ = bi ņů," t¢wð=si tcaw. child = DAT pad say:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY

'The crow said, "A chewed piece of butter I will eat, a chewed piece of salt to the child I will feed. With soft sheep skin I myself will pad, with soft goat skin I the child will pad." '

dàbů# t^hùlì=bì# tçà kwéj=sì tçàw;# t^hùlì=góŋní# dàbů,# (6) $d = b \tilde{u} t^{h} u \tilde{u} = b \tilde{u}$ tçð kwéj = si tçaw. $t^{h}uli = gonni$ dəbů, then hare = DAT say let:pfv:n.ego = INF HSY hare = AGT then "mú-tóŋ pùpù# tçìŋ = bí tç^hî,# "mú-tôŋ pupú tcin = bit¢^hĭ, butter-piece chewed.piece child = DATfeed ts^{h} ì-tóŋ pùpù# (è=ní...) è=bí dzô;# ts^hí-†ôŋ pupú (é=ni...) é=bi dzá. salt-piece chewed.piece 1SG = AGT 1SG = DATeat $z \dot{\eta} - 4 \dot{\eta} = b \dot{\eta} \dot{\eta} + t \dot{\eta} = b \dot{\eta} \dot{\eta}$ tsépa tçĭŋ=bi ts^hə́-Jə̂ zóŋ-jâ ņů, tsépa é=bi nů," sheep-skin soft? child = DAT pad goat-skin soft? 1SG = DATpad tçwà=sì.# tçwð=si. say:PFV:N.EGO = INF

'Then (they) let Hare speak. Hare said, "A chewed piece of butter to the child (I) will feed, a chewed piece of salt I will eat. With soft sheep skin the child (I) will pad, with soft goat skin I myself will pad." '

' "Let's let Hare baby-sit, Hare taking care of the child will be good," they said.'

(9) dəbǔ# t^hùlǐ = bì# tíŋ kwèj.# $d = b \dot{u} t^{h} u \dot{u} = b \dot{u}$ tîŋ kwéj. then hare = DAT take.care.of let:PFV.N.EGO 'Then they let Hare baby-sit.' (10)t^hùlǐ((=bì))# dàbǔ# tíŋ kwèj k^hì=bù# dàbǔ# ní=dzàŋ# $t^{h}uli = ((bi)) d \partial b u$ tîn kwéj $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbů nî = dzæŋ hare = DAT take.care.of let:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP then then LOG = DUlú pú sèj = sì tçàw.# lú pú $s\hat{\epsilon}j = si$ tçaw. work do go:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY 'Then, when (they) had let Hare baby-sit, the two of them went off to work in the field.' (11)lú pú sèj k^hì = bù# dèbǔ,# dèbǔ# swáŋ = nòŋ# $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbů, dəbů swâŋ=noŋ lú pú sêj work do go:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP then then father = COORD $m\dot{a} = n\dot{o}\eta # d\dot{e}b\check{u} # (l\acute{u} p\acute{u}...) # l\acute{u} p\acute{u} k^{h}\dot{i} = b\dot{u} # d\dot{e}b\check{u}, #$ pú...) lú $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbů. $m\hat{a} = no\eta$ dəbů (lú DÚ mother = COORD then work do work do time = TOP then $m\dot{\vartheta} = J\dot{a}\# tcin\# q^h\dot{\vartheta} + fs^h\dot{\vartheta}, \# tcin\# q^h\dot{\vartheta} + fs^h\dot{\vartheta}\# tcin\psi$ mô= Jæ tçǐŋ q^hð-†s^hô, tçĭŋ q^hð-†ş^hô tǐ-jĉj person = PL:GEN child out-slaughter child OUT-slaughter one-cooking.pot t^hè-pù# è-qú# k^hà-twĭ.# t^hě-pú ě-qû k^hð-twľ. FR.SP-do IN-cook OUT-put:PFV:N.EGO 'When (they) had gone (to the field) to work, when the father and mother

were working the field, (Hare) slaughtered those people's child, he slaughtered the child and cooked a pot full.'

dàbů,# m $\dot{a} = J\dot{a}$ # m $\dot{a} = b\dot{u}$ # dàbů,# (" $\hat{1}$...# tç $\check{1}\eta = b\dot{1}$ # nⁱò η s $\dot{2}$...")# (12)dəbů, ("î... tç $i\eta = bi$ dəbů, $m\hat{a} = i\hat{a}$ $m\hat{a} = bu$ n^jǒŋ sə...") then person = PL:GEN mother = TOP then INTJ child = DAT breast first lú pú# tá-tc^hón = sì tcàw, # lú pú# tá-tc^hôn, # lú pú $t \hat{a} - t c^h \hat{o} \eta = s i$ tçaw, lú pú tá-tchôŋ, work do UP-come:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY work do up-come:PFV:N.EGO "t¢ĭŋ = bì# n^jòŋ só# kì ¢á = sù, # n^jòŋ só kì "tçi $\eta = bi$ n^jðŋ sə kĭ $c\hat{a} = su$, n^jðŋ sə kĭ child = DAT breast first give.drink go = VOL:SG breast first give.drink ¢∂=sù" t¢w∂.# $c\hat{a} = su$ " t¢wð. go = VOL:SG say:PFV:N.EGO

'Then that mother said, "Iii... first feed the child...," she came back from working the field, she came back from working the field and said, "I will first go and feed the child, I will first go and feed it." '

"áw# n^jòn kí# mà = q^h ŭ# mà = q^h ŭ# mà = q^h ŭ,# é# çwín# (13)"aw n^jŏŋ $m\check{a} = q^{h}\check{u}$ $m\check{a} = q^{h}\check{u}$ kĭ mǎ=q^hǔ, é çwîŋ INTJ breast give.drink NEG = need NEG = need NEG = need 1SG lunch è-wè = séŋ,# çwíŋ sà# q^hà-dzá# nŏŋnòŋ# n^jŏŋ# \check{v} -w \check{v} = sen, çwîŋ sə q^hð-dzó nǒŋnòŋ n^jðŋ IN-prepare.food = PFV:EGO lunch first OUT-eat and.only.then breast kì có tà" tcw $\hat{a} = s\hat{i}.\#$ kĭ ¢á ta" t¢wð=si. give.drink go can say:PFV:N.EGO = INF '(Hare) said, "Oh, no need, no need, I have already cooked lunch,

dàbů# tçìŋ = g α # $_{12}$ = wù = bù# dàbů# bèjlá q^hà-dòŋ,# á-pù# (14)dəbŭ tcin = qæ $_{j\hat{a}} = wu = bu$ dəbů bejlá q^hð-dóŋ, â-pu $child = GEN \quad skin = in = TOP \quad then$ then chaff OUT-stuff that-under k^hà-zà kwêj.# k^hð-zð kwéj. OUT-sleep let:PFV:N.EGO

finish eating lunch first and then you can go feed the child."

'As for the child's skin, he had filled that with chaff and let it sleep under there.'

dàbů,# dzwá=sì tçàw;# dzwá=sì k^h ì=bù# dàbů,# (15) $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbù dəbů, $dzw\hat{a} = si$ tcaw. $dzw\hat{a} = si$ then eat:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY eat:PFV:N.EGO = INFtime = TOP then $m\dot{a} = q\dot{a}\# q^{h}w\dot{a} = w\dot{u} = b\dot{u}\# d\dot{a}b\dot{u},\# tc\dot{n} = q\dot{a}\# l\dot{a}ts\ddot{a}\# t^{j}\dot{o}\eta\#$ $m\hat{a} = qæ$ $q^h w \check{a} = w u = b u d \partial \check{b} \check{u}, t \check{c} \check{i} \eta = g \mathscr{R}$ latsð t^jôŋ mother = GEN bowl = in = TOP then child = GENfinger one:CLF:thing $k^{h}\partial tc^{h}\partial\eta$, # "î...# ℓ # $q^{h}w\dot{a} = w\dot{u}$ # lats $\dot{a} = ti k^{h}\dot{a} - tc^{h}\partial\eta$, # míŋ dz \dot{a} " k^hð-t¢^hòŋ, "î... é $q^h w \check{a} = w u \quad lats \check{a} = t i$ k^hð-t¢^hòŋ mîŋ dzê" OUT-appear INTJ 1SG bowl = in finger = INDF OUT-appear what be $tcw \hat{a} = s\hat{i} tc \hat{a}w.\#$ t¢wð = si tcaw. say:PFV:N.EGO = INF HSY 'So (she) ate. When (she) was eating, one of the child's fingers turned up in mother's bowl. "Iih!.. a finger turned up in my bowl, what is that?!" she said.' (16)"âw# èkáw-bà# jèpú# ìŋ-bá# "aw ekâw-ba jepú ĭŋ-ba INTJ uncle(MB)-household:GEN rooster 1.INCL-household:GEN lì dz
 t
 c
 h
 on# lĭ dzá tc^hôŋ sundried.grain eat come:PFV:N.EGO $\dot{\mathbf{e}} = \mathbf{n}\mathbf{i}\# \mathbf{p}\mathbf{u}\mathbf{n}\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j}\# \mathbf{t}\mathbf{e}-\mathbf{p}^{h}\mathbf{e}\mathbf{j} = \mathbf{e}\mathbf{i}\mathbf{n}\mathbf{e}-\mathbf{s}\mathbf{e}\# \mathbf{k}^{h}\mathbf{e}-\mathbf{t}\mathbf{i}\#\mathbf{n}\mathbf{e},$ é=ni $p = n \hat{p} + n \hat{p} + c \hat{p}$ ně-sě k^hǎ-tǐ ĥa 1SG = AGTtoday one-CLF:shot = LIM.TOP DOWN-hit OUT-put LINK

dàbú# è-qú=sèŋ# $t_i = g a t_i^h dz d$ " tçwà=sì tçàw.# dəbǔ ě-qû=seŋ, $t_i = g a t_i^h dz \hat{a} f a$ " tçwà=si tçaw. then IN-cook=PFV:EGO chicken=GEN foot be CORR say:PFV:EGO=INF HSY

""Oh, the rooster of uncle's household came over to eat out sundried grain, so today I killed (him) off in just one shot and then cooked him; it is the chicken's foot!" he said.'

(17) $d\partial b\check{u} \# q^{h}\partial - dzw \partial = si tc \partial = d\check{u}w. \#$ $d\partial b\check{u} q^{h}\partial - dzw \partial = si tc \partial = daw.$ then OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO = INF say = IPFV:N.EGO

'Then (she) finished eating, it is said.'

 q^{h} à-dzwá k^{h} ì = nòŋ = bù# dàbǔ,# tçìŋ nⁱóŋ kí (18) $k^{h}i = no\eta = bu$ dəbǔ tçìn n^jón q^hð-dzwô kí time = only = TOP then child breast give.drink OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO nè-sèj k^hì = nòn, # ní# té-tsì = cì# p^hán ně-sêj $k^{h}i = no\eta$, $n\hat{i}$ $ti-ts\hat{i} = ci$ p^hâŋ DOWN-go:PFV:N.EGO time = only LOG one-CLF:jump = LIM.TOP flee:PFV:N.EGO séj# fià,# t^hùlì=gôŋ.# ĥa, $t^{h}uli = qo\eta$. sêj go:PFV:N.EGO LINK hare = AGT

'When (she) had eaten, when (she) went to feed the child, he himself fled in just one jump, that Hare.'

dəb \check{u} # m \check{a} # t^h \check{v} -t ς i η ,# t^h \check{u} # m \check{a} = ς i,# " \check{a} wh \check{a} w,# t ς i η # (19) t^hě-t¢íŋ, t^hû dəbŭ mâ $m\check{a} = c\check{i}$, "áwhǎw, tçĭŋ mother FR.SP-see solution NEG = EXIST.AB child then INTJ $q^{h} \hat{\partial} + f s^{h} w \hat{\partial} = s \hat{i}^{"} t c \hat{\partial} . \#$ $q^{h} \tilde{\partial} - t s^{h} w \hat{\partial} = s i^{"}$ tcð. OUT-slaughter:PFV:N.EGO = INF say

'Then mother saw (her child) but there was no solution, "Oh! My child has already been slaughtered," she said.'

(20) $ni = b\dot{u} # d\dot{e}b\check{u} # t\acute{e}-s\acute{e}j # d\acute{e}b\check{u} # tí-q^hwá # g\acute{u}tàpág = t^jác q^h\dot{u} #$ dəbů tí-q^hwa q^hu $n\hat{i} = bu$ dəbů tá-sêj qutap $\dot{e}\eta = t^{j}e$ LOG = TOP then UP-go:PFV:N.EGO then up-on:GEN flat.stone = INDF:GEN top dòbǔ# "tçìŋ-só dzó# hà lⁱéj lⁱéj,# tçìŋ-tó gú# hà lⁱéj lⁱéj" tçò# dəbŭ "t¢ĭŋ-sə̂ dzá hà lⁱéj lⁱéj, t¢ĭŋ-ţâ qù fià lⁱéj lⁱéj" t¢ð then child-meat eat INTJ child-skin wear INTJ say $d\dot{u} = s\dot{i} tc\dot{a} = d\dot{a}w.#$ $d\hat{u} = si$ $tc \tilde{a} = daw.$ say = IPFV:N.EGO call = INF

'He himself (= Hare) went upwards to the top of a flat rock and called out, "Eat child meat nanana, wear child skin nanana!" '

(21) d\u00ebb\u00eb\u00ebu\u00ebm l^j\u00e9tc\u00eb^h\u00eb p\u00eb, \u00eb d\u00ebb\u00eb\u00eb t^h\u00eb m\u00eb d\u00ebb\u00eb t^h\u00eb\u00eb m\u00ebb\u00eb t^h\u00eb m\u00eb m\u00eb e \u00ebl\u00ebb\u00eb t^h\u00eb m\u00ebb\u00ebb\u00ebb t^h\u00eb m\u00ebb\u00ebb m\u00ebb\u00ebb t^h\u00ebb m\u00ebb m\u00ebb e \u00ebb\u00ebb t^h\u00ebb m\u00ebb m\u00ebb e \u00ebb e \u00ebb i \u00ebb t^h\u00ebb m\u00ebb m\u00ebb e \u00ebb i \u00ebb i \u00ebb i \u00ebb i \u00ebb m\u00ebb i \u00ebb i \u00ebb

 $d\partial b\check{u} # \check{e}_{1}s^{h}w\check{e}_{1}s^{h}w\check{e}_{1} = bi# pájáw s\acute{e}_{1} = si.#$ (22)ets^hwæŋts^hwěŋ = bi pájaw $s\hat{\epsilon}j = si$ magpie = DATdivinate go:PFV:N.EGO = INF 'Then (they) went to the magpie for divination.' \dot{v}_{1}^{h} wàng s^hwàn = gón # dòbǔ, # pá # nè-Jáw k^hì = bù, # (23) $ets^hwants^hwanter = qon dəbu, pa$ ně-jáw $k^{h}i = bu$. magpie = AGT then prayer.flag DOWN-divinate time = TOP "î...# nìŋ-bú# dèbǔ,# ¿ú-déj# dèbǔ,# sòŋ-çǐ# jèj î nǐŋ-bʉ dəbů, Júdej dəbů, sǒŋ-çǐ jěj 2-household then pine.resin then three-CLF:liter bring INTJ $ki\eta \# e = q e j$ " tc w e = si. # $\hat{\mathbf{e}} = \mathbf{q} \mathbf{\epsilon} \mathbf{j},$ " t $\mathbf{c} \mathbf{w} \hat{\mathbf{d}} = \mathbf{s} \mathbf{i}.$ kĭŋ Q = EXPT say: PFV: N.EGO = INF can:EGO:2PL 'When the magpie practiced divination (he) said, "Iih!...Will your household be able to bring three liters of pine resin?" ' "sòŋ-cǐ# jèj Jácì# mà=qéj" tçwá.# (24) "sǒŋ-cǐ jácí mă=qej," tçwě. jěj three-CLF:liter bring can NEG = EXPT say:PFV:N.EGO "(We) won't be able to bring three liters," (they) said." (25)"nǒŋ# sòŋ-dwěŋ# jèj kíŋ# é=qèj" "nǒŋ sǒŋ-dwěŋ kĭŋ įčį $\hat{\mathbf{e}} = \mathbf{q} \mathbf{e} \mathbf{j}, \mathbf{\ddot{y}}$ three-CLF:measuring.cup bring can:EGO:2PL Q = EXPT SO t¢wà.# t¢wð. say:PFV:N.EGO "In that case will (you) be able to bring three measuring cups?" (the magpie) said.' "sòn-dwèn=lá# t^hwé zócì# mà=qéj" t¢wó.# (26)"sŏŋ-dwěŋ = la t^hwé zácĭ mǎ=qɛj," t¢wð. three-CLF:measuring.cup = also find can NEG = EXPT say:PFV:N.EGO

' "(We) won't be able to bring three measuring cups either," (they) said.'

- "nǒŋ# sòŋ-q^hwǎ# jèj kíŋ# $\acute{e} = qèj$ " tçè k^hì = bù,# (27) "nǒŋ sǒŋ-q^hwǎ t¢ \check{a} k^hi = bu, jěj kĭŋ $\hat{\mathbf{e}} = \mathbf{q} \mathbf{\epsilon} \mathbf{j}, \mathbf{\ddot{q}}$ so three-CLF:bowl bring can:EGO:2PL Q = EXPT say time = TOP "sòŋ-q^hwà = bú# jèj $_{j}$ jéj $_{j}$ jéj $_{j}$ tçwà.# "sŏŋ-q^hwă = bu jěj Jącį = dei". t¢wð. three-CLF:bowl = TOP bring can = EXPTsay:PFV:N.EGO "When (he) said, "Will (you) be able to bring three bowls then?" (they) said, "(We) will be able to bring three bowls."
- dəbu# son-qhwa# dəbu,# də-jwej khi=bu,# son-qhwa# (28)dəbů, dð-jwěj dəbů sŏŋ-q^hwă $k^{h}i = bu$. sŏŋ-q^hwă then three-CLF:bowl then TO.SP-get time=TOP three-CLF:bowl t^h \dot{v} - $\dot{v$ t^hě-jendí dəbů, "fiǎw-tə́ $s \delta \eta - q^h w \delta = b u$ dəbů seŋbů three-CLF:bowl = TOP then tomorrow FR.SP-seek then that-this nùsén = bù# dèbǔ,# t^hùlǐ# ně-#mí = z \Rightarrow k^hì = n^jæ# \Rightarrow -q^hwà,# t^hulĭ ně-mí=zð $k^{h}i = n^{j}a$ â-q^hwa, nusén = budəbů, morning = TOP then hare DOWN-NEG:PFV = come time = just that-top:GEN $q\hat{u}t\dot{a}p\dot{e}\eta = q\dot{e} q^{h}\dot{u}\# k^{h}\dot{e}-tci ci\eta\# s\hat{e}$ " $tcw\dot{e}=si.\#$ $gutap \neq gutap$ q^hu k^hð-tçì sæ" çîŋ $tcw \tilde{d} = si.$ flat.stone = GEN top OUT-pour go:IMP:PL CONFIRM say:PFV:N.EGO = INF 'Then when they had sought and brought three bowls (of pine resin), (the

magpie) said, "As for these three bowls, go and pour them on top of that flat stone over there early tomorrow morning when Hare has not come down yet, okay?" '

```
dəbǔ# -qhù# kh-tri# kh-co kwêj;# dəbǔ# -qhù#
(29)
          dəbů â-q<sup>h</sup>u
                                  k<sup>h</sup>ð-tçì
                                                   k<sup>h</sup>ð-¢ð
                                                                kwêj;
                                                                                      dəbů â-q<sup>h</sup>u
          then that-top OUT-pour OUT-go let:PFV:N.EGO then
                                                                                                that-top
          k^{h}à-tçwí k^{h}ì = bù# dàbǔ,# "tçìŋ-sá dzá# fià l<sup>j</sup>éj l<sup>j</sup>éj,# tçìŋ-tá
          k<sup>h</sup>ð-t¢wĭ
                                         k^{h}i = bu
                                                        dəbů "tçiŋ-şə
                                                                                   dzá fià l<sup>i</sup>éj l<sup>j</sup>éj, t¢ĭŋ-<sub>4</sub>â
          OUT-pour:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP then child-meat eat INTJ
                                                                                                           child-skin
          gú# fià l<sup>j</sup>éj l<sup>j</sup>éj" tç\partial# \partial-q<sup>h</sup>\dot{u}# ts\dot{a}=d\dot{o}ŋ tçw\dot{a}=sì d\dot{a}w
          qù
                   hà l<sup>j</sup>éj l<sup>j</sup>éj" t¢ð ô-q<sup>h</sup>u
                                                        ts<sup>2</sup> = don
                                                                                       tçwð si daw
          wear INTJ
                                    say that-top jump = IPFV:EGO:1SG say
                                                                                                EPIST: probably
          k^{h}i = b\dot{u}, \# ts\dot{a} = d\dot{o}\eta tc\dot{a} k^{h}i = n\dot{o}\eta \# \dot{a} - q^{h}\dot{u} \dot{e} - d\dot{e}j
                            ts\hat{a} = don
                                                                                       â-q<sup>h</sup>u
          k^{h}i = bu,
                                                            tçð
                                                                    k^{h}i = no\eta
                                                                                                    ě-děj
          time = TOP
                            jump = IPFV:EGO:1SG say
                                                                    time = only that-on IN-stick
          pà.#
          pâ.
          do:pfv:n.ego
```

'Then they poured (the pine resin) on top (of that flat stone). After (they) had poured it on top, when (Hare called out), "Eat child's meat nanana, wear child's skin nanana!," (he was) jumping on top. As (he) was jumping, (he) got stuck on top.' (30) d ∂ bů# t ∂ -bǒŋ# t ∂ -sɛ̀j# fià# d ∂ -z ∂ k^h ∂ -twǐ;#

dəbů tá-bon tá-sêj ĥa dð-zð k^hð-twí; then 3-household:AGT UP-go:PFV:N.EGO LINK TO.SP-catch OUT-put:PFV:N.EGO $d\hat{a}-z\hat{a}\# k^{h}\hat{a}-twi k^{h}\hat{a}=b\hat{u}\# d\hat{a}b\check{u},\# ``\hat{a}j\hat{u},\# t\check{a}=b\hat{u}\#$ dð-zá k^hð-twì $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbù "ôju, tǎ=bu TO.SP-catch OUT-put:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP then INTJ now = TOPnìŋ-bóŋní# dàbǔ# é k^hùdú# pú=ní# pú=qêj,# dàbǔ# jǎw# dəbů é k^hudú nĭŋ-boŋni $p\dot{\mathbf{u}} = n\mathbf{i}$ $p\dot{\mathbf{u}} = q\epsilon \mathbf{j},$ dəbů jàw 2-household:AGT then 1SG torment do = ADD.FOC do = EXPT then again $p \acute{u} = l \acute{a} = b \grave{u} # d \grave{b} \check{u} # t^h \acute{u} # m \grave{a} = c \grave{i} k^h \grave{i} = b \grave{u} # d \grave{b} \check{u}, # \acute{e} = b \acute{u} #$ $p\hat{\mathbf{u}} = l\mathbf{a} = b\mathbf{u}$ dəbů t^hû $m\dot{a} = c\check{i}$ $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbů, é=bu do = also = TOP then solution NEG = EXIST.AB time = TOP then 1sg = TOPdəbu# niŋ-ba# $i = q^h u # t - i q^h u, # n^i u c u = t^i$ dəbù niŋ-ba $q^{h}\check{u}, n^{j}uc\check{u} = t^{j}a$ $ji = q^h u$ tá-jù then 2-household:GEN drying.rack = on UP-suspend POL leather.bag = INDF:GEN wú nè-kì,# \dot{a} -wù# \dot{a} ts \dot{a} = tì = nò η = bù,# (\dot{a} ... \dot{a})# gwìdⁱo η = tí# wu ně-kí, ô-wu j \hat{a} ts \hat{a} = ti = no η = bu, $(\hat{a}...\hat{a})$ gwid^jóŋ = ti interior DOWN-put.in that-in knife = INDF = COORD = TOP INTJ pestle = INDF nè-kǐ,# dòbǔ# pépù = bù# dòbǔ# Jágì = tì è-tì# dòbǔ,# dəbǔ pêpu=bu dəbǔ Jâqi=ti ě-tí ně-kí. dəbů, DOWN-put.in then bottom = TOP then big.wok = INDF IN-put then ts^{h} $\partial p \epsilon j \# \dot{v} - t \check{i}, \# t \acute{a} - l^{j} \dot{u} = n^{j} \dot{w} \# d \dot{a} b \check{u} \# \acute{a} + j \dot{u} = n^{j} \dot{w} \# d \dot{a} b \check{u} \# \acute{a} + j \dot{u} = n^{j} \dot{w} \# d \dot{a} b \check{u} \# \acute{a} + j \dot{u} = n^{j} \dot{w} \# d \dot{a} b \check{u} \# \acute{a} + j \dot{u} = n^{j} \dot{w} \# d \dot{a} b \check{u} \# \acute{a} + j \dot{u} = n^{j} \dot{w} \# d \dot{a} b \check{u} \# \acute{a} + j \dot{u} = n^{j} \dot{w} \# d \dot{a} b \check{u} \# \acute{a} + j \dot{u} = n^{j} \dot{w} \# d \dot{a} b \check{u} \# \acute{a} + j \dot{u} = n^{j} \dot{w} \# d \dot{a} b \check{u} \# \acute{a} + j \dot{u} = n^{j} \dot{w} \# d \dot{a} b \check{u} \# \acute{a} + j \dot{u} = n^{j} \dot{w} \# d \dot{a} b \check{u} \# \dot{a} + j \dot{u} = n^{j} \dot{w} \# d \dot{a} b \check{u} \# d \dot{a} + j \dot{u} = n^{j} \dot{w} \# d \dot{a} b \check{u} \# d \dot{a} + j \dot{u} = n^{j} \dot{w} \# d \dot{u} + n^{j$ ţs^həpέj ě-tǐ, $t\hat{\partial} - l^{j}\hat{u} = n^{j}\hat{w}$ dəbů é ô-pu ně-dà boiling.water IN-put UP-boil = just then 1sg that-under DOWN-drop pù# nè-sà pú=sú" tçwà.# pú ně-sð $p\hat{\mathbf{u}} = s\mathbf{u}$ tcwð do DOWN-die do=VOL:SG say:PFV:N.EGO

'Then that household went and caught him. When they had caught him, (Hare) said, "Oh, now your household will certainly give me a lot of trouble, and then I have no solution. So please hang me from the top of your drying rack (above the fireplace), put (me) inside a leather bag, put a knife and a pestle in there, and then put a big wok on the fire under it, put water on the boil, and as soons as it boils, I will drop myself and make myself die under there." '

"dəb \check{u} # ts \check{u} -ko η = g \check{x} # p \acute{e} p \check{u} = b \check{u} # d \check{e} b \check{u} ,# d \check{e} = t \check{u} n \check{e} -ts \check{i} ,# (31) "dəbů tsů-k $\delta\eta = qæ$ pêpu = bu dəbů, $q^h \hat{e} = ti$ ně-tsì, then side.room-door = GEN bottom = TOP then spike = INDF DOWN-erect $q\acute{e}-b\grave{u}=ti k^{h}\ddot{e}-ti;\# (tc\grave{m}\acute{a}-k\acute{o}\eta=g\grave{a} m\grave{a}...)\#$ $q\hat{z}j-b\hat{u}=ti$ k^hð-tǐ; (tc = ga)mæ...) dung-pile = INDF OUT-put central.room-door = GEN tçəmá-kóŋ = wù = là# hèsě# né# t^hé-pú# k^hè-tǐ;# dèbǔ# ní = bù# $tc = ma - k\delta \eta = wu = la$ t^hě-pú k^hð-tľ: hesð ná d = b ucentral.room-door = in = also still thus FR.SP-do OUT-put then LOG = TOPdàbů# ts^{h} àpéj# ts^{i} = wù# nè-dá,# nú# k^{h} à-cà = lá# hèsá# dəbů ts^həpéj $j\hat{e}j = wu$ ně-dà, nû $k^{h} \tilde{\partial} - c \hat{\partial} = la$ hesð then boiling.water cooking.pot = in DOWN-drop outside OUT-go = also Ch:still fsăwjæŋ# q^hé = tù nè-tsèŋ# nè-sè = qéj" tçwè.# $q^{h}\hat{e} = tu$ ně-tséŋ tsăwjæŋ $n\check{v}-s\check{o}=q\epsilon j$ " t¢wð. Ch:as.before spike = on DOWN-fall.down DOWN-die = EXPT say: PFV:N.EGO

"Then put a spike at the bottom of the side room door and also a pile of dung, and do the same for the door of the main room. Even though I myself drop in the pot with boiling water and (manage to) get out, I will still fall on the spike and die."

dàbǔ,# dàbǔ# sùn^já sún^jà# tè-q^hwǎ# (tç^hì...) (32) tǐ-q^hwǎ dəbů, dəbů sů-n^jð sǔ-n^jð $(tc^{h}i...)$ then then hemp-roasted.grain hemp-roasted.grain one-CLF:bowlfeed dà-tc^hǐ;# dàbǔ,# sùn^já sún^já# tè-q^hwǎ# dàbǔ# tǐ-q^hwǎ dð-t¢^hĭ; dəbů, sů-n^jě sù-n^jà dəbŭ TO.SP-feed then hemp-roasted.grain hemp-roasted.grain one-CLF:bowl then $\dot{e} = bi\# d\partial - tc^{h}i\# n^{j}\dot{u}c\dot{u} = g\dot{o}\eta\# d\partial b\check{u}\# J\dot{u} = q^{h}\dot{u}\# t\dot{o}-J\dot{u}$ é=bi dð-t¢hĭ dəbů $J_{i}^{i} = q^{h}u$ n^juçŭ = goŋ tá-<u>j</u>ù 1SG = DAT TO.SP-feed leather.bag = INS then drying.rack = on UP-suspend q^hù" t¢wà.# q^hů" t¢wð. POL say:PFV:N.EGO

"Then give a bowl of roasted hemp seeds, give me a bowl of roasted hemp seeds, and tie me onto the rack with a leather bag/in a leather bag, please," he said."

'Then when (Hare) said, "Njam, njam, njam, is the water boiling?" (they) answered: "It's not boiling." '

(34) dòbů,# "n^jájóŋ# n^jájóŋ# n^jájóŋ# tş^hòpéj# l^jú# é=dàw" tçò k^hì=là,#
dobů, "n^jájoŋ n^jájoŋ n^jájoŋ tş^hopéj l^jú ê=daw" tçö k^hi=la,
then INTJ INTJ INTJ boiling.water boil Q=IPFV:N.EGO say time=also
"l^jú# mà=dáw" tçò.#
"l^jú mǎ=daw" tçö.
boil NEG=IPFV:N.EGO say

'Then when (Hare) said, "Njam, njam, njam, is the water boiling?" (they) answered: "It's not boiling." '

'Then when he said for the third time, "Njam, njam, njam, is the water boiling?" they answered: "It's boiling now." '

" l^{j} ú = dáw" tçè k^hì = nòŋ# áwà, # n^jùçù-pé# áwà# Játsè = gòŋ# (36) "l^jú = daw" tçă $k^{h}i = no\eta$ âwa, n^juçǔ-pé $\hat{a}wa , \hat{a}tsa = gon$ boil=IPFV:N.EGO say time=only CMX leather.bag-bottom CMX knife=INS té-jè = cì = bù# gwìd^jóŋ# \Rightarrow wà# nè-dǐ# nè-c \Rightarrow ti-je = ci = bugwid^jóŋ âwa ně-dĭ ně-cá one-CLF:cut = LIM.TOP = TOP pestle CMX DOWN-throw DOWN-go kwéj# hà# m \hat{a} = \hat{a} # $\hat{s}^{h}\hat{a}p\hat{e}\hat{j}$ - $\hat{i}\hat{e}\hat{j}$ # n \hat{e} - $\hat{t}\hat{e}\hat{j}$ # ĥa kwéj $m\hat{a} = j\hat{a}$ ts^həpéi-jêi ně-tén let:PFV:N.EGO LINK person = PL:GEN boiling.water-cooking.pot DOWN-break nè-cə kwéj# fia# jèhă# l^jwètsəjón# tə-tsə kwej# kwéj ně-cá kwéj ĥa jehă l^jwetsə_lóŋ tá-†sô DOWN-go let:PFV: N.EGO LINK all glowing.ember UP-jump let:PFV:N.EGO ha # méqé-ba # (swén = non) # má(= non, #méqe-ba $(sw\hat{a}\eta = no\eta)$ ĥa $m\hat{a}(=no\eta,$ LINK family-household: GEN father = COORD mother = COORD t^{i} óŋ) ((=bù))# tsù-kóŋ=wù è-p^hìŋ# è-séj k^hì=là# $t^{i}\hat{o}\eta$ = ((bu)) $ts\check{u}-k\check{o}\eta = wu$ ě-p^hìn ě-sêj $k^{h}i = la$ one:CLF:thing = TOP side.room-door = in IN-flee IN-go:PFV:N.EGO time = also $q\acute{e}-b\dot{u} = t\dot{u}\# t^{h}\dot{e}-dw\acute{e}j\# q^{h}\acute{e} = t\dot{u}$ n \dot{e} -ts $\dot{e}\eta\#$ n \dot{e} -s \dot{e} kw $\acute{e}j,\#$ $q\hat{e}j-b\hat{u}=t\hat{u}$ $t^{h}\check{e}$ - $dw\hat{e}j$ $q^{h}\acute{e} = t\hat{u}$ ně-tsén kwéj; dung-pile = on FR.SP-slip spike = on DOWN-fall.down let:PFV:N.EGO (nǒŋ# dòbǔ# tçòmá-kóŋ = wù# k^hù-dzì k^hó-p^híŋ# q^hò-séj,# k^hð-p^hìŋ q^hð-sêj (nǒŋ dəbǔ tcəmá-kŏŋ = wu k^hŭ-dzi two then central.room-door = in out-location OUT-flee OUT-go:PFV:N.EGO $k^{h}i = la$), # swæŋ# dəbŭ# $k^{h}u$ -dzi $q^{h}a - p^{h}an k^{h}i = la$ # $k^{h}i = la$) swâŋ dəbǔ k^hǔ-dzi q^hð-p^hâŋ $k^{h}i = la$. time = also father then out-direction OUT-flee:PFV:N.EGO time = also hèsǎ# $q^{h}é = tù$ nè-tsèn# nè-sà kwéj.# $q^{h} \acute{e} = t \hat{u}$ ně-sð heşð ně-tsén kwéj Ch:still spike = on DOWN-fall DOWN-die let:PFV:N.EGO

'When (they) said, "It's boiling," LOOK! (Hare) used the knife, LOOK! to cut the bottom of the leather bag in just one cut, LOOK! let the pestle fall down; (he) let their cooking pot with boiling water break; (he) let all the glowing embers jump up; when the (father and) mother (one of them) fled inwards to the side room door, (he) let (her) slip on the dung pile and fall on the spike. When [two (of them) fled outwards to the door of the central room...] when the father fled outwards, (Hare) also caused (him) to fall down on the spike and die.'

dòbů,# méqé-b \dot{u} # n \dot{e} -ts \dot{e} = g \dot{e} # n \dot{e} -s \dot{e} kwéj,# d \dot{e} bů# (37) dəbů, méqe-bu $n\tilde{a}$ -ts \hat{a} = g \hat{a} ně-sð kwéj, dəbŭ then family-household two-CLF:person = DEF DOWN-die let:PFV:N.EGO then ní# té-ţs ∂ = ci# kõŋ = wi# q^h ∂ -si= si tcaw.# $k \check{o} \eta = w u \quad q^h \check{e} - s \hat{e} j = s i$ nî tǐ-tsə̂ = çi tçaw LOG one-CLF:jump = LIM.TOP door = in OUT-go:N.EGO PFV = INF HSY 'Then (he) let the two people of that household die, and he himself went in

just one jump through the door, it is said.'

YJ01: 'Mushroom-poisoning' (personal experience monologue)

A personal experience in which the speaker recounts the time she and a group of friends saved the lives of three people who were poisoned by a mushroom.

(1)	Į∋́-kʰì# d∋̀bŭ# èmá# mì qʰá ¢∋́ kʰì=bù,#
	lê-khi dəbü smâ mĭ qhà cé khi=bu,
	front-time then aunt edible.fungus pick go time = TOP
	sə̀qú# ŋwé kù tù# çə́=sêŋ.# səqú ŋwê-kû=tû çə́=seŋ. thirty five-CLF:year=on go=PFV:EGO
	'In the past, when a unt (= I) went mushroom picking, (she) went at 35 years (of age).'
(2)	mì q ^h á# tớ-ç $ k^{h}i = b\dot{u}, # d b \check{u}# \acute{e} = \iota d # h d t c^{h}I# z \acute{e} - n \acute{o} n #$ mǐ q ^h à tớ-cớ k ^h i = bu, d b č é = \iota h d t c^{h}I z ĉ - n ô n edible.fungus pick up-go time = TOP then 1 = PL provision four-CLF:day
	ŋwé-ŋòŋ = gæ# nè-kú# tá-çà. ŋwê-ŋôŋ = gæ ně-kù tá-çá. five-CLF:day = GEN DOWN-carry.on.back UP-go
	'When (we) went mushroom picking, we went carrying provisions for four or five days.'

(3) dàbů# tá-çà# gòŋn^jà-bá dzí tà $k^{h}i = bù#$ dəbǔ tá-çá goŋn^jǎ-ba dzi $k^{h}i = bu$ tă then UP-go Nuòsū-household:GEN location arrive time=TOP d ∂b ú-n^j $\partial #$ $\partial -dz$ i# cwín# q^h $\partial -dz$ $\partial .#$ dəbù-n^jə -dzi cwîŋ q^hð-dzó. then-near that-location lunch OUT-eat 'Then (we) went up and arrived at the Nuòsū household's (we) ate lunch there.' dàbů# $cwi\eta$ # q^{h} à-dzá# tá-cà k^{h} ì = bù# dàbů# tí- q^{h} ú# ts^hí-téj# (4) dəbů çwîn q^hð-dztt-ck^hi = bu dəbǔ tí-q^hu ts^hí-téj then lunch OUT-eat UP-go time = TOP then up-on meadow-big tá-tâ.# tá-tǎ. **UP-arrive** 'After having eaten lunch and having gone up, (we) arrived at a meadow.' (5) ts^hí-téj# dèbŭ# jèhă# b \mathbf{u} # mí = l \mathbf{u} # j \mathbf{a} w# mǐ t \mathbf{i} # ts^hí-téj dəbů, jehǎ bú mí=lù jăw tĭ mĭ meadow-big then all sun NEG:PFV = set.of.sun again edible.fungus one t^hè-q^há ¢à.# t^hě-q^hà cź. FR.SP-pick go 'At the meadow, when the sun had not set yet, everybody went picking mushrooms.' (6) dəbu# də-zə# nonnon# mətchi# the-dzu# qhə-dzə.# mətc^hî t^hě-dzù dəbů dð-zð nǒŋnòŋ q^hð-dzó. then TO.SP-come and.only.then dinner FR.SP-make OUT-eat 'Then, only after coming back from that (we) cooked dinner and ate.' dàbů# màtc^hí# q^hà-dzâ,# dàbů# jǎw,# cwíp^há=bù# jǎw,# (7) dəbǔ mətç^hî q^hð-dzó, dəbǔ jǎw, ¢wíp^ha=bu jǎw, then dinner OUT-eat then again night = TOPagain gwà = dwèŋ tçô.# gwě = dweŋ tcð. sing = IPFV:EGO:N.SG say 'After having eaten dinner, in the evening, (we) sang.'

tⁱóŋ# tⁱóŋ# Jòŋbá pú# gwǎ,# èmá=bù# dèbǔ# gwà (8) t^jôŋ jonbá pú gwě, t^jôŋ emâ = bu dəbů qwě one:CLF:thing one:CLF:thing in.turn do sing aunt = TOP then sing $(t^{h} \acute{o} \eta) ((t c \acute{a})) \# m \grave{a} = d \acute{a} w. \#$ (t^hǒŋ) ((tçǎ)) $m\check{a} = daw.$ be.able:N.EGO be.able:EGO:1 NEG = IPFV:N.EGO 'One by one (we) sang in turn; aunt (= I) did not dare to sing.' (9) $\dot{v}m\dot{a}# d\dot{v}b\check{u}# gw\check{a}# (m\dot{a}=t^{h}\check{o}\eta) ((mi=tc\hat{a}));# d\dot{v}b\check{u}# \dot{v}w\dot{a}# \dot{v}m\dot{a}=n\dot{o}\eta#$ emâ dəbǔ gwǎ mǎ=thǒŋ dəbŭ ð-wα emâ = noŋ aunt then sing NEG = dare:N.EGO then this-in:GEN aunt = COORD t $\dot{a} = J\check{o}\eta n\dot{a}, \# "n\dot{a}\eta = b\acute{u}\# d\dot{a}b\check{u}\# f^{h}\acute{o}\eta\# g\acute{a} = f\acute{a} = l\dot{a}\# gw\check{a}\#$ "nı́n=bu dəbǔ t^hôn $q \neq a = la$ $t \neq j = j = \eta n \eta$ qwě this = PL:AGT 2SG = TOP then voice beautiful = SVM = also sing $m\dot{a} = t^{h}\check{o}\eta, \# l^{j}\check{e}m\check{a}t\dot{a}, "tc\dot{a}, \# \dot{e} = bi\# n\acute{a}tc\acute{a} = d\dot{a}w, \#$ $m\check{a} = t^{h}\check{o}n$ l^{j} ěmătà," tçě, é = bi $tc \tilde{a} = daw$, ná NEG = dare:N.EGO useless say = IPFV:N.EGO say 1SG = DATthus d ∂b ŭ# gwa J ∂ = mí = cî.# dəbů qwě $J \check{a} = m i = c \check{i}$. then sing can = NEG:PFV = can

'Aunt (=I) did not dare to sing, so this aunt here and the others said (to me), "Your voice is beautiful, but (you) don't dare to sing, that's of no use." Thus they spoke to me, but I could not sing.'

(10) d\u00f6b\u00ed # \u00f6-k^\u00ed i # t\u00ed d\u00ed b\u00ed # t\u00ed u = g\u00ed = b\u00ed # d\u00e6b\u00ed # t\u00ed u\u00ed # t\u00ed u u = g\u00ed = b\u00ed # d\u00e6b\u00ed # t\u00ed u\u00ed # t\u00ed u u t\u00ed f\u00ed u u t\u00ed f\u00ed f\u00ed f\u00ed u u t\u00ed f\u00ed f\u00ed f\u00ed u u t\u00ed f\u00ed f\u0ed f\u00ed f\u0ed f\u00ed f\u

'That particular time (we) did not come (down) home at all.'

(11) èmá# sénóŋ = nòŋ# dèbǔ# qèmáŋ# wútçí = bì# hàtç^hí# té-jéj kèj.#
emâ sénoŋ = noŋ dəbǔ qă-mâŋ wútçi = bi hatç^hí té-jěj aunt Sanong = COORD then down-below Ch:Wujin = DAT provisions UP-get kéj.

let

'(We) let Aunt Sanong and Wujin from downstairs bring up provisions.'

- (12) \$\[\delta-q^h\u00fc\u00eft\u00eff\u00eft\u00eft\u00eft\u00eff\u0
- (13)dàbů# $4 - q^h u dz \partial n k^h = b u # dabů, # (...) <math>4 - q^h u # g \partial n^j x # u w b$ dəbů, (...) \hat{a} -q^hu dəbů â-q^hu $dz \delta \eta k^h i = b u$ qonn^jž _Jwě then that-top sit time = top thenthat-top Nuòsū yak $li-m\dot{a} = l\dot{a}\# lw\dot{e}, \# lw\dot{e}mi\# n\check{o}n\# n\dot{e}-mi=si k^{h}i=bu\#$ jwé, jwemí nŏŋ ně-mì=si $k^{h}i = bu$ lǐ-mə = ıæ herd-NMLZ=PL:GEN yak female.yak two DOWN-mislay=INF time=TOP gwéŋ = góŋ nè-swè = sì.# qwein = qon ne-swein = si. bear = AGT DOWN-kill:PFV:N.EGO = INF

'Then when we were hanging out up there, two female yaks of the Nuòs \bar{u} yak herders up there got loose and were killed by a bear.'

(14) $gwén = gón \# nè sě \# dàbů \# lèndí k^hì = bù, \# dàbů # lèndí, \# t^jón = bù #$ $<math>gwén = gon ně sě dabů lendí k^hi = bu, dabů lendí, t^jôn = bu$ bear = AGT DOWN-kill then seek time = TOP then seek one:CLF:thing = TOP $dà-t^hwé k^hì = bù \# q^hà-dzá \# nè-ts^há pá = sì. \#$ $dǎ-t^hwé k^hi = bu q^hǎ-dzá ně-ts^há pâ = si.$ TO.SP-find time = TOP OUT-eat DOWN-be.finished do:PFV:N.EGO = INF

'They were killed by a bear and then when (people) were looking (for them) (they) found one, but (it) was already completely eaten.'

 t^{j} óŋ = bù# dèbǔ# zégì# mǔ# téj# dè-t^hwé k^hì = bù,# (15) t^{j} ô $\eta = bu$ dəbů zêqi mů têj dð-t^hwé $k^{h}i = bu$, one:CLF:thing = TOP then later corpse EXIST.H TO.SP-find time = TOP gònn^jà-bú# è-zó# fià# dòbǔ# ts^hó tc^hòn k^hì=bù,# goŋn^jǎ-bʉ ě-zð ĥa dəbů tş^hə̂ t¢^hôŋ $k^{h}i = bu$, Nuòsū-household IN-come LINK then slaughter come:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP tá-jánàn = sì# dàbů,# ts^há# mǎ = qà,# ní = jà# jànán-má# dzá# tá- $_{J}$ ən $\acute{e}\eta$ = si dəbů, ts^hâ $m\check{a} = q\acute{a},$ nî = Jə dzá Jənæn-mə UP-smelly = INF then slaughter NEG = can LOG = PL smelly-NMLZ eat $m\check{a} = w\check{e}\eta tc\check{a}w.\#$ mǎ = wêŋ tçaw. NEG = CUST.EXCL HSY

'When the other corpse was found later, and the Nuòsū household came up the valley to butcher it, it had become smelly, so they could not butcher it, they said that they are not able to eat smelly (meat).'

(16) $dz \dot{a} \# m \ddot{a} = w \dot{e} \eta t c \dot{a} \# d \dot{a} b \check{u} \# \dot{e} = J \check{a} \# w \dot{u} \# c w i \eta = t \dot{i} \# q^{h} \dot{a} - dz \dot{a} \#$

(17)
$$\varphi w i \eta = t i \# q^h \partial - g \xi j k^h i = b u \# d \partial b u - n^j \partial \# t \partial \#$$

 $\varphi w i \eta = t i q^h \partial - d z \partial q^h \partial - g \xi j k^h i = b u d \partial b u - n^j \partial t \partial$
 $l unch = INDF$ OUT-eat OUT-go:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP then-near this
 $i \phi \eta d \eta - m \partial \# n \partial - t s \partial \# d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} - m \partial \# n \partial - t s \partial \#$
 $i \phi \eta d \eta - m \partial n \partial - t s \partial = d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial + n \partial - t s \partial \#$
 $i \phi \eta d \eta - m \partial n \partial - t s \partial = d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial + n \partial - t s \partial \#$
 $i \phi \eta d \eta - m \partial n \partial - t s \partial = d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - t s \partial \#$
 $i \phi \eta d \eta - m \partial n \partial - t s \partial = d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial$
 $i \phi \eta d \eta - m \partial n \partial - t s \partial = d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial$
 $i \phi \eta d \eta - m \partial n \partial - t s \partial = d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial$
 $i \phi \eta d \eta - m \partial n \partial - t s \partial = d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial + d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial + d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial + d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial + d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial + d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial + d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial + d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial + d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial + d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial + d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial + d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial + d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial + d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial + d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial - m \partial - m \partial - t s \partial + d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - t s \partial + d z \partial t \varphi^h \dot{\alpha} + m \partial - m \partial -$

'After (they) had eaten some lunch and left, there were two people from the lowland, two or three people who were picking gentian.'

dàbů# tà-bù-sèn = bú# dàbů# tⁱón = bù# dàbů# ní = $_{1}$ à = bù# (18)dəbů t^{j} ôn = bu dəbů tá-bu-sen = bu dəbŭ $n\hat{i} = J\hat{e} = bu$ then 3-household-PART = TOP then one:CLF:thing = TOP then LOG = PL = TOPJənæŋ-mə# dzə weŋ tçə,# tə=bù# Jwemu=gə# Jendi **J**ən∕ຂີ່ມ−mອ dzá wêŋ t¢ð, tó=bu Įwé-mù=gə Jendí smelly-NMLZ eat CUST.EXCL say 3SG = TOP yak-corpse = DEF seek sĉj.# sêj. go:PFV:N.EGO

'Then, one of their group said that they were able to eat smelly meat, and he went off to look for the yak corpse.'

- Jèŋdí séj k^hì=bù# dèbŭ-né# té# Jwémú# t^hwé# (19) $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbù-nə tá jwé-mù t^hwé jendí sêj seek go:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP then-near this yak-corpse find mí = t^hôŋ,# dèbǔ# nè-cwí# n^jàqûqú t^hè-dòŋ.# $m_i = t^h \check{o} \eta$, dəbů ně-çwí n^jàguqu t^hě-dòŋ. NEG:PFV = can then DOWN-dark pitch.black FR.SP-become 'When (he) went to seek (the corpse), (he) could not find the vak corpse and then it became dark.'
- (20) dàbů# dà-t c^{h} óŋ k^hì = bù,# n^jùkpproxŋtcwìŋ dzà tcà# fià# dəbů dð-t¢^hôŋ $k^{h}i = bu$, n^jukântçwin dzâ tçă ĥa then TO.SP-come:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP Ch:king.boletus be say LINK mǐ# \dot{a} -tèj-m \dot{a} # t^j \dot{a} η # \dot{e} -p \dot{u} j \dot{u} # $q^{h}\dot{a}$ -dzw \dot{a} = sì.# mĭ $\hat{\partial}$ -téj = m ∂ t^jôŋ ě-púju q^{h} ð-dzw \hat{a} = si. edible.fungus that-big = NMZL one:CLF:thing IN-roast OUT-eat = INF'After (he) returned, (they) roasted and ate a mushroom this big called 'king boletus'.'
- (21) d\u00ebb\u00eb,# m\u00eb= n\u00fbnj# sw\u00ebn = g\u00fbnjn\u00eb# d\u00ebb\u00ebt # qh\u00eb= g\u00ebf qh\u00eb= d\u00ebb\u00eb = g\u00ebj ni d\u00ebb\u00eb qh\u00ebt = g\u00eb # qh\u00eb- dz\u00eb.#
 (21) d\u00ebb\u00ebb\u00eb, # m\u00ebb\u00eb = n\u00ebj m sw\u00ebm\u00ebn = g\u00ebj ni d\u00ebb\u00ebb\u00eb qh\u00ebb\u00eb = g\u00ebj m i d\u00ebb\u00ebb\u00ebb\u00eb qh\u00ebb\u00ebb = g\u00ebj m i d\u00ebb\u00ebb\u00ebb\u00ebb\u00ebb\u00ebj qh\u00ebb\u00ebb = g\u00ebj m i d\u00ebb\u00ebb\u00ebb\u00ebb\u00ebb\u00ebj qh\u00ebb\u00eb

- dàbů# má = $_{1}aa$ # $_{2}eg^{i}aa$ # dà- $_{2}a$ -má = $_{2}aa$ = bì = bù# dwan = $_{2}aa$ # (22) $z\hat{e}g^{j}ae^{j}dae^{j}ae^{j$ dəbů $m\hat{a} = i\hat{a}$ dw an = qathen person = PL:GEN later TO.SP-come-NMLZ = DEF = DAT = TOPtrunk = DEF q^{h} à-dzá q^{h} ú tçwà = sì, # "é# mǎ = (dzìŋ) ((dzàw))" tçà k^{h} ì = là, # q^{h} ð-dzó q^{h} ŭ t¢wð=si, "é mǎ=(dzîŋ) ((dzáw))" t¢ð $k^{h}i = la$, OUT-eat POL say: PFV: N.EGO = INF 1SG NEG = IMP: PL IMP: SG time = alsosay "q^hà-dzáw,# zóŋ# zǔ,"# tçwà=sì tçàw.# "q^hð-dzáw, zóŋ zů," tcwð = si tçaw. OUT-eat:IMP:SG delicious very say:PFV:N.EGO = INFHSY 'And they offered the stem to the other person who came later. When he said, "I won't eat it," it is said that they said, "Eat, it's delicious!" '
- (23) d\u00ebb\u00eb\u00eblu\u00eb q^h\u00eb-dz\u00eb k^h\u00ebl= b\u00eblu\
- (24)màdàlí = gá# sà Já# níŋ né-pà; # dàbǔ# zégì# tà-bǎ# níŋ ně-pâ; dəbů zêgi tá-ba first front sick DOWN-do:PFV:N.EGO then later 3-household:GEN girl = DEFswæŋ = g \neq # níŋ t^hé-tsèŋ, # dabů# m \neq = Jæ# t \neq # zégⁱæ# $sw\hat{e}\eta = g \partial n \eta t^{h} \check{e} t s \acute{e} \eta$, dəbů m $\hat{a} = i \hat{a}$ tá zêq^jæ father = DEF sick FR.SP-hit.target then person = PL:GEN this later:GEN $q^{h}\partial - dz \partial - m \partial = q \partial \# z eq i = n \partial \eta \# n i \eta \# t^{h} e - ts e \eta = si. \#$ $z\hat{e}gi = no\eta$ ní η t^hě-tsé $\eta = si$. $q^{h} \check{\partial} - dz \acute{\partial} - m \partial = g \partial$ OUT-eat-NMLZ = DEF later = only sick FR.SP-hit.target = INF 'First the little girl got sick; then her father got sick; only later the person who

'First the little girl got sick; then her father got sick; only later the person who had eaten later got sick.'

dàbů,# "zèmí = bù# ìŋ-bú-sèŋ# à-pú# nè-sà qêj" (25)dəbů, "zemî = bu ĭŋ-bu-seŋ ð-pu $n\check{e}-s\check{o}=q\epsilon j$ " then tonight = TOP 1:INCL-household-PART this-under DOWN-die = EXPT tçà,# dàbǔ# \dot{e} -zá# \dot{e} = J \check{a} # ts^hí-t \acute{e} J# á-q^hù# Jwé-hwá = wù# tçð, dəbů ě-zð é= jæ ts^hí-téj â-q^hu Įwé-hwă=wu then IN-come 1 = PL:GEN meadow-big that-top yak-shack = in say $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ -z $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ k^h $\dot{\mathbf{i}}$ = b $\dot{\mathbf{u}}$,# $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ -z $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ # m $\dot{\mathbf{i}}$ = t^h $\dot{\mathbf{o}}$ ŋ; # d $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ b $\check{\mathbf{u}}$ # ě-zð $k^{h}i = bu$. ě-zð $m_i = t^h \check{o} \eta;$ dəbŭ IN-come time = TOP IN-come NEG:PFV = be.able then $tc^{h}w\acute{x}-pi\eta = t^{j}\grave{x}$ $w\dot{u}$ # $\acute{a}-p\dot{u}$ # $d\grave{b}\check{u}$ # $tc^h w \hat{x} - p \check{\eta} = t^j \hat{x}$ wu ô-pu dəbù oriental.arborvitae-grove = INDF:GEN interior that-bottom then gwèn = nón # má = nòn # á-pù # dàbǔ # nè-tchàtchá # ně-tc^hətc^hə $gwenny = no\eta$ mô=noŋ dəbŭ â-pu $horse = COORD \quad person = COORD$ that-under then DOWN-stand:COLL $dz \acute{o}\eta = s\hat{i}, \# qw \grave{e}\eta = q \acute{a} \# c \acute{i} = l \grave{a} \# q^h \grave{o} - \# m \acute{i} = p^h \widehat{u}. \#$ $q^{h} \check{\partial} - m i = p^{h} \check{u}$ $dz \delta \eta = si gw \delta \eta = g a$ $c\hat{i} = la$ sit = INFhorse = GEN sadle = also OUT-NEG = take.off

'Then they said, "Tonight the three of us will die here," and then when they made their way to the yak herders' shack on our meadow, they could not make it, so the horse and the people (father and daughter) stayed down there in a conifer grove; the horse's saddle had not even been taken off.'

dəbů# t \dot{a} = g \dot{a} = b \dot{u} # n \dot{e} -s \dot{a} q $\dot{\epsilon}$ j = d \dot{a} w t \dot{c} \dot{a} # d \dot{a} b \dot{u} # t \dot{i} = q $^{h}\dot{u}$ # n \dot{e} -dz $\dot{\epsilon}$ j# (26)dəbů t $\dot{a} = q_{\theta} = bu$ ně-sð qej daw tçð ha dəbů $ti = q^h u$ ně-dzèj then this = DEF = TOP DOWN-die PROSsay LINK then mule = on DOWN-ride hà# $\dot{e} = J \check{a} \# ts^{h} i t \dot{e} j \# \dot{a} - q^{h} \dot{u} \# \dot{e} - t \dot{a} p \dot{u} t c^{h} \hat{o} \eta. \#$ â-q^hu ĥa $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{\mathbf{L}} = \hat{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathbf{L}}$ ts^hí-téj ě-tă pú t¢^hôŋ. LINK 1 = PL:GEN meadow-big that-top IN-arrive do come:PFV:N.EGO 'Then this one (the one who came later) said that (they) were about to die, so he rode a mule and came to arrive at our meadow up there.'

(27) $d\partial b\check{u}, \# ``w\hat{u} \# w\hat{u}, "tç \partial \# \dot{v} t c \dot{v} \dot{n} \# d\partial b\check{u} \# \dot{v} = t \dot{o} = l\dot{u}, \# ``w\dot{u}, "tç \dot{o} d\partial b\check{u}, ``w\hat{u} w\hat{u}, "tç \dot{o} \check{v} t c \dot{v} \dot{n} \end{pmatrix} dd b\check{u} \acute{v} = t \dot{o} = l\dot{u}, "`w\dot{u}, "tç \dot{o} then INTJ INTJ say IN-come:PFV:N.EGO then <math>1 = PL = also$ INTJ say $k^{h}i = l\dot{u} \# d\dot{v}_{l}\check{v}_{j}\# t\acute{o}_{l} \not{z}_{l} \eta \# m\dot{u} = d\dot{a}w.\#$ $k^{h}i = l\dot{u} \# d\dot{v}_{l}\check{v}_{j}\# t\acute{o}_{l} \not{z}_{l} \eta \# m\dot{u} = d\dot{a}w.\#$ $k^{h}i = la de_{l}\check{v}_{j} t\acute{o}_{l} \not{z}_{l} \eta \# m\dot{u} = daw$ time = also speech utter can NEG = IPFV:N.EGO

'Then he came calling out "Wu, wu!" and we also called out "Wu!", but he could not speak.'

(28) $d \partial b \check{u} \# ``w \hat{u} \# w \hat{u} " t c \partial = s \partial y k^h i = b \dot{u}, \# z \partial m i = b \dot{u} \# \partial m i = b \dot{u} \# d \partial b \check{u} \#$ $k^{h}i = bu$. dəbǔ "wû wû" tçð=seŋ zemî = bu emâ = bu dəbŭ then INTJ INTJ say = PFV:EGO time = TOP tonight = TOP aunt = TOP then nè-dû,# tsú dz \neq bă ((cì = sèn)),# ně-dû, tsú dzô bă ((ci = sen)),DOWN-frightened ghost be SPEC think = PFV:EGO z emi # m a # d e j e i t o n # m a = d a w((= m a)) = g a # n a # "w u # w u"zemî deyčj tón $m\check{a} = daw = gæ$ "wû wû" mâ ná tonight person speech speak NEG = IPFV:N.EGO = GEN thus INTJ INTJ $tc \hat{a} = daw \# fa \hat{a} \# ema \# dabu \# hwa = wu \# e-p^{h} (n = sen)$. dəbů hwă = wu ě-p^hìŋ = seŋ. $tc \tilde{a} = daw$ ĥa emâ say = IPFV:N.EGO LINK auntthen shack = in IN-flee = PFV:EGO

'Then when we also said "Wu, wu!" That night aunt was frightened; "It's maybe a ghost" (I thought), "this person who does not speak tonight, but called out 'Wu!'" so aunt fled into the shack.'

(29) èmá# náŋdzúmà# è-pú# nè-dzôŋ, # gòŋn^jà-mjágíŋ = tì# é-pù#
emá náŋdzuma ě-pu ně-dzóŋ, goŋn^jà-mjágíŋ = ti ê-pu
aunt Naedzuma this-under DOWN-sit Nuòsū-old.man = INDF that-under
nè-dzóŋ = sí.
ně-dzóŋ = si.
DOWN-sit = INF

'Aunt Naedzuma sat over here, the old Nuòs \bar{u} man sat over there.'

dəbǔ# èmá# næŋdzúmà# è=bí,# "míŋ dzà," tçàw# hà,# (30)"mîŋ dzô," tçaw dəbŭ emâ n \acute{e} n \acute{e} =bi, fia. then aunt Naedzuma 1sg=DAT what be say:IPFV:N.EGO LINK "mín dz ∂ # t c^{h} émì,# m ∂ (= $q\partial$)# é=dz ∂ =bu# dezej tón= $q\hat{e}$ j,# "mîŋ dzê tç^hêmi, $m\hat{a} = (g\hat{a})$ $\hat{\mathbf{e}} = \mathbf{d}\mathbf{z}\hat{\mathbf{a}} = \mathbf{b}\mathbf{u}$ dejěj $t \circ \eta = q \epsilon j$, what be not.sure person = (DEF) Q = be = TOPspeech utter = EXPT zèmí=bù# tsú dzó# bǎ,# é# kè=tá" tçò# hà# dzâ "é zemî = butsú bă, kě=ta" tcð ĥa tonight = TOPghost be SPEC 1SG afraid = SVM say LINK \dot{e} -p^hín = sèn.# \check{e} -p^hiŋ = seŋ." IN-flee = PFV:EGO

'Then aunt Naedzuma asked me, "What is it?"; (I said), "What it is (I) don't know, if it were a person, he would be able to speak; tonight it is maybe a ghost; (I) said 'I am afraid' and fled in here." '

tờt^hì = bú# tớ# mớ = gờ# tớ-t c^{h} ớn k^hì = bù# dəbǔ,# (31) $tet^{h}i = bu$ tá $m\hat{a} = q\hat{a}$ tá-t¢^hôŋ $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbů, after.a.while = TOP this person = DEF UP-come: PFV: N.EGO time = TOP then qǎ-màŋ kízu = noŋ dəbů $qonn^{j}$ \check{a} -mət c^{h} ónli = ti = bu, dəbů, down-below T:sKal.bzang = COORD then $Nu\delta s\bar{u}$ -boy = INDF = TOP then "nı́ŋ# míŋ t^hè-dòŋ," tcò k^hì = là# m \circ = J \approx # d \circ bú# d \circ J \approx t^hě-dòŋ," tçă $k^{h}i = la$ "nǐŋ mîŋ $m\hat{a} = jæ$ dəbŭ dejčj 2sg what FR.SP-become say time = also person = PL:GEN then speech tón# mà=zǐn,# tó# mì né-dù# hà.# $m\check{a} = z\check{n}$, ně-dů ĥa. tóŋ tá mĭ speak NEG = can 3SG edible.fungus DOWN-be.poisoned LINK

'After a while, when this person came up, and Kizu from downstairs and the one Nuòsū boy asked him, "What's up with you?" he was not able to speak: he got mushroom poisoning.'

- dəbů-n \neq # \dot{e} -t \dot{c} h \dot{o} # h \dot{a} # m \dot{a} = $J\dot{a}$ # \dot{a} -p \dot{a} # (32)dəbù-nə ě-t¢^hôŋ ĥa $m\hat{a} = jæ$ â-pα then-near IN-come:PFV:N.EGO LINK person = PL:GEN that-under:GEN lúlú-màgìn# nè-dzón = m δ = tù t^hè-tsèn pà.# lúlu məgín $n\check{v}$ -dzóŋ-mə = tû t^hě-tséŋ pâ. Lolo old.man DOWN-sit-NMLZ = on FR.SP-fall.down do:PFV:N.EGO 'Then (he) came in; (he) fell down on top of the old Lolo man who was sitting there.'
- dəbů# dèjěj# tóŋ# mà = ziŋ# 3-dzæ# nèjt^hóŋ = bì# dèbů# (33)dəbŭ jštyb $m\check{a} = z\check{1}\eta$ ô-dzæ $n\epsilon jt^{h} \hat{o} \eta = bi$ dəbŭ tóŋ speech speak NEG = can that-location:GEN Ch:milk.pail = DAT then then ná pú# zǎ# è-tⁱǎw,# dəbǔ# á-dzà# tsú-ján kì q^hù ě-t^jǎw, dəbǔ ô-dzæ q^hǔ ná pú zě tsújæn kĭ thus do hand IN-point then that-location:GEN buttermilk give.drink POL tcà.# t¢ð. say

'He could not speak, but he pointed his hand like this at the milk pail over there and requested to give him some of that buttermilk over there to drink.'

(34) dàbů# tsútán# tà=tǒnnì# jìpů=wù# t^hè-kwì k^hí=nón,# tá=10nni jipů=wu t^hě-kwĭ dəbů tsújæn $k^{h}i = no\eta$, then buttermilk 3=PL:AGT ladle=in FR.SP-give.drink:PFV:N.EGO time=only nŏnnòn# tá-p^hé pà k^hì=nòn# nŏnnòn# nǒŋnòŋ tá-p^hě pâ $k^{h}i = no\eta$ nǒŋnòŋ and.only.then UP-vomit do:PFV:N.EGO time = only and.only.then dèj $\dot{z}j = ti \# q^{h}\dot{z}-to\eta.\#$ de jěj = ti q^hð-tóŋ. speech = INDFOUT-speak

'Then, only after they gave him buttermilk in a ladle to drink he vomited, and only then (he) spoke a little bit.'

(35)	"hèjǔ,# é# zèmí=bù# mì né-dʉ̀,# kʰù-pú#
	"hejǔ, é zemî=bu mǐ ně-d ǔ , k ^h ǔ-pu
	INTJ 1SG tonight = TOP edible.fungus DOWN-be.poisoned out-under
	$swlpha\eta = n \circ \eta \# \eta \circ = ti \# j \circ w \# e z \circ \# m i = t^h \circ \eta, \#$ $sw lpha\eta = n \circ \eta \eta \circ = ti$ $j \circ w e z \circ $ $m i = t^h \circ \eta,$ $father = COORD$ $daughter = INDF$ $again$ IN-come $NEG: PFV = can: N.EGO$
	$\begin{split} &n \hat{n} = \iota \hat{o} \eta n \hat{i} \# \ l \hat{s} \hat{u} \iota \hat{x} \hat{n} = t \hat{i} \# \ q^h \hat{\partial} - \iota \hat{a} \ t \hat{\partial} \ p \hat{n}, " \ t \hat{c} \hat{a} w. \# \\ &n \tilde{n} = \iota o \eta n i l \hat{s} \hat{u} \iota \hat{x} \eta = t i \qquad q^h \hat{\partial} - \iota \hat{a} \qquad t \tilde{i} \qquad p \hat{n}, " \qquad t \hat{c} a w. \\ &2 = PL: AGT \qquad buttermilk = INDF OUT-carry one do: IMP: PL \qquad say: PFV: N. EGO \end{split}$
	' "Oh, tonight (I) was poisoned by a mushroom, lower down the valley there are also a father and daughter who are not able to come westwards, could you bring them a little buttermilk?" he said.'
(36)	dàbů# $ema = la z a q^{h}u tçaw, # ema = la # c a = sen.#dabů ema = la z a q^{h}u tçaw, ema = la c a c a = senthen aunt = also go POL say:IPFV:N.EGO aunt = also go = PFV:EGO$
	'Then (they) invited aunt ($=$ I) to come too, so aunt ($=$ I) went too.'
(37)	dèbǔ# é# jǎw# tá = lá# jèhǎ# mě# té-qàŋ# té-qàŋ# dəbǔ é jǎw tá = lə jehǎ mě tǐ-qâŋ tǐ-qâŋ then 1SG again this = PL all fire one-CLF:handful one-CLF:handful
	((dà-zá kèj)), # ná-qæŋ# dà-zá kèj.# ((dǎ-zà kéj)), nǎ-qæŋ dǎ-zà kéj. TO.SP-carry let two-CLF:handful TO.SP-carry let
	'I had them all carry one or two handfuls of fire (torches?).'
(38)	\dot{v} - $b\dot{u}$ -sěŋ# ŋwé-ts \ddot{o} # k ^h \ddot{o} - $c\ddot{o}$ = séŋ.# \acute{v} - bu -seŋŋwê-ts \ddot{o} k ^h \ddot{o} - $c\acute{o}$ = seŋ1-household-PARTfive-CLF:peopleOUT-go = PFV:EGO
	'Of our household five people went.'
(39)	$\dot{v}m\dot{a} = b\dot{u}\# d\dot{e}b\check{u},\# \dot{e}-q^h\dot{u}\# g\acute{u}\# t^h\dot{e}-tc^h\dot{e}=m\dot{e}=g\acute{e}\#$ $vm\dot{a} = bu d\dot{e}b\check{u}, \hat{e}-q^hu g\acute{u} t^h\check{e}-tc^h\check{e}=m\check{e}=gæ$ aunt = TOP then that-on shingle FR.SP-take = NMLZ = GEN
	gúzælì# nó# tè-çú# dò-zâ.# gúzæli nó tǐ-çú dò-zà. shingle-small.wood.chips thus one-CLF:armful TO.SP-carry
	'Aunt carried an armful of small chips from the left-over shingles like this.'

- dàbů# \dot{v} -b \dot{u} -sě η # k \dot{v} -c \dot{v} k \dot{h} í = bú# té- \dot{n} o η = g \dot{v} # tá# (40) k^{h} ð-có $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbů é-bu-sen $t\tilde{i}$ - $n\hat{o}\eta = q\bar{e}$ tá then 1-household-PART OUT-go time = TOPone-CLF:night = DEF this $m\dot{a} = g\dot{a} \# n\dot{e} - gw\acute{e}_{i}\acute{e}_{j} \# n\dot{e} - gw\acute{e}_{i}\acute{e}_{j} = l\dot{a} \# ``aw,'' tc\dot{a} \# m\dot{a} = daw. \#$ mâ = gə ně-qwéjej ně-qwézej = la "áw," t¢ð mă=daw. person = DEF DOWN-shout DOWN-shout = also INTJ NEG = IPFV:N.EGOsay 'Then when several of our household went, and spent a long time calling and calling this person, he did not even answer "Here!" ' dàbů# \dot{a} -dzì# k^hà-cà k^hí = bú# dàbů# \dot{e} = ní# qàŋ-máŋ# (41) k^{h} ð-có $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbů â-dzi dəbǔ é=ni qǎ-màŋ
 - then that-location OUT-go time = TOP then 1 = AGT down-below kízú# d\u00ebbů,# "\u00ebmá=n\u00fbn# \u00ebn=dz\u00ebn=b\u00eb# k\u00eb=t\u00eb,# t\u00eb# m\u00eb# kízu dəbů, "emâ = noŋ $i\eta = dz a m = bu$ kě=ta, tá mô T:sKal.bzang then aunt = COORD 1.INCL = DU = TOP afraid = SVM this person nè-sǎ# bǎ,# ìŋ = dzéŋ = bù# zégì# dádà pù# cá = gî,# ne-sð $i\eta = dz \approx \eta = bu$ dâda pú cá=qi bă, zêgi DOWN-die SPEC 1:INCL = DU = TOP later slowly do $g_0 = VOL:INCL$ $n\dot{v}$ -s \dot{v} = sí tc \dot{v} = d \dot{v} s \dot{v} tc \dot{w} # \dot{v} -dz \dot{v} # c \dot{v} # m \dot{u} = qí,# ně-sð = si tca = dawsətçæ *â*-dzi $c \neq m a = g i$, DOWN- die = INF say = IPFV:N.EGO if that-location go NEG = VOL:INCL $k\dot{e} = t\dot{a}, \# \dot{e} - g\dot{i} = g\dot{i}, "tc\dot{e} = s\dot{e}\eta. \#$ ě-qì=qi," $tc \tilde{a} = se\eta$. kě=ta, afraid = SVM IN-turn.around = VOL.INCL say = PFV:EGO

'When we were walking eastwards, I said to Kizu from downstairs, "Aunt (=I) the two of us are afraid and this man has maybe died. Let the two of us go slowly behind (the others). If it is said that he has died, let's not go there, it's frightening, let's turn around." '

 $k^{h}i = b\dot{u}# d\dot{e}b\dot{u}# t\dot{e}# k^{h}\dot{u}-p\dot{u}=n\dot{o}\eta,\# \hat{m}\eta,\# \hat{m}\eta," tc\dot{a}w,#$ (42) $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbů tə $k^{h}\check{u}$ -pu = noŋ, "m̂ŋ, m̂ŋ," tçaw, time = TOPthen 3sg out-under = COORD INTJ INTJ say:IPFV:N.EGO ı∕ú# nè-dzèdzè şó hà.# ha. ně-dzədzě sâ JÛ teeth DOWN-be.tightly.closed go:PFV:N.EGO LINK

'Then he called "Hng, hng!" from below, his teeth were tightly closed.'
dàbů,# "m̃ŋ,# m̃ŋ," tçàw,# "âw,# m̃ŋ,# m̃ŋ, tçà tìŋ,# k^hà-çà = gì," (43) "âw, $\hat{m}\eta$, $\hat{m}\eta$, t¢ě tin, k^hě-cé = qi," dəbů, "ṁn, ṁn," tçaw, then INTJ INTJ Say: IPFV: N.EGO INTJ INTJ INTJ SAY AUD OUT-go = VOL: INCL tc \neq fià# k^h \rightarrow -c \neq k^hi=bu# d \rightarrow bu,# " \dot{v} -c $\dot{\rho}$ =qi," tc $\dot{\rho}$ k^hi=b \dot{u} ,# tçă fia k^{h} ă-çá $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbů, "ě-cə́=gi," $k^{h}i = bu$, tçð say LINK OUT-go time = TOP then IN-go = VOL:INCL say time = TOP $m\dot{a} = J\dot{a} = b\dot{u}\# t\dot{a} - p^h \acute{e}\# t\dot{a} - p^h \acute{e}p\dot{u}$ sà.# $m\hat{a} = J\hat{a} = bu$ tá-p^hě tá-p^hě pú sô. person = PL = TOP UP-vomit UP-vomit do go:PFV:N.EGO

'(He could only) say, "Hng, hng!" (I) said, "Oh, (I) hear (someone) saying 'Hng, hng!', let's go down the valley," and when we went down the valley, (when I said to him), "Let's go up the valley," the people were vomiting heavily.'

"hèjù,"# è-zó tçá mà=qèj dàw," tçàw;# dèbǔ# (44) "hejŭ," ě-zð tcě $m\check{a} = q\epsilon i = daw$," tcaw: dəbù IN-come be.able:EGO:1 NEG = EXPT = IFPV:N.EGO say:IPFV:N.EGO then INTJ \dot{a} -dz \dot{a} # g \dot{a} y \dot{a} -b \dot{a} # m \dot{a} tc \dot{b} \dot{a} lí = g \dot{a} y \dot{n} ,# "gw \dot{e} y = t \dot{u} # \dot{e} -tc \dot{b} \dot{t} c \dot{b} # ô-dzæ qonn^jě-ba mətc^hóŋli=goŋni, "gwěŋ=tû ě-tc^hitc^hǽ that-location: GEN Nuòsū-household boy = AGThorse = on IN-bind:CNT $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ -z $\dot{\mathbf{a}}$ = $\dot{\mathbf{c}}$ $\dot{\mathbf{n}}$,# n $\dot{\mathbf{n}}$ # $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ -z $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ t $\dot{\mathbf{a}}$,# k $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ # m $\dot{\mathbf{a}}$ = \mathbf{q}^{h} $\hat{\mathbf{u}}$,# b $\dot{\mathbf{a}}$ b $\dot{\mathbf{u}}$ # (k $\dot{\mathbf{u}}$ # \check{e} -z \grave{a} = $ci\eta$, nǐŋ ě-zð tâ, kě $m\check{a} = q^{h}\check{u},$ babú (kù IN-carry = VOL:PL 2SG IN-come can afraid NEG = need things carry.on.back $m\dot{a} = ts^{h}\dot{a}\# \dot{e} = J\dot{a}...)\# z\check{a}\# m\dot{a} = ts^{h}\dot{a} = m\dot{a}\# \dot{e} = J\dot{a}\#$ $m\check{a} = ts^{h}\acute{a}$ ú= Jə...) zà $m\check{a} = ts^{h}\acute{a} = m\eth$ ét=jə NEG = be.finished 1 = PLcarry NEG = be.finished = NMLZ1 = PLnè-kú = cìŋ," tcò k^h ì = là, # "éjàw, # t^h òzâ # ò-pú# tcě $k^{h}i = la$. ně-kù=ciŋ," "êjaw, t^həzâ ð-pu DOWN-carry.on.back = VOL:PL say time = also INTJ thank.you this-under dzóŋ cîŋ,# nìŋ = $j \neq m$ hwă = wù# ní = $j \neq p^{h} \neq q$ ĉj,# $dz \delta \eta = c i \eta$, $n i \eta = j a$ $hw\check{a} = wu \quad n\hat{i} = J\hat{a}$ $p^{h}\check{e} = q\epsilon i$, sit = VOL:PL 2 = PL:GEN shack = in LOG = PL vomit = EXPT zð ıjácĭ mă=qεj," tçaw. come can NEG = EXPT say: IPFV: N.EGO

""". "Oh, we won't be able to come up the valley." Then when that young Nuòsū boy said, "We will tie you on the horse and carry you, just come up the valley,

don't be afraid, the things that (the horse) [can't carry on the back...] can't bring, we will carry on our backs," he said, "Oh, thank you! We will stay here. We are afraid that we will throw up in your shack, we cannot come." '

dàbů# màdàlí# tá# èsálⁱú = gà = bù# dàbů,# "ájú,# (tá# má...)# (45) dəbŭ mədælí tá $eslpha l^{j}u = g_{\theta} = bu d_{\theta}bu$, "áju, (tá mô...) then girl this tiny = DEF = TOP then INTJ this person t^{h} óŋm $\dot{a} = l\dot{a}#$ tè-h $\check{e}j#$ zi, # míŋ dz $\ddot{a}, "$ t $c\dot{a}#$ $\dot{h}\dot{a}#$ $\acute{e} = J\dot{a} = bi#$ t^{h} ónmə = la tǐ-hěj zĭ, mîŋ dzâ," t¢ă ĥa $id = G_{L} = \dot{g}$ Pumi = also one-CLF:group EXIST.AN what be say LINK 1 = PL = DATdà-lě# fià,# èmá# næn=tì# nè-qú k^hì=bù;# dð-lě ha, emâ n $\hat{a}\eta = ti$ ně-gù $k^{h}i = bu;$ TO.SP-gaze LINK aunt skirt = INDF DOWN-wear time = TOP "èmá# t^jčj# t^hóŋmó dzò,# nǽŋ nè-gù = mò = bù# ìŋ = Jó# emá tⁱčj t^hóŋmə dzâ, $n \hat{a} \eta$ $n \check{e} - g \dot{u} - m \eth = b u$ ĭη= Jə aunt INTJ Půmí be:N.EGO skirt DOWN-wear-NMLZ = TOP 1:INCL = PLjèhă# t^hóŋmá# l^jádú# tà dzá,# nǐŋ# tá# tsúján# k^hà-t^{hj}óŋ," k^hð-t^{hj}òŋ," jehă t^hóŋmə l^jædu ta dzâ nǐŋ tá tsújæŋ all Půmĭ friend only be:N.EGO 2SG this buttermilk OUT-drink:IMP:SG tçə $k^{h}i = la\# t^{h}é\# n \neq pu\# te-çu pu\# də-za,#$ tcð $k^{h}i = la$ ť'né ná pú tľ-cú pú dð-zà, say time = also all.the.time thus do one-CLF:armful do TO.SP-carry $q\dot{u}b\dot{u} # d\dot{e}-z\dot{a} # t^{h}i\eta # m\dot{a} = d\dot{a}w.#$ qubu dð-zà thìŋ $m\check{a} = daw.$ bottle TO.SP-carry drink NEG = IPFV:N.EGO

'Then this tiny little girl said, "Oh, there is another group Pumi, what's up?" and she looked at us; aunt was wearing a skirt, so when (I) said, "Aunt is indeed Pumi, all the ones among us that are wearing skirts are only Pumi friends. Drink this buttermilk," she held the bottle like this in her arm all the time and did not drink.'

- dàbů,# "k^hà-t^{hj}óŋ," tçà k^hì = bù# dàbů# k^hà-t^híŋ k^hì = bù# dàbů# (46) dəbů, "k^hð-t^{hj}òŋ," tcð $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbů k^hð-t^hìŋ $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbù time=TOP then OUT-drink time=TOP then then OUT-drink:IMP:SG say mədælí# èl^jætì# t^hè-dóŋ pà.# mədælí el^jětì t^hě-dòŋ pâ. girl a.little FR.SP-be.okay do:pfv:n.ego 'When (I) said, "Drink," and after she drank, the little girl was a little bit better.'
- dòbů# \dot{a} -pù# gùtál \dot{u} = nòŋ# t \dot{a} = \dot{a} # jèhǎ# nè-líŋ# qà-pú (47) dəbù *â*-pu qutálu = non tá = Jajehǎ ně-lîŋ qă-pu then that-under rock = COORD this = PL all DOWN-roll down-under k^{h} à-tì,# gàn-mán# kízú=nòn=bù# tá# gònnⁱà-tcín= Jònnì.# k^hð-tľ, qǎ-màŋ kí $zu = no\eta = bu$ tá goŋn^jǎ-t¢ǐŋ = Joŋni. OUT-put down-below T:sKal.bzang = COORD = TOP this Nuòsū-child = PL:AGT 'Kizu from downstairs and the Nuòsū children put that rock and all these things under there.'
- dəbǔ# ə-pù# dəbǔ# zə-tón# t^hè-dzû# k^hə-zə kwêj (48) t^hě-dzù k^hð-zð dəbù *â*-pu dəbů zð-ton kwéj then that-under then sleep-NMLZ FR.SP-make OUT-sleep let:PFV:N.EGO $k^{h}i = b\dot{u}, \# d\dot{e}b\dot{u}\# \acute{e} = J\dot{e} = b\dot{i}\# "t^{h}\dot{e}z\hat{e}, \# n\dot{n}= J\dot{e}\# z\dot{e}mi = b\dot{u}\# ni = J\dot{e}\#$ $d = G_L = g_L = g_L$ "t^həzâ, $k^{h}i = bu$, nǐŋ = Jə zemî = bu nî = Jə time = TOP then 1 = PL = DAT thank.you 2 = PLtonight = TOP LOG = PLtènà = bú# á-pù# nè-sà qéj dáw," tçàw,# dàbů....# tenð = bu â-pu ně-sð aej daw," dəbů.... tçaw, otherwise = TOP that-under DOWN-die PROS say:IPFV:N.EGO then '(They) made a sleeping place and let (them) sleep there. Then (they) said to

us, "Thank you! If not for you, we would have died here tonight." '

(49) $m\check{e} = b\check{u}\# c\check{e}\# z\check{u}\# t\check{e}$ -qwá $\# n\check{e}$ -f^hĉj,# mě=bu çê zŭ tǐ-qwá ně-t^hêj, fire = TOP big very one-CLF:pile DOWN-light.a.fire sèjíŋmú=nòŋ# jíŋmú=nòŋ# tá= Já# jèhǎ# sěŋ-jíŋmu = noŋ jíŋmu = noŋ tá = Jə jehă firewood-tree.trunk = COORD tree.trunk = COORD this = PL all dà-kàwtá# è-jî.# dð-kawtá ě-jì. TO.SP-collect IN-burn

'(We) lighted a huge pile and collected firewood, tree trunks etcetera and burned them all.'

dàbů# \dot{e} -t^h \hat{e} j,# dàbů# \dot{e} -b \dot{u} -séŋ# \dot{e} -c \dot{e} =séŋ k^h \dot{i} =b \dot{u} ;# (50) dəbů ^é-t^hêj, dəbù é-bu-seŋ ě-cá = seŋ $k^{h}i = bu;$ then IN-light.a.fire then 1-household-PART IN-go = PFV:EGO time = TOP tçíŋmíŋ# dbŭ# \dot{e} -t \dot{a} = m \dot{a} = g \dot{o} ŋn \dot{i} = b \dot{u} # p^h \dot{e} p \dot{u} ,# \dot{a} -dz \dot{i} # t¢íŋmiŋ dəbǔ ě-tǎ=mə=goŋni=bu phě pú, â-dzi home then IN-arrive = NMLZ = AGT = TOPvomit do that-location nè-dzón# mà = t^hǒn# qòn,tě# p^hě# p^hě.# ně-dzón mă = t^h ŏn qoŋរូð p^hě. phě DOWN-sit NEG = can:N.EGO outside vomit vomit

'Then (we) lighted a fire, and then several went back. The one who had arrived at home was vomiting, he could not sit down there, but was vomiting outside.'

 p^{h} è pú = dàw, # dàbǔ # tá # gòŋn^jà-tcíŋ = gòŋnì = bù, # "èmá = Jà # (51) $qonn^{j}$ ě-tçin = qonni = bu, "emâ = Jə phě $p\hat{\mathbf{u}} = d\mathbf{a}\mathbf{w},$ dəbů tə then this Nuòsū-child = AGT = TOP aunt = PL vomit do = IPFV:N.EGO $ni\eta = j \neq \# z$ $tc^{h} \circ \eta \# m a = q \epsilon j, \# n i = g \circ \eta \# q a - d z$ nin = 12 zit¢^hôŋ $m\check{a} = q\epsilon j$, nî=goŋ qå-dzæ 2 = PLsleep come:PFV:N.EGO NEG = EXPT LOG = AGT down-location:GEN hwă = wù t^hè-h^jèj c \hat{i} = s \hat{i} ,# q \hat{a} -dz \hat{a} # hwă = wù hwă = wu $t^h \check{e} - h^j \check{e} j$ $c\hat{a} = su$, qǎ-dzæ $hw\dot{a} = wu$ shack = in TO.SP-take.along go = VOL:SG down-location:GEN shack = in t^hè-h^jèj sèj.# t^hě-h^jéj şêj. FR.SP-take.along go:PFV:N.EGO 'Then the Nuòsū boy said, "Aunties, you will not be able to sleep, I will take him to the lower shack." So he went taking (him) along to the lower shack.' (52) $q\dot{a}-dz\dot{a}\#$ hw $\dot{a}=w\dot{u}\#$ t^h \dot{e} -h^j \dot{e} j s \dot{e} j k^h $\dot{i}=b\dot{u},\#$ hwă = wu $t^h \check{e} - h^j \check{e} j$ qǎ-dzæ sêj $k^{h}i = bu$, down-location:GEN shack = in FR.SP-take.along go:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP dàbů# tá-t c^{h} óŋ k^hì = bù# á-k^hì = bù# (é = 1à...)# 1á = bù#

 \hat{a} -k^hi = bu dəbů tá-tc^hôŋ $k^{h}i = bu$ (....GL = ġ) Jŷ=pn then UP-come:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP that-time = TOP 1 = PLfront = TOPé=là# lá# mí=lélæn,# né-dû,# bl=šj Gl=ġ mí = jêjæŋ, ně-dû, 1 = PL laugh = also NEG:PFV = laugh:COLL DOWN-be.frightened $m\dot{a} = j\dot{a}\# m\dot{a}\# n\dot{v}$ -sà géj dáw tçà, # hǎw-k^hì = bù# qej daw t¢ð, hàw-khi=bu $m\hat{a} = i\hat{a}$ mô ně-sð person = PL:GEN person DOWN-die PROS that-time = TOP say dəbu# léitæn = sen,# ajon,# na the-don mi dəbù lêlæn = sen, ájon, ná t^hě-dòn mĭ then laugh:COLL = PFV:EGO INTJ thus FR.SP-become edible.fungus nè-dù=sì tçà.# $n\check{e}-d\check{u}=si$ t¢ð. DOWN-be.poisoned = INFsay

'After (he) (= the Nuòsū boy) went to put (him) in the lower shack and had come up again, we... before we had not laughed, we were frightened, "That man is about to die," but this time we laughed, "Oh, he was poisoned by a mushroom and became like this!" '

- dəbů,# "tə# mədali=gə=bù# t^ja=sə q^h \hat{u} ,# (53)dəbů, "tə́ $m = d \approx li = g = bu$ t^jæ-sð q^hǔ, (...)" then this girl = DEF = TOPPROH-die need $m \partial g i \eta = dz \alpha \eta = d \vartheta \# d \partial b \check{u} \# d z w \check{\alpha}, " t c \partial = s \partial \eta \# \vartheta - s \partial \eta = b \acute{u}. \#$ tçð = seŋ \acute{e} -bu-seŋ = bu. old.man = DU = DIS then let.it.be say = PFV:EGO 1-household-PART = TOP 'Several of our household said, "(We) hope this little girl will not die, but these wacky old men, let it be." '
- màdàlí = bù# dàbú-ná# nùséŋ = bù# é = Jà# sèŋtc^hí# q^hà-dzá# fià# (54) mədælí = bu dəbŭ-nə nusen = bu $\acute{e} = \imath \eth$ sent c^{h} ľ q^hð-dzð ĥa then-near morning = TOP 1 = PL breakfast OUT-eat girl = TOPLINK mì q^há c δ = cìn tc δ k^hì = bù, # è-tc^hôn, # "éjàw, # mĭ $q^{h}a$ $c\delta = cin$ t¢ \check{a} k^hi = bu, ě-tc^hôn, "êjaw, edible.fungus pick go = VOL:PL say time = TOP IN-come: PFV:N.EGO INTJ $\dot{v}m\dot{a} = J\dot{a}\#\dot{v} = J\dot{a}=b\dot{i}\#J\ddot{a}w\#Js\dot{u}J\dot{w}\eta = t\dot{i}\#k^{h}\dot{n}\eta^{h}\dot{u},\#J\dot{w}$ jăw $tsú_J angle n = ti$ q^hů, k^hĭŋ aunt = PL = DAT again buttermilk = INDF give.drink POL \dot{e} -bá# épòn = n^j \dot{a} # t^h \dot{e} -dón# mà = dáw," tçâw. $\hat{v}_{pon} = n^{j} \hat{w} t^{h} \check{v}_{-} d\hat{v}_{n}$ é-ba $m\check{a} = daw,"$ tçaw. 1- household:GEN father = AGT FR.SP-be.okay NEG = IPFV:N.EGO say:IPFV:N.EGO 'In the morning as we had eaten breakfast and were preparing to go and pick mushrooms, the little girl came. She said, "Oh, aunties, please give us some
- dèbů# tsútán# k^hìn=gí,# nǐn# e = t wù# (55) dəbǔ tsújæŋ $k^{h}i\eta = gi,$ nǐŋ &L=jæ W11 buttermilk give.drink = VOL:INCL then 2SG 1 = PL:GEN interior sènt c^{h} ì = tí# q^hà-dzáw,# b ϵ j = tì# q^hà-dzáw tcà# q^hà-dzá $sentc^{h}i = ti$ q^hð-dzáw, $b\hat{\varepsilon}j = ti$ q^hð-dzáw tcð q^hð-dzð breakfast = INDF OUT-eat:IMP:SG food = INDF OUT-eat:IMP:SG say OUT-eat kéj=sèŋ.# $k \epsilon j = s e \eta$. let:PFV:EGO

buttermilk again. My dad is still not well."

'Saying, "Let's give (you) buttermilk, but you eat some breakfast with us, eat some food!" we had (her) eat.'

 q^{h} $\partial - dz \partial k \dot{\epsilon} j = s \dot{\epsilon} \eta k^{h} \dot{\epsilon} = b \dot{u}, \# d \dot{\epsilon} b \dot{u} - n \dot{o}, \# t \dot{\sigma} \# t \dot{\epsilon} \dot{u} \# t \dot{\epsilon} \eta = g \dot{\sigma} \# t \dot{\epsilon} \dot{\eta} \#$ (56) q^{h} ð-dzó kéj = seŋ $k^{h}i = bu$. dəbù-nə, tá $tsú_{J} \approx \eta = q_{\theta}$ tçĭŋ OUT-eat let = PFV:EGO time = TOP then-near this buttermilk = DEFchild dàbǔ# nè-dzón,# nè-dzón tá pù# q^hà-zwâ,# dàdæn# t^hǒn# dəbǔ ně-dzóŋ, ně-dzóŋ tì pú qhà-zwà, dədæŋ t^hǒŋ then DOWN-sit DOWN-sit one do OUT-carry:PFV:N.EGO walk be.able:N.EGO $m\dot{a} = d\hat{a}w.\#$ $m\check{a} = daw.$ NEG = IPFV:N.EGO

'After we had made her eat, the child took this buttermilk back and sat down again and again, she couldn't walk.'

d
àbǔ# tà= jǎ# tç^híŋtcá dzà tcàw# fià# (57) dəbů t $\hat{a} = I \hat{a}$ tç^híŋtça dzâ ĥa tcaw then 3 = PL:GEN Ch:Nuòsū.friend be:N.EGO say:IPFV:N.EGO LINK t^{i} óŋ = tì = gòŋ# dèbǔ# cì séj = sì,# k^hù-pá# t^{j} ôn = ti = qon dəbů cĭ k^hŭ-pa $s\hat{\varepsilon}j = si$, one:CLF:thing = INDF = AGT then lead go:PFV:N.EGO = INFout-under:GEN ní-b \dot{u} # sw $\dot{e}\eta$ = n $\dot{o}\eta$ # m \dot{a} = n $\dot{o}\eta$.# nî-bʉ swâŋ = noŋ $m\hat{a} = no\eta$. LOG-household father = COORD daugther = COORD

'It is said that it was their Nuòsū friends; one of them went to lead (them) [to the shack], that father and daughter from down the valley.'

(58) è-çǎ# dàbǔ# è-bù-sèŋ=lá# jǎw# nè-çǎ# fià# hwǎ=wù#
ě-çá dàbǔ é-bù-seŋ=la jǎw ně-çá fia hwǎ=wu
IN-go then 1-household-PART=also again DOWN-go LINK shack=in
è-tú tà pù çà.#
ě-tû tǐ pú çá.
IN-look one do go
'After having gong westwards, soveral of us also went downwards again to

'After having gone westwards, several of us also went downwards again to have a look in the shack.'

" $\dot{v}l^{j}$ $\dot{v}t\dot{l}$ # t^{hj} \dot{v} -dóŋ," tç $\dot{v}k^{h}\dot{l}$ = b \dot{u} ,# " $\dot{v}j\dot{u}$,# t^h $\dot{v}z\dot{v}$,# p \dot{u} = g \check{v} # t^hóŋm \dot{e} # (59) "el^jětì t^{hj}æ-dòŋ," t¢ž $k^{h}i = bu$, "éju, t^həzâ, $p\hat{u} = q\hat{x} t^{h} \delta \eta m \partial$ a.little FR.SP:Q-be.okay say time = TOP INTJ thank.you self = GEN Pumi jǎw# ká-dzì = nòn# nè-húhú = nòn# téqù tà jǎw $k\hat{i}-dz\hat{i}=no\eta$ ně-húhu = noŋ têgu tǎ again were-location = COORD DOWN-arrange = COORD together arrive mà dzà qèj;# nìŋ = Já# mà = é = dzà = bù,# é# ts^hǔ# nè-sà,# t^hàzǽ mə dzə qɛj; nǐŋ = Jə mǎ = \hat{e} = dz \hat{e} = bu, é ts^hŭ t^həzǽ ně-sð EPIST 2 = PLNEG = Q = be = TOP 1SG almost DOWN-die thank.you láwláw," tç ∂ # fia# tèm \check{a} = la# n \check{e} -tsi = daw.# lawlaw," tcð fia temă = la $n\check{v}$ -tsì = daw. very.much say LINK thumb = also DOWN-erect = IPFV:N.EGO

'When we asked (the old man), "Are you a little bit better?", he said, "Oh! Thank you! It will be our own Pumi arriving again, from where it was arranged I don't know. If it wasn't for you, I would have died. Thank you so much!" and even stuck up his thumb.'

(60) dàbů# màdalí=ga=bi=bu# dabu# e=ní# phinku=non# cebon=non# dəbŭ $m = dali = g = bi = bu \quad d = bi = bi$ $p^{h}i\eta k\dot{u} = no\eta$ cebón = non girl = DEF = DAT = TOP then 1 = AGT Ch:apple = COORD peach = COORD then cèts^h ə́tsèj tçə # fià # dⁱóŋ wèŋ mà, # nísêjséj = mə, # dəbu # çetş^hâtşej tçð ha d^jôŋ wêŋ ma, nísêjsêj = mə, dəbŭ Chinese.plum say LINK EXIST.AT CUST.EXCL INFO very.red = NMLZ then téj# hà# tá = gá# dà-zá# hà# màdàlí = gá = bì,# "q^hà-dzâw,# têj ĥa $t\hat{a} = q\hat{a}$ dð-zà ĥa m = dali = q = bi, "q^h = dzáw, EXIST.H LINK this = DEF TO.SP-carry LINK girl = DEF = DAT OUT-eat:IMP:SG tá# q^h à-dzá k^h í = bù# t^h è-dóŋ wèŋ," tcà = sèŋ.# tá $q^{h} \check{a} - dz \check{a} k^{h} i = bu$ t^hě-dòŋ wêŋ," t¢ð = seŋ. this out-eat time = TOP FR.SP-be.okay CUST.EXCL say = PFV:EGO 'I gave the little girl some apples and peaches, and something called 'Chinese

plum' that is grown (you know), a very red one that I had and had carried, and said to the girl, "Eat! When you eat this you will feel better." '

(61) "fiâw, # èmá# t^hàzâ," tçà# q^hà-dzwâ.#
"fiâw, emá t^hàzâ," tçă q^hǎ-dzwâ.
INTJ aunt thank.you say OUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO
' "O, aunt, thank you!" she said and ate it.'

(62) q^hà-dzwâ dəbů t $\hat{a} = q \hat{a}$ $z\hat{e}qi$ $k^{h}i=bu$ dəbŭ then this = GEN later time = TOPOUT-eat:PFV:N.EGO then \dot{e} -b \dot{u} -s \dot{e} η# t \dot{a} -c \dot{e} # d \dot{e} b \dot{u} # t \dot{i} -dz \dot{i} # n \dot{e} -dz \dot{e} dz \dot{o} η t \dot{e} p \dot{u} = s \dot{e} η é-bu-seŋ tá-cá dəbů tí-dzi ně-dzâdzoŋ tĭ pú = seŋ 1-household-PART UP-go then up-location DOWN-sit:COLL one do = PFV:EGO k^hì=bù,# hǎw-#tá# màgíŋ# jǎw# Jǽ# $k^{h}i = bu$, hǎw-tź məqíŋ jåw Jâ time = TOP that-this old.man again front:GEN $\dot{\mathbf{e}}$ - $\mathbf{z}\dot{\mathbf{a}}$ = $\mathbf{m}\dot{\mathbf{a}}$ = $\mathbf{q}\dot{\mathbf{a}}$ = $\mathbf{b}\dot{\mathbf{u}}$ # $\mathbf{t}\dot{\mathbf{u}}$ = $\mathbf{m}\dot{\mathbf{a}}$ $\mathbf{c}\dot{\mathbf{i}}$ = $\mathbf{l}\dot{\mathbf{a}}$ # \check{e} - $\check{z}\check{a}$ = ma = ga = bi = bu $t\hat{u} = m\hat{e}$ ci = laIN-come = NMLZ = DEF = DAT = TOP look = NMLZ EXIST.AB = also $m\dot{a} = d\dot{a}w, \# m\dot{a} = i\dot{a}\# tc^{h}i\eta tc\dot{a} = l\dot{a}\# m\dot{a} = z\dot{a}$ $m\check{a} = daw$ mô=J9 $tc^{h}i\eta tca = la$ $m\check{a} = z\hat{i}$ NEG = IPFV:N.EGO person = PL Ch:Nuòs \bar{u} .friend = also NEG = EXIST.AN m a dz a = daw.#m a dz a = daw.GNOMIC = IPFV:N.EGO

'After having eaten, when several of our household went up to sit together for a while up there, that old man came again, that one who came first and had no person to look after him, and even had no Nuòsū friend.'

(63) d\u00ebb\u00eb\u00ebb\u00ebt\u00eblu z\u00ebg\u00ebg\u00eblu = b\u00eb\u00ebu t\u00eblu p\u00eblu t\u00eblu p\u00eblu t\u00eblu z\u00ebg\u00eblu = bu t\u00eblu t\u00eblu p\u00eblu t\u00eblu z\u00eblu g\u00eblu = bu t\u00eblu t\u00eblu p\u00eblu t\u00eblu z\u00eblu g\u00eblu g\u00eb

(64) $\acute{v} = \imath \eth = b\grave{u} = b\grave{u} # t\grave{u} = l\acute{a} # tç\eth # m\grave{u} = d\acute{a}w. #$ $\acute{v} = \imath \eth = b\grave{u}$ $t\grave{u} = la$ $tc\eth m\grave{u} = daw.$ 1 = PL = DAT = TOP anything = also say NEG = IPFV:N.EGO 'He did not say anything to us.'

 $\dot{v}m\dot{a} + n\dot{x}\eta dz \dot{u}m\dot{a} = b\dot{i} = b\dot{u} + d\dot{e}b\dot{u}, + \dot{e}m\dot{a} + \dot{e} = b\dot{u} + tc \dot{i}\eta m \dot{i}\eta + d\dot{e}b\dot{u}, + \dot{e}m\dot{a} + \dot{e}b\dot{u} + d\dot{e}b\dot{u}, + \dot{e}m\dot{a} + \dot{e}b\dot{u} + d\dot{e}b\dot{u}, + \dot{e}b\dot{u} + \dot{e}b\dot{u$ (65) emâ nændzuma = bi = bu dəbů, " \hat{a} ju, em \hat{a} é = bu tçínmin aunt Naedzuma = DAT = TOP then INTJ aunt 1 = TOP home k^{h} wǐnàn# zǔ,# tá# jwé = bù# jànán = lá... # tá-jánàn = là# é = jà# k^hwĭnæŋ zů, tá 1wé=bu j = la... tá-j = laét=jə Ch:difficult very this yak = TOPsmelly = also UP-smelly = also 1 = PLdzə wêŋ,# \acute{e} # tə́# \jmath wé-mú = gə̀# t^hè- \jmath èŋdí# q^hə- η shə́# hà# é tá jwé-mů = qə t^hě-*j*endí q^hě-*f*s^hê dzá wêŋ, ĥa eat CUST.EXCL 1SG this yak-corpse = DEF FR.SP-seek OUT-slaughter LINK \acute{e} # t \acute{a} # d \vec{z} \acute{e} t \acute{e} ^h \acute{a} # d \vec{a} # m \acute{a} = s \acute{u} # n \acute{e} -c \acute{e} = s \acute{u} tc \acute{e} dzət¢^hǽ $q^{h}\dot{a}$ $m\check{a} = su$ é tá ně-cá = su tçð 1sg this Chinese.gentian pick NEG = VOL:SG DOWN-go = VOL:SG say $k^{h}i = b\dot{u}, \# \acute{e} \# m\dot{a} = \imath i \# t \acute{a} \# m i n\acute{e} - d\dot{u},$ " $k^{h}i = bu$, mă = jì ně-dů," é tǎ mĭ time = TOP 1SG NEG = find now edible.fungus DOWN-be.poisoned tçàw.# tçaw. say:IFPV:N.EGO

'But he said to aunt Naedzuma, "Oh! Aunt, as for me, our family has a lot of difficulties. As for this yak, even though smelly... even though it has become smelly, we eat it. I sought the yak corpse to butcher it, saying that I did not want to go pick gentian, but I did not find it and now I got poisoned by a mushroom." '

(66) "tǎ = dì# é = dî,# dèdéŋ = lá# t^hǒŋ# mà = qéj dáw,"

"tǎ=diý=di,dədźn=la thờnmǎ=qɛj=daw"now=DISJ.TOP1SG=DISJ.TOPwalk=also can:N.EGONEG=EXPT=IPFV:N.EGOtçàw.#tçaw.HSYHSYHSY

' "As for now, I won't even be able to walk." '

dəbǔ# -wù# hwǎ=wù# dzóŋ kwêj,# -mì# (67) dəbù â-wa hwă=wu dzóŋ kwéj, ô-mĭ then that-in:GEN shack = in sit let:PFV:N.EGO that-night tè-mì = qź....# tǐ-mǐ = gə.... one-CLF:night = DEF 'Then (we) let him stay inside that shack, that one night...' (68) dzóŋ kwéj# dàbů# tá# gòŋnⁱ \dot{a} = Jóŋní# dàbů# nà-mǐ# dzóŋ kwéj dəbů tá goŋn^jằ = Joŋni dəbů nð-mǐ this Nuòs $\bar{u} = PL:AGT$ then let:PFV:N.EGO then sit two-CLF:night sòŋ-mǐ# \dot{a} -dzì# \dot{e} -wúmæŋ k^hì = bù,# dàbǔ# nè-cà â-dzi ě-wúmæŋ $k^{h}i = bu$. dəbů ně-cá sòŋ-mľ three-CLF:night that-location IN-care.for time = TOP then DOWN-go $k^{h}i = b\dot{u}\# j\dot{a}w\# q\dot{a}-p\dot{u}\# t\acute{e}-c\dot{i} = t^{j}\dot{a}w\dot{u}\#$ $k^{h}i = bu$ jăw qă-pu $t\mathbf{i}$ - $c\mathbf{\hat{i}} = t^{j}\mathbf{\hat{w}}$ wu time = TOP again down-under one-CLF:village = INDF:GEN interior nè-tà $k^{h}i = b\dot{u}, \# t^{h}wi k^{h}\partial - t^{h}i\eta \# jǎw \# d∂-næng = sì tçàw.#$ ně-tǎ $k^{h}i = bu$, $t^h w \hat{i} k^h \check{\partial} - t^h i \eta$ jǎw $d\tilde{a}$ -n $\hat{a}\eta$ = si tçaw. DOWN-arrive time = TOP ale OUT-drink again TO.SP-severe = INF HSY 'After having let him stay, those Nuòsū people took care of him there for two,

three nights, but then when he went down and arrived in a village and drank ale, he relapsed, it is said.'

'After that, we didn't see each other again.'

CV09: 'Mushroom-poisoning' (conversation)

An excerpt of a conversation about the mushroom-poisoning story that speaker Y told a few nights before and the events that happened during that trip in the mountains.

- S: tìtí# tìtí pù# fià# n^j \acute{x} # gŏ η = wù# kwí = mi# ((tǐ# (8.1)tití tití pú ha n^jǽ $g \check{o} \eta = w u \quad k w \hat{i} = m \vartheta$ ((tľ slowly slowly do LINK body = in EXIST.IN = NMLZ2sg:gen one nè-tóŋ tá pàw)),# tèthǐ# jǎw# sáwdiàw tà,# pâw)), tethĭ jǎw sâwd^jaw tâ, ně-tóŋ tĭ DOWN-speak one do:IMP:SG after.a.while again think can S: 'Slowly narrate what you remember, and after a while (you) can think again.'
- (8.2) $\dot{e} = dz\dot{e}\eta = bi\# t^{j}\dot{e}-m\dot{u}\# ton q^{h}u tcaw\# ha, \# e = dzen$ $\acute{e} = dzæ\eta = bi t^{i} \check{e} - m \check{n}$ tóŋ q^hŭ tcaw ĥa, $\dot{v} = dz a \eta$ 1 = DU = DAT recently-night speak need say:IPFV:N.EGO LINK 1 = DU $tc\hat{a} = m\hat{a}\# m\hat{a} c\hat{a} = m\hat{a} = n\hat{a}\eta\# t\hat{a} c\hat{a}$ tí-q^hwa tcð = mə mĭ q^hà $c\hat{a} = m\hat{a} = no\eta$

say = NMLZ edible.fungus pick go = NMLZ = COORD up-top:GEN hònl^jà tú có = mò = tì# è = ní# nè-tón = sên,# há...#

hoŋl^j \check{a} từ cớ = mə = ti é = ni ně-tóŋ = seŋ, ha... Ch:goldthread.root dig go = NMLZ = INDF 1 = AGT DOWN-speak = PFV:EGO INTJ

'(They) told the two of us in recent nights to tell stories, so the two of us told a (story) about going mushroom picking and I a (story) about going goldthread root digging, hahaha!'

(9) G: há....# ha.... INTJ

G: 'Hahaha!'

(10) P: nǐŋ# từthờŋ = cí# nừ-tshá pú = dàw khì,# há....# nǐŋ tựthờŋ = ci nữ-tshá pú = daw khi, há.... 2SG after.a.while = LIM.TOP DOWN-be.finished do = IPFV:N.EGO TRAIL INTJ

P: 'You purposely finish in just a while, hahaha!'

(11) S: $\dot{v}m\dot{a} = dz\dot{a}\eta = b\dot{u}, \# m\dot{a} = dz\dot{a}... \#$ $vm\dot{a} = dza\eta = bu, m\dot{a} = dz\dot{a}...$ aunt = DU = TOP NEG = be

S: That's not so, (we) two aunts...'

Y: $m\check{a} = dz\check{a}, \# titi\# titi p\check{u} = ji dz\check{a} k^{h}i = b\check{u}, \# \acute{a}s\check{e}\eta?\#$ (12)tití $p\hat{\mathbf{u}} = \mathbf{j}\mathbf{i}$ dzâ $k^{h}i = bu$. mă = dzô, tití NEG = be slowly slowly do = NMLZ betime = TOP AGRY: 'That's not so, (we) should do it slowly, right?' (13) S: nŏŋmèdà, # dùµí # dùµí pú = jì dzè k^hì = bù. # nŏnməda, dují dují pú=ji $dz\hat{a} k^{h}i=bu.$ leisurely leisurely do = NMLZ be time = TOP right S: 'That's right, (we) should do it leisurely.' (14)Y: $\dot{v}m\dot{a} = g\dot{o}\eta n\dot{a} # q\dot{u}t\dot{a}_{J}\dot{a} tc\dot{a} # n\dot{v}-ts^{h}\dot{a} p\dot{u} ts\dot{e}\eta = s\dot{i}.#$ emâ = gonni qûtəjə tçð ně-ts^há tsen = si.рú in.a.flash aunt = AGTsay DOWN-be.finished do N.CONTR = INFY: 'Unfortunately, aunt was finished in a flash.' (CV09.14) S: há....# (15)ha INTJ S: 'Hahaha!' (16.1) Y: dbů# n η =dzeη# du dzwa=la# ma=qej baw,# dseη,# dəbů nin = dzæn d \check{u} dzwa = la $m\check{a} = q\epsilon i$ baw, âseη, then 2 = DUwrite comfortable = also NEG = EXPT CONTR AGR $n\dot{\vartheta} = m\dot{\vartheta} \# t^{h}\dot{\vartheta}\eta = m\dot{\vartheta} = t\dot{\iota} = b\dot{\iota}.\#$ $t^{h} \acute{o} \eta = m \vartheta = ti = bu.$ $n\hat{a} = m\hat{a}$

thus = NMLZ fast = NMLZ = INDF = TOP

Y: 'When it is one that short, it won't be convenient for the two of you to write, right?'

(16.2) mâ?#

mæ? what

'What?'

(17) P: zǎ# é=dàw?#

zð ê=daw?

come Q = IPFV:N.EGO

P: 'Is (he, it) coming?'

S: $d\hat{\mathbf{u}} = s\hat{\mathbf{z}}\# t\hat{\mathbf{z}}\# m\hat{\mathbf{u}} = q\hat{\mathbf{z}}j k^{h}\hat{\mathbf{z}} = b\hat{\mathbf{u}}, \# \hat{\mathbf{u}} = \mathbf{z}\hat{\mathbf{z}}\# d\hat{\mathbf{z}}b\hat{\mathbf{u}}\#$ (18)tá $m\check{a} = q\epsilon j$ $k^{h}i = bu$ dəbŭ $d\check{u} = s \eth$ ĭŋ=Jə write = CONTR.TOP this NEG = EXPTtime = TOP 1.INCL = PLthen $t \acute{o} \eta = j \acute{i} = t i \# t \acute{e} t^{h} i = c \acute{i} \# n \acute{e} - t s^{h} \acute{a} = d \acute{a} w$ $t \circ \eta = j i = t i$ tet^hĭ = çi $n\check{v}$ -ts^h \acute{a} = daw speak = NMLZ = INDF after.a.while = LIM.TOP DOWN-be.finished = IPFV:N.EGO k^hì,# míŋ dzà# t¢^hémì,# nè-má sà hà.# k^hi, dzô t¢^hêmi, ně-mà mîŋ fia. SƏ TRAIL what be not.sure DOWN-forget go:PFV:N.EGO LINK S: 'The writing however won't be (too difficult), what we were narrating was finished in just a while; what it is I don't know, I forgot (those stories).' G: mì q^há = m \dot{a} = n $\dot{o}\eta$ = b \dot{u} # i η = J \dot{a} # t \dot{a} # súz \dot{u} (19)

 $q^{h}\dot{a} = m\vartheta = no\eta = bu$ tá mĭ ĭŋ = Jæ sûzʉ edible.fungus pick = NMLZ = COORD = TOP 1.INCL = PL:GEN this Ch:wages $t\hat{\mathbf{u}} = m\hat{\mathbf{v}} = n\hat{\mathbf{v}}\eta \# t\hat{\mathbf{v}}_1\hat{\mathbf{v}} = l\hat{\mathbf{u}}\# j\hat{\mathbf{v}}h\hat{\mathbf{u}}\# t\hat{\mathbf{v}}\eta k\hat{\mathbf{v}}_1 = d\hat{\mathbf{u}}w m\hat{\mathbf{v}} dz\hat{\mathbf{v}}^2$ $t \check{\mathbf{u}} = m \partial = n \partial \eta$ $t\dot{a} = Ja = la$ jehǎ tóŋ $k \epsilon j = daw$ mə dzə â? dig = NMLZ = COORD this = PL = also all speak let = IPFV:N.EGO GNOMIC CONF G: '(He) let (you) narrate the picking mushroom (story) and the (story) of us

digging for wages/medicinal herbs?'

fið.

INTJ

S: 'Right.'

(22) Y: $\hat{\diamond}$ -q^hwà# mì né-dù=mà=nòŋ# ná=tí# $\hat{\diamond}$ -q^hwa mǐ ně-dù=ma=noŋ n^já=ti that-top:GEN edible.fungus DOWN-be.poisoned=NMLZ=COORD thus=INDF nè-tóŋ# t^hè-k^hìŋ k^hí=bù,# ně-tóŋ t^hě-k^hǐŋ k^hi=bu, DOWN-speak FR.SP-give time=TOP

Y: 'I told to them the things about the mushroom poisoning up there and those kinds (of stories).'

P: $z en a li q^h u t c a k^h = la \# li wen \# ma = daw \# ha$ (23) q^{h} ů t¢ž $k^{h}i = la$ lí zenð lí wêŋ mă=daw ĥa story narrate POL say time = also narrate be.able NEG = IPFV:N.EGO LINK tçəbù# nìŋ = $4 \times m$ né-dù,...# gòŋnⁱà = nóŋ...,# tçəbu nǐŋ= Jæ mĭ ně-dů,... $go\eta n^{j} \check{a} = no\eta...,$ because 2 = PL:GEN edible.fungus DOWN-be.poisoned Nuòs $\bar{u} = COORD$ $\hat{a}w, \# \hat{a}-dz\hat{a}\# j\hat{o}nd\hat{n}-m\hat{a}=j\hat{a}....\#$ â-dzæ Jóŋdiŋ-mə = Jə.... âw, INTJ that-location:GEN lowland-person = PL

P: 'Because when (I) asked them to please tell a story they couldn't tell it, your mushroom poisoning...the Nuòsū and... oh, that lowland person...'

- (24.1) S: zèně# něn# mín dzè# jé-k^hì# něn# sépúsélàdzé tçè,# zenž nǒŋ mîŋ dzâ _Jâ-k^hi nŏŋ sápusâladzâ t¢ð, front-time so in.the.past so what be guess.this.riddle say min = bu# min tc = $m\hat{\eta} = bu$ mîn tçð nŏn kě pú lí wêŋ mə weŋ ha. what = TOP what say so afraid do narrate CUST.EXCL NMLZ.CONSTR S: 'In that case in the past (they) often told riddles, "Something is something, what is it?" '
- (24.2) míŋ dz

 wêj, # nè-m

 môŋ dz

 wej, ně-m

 ně-ts^há = si.

 what be PUZ DOWN-forget DOWN-be.finished = INF
 'What on earth is it? (I)'ve totally forgotten (them).' (CV09.24.2)
- (25.1) Y: fiǎw-k^hì = bù# ìŋ = Já dzà mà dzà fià,# ásèŋ?#
 fiǎw-k^hi = bu ǐŋ = Ja dzâ ma dza fia, âseŋ?
 that-time = TOP 1:INCL = PL be NMLZ.CONSTR AGR
 Y: 'At that time it was us, right?'

(25.2) $\dot{e}m\dot{a} = g\dot{o}\eta n\dot{a} \# t^{h}\dot{e} \# n\dot{n} = b\hat{i}, \# t\dot{a} = J\dot{o}\eta n\dot{i} \# t^{h}\dot{e} \# qw\dot{e}\cdot k^{h}\dot{i} \#$ $em\hat{a} = qonni t^{h}\acute{e}$ nı́n=bi, t \dot{a} = jonni t^h \dot{e} gwé-k^hi all.the.time 2SG = DAT 3 = PL:AGT all.the.time shout-time aunt = AGT $qwé_{ij} = la # aw tca # ma = daw # fa, # in = dzé_{ij} = gonni # q^{h}a-nén$ qwézej=la áw tçð mà=daw ĥa $i\eta = dz \alpha \eta = go\eta ni q^{h} \tilde{\partial} - \eta \hat{\alpha} \eta$ shout = also intj say NEG = IPFV:N.EGO LINK 1.INCL = DU = AGT OUT-slow $p\hat{u} = g\hat{i}, \# \hat{o}-p\hat{u}\# n\hat{v}-s\hat{o}\# b\hat{a} tc\hat{o} = s\hat{e}\eta.\#$ á-pù ně-sð bă $p \hat{\mathbf{u}} = q \mathbf{i},$ $tc \tilde{a} = se\eta$. do:IPFV:INCL that-under DOWN-die SPEC say = PFV:EGO

'Aunt (= I) said to you -even though they were all continuously shouting, but he did not even reply "Here!'- "The two of us, let's go a bit slower, he has maybe died under there." '

(26) S: nǒŋ# tá=gá# èmá# çế=gòŋ# t^jǎ-mì# tóŋ=dâw.#
nǒŋ tá=ga emâ çê=goŋ t^jǎ-mi tóŋ=daw.
so this=DEF aunt big=AGT recently-night speak=IPFV:N.EGO
S: 'So oldest aunt told this one during a recent evening.' (CV09.26)

(28) G: fiǎ.#

fið. INTJ

G: 'Right!'

(29) PS: há....# ha.... INTJ

P,S: 'Hahaha!'

(30) Y: $t \neq = i \neq t$ to $i = s \neq i$ k^hi = b u, # $t \neq t^h = c i \# t$ to i #t $\neq = i \neq t$ to $i = s \neq i$ k^hi = b u, $t \neq t^h = c i$

tóŋ this = PL speak = PFV:N.EGO time = TOP after.a.while = LIM.TOP speak nề-ts^há pú tsèn = sì mà, # t^hón pú# k^hà-tçà tsén ně-ts^há $p\acute{u}$ tsen = si t^hóŋ pú k^hð-t¢ð ma, tseŋ DOWN-be.finished do N.CONTR = INF INFO fast do OUT-say N.CONTR sə fià.# fia. SƏ go:PFV:N.EGO LINK

Y: 'When (I) told these (stories), (I) unfortunately finished almost immediately, (I) was talking very fast unfortunately.'

(31) P:

(32.1) G: tá# màgén=gónnì# nǒn# pèjpèjlálá# gwěn# nè-dzéj# fià,# ásèn?#
tá màgén=gonni nǒn pejpejlála gwěn ně-dzèj fia, âsen?
this old.man=AGT so unnecessary horse DOWN-ride LINK AGR
G: 'This old man rode horse, right?'

(32.2) gwěn = tù# ìn = 4 wú# è-tà pú tchón khì,#k^hi, $gwen = tu \quad in = jæ$ wu ě-tǎ t¢^hôŋ pú horse = on 1.INCL = PL:GEN interior IN-arrive do come:PFV:N.EGO time k^{h} ùnú# "wû" tçà tìŋ,# è = nání# má dzà tçà k^{h} ì = là,# k^hǔ-nû "wû" tcð = tiŋ é=nəni mə̂ dzâ tcă $k^{h}i = la$. out-outside INTJ say = AUD 1 = AGTperson be say time = also $ni\eta = i \circ \eta \# m \check{a} = dz \check{a} tc \check{a}w; \# ni\eta = i \circ \eta \# t^{i} \check{a} = ci\eta = n \circ \eta \#$ $ni\eta = jo\eta$ $m\dot{a} = dz\hat{a}$ tcaw; $ni\eta = i o \eta$ $t^{i} a = ci\eta = n o \eta$ 2 = PL:AGT NEG = besay:IPFV:N.EGO 2 = PL:AGT PROH = go:IMP:PL = COORD $t^{j} \acute{a} = c i \eta t c \dot{a} w. \#$ $t^{j} a = c n$ tçaw. PROH = go:IMP:PL say:IPFV:N.EGO

'When he came on horse (with the purpose of) arriving in our midst, (I) heard (somebody) say "Wu!" outside, but when I said that it was a person, you said that it wasn't, and you said, "Don't go over, don't go over!" '

```
(33.1) Y: "wǔ,# wǔ"# tà t¢ǎ# hà,# śsèŋ?#
```

"wǔ, wǔ" ta t¢ð ha, ôseŋ?

INTJ INTJ ONLY SAY LINK AGR

Y: '(He) only said, "Wu wu!" right?' (CV09.33.1)

(33.2) $nin = dz \neq n = bu, \# ehwa'eji \# nin = dz \neq n = bu, \# nu \# zi kej \# ha, #$ $ni\eta = dz a \eta = bu$, $\hat{e}hwa' \hat{e}ji$ $ni\eta = dzæ\eta = bu, nû$ zî kéj fia, 2 = DU = TOPNS:Ahwa'aji 2 = DU = TOPoutside EXIST.AN let LINK $\dot{e} = J\check{o}\eta \# \dot{e} \cdot p^{h}i\eta \# h\dot{a}, \# z\dot{e}mi = d\dot{i}\# tsu\# dz\dot{a} = d\dot{a}w, \#$ ě-p^hìŋ ha, é = Joù zemî = di tsú $dz\hat{a} = daw$, 1 = PL:AGT IN-flee LINK tonight = DISJ.TOP ghost be = IPFV:N.EGO zèmí = dì....# zemî = di.... tonight = DISJ.TOP

'(We) let the two of you -Ahwa'aji, the two of you- remain outside, and we fled (into the yak shed), (saying), "Tonight it's a ghost, tonight..." '

(34) G:
$$\dot{e} = n\dot{e}ni$$
 $m\dot{e} = J\dot{e}$ $m\dot{e}$ $dz\dot{e}$ $tc\dot{e}$ $k^{h}\dot{i} = l\dot{a}$,
 $\dot{e} = n\dot{e}ni$ $m\dot{e} = Je$ $m\dot{e}$ $dz\dot{e}$ $tc\dot{e}$ $k^{h}\dot{i} = la$,
 $1SG = AGT:EMPH$ person = PL:GEN person be say time = also
 $t\dot{e} = J\dot{o}\eta n\dot{e} = bi$ $k^{h}\dot{e} - c\dot{e} = d\hat{a}w$, $m\check{n}\eta$ $k^{h}w\acute{e}$ $tc\acute{e}$
 $t\dot{e} = Jo\eta ni$ $\acute{e} = bi$ $k^{h}\dot{e} - c\dot{e} = daw$, $n\check{n}\eta$ $k^{h}w\acute{e}$ $tc\acute{e}$
 $3 = PL:AGT$ $1SG = DAT$ OUT-go = IPFV:N.EGO 2SG heart be.big
 $z\dot{u} = daw$ $tc\check{e}$ fia.
 $very = IPFV:N.EGO$ say LINK

G: 'Even when I said that that was a person, they came over to me and said, "(You) are still going out, you are very bold." '

G: k^h wé tçé# $z\hat{u} = d\hat{a}w$ tç $\hat{a}w$ $k^h\hat{i} = l\hat{a}$,# (36) $k^h w \acute{e} t c \acute{e} z \check{u} = daw$ tcaw $k^{h}i = la$, heart big very=IPFV:N.EGO say:IPFV:N.EGO time=also $\dot{v} = n\dot{v}ni\# m\dot{v} = J\dot{w}\# m\dot{v}\# dz\dot{v}, \# m\dot{v}\# dz\dot{v} tc\dot{v} = s\dot{v}n$ é = nəni mâ = jæ dzâ, mâ $dz\hat{a} tc\tilde{a} = se\eta$ mô person = PL:GEN person be person be 1SG = AGTsay = PFV:EGO $k^{h}i = b\dot{u}, \# d\dot{e}b\check{u}\# \acute{e}\# k^{h}\dot{e}-c\dot{e}=s\acute{e}\eta k^{h}i=b\dot{u}, \#$ dəbů é $k^{h} \check{a} - c \check{a} = se\eta$ $k^{h}i = bu$, $k^{h}i = bu$. time = TOP then 1SG OUT-go = PFV:EGO time = TOP tátá# m \neq dz \neq = daw k^hi.# k^hi. táta mâ $dz\hat{a} = daw$ exactly person be = IPFV:N.EGO TRAIL G: 'When they said to me, "You are very bold," and when I said, "It is a person, it is a person," then when I went outside, it was exactly a person.' (CV09.36) Y: $j\hat{u}tc^{h}i\# t\hat{a}$ - $t\hat{a} k^{h}i\# m\hat{a} = j\hat{a}\# m\hat{a}\# b\hat{c}t\hat{a}\# h\hat{a}\#$ (37) k^hi <u>j</u>utc^hí tá-tă $m\hat{a} = jæ$ mâ bètâtâ ĥa front UP-arrive time person = PL:GEN person wide.open.eyed LINK \dot{a} -dz \dot{a} # j \dot{a} ŋl \dot{a} wù m \dot{a} gìŋ = bì t^h \dot{e} -tsèŋ ô-dzæ $m = g e \eta = b i$ jænlâwu t^hě-tsén that-location:GEN Ch:Yang.Lawu old.man = DAT FR.SP-fall.down pà,# ásèŋ?# pâ, ôseŋ? do:pfv:n.ego Agr Y: 'When he arrived, he fell down on old Yang Lawu with unblinking eyes, right?' (38.1) G: swánswí# swánswí tç= dùw k^hi,# nìn = $_{1}$ ź# swánswí# swánswi $tc \tilde{a} = daw$ $k^{h}i$, $ni\eta = j$ swénswi swénswi Ch:sour.water Ch:sour.water say = IPFV:N.EGO time 2 = PLCh:sour.water t^{i} óŋ = là mà# t^{h} ǒŋ# mà = dáw mà dàw hà.# t^jôŋ = la mà t^hǒŋ $m\check{a} = daw$ mə daw ha. one:CLF:thing = also hear can:N.EGO NEG = IPFV:N.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR G: 'When he said, "Sour water, sour water," none of you was able to hear (him say) "Sour water" (...)' (CV09.38.1)

- (38.2) swáŋşwí tçà = dàw tçà = sèŋ k^hì = nòŋ = bù, # dàbǔ. #
 swáŋşwi tçă = daw tçă = seŋ k^hi = noŋ = bu, dabǔ.
 Ch:sour.water say = IPFV:N.EGO say = PFV:EGO time = only = TOP then
 'Only when I said, "He is saying, 'Sour water'," then...'
- (39.1) Y: swéŋşwí# tçè t^hóŋ# mà = dáw mè dàw hà.#
 swéŋşwi tçě t^hǒŋ mă = daw me daw ha.
 Ch:sour.water say can:N.EGO NEG = IPFV:N.EGO NMLZ.CONSTR

Y: 'He wasn't able to say "sour water." '

(39.2) $m\check{a} = dz\check{a}, \# d\check{o}\eta = bi\# n\acute{a}p\acute{u}k^{h}i, \#$

mă = dzè, dǒŋ = bì n \circ p \acute{u} k^hì,

NEG = be milk.pail = DAT thus do time

nìŋ=góŋ# t^hè-t¢íŋ pá *l*à nànì mà nì hà.#

 $2 \text{SG} = \text{AGT} \quad \text{FR.SP-see} \quad \text{do:} \text{PFV:} \text{N.EGO} \quad \text{seems} \quad \text{NMLZ.CONSTR}$

'That's not so, when he was acting like this (=pointing) to the milk pail, it seems (to me) that you saw it.'

(40) G: $m\check{a} = dz \grave{a}, \# sw\acute{e}\eta swi tc\grave{b} = m\grave{b} \# \grave{e}l^j\check{a}\check{c}\check{t} \# m\grave{b} = t\check{a}, \# \acute{e} = b\hat{u}. \#$ $m\check{a} = dz \grave{a}, sw\acute{e}\eta swi tc\grave{b} = m\eth e^{l^j}\check{a}\check{t}i m\grave{b} = ta, \acute{e} = bu.$ NEG = be Ch:sour.water say = NMLZ a.little hear = SVM 1SG = TOP

'That's not so, I heard him say "Sour water" a little bit.'

(41) Y: ájòŋmâ.#

âjoŋmâ. ^{INTJ}

Y: 'Whoa!'

- (42) G: swáŋşwî,# swáŋşwí tçà=dàw.# swáŋşwi, swáŋşwi tçà=daw. Ch:sour.water Ch:sour.water say=IPFV:N.EGO G: 'He was saying, "Sour water, sour water." '
- (43) P: fiéhê, # fiéhê, tçàw# â, # há....#
 fiéhê, fiéhê, tçaw â, ha....
 INTJ INTJ say:IPFV:N.EGO CONF INTJ
 P: 'Did he say "Heheng, heheng?" Hahaha!'

(44) S: há....# ha INTJ S: 'Hahaha!' (45.1) Y: hǎ, # swæŋswí tçà# ná pú# tçà zín = qij# bǎ.#ĥð. swæŋswi ná tcð tcð рú zin = acibǎ. INTJ Ch:sour.water say thus do say can = EXPT SPEC Y: 'Oh, how will he be able to say "Sour water" like that?' (45.2) jæŋláwù màgìŋ = q^hù t^hè-tsèŋ pà, # ájù, # ájù, # nǐŋ # jænlâwu $m = q^{h}u + t^{h} e^{t}$ pâ ôju, ôju, nǐŋ Ch:Yang.Lawu old.man = on FR.SP-fall.down do:PFV:N.EGO INTJ INTJ 2SGmàgén# mín dòn,# mín dòn tcà# ná pú=dàw məgén mîn dòn, mîŋ dòŋ tcð ná $p\dot{\mathbf{u}} = daw$ old.man what become what become say thus do:IPFV:N.EGO mà dàw fià,# há....# mə daw ha, ha.... NMLZ.CONSTR INTJ '(When he entered the shack) he fell down on old Yang Lawu, who said to him, "Oh, oh, what's up with you, old man? What's up with you?" Hahaha!' (46.1) G: tçůş ∂ , # sw α nswi = g ∂ # ∂ ^j α ti = bu, # tc ∂ # dzwa = daw swénswi = qə el^jěti = bu. tçð dzwá=daw tçůsə, Ch:merely Ch:sour.water = DEF a.little = TOP say comfortable = IPFV:N.EGO $k^{h}i = b\dot{u}, \# t\check{i} \# tc\check{a} \# zin = d\acute{a}w k^{h}i = b\dot{u}. \#$ $k^{h}i = bu$, tĭ tçð $zi\eta = daw$ $k^{h}i = bu$. time = TOP one say can = IPFV:N.EGO time = TOP G: 'That's right, he was able to say "Sour water" a little bit.' (46.2) dèbů# $\dot{v} = n \dot{a} n \dot{i} \# m \dot{a} = J \dot{a} \# \dot{a} - dz \dot{a} \# t \dot{a} \# k \dot{a} t c \dot{a} k \dot{i}$ dəbů e = nəni $m\hat{a} = s\hat{a}$ â-dzæ tá kətcð kĭ then 1 = AGT person = PL:GEN that-location:GEN this yoghurt give.drink q^{h} ù tç $\partial =$ dàw sì dàw tç $\partial =$ sèn k^{h} ì = bù.# q^{h} ů tçð = daw $tc \tilde{a} = se\eta$ $k^{h}i = bu$. si daw POL say = IPFV:N.EGO EPIST: probably say = PFV:EGOtime = TOP 'So I said, he is probably requesting us to give him this yoghurt to drink.'

(46.3) dbů# kbt¢J# t^hv-kì k^hi=bù,# dbů# ni=Jw#

dəbŭ kətçð t^hě-kĭ $k^{h}i = bu$. dəbů $n\hat{i} = j\hat{a}$ then yoghurt FR.SP-give.drink time = TOP then LOG = PL:GEN k^{h} ù-pâ...# tý=qý# t^{hj} # q^h d' pâ,# ýsèn?# k^hŭ-pa... tá = qə t^{hj}ằ d^hð−dě pâ, âseŋ? out-under:GEN this = DEF about OUT-capable do:PFV:N.EGO AGR 'So when we gave him yoghurt to drink, then... this one recovered pretty much, right?'

- (46.4) d\u00ebb\u00eb\u00eb\u00ebt t\u00eb = dz\u00eb\u00eb\u00eb t\u00eb\u00eb q \u00eb\u00eb t\u00eb\u00eb = dz\u00eb\u00eb n t\u00eb\u00eb q \u00eb\u00eb t\u00eb q \u00eb t\u00eb t\u00eb q \u00eb t\u00eb t\u00eb q \u00eb t\u00eb t\u00eb q \u00eb t\u00eb t\u00eb q \u00eb t\u00eb t\u00eb q \u00eb t\u00eb q \u00eb t\u00eb q \u00eb t\u00eb t\u00eb q \u00eb t\u00eb t\u00eb t\u00eb t\u00eb q \u00eb t\u00eb t\u00
- Y: tá-p^hé pà k^hì = bù, # t¢^hípǽ# dèıĕj# q^hà-tóŋ má tòŋ hà, # (47) tá-p^hě $k^{h}i = bu$, tç^hípæ pâ jštap q^hð-tóŋ mə toŋ ha, UP-vomit do:PFV:N.EGO time = TOP very.well speech OUT-speak NMLZ.CONSTR ásèŋ,# "swà swá" t¢∂# tá-p^hé pà.# ôseŋ, "swà swá" tçð tá-p^hě pâ. UP-vomit do:PFV:N.EGO AGR IDEO IDEO say

Y: 'When he had vomited, he was able to talk very well, right? He vomited, "Shwa, shwa!" '

(48.1) G: hǎ,# dàbǔ# tà=dzàn tcú cà q^hù tcà# hà,# \dot{v} =dzǎn,...# \dot{v} =Jà=bì# ĥð, dəbů t $\dot{a} = dz \alpha \eta t c \hat{u}$ cá q^hǔ t¢ð ha, $\acute{e} = dz an, \dots \acute{e} = J a = bi$ INTJ then 3 = DUCh:rescue go POL say LINK 1 = DU1 = PL = DAT $q^{h}\partial - z\dot{a} q^{h}w\dot{a}\eta \# t^{h}\partial z\dot{a} = n\dot{o}\eta \# t^{h}\partial z\dot{a} tc\dot{o} = d\dot{a}w, \#$ $q^h w \check{e} \eta t^h \partial z \acute{e} = n \circ \eta$ q^hð-zà t^həzǽ $tc \tilde{a} = daw$, OUT-carry POL:PL thank.you = COORD thank.you say = IPFV:N.EGO thàzá láwláw tcàw.# t^həzǽ lawlaw tcaw. thank.you very.much say = IPFV:N.EGO

G: 'Right, then he requested us to rescue his two companions, and said to the two of us, to all of us, "Please carry it eastwards, thank you, thank you very much again!" '

References

- Aikhenvald, Alexandra Y. 2003. *Classifiers: A typology of noun categorization devices*. Oxford Studies in Typology and Linguistic Theory. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Aikhenvald, Alexandra Y. 2006. 'Serial verb constructions in typological perspective'.
 In Alexandra Y. Aikhenvald and R.M.W. Dixon (eds.), *Serial verb constructions*, 1-68. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Aikhenvald, Alexandra Y. 2007. 'Typological dimensions in word-formation'. In Timothy Shopen (ed.), Language typology and syntactic description, Vol. III: Grammatical categories and the lexicon, 1-65. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Aikhenvald, Alexandra Y. 2012. 'The essence of mirativity'. *Linguistic Typology* 16: 435-485.
- Andrews, Avery. 1985/2007. 'The major functions of the noun phrase'. In Timothy Shopen (ed.), Language typology and syntactic description, Vol. I: Clause structure, 62-154/132-223. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Arakawa Shintarō. 2012. 'On the tangut verb prefixes in "Tiansheng Code". In Irina Popova (ed.), *Тангуты в Центральной Азии: сборник статей в честь 80-летия проф. Е.И.Кычанова* [Tanguts in Central Asia: a collection of articles marking the 80th anniversary of Prof. E. I. Kychanov], 58–71. Moscow: Oriental Literature.
- Benedict, Paul. 1972. *Sino-Tibetan: A Conspectus*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bickel, Balthasar. 1999a. 'From *ergativus absolutis* to topic marking in Kiranti: a typological perspective'. Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the Berkeley Linguistics Society 25(2): 38-49.
- Bickel, Balthasar. 1999b. 'Nominalization and focus constructions in some Kiranti languages'. In Yogendra P. Yadava and Warren W. Glover (eds.), *Topics in Nepalese linguistics*, 271-296. Kathmandu: Royal Nepal Academy.
- Boersma, Paul and David Weenink. 2009. *Praat: Doing phonetics by computer* [Computer program]. Version 5.1.07, retrieved 1 February 2009 from http://www.praat.org.
- Bradley, David. 1979. *Proto-Loloish*. Scandinavian Institute of Asian Studies Monograph Series 39. London and Malmo: Curzon Press.

- Bradley, David. 1997. 'Tibeto-Burman languages and classification'. In David Bradley (ed.), *Papers in Southeast Asian linguistics No.14: Tibeto-Burman languages of the Himalayas*, 1-72. Canberra: Pacific Linguistics, A-86.
- Bradley, David. 2002. 'The subgrouping of Tibeto-Burman'. In Christopher I. Beckwith (ed.), *Medieval Tibeto-Burman languages*, 73-112. Leiden: Brill.
- Bradley, David. 2013. 'Time ordinals in Tibeto-Burman'. Paper presented at the 23rd Annual Meeting of the Southeast Asian Linguistic Society, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, May 29-31, 2013.
- Bybee, Joan L. and Östen Dahl. 1989. 'The creation of tense and aspect systems in the languages of the world'. *Studies in Language* 13(1): 51-103.
- Chan, Jo. Basic Grammar of the Sìchuān Yányuán Pǔmǐ Language, MS.
- Chelliah, Shobhana. 2009. 'Semantic role to new information in Meithei'. In Jóhanna Barðdal and Shobhana Chelliah (eds.), *Semantic, pragmatice, and discourse factors in the development of case*, 337-400. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- Chirkova, Katia. 2006. 'Zài zhòngyīn yǔ shēngdiào de liánxù tǐ shàng kàn Shǐxīngyǔ 在 重音与声调的连续体上看史兴语 [The stress and tone continuum in Xùmǐ (Shǐxīng)]'. *Dōngfāng Yǔyánxué* 东方语言学 2: 143-152.
- Chirkova, Katia. 2009. 'Shǐxīng, a Sino-Tibetan language of South-West China: A grammatical sketch with two appended texts'. *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 32(1): 1-89.
- Chirkova, Katia. 2010. 'The Qiangic subgroup from an areal perspective: a case study of languages of Muli'. *Language and Linguistics* 13(1): 133-170.
- Comrie, Bernard. 1976. Aspect. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Comrie, Bernard. 1996. 'The unity of noun-modifying clauses in Asian languages'. *Pan-Asiatic Lingusitics: Proceedings of the Fourth International Symposium on Languages and Linguistics*, January 8-10, 1996, Volume 3: 1077-1088. Salaya, Thailand: Institute of Language and Culture for Rural Development, Mahidol University at Salaya.
- Comrie, Bernard. 1998. Attributive clauses in Asian languages: Towards an areal typology. In Boeder, W., C. Schroeder, K. H. Wagner, and W. Wildgen (eds.) Sprache in Raum und Zeit, in memoriam Johannes Bechert, Band 2, 51 60. Tubingen: Narr.
- Comrie, Bernard and Sandra A. Thompson. 2007. 'Lexical nominalization'. In Timothy Shopen (ed.), *Language typology and syntactic description*. *Volume III: Grammatical categories and the lexicon*, 334-381. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Coupe, Alexander R. 2007. *A grammar of Mongsen Ao*. Mouton Grammar Library 39. Berlin/New York: Mouton de Gruyter.
- Coupe, Alexander R. 2011a. 'On core case marking in two Tibeto-Burman languages of Nagaland'. *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 34(2): 21-47.
- Coupe, Alexander R. 2011b. 'Pragmatic foundations of transitivity in Ao'. In Kratochvíl, František, Alexander R. Coupe and Randy J. LaPolla (eds.), Studies in transitivity: insights from language documentation. *Studies in Language* 35(3): 492–522.
- Curnow, Timothy Jowan. 2002. 'Types of interactions between evidentials and first-person subjects'. *Anthropological Linguistics* 44(2): 178-196.
- Curnow, Timothy Jowan. 2003. 'Nonvolitionality expressed through evidentials'. *Studies in Language* 27(1): 39-59.
- Dài, Qìngxià 戴庆夏, Huáng Bùfán 黄布凡, Fù Àilán 傅爱兰, Renzeng Wangmu 仁增旺姆 and Liú Júhuáng 刘菊黄. 1991. Zàng-miǎnyǔ shíwǔ zhǒng 《藏缅语十五种》
 [Fifteen Tibeto-Burman languages]. Běijīng 北京: Yānshān Chūbǎnshè 燕山出版社.
- Dài, Qìngxià 戴庆夏 and Huáng Bùfán 黄布凡 et al. (eds.). 1992. Zàng-Miǎn yǔzú yǔyán *cíhuì* 《藏缅语组语言词汇》[A Tibeto-Burman lexicon]. Běijīng 北京: Zhōngyāng Mínzú Xuéyuàn Chūbǎnshè 中央民族学院出版社.
- Daudey, Henriëtte. 2014. 'Volition and control in Wadu Pumi'. *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 37(1).
- DeLancey, Scott. 1986. 'Evidentiality and volition in Tibetan'. In Wallace Chafe and Johanna Nichols (eds.), *Evidentiality: the linguistic coding of epistemology*, 203-213. Norwood: Ablex Publishing Corporation.
- DeLancey, Scott. 1991. 'The origins of verb serialization in Tibetan'. *Studies in Language* 15(1): 1-23.
- DeLancey, Scott. 1997. 'Grammaticalisation and the gradience of categories'. In Joan Bybee, John Haiman and Sandra A. Thompson (eds.), *Essays on language function and language type. Dedicated to T. Givón.* Amsterdam/Philadelphia: John Benjamins Publishing Company.
- DeLancey, Scott. 1998. 'Semantic categorization in Tibetan honorific nouns'. *Anthropological Linguistics* 40(1): 109-123.
- DeLancey, Scott. 1999. 'Relativization in Tibetan'. In Yogendra P. Yadava and Warren W. Glover (eds.), *Topics in Nepalese linguistics*, 231-249. Kathmandu: Royal Nepal Academy.

- DeLancey, Scott. 2001. 'The mirative and evidentiality'. *Journal of Pragmatics* 33: 369-382.
- DeLancey, Scott. 2002. 'Relativization and nominalization in Bodic'. *Berkeley Linguistics Society* 28: 55-72.
- DeLancey, Scott. 2003. 'Classical Tibetan'. In Randy LaPolla and Graham Thurgood (eds.), *The Sino-Tibetan Languages*, 255-269. London and New York: Routledge.
- DeLancey, Scott. 2012. 'Still mirativite after all those years'. *Linguistic Typology* 16: 529-564.
- Dickinson, Connie. 2000. 'Mirativity in Tsafiki'. Studies in Language 24(2): 379-421.
- Diffloth, Gérard. 1972. 'Notes on expressive meaning'. Papers from the Eighth Regional Meeting of the Chicago Linguistic Society, 440-448.
- Diffloth, Gérard. 1976. 'Expressives in Semai'. *Austroasiatic Studies*. Oceanic Linguistics, Special Publication, No.13. University of Hawaii Press.
- Diffloth, Gérard. 1994. 'i:*big*, a: *small*'. In Leanne Hinton, Johanna Nichols, and John Ohala (eds.), *Sound symbolism*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Dīng, Picus Sīzhì. 1998. Fundamentals of Prinmi (Pǔmǐ): A Tibeto-Burman language of Northwestern Yúnnán, China. Ph.D. thesis, Australian National University.
- Dīng, Picus Sīzhì. 2000. 'Topic-comment constructions in Prinmi'. Paper presented at the 33rd International Conference on Sino-Tibetan Languages and Linguistics, Bangkok and Trang, October 2-6, 2000.
- Dīng, Picus Sīzhì. 2001. 'The pitch-accent system of Niúwōzǐ Prinmi'. *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 24(2): 57-83.
- Dīng, Picus Sīzhì. 2003. 'Prinmi: A sketch of Niúwōzǐ'. In Randy LaPolla and Graham Thurgood (eds.). *The Sino-Tibetan Languages*, 588-601. London: Routledge Press.
- Dīng, Picus Sīzhì. 2005. 'Language modernization of Prinmi: Problems from promoting orthography to language maintenance'. In Bradley, David (ed.), *Heritage Maintenance for Endangered Languages in Yúnnán, China*, 19-26. Bundoora: La Trobe University.
- Dīng, Picus Sīzhì. 2006. 'A typological study of tonal systems of Japanese and Prinmi: Towards a definition of pitch-accent languages'. *Journal of Universal Language* 7: 1-35.
- Dīng, Picus Sīzhì. 2007a. 'Challenges in language modernization in China: The case of Prinmi'. In David and Maya Bradley, Nicholas Ostler and Caesar Dealwis (eds.) Working Together for Endangered Languages: Research Challenges and Social Impacts

(Proceedings of FEL XI), 120-126. Bath, England: Foundation for Endangered Languages.

- Dīng, Picus Sīzhì. 2007b. 'The use of perception tests in studying the tonal system of Prinmi dialects: A speaker-centered approach to descriptive linguistics'. *Language Documentation & Conservation* 1(2): 154-181.
- Dīng, Picus Sīzhì. 2010. 'Rhoticization as a Secondary Articulation in Stops: Evidence from Prinmi'. *Chinese Journal of Phonetics* 2: 74-81.
- Dīng, Picus Sīzhì. 2012. 'Issues in classification of Prinmi dialects'. Paper presented at the 45th Conference of Sino-Tibetan Languages and Linguistics, Nanyang Technological University, Singapore, 26-28 October, 2012.
- Ding, Picus Sizhì. 2014. A grammar of Prinmi. Based on the Central dialect of northwest Yunnan, China.
- Dingemanse, Mark. 2011. *The meaning and use of ideophones in Siwu*. Ph.D. dissertation, Nijmegen: Radboud University. http://thesis.ideophone.org/.
- Dingemanse, Mark. 2012. 'Advances in the cross-linguistic study of ideophones'. *Language and Linguistics Compass* 6(10): 654-672.
- Dixon, R. M. W. 2006. 'Complement clauses and complementation strategies in typlogical perspective'. In: R. M. W. Dixon and Alexandra Y. Aikhenvald (eds.), *Complementation*, 1-48. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Dixon, R. M. W. and Alan R. Vogel. 2004. *The Jarawara Language of Southern Amazonia*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Duanmu San. 1992. 'An autosegmental analysis of tone in four Tibetan languages'. *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman area* 15(1): 65-91.
- Duanmu San. 1999. 'Metrical structure and tone: evidence from Mandarin and Shanghai'. *Journal of East-Asian Linguistics* 8: 1-38.
- Durie, Mark. 1997. 'Grammatical structures in verb serialization'. In Alsina Alex, Joan Bresnan, and Peter Sells (eds.), *Complex Predicates*, 289-354. Stanford, California: CSLI Publications.
- Enfield, N. J. 2002. 'Cultural logic and syntactic productivity: associated posture constructions in Lao'. In: N. J. Enfield (ed.), *Ethnosyntax: explorations in culture and grammar*, 231-258. Oxford: Oxford University.
- Epps, Patience L. 2005. *A grammar of Hup*. Mouton Grammar Library 43. Berlin/New York: Mouton de Gruyter.
- Evans, Jonathan P. 2001. 'Contact-induced tonogenesis in Southern Qiang'. *Language and Linguistics*. 2(2): 63-110.

- Evans, Jonathan P. 2004. 'Reconstruction of Proto-Qiāng verb inflection'. In Dah-An Ho, et al., (eds.), *Studies on Sino-Tibetan languages: Papers in honor of Professor Hwang-cherng Gong on his seventieth birthday*. Language and Linguistics Monograph Series W-4: 201-238. Taipei: Institute of Linguistics, Academia Sinica.
- Evans, Jonathan P. 2008. "African' tone in the Sinosphere'. *Language and Linguistics* 9(3): 463-490.
- Evans, Jonathan P. 2009a. 'Is there a Himalayan tone typology?' In Y. Nagano (ed.), *Issues in Tibeto-Burman Historical Linguistics*. Senri Ethnological Studies No. 75. Senri, Japan: National Museum of Ethnology.
- Evans, Jonathan P. 2009b. (submitted) 'Types of tonal culminativity in languages of Sichuan and elsewhere'.
- Evans, Nicholas. 2007. 'Insubordination and its uses'. In Irina Nikolaeva (ed.), *Finitiness: theoretical and empirical foundations*, 366-431. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Flemming, Edward. 2003. 'The Relationship between Coronal Place and Vowel Backness'. *Phonology* 20(3): 335-373.
- Foley, William A. and Robert D. Van Valin, Jr. 1984. *Functional syntax and universal grammar*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Friedman, Victor A. 2003. 'Evidentiality in the Balkans with special attention to Macedonian and Albanian'. In Alexandra Y. Aikhenvald and R.M.W Dixon (eds.), *Studies in evidentiality*, 189-218. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- Fù Àilán 傅爱兰. 1997. *Púmíyǔ dòngcí de yǔfá fànchóu* 普米语动词的语法范畴 [Grammatical categories of Pǔmǐ verbs]. Class handout, 06.11.1997.
- Fù Àilán 傅爱兰. 1998. Púmíyǔ dòngcí de yǔfá fànchóu 普米语动词的语法范畴 [Grammatical categories of Pǔmǐ verbs]. Běijīng 北京: Zhōngguó Wénshǐ Chūbǎnshè 中国文史出版社.
- Fù Àilán 傅爱兰. 1999. 'Púmíyǔ dòngcí de tǐ 普米语动词的"体" [Verbal aspect in Pǔmǐ]'. *Mínzú Jiàoyù Yánjiū*《民族教育研究》S1: 14-22.
- Fù Àilán 傅爱兰. 2000. 'Púmíyǔ dòngcí de chóngdié 普米语动词的重叠 [Verb reduplication in Pǔmǐ]'. Mínzú Yǔwén 《民族语文》 3: 50–57.
- Genetti, Carol. 1986. The development of subordinators from postpositions in Bodic languages. Proceedings of the 12th Annual Meeting of the Berkeley Linguistics Society, 387-400.
- Genetti, Carol. 1991. 'From postposition to subordinator in Newari'. In Elizabeth Traugott and Bernd Heine (eds.), *Approaches to grammaticalisation. Volume 2:*

Focus on types of grammatical markers (Typological studies in language 19), 227-256. Amsterdam/ Philadelpia: John Benjamins.

- Genetti, Carol. 2006. 'Complement clause types and complementation strategy in Dolakha Newar'. In *R.M.W Dixon and Alexandra Y. Aikhenvald (eds.), Complementation*, 137-158. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Genetti, Carol. 2009. *An introduction to Dzala*. Paper presented at the 15th Himalayan Linguistics Symposium (HLS-15), University of Oregon, July 31-August 1, 2009.
- Genetti, Carol. 2011. Nominalization in Tibeto-Burman languages of the Himalayan area: a typological perspective. In Yap, Foong Ha, Karen Grunow-Hårsta and Janick Wrona (eds.). *Nominalization in Asian languages. Diachronic and typological perspectives.* Amsterdam/Philadelpia: John Benjamins.
- Gerner, Matthias. 2013. A grammar of Nuòsū. Berlin, Boston: De Gruyter Mouton.
- Gerong Pincuo. Collection of Pǔmǐ wordlists from Yúnnán and Sìchuān. Unpublished MS.
- Gerong Pincuo and Henriëtte Daudey. 2013. 'Too much lovingkindness to repay: funeral speech rituals of the Wēnquán Pǔmǐ'. *Asian Highland Perspectives* 28: 81-128.
- Greif, Marcus. 2010. 'Tones and intonation in Prinmi a first survey'. *STUF, Akademie Verlag* 63(3): 221-251.
- Goldenberg, Gideon. 1971. 'Tautological infinitive'. Israel Oriental Studies 1: 36-85.
- Haiman, John. 1978. 'Conditionals are topics'. Language 54(3): 564-589.
- Hale, Austin. 1980. 'Person markers: Finite conjunct and disjunct verb forms in Newari'. In R. Trail, et al. (eds.), *Papers in South-East Asian Linguistics* 7: 95-106.
- Haller, Felix. 2000. 'Verbal categories of Shigatse Tibetan and Themchen Tibetan'. *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 23(2): 175-191.
- Haller, Felix. 2009. 'Switch-reference in Tibetan'. *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 32(2): 45-70.
- Hargreaves, David. 2005. 'Agency and intentional action in Kathmandu Newar'. *Himalayan Linguistics* 5: 1-48.
- Hari, Maria. 1971. 'A guide to Thakali tone'. *Guide to tone in Nepal*. Kathmandu: Tribhuvan University, Summer Institute of Linguistics.
- Harrell, Stevan. 2001. *Ways of being ethnic in Southwest China*. Seattle: University of Washington Press.

- Heine, Bernd and Tania Kuteva. 2002. *World lexicon of grammaticalisation*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hill, Nathan. 2011. 'An inventory of Tibetan sound laws'. *Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society, Series 3*, 21(4): 441-457.
- Hill, Nathan. 2012. "'Mirativity" does not exist: *hdug* in "Lhasa" Tibetan and other suspects'. *Linguistic Typology* 16: 389-433.
- Hú Wénmíng 胡文明 (ed.). 2002. *Púmíyǔ yánjiū wénjí* 《普米研究文集》[Collected works of Pǔmǐ research]. Kūnmíng 昆明: Yúnnán Mínzú Chūbǎnshè 云南民族出版社.
- Huáng Bùfán 黄布凡. 1991. 'Zàngmiǎnyǔ de qíngtài fànchóu 藏缅语的情态范畴 [Modal categories in Tibeto-Burman]'. *Mínzú Yǔwén* 《民族语文》 2: 22-30.
- Huáng, Chénglóng 黄成龙. 2007. *Púxī Qiāng yánjiū* 《蒲溪羌语研究》 [Púxī Qiāng grammar]. Běijīng 北京: Mínzú Chūbǎnshè 民族出版社.
- Huáng Chénglóng. 2008. 'Relativization in Qiāng'. *Language and Linguistics* 9(4): 735-768.
- Hyman, Larry M. 2011. 'Tone: is it different?' In Goldsmith, John A., Jason Riggle and Alan C. L. Yu (eds.), *The Handbook of Phonological Theory*, Second Edition, 197-239. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.
- Jacques, Guillaume. 2004. *Phonologie et morphologie du Japhug (rGyalrong)*. Ph.D. dissertation, Université Paris VII Denis Diderot.
- Jacques, Guillaume. 2010. 'The inverse in Japhug Rgyalrong'. *Language and Linguistics* 11(1): 127-157.
- Jacques, Guillaume. 2011a. 'A panchronic study of aspirated fricatives, with new evidence from Půmí'. *Lingua* 121: 1518-1538.
- Jacques, Guillaume. 2011b. 'The structure of the Tangut verb'. *Journal of Chinese Linguistics* 11(1): 127-157.
- Jacques, Guillaume. 2011c. 'Tonal alternations in the Pǔmǐ verbal system'. *Language and Linguistics* 12(2): 359-392.
- Jacques, Guillaume. 2012a. 'From denominal derivation to incorporation'. *Lingua* 122(11): 1207-1231.
- Jacques, Guillaume. 2012b. 'Argument demotion in Japhug Rgyalrong'. In Gilles Authier and Katharina Haude (eds.), *Ergativity, valency and voice*, 199-225. Berlin: Mouton de Gruyter.

- Jacques, Guillaume, and Alexis Michaud. 2011. 'Approaching the historical phonology of three highly eroded Sino-Tibetan languages: Nàxī, Na and Laze'. *Diachronica* 28(4): 1-25.
- Jiǎng Yǐng 蒋颖. 2008. 'Pǔmǐyǔ gètǐ liàngcí jíqí lèixíngxué fēnxī 普米语个体量词及其 类型学分析 [Pǔmǐ individual classifiers and typological analysis]'. *Mínzú Yǔwén* 《民族语文》 5: 35-43.
- Jiǎng Yǐng 蒋颖. 2009. 'Lùn Pǔmǐyǔ dòngcí hòuzhuì de fēnxīhuà qūshì 论普米语动词 后缀的分析化趋势 [Concerning the trends in the analysis of Pǔmǐ verb suffixes]'. *Zhōngyāng Mínzú Dàxué Xuébào (zhéxué shèhuì kēxué bǎn)* 《中央民族大学学报 (哲学社会科学版)》 5: 113-117.
- Jiǎng Yǐng 蒋颖. 2010. 'Púmíyǔ shī-shòu zhùcí de fēngōng hùbǔ guānxi 普米语施受助 词的分工互补关系 [The complementary distribution of Pǔmǐ agentive and recipient particles]'. *Mínzú Yǔwén*《民族语文》 4:62-68.
- Jiǎng Yǐng 蒋颖. 2012a. 'Púmíyǔ zìzhǔ zhùcí jíqí yǔfǎhùa 普米语自主助词及其语法化 [A controllable auxiliary and its grammaticalisation in Pǔmǐ]'. *Zhōngyāng Mínzú Dàxué Xuébào (zhéxué shèhuì kēxué bǎn)* 《中央民族大学学报(哲学社会科学版)》 3: 71-77.
- Jiǎng Yǐng 蒋颖. 2012b. 'Lùn Pǔmǐyǔ fùfǔyīn de shuāibiàn 论普米语复辅音的衰变 [Concerning the decay of consonant clusters in Pǔmǐ]'. *Yǔyánxué Lùncóng* 《语言 学论丛》 45: 175-186.
- Keenan, Edward L. 1985. 'Relative clauses'. In Shopen, Timothy (ed.), Language typology and syntactic description, Vol.II, 141-170. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Kim, Mary Shin. 2011. 'Negotiating epistemic rights to information in Korean conversation: An examination of the Korean evidential marker -tamye'. *Discourse Studies* 13(4): 435-459.
- Kim, Yoo-Ko. 2009. *The function of the tautological infinitive in Classical Biblical Hebrew*. Harvard Semitic Studies, 60. Winona Lake, IN: Eisenbrauns.
- Ladefoged, Peter. 2007. 'Articulatory features for describing lexical distinctions.' *Language* 83(1): 161-180.
- Lambrecht, Knud. 1994. Information structure and sentence form: Topic, focus and the mental representations of discourse referents. Cambridge, New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Lambrecht, Knud. 2000. 'When subjects behave like objects: An analysis of the merging of S and O in sentence-focus constructions across languages'. *Studies in Language* 24(3): 611-682.

- LaPolla, Randy J. 1992. "Anti-ergative' marking in Tibeto-Burman'. *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 15(1): 1-9.
- LaPolla, Randy J. 1994. 'Parallel grammaticalisations in Tibeto-Burman languages: Evidence of Sapir's drift'. *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 17(1): 61-80.
- LaPolla, Randy J. 1995a. 'On the utility of the concepts of markedness and prototypes in understanding the development of morphological systems'. *The Bulletin of the Institute of History and Philology* 66(4): 1149-1185.
- LaPolla, Randy J. 1995b. 'Ergative marking in Tibeto-Burman'. In Yoshio Nishi, JamesA. Matisoff and Yasuhiko Nagano (eds.), *New horizons in Tibeto-Burman morphosyntax*, Senri Ethnological Studies 41: 189-228. Osaka: National Museum of Ethnology.
- LaPolla, Randy J. 2001. 'Dulong texts: Seven fully analysed narrative and procedural texts'. *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 24(2): 1-39.
- LaPolla, Randy J. 2003a. 'Morpho-syntax: An overview'. In Graham Thurgood and Randy J. LaPolla (eds.), *The Sino-Tibetan languages*, 22-42. London: Routledge.
- LaPolla, Randy J. 2003b. 'Evidentiality in Qiāng'. In Alexandra Y. Aikhenvald and R.M.W. Dixon (eds.), *Studies in evidentiality*, 63-78. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- LaPolla, Randy J. 2004. 'On nominal relational morphology in Tibeto-Burman'. In Dah-An Ho, et al., (eds.), *Studies on Sino-Tibetan languages: Papers in honor of professor Hwang-cherng Gong on his seventieth birthday*. Language and Linguistics Monograph Series W-4: 43-73. Taipei: Academia Sinica.
- LaPolla, Randy J. 2005. 'Sino-Tibetan languages'. In Keith Brown (ed.), *Encyclopedia of language and linguistics, 2nd Edition,* 393-397. London: Elsevier.
- LaPolla, Randy J. 2006. 'On grammatical relations as constraints on referent identification'. In Tasaku Tsunoda and Taro Kageyama (eds.), Voice and grammatical relations: Festschrift for Masayoshi Shibatani (Typological Studies in Language), 139-151.
- LaPolla, Randy J. 2008a. 'Nominalization in Rawang'. *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 31(2): 45-65.
- LaPolla, Randy J. 2008b. 'Relative clause structures in the Rawang language.' *Language and Linguistics* 9(4): 797-812.
- LaPolla, Randy J. 2012. 'Clausal noun-modifying constructions in Sino-Tibetan languages'. Paper presented at the Fourth International Conference on Sinology, Academia Sinica, 20-22 June, 2012.

- LaPolla, Randy J., with Chénglóng Huáng. 2003. *A grammar of Qiang, with annotated texts and glossary*. Mouton Grammar Library 31. Berlin: Mouton de Gruyter.
- LaPolla, Randy J., František Kratochvíl and Alexander R. Coupe. 2011. 'On transitivity'. In Kratochvíl, František, Alexander R. Coupe and Randy J. LaPolla (eds.), Studies in transitivity: insights from language documentation. *Studies in Language* 35(3): 469-491.
- Lǐ Huī 李辉. 2008. 'Lánpíng xiàn Pǔmǐyǔ Lādīng zìmǔ pīnxiě fāng'àn shèjì hé yìngyòng 兰坪县普米语拉丁字母拼写方案设计和应用 [Design and application of Latinization writing for Pǔmǐ language in Lánpíng County]'. Paper presented at 少数民族自然语言处理技术研究与进展——第二届全国少数民族青年自然语言处 理学术研讨会 [2nd National Minority Youth Seminar on Natural Language Processing (2nd CN NMYS-NLP'2008)], Héféi 合肥, Ānhuī 安徽 China, 7-11 October, 2008.
- Lidz, Liberty. 2010. *A descriptive grammar of Yongning Na (Mosuo)*. Ph.D. dissertation, University of Texas at Austin.
- Lidz, Liberty. 2011. 'Agentive marking in Yŏngníng Na (Mósuō)'. *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 34(2): 49-72.
- Lin, You-Jing 林幼菁. 2000. 'A dimension missed: east and west in Sìtǔ rGyalrong orientation marking'. Language and Linguistics 3(1): 27-42.
- Lù Shàozūn 陆绍尊. 1983. Pǔmǐyǔ jiǎnzhì《普米语简志》[A brief description of the Pǔmǐ language]. Běijīng 北京: Mínzú Chūbǎnshè 民族出版社.
- Lù Shàozūn 陆绍尊. 1994. *Zhōngguó shǎoshù mínzú yǔyán shǐyòng qíngkuàng*《中国少数 民族语言使用情况》[Minority language use in China]. Běijīng 北京: Zhōngguó Zàngxué Chūbǎnshè 中国藏学出版社, 813-817.
- Lù Shàozūn 陆绍尊. 2001. *Pǔmǐyǔ fāngyán yánjiū* 《普米语方言研究》[A study of Pǔmǐ dialects]. Běijīng 北京: Mínzú Chūbǎnshè 民族出版社.
- Lù Shàozūn 陆绍尊. 2002. 'Language and script'. In Hú Wenming 胡文明 (ed.) *Púmíyǔ yánjiū wénjí* 《普米研究文集》 [Collected research on the Pǔmǐ language]. Kūnmíng 昆明: Yúnnán Mínzú Chūbǎnshè 云南民族出版社.
- Matisoff, James A. 1969. 'Verb concatenation in Lahu: the syntax and semantics of 'simple' juxtaposition'. *Acta Linguistica Hafniensia: International Journal of Linguistics* 12(1): 69-120.
- Matisoff, James A. 1970. 'Glottal dissimilation and the Lahu high-rising tone: a tonogenetic case study'. *Journal of the American Oriental Society*, 90(1): 13-44.
- Matisoff, James A. 1973. The grammar of Lahu. Berkeley: University of California Press.

- Matisoff, James, A. 1975. 'Rhinoglottophilia: the mysterious connection between nasality and glottality'. In Charles Ferguson, Larry M. Hyman and John Ohala (eds.), *Nasálfest: Papers from a Symposium on Nasals and Nasalization*, 265-287. Stanford: Stanford University Language Universals Project.
- Matisoff, James A. 1976. 'Lahu causative constructions: Case hierarchies and the morphology/ syntax cycle in a Tibeto-Burman perspective'. In Masayoshi Shibatani (ed.), *The syntax of causative constructions*, 413-442. New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Matisoff, James A. 1986. 'Hearts and minds in Southeast Asian languages and English: an essay in the comparative lexical semantics of psycho-collocations'. In *Cahiers de Linguistique Asie Orientale* 15(1): 5-57.
- Matisoff, James A. 1991. 'Sino-Tibetan linguistics: present state and future prospects.' Annual Review of Anthropology 20: 469-504.
- Matisoff, James A. 1994. 'Tone, intonation, and sound symbolism in Lahu: loading the syllable canon'. In Leanne Hinton, Johanna Nichols, and John Ohala (eds.), *Sound symbolism*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Matisoff, James A. 1997a. 'Sino-Tibetan numeral systems: prefixes, protoforms and problems'. *Pacific Linguistics* B-114.
- Matisoff, James A. 1997b. 'Dàyáng Půmǐ phonology and adumbrations of comparative Qiangic'. *Mon- Khmer Studies* 27: 171-213.
- Matisoff, James A. 1999. 'Tibeto-Burman tonology in an areal context'. In Shigeji Kaji (ed.), *Proceedings of the Symposium* 'Cross-linguistic studies of tonal phenomena: tonogenesis, typology, and related topics', 3-32. Tokyo: Institute for the Study of Languages and Cultures of Asia and Africa, Tokyo University of Foreign Studies.
- Matisoff, James A. 2003. Handbook of Proto-Tibeto-Burman: system and philosophy of Sino-Tibetan reconstruction. Berkeley: University of Los Angeles Press.
- Matisoff, James A. 2004. "Brightening' and the place of Xixia (Tangut) in the Qiangic branch of Tibeto-Burman'. In Dah-An Ho, et al., (eds.), *Studies on Sino-Tibetan languages: Papers in honor of Professor Hwang-cherng Gong on his seventieth birthday.*Language and Linguistics Monograph Series W-4: 327-352. Taipei: Institute of Linguistics, Academia Sinica.
- Matras, Yaron. 1994. Verb evidentials and their discourse function in Vlach Romani narratives. In Yaron Matras (ed.), *Romani in contact: the history, structure, and sociology of a language,* 93-123. Amsterdam/Philadelphia: John Benjamins Publishing Company.

- Matsumoto, Yoshiko. 1988. 'Semantics and pragmatics of noun-modifying constructions in Japanese'. In *Proceedings of the 14th Annual Meeting of the Berkeley Linguistics Society*, 166--175.
- Matsumoto, Yoshiko. 2010. 'Interactional frame and grammatical descriptions: The case of Japanese noun-modifying constructions'. *Constructions and Frames* 2(2): 136-157.
- Mazaudon, Martine. 1973. *Phonologie tamang*. Paris: Société des Etudes Linguistiques et Antropologiques de France.
- Mazaudon, Martine. 2003. 'From discourse to grammar in Tamang: topic, focus, intensifiers and subordination'. In: David Bradley, Randy LaPolla, Boyd Michailovsky and Graham Thurgood (eds.), Language variation: Papers on variation and change in the Sinosphere and in the Indosphere in honour of James A. Matisoff. Pacific Linguistics, 145-157. Canberra: Australian National University.
- McCawley, James D. 1978. 'What is a tone language?' In Victoria A. Fromkin (ed.), *Tone: A linguistic survey*, 113-131. New York: Academic Press.
- Michaud, Alexis. 2008. 'Phonemic and tonal analysis of Yǒngníng Na'. *Cahiers de Linguistique Asie Orientale* 37(2): 159-196.
- Michaud, Alexis. 2010. 'Irregular tone patterns in numeral-plus-classifier determiners: data from Na, Laze and Naxi, and phylogenetic implications for the Naish language group'. Paper presented at the 16th Himalayan Languages Symposium, London, SOAS, 2-5 September, 2010.
- Michaud, Alexis. 2013. 'Phrasing, prominence, and morphotonology: how utterances are divided into tone groups in Yongning Na'. Paper presented at the 3rd Workshop on Sino-Tibetan Languages of Sichuan, Paris, CNRS, 2-4 September 2013.
- Michaud, Alexis and Guillaume Jacques. 2010. 'Insights into Naxi and Pumi at the end of the 19th century: evidence on sound changes from the word lists by Charles-Eudes Bonin'. *Cahiers de Linguistique-Asie Orientale* 39(1): 21-40.
- Michaud Alexis, He Limin and Zhong Yaoping, forthcoming. 'Nàxī (Naish)'. In: Rint Sybesma, Wolfgang Behr, Zev Handel and C.T. James Huang (eds.), *Encyclopedia of Chinese Language and Linguistics*. Leiden: Brill.
- Mithun, Marianne. 1982. 'The synchronic and diachronic behavior of plops, squeaks, croaks, sighs, and moans'. *International Journal of American Linguistics* 48(1): 49-58.

- Mithun, Marianne. 1987. The grammatical nature and discourse power of demonstratives. *Proceedings of the Thirteenth Annual Meeting of the Berkeley Linguistics Society*, 184-194.
- Mithun, Marianne. 2008. 'The extension of dependency beyond the sentence'. *Language* 84(1): 69-119.
- Nichols, Johanna. 1986. 'Head-marking and dependent-marking grammar'. *Language* 62(1): 56-119.
- Noonan, Michael. 1997. 'Versatile nominalizations'. In Joan Bybee, John Haiman and Sandra A. Thompson (eds.). *Essays on language function and language type*, 373-394. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- Noonan, Michael. 2007. 'Complementation'. In Timothy Shopen (ed.), *Language typology and syntactic description. Volume II: Complex constructions*, 52-150. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Palmer, F.R. 2001. Mood and modality. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Peterson, David A. 2011. Core participant marking in Khumi. *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 34(2): 73-100.
- Post, Mark. 2007. A grammar of Galo. Ph.D. thesis, La Trobe University.
- Post, Mark. 2013. 'Person-sensitive marking in Galo: Historical origins and functional motivation'. In Tim Thornes, Erik Andvik, Gwendolyn Hyslop and Joana Jansen (eds.), *Functional-historical approaches to explanation. In honor of Scott Delancey*, 107-130. Amsterdam/Philadelphia: John Benjamins Publishing Company.
- Rhee, Seongha. 2012. 'Context-induced reinterpretation and (inter)subjectification: the case of grammaticalisation of sentence-final particles'. *Language Sciences* 34(3): 284-300.
- Rock, Joseph Francis. 1925. 'The land of the Yellow Lama: National Geographic society explorer visits the strange kingdom of Mùlĭ, beyond the Likiang snow range of Yünnan Province, China'. *The National Geographic Magazine* 47: 447-491.
- Shirai, Satoko. 2007. 'Evidentials and evidential-like categories in nDrapa'. *Linguistics* of the Tibeto-Burman Area 30(2): 125-150.
- Shirai, Satoko. 2009. 'Directional prefixes in nDrapa and neighboring languages: an areal feature of Western Sichuan'. In Yasuhiko Nagano (ed.), *Issues in Tibeto-Burman Historical Linguistics*. Senri Ethnological Studies 75: 7-20. Osaka, Japan: National Museum of Ethnology.
- Silverstein, Michael. 1976. 'Hierarchy of features and ergativity'. In R.M.W. Dixon (ed.), *Grammatical categories in Australian languages*, 112-171. Canberra: Australian Institute of Aboriginal Studies / New Jersey: Humanities Press.
- Sūn, Hóngkāi 孙宏开. 1983. 'Liùjiāng liúyù de mínzú yǔyán jí qí xìshǔ fēnlèi. 六江流域 的民族语言及其系数分类 [Minority languages of the six river valley and their genetic classification]'. *Mínzú Xuébào*《民族学报》 [Scholarly journal of nationalities] 3: 99-273.
- Sūn, Hóngkāi 孙宏开 et al., eds. 1991. Zàng-Miǎnyǔ yǔyīn hé cíhuì 藏缅语语音和词汇 [Tibeto-Burman phonology and lexicon]. Běijīng 北京: Zhōngguò Shèhuì Kēxué Chūbǎnshè 中国社会科学出版社.
- Sūn, Hóngkāi 孙宏开. 2001. Lùn Zàng-Miǎn yǔzú zhōng de Qiāng yǔzhī yǔyán 论藏缅 语族中的羌语支语言 [On the Qiangic branch of the Tibeto-Burman language family]. *Language and Linguistics* 2(1): 157-181.
- Sūn, Jackson T. -S. 1993. 'Evidentials in Amdo Tibetan'. *The Bulletin of the Institute of History and Philology,* Academia Sinica 63: 945–1001.
- Sūn, Jackson T.-S. 2000a. 'Parallelisms in the verb morphology of Sidaba rGyalrong and Lavrung in rGyalrongic'. *Language and Linguistics* 1(1): 161-190.
- Sūn, Jackson T.-S. 2000b. 'Stem alternations in Puxi verb inflection: toward validating the rGyalrongic subgroup in Qiangic'. *Language and Linguistics* 1(2): 211-232.
- Sūn, Jackson T.-S. 2007. 'The irrealis category in rGyalrong'. *Language and Linguistics* 8(3): 797-819.
- Sūn, Jackson T.-S. 2008. 'Tonality in Caodeng rGyalrong'. In Huber et al. (eds.) Chomolangma, Demawend und Kasbek : Festschrift für Roland Bielmeier zu seinem 65. Geburtstag. International Institute for Tibetan and Buddhist Studies. Vol. I, 257-280.
- Sūn, Jackson T.-S. 2012. 'Complementation in Caodeng rGyalrong'. *Language and Linguistics* 13(3): 471-498.
- Sūn, Jackson T.-S. 孙天心 and Shí Dānluó 石丹罗. 2004. 'Cǎodēng Jiāróngyǔ de zhuàngmàocí 草登嘉戎语的状貌词 [Ideophones in Caodeng rGyalrong]'. Mínzú Yǔwén 《民族语文》 5: 1-11.
- Sūn, Jackson T.-S. 孫天心 and Jonathan Evans 余文生. 2013. 'Máwō Qiāngyǔ yuányīnxì zài tàn 麻窩羌語元音音系再探 [Mawo Qiang vocalic system revisited]'. In Shí Fēng 石鋒 and Péng Gāng 彭剛 (eds.), *Dà jiāng dōng qù: Wáng Shìyuán jiàoshòu bāshí suì hèshòu wénjí* 《大江東去:王士元教授八十歲賀壽文集》[Eastwards flows the great river: Festschrift in honour of Professor William S-Y. Wáng on his 80th birthday], 135-151. Hongkong: Hongkong City University.

- Tao, Hongyin. 1996. Units in Mandarin conversation: prosody, discourse and grammar. Amsterdam, Philadelphia: John Benjamins.
- Teo, Amos. 2012. 'Sumi agentive and topic markers: *no* and *ye*'. *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area*, 35(1): 49-74.
- Thompson, Sandra A., Robert E. Longacre and Shin Ja Hwang. 'Adverbial Clauses'. In Timothy Shopen (ed.), *Language Typology and Syntactic Description. Volume II: Complex Constructions*, 237-300. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Thurgood, Graham. 2003. 'A subgrouping of the Tibeto-Burman languages: the interaction between language contact, chance and inheritance.' In Graham Thurgood and Randy J. LaPolla (eds.), *The Sino-Tibetan languages*, 3-21. London: Routledge.
- Thurgood, Graham and Randy J. LaPolla. 2003. *The Sino-Tibetan Languages*. London and New York: Routledge.
- Tournadre, Nicolas. 2001. 'Final auxiliary verbs in literary Tibetan and in the dialects' (with Konchok Jiatso). *Person and Evidence in Himalayan Languages. LTBA* special issue, Spring 2001, 177–239, Berkeley.
- Tournadre, Nicolas. 2008. 'Arguments against the concept of 'conjunct'/'disjunct' in Tibetan'. In Huber et al. (eds.) *Chomolangma, Demawend und Kasbek : Festschrift für Roland Bielmeier zu seinem 65. Geburtstag.* International Institute for Tibetan and Buddhist Studies. Vol. I, 281-308.
- Tournadre, Nicolas. 2011. 'Evidentiality in Tibetan: the grammaticalisation of selfawareness'. Paper presented at the RCLT, La Trobe University, November 4, 2011.
- Van Valin, Robert D. and Randy J. LaPolla. 1997. Syntax: structure, meaning, and function. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Vendler, Zeno. 1967. Linguistics in Philosophy. Ithaca, NY: Cornwell University Press.
- Watters, David. 2002. A grammar of Kham. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Watters, David. 2008. 'Nominalization in the Kiranti and Central Himalayan languages of Nepal'. *Linguistics of the Tibeto-Burman Area* 31(2): 1-44.
- Wellens, Koen. 1998. 'What's in a name? The Premi in Southwest China and the consequences of defining ethnic identity.' *Nations and Nationalism* 4(1): 17-34.
- Wellens, Koen. 2010. Religious revival in the Tibetan borderlands. The Premi of Southwest China. Seattle and London: University of Washington Press.
- Woodbury, Anthony C. 1986. 'Interactions of tense and evidentiality: a study of Sherpa and English.' In Wallace Chafe and Johanna Nichols (eds.), *Evidentiality: the linguistic coding of epistemology*, 188-202. Norwood: Ablex Publishing Corporation.

- Wylie, Turrell. 1959. 'A standard system of Tibetan transcription'. *Harvard Journal of Asiatic Studies* 22: 261-267.
- Yap, Foong Ha, Karen Grunow-Hårsta and Janick Wrona. 2011. 'Introduction. Nominalization strategies in Asian languages'. In Yap, Foong Ha, Karen Grunow-Hårsta and Janick Wrona (eds.). *Nominalization in Asian languages. Diachronic and typological perspectives.* Amsterdam/Philadelpia: John Benjamins.
- Zee, Eric and Ian Maddieson. 1979. 'Tones and tone sandhi in Shanghai: phonetic evidence and phonological analysis'. *UCLA Working Papers in Phonetics* 45: 93-129.
- Zeisler, Bettina. 2004. *Relative Tense and aspectual values in Tibetan languages. A comparative study.* Trends in Linguistics, Studies and Monographs, 150. Berlin, New York: Mouton de Gruyter.